

Sudan University of Science and Technology College of Graduate Studies



Decompositions and Characterizations of Besov-Hausdorff and Triebel-Lizorkin Spaces with Variable Smoothness and Integerability

التفكيكات والتشخيصات لفضاءات بيسوف هاوسدورف وتريبل لزوركن مع الملسان المتغير والتكاملية

A Thesis submitted in Fulfillment Requirements for the Degree of Ph.D in Mathematics

By:

Mohammed Adam Abbaker Abdallah

Supervisor:

Prof. Dr. Shawgy Hussein AbdAlla

Dedication

Го ту...

Family,

Teachers,

Friends

§.

Students.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I must acknowledge my limitless thanks to Allah, for his help and bless.

I am grateful to some people, who worked hard with me from the beginning till the completion of the present research particularly my supervisor Prof. Dr. Shawgy Hussein AbdAlla of Sudan University of Science & Technology, who has been always generous during all phases of the research.

I would like to express my wholehearted thanks to my family for the generous support they provided me throughout my entire life. Because of their unconditional love and prayers, I had the chance to complete this thesis. I also would like to thank all my beloved friends, who have been so supportive along the way of completing my thesis.

Abstract

We show the decompositions of Besov-Hausdorff and Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff spaces. We also show the characterizations of Besov-Lipschitz, Besov-Morrey and Triebel-Lizorkin-Morrey spaces by maximal functions, local mean and including Q spaces. The function spaces, Besov-type spaces and atomic decomposition with variable smoothness and integrability are studied.

الخلاصة

أوضحنا التفكيكات لفضاءات بيسوف - هاوسدورف و تريبل - لزوركن -هاوسدورف. أيضاً أوضحنا التشخيصات لفضاءات بيسوف - ليبشيتز و بيسوف- مورى و تريبل - لزوركن- مورى بواسطة الدوال الأعظمية والأوساط الموضعية والمتضمنة لفضاءات Q. تمت دراسة دوال الدالة والفضاءات نوع بيسوف والتفكيك الذرى مع الملسان المتغير وقابلية التكاملية.

Introduction

We consider the Besov-Hausdorff spaces and the Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. We complete earlier results. We find the dual spaces. Many function or distribution spaces have been found to admit decomposition.

We study certain spaces of distribution. They are intimately related to certain spaces studied by Triebel and Lizorkin. We discuss some basic properties of Morrey type Besov-Triebel spaces.

We introduce Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with variable smoothness and integrability. Our new scale covers spaces with variable exponent as well as spaces of variable smoothness that have been studied in recent years. Vector-valued maximal inequalities do not work in the generality which we pursue, and an alternate approach is thus developed. We introduce Besov spaces with variable smoothness and integrability indices. We show independence of the choice of basic functions, as well as several other basic properties.

Also we introduce Besov-type spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \in (0,\infty]$ and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \in (0,\infty]$ where $s, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$, which unify and generalize the Besov spaces, Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and Q spaces. We then establish the φ -transform characterization of these new spaces in the sense of Frazier and Jawerth. Using the φ -transform characterization of $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we obtain their embedding and lifting properties; moreover, for appropriate τ , we also establish the smooth atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations of $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For $p \in (1,\infty), q \in [1,\infty)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\tau \in$ $[0, 1 - \frac{1}{\max\{p,q\}}]$. We establish the φ -transform characterizations of Besov-Hausdorff spaces $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff spaces $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (q > 1); as applications, then we establish their embedding properties (which on $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is also sharp), smooth atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations for suitable τ .

We obtain three independent results on the Besov-Morrey spaces and the Triebel-Lizorkin-Morrey spaces. We establish the maximal function characterizations of the Besov-type space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p,q \in$ $(0,\infty]$ and $\tau \in [0,\infty)$, the Triebel-Lizorkin-type space $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p \in$ $(0,\infty), q \in (0,\infty]$ and $\tau \in [0,\infty)$, the Besov-Hausdorff space $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p \in (1,\infty), q \in [1,\infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(\max\{p,q\})'}\right]$ and the TriebelLizorkin-Hausdorff space $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p,q \in (1,\infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0,\frac{1}{(\max\{p,q\})'}\right]$, where t' denotes the conjugate index of $t \in [1,\infty]$.

Finally we introduce Besov-type spaces with variable smoothness and integrability. We establish their characterizations, respectively, in terms of φ -transforms in the sense of Frazier and Jawerth, smooth atoms or Peetre maximal functions, as well as a Sobolev-type embedding.

Table of Contents

Contents	Page
Dedication	Ι
Acknowledgements	II
Abstract in English	III
Abstract in Arabic	IV
Introduction	V
Table of Contents	VII
Chapter 1	1
Some Observations and Decompositions	
Section (1.1): Besov and Lizorkin-Triebel Spaces	1
Section (1.2) : Besov Spaces and Decompositions	8
Chapter 2	
Characterization of the Besov-Lipschitz with Some Properties	
Section (2.1): Spaces of Triebel-Lizorkin Type	28
Section (2.2): Triebel-Lizorkin Spaces the Case $q < 1$	32
Section (2.3): Morrey Type Besov-Triebel Spaces	40
Chapter 3	
Variable Smoothness and Integrability	
Section (3.1): Function Spaces	57
Section (3.2): Besov Spaces	78
Chapter 4	
Besov-Type Spaces and Decomposition of Besov-Hausdorff Spaces	
Section (4.1): Triebel-Lizorkin-Type Spaces Including <i>Q</i> Spaces	94
Section (4.2): Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff Spaces and their Applications	117
Chapter 5	
Besov-Morrey Spaces and Characterizations of Besov-Type Space	S
Section (5.1): Triebel-Lizorkin-Morrey Spaces	142
Section (5.2): Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff Spaces via Maximal Functions	162
and Local Means	
Chapter 6	
Atomic Decomposition and Besov-Type Spaces	101
Section (6.1): Besov Spaces with Variable Smoothness and Integrability	181
List of Symbols	209
List of Symbols	241
Keterences	242

Chapter 1

Some Observations and Decompositions

We determine the trace of Lizorkin-Triebel spaces. We give an extension of Hardy's inequality. We also obtain two types of decompositions for distributions in the homogeneous Besov spaces.

Section (1.1): Besov and Lizorkin-Triebel Spaces

We consider the Besov spaces \dot{B}_p^{sq} and the Lizorkin-Triebel spaces \dot{F}_p^{sq} . We complete earlier results. We find the dual spaces when $0 . For <math>\dot{B}_p^{sq}$ the dual was previously only known when $0 < q \le 1$ (see [6]). We also determine the trace of \dot{F}_p^{sq} , obtaining in this way a result analogous to the ne in [7] for \dot{B}_p^{sq} . We give an extension of Hardy's inequality to \dot{F}_p^{0q} . In oure treatment, based on Szasz' theorem and an imbedding theorem, this becomes almost a triviality even in special case q = 2 corresponding to the Hardy space H_p .

Definition (1.1.1) [17] (Definition of the spaces): To define the spaces to be studied we choose a sequence $\{\phi_v\}_{v\in\mathbb{Z}}$ of test functions such that

$$\begin{cases} \varphi_{\nu} \in \mathcal{S}_{0} \\ \operatorname{supp} \widehat{\varphi}_{\nu} = \{1.5^{-1} \cdot 2^{\nu} \leq |\xi| \leq 1.5 \cdot 2^{\nu}\} \\ |\widehat{\varphi}_{\nu}(\xi)| \geq C_{\varepsilon} > 0 \quad \text{if } 2^{\nu}(1.5 - \varepsilon)^{-1} \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{\nu}(1.5 - \varepsilon) \\ |D_{\alpha}\widehat{\varphi}_{\nu}(\xi)| \leq C_{\alpha}|\xi|^{-|\alpha|} \quad \text{for every multiindex } \alpha. \end{cases}$$
(1)

Here and in what follows S_0 is space of rapidly decreasing whose Fourier transforms vanish together with all their derivatives at the origin. S'_0 is its dual space. It is easy to see that S'_0 in fact can be identified to the space of tempered distributions S' modulo polynomials.

Definition (1.1.2) [17]: Let s be real, $0 < p, q \le \infty$. The Besov space \dot{B}_p^{sq} is the space of all $f \in S'_0$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{sq}_{p}} \equiv \left(\sum_{v} \left(2^{vs} \|\phi_{v} * f\|_{L_{p}}\right)^{q}\right)^{1/q} < \infty.$$

Definition (1.1.3) [17]: Let s be real, $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$. The Lizorkin-Triebel space \dot{F}_p^{sq} is the space of all $f \in S'_0$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}_{p}^{\mathrm{sq}}} \equiv \left\| \left(\sum_{\nu} 2^{\nu s} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^{q} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L_{p}} < \infty.$$

From the definitions we at once get the embeddings

$$\begin{split} \dot{B}_{p}^{sq} &\rightarrow \dot{F}_{p}^{sq} \rightarrow \dot{B}_{p}^{sp} & \text{if } q \leq p \\ \dot{B}_{p}^{sp} &\rightarrow \dot{F}_{p}^{sq} \rightarrow \dot{B}_{p}^{sq} & \text{if } q \geq p \end{split}$$
 (2)

and especially

$$\dot{B}_{p}^{sp} = \dot{F}_{p}^{sp} \text{ if } 0
(3)$$

Furthermore, using Littlewood-Paley theory it is possible to prove (see [8])

$$\dot{F}_{p}^{02} \approx H_{p} \tag{4}$$

where H_p is the hardy space on \mathbb{R}^n .

Let us list some other known properties of the space (cf. [9], [15]): the embeddings from S_0 and in to S'_0 are continuous:

$$S_0 \to \dot{B}_p^{sq}, \qquad \dot{F}_p^{sq} \to S'_0.$$
 (5)

if
$$0 < p, q < \infty$$
 then \mathcal{S}_0 is dense in \dot{B}_p^{sq} and \dot{F}_p^{sq} . (6)

$$\dot{B}_{p}^{sq}$$
 and \dot{F}_{p}^{sq} are complete. (7)

The Riesz potential $I^{s} = (-\Delta)^{s/2}$ is an isomorphism from $\dot{B}_{p}^{s_{0}q}$ onto $\dot{B}_{p}^{s_{0}-s,q}$ and from $\dot{F}_{p}^{s_{0}q}$ onto $\dot{F}_{p}^{s_{0}-s,q}$. (8)

Theorem (1.1.4) [17]: Let $s_0 > s_1$, $0 < p_0 < p_1 < \infty$, 0 < q, $r \le \infty$. If

$$s_0 - n/p_0 = s_1 - n/p_1$$

Then

$$\begin{array}{l} (i) \ \dot{B}_{p_{0}}^{s_{0}q} \rightarrow \dot{B}_{p_{1}}^{s_{1}p} \\ (ii) \dot{F}_{p_{0}}^{s_{0}q} \rightarrow \dot{F}_{p_{1}}^{s_{1}r} \\ (iii) \ \ \dot{F}_{p_{0}}^{s_{0}q} \rightarrow \dot{F}_{p_{1}}^{s_{1}p_{0}} \end{array}$$

Proof: We may assume $s_0 = 0$ (cf. (8)).

(i) From the easily verified inequality

$$\phi_{\nu} * f \|_{\mathcal{L}_{\infty}} \le C2^{\nu n/p} \| \phi_{\nu} * f \|_{\mathcal{L}_{p}}$$
(9)

We get by Hölder's inequality

$$\|\varphi_{v} * f\|_{L_{p_{1}}} \le C2^{\nu n(1/p_{0}-1/p_{1})} \|\varphi_{v} * f\|_{L_{p_{0}}}$$

This readily gives (i).

(ii) It suffices to take $q = \infty$ and $||f||_{\dot{F}_{p_0}^{s_0\infty}} = 1$. By (9)

$$\|\varphi_{v} * f\|_{\mathcal{L}_{\infty}} \leq C2^{vn/p_{0}} \|f\|_{\dot{F}_{p_{0}}^{s_{0}\infty}} = C2^{vn/p_{0}}.$$

Therefore for any fixed integer N

$$\left(\sum_{-\infty}^{N} |2^{\nu s_1} \varphi_{\nu} * f|^r\right)^{1/r} \le C2^{nN/p_1} \le t$$
(10)

If $t \approx C2^{nN/p_1}$ On the other hand, since $s_1 < 0$

$$\left(\sum_{N}^{\infty} |2^{\nu s_{1}} \varphi_{\nu} * f|^{r}\right)^{1/r} \le C2^{s_{1}N} \sup_{\nu} |\varphi_{\nu} * f| \le Ct^{1-p_{1}/p_{0}} \sup_{\nu} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|.$$
(11)

Combining (10) and (11) we get

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{\dot{F}_{p_{1}}^{s_{1}r}}^{p_{1}} &= p_{1} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p_{1}-1} \left\| \left\{ \left(\sum_{-\infty}^{\infty} |2^{\nu s_{1}} \varphi_{\nu} * f|^{r} \right)^{1/r} > t \right\} \right\| dt \\ &\leq p_{1} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p_{1}-1} \left\| \left\{ \sup_{\nu} |\varphi_{\nu} * f| > C t^{p_{1}/p_{0}} \right\} \right\| dt \leq C \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{p_{1}-1} \left\| \left\{ \sup_{\nu} |\varphi_{\nu} * f| > t \right\} \right\| dt \\ &= \|f\|_{\dot{F}_{p_{0}}^{0}}^{p_{1}}. \end{split}$$

This proves (ii). (iii) By (9) it follows that

$$\dot{F}_{p'}^{s_0^{\infty}} \rightarrow \dot{B}_{p_1}^{s',\infty}$$

if
$$\mathbf{s}' - n/p_1 = \mathbf{s}_0 - n/p'$$
. Hence by interpolation
 $\left(\dot{\mathbf{F}}_{p'}^{\mathbf{s}_0\infty}, \dot{\mathbf{F}}_{p''}^{\mathbf{s}_0\infty}\right)_{\theta p_0} \rightarrow \left(\dot{\mathbf{B}}_{p_1}^{\mathbf{s}',\infty}, \dot{\mathbf{B}}_{p_1}^{\mathbf{s}'',\infty}\right)_{\theta p_0}$

or by the lemma below

$$\dot{F}_{p_0}^{s_0 \infty} \rightarrow \dot{B}_{p_1}^{s_1 p_0}$$

if $1/p_0 = (1-\theta)/p' + \theta/p''$, $s_1 = (1-\theta)s' + \theta s''(0 < \theta < 1)$.

Lemma (1.1.5) [17]: Let $0 < p, q \le \infty$. Concerning real interpolation we have

(i)
$$(\dot{B}_{p}^{s',q'}, \dot{B}_{p}^{s'',q''})_{\theta q} = \dot{B}_{p}^{sq}$$
, if $s = (1 - \theta)s' + \theta s'(0 < \theta < 1; s' \neq s'')$
(ii) $(\dot{F}_{p'}^{s\infty}, \dot{F}_{p''}^{s\infty})_{\theta p} = \dot{F}_{p}^{s\infty}$, if $1/p = (1 - \theta)/p' + \theta/p'' (0 < \theta < 1)$.

Proof: (i) is well-known; see [9]. We do not detail the proof of (iii). Roughly speaking, one first shows that $\dot{F}_p^{s\infty}$ is a retract of $H_p(l_{\infty})$. Then it is just to invoke a vector valued version of the Fefferman-Riviere-Sagher theorem [4] on interpolation of Hardy spaces.

Now we consider an application of Theorem (1.1.4). Recall the *n*-dimensional version of Szasz' theorem (cf. [9]):

Lemma (1.1.6) [17]: Let \hat{f} denote the Fourier transform of f. Then

$$\|\hat{f}\|_{L_p} \le C \|f\|_{\dot{B}_2^{n(1/p-1/2),p}}$$
 if $0 .$

Theorem (1.1.7) [17]: Let $0 and <math>0 < q \le \infty$. Then

$$\left(\int |\hat{f}(\xi)|^{p} / |\xi|^{n(2-p)} \, \mathrm{d}\xi\right)^{1/p} \le C \|f\|_{\dot{F}_{p}^{0q}}.$$
(12)

Proof: Let $g = I^{-n(2-p)/p} f$. By Theorem (1.1.4) :(iii) and (8) we have

$$\|g\|_{\dot{B}^{n(1/p-1/2),p}_{2}} \leq C \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{0q}_{p}}.$$

Hence, using the Lemma, we get

$$\|\widehat{\mathbf{g}}\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{p}}} \le \mathbf{C} \|f\|_{\dot{\mathbf{F}}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{0}\mathbf{q}}}$$

which is the desired inequality.

The duals of \dot{B}_p^{sq} and \dot{F}_p^{sq} may be considered as sudspaces of S'_0 because of (5) and (6). It turns out that to characterize them exactly if 0 is to a large extent just another application of Theorem (1.1.4).

Theorem (1.1.8) [17]: Let s be real and 0 < p < 1. Then

(i)
$$(\dot{B}_{p}^{sq})' \approx \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-s+n(1/p-1),\infty}$$
 if $0 < q \le 1$
(ii) $(\dot{B}_{p}^{sq})' \approx \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-s+n(1/p-1),q'}$ if $1 < q < \infty$
where $1/q + 1/q' = 1$.

Proof: For simplicity we take s = 0. By Theorem (1.1.4): (i) we have

$$\begin{split} \dot{B}_{p}^{0q} &\to \dot{B}_{1}^{-n(1/p-1),1} & \text{if } 0 < q \leq 1 \\ \dot{B}_{p}^{0q} &\to \dot{B}_{1}^{-n(1/p-1),q} & \text{if } 1 < q < \infty \end{split}$$

If we use the well-known fact (cf. [9])

$$\left(\dot{B}_{1}^{sq}\right)' \approx \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-s,q} \text{ if } 1 \leq q < \infty$$

we therefore find

$$\begin{array}{ll} (\mathrm{i}') \, \dot{\mathrm{B}}_{\infty}^{n(1/p-1),\infty} \to \left(\dot{\mathrm{B}}_{\mathrm{p}}^{0q} \right)' & \text{if } 0 < q \leq 1 \\ (\mathrm{ii}') & \dot{\mathrm{B}}_{\infty}^{n(1/p-1),q} \to \left(\dot{\mathrm{B}}_{\mathrm{p}}^{0q} \right)' & \text{if } 0 < q < \infty. \end{array}$$

In order to prove the converse inclusions we fix a $f \in (\dot{B}_p^{0q})'$ with $||f||_{(\dot{B}_p^{0q})'} = 1$. (i) Is a consequence of (i') and

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{n(1/p-1),\infty}_{\infty}} = \sup_{\nu} \sup_{h} |\langle f, 2^{\nu n(1/p-1)} \varphi_{\nu}(\cdot -h) \rangle| \leq C \cdot 1.$$

Thus there only remains to verify the second half of (ii). Let $\{\varphi_v\}$ be a sequence of testfunctions satisfying in addition to (1) also $\sum_v \varphi_v = \delta$ (which is on restriction). Then we obviously have

$$f = \sum_{v} \varphi_{v} * f \equiv \sum_{v} a_{v}.$$

Assume with no loss of generality that $\operatorname{supp} \hat{a}_{\nu}$ and $\operatorname{supp} \varphi_{\mu}$ disjoint if $\nu \neq \mu$. (Just multiply \hat{f} by a suitable function.) For a fixed integer N > 0 we define the sequence $\{b_{\nu}\}_{\nu=-N}^{N}$ by

$$b_{\nu}(x) = \varepsilon_{\nu} 2^{\nu n(1/p-1)} \|a_{\nu}\|_{\dot{B}^{n(1/p-1),\infty}_{\infty}}^{q'-1} \varphi_{\nu}(x-h_{\nu}), \qquad |\varepsilon_{\nu}| = 1$$

where $\{h_{\nu}\}$ and the argument of $\{\varepsilon_{\nu}\}$ are at our disposal. (That indeed $\|a_{\nu}\|_{\dot{B}^{n(1/p-1),\infty}_{\infty}} < \infty$ can be seen in the same way as for (i)). Clearly, in view of our assumption on the supports,

$$f\left(\sum_{-N}^{N} b_{\nu}\right) = \sum_{-N}^{N} f(b_{\nu}) \ge \sum_{-N}^{N} \|a_{\nu}\|_{\dot{B}_{\infty}^{n(1/p-1),\infty}}^{q'-1} \langle a_{\nu}, \varepsilon_{\nu} 2^{\nu n(1/p-1)} \varphi_{\nu}(\cdot -h_{\nu}) \rangle \ge C \sum_{-N}^{N} \|a_{\nu}\|_{\dot{B}_{\infty}^{n(1/p-1),\infty}}^{q'}$$
$$= \sum_{-N}^{N} \left(2^{\nu n(1/p-1)} \|a_{\nu}\|_{L_{\infty}} \right)^{q'}$$

If $\{h_v\}$ and the arguments of $\{\varepsilon_v\}$ are chosen properly. But on other hand

$$f\left(\sum_{-N}^{N} b_{\nu}\right) \le 1 \cdot \left\|\sum_{-N}^{N} b_{\nu}\right\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{0q}} \le \left(\sum_{-N}^{N} \left(2^{\nu n(1/p-1)} \|a_{\nu}\|_{L_{\infty}}\right)^{q'}\right)^{1/q}$$

Hence,

$$\left(\sum_{-N}^{N} \left(2^{\nu n(1/p-1)} \|a_{\nu}\|_{L_{\infty}}\right)^{q'}\right)^{1/q'} \le C$$

and the proof is complete if we let $N \rightarrow \infty$.

We turn our attention to \dot{F}_p^{sq} . To determine its dual almost becomes a triviality when knowing both Theorem (1.1.4) and Theorem (1.1.8):

Theorem (1.1.9) [17]: Let s be real and 0 < p < 1. Then

$$\left(\dot{F}_{p}^{\mathrm{sq}}\right)' \approx \dot{B}_{\infty}^{-s+n(1/p-1),\infty} \quad \text{ if } 0 < q < \infty.$$

Proof: From (2) we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \left(\dot{F}_{p}^{sq} \right)' &\to \left(\dot{B}_{p}^{sq} \right)' & \text{if } q \leq p \\ \left(\dot{F}_{p}^{sq} \right)' &\to \left(\dot{B}_{p}^{sp} \right)' & \text{if } q \geq p. \end{split}$$

Conversely, Theorem (1.1.4) (ii) or (iii) yields

$$\left(\dot{B}_{1}^{s-n(1/p-1),1}\right)' \rightarrow \left(\dot{F}_{p}^{sq}\right)'$$

Invoking Theorem (1.1.8) we see that the Besov spaces have the same dual and thus also \dot{F}_p^{sq} :

$$(\dot{\mathbf{F}}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathrm{sq}})' \approx \dot{\mathbf{B}}_{\infty}^{-s+n(1/p-1),\infty}.$$

Let us denote a point $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ by $x = (x', x_n)$, where $x' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ and $x_n \in \mathbb{R}^1$. Identify \mathbb{R}^{n-1} with the hyperplance $x_n = 0$ in \mathbb{R}^n and consider the trace operator

$$\operatorname{Tr}: \mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$$

Defined by

$$\operatorname{Tr} f(x') = f(x', 0).$$

Theorem (1.1.10) [17]: Let $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$ and s > 1/p + max(0, (n - 1)(1/p - 1)). Then the trace operator can be extended so that

$$\operatorname{Tr}: \dot{\mathrm{F}}_{\mathrm{p}}^{\mathrm{sq}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \to \dot{\mathrm{B}}_{\mathrm{p}}^{\mathrm{s}-1/\mathrm{p},\mathrm{p}}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1}).$$
(13)

Conversely, there is an operator Sr

$$\mathrm{Sr}: \dot{\mathrm{B}}_{\mathrm{p}}^{\mathrm{s}-1/\mathrm{p},\mathrm{p}}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1}) \to \dot{\mathrm{F}}_{\mathrm{p}}^{\mathrm{sq}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \tag{14}$$

so that $Tr \circ Sr = Id$.

Proof: In proving (13) we shall for convenience assume 0 (with minor modifications the same proof also works for <math>p > 1). It also suffices to take $q = \infty$.

Let $f \in \dot{F}_p^{sq}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If $q < \infty$ we can extend Tr by continuity, since S_0 is then dense in $\dot{F}_p^{sq}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For $q = \infty$ this is no longer applicable. However, for all q we can define Tr by

$$\operatorname{Tr} f(x') = \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \varphi_v * f(x', 0) \equiv \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} a_v$$

where $\{\varphi_{v}\}_{v\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is a sequence of testfunctions on \mathbb{R}^{n} satisfying (1) and $\sum_{v} \varphi_{v} = \delta$. Obviously, it is an extension of our original Tr. That the sum has a limit and thus that Tr is well-defined.

Lemma (1.1.11) [17]: If $f, g \in S'_0$ and supp \hat{f} , supp $\hat{g} \subset \{|\xi| \le r\}$ then

$$\begin{split} \|f * g\|_{L_p} &\leq Cr^{n(1/p-1)} \|f\|_{L_p} \|g\|_{L_p} & \text{ if } 0$$

For a proof we refer the reader to [9]. The second lemma is also a result by Peetre [10] (we shall only need it for $q = \infty$):

Set

$$\varphi_v^a f(x) = \sup_{|x-y| \le 2^{-\nu}a} |\varphi_v * f(y)|$$

For a fixed $a \ge 0$.

Lemma (1.1.12) [17]: Let s be real and $0 , <math>0 < q \le \infty$. Then

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}_{p}^{\mathrm{sq}}} \approx \left\| \left(\sum_{\nu} |2^{\nu s} \varphi_{\nu}^{a} f|^{q} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L_{p}}.$$

Now the proof of (13) is easily accomplished. If $\{\phi'_{\nu}\}_{\nu\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is sequence of testfunctions on \mathbb{R}^{n-1} satisfying (1), then

$$\operatorname{Tr} f * \varphi'_{\nu} = \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} a_{\mu} * \varphi'_{\nu}.$$

Consequently,

$$\|\operatorname{Tr} f * \varphi_{\nu}'\|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^{p} \leq \sum_{\mu \geq \nu-1} \|a_{\mu} * \varphi_{\nu}'\|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^{p}$$

Since

$$(x+y)^p \le x^p + y^p$$

when $x, y \ge 0$ and 0 . By Lemma (1.1.11) we have

$$\|a_{\mu} * \phi'_{\nu}\|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \leq C2^{\mu(t-1/p)} \|a_{\mu}\|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \|\phi'_{\nu}\|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}$$

with t = 1/p + (n - 1)(1/p - 1). But

$$\|\varphi'_{\nu}\|_{\mathrm{L}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \approx 2^{-\nu(t-1/p)}$$

Hence,

$$2^{\nu(s-1/p)p} \| \varphi_{\nu}' * \operatorname{Tr} f \|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^{p} \leq C \sum_{\mu \geq \nu-1} 2^{(\nu-\mu)(s-t)p} 2^{-\mu} \| 2^{\mu s} a_{\mu} \|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^{p}$$

Inserting this in to the definition of Besov spaces (Definition (1.1.1)) and using Minkowski's inequality for sums we find

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{s-1/p,p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^{p} \leq C \sum_{\nu \leq 1} 2^{\nu(s-t)p} \sum_{\mu} 2^{-\mu} \|2^{\mu s} a_{\mu}\|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^{p} \leq C \sum_{\mu} 2^{-\mu} \|2^{\mu s} a_{\mu}\|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^{p}$$

Since s > t. However,

$$\sum_{\mu} 2^{-\mu} \| 2^{\mu s} a_{\mu} \|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^{p} \leq \sum_{\mu} \int_{2^{-\mu}}^{2^{-\mu+1}} \| 2^{\mu s} \varphi_{\mu}^{2} f(\cdot, x_{n}) \|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^{p} dx_{n} \leq C \left\| \sup_{\mu} | 2^{\mu s} \varphi_{\mu}^{2} f| \right\|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p}.$$

Thus by Lemma (1.1.12)

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s-1/p,p}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \le C \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s\infty}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(15)

This concludes the proof of (13).

We turn to (14). Now we can take q very small, at least $q \le p$. Let $\{\varphi'_v\}_{v \in \mathbb{Z}}$ and $\{\psi_v\}_{v \in \mathbb{Z}}$ be testfunctions on \mathbb{R}^{n-1} and respectively, satisfying (1) as well as

$$\sum_{v} \phi'_{v} = \delta, \qquad \psi_{v}(x_{n}) = 2^{v} \psi_{0}(2^{v} x_{n}), \qquad \psi_{0}(0) = 1.$$

Again in order to avoid some trivial technical nuisances we assume that

$$\begin{aligned}
\varphi'_{\nu} * \varphi'_{\mu} * f &= 0 & \text{if } \nu \neq \mu \\
\psi_{\nu} * \psi_{\mu} &= 0 & \text{if } \nu \neq \mu
\end{aligned} \tag{16}$$

However, without any loss of generality we may assume that the test functions $\{\phi_v\}_{v\in\mathbb{Z}}$ on \mathbb{R}^n are of the form

$$\varphi_{\nu} = \varphi_{\nu}' \otimes \sum_{\mu \le \nu} \psi_{\mu} + \sum_{\mu \le \nu} \varphi_{\mu}' \otimes \psi_{\nu}.$$
(17)

Put

$$\operatorname{Sr} f(x', x_n) = \sum_{\mu} 2^{-\mu} \varphi'_{\mu} * f(x') \otimes \psi_{\mu}(x_n).$$

Clearly,

$$\operatorname{Sr} f(x', 0) = f(x')$$

That is, $Tr \circ Sr = Id$. Because of (16) and (17) we see that

$$\operatorname{Sr} f * \varphi_{v} = 2^{-v+1} \varphi'_{v} * \varphi'_{v} * f \otimes \psi_{v} * \psi_{v}$$

Hence,

$$\|\operatorname{Sr} f\|_{\dot{F}_{p}^{\operatorname{sq}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \leq C \left\| \left(\sum_{\nu} \left| 2^{\nu(s-1)} \phi_{\nu}' * \phi_{\nu}' * f \otimes \psi_{\nu} * \psi_{\nu} \right|^{q} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \\ \leq C \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{\nu} \left(2^{\nu(1/p-1)} a_{\nu} \psi_{\nu} * \psi_{\nu}(x_{n}) \right)^{q} \right|^{p/q} dx_{n}$$

with

$$a_{\nu} = 2^{\nu(s-1/p)} \| \phi_{\nu}' * \phi_{\nu}' * f \|_{L_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}.$$

Inserting the trivial estimate

$$|\psi_{v} * \psi_{v}(x_{n})| \le C2^{v} \min(1, (2^{v}|x_{n}|)^{-j})$$

for an arbitrarily large j, gives with r = p/q

$$\|\operatorname{Sr} f\|_{\dot{F}_{p}^{sq}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \leq C \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left| \sum_{\nu} \left(2^{\nu/p} a_{\nu} \min(1, (2^{\nu}|x_{n}|)^{-j}) \right)^{q} \right|^{p/q} dx_{n}$$
$$\leq C \sum_{\mu} \left(\sum_{\nu} \left(2^{\nu-\mu} a_{\nu}^{p} \min(1, (2^{\nu-\mu})^{-jp}) \right)^{1/r} \right)^{r}$$

If we use Minkowski again, we see that

$$\|\operatorname{Sr} f\|_{\dot{\mathrm{F}}^{\operatorname{sq}}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{p} \leq \operatorname{C} \sum_{\nu} a_{\nu}^{p} \leq \operatorname{C} \|f\|_{\dot{\mathrm{B}}^{s-1/p,p}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}^{p}.$$

This is the desired inequality and thus the proof of the theorem is complete.

Section (1.2): Besov Spaces and Decompositions

Many functions or distribution spaces have been found to admit decomposition, in the sense that every member of the space is a linear combination of basic functions of a particularly elementary form. Such decompositions simplify the analysis of the spaces and the operators acting on mogeneous Besov spaces $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$, $-\infty < \alpha < +\infty$, $0 < p, q \le +\infty$, and present some applications of these results.

Defining the Fourier transform by $\hat{f}(\xi) = \int f(x) e^{-ix \cdot \xi} dx$, let $\{\varphi_v\}_{v \in \mathbb{Z}}$ be a family of functions on \mathbb{R}^n satisfying

$$\varphi_v \in \mathcal{S} \tag{18}$$

$$\operatorname{supp}\widehat{\varphi}_{\nu} \subseteq \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : \frac{1}{2} \le 2^{-\nu} |\xi| \le 2 \right\},\tag{19}$$

$$|\widehat{\varphi}_{\nu}(\xi)| \ge c > 0 \text{ if } \frac{3}{5} \le 2^{-\nu} |\xi| \le \frac{5}{3},$$
 (20)

and

$$|\partial^{\gamma}\widehat{\varphi}_{\nu}(\xi)| \ge c_{\gamma} 2^{-\nu|\gamma|}, \quad \text{ for every multi-index } \gamma.$$
 (21)

The Besov space $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$, $-\infty < \alpha < +\infty$, $0 < p, q \le +\infty$, is the collection of all $f \in S'/S$ (tempered distributions modulo polynomials) such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}} = \left(\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} (2^{\nu \alpha} \|\varphi_{\nu} * f\|_{L^{p}})^{q}\right)^{1/q} < +\infty,$$

with the usual interpretation if $q = +\infty$. This definition is independent of the family $\{\phi_v\}$ satisfying (18, 19, 20 and 21); see [26].

We show that each $f \in \dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ can be decomposed into a sum of simple building blocks. The building blocks in our first decomposition are similar to the atoms in the atomic decomposition of Hardy spaces $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $0 ([27, 33, 23, 43]). We define an <math>(\alpha, p)$ -atom a(x) ($-\infty < \alpha < +\infty$, $0) to be a function satisfying, for some cube <math>Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\operatorname{supp} a \subseteq 3Q, \tag{22}$$

$$|\partial^{\gamma} a(x)| \le |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\alpha/n - 1/p - |\gamma|/n} \quad \text{if } |\gamma| \le K, \tag{23}$$

and

$$\int x^{\gamma} a(x) dx = 0 \quad \text{if } |\gamma| \le N, \tag{24}$$

where $K \ge ([\alpha] + 1)_+$ and $N \ge \max([n(1/p - 1)_+ - \alpha], -1)$ are fixed integers. Here $x_+ = \max(x, 0), [x]$ is the greatest integer in x, and 3Q is the cube in \mathbb{R}^n concentric with Q but with side length three times the side length $\ell(Q)$ of Q. In (24), N = -1 means that a(x) is not required to have any vanishing moments.

We write a_Q for an atom satisfying (22, 23 and 24) for a given cube Q, and adopt the convention hereafter that whenever Q appears as a summation index, the sum runs only over dyadic cubes. Our result is the quasi-norm equivalence

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{\alpha q}_{p}} \approx \inf\left\{ \left(\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} |s_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{p} \right)^{q/p} \right)^{1/q} : f = \lim_{j \to \infty} \sum_{\nu=-j}^{j} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} s_{\mathcal{Q}} a_{\mathcal{Q}},$$

(in \mathcal{S}'/\mathcal{S}) and each $a_{\mathcal{Q}}$ is an (α, p) - atom $\right\}.$ (25)

In our other decomposition of $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$, the building blocks, although not of compact support, are taken from a fixed, explicitly given family of functions which have simple properties. Fixed $\psi \in S$ satisfying supp $\hat{\psi}(\xi) \subseteq \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| \le \pi\}$, $\int x^{\gamma} a(x) dx = 0$ if $|\gamma| \le N$, and $\hat{\psi}(\xi) \ge c > 0$ if $1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2$ (N is the fixed integer above). For each $v \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $k = (k_1, \dots, k_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, set

$$Q_{\nu \mathbf{k}} = \{ x = (x_1, \cdots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathbf{k}_i 2^{-\nu} \le x_i < (\mathbf{k}_i + 1) 2^{-\nu}, \quad i = 1, \cdots, n \},$$
(26)

and define

$$\psi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) = |\mathcal{Q}|^{\alpha/n - 1/p} \psi(2^{\nu}x - \mathbf{k}) \quad \text{if } \mathcal{Q} = \mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathbf{k}}$$
(27)

We will show that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}} \approx \inf\left\{ \left(\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} \left| s_{\mathcal{Q}} \right|^{p} \right)^{q/p} \right)^{1/q} : f = \lim_{j \to \infty} \sum_{\nu=-j}^{j} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} s_{\mathcal{Q}} \psi_{\mathcal{Q}} \left(\text{in } \mathcal{S}' / \mathcal{S} \right) \right\}$$
(28)

In fact, in our representation $f = \sum_{Q} s_{Q} \psi_{Q}$, each s_{Q} for $Q = Q_{\nu k}$, is a multiple of the "sample value" $\varphi_{Q} * f(x_{Q})$ for appropriate $\{\varphi_{Q}\}$ satisfying (18, 19, 20 and 21), where $x_{Q} = 2^{-\nu} k$.

After completing the proofs of (25) and (28), we consider the space of functions of bounded mean oscillation (BMO). Our decomposition (25) of $\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}$ corresponds to the decomposition of BMO given by Uchiyama [42]. We show the analogue of (28) for BMO.

Both of our decomposition methods utilize a discrete version of Calderón's reproducing formula ([24, 26]), and a classical result of Plancherel-Pólya [36]. The primary difference between these methods is the manner in which a certain convolution is written as a discrete sum. In (28) this is done on the Fourier transform, or frequency, side using a Fourier series, while in (25) it is done directly on the time side.

Each decomposition has advantages. For example, we see that the fact that the (α, p) -atoms in (25) have compact support is convenient for the consideration of "trace" problems. The well-known result that

$$\mathrm{Tr}\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha - 1/p, q}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1}), \qquad \text{if } \alpha - 1/p > (n-1)(1/p - 1)_{+}$$

is immediate, and the result that

$$\mathrm{Tr}\dot{\mathrm{B}}_{\mathrm{p}}^{1/\mathrm{p},1}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1}), \qquad \text{if } 1 \leq \mathrm{p} < +\infty$$

([22, 31, 35]) is extended to show that $\operatorname{Tr}\dot{B}_{p}^{1/p,1}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ whenever $0 , <math>q \le \max(1, p)$.

One advantage of (28) is the simplicity of the building blocks ψ_Q on the frequency side. This is exploited to give a very simple proof that $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ has the lower majorant property if 0 .

Calderón's formula plays a key role in many decomposition results; it is crucial to the simplest known proofs of the atomic decomposition of H^p(\mathbb{R}^n), 0 ([23, 43]).Uchiyama [42], following Chang-Fefferman [25], used a similar formula to show the $BMO decomposition mentioned above. Our application of Calderón's formula to <math>\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ in general was prompted by recent work of Wilson [44], who used it to obtain (25) for the case of the "special atoms" space $\dot{B}_1^{01}(\mathbb{R}^1)$. Another application was made by Cohen [26], who decomposed the spaces $H^{(p,q)}$, which are similar to the Besov spaces. Methods not relying on Calderón's formula have been used by de Souza et al. [29] to obtain (25) for $\dot{B}_1^{\alpha 1}$, $0 < \alpha < 1$, on the circle.

A motivation for our second decomposition is the work of Coifman-Rochberg [28], where Bergman spaces are decomposed into building blocks obtained from the Bergman kernel. Rochberg-Semmes [39] obtain similar results for BMO. Ricci-Taibleson [37] employ related ideas to show (25) in \mathbb{R}^1 for $\alpha < 0$; their work is extended to \mathbb{R}^n by Bui [21].

Lemma (1.2.1) [45]: Suppose $f \in S'/S$ and that φ and ψ are functions satisfying

$$\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{S} \tag{29}$$

$$\operatorname{supp}\widehat{\varphi} \subseteq \{\xi : |\xi| < \pi\}, \qquad \operatorname{supp}\widehat{\psi} \subseteq \{\xi : |\xi| \le \pi\},\tag{30}$$

and

$$\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\varphi}(2^{\nu}\xi) \widehat{\psi}(2^{\nu}\xi) = 1 \text{ if } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}.$$
(31)

If $\varphi_v(x) = 2^{vn}\varphi(2^v x)$ and $\psi_v(x) = 2^{vn}\psi(2^v x)$, then

$$f(\cdot) = \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-\nu n} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \varphi_{\nu} * f(2^{-\nu} \mathbf{k}) \psi_{\nu}(\cdot - 2^{-\nu} \mathbf{k})$$
(32)

In (32), the convergence of the right-hand side, as well as the equality, is in S'/S. **Proof:** By (31), we have

$$f = \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \psi_v * \varphi_v * f \tag{33}$$

Hence, (32) will follow from

$$\psi_{\nu} * \phi_{\nu} * f(x) = 2^{-\nu n} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \phi_{\nu} * f(2^{-\nu} \mathbf{k}) \psi_{\nu}(x - 2^{-\nu} \mathbf{k})$$
(34)

To prove (34), we note that $\varphi_{v} * f$ is slowly increasing, and hence,

$$f_{v,\delta}(x) = \varphi_v * f(x) \prod_{i=1}^n \left(\frac{\sin(\delta x_i)}{\delta x_i}\right)^i \in L^2$$

If j is large enough. Also, by (30) and the fact that

 $\operatorname{supp}[(\sin \delta x)/\delta x]^{\wedge} \subseteq [-\delta, \delta], \operatorname{supp} \hat{f}_{\nu, \delta}(\xi) \subseteq \{\xi : |\xi| \le 2^{\nu} \pi\}$

If δ is sufficiently small. We have

$$f_{\nu,\delta}(x) * \psi_{\nu} = (2\pi)^{-n} \int \hat{f}_{\nu,\delta}(\xi) \widehat{\psi}_{\nu}(\xi) \mathrm{e}^{ix \cdot \xi} \mathrm{d}\xi.$$
(35)

Extending $\widehat{\psi}_{\nu}(\xi)e^{ix\cdot\xi}$ periodically with period $2^{\nu+1}\pi$ in each variable and representing $\widehat{\psi}_{\nu}(\xi)e^{ix\cdot\xi}$ by its Fourier series, we obtain, by Fourier inversion,

$$\widehat{\Psi}_{\nu}(\xi)\mathrm{e}^{ix\cdot\xi} = 2^{-\nu n} \sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \Psi_{\nu}(x-2^{-\nu}\mathbf{k})\mathrm{e}^{i2^{-\nu}\mathbf{k}\cdot\xi}$$
(36)

If $|\xi| \leq 2^{\nu} \pi$. Inserting (36) in (35) and using Fourier inversion again yields

$$f_{\nu,\delta} * \psi_{\nu}(x) = 2^{-\nu n} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \psi_{\nu}(x - 2^{-\nu} \mathbf{k}) f_{\nu,\delta}(2^{-\nu} \mathbf{k}).$$
(37)

Letting $\delta \rightarrow 0$ in (37) and applying the dominated convergence theorem, (34) follows.

Lemma (1.2.2) [45]: Let $0 and <math>v \in \mathbb{Z}$. Suppose $g \in S'$ and $\sup p \hat{g} \subseteq \{\xi : |\xi| \le 2^{\nu+1}\}$. If $Q_{\nu k}$ is defined by (26), then

$$\left(\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \sup_{z\in\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} |g(z)|^p\right)^{1/p} \le c_{n,p} 2^{\nu(n/p)} \|g\|_{L^p}.$$
(38)

Proof: By the Paley-Wiener theorem, g is a function of exponential type $2^{\nu+1}$. Also, g is slowly increasing. Let $\psi \in S$ satisfy supp $\widehat{\psi} \subseteq \{\xi : |\xi| \le \pi\}$ and $\widehat{\psi}(\xi) = 1$ if $|\xi| \le 2$. If $\psi_{\nu}(x) = 2^{\nu n} \psi(2^{\nu}x)$, and $g(x + y) = g^{y}(x)$, then, exactly as in the proof of (34),

$$g(x + y) = \psi_{v} * g^{y}(x) = 2^{-vn} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} g(2^{-v}\ell + y)\psi_{v}(x - 2^{-v}\ell).$$

Therefore, for any $y \in Q_{\nu k}$,

$$\sup_{z \in \mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} |g(z)| \le \sup_{|x| \le 2^{-\nu} \sqrt{n}} |g(x+y)| \le 2^{-\nu n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n} g(2^{-\nu}\ell + y) \sup_{|x| \le 2^{-\nu} \sqrt{n}} |\psi_{\nu}(x-2^{-\nu}\ell)|.$$

Since $\psi \in S$,

$$\sup_{|x|\leq 2^{-\nu}\sqrt{n}} |\psi_{\nu}(x-2^{-\nu}\ell)| \leq c_{\mathrm{M}} 2^{\nu n} (1+|\ell|)^{-\mathrm{M}},$$

for any M. Taking M sufficiently large and applying the p-triangle inequality $|a + b|^p \le |a|^p + |b|^p$ if 0 or Hölder's inequality if <math>p > 1, we obtain

$$\sup_{z \in Q_{\nu k}} |g(z)|^{p} \le c_{p} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} g(2^{-\nu}\ell + y)(1 + |\ell|)^{-n-1}$$

for any $y \in Q_{\nu k}$. Integrating with respect to y over $Q_{\nu k}$ yields

$$2^{-\nu n} \sup_{z \in \mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} |g(z)|^{p} \le c_{p} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + |\ell|)^{-n-1} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu, k+\ell}} |g(x)|^{p} dx.$$
(39)

Summing over $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, we obtain

$$2^{-\nu n} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \sup_{z \in \mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} |g(z)|^p \le c_p ||g||_{L^p}^p \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (1 + |\ell|)^{-n-1} \le c_{p,n} ||g||_{L^p}^p,$$

which proves (38).

Remark (1.2.3) [45]: An alternate way of proving Lemma (1.2.2), which has the advantage of making the connection with Hardy spaces more obvious, is to observe that

$$\sup_{y \in \mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} |g(y)| \le \inf_{z \in \mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} N_{\nu}(g)(z),$$

where $N_{\nu}(g)(z) = \sup_{|z-y| < 2^{-\nu}\sqrt{n}} |g(y)|$. Hence

$$\left(\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}\sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathcal{Q}_{\nu\mathbf{k}}}|\mathbf{g}(\mathbf{y})|^p\right)^{1/p}\leq 2^{\nu(n/p)}\|\mathbf{N}_{\nu}(\mathbf{g})\|_{L^p}.$$

Since supp $\hat{g} \subseteq \{\xi : |\xi| \le 2^{\nu+1}\}$, (37) follows from the well-known inequality $\|N_{\nu}(g)\|_{L^{p}} \le c\|g\|_{L^{p}}$ ([5, 27, 32, 41]); if in addition $\hat{g}(\xi) = 0$ for $|\xi| < 2^{\nu-1}$, this is essentially a restatement of the fact that $\|g\|_{L^{p}} \approx \|g\|_{H^{p}}$.

In addition to (38), Plancherel-Pólya [36] that the inequality

$$\|g\|_{L^{p}} \leq c_{p,n} 2^{-\nu n/p} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \inf_{z \in \mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathbf{k}}} |g(z)|^{p} \right)^{1/p}$$

$$\tag{40}$$

holds as well if supp $\hat{g} \subseteq \{\xi : |\xi| \le \varepsilon 2^{\nu+1}\}$ for ε sufficiently small. A proof of this can be given, using Lemma (1.2.1) in a manner similar to our proof of Lemma (1.2.2). A more precise statement can be obtained from an interpolation formula in Boas, [20].

Our main decomposition theorem for $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ now follows readily from Lemmas (1.2.1) and (1.2.2).

Theorem (1.2.4) [45]: Let $-\infty < \alpha < +\infty$, $0 < p, q \le +\infty$. Then each $f \in \dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ can be decomposed as follows:

(i) $f = \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} s_Q \psi_Q$, where the ψ_Q 's are defined by (37), and (ii) $f = \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} s_Q a_Q$

where the a_0 's are (α , p)-atoms.

In both cases the convergence is in S'/S and the numbers s_0 satisfy

$$\left(\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} |s_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{p}\right)^{q/p}\right)^{1/p} \le c \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{\alpha q}_{p}}$$
(41)

for some constant c independent of f.

Proof:

(i) Our assumption on ψ imply that there is a function φ satisfying (18, 19, 20, 21) for v = 0, and such that (31) holds. By Lemma (1.2.1),

$$f(\cdot) = \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \varphi_v * f(2^{-v}\mathbf{k}) 2^{vn(\alpha/n-1/p)} \psi_{\mathcal{Q}_{vk}}(\cdot)$$

For $Q = Q_{\nu k}$, define

$$s_{Q} = 2^{\nu n (\alpha/n - 1/p)} \varphi_{\nu} * f(2^{-\nu}k).$$
(42)

Clearly $f = \sum_{Q} s_{Q} \psi_{Q}$, and (40) follows easily by applying (37) to $\varphi_{v} * f$.

(ii)Select a function $\theta \in S$ satisfying supp $\theta \subseteq \{x : |x| \le 1\}$, $\int x^{\gamma} \theta(x) dx = 0$ if $|\gamma| \le N$, and $\hat{\theta}(\xi) \ge c > 0$ if $1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2$. (Such a θ is easy to construct: let $\Theta \in S$ be a realvalued radial function satisfying supp $\Theta \subseteq \{x : |x| \le 1\}$ and $\hat{\Theta}(0) = 1$. Then for some $\varepsilon > 0$, $\hat{\Theta}(\xi) = 1/2$ for all ξ satisfying $|\xi| < 2\varepsilon < 1$. Then $\theta(x) = (-\Delta)^N (\varepsilon^{-n} \Theta(x/\varepsilon))$ satisfies all of the requirements.) Our conditions on θ guarantee that a function φ exists which satisfies (18, 19, 20, 21) for v = 0 and so that (31) holds. Therefore, if $\theta_v(x) = 2^{\nu n} \theta(2^{\nu} x)$,

$$f = \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \theta_v * \varphi_v * f = \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(Q) = 2^{-v} Q} \int_Q \theta_v(x - y) \varphi_v * f(y) dy.$$

Define, for $Q = Q_{\nu k}$,

$$s_{\mathcal{Q}} = C2^{\nu n(\alpha/n-1/p)} \sup_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathcal{Q}} |\varphi_{\nu} * f(\mathbf{y})|$$
(43)

and

$$a_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) = \frac{1}{s_{\mathcal{Q}}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \theta_{v}(x - y) \varphi_{v} * f(y) dy$$

Where C is a constant, picked large enough so that every a_Q satisfy (23). The a_Q 's are (α , p)-atoms, since (22) and (24) are consequences of our requirements on θ . Finally, (41) follows from Lemma (1.2.2) exactly as in (i).

Remark (1.2.5): There is a simpler proof for $p \ge 1$ of Theorem (1.2.4) (ii), which does not depend on Lemma (1.2.2). Replace (43) by

$$s_{\mathcal{Q}} = C|\mathcal{Q}|^{-\alpha/n} \left(\int_{\mathcal{Q}} |\varphi_{v} * f(y)|^{p} dy \right)^{1/p}$$
(44)

(cf. [42]), and continue with $a_Q(x) = (1/s_Q) \int_Q \theta_v(x - y) \varphi_v * f(y) dy$ as above. Then (23) follows by Hölder's inequality if C is a large enough constant, and (22) and (24) follow as above. With this definition of s_Q , (41) is trivial.

In each of our decompositions, s_Q , for $Q = Q_{vk}$, is determined by the values of $\varphi_v * f$ on Q_{vk} . Up to multiple factors, s_Q in (43) is the sup of $|\varphi_v * f|$ on Q_{vk} , s_Q in (44) is the L^p-average of $\varphi_v * f$ on Q_{vk} . And in (42) s_Q is the sample value $\varphi_v * f(2^{-v}k)$. By Plancherel-Pólya, (38) and (40), these values are roughly interchangeable.

We call a function m an (α, p) -molecule if there exist $\mu \in \mathbb{Z}$ and a point $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that

$$|\partial^{\gamma} \mathbf{m}(x)| \le 2^{\mu(n/p - \alpha + |\gamma|)} (1 + 2^{\mu} |x - x_0|)^{-M - |\gamma|} \quad \text{if } |\gamma| \le K$$
(45)

and

$$\int x^{\gamma} \mathbf{m}(x) \mathrm{d}x = 0 \qquad \text{if } |\gamma| \le \mathsf{N}, \tag{46}$$

Where M is a large, fixed number; $M \ge N + 10n \max(1/p, 1)$ is certainly enough. We recall that $K \ge ([\alpha] + 1)_+$ and $N \ge \max(n[(1/p - 1)_+ - \alpha], -1))$ are fixed integers.

For each $\mu \in \mathbb{Z}$, let $\{x_{\mu,j}\}_j$ be an arbitrary sequence of point in \mathbb{R}^n . We will write $m = m_{\mu,j}$ if m satisfies (45, 46) for $x_0 = x_{\mu,j}$.

We will use the notation m_Q for an (α, p) -molecule which is in fact concentrated on the dyadic cube $Q = Q_{\mu,\ell}$ (defined by (26)); i.e. m_Q satisfies (45, 46) with $\ell(Q) = 2^{-\mu}$ and $x_0 = x_Q = 2^{-\mu}\ell$.

This distinction in notation is adopted to emphasize the fact that our estimates require the (α, p) -molecules to be in correspondence with the dyadic cubes only if 1 .

Theorem (1.2.8) [45]: Let $-\infty < \alpha < +\infty, 0 < q \le +\infty$.

(a) Let $0 . Suppose <math>f = \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j} s_{\mu,j} m_{\mu,j}$, where the $m_{\mu,j}$'s are (α, p) -molecules, indexed as above. Then

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}} \leq c \left(\sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{j} \left| s_{\mu,j} \right|^{p} \right)^{q/p} \right)^{1/q}$$

(b)Let $1 . Suppose <math>f = \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\mu}} s_Q m_Q$, where each m_Q is an (α, p) -molecule concentrated on Q. Then

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}} \leq c \left(\sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\mu}} |s_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{p} \right)^{q/p} \right)^{1/q}$$

In both cases the constant c is independent of f.

Proof: To prove (i), we write

$$\varphi_{\nu} * \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{j} s_{\mu,j} m_{\mu,j} = \varphi_{\nu} * \left(\sum_{\mu = -\infty}^{\nu} + \sum_{\mu = \nu+1}^{+\infty} \right) \sum_{j} s_{\mu,j} m_{\mu,j}$$

and use Lemma (1.2.7) below and the p-triangle inequality $|a + b|^p \le |a|^p + |b|^p$ to see that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}}^{q} &\leq c \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\mu = -\infty}^{\nu} 2^{-(\nu - \mu)(K - \alpha)p} \sum_{j} |s_{\mu,j}|^{p} \right)^{q/p} \\ &+ c \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\mu = \nu + 1}^{+\infty} 2^{-(\mu - \nu)(N + 1 + n - n/p + \alpha)p} \sum_{j} |s_{\mu,j}|^{p} \right)^{q/p}. \end{split}$$

The proof of (ii) is similar. If $\mu > \nu$ we apply (47) and Lemma (1.2.8) with $\mu = \nu$, and if $\mu \le \nu$ we apply (48) and Lemma (1.2.8) with $\eta = \mu$, to obtain

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}}^{q} &\leq c \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\mu=-\infty}^{\nu} 2^{-(\nu-\mu)(K-\alpha)} \left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\mu}} |s_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{p} \right)^{1/p} \right)^{q} \\ &+ c \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\mu=\nu+1}^{\infty} 2^{-(\mu-\nu)(N+1+\alpha)} \left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\mu}} |s_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{p} \right)^{1/p} \right)^{q}. \end{split}$$

Now $K - \alpha > 0$ and $N + 1 + \alpha > 0$ by definition, so (ii) follows by considering $q \ge 1$ and q < 1 separately, similarly to the proof of (i).

Lemma (1.2.7) [45]: Let $m_{\mu,j}$ be an (α , p)-molecule. Then

$$\left|\varphi_{\nu} * m_{\mu,j}(x)\right| \le 2^{\mu(n/p-\alpha)} 2^{-(\mu-\nu)(N+1+n)} \left(1 + 2^{\nu} \left|x - x_{\mu,j}\right|\right)^{N+1+n-M}$$
(47)

if $v \leq \mu$, and

$$\left|\varphi_{\nu} * m_{\mu,j}(x)\right| \le 2^{\mu(n/p-\alpha)} 2^{-(\nu-\mu)K} \left(1 + 2^{\mu} \left|x - x_{\mu,j}\right|\right)^{N+1+n-M}$$
(48)

if $\mu \leq v$.

Proof: Consider (47) first. By translation and dilation invariance, we may assume v = 0 and $x_{\mu,j} = 0$. Put m = m_{µ,j} and $\phi = \phi_0$. By (46),

$$\varphi * \mathbf{m}(x) = \int \mathbf{m}(x - \mathbf{y}) \left(\varphi(\mathbf{y}) - \sum_{|\beta| \le N} \partial^{\beta} \varphi(x) (\mathbf{y} - x)^{\beta} / \beta! \right) d\mathbf{y}.$$

Hence,

$$|\varphi * \mathbf{m}(x)| \le \left(\int_{|x-y|\le |x|/2} + \int_{|x-y|>|x|/2} \right) |\mathbf{m}(x-y)| |x-y|^{N+1} \Phi(x,y) dy = \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{II}$$

where $\Phi(x, y) = \sup_{\substack{|\beta|=N+1 \ 0 < \varepsilon < 1}} \sup_{\substack{|\beta|=N+1 \ 0 < \varepsilon < 1}} \left| \partial^{\beta} \phi(x + \varepsilon(y - x)) \right| / \beta!$. Since $\phi \in S$, $\Phi(x, y) = c(1 + |x|)^{N+1+n-M}$ if $|x - y| \le |x|/2$. Using this and (44),

$$I \le c \int |m(x-y)| |x-y|^{N+1} dy (1+|x|)^{N+1+n-M}$$

$$\le c 2^{\mu(n/p-\alpha)} \int (1+2^{\mu}|y|)^{-M} |y|^{N+1} dy (1+|x|)^{N+1+n-M}$$

$$\le c 2^{\mu(n/p-\alpha)} 2^{-\mu(N+1+n)} (1+|x|)^{N+1+n-M}$$

Since Φ is bounded,

$$II \le \int_{|x-y| > |x|/2} |m(x-y)| |x-y|^{N+1} dy \le c2^{\mu(n/p-\alpha)} \int_{|x-y| > |x|/2} (1+2^{\mu}|x-y|)^{-M} |x-y|^{N+1} dy$$

$$\le c2^{\mu(n/p-\alpha)} 2^{-\mu(N+1+n)} (1+|x|)^{N+1+n-M}$$

by (45). This proves (47).

Now (48) follows similarly by reversing the role of φ and m in the above proof. By (19), φ has moments of arbitrary order; we subtract a Taylor polynomial of degree K – 1 from m in the convolution $\varphi * m(x)$ and use (45) with $|\gamma| = K$.

Lemma (1.2.8) [45]: Let $1 \le p \le +\infty$ and $\mu, \eta \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\eta \le \mu$. Suppose $F(x) = \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\mu}} s_Q f_Q(x)$, where

$$|f_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)| \le 2^{\mu(n/p-\alpha)} (1+2^{\eta}|x-x_{\mathcal{Q}}|)^{-n-1}$$

Then

$$\|F\|_{L^{p}} \leq c2^{-\mu\alpha} \left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\mu}} \left|s_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|^{p}\right)^{1/p} 2^{(\mu-\eta)n}$$

Proof: By our assumption on the f_Q 's,

$$\|F\|_{L^{p}}^{p} \leq c \sum_{\ell(S)=2^{-\mu}} 2^{-\mu n} \left(2^{\mu(n/p-\alpha)} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\mu}} |s_{Q}| (1+2^{\eta}|x_{S}-x_{Q}|)^{-n-1} \right)^{p}$$

where {S} are the dyadic cubes of side length $2^{-\mu}$. Determine k, $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ such that $x_Q = 2^{-\mu}k$ and $x_S = 2^{-\mu}\ell$, and $s_Q = s_k$ in this case. Then by Young's inequality,

$$\begin{split} \|F\|_{L^{p}}^{p} &\leq c2^{-\mu\alpha p} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |s_{k}| (1 + 2^{\eta-\mu} |k - \ell|)^{-n-1} \right)^{p} \\ &\leq c2^{-\mu\alpha p} \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |s_{k}|^{p} \right) \left(\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + 2^{\eta-\mu} |\ell|)^{-n-1} \right)^{p} \\ &\leq c2^{-\mu\alpha p} \left(\sum_{\ell (S) = 2^{-\mu}} |s_{k}|^{p} \right) 2^{-(\eta-\mu)np}, \end{split}$$

which prove the lemma.

We should perhaps note that an immediate consequence of Theorem (1.2.6) is that if $q < \infty$, our representations of $f \in \dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ in Theorem (1.2.4) converge to f in $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ (quasinorm). This may also be seen directly from the proof of the decomposition.

The functions ψ_Q and a_Q in Theorem (1.2.4) may be taken to have any fixed number of vanishing moments (or infinitely many, in the case of ψ_Q). Conversely, though, in Theorem (1.2.6) the assumption that $m_{\mu,j}$, or m_Q , has at least $N = \max([n(1/p - 1)_+ - \alpha], -1)$ vanishing moments cannot be improved. For 0 , this follows from $the general fact that any <math>f \in \dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ satisfies $|\hat{f}(\xi)| \le c|\xi|^{n(1/p-1)\alpha}$; the same holds with $\alpha = 0$ for $f \in H^p$.

A consideration of (45) leads to a remark about the atomic decomposition of $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $0 . A distribution <math>f \in H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfies $f = \sum_i \lambda_i a_i$ where $\sum_i |\lambda_i|^p \le c ||f||^p_{H^p}$ and each "p-atom" a_i satisfies $\int x^{\gamma} a_i(x) dx = 0$ if $|\gamma| \le [n(1/p - 1)]$, supp $a_i \subseteq Q_i$ and $||a_i||_L \le |Q_i|^{-1/p}$, for some associated cube $Q_i \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. Clearly, if a_i also satisfies

$$|x^{\gamma}a_{i}(x)| \le |Q_{i}|^{-1/p - |\gamma|/n}$$
(49)

for $|\gamma| = 1$, then a_i is a (0, p)-atom. The condition $\sum_i |\lambda_i|^p < \infty$ is precisely the summation condition on the coefficients $\{s_{\mu,j}\}$ in our decomposition of \dot{B}_p^{0p} . Since $\dot{B}_p^{0q} \subsetneq$ H^p for $0 , we see that it is not possible in general to obtain the smoothness estimate (49) for <math>|\gamma| = 1$ in the atomic decomposition of H^p(\mathbb{R}^n). In our decompositions of $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$. however, our building blocks are C^{∞} and may be taken to satisfy (45) for an arbitrarily large K. In particular, then, for 0 , the space

$$\left\{\sum_{i} \lambda_{i} a_{i} : \sum_{i} |\lambda_{i}|^{p} < \infty, \quad \text{each } a_{i} \text{ is a p- atom satisfying (49) for } |\gamma| \le J\right\}$$

is either H^p , if J = 0, or \dot{B}_p^{0p} , if $J \ge 1$.

The space of functions of bounded mean oscillation is defined by

$$BMO = \left\{ f \in L^1_{loc} / \mathbb{C} : \|f\|_{BMO} = \sup_{I} \frac{1}{|I|} \int_{I} |f - f_I| < +\infty \right\}$$

where the sup is taken over all cubes $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ (not necessarily dyadic), and $f_I = (1/|I|) \int_I f$.

For a sequence $\{s_Q\}_Q$, indexed by the dyadic cubes, define

$$\left\|\left\{s_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\}\right\|_{\mathscr{P}} = \sup_{J \text{ dyadic}} \left(\frac{1}{|I|} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \subseteq J} \left|s_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|^{2} |\mathcal{Q}|\right)^{1/2}$$

 $\|\{s_Q\}\|_{\mathscr{D}}^2$ is equivalent to the Carleson norm of the measure $\sum_Q |s_Q|^2 \delta_{(x_Q, \ell(Q))}$, where $\delta_{(x,t)}$ is the point mass at $(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$.

Uchiyama's decomposition of BMO functions into $(0, \infty)$ -atoms [42] shows the close relation between the \mathscr{P} - and BMO-norms. Recall that a $(0, \infty)$ -atoms a_Q , for some cube Q, is a function satisfying supp $a_Q \subseteq 3Q$, $|\partial^{\gamma}a_Q(x)| \leq \ell(Q)^{-|\gamma|}$ for $|\gamma| \leq K$, and $\int x^{\gamma}a_Q(x)dx = 0$ for $|\gamma| \leq N$, where $K \geq 1$ and $N \geq 0$ are fixed integers. Uchiyama's result that

$$\|f\|_{BMO} = \inf\left\{\left\|\{s_{\mathcal{Q}}\}\right\|_{\mathcal{S}^{O}} : f = \sum_{\mathcal{Q}} s_{\mathcal{Q}} a_{\mathcal{Q}} \text{ (in } \mathcal{S}'/\mathbb{C}), \quad \text{where each } a_{\mathcal{Q}} \text{ is } (0,\infty)\text{- atoms}\right\}$$
(50)

(In [42], it is in fact the L²-, rather than the (S'/\mathbb{C}) -, version of (50) that is stated.) Clearly, (50) is the BMO-analogue of Theorem (1.2.4) ii).

The following theorem gives a decomposition of BMO corresponding to Theorem (1.2.4) (i).

Theorem (1.2.9) [45]:

- a) If f ∈ BMO(ℝⁿ), then there exists a sequence {s_Q}_Q satisfying ||{s_Q}||_℘ ≤ c||f||_{BMO} such that f = ∑_Q s_Qψ_Q (in S'/ℂ), where ψ_Q is defined by (27) with α = 0 and p = ∞.
 b) Concernence mean set infine for (w) dw = 0 and p.
- b) Conversely, suppose m_Q satisfies $\int m_Q(x) dx = 0$ and

 $\left|\partial^{\gamma} \mathbf{m}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)\right| \leq \ell(\mathcal{Q})^{-|\gamma|} \left(1 + \ell(\mathcal{Q})^{-1} \left|x - x_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\right)^{-n-1-|\gamma|}$

if $|\gamma| \leq 1$, for each cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$. If $||\{s_Q\}||_{\mathscr{P}} < \infty$, then $\sum_Q s_Q \psi_Q$ converges in \mathcal{S}'/\mathbb{C} and weak-* in BMO (regarded as $(H^1)^*$), with $||\sum_Q s_Q \psi_Q||_{BMO} \leq c ||\{s_Q\}||_{\mathscr{P}}$.

Proof: The proof of a) is a direct application of the methods above. By Lemma (1.2.1), $f = \sum_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \varphi_v * f(2^{-\nu}k) \psi_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}(x)$ (in \mathcal{S}'/\mathbb{C}). Set $s_{\mathcal{Q}} = \varphi_v * f(2^{-\nu}k)$ if $\mathcal{Q} = \mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}$. It is enough to prove that

$$\sum_{\nu,k:\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}\subseteq J} 2^{-\nu n} |\varphi_{\nu} * f(2^{-\nu}k)|^2 \le c|J| ||f||_{BMO}^2$$
(51)

for every dyadic cube J.

In (51), we may clearly assume $J = [0, 1]^n$. We apply the estimate (39) of Lemma (1.2.2) to $\varphi_v * f$. (This is appropriate here because (39) is a nearly localized version of Lemma (1.2.2).) This gives

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\nu n} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in [0, 2^{\nu})^{n}} |\varphi_{\nu} * f(2^{-\nu}\mathbf{k})|^{2} &\leq c \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in [0, 2^{\nu})^{n}} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + |\ell|)^{-n-1} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathbf{k}} + \ell} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^{2} \\ &= c \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in [0, 2^{\nu})^{n}} \sum_{\mathbf{r} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + |\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{r}|)^{-n-1} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathbf{r}}} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^{2} \\ &= c \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in [0, 2^{\nu})^{n}} \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \sum_{\mathbf{r} : \mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathbf{r}} \subseteq \mathcal{Q}_{0\mathbf{m}}} (1 + |\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{r}|)^{-n-1} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathbf{r}}} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^{2}. \end{split}$$

We claim it if $Q_{\nu r} \subseteq Q_{0m}$, then $\sum_{k \in [0,2^{\nu})^n} (1 + |k - r|)^{-n-1} \le c(1 + |m|)^{-n-1}$. For |m| small, say $|m| \le 10\sqrt{n}$, this trivial; if $|m| > 10\sqrt{n}$, then

$$|\mathbf{r}| > 2^{\nu-1} |\mathbf{m}| \ge 5 \cdot 2^{\nu} \sqrt{n} > 5 |\mathbf{k}|,$$

so that

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in[0,2^{\nu})^{n}} (1+|\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{r}|)^{-n-1} \le c2^{\nu n}(2^{\nu}|\mathbf{m}|)^{-n-1} \le c(1+|\mathbf{m}|)^{-n-1}$$

Hence, using this in the inequality above,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\nu n} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in [0, 2^{\nu})^{n}} |\varphi_{\nu} * f(2^{-\nu}\mathbf{k})|^{2} &\leq c \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \sum_{\mathbf{r}: \mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathbf{r}} \subseteq \mathcal{Q}_{0\mathbf{m}}} (1+|\mathbf{m}|)^{-n-1} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathbf{r}}} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^{2} \\ &\leq c \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1+|\mathbf{m}|)^{-n-1} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{0\mathbf{m}}} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^{2}. \end{split}$$

Therefore (51) is reduced to

$$\sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^2 \le c ||f||_{BMO}^2, \quad \text{for } \mathcal{Q} = \mathcal{Q}_{0m}, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$$
(52)

The proof of (52) is standard (see [5]). Writing

$$f = f_{3Q} + (f - f_{3Q})\chi_{3Q} + (f - f_{3Q})\chi_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus 3Q} = f_1 + f_2 + f_3,$$

 f_1 contributes nothing to (52), while

$$\sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \int_{Q} |\varphi_{\nu} * f_{2}|^{2} \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} |\widehat{\varphi}_{\nu}|^{2} |\widehat{f}_{2}|^{2} \leq c ||f_{2}||_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq c ||f||_{BMO}^{2}.$$

For $x \in Q$, we have the pointwise estimate

$$|\varphi_{\nu} * f_{3}(x)| \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus 3Q} 2^{\nu n} |f - f_{3Q}| (1 + 2^{\nu} |x - y|)^{-n-1} dy \leq c 2^{-\nu} ||f||_{BMO}$$

[5]. Altogether, this implies (52) and completes the proof of (i).

In (ii), the convergence of $f_{\rm m} = \sum_{\ell(Q) \le 2^{\rm m}} s_Q m_Q$ in \mathcal{S}'/\mathbb{C} , to some f (see [45]). If $\sup_{\rm m} ||f_{\rm m}||_{\rm BMO} = A < +\infty$, then $|\int f_{\rm m}h| \le cA||h||_{\rm H^1}$ for any $h \in {\rm H}^1 \cap \mathcal{S}$ such that $\hat{h} = 0$ in neighborhood of the origin. It follows that $|\int fh| \le c||h||_{\rm H^1}$ for these h, so that $||f||_{\rm BMO} \le cA$ and $f_{\rm m}$ converges to f weak-* in BMO, by the H¹- BMO duality theorem [5]. Therefore we need only to prove $||f_{\rm m}||_{\rm BMO} \le c||\{s_Q\}||_{\omega}$.

The proof of this is contained in Uchiyama's work in [42]. By Lemma 3.5 of [42], each m_Q may be written $m_Q = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j(n+1)} m_{Q,j}$, where

$$\operatorname{supp} \mathsf{m}_{\mathcal{Q},j} \subseteq 2^{j}\mathcal{Q}, \qquad \left\|\mathsf{m}_{\mathcal{Q},j}\right\|_{\operatorname{Lip} 1} \leq c2^{-j}\ell(\mathcal{Q})^{-1}, \qquad \text{and } \int \mathsf{m}_{\mathcal{Q},j}(x) \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$

Then Lemma 3.4 of [42] implies that $\left\|\sum_{\ell(Q)\leq 2^m} s_Q m_{Q,j}\right\|_{BMO} \leq c2^{jn} \left\|\{s_Q\}\right\|_{\wp}$. Therefore

$$\left\|\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})\leq 2^{\mathrm{m}}} \mathsf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}} \mathsf{m}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{\mathrm{BMO}} \leq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j(n+1)} \left\|\sum_{\mathcal{Q}} \mathsf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}} \mathsf{m}_{\mathcal{Q},j}\right\|_{\mathrm{BMO}} \leq c \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j} \left\|\{\mathsf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}}\}\right\|_{\wp} = c \left\|\{\mathsf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}}\}\right\|_{\wp}.$$

We may note that the proof of Theorem (1.2.9) shows that

$$\|f\|_{\text{BMO}} \approx \sup_{\text{S dyadic}} \left(\frac{1}{|S|} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k} \subseteq S} 2^{-\nu n} \sup_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \approx \sup_{\text{S dyadic}} \left(\frac{1}{|S|} \sum_{\nu = -\log_2 \ell(S)} \int_{S} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} (53)$$

This should be compared with (38), with Theorem 3 (iii) of [5], and with the definition of the $\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}$ norm.

Now let $f \in \dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}$. In Theorem (1.2.4) ii) we obtained s_{Q} and a_{Q} such that $f = \sum_{Q} s_{Q} a_{Q}$ where supp $a_{Q} \subseteq 3Q$, $|\partial^{\gamma} a_{Q}(x)| \leq |Q|^{\alpha/n-1/p-|\gamma|/n}$ if $|\gamma| \leq K$, $\int x^{\gamma} a_{Q}(x) dx = 0$ if $|\gamma| \leq N$, and

$$\left(\sum_{\nu\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}}\left|s_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|^{p}\right)^{q/p}\right)^{1/p} < c\|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}}.$$

Write $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ as $x = (x', x_n), x' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}, x_n \in \mathbb{R}$, and let $\pi : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ be the natural projection $\pi(x) = x'$. For each dyadic cube j in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} we set

$$t_{J} = \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}: \pi(\mathcal{Q}) = J \\ 3\mathcal{Q} \cap J \neq \emptyset}} \left| s_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \text{ and } h_{J}(x') = \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}: \pi(\mathcal{Q}) = J \\ 3\mathcal{Q} \cap J \neq \emptyset}} s_{\mathcal{Q}} a_{\mathcal{Q}}(x', 0) / t_{J}$$

The restriction, or trace, of f to \mathbb{R}^{n-1} is now

$$\operatorname{Tr} f(x') = \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu}} t_J h_J(x')$$
(54)

Whenever the sum converges in \mathcal{S}'/\mathcal{P} . Clearly,

$$\left(\sum_{\mu\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(\sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu}}\left|\mathbf{t}_{J}\right|^{p}\right)^{q/p}\right)^{1/q} \le c\|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}}$$
(55)

$$\operatorname{supp} h_{J} \subseteq 3J \tag{56}$$

and

$$\left|\partial^{\gamma} \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{J}}(x')\right| \le |\mathbf{J}|^{(\alpha - 1/p/(n-1)) - 1/p - |\gamma|/(n-1)} \quad \text{if } |\gamma| \le \mathbf{K}$$
(57)

since $|Q| = |J|^{n/(n-1)}$ if $\pi(Q) = J$. In other words, each h_J satisfies all the requirements for an $(\alpha - 1/p, p)$ -atom except possibly the moment condition (24). However, for $\alpha - 1/p > (n-1)(1/p-1)_+$, an $(\alpha - 1/p, p)$ -atoms in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} is not required to have any vanishing moments. In these cases, then, by Theorem (1.2.6) and (55),

$$\|\operatorname{Tr} f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha-1/p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \le c \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$
(58)

Although Tr *f* in (54) is expressed in terms of the decomposition of $f \in \dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ given in Theorem (1.2.4) ii), it is clear that Tr f(x') = f(x', 0) if that decomposition converges absolutely and uniformly. This is the case, for instance, if $f \in \dot{B}_{\infty}^{01}$. In particular, if *f* is any function of the form $f = \sum_{\nu=-M}^{N} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} \lambda_Q b_Q$, where $\sup_Q |\lambda_Q| < +\infty$ and b_Q 's are (α, p) -atoms satisfying $\int b_Q(x) dx = 0$ and $|\partial^{\gamma}b(x)| \le \ell(Q)^{(\alpha-n/p-|\gamma|)}$, $|\gamma| \le 1$, for some α , p, M, N then $f \in \dot{B}_{\infty}^{01}$ and hence Tr f(x') = f(x', 0). Since such sums are dense in $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ for $q < +\infty$, by (58) the map Tr : $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \dot{B}_p^{\alpha-1/p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ is the unique continuous linear extension to $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ of pointwise restriction operator if $\alpha - 1/p > (n-1)(1/p-1)_+$. Moreover, Tr extends the restriction operator for $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha\infty}$ as well, since the inclusion $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha\infty} \subseteq \dot{B}_p^{\alpha_0 1} + \dot{B}_p^{\alpha_1 1}$ holds whenever $\alpha_0 < \alpha < \alpha_1$.

It is easy to see that the trace map Tr above is onto $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha-1/p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$, since any $h_J(x')$ satisfying (56, 57) can be obtained as the restriction of an (α, p) -atom $a_{\alpha}(x)$. Hence, we obtain the known fact (which is classical if $p \ge 1$) that Tr $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{B}_p^{\alpha-1/p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ when $\alpha - 1/p > (n-1)(1/p-1)_+$ (cf. [17, 41]). The failure of this result for $\alpha - 1/p \le (n-1)(1/p-1)_+$ is clearly due to the failure of the h_J 's to have vanishing moments, which is first necessary at this critical index.

The existence, or non-existence, of the trace of $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ is equivalent to the question whether we can make sense of the sums in (54) whenever (55, 56, 57) holds, since any such expression can arise from a suitable $f \in \dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. It is not difficult to see that the sums in (54) always converge, and thus the trace exists, in \mathcal{S}'/\mathcal{S} , if and only if $\alpha - 1/p > (n-1)(1/p-1)_+$ or $\alpha - 1/p = (n-1)(1/p-1)_+$ and $0 < q \le 1$. This is also previously known ([35], [41]).

Suppose now $0 . When <math>0 < \alpha - 1/p < (n - 1)(1/p - 1)$, $\alpha - 1/p = (n - 1)(1/p - 1)$ and q > 1, or $\alpha = 1/p$, $q \le p$, (54) does not necessarily converge in S'/S, but does not converge in $L^p + L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$. This was observed in [17], and me be seen readily from (54, 55, 56, 57). This is best possible in the sense that the sums (54) do not necessarily converge in $L^p + L^{\infty}$ when $\alpha - 1/p < 0$ or $\alpha = 1/p$, q > p. Let us show this, for example, in the case $\alpha = 1/p$, q > p.

Pick a sequence $\{t_{\mu}\}_{\mu=2}^{\infty} \in \ell^q \setminus \ell^p$ (since this is not our usual convention, in $c_0 \setminus \ell^p$ if $q = +\infty$) and a collection $\{J_{\mu}\}_{\mu=2}^{\infty}$ of dyadic cubes satisfying $J_{\mu} \subseteq [0, 1]^{n-1}$, $\ell(J_{\mu}) = 2^{-\mu}$, and $3J_{\mu} \cap 3J_{\nu} = \emptyset$ if $\mu \neq \nu$. Set $t_J = t_{\mu}$ if $J = J_{\mu}$ and $t_J = 0$ for any $J \notin \{J_{\mu}\}_{\mu=2}^{\infty}$. Let $\{h_J\}_J$ be functions satisfying (56, 57) and, in addition, $h_J(x') \ge c|J|^{-1/p}$ if $x' \in J$, for some small constant c. Then

$$\left(\sum_{\mu\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(\sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu}}\left|t_{J}\right|^{p}\right)^{q/p}\right)^{1/q} = \left(\sum_{\mu=2}^{\infty}\left|t_{\mu}\right|^{q}\right)^{1/q} < +\infty,$$

$$22$$

and it is clear that $\sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu}} t_J h_J$ would arise as the trace of a suitable $f \in \dot{B}_p^{(1/p)q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if the trace operator were continuous. But if we let $h_N = \sum_{\mu=2}^N \sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu}} t_J h_J$ for large N, then supp $h_N \subset [0, 1]^{n-1}$. Hence, $\|h_n\|_{L^p+L^{\infty}} \ge c \|h_N\|_{L^p} \ge c (\sum_{\mu=2}^N |t_{\mu}|^p)^{1/p}$, which can be made arbitrarily large. Therefore the sum $\sum_J t_J h_J$ cannot converge in $L^p + L^{\infty}$.

We know from above that the trace of $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the limiting case $\alpha = 1/p$ exists in $L^p + L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ only if $0 < q \le \min(1, p)$. In fact, we then have the following result.

Theorem (1.2.10) [45]: Let $0 , <math>0 < q \le \min(1, p)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Tr} \dot{\mathrm{B}}_{\mathrm{p}}^{(1/\mathrm{p})\mathrm{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1}).$$

Proof: It is easy to verify that the sums in (54) converge in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ if $f \in \dot{B}_p^{(1/p)q}(\mathbb{R}^n), 0 < q \le \min(1, p)$, and that Tr is bounded from $\dot{B}_p^{(1/p)q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$.

To show that Tr is onto L^p , it is sufficient to show that each $h \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ has a decomposition

$$\mathbf{h}(x') = \sum_{\mu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(\mathbf{J})=2^{-\mu}} \mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{J}} \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{J}}(x')$$

where the h_I's satisfy (56, 57) with $\alpha = 1/p$, and

$$\left(\sum_{\mu\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(\sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu}}\left|t_{J}\right|^{p}\right)^{q/p}\right)^{1/q}\leq c\|h\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}$$

To prove such a decomposition, start by picking a $\Phi \in C_0^{\infty}$ satisfying supp $\Phi \subseteq [0, 1]^{n-1}$, $0 \le \Phi \le 1$, and $\|1 - \Phi\|_{L^p([0,1]^{n-1})} \le \min(1/5, (1/5)^p)$. If

$$J = \{x : k_i 2^{-\mu} \le x_i < (k_i + 1)2^{-\mu}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n-1\}$$

put

$$h_{I}(x') = C\Phi(2^{\mu}x' - k)2^{\mu(n-1)/p}$$
(59)

where $\mathbf{k} = (\mathbf{k}_1, \dots, \mathbf{k}_{n-1})$ and C is chosen small enough for $\mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{I}}$ to satisfy (57).

Fix a non-negative $h \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$; it is enough to prove the decomposition for such functions.

By choosing the side length $2^{-\mu_1}$ small enough, it is possible to find that a simple function

$$e_1(x') = \sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu_1}} r_J \chi_J(x')$$

such that $e_1 \ge 0$ and $||h - e_1||_{L^p} \le \min(1/4, (1/4)^{1/p})||h||_{L^p}$. we define the smooth version

$$\tilde{e}_1(x') = \sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu_1}} t_J h_J(x'),$$

where the h_J's are given by (59) and $t_J = r_J 2^{-\mu_1(n-1)/p}/C$ with the same constant C. If we set $D = \max(5/4, (5/4)^{1/p})$, then

$$\left(\sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu_{J}}} \left|t_{J}\right|^{p}\right)^{1/p} = \|e_{1}\|_{L^{p}}/C \le \|h\|_{L^{p}}/D$$
(60)

and we picked Φ so that $\|e_1 - \hat{e}_1\|_{L^p} \le \min(1/5, (1/5)^{1/p})\|e_1\|_{L^p}$. Hence,

$$\|\mathbf{h} - \hat{\mathbf{e}}_1\|_{\mathbf{L}^p} \le \|\mathbf{h}\|_{\mathbf{L}^p}/2 \tag{61}$$

If this process is repeated with h replaced by $h - \hat{e}_1$, we obtain $\tilde{e}_2 = \sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu_2}} t_J h_J$ such that

$$\left(\sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu_2}} |t_J|^p\right)^{1/p} \le \|h - \hat{e}_1\|_{L^p} / D \le \|h\|_{L^p} / 2D$$

and

$$\|\mathbf{h} - \hat{\mathbf{e}}_1 - \hat{\mathbf{e}}_2\|_{L^p} \le \|\mathbf{h} - \hat{\mathbf{e}}_1\|_{L^p}/2 \le \|\mathbf{h}\|_{L^p}/4$$

by (60). We can also arrange so that $\mu_2 > \mu_1$. Continuing this process inductively, we obtain the functions $\tilde{e}_i = \sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu_i}} t_J h_J$, $i = 1, 2, \cdots$, satisfying

$$\left(\sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu_{i}}}\left|t_{J}\right|^{p}\right)^{1/p} \le \|h\|_{L^{p}}/2^{i-1}D$$
(62)

$$\left\| \mathbf{h} - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_{i} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{p}} \le 2^{-m} \|\mathbf{h}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{p}}, \qquad \mathbf{m} = 1, 2, \cdots$$
(63)

and $\mu_{i+1} > \mu_i$ for every *i*. The required decomposition of h is $h(x') = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \tilde{e}_i(x')$. By (63) this sum converges in L^p and by (62),

$$\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\ell(J)=2^{-\mu_i}} \left|t_J\right|^p\right)^{q/p}\right)^{1/q} \le c \|h\|_{L^p}$$

Theorem (1.2.10) was previously known when $1 \le p < +\infty$ and q = 1; see [33, 35, 31,22].

A space X of tempered distributions on \mathbb{R}^n is said to have the lower majorant property if, for each $f \in X$, there is a $g \in X$ such that

$$\left|\hat{f}(\xi)\right| \le \hat{g}(\xi), \quad \text{if } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
(64)

$\|\mathbf{g}\|_{\mathbf{X}} \leq \mathbf{c} \|f\|_{\mathbf{X}}$

with c independent of f. For instance, the Hardy spaces $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $0 are known to have this property; <math>L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)(p \ge 1)$ has the lower majorant property if and only if p = 1 or p = 2k/(2k-1), $k = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$ References can be found in [34] and [19].

For a space $X \subseteq S'/S$, the definition of the lower majorant property is as above, except that the origin is excluded in (64). For $\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the following theorem is an immediate consequence of Theorem (1.2.4) i) and Theorem (1.2.6) i).

Theorem (1.2.11) [45]: Let $-\infty < \alpha < +\infty$, $0 < q \le +\infty$. If $0 , then <math>\dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ has the lower majorant property.

Proof: By Theorem (1.2.6) i), each $f \in \dot{B}_p^{\alpha q}$ has a representation $f = \sum_Q s_Q \psi_Q$ where

$$\left(\sum_{\nu\in\mathbb{Z}}\left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}}|s_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{p}\right)^{q/p}\right)^{1/q}\leq c\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{\alpha q}_{p}}$$

The ψ_Q 's are defined by (27); up to a multiple, the are obtained by translating the dilates of a fixed ψ by $x_Q = 2^{-\nu}k$. We choose, as we may, ψ so that $0 \le \widehat{\psi} \le 1$. If we put $g(x) = \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} |s_Q| \psi_Q(x + x_Q)$ we then have $|\widehat{f}(\xi)| \le \widehat{g}(\xi)$.

Now since $0 , it does not matter that the building blocks <math>\psi_Q(x + x_Q)$ are not evenly scattered. Indeed, by Theorem (1.2.4) i), we obtain

$$\|g\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}} \leq c \left(\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} |s_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{p} \right)^{q/p} \right)^{1/q} \leq c \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p}^{\alpha q}}$$

It is not difficult to prove analogues of Theorems (1.2.4) and (1.2.6) for the inhomogeneous Besov spaces $B_p^{\alpha q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $-\infty < \alpha < +\infty$, $0 < p, q \le +\infty$. To define these spaces, let $\{\varphi_v\}_{v=0}^{\infty}$ satisfy (18, 19, 20, 21) and let $\Phi \in S$ satisfy

 $\operatorname{supp}\widehat{\Phi} \subseteq \{\xi : |\xi| \le 1\} \quad \text{and} \quad \widehat{\Phi}(\xi) \ge c \text{ if } |\xi| \le 5/6 \tag{65}$

Then $B_p^{\alpha q}$ is the set of $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{B_{p}^{\alpha q}} = \|\Phi * f\|_{L^{p}} + \left(\sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} (2^{\nu \alpha} \|\phi_{\nu} * f\|_{L^{p}})^{q}\right)^{1/q} < +\infty$$

This definition is independent of the choice if Φ and $\{\varphi_v\}_{v=0}^{\infty}$ (see [26]).

Suppose $\Psi \in S$ satisfies supp $\widehat{\Psi} \subseteq \{\xi : |\xi| \le \pi\}$ and $\widehat{\Psi}(\xi) \ge c > 0$ if $|\xi| \le 1$. We have then the following decomposition results.

Theorem (1.2.12) [45]: Let $-\infty < \alpha < +\infty$ and $0 < p, q \le +\infty$.

a) Each $f \in B_p^{\alpha q}$ can be decomposed as follows; i) $f(\cdot) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} s_k \Psi(\cdot - k) + \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} s_Q \psi_Q(\cdot)$,

Where the ψ_Q 's are defined by (26), or

ii) $f = \sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} \mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} \mathbf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}} a_{\mathcal{Q}},$

Where the a_Q 's are (α, p) -atoms, and the b_k 's satisfy supp $b_k \subseteq 3Q_{0k}$ and $|\partial^{\gamma}b_k(x)| \le 1$ if $|\gamma| \le K$. In both cases the convergence is in S', and

$$\left(\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^n}|\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{k}}|^p\right)^{1/p} + \left(\sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty}\left(\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}}|\mathbf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}}|^p\right)^{q/p}\right)^{1/q} \le c\|f\|_{\mathbf{B}_p^{\alpha q}}$$

with c independent of f.

b) Conversely, suppose $f = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} s_k m_k + \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} s_Q m_Q$, where each m_Q is an (α, p) -molecule concentrated on Q, and each m_k satisfies

 $|\partial^{\gamma} b_k(x)| \le (1 + |x - k|)^{-M - |\gamma|}$ if $|\gamma| \le K$, for some sufficiently large M. Then

$$\|f\|_{B_p^{\alpha q}} \le c \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} |s_k|^p\right)^{1/p} + c \left(\sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} |s_Q|^p\right)^{q/p}\right)^{1/q}$$

For $0 , the conclusion of b) holds even if the <math>m_k$'s and m_Q 's are not centered near k and Q, respectively.

To prove (i), one obtains $\Phi \in S$ satisfying (65) and ϕ satisfying (18, 19, 20, 21) for v = 0 such that

$$\widehat{\Phi}(\xi)\widehat{\Psi}(\xi) + \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \widehat{\Phi}(2^{\nu}\xi)\widehat{\Psi}(2^{\nu}\xi) = 1 \quad \text{for all } \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

and proceeds as in Lemma (1.2.1) and Theorem (1.2.4). The proof of (ii) uses the inequalities above and similar estimates, not requiring the assumption of vanishing moments, however, for Φ and m_k.

The results above also have analogues for $B_p^{\alpha q}$. The standard result that $\operatorname{Tr} B_p^{\alpha q}(\mathbb{R}^n) = B_p^{\alpha - 1/p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ if $\alpha - 1/p > (n-1)(1/p-1)_+$, and the analogue of Theorem (1.2.10) that $\operatorname{Tr} B_p^{(1/p)q}(\mathbb{R}^n) = L^p(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ if $0 and <math>0 < q \le \min(1,p)$, follow from Theorem (1.2.12). Also, remarks about the non-existence of the trace in \mathcal{S}' or in L^p are analogous. Further, $B_p^{\alpha q}$ is proved to have the lower majorant property if 0 .

The decompositions in Theorem (1.2.4) provide a natural approach to many of the well-known properties of the Besov spaces, including the standard embedding and interpolation results. Also, they yield a way of comparing the Besov spaces to other spaces known to have a decomposition, such as H^p , $0 , or <math>L^p$. On the other hand, the main distinction between the building blocks obtained in the decomposition of L^p

(Theorem (1.2.10)) and the p-atoms for H^p , or the (0, p)-atoms for \dot{B}_p^{0p} , is that no vanishing moments are assumed in the case of L^p . It would be interesting to clarify the relation between \dot{B}_p^{0p} and L^p , H^p and L^p , and \dot{B}_p^{0p} and H^p , by determining the interpolation spaces between each of these couples.

There are a number of directions could possibly be extended. It is straightforward to obtain decompositions similar to (25) and (28) for Besov spaces defined with respect to a measure satisfying the doubling property. In the case of the polydisk, as well, the results generalize in an obvious way. Since the machinery necessary of Calderón's representation formula has been developed by Folland-Stein in [30] for appropriate homogenous groups, it should be possible to extend our approach to this setting. In the case of more general domains in \mathbb{R}^n , it may be natural to define Besov spaces for $\alpha > 0$ via the atomic decomposition. This point of view might be useful in the study of differential equations on these domains (cf. [41]), especially since trace Theorems are easy in the atomic context. In the proof of Theorem (1.2.4) (i), it would be interesting to replace the Fourier series expansion with a representation in terms of other bases in L², for example certain sets $\{e^{i\lambda_k x}\}_k$, or the eigenfunctions of some differential operator other than the Laplacian. Similarly, it may be possible to replace Fourier series by appropriate group representations in more abstract settings.

Now, After a normalization and reindexing, we obtain an expansion of the form $f = \sum_i \langle f, \psi_i \rangle \psi_i$, with $\|\psi_i\|_{L^2} \leq c$. The key aspect of this decomposition in our treatment of Besov spaces is that the norm of f is equivalent to the appropriate sequence space norm of the coefficients $\langle f, \psi_i \rangle$. Although the expansion is not orthonormal, it has many of the advantages of an orthonormal expansion. It follows directly from the identity $f = \sum_i \langle f, \psi_i \rangle \psi_i$ that $\|f\|_{L^2} = (\sum_i |\langle f, \psi_i \rangle|^2)^{1/2}$. Applying this to ψ_j gives $\sup_j \sum_i |\langle \psi_j, \psi_i \rangle|^2 \leq \sum_i |\langle f, \psi_i \rangle \psi_i$ that $\|f\|_{L^2} = (\sum_i |\langle f, \psi_i \rangle|^2)^{1/2}$.

c, which is an almost orthogonality property. Writing an operator T in the form

$$Tf = \sum_{i} \langle Tf, \psi_i \rangle \psi_i = \sum_{i,j} \langle f, \psi_j \rangle \langle T\psi_j, \psi_i \rangle \psi_i$$

effectively reduces the study of T to the study of the matrix $\{\langle T\psi_i, \psi_i \rangle\}$.

Suppose $\{\psi_i\}_i$ is a quasi-orthogonal family, or that the matrix $\{\langle \psi_i, \psi_j \rangle\}$ is bounded on ℓ^2 , and in addition that $\psi_j = \sum_{i,j} \langle \psi_j, \psi_i \rangle \psi_i$, for each j. Then clearly the operator P defined by $Pf = \sum_i \langle f, \psi_i \rangle \psi_i$ is a bounded projection onto \mathcal{H} , the closure of the span of $\{\psi_i\}_i$. Also we can write

$$Tf(x) = \sum_{i} \int f(y) \overline{\psi_{i}(y)} dy \ \psi_{i}(x) = \int K(x, y) f(y) dy$$

for $K(x, y) = \sum_i \overline{\psi_i(y)} \psi_i(x)$. This is reminiscent of the Bergman and Szegö kernels except that ψ_i 's are not necessarily orthonormal. If the ψ_i 's are sufficiently localized, as in Lemma (1.2.2), then for $f \in \mathcal{H}$ the identity $f = \sum_i \langle f, \psi_i \rangle \psi_i$ can be used to prove an analogue of Plancherel-Pólya.

Chapter 2

Characterization of the Besov-Lipschitz with Some Properties

We show a multiplier theorem of the Mikhlin type, extending the one by Triebel and Lizorkin. We complete the characterization of the weighted Besov-Lipschitz and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. We give the boundedness of some operators which including pseudo-differential operators of the Hörmander class.

Section (2.1): Spaces of Triebel-Lizorkin Type

We study certain spaces of distributions $F_p^{sq} = F_p^{sq}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ where s real, $0 < p, q \le \infty$. They are intimately related to certain spaces studied by Triebel [15] and Lizorkin [63] which says that the spaces do not depend on the special sequence of test functions $\{\varphi_v\}_{v\in\mathbb{Z}}$. This extends Triebel's corresponding result. But we have to give an entirely new proof, relying on two deep results by Fefferman & Stein: 1° their real variable characterization of the Hardy classes $H_p[5]$, 2° their sequence valued version of the Hardy & Littewood maximal theorem [60]. (Incidentally it follows from [5] that $F_p^{02} = H_p$ if $0 while as <math>F_{\infty}^{02} = B.M.0.!$) As an application we prove a multiplier theorem of the Milkhlin type, extending the one by Triebel and Lizorkin. We also give an application to approximation theory related to a theorem of Freud's [61]. Finally we briefly indicate how the result might be extended to the case or a Riemannian manifold.

By L_p where 0 we denote the space of measurable functions <math>f = f(x) $(x \in \mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$||f||_{L_p} = \left(\int |f(x)|^p dx\right)^{1/p} < \infty,$$

By ℓ^q where $0 < q \le \infty$ we denote the space of sequences $t = \{t_v\}_{v \in \mathbb{Z}}$ such that

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}}} = \left(\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} |\mathbf{t}_{\nu}|^{\mathbf{q}}\right)^{1/\mathbf{q}} < \infty.$$

We consider also spaces of sequence valued measurable functions $L_p(\ell^q)$ and $\ell^q(L_p)$, defined in the obvious way. If $1 \le p, q \le \infty$ these are all Banach spaces, in the general case only quasi-Banach space.

By S we denote the space of rabidly decreasing functions in \mathbb{R}^n and by S' the dual space of tempered distributions.

We denote a sequence of test functions $\{\varphi_v\}_{v\in\mathbb{Z}}$, with $\varphi_v(x) = 2^{vn}\varphi(2^vx)$, where $\varphi \in S$ with supp $\widehat{\varphi} = \{2^{-1} \le |\xi| \le 2\}$. For convenience let us also assume that $\{\varphi_v\}_{v\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is normalized in the sense that

$$\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} (\widehat{\varphi}_{\nu}(\xi))^{2} = 1 \quad \text{(or } \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \varphi_{\nu} * \varphi_{\nu} = \delta)$$

We can now define the principal spaces.

Definition (2.1.1) [66]: Let s real, $1 < p, q \le \infty$. Then we set (poised spaces of Besov type)

$$B_{p}^{sq}(a) = \{ f | f \in \mathcal{S}' \& \{ 2^{\nu s} (1 + 2^{\nu} | x |)^{a} \varphi_{\nu} * f \}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \ell^{q} (L_{p}) \}.$$

We quip $B_p^{sq}(a)$ with the quasi-norm

$$\|f\|_{B_{p}^{sq}(a)} = \|\{2^{\nu s}(1+2^{\nu}|x|)^{a}\phi_{\nu} * f\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{q}(L_{p})}.$$

If a = 0 we simply write $B_p^{sq}(0) = B_p^{sq}(Besov space)$.

Let us now rapidly state some properties of these spaces which can be proven in a more or less standard way (cf. [15]).
- (i) The space F_p^{sq} and $B_p^{sq}(a)$ are complete. The embedding from S and into S' are continuous. They are thus quasi-Banach (Banach if $1 \le p, q \le \infty$) spaces of tempered distributions.
- (ii) S is a dense subspace of F_p^{sq} and $B_p^{sq}(a)$ if $0 < p, q < \infty$.
- (iii) We have embedding theorem, e.g. the embedding $B_p^{sq}(a) \to B_{p_1}^{s_1q}(a)$ if $s n/p = s_1 n/p_1$, $s \ge s_1$, $q \le q_1$.
- (iv) We have duality theorems, e.g. the duality $(F_p^{sq})' \approx F_{p'}^{-sq'}$ if $1 \le p, q \le \infty$. We have the following elementary result.

Lemma (2.1.3) [66]: Let u be any C¹ function on \mathbb{R}^n and let $0 < r \le \infty$. Then we have the inequality

$$\mathsf{u}^{**} \leq \mathsf{C}\left\{\delta^{-n/r}(\mathsf{M}\mathsf{u}^r)^{1/r} + \delta(\nabla \mathsf{u})^{**}\right\}, \qquad \delta \leq 1$$

Where M denotes the Hardy & Littlewood maximal operator and where we have defied u^{**} by

$$u^{**}(x) = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} |u(x - y)| / (1 + |y|)^{n/r}$$

and $(\nabla u)^{**}$ in a similar fashion.

Proof: By the mean value theorem we have for any $x, z \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$|\mathbf{u}(x-\mathbf{z})| \le C \left\{ \delta^{-n/r} \left(\int_{|x-y-\mathbf{z}|<\delta} |\mathbf{u}(y)|^r dy \right)^{1/r} + \delta \sup_{|x-y-\mathbf{z}|<\delta} |\nabla \mathbf{u}(y)| \right\}.$$

By definition of M and $(\nabla u)^{**}$ follows

$$|\mathbf{u}(x-\mathbf{y})| \le C \left\{ \delta^{-n/r} (\mathbf{M}\mathbf{u}^{r}(x))^{1/r} + \delta(\nabla \mathbf{u})^{**}(x) \right\} (1+\delta+|\mathbf{z}|)^{n/r}.$$

If $\delta \leq 1$ we clearly get the desired inequality.

Lemma (2.1.4) [66]: Let f be any measurable function in \mathbb{R}^n and let b > n. Then holds

$$\int |f(y)| / (1 + |x - y|)^{b} \, \mathrm{d}y \le \mathrm{CM}f(x).$$

Lemma (2.1.5) [66]: Let $f = \{f_v\}_{v \in \mathbb{Z}}$ be a sequence of measurable functions in \mathbb{R}^n and let $1 < p, q \le \infty$. Then holds

$$\|Mf\|_{L_p(\ell^q)} \le C \|f\|_{L_p(\ell^q)}$$

where $Mf = \{Mf_{\nu}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}}$. If $f \in F_p^{sq}$ and if $\{\varphi_{\nu}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}}$ is the sequence of test functions we set

$$\varphi_{v}^{**}f(x) = \|\{\varphi_{v}^{**}f(x)\}_{v\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{q}},$$

$$\varphi_{v}^{**}f(x) = \sup_{y\in\mathbb{R}^{n}} 2^{vs} |\varphi_{v} * f(x-y)|/(1+2^{v}|y|)^{a}.$$

We also set

$$\phi^+ f(x) = \| \{ \phi_v^+ f(x) \}_{v \in \mathbb{Z}} \|_{\ell^q} \phi_v^+ f(x) = 2^{vs} \phi_v * f(x).$$

Clearly $\varphi^+ f \in L_P$. Below we show that also $\varphi^{**} f \in L_P$, at least if *a* is sufficiently large. More generally, let $\{\sigma_v\}_{v\in\mathbb{Z}}$ be a general sequence of test functions, with $\sigma_v(x) = 2^{\nu n}\sigma(2^{\nu}x)$ (but with no restriction on supp $\widehat{\sigma}$) and define $\sigma^{**}f$, $\sigma_v^{**}f$, σ_v^+f as above. Then we have the following

Theorem (2.1.6) [66]: Assume that $\sigma \in B_1^{-sq_1}(a) \cap B_1^{-s+a,q_1}(a)$ with $a > n/\min(p,q)$, $q_1 = \min(1,q)$. Then holds:

$$f \in \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathrm{sq}} \Rightarrow \sigma^{**} f \in \mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{P}}.$$
 (1)

In particular (1) holds with $\sigma = \phi$.

Proof: (Cf. Fefferman & Stein [5]) Let us start with the identity

$$\sigma_{\mu} * f = \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} (\sigma_{\mu} * \varphi_{\nu}) * (\varphi_{\nu} * f).$$

We then get

$$2^{\mu s} |\sigma_{\mu} * f(x-z)| \leq \sum 2^{\mu s} \int |(\sigma_{\mu} * \phi_{\nu})(y)| |\phi_{\nu} * f(x-y-z)| dy$$

$$\leq \sum 2^{\mu n} \int |(\sigma * \phi_{\nu-\mu})(2^{\mu}y)| (1+2^{\nu}|y|)^{a} dy \phi_{\nu}^{**} f(x)(1+2^{\nu}|z|)^{a}$$

$$\leq \sum 2^{(\mu-\nu)s} \int |(\sigma * \phi_{\nu-\mu})(y)| (1+2^{\nu-\mu}|y|)^{a} dy \phi_{\nu}^{**} f(x)(1+2^{\nu-\mu})^{a} (1+2^{\mu}|z|)^{a}$$

where we have used the elementary inequality:

 $\max(1 + u + v, 1 + uv) \le (1 + u)(1 + v), \quad u \ge 0, \quad v \ge 0$ In other words we have

$$\sigma_{\mu}^{**}f(x) \leq \sum_{\nu=\mu} t_{\nu=\mu} \varphi_{\nu}^{**}f(x)$$
with $t_{\nu} = \sum_{\nu=1}^{\nu=1} 2^{-\nu s} (1+2^{\nu})^a \int (1+2^{\nu}|y|)^a |\sigma * \varphi_{\nu}(y)| dy$. Here by hypothesis
$$\left(\sum_{\nu=1}^{\nu=1} |t_{\nu}|^{q_1}\right)^{1/q_1} \leq C$$
(2)

Therefore follows

$$\sigma^{**}f \le C\phi^{**}f \tag{3}$$

Thus we have reduced ourselves to proving (1) with $\sigma = \varphi$. To this end we first note that (3) in particular entails

$$(\nabla \varphi)^{**} f \leq C \varphi^{**} f$$
.
On the other hand Lemma (2.1.3) implies (with $r = n/a$)

$$\varphi_{v}^{**}f \leq C\left\{\delta^{-n/r}(M(\varphi_{v}^{+}f)^{r})^{1/r} + \delta(\nabla\varphi)_{v}^{**}f\right\}, \qquad \delta \leq 1$$

Thus we get

$$\|\varphi^{**}f\|_{L_{p}} \leq C\left\{\delta^{-n/r} \|(M(\varphi_{\nu}^{+}f)^{r})^{1/r}\|_{L_{p}(\ell^{q})} + \delta \|\varphi^{**}f\|_{L_{p}}\right\}$$

By Lemma (2.1.5) we have (since
$$r < \min(p, q)$$
)
 $\left\| (M(\phi_{v}^{+}f)^{r})^{1/r} \right\|_{L_{p}(\ell^{q})} = \left\| M(\phi_{v}^{+}f)^{r} \right\|_{L_{p/r}(\ell^{q/r})}^{1/r} \leq C \left\| (\phi_{v}^{+}f)^{r} \right\|_{L_{p/r}(\ell^{q/r})}^{1/r} = C \left\| \phi_{v}^{+}f \right\|_{L_{p}(\ell^{q})}$
 $= C \| f \|_{F_{p}^{sq}}$

Thus we have

$$\|\varphi^{**}f\|_{L_{p}} \leq C\left\{\delta^{-n/r}\|f\|_{F_{p}^{sq}} + \delta\|\varphi^{**}f\|_{L_{p}}\right\}, \quad \delta \leq 1.$$

If we knew already that $\|\varphi^{**}f\|_{L_p} < \infty$ we could, taking δ sufficiently small, conclude that

$$\|\varphi^{**}f\|_{L_{p}} \le C\|f\|_{F_{p}^{sq}} \tag{4}$$

But if $\|\varphi^{**}f\|_{L_p} = \infty$ this argument does not apply. To circumvent this difficulty we use an approximation argument. The above proof at least shows that (4) is valid if $f \in S$. For a general $f \in F_p^{sq}$ we find a sequence $\{f_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ in S such that $f_i \to f$ in S' as $i \to \infty$, with $\sup_{i} ||f_i||_{F_p^{sq}} < \infty$. It is easily seen that

$$\|\varphi^{**}f\|_{L_p} \le \lim_{i \to \infty} \|\varphi^{**}f_i\|_{L_p}$$

So an application of (3) to f_i effectively yields $\|\varphi^{**}f\|_{L_p} < \infty$. The proof is complete.

Corollary (2.1.7) [66]: The space F_p^{sq} is independent of the particular sequence of test functions $\{\phi_{\nu}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}}$ chosen.

Theorem (2.1.8) [66]: Assume that $\sigma \in B_p^{-sq_1}(a)$ with $a > n/\min(p,q)$, $q_1 = \min(1,q)$. Then holds:

$$f \in F_{p}^{sq} \Rightarrow \sigma^{+} f \in L_{p}$$

$$30$$
(5)

Proof: The proof of Theorem (2.1.6) clearly also gives in place of (2)

$$\sigma_{\mu}^{+}f(x) \leq \sum \mathbf{t}'_{\nu-\mu}\varphi_{\nu}^{**}f(x)$$

with $t'_{\nu} = 2^{-\nu s} \int (1 = 2^{\nu} |y|)^a |\sigma * \varphi_{\nu}(y)| dy$. This gives in place of (3): $\sigma^+ f \le C \varphi^{**} f$.

Since we know already that $\varphi^{**}f \in L_p$ it follows that $\sigma^+ f \in L_p$. **Theorem (2.1.9) [66]:** Assume that $\sigma \in B_{\infty}^{-s-n,q_1}(a)$ where $a > n/\min(1, p, q)$, $q_1 = \min(1, q)$. Then holds again (5).

Proof: From Lemma (2.1.4) and Lemma (2.1.5) follows readily that

$$f \in \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{sq}} \Rightarrow \left\{ 2^{\nu \mathbf{s}} \left(2^{\nu n} \int |\varphi_{\nu} * f(x - \mathbf{y})|^{\mathbf{r}} / (1 + 2^{\nu} |\mathbf{y}|)^{\mathbf{b}} \, \mathrm{dy} \right)^{1/\mathbf{r}} \right\} \in \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{p}}(\ell^{\mathbf{q}})$$

where r < min(p, q), b > n. From this follows again readily

$$f \in \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{sq}} \Rightarrow \left\{ 2^{\nu(\mathbf{s}+n)} \int |\varphi_{\nu} * f(x-\mathbf{y})| / (1+2^{\nu}|\mathbf{y}|)^{a} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{y} \right\} \in \mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{p}}(\ell^{\mathbf{q}})$$

with a as in the hypothesis of the theorem. The proof of Theorem (2.1.9) now yields

$$\sigma_{\mu}^{+}f(x) \leq \sum_{\nu'=\mu} t_{\nu'=\mu}^{\prime\prime} 2^{\nu(s+n)} \int |\varphi_{\nu} * f(x-y)| / (1+2^{\nu}|y|)^{a} \, \mathrm{d}\nu$$

with $t''_{\nu} = 2^{-\nu(s+n)} \int (1+2^{\nu}|y|)^a |\sigma * \varphi_{\nu}(y)| dy$. The rest of the proof is the same. **Theorem (2.1.10) [66]:** Assume that $m \in B_1^{0\infty}(a)$ where $a > n/\min(p,q)$. Then $f \in F_p^{sq} \Rightarrow m * f \in F_p^{sq}$.

Proof: Let us set g = m * f. We want to estimate $\varphi^+ g$. Choose σ in such a way that Theorem (2.1.6) is applicable and that in addition $\widehat{\sigma}_v(\xi) = 1$ in supp $\widehat{\sigma}_v$. Then we have $\varphi_v * g = (\varphi_v * m) * (\sigma_v * f)$

and we get

$$2^{\nu s} |\varphi_{\nu} * g(x)| \le \int |\varphi_{\nu} * m(y)| (1 + 2^{\nu} |y|)^{a} dy \sigma_{\nu}^{**} f(x) \le C \sigma_{\nu}^{**} f(x)$$

or

$$\varphi^+ g \leq C\sigma^{**} f.$$

Since $\sigma^{**}f \in L_p$ we get $\phi^+g \in L_p$ and $g \in F_p^{sq}$.

In order to get a true multiplier theorem we have to express the condition on m in terms of m.

Corollary (2.1.11) [66]: The conclusion of Theorem (2.1.10) is valid in particular if $|D^{\alpha}\widehat{m}(\xi)| \leq C|\xi|^{-|\alpha|}$ for all multi-indices α with $|\alpha| \leq T$ where T is an integer > n/2 + a.

We start by recalling the following known result (in the periodic case with n = 1) **Theorem (2.1.12) [61]:** Let f belong to the closure of S in $B^{1\infty}_{\infty}(T^1)$. Then f'(x) exists at a point $x \in T$ iff $\Phi_n f'(x)$ tend to a limit as $n \to \infty$. Here $\Phi_n f$ denote the Fejer sums of f.

We can now show the following analogue of Theorem (2.1.12). **Theorem (2.1.13) [66]:** Let *f* be in the closure of S in $F_p^{0\infty} = F_p^{0\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ where $1 . Assume that, for some <math>\sigma$, $\sigma_v * f(x)$ converges as $v \to \infty$ a.e. for *x* in set of positive measure. Then the same is true for any other kernel such that the difference with the first one belongs to $B_{\infty}^{-n1}(a)$ where $a > n/\min(1, p)$.

Proof: It suffices of course to prove that $\sigma_v * f$ tend to 0 a.e. throughout \mathbb{R}^n , for every $\sigma \in B_{\infty}^{-n1}(a)$. Since $\widehat{\sigma}(0) = 0$ this certainly is true if $f \in S$. On the other hand by Theorem (2.1.9) $\sup |\sigma_v * f(x)| < \infty$ a.e. for a general f. Thus it suffices to apply the usual density argument.

In retrospect we notice that in the preceding treatment only very little of the structure of underlying space \mathbb{R}^n has been utilized. This indicates that there exist

generalizations. In the place of \mathbb{R}^n we may indeed consider any (complete) Riemannian manifold Ω . The spaces $F_p^{sq} = F_p^{sq}(\Omega)$ are then defined by a condition of the type

$$\left\{2^{\nu s}\phi\left(\sqrt{-\Delta}/2^{\nu}\right)f\right\}_{\nu\in\mathbb{Z}}\in\mathcal{L}_{p}(\ell^{q})$$

where Δ is the Laplace-Beltrami operator on Ω . (In particular we can thus define Hardyclasses $H_p = H_p(\Omega)$). We plan to return to this topic in a forthcoming publication.

Section (2.2): Triebel-Lizorkin Spaces the Case **q** < 1

We complete the characterization of the weighted Besov-Lipschitz and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, which was started in [68]. Let us recall the following theorem:

Theorem (2.2.1) [68]: Let $0 < p, q \le \infty, p < \infty$. Suppose ω is an A_{∞} weight, $\mu \in S$ satisfies a moment condition of appropriately high order, and $v \in S$ satisfies the Tauberian condition. Then, there exist a constant C such that

$$\left\| \left(\int_0^\infty (t^{-\alpha} \mu_t^* f)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega} \le C \|f\|_{\dot{F}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}}$$

and

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,\omega}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}} \leq C \left\| \left(\int_0^\infty (t^{-\alpha} v_t^* f)^{\mathbf{q}} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/\mathbf{q}} \right\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega}$$

for all $f \in S'/\mathcal{P}$, tempered distributions modulo polynomials. Let us recall briefly that

$$\mu_{t}^{*}f(x) = \mu_{t,\lambda}^{*}f(x) = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\mu_{t} * f(x - y)|}{(1 + |y|/t)^{\lambda}}, \qquad \mu_{t}(x) = t^{-n}\mu(x/t)$$

is the Peetre maximal function, with λ , in the case of the above theorem, large and dependent on p, q, ω , and the dimension *n*. The norm $\|\cdot\|_{p,\omega}$ is the weighted Lebesgue L^p norm with the weighted ω . A similar theorem holds for the Besov-Lipschitz spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$. It has been shown in [68] that under additional assumptions (q ≥ 1 for $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$ and p, q ≥ 1 for $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$, for example) the second inequality can be the improved:

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,\omega}_{p,q}} \leq C \left\| \left(\int_0^\infty |t^{-\alpha} v_t * f|^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,q}$$

We will show that the improved estimate holds without any addition hypotheses i.e., for $0 < p, q \le \infty, p < \infty$. In effect, if *v* satisfies the conditions of the theorem, then the right-hand side in the above inequality begin finite is necessary and sufficient condition for *f* to be in $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$, with equivalent norms.

The problem of characterizing these function spaces in terms of the Littlewood-Paley g-functions, when \hat{v} is not compact support, has been an open problem since the appearance of [66] by Peetre in 1975. The interest in this problem partially stems from the historical fact that, classically, the study of function spaces was usually done via the Poisson kernel or the Gaussian kernel, both of which do not have compactly supported Fourier transforms. For the Hardy spaces H^p of Fefferman and Stien, $0 , Uchiyama [72] proved a general theorem which implies that if <math>v \in S$ satisfies the standard Tauberian condition, then there are positive constants c and C such that

$$c \left\| \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} |v_{t} * f|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{p} \leq \|f\|_{H^{p}} \leq C \left\| \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} |v_{t} * f|^{2} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{p}$$
(6)

for all $f \in H^p$. The method used by Uchiyama involves the full machinery of the H^ptheory, including the atomic decomposition and duality. Moreover, the prove of the righthand side inequality in (6) was done under the assumption that $f \in H^p$, and hence the result does not give a complete characterization of H^p. One would get a complete characterization of H^p from (6) by showing that the space of all $f \in S'$ for which the norm

$$\left\| \left(\int_0^\infty |v_t * f|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\mathrm{t}} \right)^{1/2} \right\|$$

is finite, complete and contains a nice dense subspace (which is also dense in H^p). However, the proof of such a density result would use the independence of the function space on the defining function v, which is more or less the characterization one would want to establish in the first place; we note that the proof of the density result for H^p is rather non-trivial (see, e.g., [67] or [71]). Since H^p = $\dot{F}_{p,2}^{0}$, our result in [68] seems new even for the unweighted Hardy spaces, see [68].

Let us recall some of the notation from [68]. Choose $\psi \in S$ such that

supp
$$\widehat{\Psi} \subset \{1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\}$$
 and $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\Psi}(2^j \xi) = 1$ for $\xi \ne 0$.

For each integer j we let $\psi_j(x) = \psi_{2^{-j}}(x) = 2^{jn} \psi(2^j x)$. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 < p, q \le \infty$, and in the case of $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$ suppose additionally that $p < \infty$. For $f \in S'$ we let

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{\alpha,\omega}_{p,q}} = \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{j\alpha} \|\psi_{j} * f\|_{p,\omega}\right)^{q}\right)^{1/q},$$
$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,\omega}_{p,q}} = \left\|\left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{j\alpha} |\psi_{j} * f|\right)^{q}\right)^{1/q}\right\|_{p,\omega}$$

Let $\psi \in S$ be defined by $\widehat{\psi}(\xi) + \sum_{j \ge 1} \widehat{\psi}_j(\xi) = 1$. The following are the inhomogeneous versions of the above norms:

$$\|f\|_{B^{\alpha,\omega}_{p,q}} = \|\psi * f\|_{p,\omega} + \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(2^{j\alpha} \|\psi_j * f\|_{p,\omega}\right)^q\right)^{1/q},$$
$$\|f\|_{F^{\alpha,\omega}_{p,q}} = \|\psi * f\|_{p,\omega} + \left\|\left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(2^{j\alpha} |\psi_j * f|\right)^q\right)^{1/q}\right\|_{p,\omega}$$

Suppose that $v \in S$ satisfies the Tauberian condition, that if for each $\xi \neq 0$ there exists a t > 0 such that $\hat{v}(t\xi) \neq 0$. Suppose $-\infty < \alpha < \infty$, 0 < p, $q \le \infty$. and additionally, in the case of $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$, $p < \infty$. Let ω be an A_{∞} weight. We then have the following:

Theorem (2.2.2) [73]: Under the above assumptions there exists a constant C independent of $f \in S'$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,\omega}_{p,q}} \leq C \left\| \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} |t^{-\alpha}(v_{t} * f)|^{q} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega},$$

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{\alpha,\omega}_{p,q}} \leq \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} (t^{-\alpha} \|v_t * f\|_{p,\omega})^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q}.$$

Proof: We will follow the argument from [68]. We use a version of the Calderón's reproducing formula, which is due to Janson and Taibleson [69]. There exists an $\eta \in S$ with $\hat{\eta}$ supported on an annulus centered at the origin, such that for $f \in S'$

$$f = \int_{0}^{\infty} f * v_{t} * \eta_{t} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\mathrm{t}}$$

with the integral converging in S'/\mathcal{P}_m , the tempered distributions modulo polynomials of degree up to m, depending on f. In our setting this implies the pointwise representation

$$\left(\psi_{j} * f\right)(x) = \int_{I_{j}} v_{t} * \eta_{t} * \psi_{j} * f(x) \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\mathrm{t}}$$

$$\tag{7}$$

where I_j is such that $\eta_t * \psi_j \equiv 0$ unless $t \in I_j$. If $\operatorname{supp} \hat{\eta} \subset \{2^{-A+1} \leq |\xi| \leq 2^{A-1}\}$ for some A > 1, then we can take $I_j = \{2^{-j-A}, 2^{-j+A}\}$. Pick $\lambda, r > 0$ and let $t \in I_j$. By a version of the result of Strömberg and Torchinsky [68], we obtain

$$\left|v_{t} * \eta_{t} * \psi_{j} * f(x)\right|^{2}$$

$$\leq C \int_{I_j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| v_s * \eta_s * \psi_j * f(y) \right|^r \left(1 + \frac{|x-y|}{s} \right)^{-\lambda r} \left(1 + \frac{|x-y|}{s} \right)^{-n-1} dy \, s^{-n} \frac{ds}{s}$$

Moreover, since s, t \in I_j, then by [68] the inner integral can be estimated by $v_s^* f(x)^r$, and thus

$$\left| \left(\psi_{j} * f \right)(x) \right|^{r} \leq C \int_{I_{j}} v_{s}^{*} f(x)^{r} \frac{\mathrm{ds}}{\mathrm{s}}$$

$$\tag{8}$$

for every j and x. The following lemma is special case of the result by Strömberg and Torchinsky [71].

Lemma (2.2.3) [73]: Let $v \in S$ satisfy Tauberian condition, $r, \lambda > 0$. Then there exists a constant C such that

$$|v_{t} * f(x)|^{r} \leq C \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(v_{s} * f)(z)|^{r} \left(1 + \frac{|x - z|}{s}\right)^{-\lambda r} \left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^{\lambda r} dz \, s^{-n} \frac{ds}{s}$$
$$+ C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(v_{t} * f)(z)|^{r} \left(1 + \frac{|x - z|}{t}\right)^{-\lambda r} t^{-n} dz$$

for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and t > 0.

Let us observe the following inequality, which holds for $s \le t$

$$\left(1 + \frac{|x - y - z|}{s}\right)^{-\lambda r} \left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^{\lambda r} \le \left(1 + \frac{|x - y - z|}{t}\right)^{-\lambda r} \left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^{\lambda r} \le \left(1 + \frac{|y|}{t}\right)^{\lambda r} \left(1 + \frac{|x - z|}{t}\right)^{-\lambda r} \left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^{\lambda r} \le \left(1 + \frac{|y|}{t}\right)^{\lambda r} \left(1 + \frac{|x - z|}{t}\right)^{-\lambda r} \left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^{\lambda r/2}.$$

It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |v_{t} * f(x - y)|^{r} \\ &\leq C \left(1 + \frac{|y|}{t} \right)^{\lambda r} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}^{t} |(v_{s} * f)(z)|^{r} \left(1 + \frac{|x - z|}{s} \right)^{-\lambda r/2} \left(\frac{s}{t} \right)^{\lambda r/2} dz \, s^{-n} \frac{ds}{s} \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(v_{t} * f)(z)|^{r} \left(1 + \frac{|x - z|}{t} \right)^{-\lambda r} t^{-n} dz \right) \\ &\leq C \left(1 + \frac{|y|}{t} \right)^{\lambda r} \left(\int_{0}^{t} M(|v_{s} * f|^{r})(x) \left(\frac{s}{t} \right)^{\lambda r/2} \frac{ds}{s} + M(|v_{t} * f|^{r})(x) \right) \end{aligned}$$

where M denotes the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator. The last inequality follows, provided $\lambda r > 2n$, by a standard argument involving decomposing \mathbb{R}^n into a sum of concentric annuli:

$$\mathbb{R}^{n} = \{z : |x - z| \le s\} \cup \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \{z : 2^{k-1}s < |x - z| \le 2^{k}s\},\$$

with s replaced by t for the second integral. We have thus proved the following lemma, which serves as replacement for the well-known pointwise estimate, due to Peetre [66], which holds for functions of exponential type.

Lemma (2.2.4) [73]: For $v \in S$ satisfying the Tauberian condition and λ , r such that $\lambda r > 2n$ we have

$$\left(v_{t}^{*}f(x)\right)^{r} \leq C\left(\int_{0}^{t} M(|v_{s}*f|^{r})(x)\left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^{\lambda r/2}\frac{ds}{s} + M(|v_{t}*f|^{r})(x)\right)$$

Thus, combining the above with (8), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \psi_{j} * f(x) \right| &\leq C \left(\int_{I_{j}} \int_{0}^{t} M(|v_{s} * f|^{r})(x) \left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^{\lambda r/2} \frac{ds}{s} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/r} + C \left(\int_{I_{j}} M(|v_{t} * f|^{r})(x) \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/r} \\ &= J_{j}^{1}(x) + J_{j}^{2}(x). \end{aligned}$$
(9)

Choose $0 < r < \min(p/r_0, q)$, where $r_0 = \inf\{s : \omega \in A_s\}$, so that, in particular, $\omega \in A_{p/r}$. Choose λ such that $\lambda + 2\alpha > 0$. Using Hölder's inequality, and then Hardy's inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} (2^{j\alpha} J_{j}^{1})^{q} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega} &\leq C \left\| \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{I_{j}}^{t} \left(\int_{0}^{t} M(|v_{s} * f|^{r}) \left(\frac{s}{t} \right)^{\lambda r/2} \frac{ds}{s} \right)^{q/r} 2^{-\alpha q} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega} \\ &\leq C \left\| \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\int_{0}^{t} M(|v_{s} * f|^{r}) s^{\lambda r/2} \frac{ds}{s} \right)^{q/r} t^{-(\alpha+\lambda/2)q} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega} \\ &\leq C \left\| \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(t^{-\alpha r} M(|v_{t} * f|^{r}) \right)^{q/r} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega} . \end{split}$$

We can now use the vector valued maximal inequality [70] to conclude

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{j\alpha} J_j^1(x) \right)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega} \le C \left\| \left(\int_0^{\infty} (t^{-\alpha} |v_t * f|)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega}$$

A similar, but simpler argument gives us the second inequality

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(2^{j\alpha} J_j^2(x) \right)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega} \le C \left\| \left(\int_0^{\infty} (t^{-\alpha} |v_t * f|)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega}$$

The second inequality of Theorem (2.2.2), concerning the space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$, can be obtained similarly from (9). Applying weighted L^p norm to both side of (9) we obtain

$$\left\| \Psi_{j} * f \right\|_{p,\omega} \leq C \left(\left\| J_{j}^{1} \right\|_{p,\omega} + \left\| J_{j}^{2} \right\|_{p,\omega} \right)$$

Consider the first component. Applying Minkowski's inequality twice for the weighted $L^{p/r}$ norm, and the inequality for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| J_{j}^{1} \right\|_{p,\omega} &= \left\| \left(\int\limits_{I_{j}} \int\limits_{0}^{t} M(|v_{s} * f|^{r})(\cdot) \left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^{\lambda r/2} \frac{ds}{s} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/r} \right\|_{p,\omega} \\ &\leq \left(\int\limits_{I_{j}} \int\limits_{0}^{t} \|M(|v_{s} * f|^{r})\|_{p/r,\omega} \left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^{\lambda r/2} \frac{ds}{s} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/r} \\ &\leq C \left(\int\limits_{I_{j}} \int\limits_{0}^{t} \|v_{s} * f\|_{p,\omega}^{r} \left(\frac{s}{t}\right)^{\lambda r/2} \frac{ds}{s} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/r} \end{split}$$

We can now, as in the Triebel-Lizorkin case, multiply both sides by $2^{j\alpha}$, apply discrete ℓ^q norm, and use Hardy's inequality. The same argument, without the Hardy's inequality, is used to handle J_j^2 . Observe that in this case we only need to use the scalar valued inequality for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator rather than the vector valued one, so we can allow the case $p = \infty$. The proof of Theorem (2.2.2) is complete.

Theorem (2.2.5) [73]: Under the assumptions of Theorem (2.2.2) there exists a $\gamma > 1$ and a constant C, independent of $f \in S'$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,\omega}_{p,q}} \leq C \left\| \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} (\gamma^{j\alpha} |v_j * f|)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega}$$
$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{\alpha,\omega}_{p,q}} \leq C \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} (\gamma^{j\alpha} \|v_j * f\|_{p,\omega})^q \right)^{1/q}.$$

Proof: The starting point for this case is the discrete version of the Calderón's reproducing formula, which can be obtained in the same way as the continuous from [69]. For v as in the theorem, there exist $\gamma > 1$, and $\eta \in S$, with $\hat{\eta}$ supported in annulus such that

$$f = \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}} f * v_{\mathbf{k}} * \eta_{\mathbf{k}} \text{ in } \mathcal{S}' / \mathcal{P}$$

where $v_k = v_{\gamma^{-k}}$, and $\eta_k = \eta_{\gamma^{-k}}$. Then

$$(f * \psi_j)(x) = \sum_{\gamma^k \in I_{-j}} v_k * \eta_k * f * \psi_j(x)$$

Point wise $(\psi_j = \psi_{2^{-j}})$. The summation is over a finite set of ks, since both $\widehat{\psi}$ and $\widehat{\eta}$ are supported in annuli centered at the origin, and I_{-j} is the interval, defined previously, depending on the support of $\widehat{\eta}$. We will use the discrete versions of the Strömberg-Torchinsky type estimates that were used in the proof of Theorem (2.2.2):

 $\left|v_{k}*\eta_{k}*\psi_{j}*f(x)\right|^{r}$

$$\leq C \sum_{\gamma^{l} \in I_{-j}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| v_{l} * \eta_{l} * \psi_{j} * f(y) \right|^{r} (1 + \gamma^{l} |x - y|)^{-\lambda r} (1 + \gamma^{l} |x - y|)^{-n-1} dy \gamma^{ln}$$

and

$$|(v_{k} * f)(x)|^{\mathrm{r}} \leq C \sum_{l \geq k} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |(v_{l} * f)(z)|^{\mathrm{r}} (1 + \gamma^{l} |x - z|)^{-\lambda \mathrm{r}} \gamma^{-(k-l)\lambda \mathrm{r}} \mathrm{d} z \gamma^{ln}.$$

Both of these estimates hold in the setting they were used in the continuous case, and their proof is the same. From the reproducing formula and the first estimate we obtain

$$\left|\left(\psi_{j} * f\right)(x)\right|^{r} \leq C \sum_{\gamma^{l} \in I_{-j}} \left(v_{\gamma^{-l}}^{*}f(x)\right)$$

and, subsequently, from the second estimate

$$\left(v_{\gamma^{-l}}^*f(x)\right)^{\mathbf{r}} \leq C \sum_{\mathbf{k} \geq l} \mathbf{M}(v_{\mathbf{k}} * f)(x) \gamma^{(l-\mathbf{k})\lambda \mathbf{r}/2}$$

We, combine these two inequalities, and then use Hölder's inequality, the discrete version of the Hardy's inequality, and the discrete vector valued maximal inequality to obtain

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{\alpha,\omega}_{p,q}} \leq C \left\| \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} (2^{j\alpha} |nu_j * f|)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\alpha}$$

The corresponding result for the $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$ space follows similarly.

The following theorem is the inhomogeneous counterpart of Theorem (2.2.2). Together with Theorem 5.1 from [68] it provides the characterization of the inhomogeneous spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$ and $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$ in terms of convolutions with general defining functions.

Theorem (2.2.6) [73]: Let $-\infty < \alpha < \infty$, $0 < p, q \le \infty$, with $p < \infty$ in the case of $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}$. Suppose $\omega \in A_{\infty}$. Let $v \in S$ satisfy the Tauberian condition and let $\Phi \in S$ satisfy the strong Tauberian condition $\hat{\Phi}(0) \neq 0$. Then, for b sufficiently large (see the proof) there exists a positive constant C such that

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{F}^{\alpha,\omega}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}} \leq C \left(\|\Phi * f\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} + \left\| \left(\int_{0}^{b} |\mathbf{t}^{-\alpha}(v_{t} * f)|^{q} \frac{d\mathbf{t}}{\mathbf{t}} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} \right)$$
$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{B}^{\alpha,\omega}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}} \leq C \left(\|\Phi * f\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} + \left(\int_{0}^{b} (\mathbf{t}^{-\alpha} \|v_{t} * f\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega})^{q} \frac{d\mathbf{t}}{\mathbf{t}} \right)^{1/q} \right).$$

for every $f \in \mathcal{S}'$.

Proof: As before, we will follow the line of argument from [68]. Let us recall [69] that there exist η and γ in S, with $\hat{\eta}$ supported on an annulus, and $\hat{\gamma}$ compactly supported such that

$$f = \gamma * f + \int_{0}^{b} \eta_{t} * v_{t} * f \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\mathrm{t}}$$

for arbitrary b > 0, with γ depending on b. Moreover, taking b large we can make the support of $\hat{\gamma}$ small. The integral in the above formula converge in S'. Pick $j \ge 1$ and we obtain

$$\psi_{j} * f = \int_{I_{j}} \psi_{j} * \eta_{t} * v_{t} * f \frac{dt}{t}$$

if b is sufficiently large, so that the supports of $\widehat{\psi}_j$ and $\widehat{\gamma}$ are disjoint, and that $2^{A-1} \leq b$. The intervals I_j are the same as those in the previous. This representation is the same as (7), so we can apply the same argument as we did in the homogeneous case. Doing so, we arrive at the estimate

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(2^{j\alpha} |\psi_j * f| \right)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega} \le C \left\| \left(\int_0^b (t^{-\alpha} |v_t * f|)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p,\omega}$$
(10)

Again, analogous argument yields the corresponding estimate for the Besov-Lipschitz spaces, without the $p < \infty$ restriction:

$$\left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(2^{j\alpha} \|\psi_j * f\|_{p,\omega}\right)^q\right)^{1/q} \le C \left(\int_0^b \left(t^{-\alpha} \|v_t * f\|_{p,\omega}\right)^q \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q}$$

We now consider $\psi * f$

$$\Psi * f = \Psi * \gamma * f + \int_{a}^{b} \Psi * \eta_{t} * v_{t} * f \frac{dt}{t}$$

for some 0 < a < b. Recall that $\operatorname{supp} \widehat{\Psi} \subset \{2^{-A+1} \le |\xi| \le 2^{A-1}\}\)$, and $\operatorname{supp} \widehat{\Psi} \subset \{|\xi| \le 2\}\)$, so can take $a = 2^{-A}$. The second part is handled exactly as previously. Indeed, even though $\widehat{\Psi}$ does not vanish around $0, \widehat{\eta}$ does, so for the purpose of this integral we may multiply $\widehat{\Psi}$ by a suitable cutoff function. Observe, however, that the b will have to be increased 2^{2A-2} times. For the first part, observe that if we choose b large enough, so that $\operatorname{supp} \widehat{\gamma} \subset \{\xi : \widehat{\Phi}(\xi) \neq 0\}\)$, then we can write

$$\Psi * \gamma * f = \mathbf{u} * \Phi * f$$

with $u \in S$. It follows that for each $\lambda > 0$ there is a constant C, independent of *f*, such that $(\Psi * \gamma)_1^* f(x) \le C \Phi_1^* f(x)$

Let f_1 be f multiplied, on the Fourier transform side, by a smooth cutoff function, equal to around the origin, and 0 outside some ball. Then

$$\Phi_1^* f(x) \le \Phi_1^* f_1(x) + \Phi_1^* f_2(x)$$

Since $\Phi * f_1$ is of exponential type, so we may apply Peetre's estimate to obtain

$$\|\Phi_1^* f_1\|_{p,\omega} \le C \|\Phi * f_1\|_{p,\omega}$$

provided λ in the definition of $\Phi_1^* f_1$ is large enough (see, [67]). To estimate $\Phi_1^* f_2(x)$ we use the left-hand inequality from [68] (actually only a part of it)

$$\|\Phi_1^* f_2\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} \le \mathbb{C} \|f_2\|_{\mathbf{F}^{\alpha,\omega}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}}$$

Choose the cutoff function, which defines f_1 and f_2 such that the supports of \hat{f}_2 and $\hat{\psi}$ are disjoint. Then

$$\|f_2\|_{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}^{\alpha,\omega}} \le C \left\| \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (2^{j\alpha} |\psi_j * f|)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega}$$

and this has already been estimated in (10). Finally,

 $\|\Phi_1^* f_1\|_{p,\omega} \le C \|\Phi * f_1\|_{p,\omega} \le C \|\Phi * f\|_{p,\omega} + \|\Phi * f_2\|_{p,\omega}$ Since we already have the estimate for $\|\Phi * f_2\|_{p,\omega} \le \|\Phi_1^* f_2\|_{p,\omega}$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}^{\alpha,\omega}} &= \|\Psi * f\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} + \left\| \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left(2^{j\alpha} |\psi_j * f| \right)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} \\ &\leq C \left(\left\| \Phi * f \right\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} + \left\| \left(\int_{0}^{b} (t^{-\alpha} |v_t * f|)^q \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} \right). \end{split}$$

The proof of the Besov-Lipschitz case follows similarly.

Theorem (2.2.7) [73]: Let α , p, q, ω , v, and Φ be as in Theorem (2.2.5). Then, for any a, b, r, N > 0, there is a positive constant C such that

$$\|f\|_{F_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}} \le C\left(\left(\int_{0}^{a} (t^{N} \|\Phi_{t} * f\|_{p,\omega})^{r} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/r} + \left\|\left(\int_{0}^{b} (t^{-\alpha} |v_{t} * f|)^{q} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q}\right\|_{p,\omega}\right)$$
$$\|f\|_{B_{p,q}^{\alpha,\omega}} \le C\left(\left(\int_{0}^{a} (t^{N} \|\Phi_{t} * f\|_{p,\omega})^{r} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/r} + \left(\int_{0}^{b} (t^{-\alpha} \|v_{t} * f\|_{p,\omega})^{q} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{1/q}\right)$$

for every $f \in \mathcal{S}'$.

Proof: We first show that for any $\phi \in S$,

$$\|\Phi * f\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} \le C \left(\int_{0}^{a} \left(t^{N} \|\Phi_{t} * f\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} \right)^{r} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/r}$$

$$(11)$$

for all $f \in S'$. Choose $0 < s \le r$ such that $\omega \in A_{p/s}$. Let N' be such that sN' > n. By using [6] and decomposing \mathbb{R}^n into concentric annuli, we obtain

$$|\varphi * f(x)|^{s} \leq C \int_{0}^{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\Phi_{t} * f(y)|^{s} \left(1 + \frac{|x - y|}{t}\right)^{sN'} t^{sN'} t^{-n} dy \frac{dt}{t} \leq C \int_{0}^{a} M(|\Phi_{t} * f|^{s})(x) t^{sN'} \frac{dt}{t}$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Hence, it follows from Minkowski's inequality and the weighted estimate for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal function that

$$\|\varphi * f\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} \le C \left(\int_{0}^{a} \left(t^{N'} \|\Phi_{t} * f\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} \right)^{s} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/s}$$

The above and Hölder's inequality imply (11).

We shall show the theorem only for the Triebel-Lizorkin spaces since the proof for the Besov-Lipschitz spaces is similar. As in the proof of Theorem (2.2.6), we start with the representation

$$f = \gamma * f + \int_{0}^{b} \eta_{t} * v_{t} * f \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\mathrm{t}}$$
(12)

where $\hat{\gamma} \in S$ has compact support. There is a finite set S_1 such that $\gamma * \psi_j = 0$ for all $j \notin$ S_1 , and there is a finite set S_2 such that

$$\begin{split} I_{j} &= \left\{ 2^{-j-A}, 2^{-j+A} \right\} \subseteq [0, b] \\ \text{for all } j \notin \mathcal{S}_{2}. \text{ Let } \mathcal{S} &= \mathcal{S}_{1} \cup \mathcal{S}_{2}. \text{ Then by (11),} \\ \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in \mathcal{S}} \left(2^{j\alpha} |\psi_{j} * f| \right)^{q} \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{p, \omega} \leq C \sum_{j \in \mathcal{S}} \left\| \psi_{j} * f \right\|_{p, \omega} \leq C |\mathcal{S}| \left(\int_{0}^{a} \left(t^{N} \|\Phi_{t} * f\|_{p, \omega} \right)^{r} \frac{dt}{t} \right)^{1/r} \\ \text{and} \end{split}$$

а

$$\|\Psi * f\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} \le C \left(\int_{0}^{ka} \left(\mathbf{t}^{\mathbf{N}} \|\Phi_{\mathbf{t}} * f\|_{\mathbf{p},\omega} \right)^{\mathbf{r}} \frac{d\mathbf{t}}{\mathbf{t}} \right)^{1/1}$$

where |S| denotes the number of elements in S. For $j \notin S$, the representation (12) gives

$$\psi_j * f = \int_0^0 \eta_t * v_t * \psi_j * f \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\mathrm{t}} = \int_{\mathrm{I}_j} \eta_t * v_t * \psi_j * f \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{\mathrm{t}}$$

As observed in the proof of Theorem (2.2.6), the above and the method in the proof of Theorem (2.2.2) imply that

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j \notin S} \left(2^{j\alpha} |\psi_j * f| \right)^q \right)^{1/q} \right\|_{\mathbf{p}, \omega} \le C \left\| \left(\int_0^b \left(t^{-\alpha} |v_t * f| \right)^q \frac{dt}{t} \right) \right\|_{\mathbf{p}, \omega}$$

Combining all the above estimates, we obtain the desired inequality for the Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. The proof of Theorem (2.2.7) is hence complete.

Section (2.3): Morrey Type Besov-Triebel Spaces

Many people have been considered problems of partial differential equation based on Morrey space and Morrey type Besov space, (see [78, 79, 81, 82, 83, 84]). It is wellknown that Besov spaces $B_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and Triebel-Lizokin spaces $F_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ contain as special cases many classical spaces, for example, the Hölder spaces, the Sobolev spaces, the Bessel-potential spaces, the Zygmund spaces, the local Hardy spaces and the space BMO(\mathbb{R}^n). All the above-mentioned classical spaces have been proved to be useful tools in the study of ordinary and partial differential equations. For detail one can see Triebel's books [41, 56, 57, 58].

We study some properties, such as lifting properties, Fourier multiplier theorem, and discrete characterization of Morrey type Besov-Triebel spaces. We consider the boundedness of a class pseudo-differential operators on these spaces.

As usual, the *n*-dimensional real Euclidean space and its points are dented by \mathbb{R}^n and $x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)$ respectively. We purpose that n > 1 holds. $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is the Schwartz space of all rapidly decreasing infinitely differential complex-valued functions on \mathbb{R}^n and $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is the space of all complex-valued tempered distributions on \mathbb{R}^n . Let

$$(\mathcal{F}\phi) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(x) \mathrm{e}^{-ix \cdot \xi} \mathrm{d}x$$

and let \mathcal{F}^{-1} denote the Fourier transform and its inverse on $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, respectively.

Definition (2.3.1) [55]: If $0 < q \le p < \infty$ and $f \in L^q_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we say $f \in M^p_q(\mathbb{R}^n)$ provided that, for any ball $B_R(x)$ of center at x and radius R,

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{M}^{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{q}}} \coloneqq \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, \mathbb{R} > 0} \mathbb{R}^{n(1/p-1/q)} \left(\int_{\mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{R}}(x)} |f(y)|^{\mathbf{q}} \mathrm{d}y \right)^{1/q} < \infty$$

Definition (2.3.2) [55]: Let $\phi(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the collection of all systems $\phi = \{\phi_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \subset S(\mathbb{R}^n)$ of real-valued even function with respect to the origin, such that $\phi_j(x) = \phi_j(-x)$ if $x \in \text{supp } \phi_j$ where

$$\operatorname{supp} \phi_0 \subset \{x, |x| \le 2\}$$

and

supp
$$\phi_j \subset \{x, 2^{j-1} \le |x| \le 2^{j+1}\}$$
 for *j* = 0,1, ···,

for every multi-index α there exists a positive number C_{α} such that

$$2^{j|\alpha|} |D^{\alpha} \phi_j(x)| \le C_{\alpha}$$
 for all $j = 0, 1, \cdots$, and all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

and

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \phi_j(x) = 1 \text{ for every } x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

We introduce Morrey type Besov-Triebel spaces.

Definition (2.3.3) [55]: Let $-\infty < s < \infty$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < \beta \le \infty$, and $\phi = \{\phi_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \in \Phi(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then we define:

(i)
$$MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta} = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) : \|f\|_{MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}}^{\phi} = \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{ks\beta} \|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi_j\mathcal{F}f\|_{M_q^p}^{\beta} \right\}^{1/\beta} < \infty \right\}$$

(ii)
$$MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta} = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) : \|f\|_{MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}}^{\phi} = \left\{ \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{ks\beta} \|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi_j\mathcal{F}f\|_{M_q^p}^{\beta} \right\}^{1/\beta} < \infty \right\}$$

Obviously, for $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 , and <math>0 < \beta \le \infty$, then $MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta} = B_{p,\beta}^s$ and $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta} = F_{p,\beta}^s$, standard Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces respectively; see [41].

If $s \in \mathbb{R}$, we write

$$H_{2}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \left\{ f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n}) : \|f\|_{H_{2}^{s}} = \left\| (1+|x|^{2})^{s/2}(\mathcal{F})(x) \right\|_{L^{2}} < \infty \right\}$$

If Ω is a compact set of \mathbb{R}^n we write

$$\mathcal{L}^{q,\Omega} = \{ f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) : \operatorname{supp} \mathcal{F} f \subset \Omega, \qquad \|f\|_{\mathcal{L}^q} < \infty \}$$

Let $0 < \beta \le \infty$. If $\{f_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$ is a sequence of complex-valued Lebesgue measurable function on \mathbb{R}^n , then we write

$$\left\|f_{j}\right\|_{M_{p,q}^{\beta}} = \left\|\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left|f_{j}(\cdot)\right|^{\beta}\right)^{1/\beta}\right\|_{M_{q}^{p}}$$

If $||f_j||_{M_{p,q}^{\beta}} < \infty$, we call the sequence $\{f_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \in M_{p,q}^{\beta}$. Furthermore, assume $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < \beta \le \infty$, and that $\Omega = \{\Omega_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$ is a sequence of compact sets on \mathbb{R}^n . If $f_j \in L^{q,\Omega_j}$ for $j \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$, and $\{f_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \in M_{p,q}^{\beta}$, then we call the sequence $\{f_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \in M_{p,q}^{\beta,\Omega}$. From then, we let \mathbb{N}_0 denote $\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$.

Lemma (2.3.4) [55]: Let $0 < \beta < \infty$, $1 < q \le p < \infty$. If $\{f_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$ is a sequence of local integral function on \mathbb{R}^n , then

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| \mathcal{M} f_j \right|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{\mathcal{M}^p_q} \le C \left\| \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| f_j \right|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{\mathcal{M}^p_q}$$

where the constant C is independent of $\{f_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$ and \mathcal{M} denotes Standard Hardy-Littlewood maximal function.

Proof: In fact, the conclusion can be deduced from the weighted version of the Fefferman-Stein vector maximal inequalities [74] and Theorem 3.1 in [75].

It is also interesting to give a direct proof. Let $(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |f_j|^{\beta})^{1/\beta} \in M_q^p$. Pick any $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and write

$$f_{j}(x) = f_{j}^{0}(x) + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} f_{j}^{i}(x)$$

where $f_j^0 = \chi_{B_{2r}(x_0)} f_j$, $f_j^i = \chi_{B_{2^{i+1}r}(x_0) \setminus B_{2^i r}(x_0)} f_j$ for $i \ge 1$. We want to estimate $\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |\mathcal{M}f_j^0(x)|^{\beta}\right)^{1/\beta}$ on $B_r(x_0)$. By Fefferman-Stein maximal inequality [80] we have

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| \mathcal{M} f_j^0 \right|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{L^q} \le C \left\| \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| f_j^0 \right|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{L^q} \le Cr^{n\left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{p}\right)} \left\| \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| f_j \right|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{M^p_q}$$

Thus,

$$\left[\int_{B_{r}(x_{0})}\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\left|\mathcal{M}^{\beta}(f_{j}^{0})(x)\right|^{\beta}\right)^{q/\beta}dx\right]^{1/q} \leq \left\|\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\left|\mathcal{M}f_{j}^{0}\right|^{\beta}\right)^{1/\beta}\right\|_{L^{q}}$$
$$\leq \operatorname{Cr}^{n\left(\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{p}\right)}\left\|\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\left|f_{j}\right|^{\beta}\right)^{1/\beta}\right\|_{M^{p}_{q}}$$

Hence, we obtain

$$\left\| \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| \mathcal{M} f_{j}^{0} \right|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{\mathsf{M}^{p}_{q}} \leq \mathsf{C} \left\| \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| f_{j} \right|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{\mathsf{M}^{p}_{q}}$$

It remains to estimate $(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |\mathcal{M}f_j^i(x)|^{\beta})^{1/\beta}$ on $B_r(x_0)$. For $i \ge 1$ and $x \in B_r(x_0)$, by the generalized Minkowski inequality, we have

$$\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left|\mathcal{M}f_{j}^{i}(x)\right|^{\beta}\right)^{1/\beta} \leq C\left[\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left((2^{i}r)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left|f_{j}^{i}(y)\right| \mathrm{d}y\right)^{\beta}\right]^{1/\beta} \leq C(2^{i}r)^{-n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left|f_{j}^{i}(y)\right|^{\beta}\right)^{1/\beta} \mathrm{d}y$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{M}^{\beta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} f_{j}^{i}(x) \right) \right)^{q/\beta} dx \right\|^{1/q} &\leq \left[\int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} f_{j}^{i}(x) \right)^{q/\beta} dx \right]^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left[\int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{M}^{\beta} f_{j}^{i}(x) \right)^{1/\beta} \right)^{q} dx \right]^{1/q} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left[\int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{M}^{\beta} f_{j}^{i}(x) \right)^{q/\beta} dx \right]^{1/q} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (2^{i})^{-n/q} \left[\int_{B_{2^{i+1}r}(x_{0})} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |f_{j}(x)|^{\beta} \right)^{q/\beta} dx \right]^{1/q} \\ &\leq C \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} (2^{i})^{-\frac{n}{p}} \left(\left(\frac{1}{q-p}\right)^{n} \right) \left\| \left(\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |f_{j}|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{M_{q}^{q}} \end{split}$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\left\| \left\| \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\mathcal{M}^{\beta} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} f_{j}^{i} \right) \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{\mathbf{M}_{q}^{p}} \leq C \left\| \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| f_{j} \right|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{\mathbf{M}_{q}^{p}}$$

Lemma (2.3.4) is proved.

Theorem (2.3.5) [55]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < \beta \le \infty$, and $\Omega = \{\Omega_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$ be a sequence of compact sets $f_j \in L^{q,\Omega_j}$, $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Let $d_j > 0$ be the radius of Ω_j . If $0 < r < \min\{q, \beta\}$, then exists a constant C such that

(i)
$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f_{j}(\cdot - z)|}{1 + |d_{j}z|^{\frac{n}{r}}} \right\|_{M^{\beta}_{p,q}} \leq C \left\| f_{j} \right\|_{M^{\beta}_{p,q}} \\ (ii) \left\| \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|f_{j}(\cdot - z)|}{1 + |d_{j}z|^{\frac{n}{r}}} \right|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{M^{p}_{q}} \leq C \left\| \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| f_{j} \right|^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \right\|_{M^{p}_{q}} \end{aligned}$$

Proof: We only prove for the case of $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ space. The result for $MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ can be obtained by interchanging $\|\cdot\|_{l_q}\|$ and $\|\cdot\|_{M_q^p}$ in the proof presented below.

First, let $\{f_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \in M_{p,q}^{\beta,\Omega}$, $y^j \in \Omega$ satisfying (i), then $\{h_j\}_j$ also do, where Ω is replaced by $\{\Omega_j - y^j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$, and the converse also holds. Thus we may let $0 \in \Omega_j$, it is sufficient to consider the case $\Omega_j = D_j = \{y : |y| \le d_j\}$.

Second, we have to prove that (ii) holds when $\Omega_j = d_j = \{y : |y| \le d_j\}$ and $d_j > 0$. If $\{f_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \in M_{p,q}^{\beta,\Omega}$, $y^j \in \Omega$, then $f_j \in L^{q,\Omega_j}$. If $g_j(x) = f_j(d^{-1}x)$, then $(\mathcal{F}g_j)(x) = d_j^n(\mathcal{F}f_j)(d_jx)$ and $\operatorname{supp} \mathcal{F}g_j \subset \{y : |y| \le 1\}$.

For $x, z \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we have

$$\frac{\left|g_{j}(x-z)\right|}{1+\left|z\right|^{\frac{n}{r}}} \leq C\left[\mathcal{M}\left(\left|g_{j}\right|^{r}\right)(x)\right]^{1/r}$$
(13)

see [41].

From (13), we obtain

$$\frac{\left|f_{j}(x-z)\right|}{1+\left|\mathsf{d}_{j}z\right|^{\frac{n}{r}}} \leq C\left[\mathcal{M}\left(\left|f_{j}\right|^{r}\right)(x)\right]^{1/r}, \quad \text{for all } x, z \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$$

$$(14)$$

where the constant C independent of x, z, j.

If $0 < \beta < \infty$, then by (14),

$$\left\|\sup_{z\in\mathbb{R}^{n}}\frac{\left|f_{j}(\cdot-z)\right|}{1+\left|d_{j}z\right|^{\frac{n}{r}}}\right\|_{M^{\beta}_{p,q}} \leq C\left\|\left[\mathcal{M}\left(\left|f_{j}\right|^{r}\right)\right]^{1/r}\right\|_{M^{\beta}_{p,q}} = C\left\|\mathcal{M}\left(\left|f_{j}\right|^{r}\right)\right\|^{1/r}_{M^{\beta/r}_{p/r,q/r}}$$

Since $0 < r < \min\{q, \beta\}$, we have $p/r \ge q/r > 1$, $\beta/r > 1$. By Lemma (2.3.4),

$$\left\|\sup_{\mathbf{z}\in\mathbb{R}^{n}}\frac{\left|f_{j}(\cdot-\mathbf{z})\right|}{1+\left|\mathsf{d}_{j}\mathbf{z}\right|^{\frac{n}{r}}}\right\|_{\mathsf{M}_{p,q}^{\beta}} \leq C\left\|\mathcal{M}\left(\left|f_{j}\right|^{r}\right)\right\|_{\mathsf{M}_{p/r,q/r}^{\beta/r}}^{1/r} \leq C\left\|f_{j}\right\|_{\mathsf{M}_{p,q}^{\beta}}$$

If $\beta = \infty$, by (14), we have

$$\sup_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{N}_{0}}\sup_{\mathbf{z}\in\mathbb{R}^{n}}\frac{\left|f_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{z})\right|}{1+\left|\mathbf{d}_{\mathbf{j}}\mathbf{z}\right|^{\frac{n}{r}}}\leq C\sup_{\mathbf{j}}\left[\mathcal{M}\left(\left|f_{\mathbf{j}}\right|^{r}\right)(\mathbf{x})\right]^{1/r}\leq C\left[\mathcal{M}\left(\sup_{\mathbf{j}}\left|f_{\mathbf{j}}\right|^{r}\right)(\mathbf{x})\right]^{1/r}$$

Thus,

$$\left\|\sup_{j\in\mathbb{N}_{0}}\sup_{z\in\mathbb{R}^{n}}\frac{\left|f_{j}(\cdot-z)\right|}{1+\left|d_{j}z\right|^{\frac{n}{r}}}\right\|_{M_{q}^{p}}\leq C\left\|\sup_{j}\left[\mathcal{M}\left(\left|f_{j}\right|^{r}\right)(\cdot)\right]^{1/r}\right\|_{M_{q}^{p}}\leq C\left\|\mathcal{M}\left(\sup_{j}\left|f_{j}\right|^{r}\right)(\cdot)\right\|_{M_{q/r}^{p/r}}^{1/r}.$$

Using Lemma (2.3.4), then we obtain

$$\left\| \sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f_j(\cdot - z)|}{1 + |d_j z|^{\frac{n}{r}}} \right\|_{M_q^p} \le C \left\| \sup_j |f_j| \right\|_{M_q^p}$$

Thus (ii) holds when $\beta = \infty$.

Theorem (2.3.6) [55]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < \beta \le \infty$, let $\Omega = \{\Omega_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty}$ be a sequence of compact sets on \mathbb{R}^n and $f_j \in L^{q,\Omega_j}$, $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Let $d_j > 0$ be the radius of Ω_j . If $v > n/2 + n/\min\{q,\beta\}$, then exists a constant C such that

$$\left\|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\mathcal{M}_{j}\mathcal{F}f_{j}\right\|_{\mathbf{M}_{p,q}^{\beta}} \leq C \sup_{j}\left\|\mathcal{M}_{j}(\mathbf{d}_{j} \cdot)\right\|_{\mathbf{H}_{2}^{\nu}}\left\|f_{j}\right\|_{\mathbf{M}_{p,q}^{\beta}}$$

and

$$\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \mathcal{F}^{-1} \mathcal{M}_{j} \mathcal{F} f_{j} \right\|_{M_{q}^{p}}^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \leq C \sup_{j} \left\| \mathcal{M}_{j} (d_{j} \cdot) \right\|_{H_{2}^{\nu}} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| f_{j} \right\|_{M_{q}^{p}}^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta}$$

for any sequence $\{M_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \in H_2^{\nu}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Theorem (2.3.7) [55]: Let $\phi = \{\phi_j(x)\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \in \Phi(\mathbb{R}^n) \text{ and } \phi = \{\phi_j(x)\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \in \Phi(\mathbb{R}^n).$

(i) If $-\infty < s < \infty$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$ and $0 < \beta \le \infty$, then $||f||^{\Phi}_{MF^{S,\beta}_{p,q}}$ and $||f||^{\varphi}_{MF^{S,\beta}_{p,q}}$ are equivalent quasi-norms on $MF^{s,\beta}_{p,q}$.

(ii) If $-\infty < s < \infty$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$ and $0 < \beta \le \infty$, then $||f||^{\phi}_{MB^{s,\beta}_{p,q}}$ and $||f||^{\phi}_{MB^{s,\beta}_{p,q}}$ are equivalent quasi-norms on $MB^{s,\beta}_{p,q}$.

Proof: We first prove (i).

If $\phi_0 = 0$, then we have $\phi_j = \phi_j \sum_{r=-1}^{1} \varphi_{j+r}$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Therefore,

$$\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_{j}\mathcal{F}f = \sum_{j=-1}^{1} \mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_{j}\mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_{j+r}\mathcal{F}f$$

Now we choose $0 < v < \min\{q, \beta\}$ and u > n/2 + n/v. If we replace f_j and M_j in Theorem (2.3.6) by $\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi_{j+r}\mathcal{F}f$ and φ_j respectively, then we obtain

$$\left\|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_{j}\mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_{j+r}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{\mathrm{MF}_{p,q}^{\beta}} \leq C\sup_{k}\left\|\phi_{k}(2^{k}\cdot)\right\|_{\mathrm{H}_{2}^{\nu}}\left\|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_{j+r}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{\mathrm{MF}_{p,q}^{\beta}}$$

where C is independent of j.

By Definition (2.3.3), existing a constant C for r = -1, 0, 1, we have

$$\left\|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_{j}\phi_{j+r}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{M^{\beta}_{p,q}} \leq C\left\|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_{j+r}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{M^{\beta}_{p,q}}.$$

Thus,

$$\left\|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_{j}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{\mathsf{M}^{\beta}_{p,q}} \leq \mathsf{C}\left\|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_{j}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{\mathsf{M}^{\beta}_{p,q}}.$$

Thus, (i) is proved. The proof of (ii) is similar.

Definition (2.3.8) [55]: Let $L \in \mathbb{N}$, and $A_L(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the collection of all functions with compact and satisfying

$$\mathcal{L}(\phi) = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |x|^{\mathcal{L}} \sum_{|\gamma| \leq \mathcal{L}} |\mathcal{D}^{\gamma} \phi_0(x)| + \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}, j \in \mathbb{N}} (|x|^{\mathcal{L}} + |x|^{-\mathcal{L}}) \sum_{|\gamma| \leq \mathcal{L}} \left| \mathcal{D}^{\gamma} \phi_j(2^j x) \right| < \infty.$$

Definition (2.3.9) [55]: Let $L \in \mathbb{N}$, $\phi = \{\phi_j\}_{j=0}^{\infty} \in A_L(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and a > 0, then we define the maximal function

$$(\phi_j^*(x)f)(x) = \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\left| \left(\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_j \mathcal{F}f \right)(x-\mathbf{y}) \right|}{1+|2^j\mathbf{y}|^a}, \quad x\in\mathbb{R}^n$$

where $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

By Theorem (2.3.4) and [41], we have

Proposition (2.3.10) [55]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < \beta \le \infty$, $a > n/\min\{q, \beta\}$. If the maximal number L > |s| + 3a + n + 2, then exists a positive constant C such that

$$\left\| 2^{js} \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} \left(\phi_j^{\tau *} f \right) \right\|_{M_{p,q}^{\beta}} \le C \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} L(\phi^{\tau}) \left\| f \right\|_{M_{p,q}^{s,\beta}}^{\phi}$$
(15)

and

$$\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{j_s} \left\| \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} \left(\phi_j^{\tau *} f \right) \right\|_{M^p_q}^{\beta} \right)^{1/\beta} \le C \sup_{0 < \tau < 1} L(\phi^{\tau}) \left\| f \right\|_{MB^{s,\beta}_{p,q}}^{\phi}$$
(16)

for all $\phi = \{\phi_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty} \in \Phi(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\phi^{\tau} = \{\phi_k^{\tau}\}_{k=0}^{\infty} \in A_L(\mathbb{R}^n), 0 < \tau < 1.$

We consider Fourier multiplier.

Definition (2.3.11) [55]: Let m be in $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then M is called a Fourier multiplier on $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ if there exists a constant C such that

$$\left\|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\mathbf{m}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{\mathbf{MF}^{\,s,\beta}_{p,q}} \leq \mathbf{C}\left\|f\right\|_{\mathbf{MF}^{\,s,\beta}_{p,q}}$$

for all $f \in MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$.

Similarly, we can define the Fourier multiplier on $MB_{p,a}^{s,\beta}$.

Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$, we write

$$\|\mathbf{m}\|_{N} = \sup_{|\gamma| \le N} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} (1 + |x|^{2})^{N/2} |\mathsf{D}^{\gamma}\mathbf{m}(x)|.$$

Proposition (2.3.12) [55]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < \beta \le \infty$. If N is sufficiently large, then there exists a constant C such that for all $m \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $f \in MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ and $MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ we have

$$\left\|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\mathbf{m}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{\mathrm{MF}^{s,\beta}_{p,q}} \le C\left\|\mathbf{m}\right\|_{\mathrm{N}}\left\|f\right\|_{\mathrm{MF}^{s,\beta}_{p,q}}$$
(17)

and

$$\left\|\mathcal{F}^{-1}\mathbf{m}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{\mathrm{MB}^{\,\mathrm{S},\beta}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}} \le \mathbb{C}\|\mathbf{m}\|_{\mathrm{N}}\|f\|_{\mathrm{MB}^{\,\mathrm{S},\beta}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}} \tag{18}$$

Proof: For $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ space, since $\phi = \{\phi_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty} \in \Phi(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we have

 $\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi_k\mathcal{F}[\mathcal{F}^{-1}m\mathcal{F}f]=\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi_k\mathcal{F}f.$

By (15), $\phi_k^{\tau} = m \phi_k$ and the following fact

$$|(\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi^{\tau}\mathcal{F}f)(x)| \le (\phi^{\tau*}f)(x).$$

When N > $|s| + 3n/\min\{q, \beta\} + n + 2$, then (17) holds. The proof of (18) is similar to that of (17). Thus Proposition (2.3.12) is proved.

Now, we consider the lifting properties. If $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, then operator I_{σ} is defined by

$$I_{\sigma}f = \mathcal{F}^{-1}(1+|x|^2)^{\frac{\sigma}{2}}\mathcal{F}f, \qquad f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

It is well-known that I_{σ} is an one to one mapping on $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ respectively. Obviously, $I_{\sigma}I_x = I_{\sigma+x}$.

Theorem (2.3.13) [55]: Let s, $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $0 < \beta \le \infty$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$. Then

(i) I_{σ} is an isomorphic mapping from $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ to $MF_{p,q}^{s-\sigma,\beta}$. Moreover,

$$\sum_{|\gamma| \le m} \|D^{\gamma} f\|_{\mathrm{MF}^{s-m,\beta}_{p,q}} \quad \text{and} \ \|f\|_{\mathrm{MF}^{s-m,\beta}_{p,q}} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\| \frac{\partial^{m} f}{\partial x_{j}^{m}} \right\|_{\mathrm{MF}^{s-m,\beta}_{p,q}}$$
(19)

are equivalent quasi-norms on $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$.

(ii) I_{σ} is an isomorphic mapping from $MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ to $MB_{p,q}^{s-\sigma,\beta}$. Moreover,

$$\sum_{\gamma|\leq m} \|D^{\gamma}f\|_{MB^{s-m,\beta}_{p,q}} \text{ and } \|f\|_{MB^{s-m,\beta}_{p,q}} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\|\frac{\partial^{m}f}{\partial x_{j}^{m}}\right\|_{MB^{s-m,\beta}_{p,q}}$$
(20)

are equivalent quasi-norms on $MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$.

Proof: We only prove (i), the proof of (ii) is similar. First, if $\phi \in \{\phi_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty} \in \Phi(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then $\phi = \{\phi_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty} \in A_L(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where L may be arbitrary large maximal number and $\phi_k(x) = 2^{-k\sigma}(1+|x|^2)^{\frac{n}{2}}\phi_k(x)$.

If $f \in MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$, by Proposition (2.3.10) and the estimate $|(\mathcal{F}^{-1}\phi_k\mathcal{F}f)(x)| \le \phi_k^*(x)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{I}_{\sigma}f\|_{\mathbf{MF}^{s-\sigma,\beta}_{p,q}} &= \left\|2^{-(s-\sigma)k}\mathcal{F}^{-1}(1+|\cdot|)^{\sigma/2}\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{k}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{\mathbf{MF}^{\beta}_{p,q}} = \left\|2^{ks}\mathcal{F}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{k}\mathcal{F}f\right\|_{\mathbf{MF}^{\beta}_{p,q}} \\ &\leq C\|f\|_{\mathbf{MF}^{s,\beta}_{p,q}}(21)\end{aligned}$$

where C is independent of f. Thus, I_{σ} maps continuously $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ into $MF_{p,q}^{s-\sigma,\beta}$.

If $g \in MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ and $\|f\|_{MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}} \le C \|g\|_{MF_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}} = C \|I_{\sigma}f\|_{MF_{p,q}^{s-\sigma,\beta}}$ (22)

Since I_{σ} is an one to one mapping on $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. So it is also an one to one mapping from $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ into $MF_{p,q}^{s-\sigma,\beta}$. By (21) and (22), $\|I_{\sigma}f\|_{MF_{p,q}^{s-\sigma,\beta}}$ is an equivalent quasi-norm on $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$.

Next, we prove that the quasi-norm in (19) is an equivalent quasi-norm on $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$. If $x = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let $x^{\sigma} = \prod_{j=1}^n x_j^{\gamma_j}$, where $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_n)$. By Proposition (2.3.12), we have that $x^{\gamma}(1 + |x|^2)^{-m/2}$ is a Fourier-multiplier on $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$. If $|\gamma| \le m$, $m \in MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then we have

$$\sum_{|\gamma| \le m} \|D^{\gamma}f\|_{MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}} = \sum_{|\gamma| \le m} \|\mathcal{F}^{-1}x^{\gamma}\mathcal{F}f\|_{MF_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}}$$

$$= \sum_{|\gamma| \le m} \|\mathcal{F}^{-1}x^{\gamma}(1+|x|^{2})^{-m/2}\mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}^{-1}(1+|x|^{2})^{m/2}\mathcal{F}f\|_{MF_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}} \le C\|I_{m}f\|_{MF_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}}$$

$$\le C\|f\|_{MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}}, \qquad (23)$$

where the last inequality is obtained by (21).

We assume that $m \in MF_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}$ and $\frac{\partial^m}{\partial x_j^m} f \in MF_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}$ for $j = 1, \dots n$, we hope to prove that $f \in MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$. We claim that there exist Fourier multipliers $\rho_1(x), \dots, \rho_n(x)$ on $MF_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}$, and a positive constant C such that $1 + \sum_{j=1}^n \rho_j(x) x_j^m \ge C(1 + |x|^2)^{m/2}$, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$; see [41]. By Proposition (2.3.12), we know that

$$M(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{m/2} \left[1 + \sum_{j=1}^n \rho_j(x) x_j^m \right]^{-1}$$

is also a Fourier-multiplier on $MF_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}$. Then

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{\mathrm{MF}_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}} &\leq C \left\| \mathcal{F}^{-1}(1+|x|)^{m/2} \mathcal{F}f \right\|_{\mathrm{MF}_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}} \\ &\leq C \left\| \mathcal{F}^{-1}\mathrm{M}(x) \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}^{-1} \left[1 + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \rho_{j}(x) x_{j}^{m} \right]^{m/2} \mathcal{F}f \right\|_{\mathrm{MF}_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}} \\ &\leq C \|f\|_{\mathrm{MF}_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}} + C \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\| \mathcal{F}^{-1}\rho_{j}(x) x_{j}^{m} \mathcal{F}f \right\|_{\mathrm{MF}_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}}. \end{split}$$

However, $x_j^m \mathcal{F} f = \mathcal{F} \frac{\partial^m f}{\partial x_j^m}$. By Fourier multiplier properties of $\rho_j(x)$, we obtain

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{MF}_{p,q}^{s,\beta}} \leq C\|f\|_{\mathrm{MF}_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}} + C\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\|\frac{\partial^{m}f}{\partial x_{j}^{m}}\right\|_{\mathrm{MF}_{p,q}^{s-m,\beta}}.$$
(24)

By (23) and (24), we prove that the quasi-norms in (21) are equivalent quasi-norms on $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$. This proved Theorem (2.3.13).

We give the discrete characterization of Morrey type Besov-Triebel spaces and we generalize the discrete characterization of standard Besov-Triebel spaces [76]. Next, we will use the idea of [76].

With $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ we associate the space $Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ of complex sequences $\alpha = \langle \alpha_k^j \rangle_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n}^{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ for which the quasi-norm

$$\|\alpha\|_{Mf^{s,\beta}_{p,q}} \coloneqq \left\| \left\| \langle 2^{js} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} |\alpha^j_k | \chi^j_k \rangle_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0} \right\|_{l_\beta} \right\|_{M^p_q}$$

is finite. Here χ_k^j is the characteristic of the parallelepiped

$$\Delta_{k}^{j} \coloneqq 2^{-j} [k + [-1/2, 1/2]^{n}], \quad j \in \mathbb{N}_{0}, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}.$$

The set Δ_k^j from a disjoint decomposition of \mathbb{R}^n for fixed j.

To give a discrete characterization of $MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ we need the sequence space $Mb_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ of the complex sequences $\alpha = \langle \alpha_k^j \rangle_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n}^{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ for which the quasi-norm

$$\|\alpha\|_{Mb^{s,\beta}_{p,q}}\coloneqq \left\|\left\|\left|\langle 2^{js}\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^n} |\alpha^j_k|\chi^j_k\rangle_{j\in\mathbb{N}_0}\right\|_{M^p_q}\right\|_{l_\beta}$$

is finite.

For ϕ_0 , ϕ_1 defined as in Definition (2.3.2), we write

$$\psi_0(x) \coloneqq \frac{\phi_0(x)}{\phi_0^2(x) + \phi_1(x)}, \qquad |x| \le 2,$$

$$\psi_1(x) \coloneqq \frac{\phi_1(2x)}{\phi_1^2(x) + \phi_1^2(2x) + \phi_1^2(4x)}, \qquad 1/2 \le |x| \le 2.$$

which are extended by 0 to \mathbb{R}^n . These are C^{∞} -functions with properties

$$\sup \psi_0 \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| \le 2\},$$
$$\operatorname{supp} \psi_1 \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\}$$

Lemma (2.3.14) [55]: Let $-\infty < s < \infty$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < \beta \le \infty$. If $d > n/\min\{q,\beta\}$, then there exists a positive constant C such that

$$\left\| \left\| 2^{js} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left(\mathcal{F}^{-1}[\phi_{j}\mathcal{F}f](\cdot - y) \right)}{[1 + 2^{j}|y|]^{d}} \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \right\|_{M_{q}^{p}} \leq C \|f\|_{M_{p,q}^{s,\beta}}$$

$$\left\| \left\| 2^{js} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left(\mathcal{F}^{-1}[\phi_{j}\mathcal{F}f](\cdot - y) \right)}{[1 + 2^{j}|y|]^{d}} \right\|_{M_{q}^{p}} \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \leq C \|f\|_{M_{p,q}^{s,\beta}}$$

$$(25)$$

hold, where ϕ_i defined as in Definition (2.3.2).

Lemma (2.3.15) [55]: For $\alpha = \langle \alpha_k^j \rangle_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n}^{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$, let

$$f_{\mathbf{j},\sigma}(x) \coloneqq \sum_{\mathbf{r}=-1}^{1} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left| \sigma_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathbf{j}+\mathbf{r}} \right| \left[1 + \left\| 2^{\mathbf{j}+\mathbf{r}} x - \mathbf{k} \right\|_{l_{\infty}} \right]^{-L}, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$$

when $L > n/\min\{1, q, \beta\}$, then

$$\left\| \left\| 2^{js} f_{j,\sigma} \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \right\|_{M_{q}^{p}} \leq C \left\| \sigma \right\|_{M_{p,q}^{s,\beta}}$$

and

$$\left\| \left\| 2^{js} f_{j,\sigma} \right\|_{M^p_q} \right\|_{l_\beta} \le C \|\sigma\|_{MB^{s,\beta}_{p,q}}$$

for $-\infty < s < \infty$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < \beta < \infty$, where the constant C is independent of σ . **Proof:** Let $x \in \Delta_{k_0}^j$ and write

$$\mathbf{K}_{l} \coloneqq \{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} : 2^{l} \le \|\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}_{0}\|_{l_{\infty}} < 2^{l+1}\}, \qquad l \in \mathbb{N}_{0}.$$

If $\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{K}_l$, then $\|2^j - \mathbf{k}\|_{l_{\infty}} \ge 2^{l-1}$. By $l_1 \hookrightarrow l_t$, 0 < t < 1, we obtain

$$g_{j\sigma}(x) \coloneqq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |\sigma_{k}^{j}| \left[1 + ||2^{j}x - k||_{l^{\infty}} \right]^{-L} \leq |\sigma_{k}^{j}| + \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k \in K_{l}} |\sigma_{k}^{j}|^{2-lL} \\ \leq \left(|\sigma_{k}^{j}|^{t} \right)^{1/t} + \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k \in K_{l}} |\sigma_{k}^{j}| t \right)^{1/t} 2^{-lL} \\ = \left(2^{jn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[|\sigma_{k}^{j}| \chi_{k_{0}}^{j}(y) \right]^{t} dy \right)^{1/t} + \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-lL} \left(2^{jn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{k \in K_{l}} |\sigma_{k}^{j}| \chi_{k}^{j}(y) \right]^{t} dy \right)^{1/t}.$$
(27)

Since the Δ_k^j 's are disjoint to each other and the measure is 2^{-jn} . If $y \in \Delta_k^j$, $k \in K_l$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |x - y| &\leq \left| x - 2^{-j} k_0 \right| + \left| 2^{-j} k_0 - 2^{-j} k \right| + \left| 2^{-j} k - y \right| \leq C 2^{-j} + C 2^{-j} 2^l + C 2^{-j} \\ &\leq C 2^{-j+l} \end{aligned}$$
(28)

Therefore,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[\sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{L}}} \left| \sigma_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathbf{j}} \right| \chi_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathbf{j}} \right]^{\mathbf{t}} d\mathbf{y} \le C2^{(-\mathbf{j}+l)n} \mathcal{M} \left[\sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left| \sigma_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathbf{j}} \right| \chi_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathbf{j}} \right]^{\mathbf{t}} (\mathbf{x}).$$

Since $L > n/\min\{1, q, \beta\}$, we take t such that $0 < t < \min\{1, q, \beta\}$ and L > n/t. Thus,

$$g_{j\sigma}(x) \leq C \left(\mathcal{M}\left[\sum_{k \in K_{L}} \left| \sigma_{k}^{j} \right| \chi_{k}^{j}(x) \right]^{t}(x) \right)^{1/t}$$

By the maximal inequality in Lemma (2.3.4), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\| 2^{js} f_{j,\sigma} \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \right\|_{M_{q}^{p}} &\leq C \left\| \left\| 2^{js} g_{j,\sigma} \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \right\|_{M_{q}^{p}} \leq C \left\| \left\| \left\| \mathcal{M} \left[\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |\sigma_{k}^{j}| \chi_{k}^{j} \right]^{t} \right\|_{l_{\beta/t}} \right\|_{M_{q/t}^{p/t}} \\ &\leq C \left\| \left\| \left[\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |\sigma_{k}^{j}| \chi_{k}^{j} \right]^{t} \right\|_{l_{\beta/t}} \right\|_{l_{\beta/t}} \right\|_{M_{q/t}^{p/t}} = C \|\sigma\|_{Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}}. \end{split}$$

$$(29)$$

For $Mb_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ the proof is simpler.

Theorem (2.3.16) [55]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $0 < \beta < \infty$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$. The operators

se :
$$MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta} \to Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$$

and

$$fu: Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta} \to MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$$

(these are abbreviations for sequence and function, respectively), defined by

se
$$f =: \langle (2\pi)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \mathcal{F}^{-1} [\phi_j \mathcal{F} f] (2^{-j} \mathbf{k}) \rangle_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n}^{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{N}_0}$$
 (30)

$$\operatorname{fu} \sigma =: \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \sigma_k^0 \big(\mathcal{F}^{-1} \psi_0(\cdot - k) \big) + \sum_{j=1}^\infty \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \sigma_k^j \big(\mathcal{F}^{-1} \psi_1(2^j \cdot - k) \big)$$
(31)

are bounded. Furthermore, $fu \cdot se = id$ and $||se \cdot ||_{Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}}$ is an equivalent quasi-norm on $Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$. the same result holds on Besov spaces when replacing $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ by $MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ and $Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ by $Mb_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$.

Proof: We only consider $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$. For $MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ the proof is similar.

First, we prove that se is bounded. Let $x \in \Delta_k^j$, then $|x - 2^{-j}k_0| \le C2^{-j}$ and we have

$$2^{js} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (sef)^{j}_{k} \chi^{j}_{k}(x) \leq (2\pi)^{-n/2} \sup_{|\gamma| \leq C2^{-j}} 2^{js} |\mathcal{F}^{-1}[\phi_{j}\mathcal{F}f](x-z)|$$

$$\leq C \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{js} |\mathcal{F}^{-1}[\phi_{j}\mathcal{F}f](x-z)|}{[1+2^{j}|z|]^{N}}.$$
(32)

By Lemma (2.3.14),

$$\left\| \left\| 2^{js} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (\operatorname{se} f)^j_{\mathbf{k}} \chi^j_{\mathbf{k}}(\cdot) \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \right\|_{M^p_q} \le \left\| \left\| \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{js} \left| \mathcal{F}^{-1} \left[\phi_j \mathcal{F} f \right](\cdot - \mathbf{z}) \right|}{[1 + 2^j |\mathbf{z}|]^N} \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \right\|_{M^p_q} \le \left\| f \right\|_{\operatorname{MF}^{s,\beta}_{p,q}}$$
(33)

Thus, se is bounded.

Second, let

$$\|\mathrm{fu}\sigma\|_{\mathrm{M}^{s,\beta}_{p,q}} = \left\| \left\| 2^{\mathrm{js}}\mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{j}} \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \right\|_{\mathrm{M}^{p}_{q}}, \qquad \mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{j}}(x) \coloneqq \left| \mathcal{F}^{-1} \left[\phi_{\mathrm{j}} \mathcal{F} f \mathrm{u}\sigma \right](x) \right.$$

We have the fact that $I_j(x) \leq Cf_{j\sigma}(x)$; see [76]. By the fact above and Lemma (2.3.15), we know that fu is bounded.

Third, the proof of the rest is similar to that in [76]. Theorem (2.3.16) is proved.

Corollary (2.3.17) [55]: Assume $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < \beta < \infty$, and $s_0, s_1 \in \mathbb{R}$. Then a linear operator $T : MF_{p,q}^{s_0,\beta} \to MF_{p,q}^{s_1,\beta}$ is bounded, iff the operator seTfu : $Mf_{p,q}^{s_0,\beta} \to Mf_{p,q}^{s_1,\beta}$ is bounded. The respective quasi-norms of the operators are equivalent.

The operators sefu are given by matrices. Assume that $T : S \to S'$ is bounded. Then

$$(\text{seTfu}\sigma)_{m}^{l} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \beta_{k,m}^{j,l} \alpha_{k}^{j}$$

where

$$\beta_{k,m}^{j,l} \leq \begin{cases} \left(se(T[(\mathcal{F}\Phi_0)(-\cdot k)]) \right)_M^l, & j = 0. \\ \left(se(T[(\mathcal{F}\Phi_J)(-\cdot k)]) \right)_M^l, & j \ge 1. \end{cases}$$

The matrix associated with the pseudo-deferential operator A corresponding to the symbol *a* is defined by $\beta(a)$. The boundedness of this matrix between sequence spaces depends on the relative size of its coefficient.

The Hörmander class $S_{1,\delta}^{\nu}$ with $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ and $0 \le \delta < 1$ consists of all functions $a \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ which satisfy

$$\left| \mathsf{D}^{\alpha}_{\xi} \mathsf{D}^{\beta}_{x} a(x,\xi) \right| \leq \mathsf{C}_{\alpha,\beta} (1+|\xi|)^{\nu-|\alpha|+\delta|\beta|}, \qquad x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$$

for all multi-indices α and β with $a \in S_{1,\beta}^{\nu}$.

We associate the pseudo-deferential operator T defined by

$$Tf(x) \coloneqq \mathcal{F}^{-1}[a(x,\cdot)\mathcal{F}f](x), \quad f \in \mathcal{S}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

The function *a* is called the symbol of T and the class of operators arising in this way from $S_{1,\delta}^{\nu}$ is denoted by $\psi_{1,\delta}^{\nu}$. If $\delta = 1$ one calls $\psi_{1,1}^{0}$ the exotic class.

Lemma (2.3.18) [55]: Assume $0 \le \delta < 1$, $v \in \mathbb{R}$ and $a \in S_{1,\delta}^v$. Then for $N \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$|\beta(a)_{k,m}^{j,l}| \coloneqq C \begin{cases} 2^{j\nu} 2^{(j-l)N} (1+|2^{j-l}m-k|)^{-(N+n)}, & j < l. \\ 2^{j\nu} 2^{(l-j)N} (1+|2^{l-j}k-m|)^{-(N+n)}, & j \ge l. \end{cases}$$

holds for all j, $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and k, $m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$.

Lemma (2.3.19) [55]: Assume s, $v \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 < \beta < \infty$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$ and $L > n/\min\{1, q, \beta\}$.

(i) If k > s, then

$$\left\| \left\langle \sum_{j=0}^{l-1} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left| \sigma_k^j \right| 2^{j\nu} 2^{(j-l)k} \left(1 + \left| 2^{j-l}m - k \right| \right)^{-L} \right\rangle_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n}^{l \in \mathbb{N}_0} \right\|_{Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}} \le C \|\sigma\|_{Mf_{p,q}^{s+\nu,\beta}}$$
(34)

holds, where C is independent of σ . (ii) If $\lambda > n/\min\{1, q, \beta\} - s$, then

$$\left\| \left\langle \sum_{j=l}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left| \sigma_{\mathbf{k}}^j \right| 2^{j\nu} 2^{(l-j)\lambda} \left(1 + \left| 2^{l-j}\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{m} \right| \right)^{-L} \right\rangle_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n}^{l \in \mathbb{N}_0} \right\|_{\mathbf{M}f_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{s},\beta}} \le C \|\sigma\|_{\mathbf{M}f_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{s}+\nu,\beta}}$$
(35)

holds, where C is independent of σ .

Proof: Step 1. We prove (34). Let $x \in \Delta_m^l$, put $K_r := \{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n : 2^r - 1 \le |2^{j-l}m - k| < 2^{r+1} - 1\}$, $r \in \mathbb{N}_0$ with 0 < t < 1. Then it follows

$$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{m}}^{l} \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left| \sigma_{\mathbf{k}}^{j} \right| 2^{j-l} 2^{(j-l)\mathbf{k}} \left(1 + \left| 2^{j-l}\mathbf{m} - \mathbf{k} \right| \right)^{-L} \leq \sum_{j=0}^{l-1} 2^{j\nu} 2^{(j-k)\mathbf{k}} \sum_{\mathbf{r}=0}^{\infty} 2^{-L\mathbf{r}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{r}}} \left| \sigma_{\mathbf{k}}^{j} \right|^{t} \right)^{1/t}.$$

If $y \in \Delta_k^j$, then $|x - y| \le C2^{-j+r}$. Since j < l, thus

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{r}}}\left|\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}^{j}\right|^{\mathsf{t}} = 2^{jn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{r}}}\left|\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}^{j}\right|\chi_{\mathbf{k}}^{j}(\mathbf{y})\right]^{\mathsf{t}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{y} \leq C2^{rn} \mathcal{M}\left[\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{r}}}\left|\sigma_{\mathbf{k}}^{j}\right|\chi_{\mathbf{k}}^{j}(\mathbf{y})\right]^{\mathsf{t}}(\mathbf{x}).$$

If we write $\mathcal{M}_{j}(x) = \mathcal{M}\left[\sum_{k \in K_{r}} |\sigma_{k}^{j}| \chi_{k}^{j}(y)\right]^{t}(x)$, then

$$2^{js} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} r_m^l \chi_m^l(x) \le C \sum_{j=0}^{l-1} 2^{(l-1)(k-s)} 2^{j(s+\nu)} \mathcal{M}_j^{1/t}(x)$$

Since $L > n/\min\{1, q, \beta\}$, so we can take t such that $0 < t < \min\{1, q, \beta\}$ and L > n/t. thus

Left side of (34)
$$\leq \left\| \left\| \langle 2^{ls} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} r_m^l \chi_m^l(x) \rangle_{l \in \mathbb{N}_0} \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \right\|_{M_q^p}$$
$$\leq C \left\| \left\| \langle \left(\sum_{j=0}^{l-1} 2^{(j-l)(k-s)t} 2^{j(s+v)t} \mathcal{M}_j \right) \rangle_{l \in \mathbb{N}_0} \right\|_{l_{\beta/t}} \right\|_{M_{q/t}^{p/t}}$$
$$\leq C \left\| \left\| \langle (2^{j(s+v)t} \mathcal{M}_j) \rangle_{l \in \mathbb{N}_0} \right\|_{l_{\beta/t}} \right\|_{M_{q/t}^{p/t}} \leq C \|\sigma\|_{Mf_{p,q}^{s+v,\beta}}. \tag{36}$$

In the third inequality in (36), we use the following fact

$$\left\| \langle \sum_{j=0}^{l-1} 2^{(j-l)\epsilon} a_j \rangle_{l \in \mathbb{N}_0} \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \le C \left\| \langle a_j \rangle_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0} \right\|_{l_{\beta}}, \qquad 1 \le \beta < \infty, \qquad \epsilon > 0$$

where a_j is a complex-sequence. In the last inequality in (36), we use the maximal inequality in Lemma (2.3.4).

Step 2. To prove (35), we decompose \mathbb{R}^n into subsets

$$\overline{\mathrm{K}}_{\mathrm{r}} \coloneqq \left\{ \mathrm{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n : \ 2^{\mathrm{r}} - 1 \le \left| \mathrm{m} - 2^{l-j} \mathrm{k} \right| < 2^{\mathrm{r}+1} - 2 \right\}, \qquad \mathrm{r} \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

The rest is similar to step 1 and by the following fact

$$\left\| \langle \sum_{j=l}^{\infty} 2^{(l-j)\epsilon} a_j \rangle_{l \in \mathbb{N}_0} \right\|_{l_{\beta}} \le C \| \langle a_j \rangle_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0} \|_{l_{\beta}}, \qquad 1 \le \beta < \infty, \qquad \epsilon > 0,$$

where a_i is a complex-sequence.

Theorem (2.3.20) [55]: Assume $-\infty < s < \infty$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < \beta < \infty$. Let $T \in \psi_{1,\delta}^{\nu}$ with $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$.

(i)
$$T \coloneqq MF_{p,q}^{s+\nu,\beta} \to MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$$
 is bounded, if $0 \le \delta < 1$.
 $T \coloneqq MB_{p,q}^{s+\nu,\beta} \to MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ is bounded, if $0 \le \delta < 1$.
(ii) $T \coloneqq MF_{p,q}^{s+\nu,\beta} \to MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ is bounded, if $s < n(1/\min\{1,q,\beta\}-1), \ \delta = 1$.
 $T \coloneqq MB_{p,q}^{s+\nu,\beta} \to MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ is bounded, if $s < n(1/\min\{1,q,\beta\}-1), \ \delta = 1$.

Proof : By Lemma (2.3.18), we have

$$\begin{split} \|\operatorname{seTfu\sigma}\|_{Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}} &\leq \left\| \langle \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |\beta_{k,m}^{j,l} | \sigma_{k}^{j} \rangle_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}}^{l \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \right\|_{Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}} \\ &\leq C \left\| \langle \sum_{j=0}^{l-1} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |\sigma_{k}^{j} | 2^{j\nu} 2^{(l-j)N} (1 + |2^{j-l}m - k|)^{-(N+n)} \rangle_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}}^{l \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \right\|_{Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}} \\ &+ C \left\| \langle \sum_{j=l}^{\infty} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |\sigma_{k}^{j} | 2^{j\nu} 2^{(j-l)N} (1 + |2^{j-l}k - m|)^{-(N+n)} \rangle_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}}^{l \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \right\|_{Mf_{p,q}^{s,\beta}} \end{split}$$

By Lemma (2.3.19), we obtain

$$\|\operatorname{seTfu}\sigma\|_{Mf^{s,\beta}_{p,q}} \leq C \|\sigma\|_{Mf^{s+\nu,\beta}_{p,q}}.$$

If $s > I_{q,\beta} \coloneqq n(1/\min\{1, q, \beta\} - 1)$ and N is sufficient large, by Corollary (2.3.17), the operator $T : MF_{p,q}^{s+\nu,\beta} \to MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ is bounded.

When $s \leq I_{q,\beta}$, by lifting properties, we have that

$$I_{\tau} \coloneqq \mathcal{F}^{-1} \left[(1 + |\cdot|^2)^{\tau/2} \mathcal{F} \right] \in \psi_{1,\delta}^{\tau} : \mathsf{MF}_{p,q}^{s+\nu,\beta} \to \mathsf{MF}_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$$

is bounded for s, $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$. By the fact that $\psi_{1,\delta}^{\nu_1} \cdot \psi_{1,\delta}^{\nu_2} \subset \psi_{1,\delta}^{\nu_1+\nu_2}$, $0 \le \delta < 1$, then the operator

$$T^{\tau} \coloneqq I_{\tau}TI_{-\tau} \in \psi_{1,\delta}^{\nu}: MF_{p,q}^{I_{q,\beta}+1+\nu,\beta} \to MF_{p,q}^{I_{q,\beta}+1,\beta}$$

is bounded.

Therefore,

$$T = I_{-\tau} T^{\tau} I_{\tau} \in \psi_{1,\delta}^{\nu} : MF_{p,q}^{I_{q,\beta}+1+\nu+\tau,\beta} \to MF_{p,q}^{I_{q,\beta}+1+\tau,\beta}$$

is bounded for $\tau \in \mathbb{R}$.

From $MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$ is similar, we omit the details here.

Thus, Theorem (2.3.20) is proved.

Chapter 3

Variable Smoothness and Integrability

We give molecular and atomic decomposition results and show that the space is well-defined, i.e., independent of the choice of basic functions. As in the classical case, a unified scale of spaces permits clearer results in cases where smoothness and integrability interact, such as Sobolev embedding and trace theorems. As an application of the decomposition we show optimal trace theorems in the variable indices case. We give Sobolev-type embeddings, and show that the scale contains variable order Hölder-Zygmund spaces as special cases. We provide an alternative characterization of the Besov space using approximations by analytic functions.

Section (3.1): Function Spaces

From a vast array of different function spaces a well ordered superstructure appeared in the 1960's and 70's based on two three-index spaces: the Besov space $B^{\alpha}_{p,q}$ and the Triebel–Lizorkin space $F^{\alpha}_{p,q}$. There has been a growing interest in generalizing classical spaces such as Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces to the case with either variable integrability (e.g., $W^{1,p(\cdot)}$) or variable smoothness (e.g., $W^{m(\cdot),2}$). These generalized spaces are obviously not covered by the superstructures with fixed indices.

It is well-known from the classical case that smoothness and integrability often interact, for instance, in trace and embedding theorems. There has so far been no attempt to treat spaces with variable integrability and smoothness in one scale. We address this issue by introducing Triebel–Lizorkin spaces with variable indices, denoted $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

Spaces of variable integrability can be traced back to 1931 and W. Orlicz [124], but the modern development started with [113] of Kováčik and Rákosník in 1991. Apart from interesting theoretical considerations, the motivation to study such function spaces comes from applications to fluid dynamics, image processing, PDE and the calculus of variation.

The first concrete application arose from a model of electrorheological fluids in [128] (cf. [85, 86, 130, 131] for mathematical treatments of the model). We mention that an electrorheological fluid is a so-called smart material in which the viscosity depends on the external electric field. This dependence is expressed through the variable exponent p; specifically, the motion of the fluid is described by a Navier–Stokes-type equation where the Laplacian 4u is replaced by the p(x)-Laplacian div $(|\nabla u|^{p(x)-2}\nabla u)$. By standard arguments, this means that the natural energy space of the problem is $W^{1,p(\cdot)}$, the Sobolev space of variable integrability.

An application to image restoration was proposed by Chen, Levine & Rao [94, 123]. Their model combines isotropic and total variation smoothing. And, their model requires the minimization over u of the energy

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u(x)|^{\mathbf{p}(x)} + \lambda |u(x) - \mathbf{I}(x)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x$$

where I is given input. Recall that in the constant exponent case, the power $p \equiv 2$ corresponds to isotropic smoothing, whereas $p \equiv 1$ gives total variation smoothing. Hence the exponent varies between these two extremes in the variable

exponent model. This variational problem has an Euler-Lagrange equation, and the solution can be found by solving a corresponding evolutionary PDE.

Partial differential equations have also been studied from a more abstract and general point of view in the variable exponent setting. We can approach boundary value problems through a suitable trace space, which, by definition, is a space consisting of restrictions of functions to the boundary. For the Sobolev spaceW^{1,p(·)}, the trace space was first characterized by an intrinsic norm, see [100]. In analogy with the classical case, this trace space can be formally denoted $F_{P(\cdot),P(\cdot)}^{1-1/p(\cdot)}$, so it is an example of a space with variable smoothness and integrability, albeit on with a very special relationship between the two exponents. Already somewhat earlier Almeida & Samko [88] and Gurka, Harjulehto & Nekvinda [109] had extended variable integrability Sobolev spaces to Bessel potential spaces W^{1,p(·)} for constant but non-integer α^1 .

Along a different line of study, Leopold [117, 118, 119, 120] and Leopold & Schrohe [121] studied pseudo-differential operators with symbols of the type $\langle \xi^{m(x)} \rangle$, and defined related function spaces of Besov-type with variable smoothness, formally $B_{p,q}^{m(\cdot)}$. In the case p = 2, this corresponds to the Sobolev space $H^{m(\cdot)} = W^{m(x),2}$. Function spaces of variable smoothness have been studied by Besov [89, 90, 91, 91]. He generalized Leopold's work by considering both Triebel-Lizorkin spaces $F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and Besov spaces $B_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ in \mathbb{R}^n . Schneider and Schwab [135] used $H^{m(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R})$ in the analysis of certain Black-Scholes equations. The variable smoothness corresponds to the volatility of the market, which surely should change with time.

We define and study a generalized scale of Triebel-Lizorkin type spaces with variable smoothness $\alpha(x)$, and variable primary and secondary indices of integrability, p(x) and q(x). By setting some of the indices to appropriate values we recover all previously mentioned spaces as special cases, except the Besov spaces (which, like in the classical case, form a separate scale).

Apart from the value added through unification, our new space allows treating traces and embeddings in a uniform and comprehensive manner, rather than doing them case by case.

When generalizing Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, we have several obstacles to overcome. The main difficulty is the absence of the vector-valued maximal function inequalities. It turns out that the inequalities are not only missing, rather, they do not even hold in the variable indices case. As a consequence of this, the Hörmander-Mikhlin multiplier theorem does not apply in the case of variable indices. The solution is to work in closer connection with the actual structure of the space with what we call η -functions and to derive suitable estimates directly for these functions.

We state the main results: atomic and molecular decomposition of Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, a trace theorem, and a multiplier theorem. We show that the new scale is indeed a unification of previous spaces, in that it includes them all as special cases with appropriate choices of the indices. We formulate and prove an appropriate version of the multiplier theorem. We give the proofs of the main decompositions theorems, and we discuss the trace theorem. For $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and r > 0 we denote by $B^n(x, r)$ the open ball in \mathbb{R}^n with center x and radius r. By B^n we denote the unit ball $B^n(0,1)$. We use c as a generic constant, i.e., a constant whose values may change from appearance to appearance. The inequality $f \approx g$ means that $\frac{1}{c}g \leq f \leq c g$ for some suitably independent constant c. By χ_A we denote the characteristic function of the set A. If $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then we use the notation a_+ for the positive part of a, i.e., $a_+ = \max\{0, a\}$. By \mathbb{N} and \mathbb{N}_0 we denote the sets of positive and non-negative integers. For $x \in \mathbb{R}$ we denote by [x] the largest integer less than or equal to x.

We denote the mean-value of the integrable function f, defined on a set A of finite, non-zero measure, by

$$\oint_{A} f(x) dx = \frac{1}{|A|} \int_{A} f(x) dx.$$

The Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M is defined on $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$Af(x) = \sup_{r>0} \oint_{B^n(x,r)} |f(y)| dy$$

By supp f we denote the support of the function f, i.e., the closure of its zero set.

By $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ we always denote an open set. By a variable exponent we mean a measurable bounded function $p: \Omega \to (0, \infty)$ which is bounded away from zero. For $A \subset \Omega$ we denote $P_A^+ = \text{ess sup}_A p(x)$ and $P_A^- = \text{ess inf}_A p(x)$; we abbreviate $p^+ = p_{\Omega}^+$ and $p^- = p_{\Omega}^-$. We define the modular of a measurable function *f* to be

$$\varrho_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\Omega)}(f) \int_{\Omega} |f(x)|^{\mathrm{p}(x)} \,\mathrm{d}x$$

The variable exponent Lebesgue space $L^{p(\cdot)}(\Omega)$ consists of all measurable functions $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^n$ for which $\varrho_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\Omega)}(f) < \infty$. We define the Luxemburg norm on this space by

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\Omega)} = \inf \{\lambda > 0 : \varrho_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\Omega)}(f/\lambda) \le 1\},\$$

which is the Minkowski functional of the absolutely convex set $\{f : \varrho_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\Omega)}(f) \leq 1\}$. In the case when $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$ we replace the $L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in subscripts simply by $p(\cdot)$. The variable exponent Sobolev space $W^{1,p(\cdot)}(\Omega)$ is the subspace of $L^{1,p(\cdot)}(\Omega)$ of functions f whose distributional gradient exists and satisfies $|\nabla f| \in L^{p(\cdot)}(\Omega)$. The norm

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{W}^{1,\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\Omega)} = \|f\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\Omega)} + \|\nabla f\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\Omega)}$$

makes $W^{1,p(\cdot)}(\Omega)$ a Banach space.

For fixed exponent spaces we have a very simple relationship between the norm and the modular. In the variable exponent case this is not so. However, we have the following useful property: $\varrho_{L^{p(\cdot)}}(f) \leq 1$ if and only if $||f||_{p(\cdot)} \leq 1$. This and many other basic results were proven in [113].

Definition (3.1.1) [140]: Le $g \in C(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We say that g is locally log-Hölder continuous, abbreviated $g \in C_{loc}^{log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if there exists $C_{log} > 0$ such that

$$|g(x) - g(y)| \le \frac{C_{\log}}{\log(e + 1/|x - y|)}$$

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

We say that g is globally log-Hölder continuous, abbreviated $g \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if it is locally log-Hölder continuous and there exists $g_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$|\mathbf{g}(x) - \mathbf{g}_{\infty}| \le \frac{C_{\log}}{\log(e + 1/|x|)}$$

Note that g is globally log-Hölder continuous if and only if

$$|g(x) - g(y)| \le \frac{c}{\left|\log \frac{1}{2}q(x, y)\right|}$$

for all $x, y \in \overline{\mathbb{R}^n}$, where q denotes the spherical-chordal metric (the metric inherited from a projection to the Riemann sphere), hence the name, global log-Hölder continuity.

Building on [96] and [97] it is shown in [99] that

$$\mathsf{M}: \mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

is bounded if $p \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $1 < p^- \le p^+ \le \infty$. Global log-Hölder continuity is the best possible modulus of continuity to imply the boundedness of the maximal operator, see [96]. However, if one moves beyond assumptions based on continuity moduli, it is possible to derive results also under weaker assumptions, see [98, 122, 126].

Definition (3.1.2) [140]: We say a pair (ϕ, Φ) is admissible if $\phi, \Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy

(i)
$$\sup \widehat{\varphi} \subseteq \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{1}{2} \le |\xi| \le 2 \right\}$$
 and $|\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| \ge c > 0$ when $\frac{3}{5} \le |\xi| \le \frac{5}{3}$
(ii) $\sup \widehat{\Phi} \subseteq \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| \le 2 \right\}$ and $\left| \widehat{\Phi}(\xi) \right| \ge c > 0$ when $|\xi| \le \frac{5}{3}$.
We set $\varphi_{\mathcal{V}}(x) = 2^{\nu n} \varphi(2^{\nu} x)$ for $\nu \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\varphi_0(x) = \Phi(X)$. For $\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu}$ we set
 $\varphi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) = \begin{cases} |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} \varphi_v(x - x_{\mathcal{Q}}) & \text{if } \nu \ge 1 \\ |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} \Phi(x - x_{\mathcal{Q}}) & \text{if } \nu = 0 \end{cases}$

We define ψ_{v} and ψ_{Q} analogously.

Following [106], given an admissible pair (ϕ, Φ) we can select another admissible pair (ψ, Ψ) such that

$$\widehat{\widehat{\Phi}}(\xi) \cdot \widehat{\Psi}(\xi) + \sum_{\nu \ge 1} \widehat{\widehat{\varphi}} (2^{-\nu}\xi) \cdot \widehat{\psi}(2^{-\nu}\xi) = 1 \text{ for all } \xi.$$

Here, $\widehat{\Phi}(x) = \overline{\Phi(-x)}$ and similarly for $\widetilde{\varphi}$.

For each $f \in \hat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ we define the (inhomogeneous) φ -transform \mathcal{S}_{φ} as the map taking f to the sequence $(\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f)_{Q\in\mathcal{D}^+}$ by setting $(\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f)_Q = \langle f, \varphi_Q \rangle$. Here, $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the usual inner product on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{C})$. For later purposes note that $(\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f)_Q = |Q|^{1/2}\tilde{\varphi}_v * f(2^{-\nu}k)$ for $l(Q) = 2^{-\nu} < 1$ and $(\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f)_Q = |Q|^{1/2}\tilde{\Phi} * f(2^{-\nu}k)$ for l(Q) = 1.

The inverse (inhomogeneous) φ -transform T_{ψ} is the map taking a sequence $s = \{s_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{l(\mathcal{Q}) \leq 1}$ to $T_{\psi}s = \sum_{l(\mathcal{Q})=1} s_{\mathcal{Q}}\Psi_{\mathcal{Q}} + \sum_{l(\mathcal{Q})<1} s_{\mathcal{Q}}\psi_{\mathcal{Q}}$. We have the following identity for $f \in \hat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$:

$$f = \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_0} \langle f, \Phi_{\mathcal{Q}} \rangle \Psi_{\mathcal{Q}} + \sum_{\nu=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu}} \langle f, \varphi_{\mathcal{Q}} \rangle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}$$
(1)

We consider all distributions in $\hat{\mathcal{S}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (rather than $\hat{\mathcal{S}}/\mathcal{P}$ as in the homogeneous case), since $\hat{\Phi}(0) \neq 0$.

Using the admissible functions (ϕ, Φ) we can define the norms

 $||f||_{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}^{\alpha}} = |||2^{\nu\alpha}\phi_{\nu}*f||_{l^{\mathbf{q}}}||_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}}} \text{ and } ||f||_{\mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}^{\alpha}} = |||2^{\nu\alpha}\phi_{\nu}*f||_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}}}||_{l^{\mathbf{q}}},$

for constants $p,q \in (0,\infty)$ and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. The Triebel-Lizorkin space $F_{p,q}^{\alpha}$ and the Besov $B_{p,q}^{\alpha}$ consists of distributions $f \in \hat{S}$ for which $||f||_{F_{p,q}^{\alpha}} < \infty$ and $||f||_{B_{p,q}^{\alpha}} < \infty$, respectively. The classical theory of these spaces is in Triebel [41, 56, 136]. The discrete representation as sequence spaces through the φ -transform is due to Frazier and Jawerth [45, 106]. Recently, anisotropic and weighted versions of these spaces have been studied by many people, see, e.g., Bownik and Ho [93], Frazier and Roudenko [129, 107], Kühn, Leopold, Sickel and Skrzypczak [114]. We now move on to generalizing these definitions to the variable index case.

We assume that p,q are positive functions on \mathbb{R}^n such that $\frac{1}{p}, \frac{1}{q} \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. This implies, in particular, $0 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$ and $0 < q^- \le q^+ < \infty$. We also assume that $\alpha \in C^{\log}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\alpha \ge 0$ and that α has a limit at infinity.

One of the central classical tools that we are missing in the variable integrability setting is a general multiplier theorem of Mikhlin-Hörmander type. We show that a general theorem does not hold, and instead prove the following result which is still sufficient to work with Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. For a family of functions $f_v : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}, v \ge 0$, we define

$$\|f_{\nu}(x)\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}} = \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} |f_{\nu}(x)|^{q(x)}\right)^{1/q(x)}$$

Note that this is just an ordinary discrete Lebesgue space, since q(x) does not depend on v. The mapping $x \mapsto ||f_v(x)||_{l_v^{q(x)}}$ is a function of x and can be measured in $L^{p(\cdot)}$. We write $L_x^{p(\cdot)}$ to indicate that the integration variable is x. We define

$$\eta_{\rm m}(x) = (1+|x|)^{-{\rm m}} \text{ and } \eta_{\nu,{\rm m}}(x) = 2^{n\nu}\eta_{\rm m}(2^{\nu}x)$$
 (2)

Definition (3.1.3) [140]: Let $\varphi_{v}, v \in \mathbb{N}_{0}$, be as in Definition (3.1.2). The Triebel-Lizorkin space $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ is defined to be the space of all distributions $f \in \hat{S}$ with $\|f\|_{F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} < \infty$, where

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{F}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} := \|\|2^{\nu\alpha(x)}\varphi_{\nu} * f(x)\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}}\|_{\mathbf{L}_{x}^{p(\cdot)}}$$

In the case of p = q we use the notation $F_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \coloneqq F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

In the classical case it has proved very useful to express the Triebel-Lizorkin norm in terms of two sums, rather than a sum and an integral, thus, giving rise to discrete Triebel-Lizorkin spaces $f_{p,q}^{\alpha}$. This is achieved by viewing the function as a constant on dyadic cubes. The size of the appropriate dyadic cube varies according to the level of smoothness.

We next present a formulation of the Triebel-Lizorkin norm which is similar in spirit. For a sequence of real numbers $\{S_Q\}_Q$ we define

$$\left\|\left\{\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{f_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \coloneqq \left\|\left\|2^{\nu\alpha(x)}\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{\nu}}\left|s_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\left|\mathcal{Q}\right|^{-\frac{1}{2}}\chi_{\mathcal{Q}}\left\|_{l_{\nu}^{\mathbf{q}(x)}}\right\|_{L_{\chi}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}}\right\|_{L_{\chi}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}}.$$

The space $f_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ consists of all those sequences $\{S_Q\}_Q$ for which this norm is finite. We are ready to state our first decomposition result, which says that $S_{\varphi}: F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow f_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ is a bounded operator.

Definition (3.1.4) [140]: Let $v \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $Q \in \mathcal{D}_v$, and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ k and $M \ge n$. A function m_Q is said to be a (k, l, M)-smooth molecule for Q if it satisfies the following conditions for some m > M:

(i) if v > 0, then $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\gamma} m_Q(x) dx = 0$ for all $|\gamma| \le k$; and

(ii) $|\mathcal{D}^{\gamma}\mathbf{m}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)| \leq 2^{|\gamma|\nu} |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} \eta_{\nu,\mathbf{m}}(x+x_{\mathcal{Q}})$ for all multi-indices $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $|\gamma| \leq l$

The conditions (i) and (ii) are called the moment and decay conditions, respectively.

Definition (3.1.5) [140]: Let $K, L : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ and M > n. The family $\{m_Q\}_Q$ is said to be a family of (K, L, M)-smooth molecules if m_Q is $([K_Q^-], [L_Q^-], M)$ -smooth for every $Q \in \mathcal{D}^+$.

Definition (3.1.6) [140]: We say that $\{m_Q\}_Q$ is a family of smooth molecules for $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ if it is a family of $(N + \varepsilon, \alpha + \varepsilon + 1, M)$ -smooth molecules, where

$$N(x) \coloneqq \frac{n}{\min\{1, p(x), q(x)\}} - n - \alpha(x)$$

for some constant $\varepsilon > 0$, and M is a sufficiently large constant.

The number M needs to be chosen sufficiently large, for instance

$$2\frac{n+c_{\log}(\alpha)}{\min\{1,p^-,q^-\}}$$

will do, where $c_{log}(\alpha)$ denotes the log-Hölder continuity constant of α . Since M can be fixed depending on the parameters we will usually omit it from our notation of molecules.

Theorems (3.1.22) and (3.1.24) yield an isomorphism between $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and a subspace of $f_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ via the S_{φ} transform:

Corollary (3.1.7) [140]: If the functions p, q and α are as in the Standing Assumptions, then

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \approx \|\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f\|_{f_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}$$

for every $f \in \mathsf{F}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

We can prove that the space $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is well-defined.

Theorem (3.1.8) [140]: The space $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is well-defined, i.e., the definition does not depend on the choice of the functions φ and Φ satisfying the conditions of Definition (3.1.2), up to the equivalence of norms.

Proof: Let $\tilde{\varphi}_{\nu}$ and φ_{ν} be different basis functions as in Definition (3.1.2). Let $\|\cdot\|_{\tilde{\varphi}}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\varphi}$ denote the corresponding norms of $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. By symmetry, it suffices to prove $\|f\|_{\tilde{\varphi}} \leq c\|f\|_{\varphi}$ for all $f \in \tilde{S}$. Let $\|f\|_{\varphi} < \infty$. Then by (1) and Theorem (3.1.22) we have $f = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}^+} (\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f)_Q \psi_Q$ and $\|\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f\|_{f_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \leq c\|f\|_{\varphi}$.

Since $\{\psi_Q\}_Q$ is a family of smooth molecules, $\|f\|_{\widetilde{\varphi}} \leq c \|\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f\|_{f_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}$ by Theorem (3.1.24), which completes the proof.

It is often convenient to work with compactly supported basis functions. Thus, we say that the molecule a_Q concentrated on Q is an atom if it satisfies $\operatorname{supp} a_Q \subset 3Q$. The downside of atoms is that we need to choose a new set of them for each function f that we represent. Note that this coincides with the definition of atoms in [106] in the case when p, q and α as constants.

If the maximal operator is bounded and $1 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$, then it follows easily that $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (the space of smooth functions with compact support) is dense in $W^{1,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, since it is then possible to use convolution. However, density can be achieved also under more general circumstances, see [105, 112, 139]. The standing assumptions are strong enough to give the density directly:

Corollary (3.1.9) [140]: Let the functions p,q and α be as in the Standing Assumptions. Then $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is dense in $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Another consequence of our atomic decomposition is the analogue of the standard trace theorem. Note that the assumption $\alpha - \frac{1}{p} - (n-1)(\frac{1}{p}-1)_+ > 0$ is optimal also in the constant smoothness and integrability case, cf. [45]

Proof: Choose K so large that $F_{p^+,2}^K \hookrightarrow F_{p^+,1}^{\alpha^+}$. This is possible by classical, fixed exponent, embedding results.

Let $f \in F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and choose smooth atoms $a_Q \in C^k(\mathbb{R}^n)$ so that $f = \sum_{Q \in D^+} t_Q a_Q$ in \mathcal{S} . Define

$$f_{\rm m} = \sum_{\nu=0}^{\rm m} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu}, |x_{\mathcal{Q}}| < {\rm m}} t_{\mathcal{Q}} a_{\mathcal{Q}}$$

Then clearly $f_{\rm m} \in C_0^{\rm K}$ and $f_{\rm m} \to f$ in $F_{\rm p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

We can chose a sequence of functions $\varphi_{m,k} \in C_0^{\infty}$ so that $||f_m - \varphi_{m,k}||_{W^{K,p^+}} \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ and the support of $\varphi_{m,k}$ is lies in the ball B(0,r_m). By the choice of K we conclude that

$$\|f_{m} - \varphi_{m,k}\|_{F_{p^{+},1}^{\alpha^{+}}} \le c \|f_{m} - \varphi_{m,k}\|_{F_{p^{+},2}^{K}} = c \|f_{m} - \varphi_{m,k}\|_{W^{K,p^{+}}}.$$

By Proposition (3.1.26) we conclude that

$$\left\|f_{m}-\varphi_{m,k}\right\|_{F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \leq c\left\|f_{m}-\varphi_{m,k}\right\|_{F_{p+1}^{\alpha^{+}}}$$

Now we show how the Triebel-Lizorkin scale $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ includes as special cases previously studied spaces with variable differentiability or integrability.

We begin with the variable exponent Lebesgue spaces, which were originally introduced by Orlicz in [124]. We show that $F_{p(\cdot),2}^{0} \cong L^{p(\cdot)}$ under suitable assumptions on p. We use an extrapolation result for $L^{p(\cdot)}$. Recall, that a weight ω is in the Muckenhoupt class A_1 if $M_{\omega} \leq k_{\omega}$ for some such K > 0. The smallest K is the A_1 constant of ω .

Lemma (3.1.10) [95]: Let $p \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $1 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$ and let \mathcal{G} denote a family of tuples (f,g) of measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n . Suppose that there exists a constant $r_0 \in (0,p^-)$ so that

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^{r_0} \,\omega(x) \mathrm{d}x\right)^{1/r_0} \leq c_0 \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |g(x)|^{r_0} \,\omega(x) \mathrm{d}x\right)^{1/r_0}$$

for all $(f,g) \in \mathcal{G}$ and every weight $\omega \in A_1$, where c_0 is independent of f and g and depends on ω only via its A_1 -constant. Then

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{L}^{(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq c_1 \|g\|_{\mathcal{L}^{(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

for all $(f,g) \in \mathcal{G}$ with $||f||_{L^{(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$.

Theorem (3.1.11) [140]: Let $p \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $1 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$. Then $L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cong F^0_{p(\cdot),2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ particular,

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \approx \|\|\varphi_{\nu} * f\|_{l_{\nu}^{2}}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

for all $f \in L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: Since $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is dense in $L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see [113]) and also in $F_{p(\cdot),2}^0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ by Corollary (3.1.9), it suffices to prove the claim for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Fix $r \in (1, p^-)$. Then

$$\left\|\left\|\varphi_{v}*f\right\|_{l_{v}^{2}}\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{r_{0}}(\mathbb{R}^{n};\omega)}\approx\left\|f\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{r_{0}}(\mathbb{R}^{n};\omega)},$$

for all $\omega \in A_1$ by [115], where the constant depends only on the A_1 -constant of the weight ω , so the assumptions of Lemma (3.1.10) are satisfied. Applying the lemma with \mathcal{G} equal to either

 $\left\{ \left(\|\varphi_{\nu} * f\|_{l^{2}_{\nu}}, f \right) : f \in C^{\infty}_{0}(\Omega) \right\} \text{ or } \left\{ \left(\|\varphi_{\nu} * f\|_{l^{2}_{\nu}} \right) : f \in C^{\infty}_{0}(\Omega) \right\}$ completes the proof.

Theorem (3.1.11) generalizes the equivalence of $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \cong F_{p,q}^{0}$ for constant $p \in (1, \infty)$ to the setting of variable exponent Lebesgue spaces. If $p \in (0, 1]$, then the spaces $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ have to be replaced by the Hardy spaces $h^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. This suggests the following definition:

Definition (3.1.12) [140]: Let $p \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $1 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$. Then we define the variable exponent Hardy space $h^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ by $h^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \coloneqq F^0_{p(\cdot),2}$.

Let \mathcal{B}^{σ} denote the Bessel potential operator $\mathcal{B}^{\sigma} = \mathcal{F}^{-1}(1+|\xi|^2)^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}}\mathcal{F}$ for $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the variable exponent Bessel potential space is defined by

$$\mathcal{L}^{\alpha,\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \coloneqq \mathcal{B}^{\alpha}\left(\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right) = \big\{\mathcal{B}^{\alpha}\mathrm{g}: \mathrm{g}\in\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)\big\},\,$$

equipped with the norm $\|g\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\alpha,p(\cdot)}} := \|\mathcal{B}^{-\alpha}g\|_{p(\cdot)}$. It was shown independently in [88] and [109] that $\mathcal{L}^{k,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cong W^{k,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ when $p \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $1 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$.

We will show that $\mathcal{L}^{k,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cong W^{k,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ under suitable assumptions on p for $\alpha \ge 0$ and that $\mathcal{L}^{k,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cong W^{k,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cong F_{p(\cdot),2}^k(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$. It is clear by the definition of $\mathcal{L}^{\alpha,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ that \mathcal{B}^{σ} with $\sigma > 0$ is an isomorphism between $\mathcal{L}^{\alpha,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\mathcal{L}^{\alpha+\sigma,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, i.e., it has a lifting property. Therefore, in view of Theorem (3.1.11) and $\mathcal{L}^{0,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cong F_{p(\cdot),2}^0(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we will complete the circle by proving a lifting property for the scale $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Lemma (3.1.13) [140]: Let p,q and α be as in the Standing Assumptions and $\sigma \ge 0$. Then the Bessel potential operator \mathcal{B}^{σ} is an isomorphism between $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)+\sigma}$.

Proof: Let $f \in F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$. We know that $\{\varphi_Q\}$ is a family of smooth molecules, thus, by Theorem (3.1.22)
$$\left\|\left\{s_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{f_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \approx \left\|f\right\|_{\mathsf{F}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}},$$

where $f = \sum_{Q \in D^+} s_Q \phi_Q$. Therefore,

$$\mathcal{B}^{\sigma}f = \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}^{+}} s_{\mathcal{Q}} \mathcal{B}^{\sigma}\varphi_{\mathcal{Q}} = \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}^{+}} \underbrace{2^{-\nu\sigma}s_{\mathcal{Q}}}_{=:\hat{s}_{\mathcal{Q}}} \underbrace{2^{\nu\sigma}\mathcal{B}^{\sigma}\varphi_{\mathcal{Q}}}_{=:\hat{\varphi}_{\mathcal{Q}}}.$$

Let us check that $\{K\phi_Q\}_Q$ is a family of smooth molecules of an arbitrary order for a suitable constant K. Let $Q \in D^+$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $x_Q = 0$. Then

$$\widehat{\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}}(\xi) = \frac{2^{\nu\sigma}\widehat{\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}}(\xi)}{(1+|\xi|)^{\sigma}} = \frac{2^{\nu\sigma}|\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2}\widehat{\phi}(2^{-\nu}\xi)}{(1+|\xi|)^{\sigma}}$$

Since $\widehat{\phi}$ has support in the annulus $B^n(0,2)\setminus B^n(0,1/2)$, it is clear that $\widehat{\phi_Q} \equiv 0$ in a neighborhood of the origin when l(Q) < 1, so the family satisfies the moment condition in Definition (3.1.4) for an arbitrarily high order.

We consider the decay condition for molecules. Let $\mu \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ be a multiindex with $|\mu| = m$. We estimate

$$\begin{split} \left| \mathcal{D}^{\mu}_{\xi} \widehat{\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}}(\xi) \right| &\leq 2^{\nu\sigma} |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} \left| \mathcal{D}^{\mu}_{\xi} \left[\frac{\widehat{\varphi}(2^{-\nu}\xi)}{(1+|\xi|)^{\sigma}} \right] \right| \\ &= |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} 2^{-\nu m} \left| \mathcal{D}^{\mu}_{\zeta} \left[\frac{\widehat{\varphi}(\zeta)}{(2^{-\nu}+|\zeta|)^{\sigma}} \right] \right| \leq c |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} 2^{-\nu m} \left| \mathcal{D}^{\mu}_{\zeta} [\widehat{\varphi}(\zeta)|\zeta|^{-\sigma}] \right| \end{split}$$

where $\zeta = 2^{-\nu}\xi$ and we used that the support of $\widehat{\phi}$ lies in the annulus $B^n(0,2) \setminus B^n(0,1/2)$ for the last estimate. Define

$$\mathbf{K}_{\mathrm{m}} = \sup_{|\boldsymbol{\mu}|=\mathrm{m},\boldsymbol{\zeta}\in\mathbb{R}^{n}} 2^{-\nu\mathrm{m}} \left| \mathbf{D}_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}^{\boldsymbol{\mu}}[\widehat{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}(\boldsymbol{\zeta})|\boldsymbol{\zeta}|^{-\sigma}] \right|.$$

Since $\sigma \ge 0$ and $\widehat{\phi}$ vanishes in a neighborhood of the origin, we conclude that $K_m < \infty$ for every m. From the estimate

$$|x^{\mu}\psi(x)| = c \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (-1)^m D^{\mu}_{\zeta} \widehat{\psi}(\xi) e^{ix \cdot \xi} d\xi \right| \le c |\operatorname{supp} \widehat{\psi}| \sup_{\xi} \left| D^{\mu}_{\zeta} \widehat{\psi}(\xi) \right|,$$

we conclude that

 $|x|^{m} |\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)| \leq c 2^{\nu n} |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} 2^{-\nu m} K_{m}$ and $|\phi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)| \leq c 2^{\nu n} |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} 2^{\nu m} K_{0}$. Multiplying the former of the two inequalities by $2^{\nu m}$ and adding it to the latter gives

 $(1 + 2^{\nu m} |x|^m) |\dot{\phi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)| \le c 2^{\nu n} |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} (K_0 + K_m).$

Finally, this implies that

$$\left|\phi_{Q}(x)\right| \leq c \frac{2^{\nu n}}{(1+2^{\nu}|x|^{m})} |Q|^{1/2} (K_{0} + K_{m}) \eta_{\nu,m}(x),$$

from which we conclude that the family $\{K\phi_Q\}_Q$ satisfy the decay condition when $K \leq (|Q|^{1/2}(K_0 + K_m)^{-1})$. A similar argument yields the decay condition for $D_x^{\mu}\phi_Q$

Since $\{K\phi_Q\}_Q$ is a family of smooth molecules for $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)+\sigma}$, we can apply Theorem (3.1.24) to conclude that

$$\left\|\mathcal{B}^{\sigma}f\right\|_{F_{\mathbf{p}^{(\cdot)},\mathbf{q}^{(\cdot)}}^{\alpha(\cdot)+\sigma}} \leq c \left\|\left\{\dot{s}_{\mathcal{Q}}/\mathsf{K}\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{f_{\mathbf{p}^{(\cdot)},\mathbf{q}^{(\cdot)}}^{\alpha(\cdot)+\sigma}} \leq c \left\|\left\{s_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{f_{\mathbf{p}^{(\cdot)},\mathbf{q}^{(\cdot)}}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \approx \left\|f\right\|_{F_{\mathbf{p}^{(\cdot)},\mathbf{q}^{(\cdot)}}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}$$

The reverse inequality is handled similarly.

Theorem (3.1.14) [140]: Let $p \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $1 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$ and $\alpha \in [0, \infty)$. Then $F^{\alpha}_{p(\cdot),2}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cong \mathcal{L}^{\alpha,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, then $F^k_{p(\cdot),2}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cong W^{k,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$

Proof: Suppose that $f \in F_{p(\cdot),2}^{k}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. By Lemma (3.1.13), $\mathcal{B}^{-\alpha}f \in F_{p(\cdot),2}^{0}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, so we conclude by Theorem (3.1.11) that $\mathcal{B}^{-\alpha}f \in L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \mathcal{L}^{0,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. Then it follows by the definition of the Bessel space that $f = \mathcal{B}^{\alpha}[\mathcal{B}^{-\alpha}f] \in \mathcal{L}^{\alpha,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. The reverse inclusion follows by reversing these steps.

The claim regarding the Sobolev spaces follows from this and the equivalence $\mathcal{L}^{k,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cong W^{k,p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ (see [88] or [109]).

Now we come to spaces of variable smoothness as introduced by Besov [89], following Leopold [116]. Let $p, q \in (1, \infty)$ and $\text{let} \alpha \in C^{\log}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\alpha \ge 0$. Then Besov defines the following spaces of variable smoothness

$$F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),\text{Besov}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) := \left\{ f \in L_{\text{loc}}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) : \|f\|_{F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),\text{Besov}}} < \infty \right\},\$$
$$\|f\|_{F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),\text{Besov}}} := \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \int_{\|h\| \le 1} |\Delta^{M}(2^{-k}h, f)(x)| dh \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p}} + \|f\|_{L_{x}^{p}},$$

where

$$\Delta^{\mathsf{M}}(\mathbf{y}, f)(\mathbf{x}) := \sum_{\mathbf{k}=0}^{\mathsf{M}} (-1)^{\mathsf{M}-\mathsf{k}} {\binom{\mathsf{M}}{\mathsf{k}}} f(\mathbf{x} + \mathsf{k}\mathbf{y}).$$

In [91] Besov proved that $F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),Besov}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ can be renormed by

$$\left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \varphi_{\nu} * f(x) \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p}} \approx \|f\|_{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}^{\alpha(\cdot),\mathrm{Besov}}}$$

which agrees with our definition of the norm of $F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$, since p and q are constants. This immediately implies the following result:

Theorem (3.1.15) [140]: Let $p, q \in (1, \infty)$, $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log} \cap L^{\infty}$ and $\alpha \ge 0$. Then $\|f\|_{F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),Besov}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \approx \|f\|_{F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

In his works, Besov also studied Besov spaces of variable differentiability. For $p, q \in (1, \infty)$, and $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log} \cap L^{\infty}$ with $\alpha \ge 0$, he defines

$$B_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),\text{Besov}}(\mathbb{R}^n) := \left\{ f \in L_{\text{loc}}^p(\mathbb{R}^n) : \|f\|_{F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),\text{Besov}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty \right\},$$
$$\|f\|_{B_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),\text{Besov}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} := \left\| \left\| \sup_{|h| \le 1} \left| \Delta^M \left(2^{-\nu\alpha(x)} h, f \right)(x) \right| \right\|_{L_x^p} \right\|_{l_v^p} + \|f\|_{L_x^p}.$$

In the classical case the scale of Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and the scale of Besov spaces agree if p = q. Besov showed in [92] that this is also the case for his new scales of Triebel-Lizorkin and Besov spaces, i.e., $F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),Besov}(\mathbb{R}^n) =$ $B_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),Besov}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \in (1,\infty)$, $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log} \cap L^{\infty}$. and $\alpha \ge 0$. This enables us to point out a connection to another family of spaces. By means of the symbols of operators, Leopold [116] introduced Besov pseudodifferential spaces with variable differentiability $B_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),Leopold}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. He further showed that if $0 < \alpha^{-} \leq$ $\mathsf{B}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}^{\alpha(\cdot),\mathrm{Leopold}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ $\alpha \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then $\alpha^+ < \infty$ the and spaces can be characterized by means of finite differences. This characterization agrees with the

one that later Besov [90] used in the definition of the spaces $B_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),Besov}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. In particular, we have $B_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),Leopold}(\mathbb{R}^n) = B_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot),Besov}(\mathbb{R}^n) = F_{p,q}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for such α .

It should be mentioned that there have recently also been some extensions of variable integrability spaces in other directions, not covered by the Triebel-Lizorkin scale that we introduce here. For instance, Harjulehto & Hästö [110] modified the Lebesgue space scale on the upper end to account for the fact that $W^{1,n}$ does not map to L^{∞} under the Sobolev embedding. Similarly, in the image restoration model by Chen, Levine and Rao mentioned above, one has the problem that the exponent p takes values in the closed interval [1,2], including the lower bound, so that one is not working with reflexive spaces. It is wellknown that the space BV of functions of bounded variation is often a better alternative than W^{1,1} when studying differential equations. Consequently, it was necessary to modify the scale $W^{1,p(\cdot)}$ so that the lower end corresponded to BV. This was done by Harjulehto, Hästö & Latvala in [111]. Schneider [133, 134] has also investigated spaces of variable smoothness, but these spaces are not included in the scale of Leopold and Besov. Diening, Harjulehto, Hästö, Mizuta & Shimomura [99] have studied Sobolev embeddings when $p \rightarrow 1$ using Lebesgue spaces with an L log L-character on the lower end in place of L^1 .

Cruz-Uribe, Fiorenza, Martell and Pérez [95] proved a very general extrapolation theorem, which implies among other things the following vector-valued maximal inequality, for variable p but constant q:

Lemma (3.1.16) [140]: Let $p \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $1 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$ and $1 < q < \infty$. Then

$$\|\|Mf_i\|_{l^q}\|_{p(\cdot)} \le c\|\|f_i\|_{l^q}\|_{p(\cdot)}.$$

It would be very nice to generalize this estimate to the variable q case. In particular, this would allow us to use classical machinery to deal with Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. Unfortunately, it turns out that it is not possible: if q is not constant, then the inequality

$$\left\| \|\mathbf{M}f_{i}\|_{l_{x}^{\mathbf{q}(x)}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{x}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}} \leq c \left\| \|f_{i}\|_{l_{x}^{\mathbf{q}(x)}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{x}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}}.$$

does not hold, even if p is constant or $p(\cdot) = q(\cdot)$. For a concrete counterexample consider q with $q|_{\Omega_j}$, j = 0, 1, and $q_0 \neq q_1$ and a constant p. Set $f_k := a_k \chi_{\Omega_0}$. Then $Mf_k|_{\Omega_1} \ge ca_k \chi_{\Omega_1}$. This shows that $l^{q_0} \hookrightarrow l^{q_1}$. The opposite embedding follows in the same way, hence, we would conclude that $l^{q_0} \cong l^{q_1}$, which is of course false.

In view of a vector-valued maximal inequality, we show estimates which take into account that there is a clear stratification in the Triebel-Lizorkin space, namely, a given magnitude of cube size is used in exactly one term in the sum. Recall that $\eta_m(x) = (1 + |x|)^{-m}$ and $\eta_{\nu,m}(x) = 2^{n\nu}\eta_m(2^{\nu}x)$. For a measurable set Q and an integrable function g we denote

$$M_Q g \coloneqq \int_O |g(x)| dx.$$

Lemma (3.1.17) [140]: For every m > n there exists c = c(m, n) > 0 such that

$$\eta_{\nu,m} * |\mathbf{g}|(x) \le c \sum_{j\ge 0} 2^{-j(m-n)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \mathbf{M}_{\mathcal{Q}} \mathbf{g}$$

for all $v \ge 0$, $g \in L^1_{loc}$, and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Proof: Fix $v \ge 0, g \in L^1_{loc}$, and $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. If $|x - y| \le 2^{-v}$, then we choose $Q \in \mathcal{D}_v$ which contains x and y. If $||x - y| > 2^{-v}$, then we choose $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that $2^{v-j} \le |x - y| \le 2^{v-j+1}$ and let $Q \in \mathcal{D}_{v-j}$ be the cube containing y. Note that $x \in 3Q$. In either case, we conclude that

$$2^{\nu n}(1+2^{\nu}|x-y|)^{-m} \le c2^{-j(m-n)}\chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x)\frac{\chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(y)}{|\mathcal{Q}|}.$$

we multiply this inequality by |g(y)| and integrate with respect to y over \mathbb{R}^n . This gives $\eta_{\nu,m} * |g|(x) \le c2^{j(m-n)}\chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x)M_{\mathcal{Q}}g$, which clearly implies the claim.

For the proof of the Lemma (3.1.19) we need the following result on the maximal operator. It follows from [99], since $p^+ < \infty$ in our case.

Lemma (3.1.18) [140]: Let $p \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $1 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$. Then there exists $h \in \text{weaL}^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

 $Mf(x)^{p(x)} \le cM(|f(\cdot)|^{p(\cdot)})(x) + \min\{|\mathcal{Q}|, 1\}h(x)$

for all $f \in L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $||f||_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$.

Lemma (3.1.19) [140]: Let $p, q \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, with $1 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$, $1 < q^- \le q^+ < \infty$, and $(p/q)^- \cdot q^- > 1$. Then there exists m > n such that

$$\left\| \left\| \eta_{\nu,m} * f_{\nu} \right\|_{l_{x}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)}} \le c \left\| \left\| f_{\nu} \right\|_{l_{x}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)}}$$

for every sequence $\{f_{v}\}_{v \in \mathbb{N}_{0}}$ of L^{1}_{loc} -functions.

Proof: By homogeneity, it suffices to consider the case

$$\left\| \|f_{\nu}\|_{l_{\chi}^{\mathbf{q}(\chi)}} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}_{\chi}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}} \le 1.$$

Then, in particular,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f_v(x)|^{\mathbf{p}(x)} \mathrm{d}x \le 1 \tag{3}$$

for every $v \ge 1$. Using Lemma (3.1.17) and Jensen's inequality (i.e., the embedding in weighted discrete Lebesgue spaces), we estimate

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \left| \eta_{\nu, \mathrm{m}} * f_{\nu}(x) \right|^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \left(\sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(\mathrm{m}-n)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \mathrm{M}_{\mathcal{Q}} f_{\nu} \right)^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq c \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(\mathrm{m}-n)} \left(\sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \mathrm{M}_{\mathcal{Q}} f_{\nu} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x \right) \\ &\leq c \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(\mathrm{m}-n)} c \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \left(\mathrm{M}_{\mathcal{Q}} f_{\nu} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

For the last inequality we used the fact that the innermost sum contains only a finite, uniformly bounded number of non-zero terms.

It follows from (3) and
$$p(x) \ge \frac{q(x)}{q^-}$$
 that $||f_v||_{L^{\frac{q}{q}}} \le c$. Thus, by Lemma (3.1.18),
 $\left(M_{\mathcal{Q}}f_v\right)^{\frac{q(x)}{q^-}} \le cM_{\mathcal{Q}}\left(|f_v|^{\frac{q}{q^-}}\right) + c \min\{|\mathcal{Q}|, 1\}h(x)$

for all $Q \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}$ and $x \in Q$. Combining this with the estimates above, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} |\eta_{\nu} * f_{\nu}(x)|^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} dx \le c \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(m-n)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \left[M_{\mathcal{Q}} \left(|f_{\nu}|^{\frac{q}{q^{-}}} \right) \right]^{q^{-}} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} dx + c \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(m-n)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \left(\min\{|\mathcal{Q}|, 1\}h(x) \right)^{q^{-}} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} dx =: (I) + (II) .$$

Now we easily estimate that

$$(I) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{\nu \geq 0} \left[\mathsf{M}\left(|f_{\nu}|^{\frac{q}{q^-}} \right)(x) \right]^{q^-} \sum_{j \geq 0} 2^{-j(m-n)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right)^{\overline{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\leq c \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{\nu \geq 0} \left[\mathsf{M}\left(|f_{\nu}|^{\frac{q}{q^-}} \right)(x) \right]^{q^-} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x \quad = c \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left\| \mathsf{M}\left(|f_{\nu}|^{\frac{q}{q^-}} \right)(x) \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q^-}}^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}q^-} \mathrm{d}x.$$

p(*x*)

The vector valued maximal inequality, Lemma (3.1.16), with $(p/q)^- \cdot q^- > 1$ and $q^- > 1$, implies that the last expression is bounded since

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \left(|f_{\nu}|^{\frac{q(x)}{q^-}} \right)^{q^-} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} |f_{\nu}|^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} dx \le 1.$$

For the estimation of (II) we first note the inequality

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(m-n)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \min\{|\mathcal{Q}|, 1\}^{q^-} \le \sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(m-n)} \min\{2^{n(j-\nu)q^-}, 1\} \\ \le \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(m-n)} \left(j + \sum_{\nu > j} 2^{n(j-\nu)q^-}\right) \\ \le \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(m-n)} (j+1) \le c. \end{split}$$

We then estimate (II) as follows:

$$(II) \le c \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(h(x)^{q^-} \sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(m-n)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \min\{|\mathcal{Q}|, 1\}^{q^-} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} dx \le c \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}q^-} dx.$$

Since $(p/q)^-q^- > 1$ and $h \in \text{weak}-L^1 \cap L^\infty$, the last expression is bounded. **Theorem (3.1.20) [140]:** Let $p, q \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $1 < p^- \le p^+ < \infty$ and $1 < q^- \le q^+ < \infty$ Then the inequality

$$\left\| \left\| \eta_{\nu,m}(x) * f_{\nu} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{l_{x}^{p(\cdot)}} \le c \left\| \left\| f_{\nu} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{l_{x}^{p(\cdot)}}$$

holds for every sequence $\{f_{\nu}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ of L^1_{loc} -functions and constant m > n.

Proof: Because of the uniform continuity of p and q, we can choose a finite cover $\{\Omega_i\}$ of \mathbb{R}^n with the following properties:

(i) each $\Omega_i \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $1 \le i \le k$, is open;

- (ii) the sets Ω_i cover \mathbb{R}^n , i.e., $\bigcup_i \overline{\Omega_i} = \mathbb{R}^n$;
- (iii) non-contiguous sets are separated in the sense that $d(\Omega_i, \Omega_i) > 0$ if |i j| > 1; and

(iv) we have $(p/q)_{A_i}^- q_{A_i}^- > 1$ for $1 \le i \le k$, where $A_i := \bigcup_{j=i-1}^{i+1} \Omega_i$ (with the understanding that $\Omega_0 = \Omega_{k+1} = \emptyset$.

Let us choose an integer l so that $2^{i} \leq \min_{|i-j|>1} 3 d(\Omega_{i}, \Omega_{i}) < 2^{i+1}$. Since there are only finitely many indices, the third condition implies that such an l exists.

Next we split the problem and work with the domains Ω_i . In each of these we argue as in the previous lemma to conclude that

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \left| \eta_{\nu, \mathrm{m}} * f_{\nu}(x) \right|^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \\ & \le \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Omega_i} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \left| \eta_{\nu, \mathrm{m}} * f_{\nu}(x) \right|^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x \\ & \le c \sum_{i=1}^k \int_{\Omega_i} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j(\mathrm{m}-n)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \left(\mathrm{M}_{\mathcal{Q}} f_{\nu} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

From this we get

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Omega_{i}} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \left| \eta_{\nu,m} * f_{\nu}(x) \right|^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x \le \mathrm{c} \int_{\Omega_{i}} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{j=0}^{\nu+l} 2^{-j(m-n)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu-j}} \chi_{3\mathcal{Q}}(x) \left(\mathrm{M}_{\mathcal{Q}} f_{\nu} \right)^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \mathrm{c} \int_{\Omega_{i}} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{j \ge \nu+l}^{\nu+l} 2^{-j(m-n)} \, \mathrm{M} f_{\nu}(x)^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

The first integral on the right hand side is handled as in the previous proof. This is possible, since the cubes in this integral are always in A_i and $(p/q)_{A_i}^- q_{A_i}^- > 1$. So it remains only to bound

$$\int_{\Omega_i} \left(\sum_{v \ge 0} \sum_{j \ge v+l}^{v+l} 2^{-j(m-n)} \operatorname{M} f_v(x)^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x \le \operatorname{c}_{\Omega_i} \left(\sum_{v \ge 0} 2^{-(m-n)v} \operatorname{M} f_v(x)^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} \mathrm{d}x.$$

For a non-negative sequence x_i we have

$$\left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} 2^{-j(m-n)} x_i\right)^{r} \le \begin{cases} c(r) \sum_{i \ge 0} 2^{-i(m-n)} x_i^{r} & \text{if } r \ge 1\\ \sum_{i \ge 0} 2^{-i(m-n)} x_i^{r} & \text{if } r \le 1. \end{cases}$$

We apply this estimate for $r = \frac{p(x)}{q(x)}$ and conclude that

$$\int_{\Omega_{i}} \left(\sum_{\nu \ge 0} 2^{-j(m-n)\nu} \operatorname{M} f_{\nu}(x)^{q(x)} \right)^{\frac{p(x)}{q(x)}} dx \le c \sum_{\nu \ge 0} 2^{-(m-n)\nu \min\left\{1, \left(\frac{p}{q}\right)^{-}\right\}} \int_{\Omega_{i}} \operatorname{M} f_{\nu}(x)^{q(x)} dx.$$

The boundedness of the maximal operator implies that the integral may be estimated by a constant, since $\int |f_v(x)|^{p(x)} dx \le 1$. We are left with a geometric sum, which certainly converges.

Lemma (3.1.21) [140]: Let α be as in the Standing Assumptions. There exists $d \in (n, \infty)$ such that if m > d, then

$$2^{\nu\alpha(x)}\eta_{\nu,2m}(x-y) \le c2^{\nu\alpha(y)}\eta_{\nu,m}(x-y)$$

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Proof: Choose $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ as small as possible subject to the condition that $|x - y| \le 2^{-\nu+k}$. Then $1 + 2^{\nu}|x - y| \approx 2^k$. We estimate that

$$\frac{\eta_{\nu,2m}(x-y)}{\eta_{\nu,m}(x-y)} \le c(1+2^k)^{-m} \le c2^{-km}.$$

On the other hand, the log-Hölder continuity of α implies that

 $2^{\nu(\alpha(x)-\alpha(y))} \ge 2^{-\nu c_{\log}/\log(e+1/|x-y|)} \ge 2^{-kc_{\log}}|x-y|^{-c_{\log}/\log(e+1/|x-y|)} \ge c2^{-km}.$

The claim follows from these estimates provided we choose $m \ge c_{log}$. **Theorem (3.1.22) [140]:** If p, q and α are as in the Standing Assumptions, then $\|\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f\|_{f_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \le c\|f\|_{F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}.$

Proof: Let $f \in F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$. Then we have the representation

$$f = \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}^+} \langle \varphi_{\mathcal{Q}}, f \rangle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}} = \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}^+} |\mathcal{Q}|^{\frac{1}{2}} \varphi_{\mathcal{v}} * f(x_{\mathcal{Q}}) \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}.$$

Let $r \in (0, \min[p^-, q^-])$ and let m be so large that Lemma (3.1.21) applies, so

$$\begin{split} \|\varphi_{v} * f\|_{f_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} &= \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{x}} \varphi_{v} * f(x_{\mathcal{Q}}) \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{l_{v}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)}} \\ &\leq c \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)r} (\eta_{v,2m} * |\varphi_{v} * f|^{r})^{1/r} \right\|_{l_{v}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)}} \\ &= c \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)r} (\eta_{v,2m} * |\varphi_{v} * f|^{r})^{1/r} \right\|_{l_{v}^{q(x)/r}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)/r}}. \end{split}$$

By Lemma (3.1.21) and Theorem (3.1.20), we further conclude that

$$\begin{split} \|S_{\nu}f\|_{f_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} &\leq c \left\| \left\| \left(\eta_{\nu,m} * 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} |\varphi_{\nu} * f| \right)^{r} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)/r}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)/r}}^{1/r} \leq c \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)r} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^{r} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)/r}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)/r}}^{1/r} \\ &= c \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)}}. \end{split}$$

This proves the theorem.

Lemma (3.1.23) [140]: Let p,q, and α be as in the Standing Assumptions and define functions $J = n/\min\{1, p, q\}$ and $N = J - n - \alpha$ Let Ω be a cube or the complement of a finite collection of cubes and suppose that $\{m_Q\}_Q, Q \subset \Omega$, is a family of $(J^+ - n - \alpha^- + \varepsilon, \alpha^+ + 1 + \varepsilon)$ -smooth molecules, for some $\varepsilon > 0$. Then

$$\|f\|_{F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\Omega)} \le c \left\| \{s_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{f_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\Omega)}, \quad \text{where } f = \sum_{\nu \ge 0} \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu} \\ \mathcal{Q} \subseteq \Omega}} s_{\mathcal{Q}} m_{\mathcal{Q}}$$

and c > 0 is independent of $\{s_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ and $\{m_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}}$.

Theorem (3.1.24) [140]: Let the functions p, q and α be as in the Standing Assumptions. Suppose that $\{m_Q\}_Q$ is a family of smooth molecules for $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$, and that $\{m_Q\}_Q \in f_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$. Then

$$\|f\|_{F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \leq c \left\| \{m_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{f_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}, \text{ where } f = \sum_{\nu \geq 0} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu}} s_{\mathcal{Q}} m_{\mathcal{Q}}.$$

Proof: We will reduce the claim to the previous lemma.

By assumption there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ so that the molecules m_Q are $(N + 4\varepsilon, \alpha + 3\varepsilon)$ smooth. By the uniform continuity of p,q and α , we may choose $\mu_0 \ge 0$ so that $N_Q^- > J_Q^+ - \alpha_Q^- - n + \varepsilon$ and $\alpha_Q^- > \alpha_Q^+ - \varepsilon$ for every dyadic cube Q of level μ_0 . Note that if Q_0 is a dyadic cube of level μ_0 and $Q \subset Q_0$ is another dyadic cube, then

$$N_{\mathcal{Q}}^{-} \geq N_{\mathcal{Q}_{0}}^{-} > J_{\mathcal{Q}_{0}}^{+} - \alpha_{\mathcal{Q}_{0}}^{-} - n - \varepsilon \geq J_{\mathcal{Q}}^{+} - \alpha_{\mathcal{Q}}^{-} - n - \varepsilon,$$

similarly for α . Thus we conclude that m_Q is a $(J_Q^+ - \alpha_Q^- - n + 3\epsilon, \alpha_Q^+ + 1 + 2\epsilon)$ -smooth when Q is of level at most μ_0 .

Since p, q and α have a limit at infinity, we conclude that $N_{\mathbb{R}^n\setminus k}^- > J_{\mathbb{R}^n\setminus k}^+ - \alpha_{\mathbb{R}^n\setminus k}^- - n + -\varepsilon$ and $\alpha_{\mathbb{R}^n\setminus k}^- > \alpha_{\mathbb{R}^n\setminus k}^+ - \varepsilon$ for some compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. We denote by $\Omega_i, i = 1, ..., M$, those dyadic cubes of level μ_0 which intersect K, and define $\Omega_i = \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^M \Omega_i$.

For every integer $i \in [0, M]$ choose $r_i \in (0, \min\{1, p_{\overline{\Omega}_i}, q_{\overline{\Omega}_i}\})$ so that $\frac{n}{r_i} < J_Q^+ + \varepsilon$, and set $k_i = \frac{n}{r_i} - n - \alpha_{\overline{\Omega}_i} + 2\varepsilon$ and $K_i = \alpha_{\Omega_i}^+ + 2\varepsilon$. Then m_Q is a $(k_i, K_i + 1)$ -smooth molecule when Q is of level at most μ_0 . Define $k_i(v, \mu) \coloneqq K_i(v - \mu)_+ + k_i(\mu - v)_+$ and $\widetilde{s_{Q_\mu}} \coloneqq s_{Q_\mu} |Q_\mu|^{-1/2}$. Finally, let $r \in (0, \min\{p^-, q^-\})$.

Note that the constants k_i and K_i have been chosen so that in each set Ω_i we may argue as in the previous lemma. Thus we get

 $\left|\varphi_{\nu} * \mathbf{m}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}}(x)\right| \le c2^{-k(\nu,\mu)} \mathbf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}} \left|\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}\right|^{-1/2} \left(\eta_{\nu,2m} * \eta_{\mu,2m} * \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}}\right)(x).$

From this we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} &\leq c \left\| \|2^{\nu\alpha} \varphi_{\nu} * f\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)}} \\ &\leq \left\| \left\| \sum_{\mu=0}^{\mu-1} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu} \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}} |\widetilde{s_{\mathcal{Q}}}|^{r} 2^{\mu\alpha(x) - k(\nu,\mu)} \eta_{\nu,2m} * \eta_{\mu,2m} * \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)}} \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{M} \left\| \left\| \sum_{\mu \geq \mu_{0}-1} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu} \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}} |\widetilde{s_{\mathcal{Q}}}|^{r} 2^{\mu\alpha(x) - k(\nu,\mu)} \eta_{\nu,2m} * \eta_{\mu,2m} * \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)}(\mathcal{Q}_{i})}. \end{split}$$

By the previous lemma, each term in the last sum is dominated by $\|\{s_Q\}_Q\|_{f_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}$, so we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} &\leq \left\| \left\| \sum_{\mu=0}^{\mu_{0}-1} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu} \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}} \left| \widetilde{s_{\mathcal{Q}}} \right|^{r} 2^{\mu\alpha(x)-k(\nu,\mu)} \eta_{\nu,2m} * \eta_{\mu,2m} * \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p(\cdot)}} \\ &+ c(M+1) \left\| \left\{ s_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{f_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}. \end{split}$$

It remains only to take care of the first term on the right hand side. In the current case we get instead see [311]

 $2^{\mu\alpha(x)r-rk(\nu,\mu)} \left(\eta_{\nu,2mr} * \eta_{\mu,2mr} * \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}}\right)^r \leq c 2^{\mu\alpha(x)r-2\varepsilon|\nu-\mu|+n(1-r)_++(\mu-\nu)_+} \eta_{\nu,2mr} * \eta_{\mu,2mr} * \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}},$ since we have no control of k₂. However, since $\mu \leq \mu_0$ and $\nu \geq 0$, the extra term

satisfies $2^{n(1-r)_{+}+(\mu-\nu)_{+}} \leq 2^{n(1-r)_{+}\mu_{0}}$, so it is just a constant. **Theorem (3.1.25) [140]:** Let the functions p,q and α be as in the Standing Assumptions and let $f \in F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$. Then there exists a family of smooth atoms $\{a_{Q}\}_{Q}$ and a sequence of coefficients $\{t_{Q}\}_{Q}$ such that

$$f = \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}^+} \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} a_{\mathcal{Q}} \text{ in } \mathcal{S}' \text{ and } \left\| \left\{ \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{f_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \approx \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}.$$

Moreover, the atoms can be chosen to satisfy conditions (i) and (ii) in Definition (3.1.4) for arbitrarily high, given order.

Proof: Define constants $K = n/\min\{1, p^-, q^-\} - n + \varepsilon$ and $L = \alpha^+ + 1 + \varepsilon$. We construct (K, L)-smooth atoms $\{a_Q\}_{Q \in D^+}$ (see [106]). Note that we may use the constant indices construction, since the constants K and L give sufficient smoothness at every point. These atoms are also atoms for the space $F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

Let $f \in F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$. With functions as in Definition (3.1.2), we represent f as $f = \sum_{Q \in D^+} t_Q \varphi_Q$, where $t_Q = \langle f, \psi_Q \rangle$. Next, we define

$$(\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{r}}^{*})_{\mathcal{Q}_{\boldsymbol{v}\mathbf{k}}} = \left(\sum_{\mathbf{P}\in\mathcal{D}_{\boldsymbol{v}}} \frac{|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{P}}|^{\mathbf{r}}}{\left(1+2^{\mathbf{v}}|\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathbf{P}}-\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathcal{Q}}|\right)^{\mathbf{m}}}\right)^{1/2}$$

for $Q = Q_{vk}, v \in \mathbb{N}^0$, and $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$. For there numbers $(t_r^*)_Q$ we know that $f = \sum_Q (t_r^*)_Q a_Q$ where $\{a_Q\}_Q$ are atoms (molecules with support in 3Q), by the construction of [106]. Technically, the atoms from the construction of [106] satisfy our inequalities for molecules only up to a constant (independent of the cube and scale).

For $v \in \mathbb{N}_0$ define $T_v := \sum_{Q \in D_v} t_Q \chi_Q$. The definition of t_r^* is a discrete convolution of T_v with $\eta_{v,m}$. Changing to the continuous version, we see that $(t_r^*)_{Q_{vk}} \approx (\eta_{v,M} * (|T_v|^r)(x))^{1/r}$ for $x \in Q_{vk}$. By this point-wise estimate we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{r}}^{*}\|_{f_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} &= \left\| \left\| \left\| \left\{ 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{r}}^{*})_{\mathcal{Q}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\nu} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{\mathbf{q}(x)}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\chi}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}} \\ &\approx \left\| \left\| \left\{ 2^{\nu\alpha(x) + \nu/2} \eta_{\nu,\mathbf{M}} * (|\mathbf{T}_{\nu}|^{\mathbf{r}})(x) \right\}_{\nu} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{\mathbf{q}(x)/r}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\chi}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/r}}. \end{split}$$

Next we use Lemma (3.1.21) and Theorem (3.1.20) to conclude that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\| \left\{ 2^{\nu\alpha(x) + \nu/2} \eta_{\nu, M} * (|\mathbf{T}_{\nu}|^{\mathbf{r}}) \right\}_{\nu} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{\frac{q(x)}{\mathbf{r}}}} \right\|_{L_{\chi}^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{\mathbf{r}}}}^{1/1} \leq c \left\| \left\| \left\{ 2^{\nu\alpha(x) + \nu/2} \mathbf{T}_{\nu} \right\}_{\nu} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{\chi}^{p(\cdot)}} \\ &= \left\| \left\| \left\{ 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\nu} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)}} \right\|_{L_{\chi}^{p(\cdot)}}. \end{split}$$

Since $f = \sum_{Q \in D^+} t_Q \varphi_Q$, Theorem (3.1.22) implies that this is bounded by a constant times $\|f\|_{F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}$.

This completes one direction. The other direction,

$$\|f\|_{F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \le c \left\| \left\{ s_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{f_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}},$$

follows from Theorem (3.1.24), since every family of atoms is in particular a family of molecules.

We consider a general embedding lemma. The local classical scale of Triebel-Lizorkin spaces is increasing in the primary index p and decreasing in the secondary index q. This is a direct consequence of the corresponding properties of L^p and l^q . In the variable exponent setting we have the following global result provided we assume that p stays constant at infinity:

Proposition (3.1.26) [140]: Let p_j, q_j , and α_j be as in the Standing Assumptions, j = 0, 1.

(i) If $p_0 \ge p_1$ and $(p_0)_{\infty} = (p_1)_{\infty}$, then $L^{p_0(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow L^{p_1(\cdot)}$.

(ii) If $\alpha_0 \ge \alpha_1$, $p_0 \ge p_1$, $(p_0)_{\infty} = (p_1)_{\infty}$, and $q_0 \le q_1$, then $F_{p_0(\cdot)q_0(\cdot)}^{\alpha_0(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow F_{p_1(\cdot)q_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}$.

Proof: In Lemma 2.2 of [97] it is shown that $L^{p_0(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow L^{p_1(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. if and only if $p_0 \ge p_1$ almost everywhere and $1 \in L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\frac{1}{r(x)} \coloneqq \frac{1}{p_1(x)} - \frac{1}{p_0(x)}$. Note that $r(x) = \infty$ if $p_1(x) = p_0(x)$. The condition $1 \in L^{r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ means in this context (since r is usually unbounded) that $\lim_{\lambda \ge 0} \operatorname{qr}(\cdot)(\lambda) = 0$, where we use the convention that $\lambda^{r(x)} = 0$ if $r(x) = \infty$ and $\lambda \in (0, 1]$. Due to the assumptions on p_0 and p_1 , we have $\frac{1}{r} \in C^{\log}, \frac{1}{r} \ge 0$, and $\frac{1}{r_{\infty}} = 0$. In particular, $\left|\frac{1}{r(x)}\right| \le \frac{A}{\log(e+|x|)}$ for some A > 0 and all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Thus,

$$\varrho_{\mathbf{r}(\cdot)}(\exp(-2n\mathbf{A})) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \exp\left(\frac{-2n\mathbf{A}}{\left|\frac{1}{|\mathbf{r}(x)|}\right|}\right) \mathrm{d}x \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\mathbf{e} + |x|)^{-2n} \,\mathrm{d}x < \infty.$$

The convexity of $\varrho_{r(\cdot)}$ implies that $\varrho_{r(\cdot)}(\exp(-2nA)) \to 0$ as $\lambda \searrow 0$ and (i) follows.

For (ii) we argue as follows. Since $\alpha_0 \ge \alpha_1$, we have $2^{\nu\alpha_0(x)} \le 2^{\nu\alpha_1(x)}$ for all $\nu \ge 0$ and all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Moreover, $q_0 \le q_1$ implies $\|\cdot\|_{l^{q_1}} \le \|\cdot\|_{l^{q_0}}$ and (i) implies $L^{p_0(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow L^{p_1(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Now, the claim follows immediately from the definitions of the norms of $F_{p_0(\cdot)q_0(\cdot)}^{\alpha_0(\cdot)}$ and $F_{p_1(\cdot)q_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}$.

Now we deal with trace theorems for Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. We write \mathcal{D}^n and \mathcal{D}^n_v for the families of dyadic cubes in \mathcal{D}^+ when we want to emphasize the dimension of the underlying space. The idea of the proof of the main trace theorem is to use the localization afforded by the atomic decomposition, and express a function as a sum of only those atoms with support intersecting the hyperplane $\mathbb{R}^{n-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. In the classical case, this approach is due to Frazier and Jawerth [45].

There have been other approaches to deal with traces and an extension operator using wavelet decomposition instead of atomic decomposition, which utilizes compactly supported Daubechies wavelets, and thus, conveniently gives trace theorems. However, for that one would need to define and establish properties of almost diagonal operators and almost diagonal matrices for the $F_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$, and $f_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$, spaces. The following lemma shows that it does not matter much for the norm if we shift around the mass a bit in the sequence space.

Lemma (3.1.27) [140]: Let p, q and α be as in the Standing Assumptions, $\varepsilon > 0$, and let $\{E_Q\}_Q$ be a collection of sets with $E_Q \subset 3Q$ and $|E_Q| \ge \varepsilon |Q|$ Then

$$\left\|\left\{s_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{f_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \approx \left\|\left\|2^{\nu\alpha(x)}\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{\nu}}\left|s_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\left|\mathcal{Q}\right|^{-\frac{1}{2}}\chi_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{\mathbf{I}_{\nu}^{\mathbf{q}(x)}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{x}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{x}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}}$$

for all $\{s_Q\}_Q \in f_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

Proof: We start by proving the inequality " \leq ". Let $r \in (0, \min\{p^-, q^-\})$. We express the norm as

$$\left\|\left\{\mathbf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{f_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} = \left\|\left\|\mathbf{2}^{\nu\alpha(x)\mathbf{r}}\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}}\left|\mathbf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|^{\mathbf{r}}\left|\mathcal{Q}\right|^{-\frac{\mathbf{r}}{2}}\chi_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{l_{\boldsymbol{\nu}}^{\mathbf{q}(x)}}\right\|_{L_{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/\mathbf{r}}}$$

since the sum has only one non-zero term. We use the estimate $\chi_Q \leq c \eta_{v,m} * \chi_{E_Q}$ for all $Q \in \mathcal{D}_v$. Now Lemma (3.1.21) implies that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\{ \mathbf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{f_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} &= \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)\mathbf{r}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{\nu}} \left| \mathbf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right|^{\mathbf{r}} \left| \mathcal{Q} \right|^{-\frac{\mathbf{r}}{2}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{\mathbf{q}(x)}} \right\|_{L_{\chi}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/\mathbf{r}}}^{1/\mathbf{r}} \\ &\leq \mathbf{c} \left\| \left\| \eta_{\nu} * \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)\mathbf{r}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{\nu}} \left| \mathbf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right|^{\mathbf{r}} \left| \mathcal{Q} \right|^{-\frac{\mathbf{r}}{2}} \chi_{\mathbf{E}_{\mathcal{Q}}} \right) \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{\mathbf{q}(x)/\mathbf{r}}} \right\|_{L_{\chi}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/\mathbf{r}}}^{1/\mathbf{r}} \end{split}$$

Then Theorem (3.1.20) completes the proof of the first direction:

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\{ s_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{f_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} &\leq c \left\| \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)r} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu}} \left| s_{\mathcal{Q}} \right|^{r} \left| \mathcal{Q} \right|^{-\frac{r}{2}} \chi_{E_{\mathcal{Q}}} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)/r}} \right\|_{L_{\chi}^{p(\cdot)/r}} \\ &= c \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\nu}} \left| s_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \left| \mathcal{Q} \right|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \chi_{E_{\mathcal{Q}}} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{q(x)/r}} \right\|_{L_{\chi}^{p(\cdot)/r}} \end{split}$$

1/r

The other direction follows by the same argument, since $\chi_{E_Q} \leq c \eta_v * \chi_Q$.

Next we use the embedding proposition to show that the trace space does not really depend on the secondary index of integration.

Lemma (3.1.28) [140]: Let p_1, p_2, q_1, α_1 and α_2 be as in the Standing Assumptions and let $q_2 \in (0, \infty)$. Assume that $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ and $p_1 = p_2$ in the upper or lower half space, and that $\alpha_1 \ge \alpha_2$ and $p_1 \le p_2$. Then

$$\operatorname{tr} \operatorname{F}_{\operatorname{p}_1(\cdot)\operatorname{q}_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \operatorname{tr} \operatorname{F}_{\operatorname{p}_2(\cdot)\operatorname{q}_2}^{\alpha_2(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Proof: We assume without loss of generality that $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$ and $p_1 = p_2$ in the upper half space. We define $r_0 = \min\{q_2, q_1^-\}$ and $r_1 = \max\{q_2, q_1^+\}$. It follows from Proposition (3.1.26) that

tr
$$F_{p_2(\cdot),r_0}^{\alpha_2(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow \text{tr } F_{p_1(\cdot),q_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_2(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow \text{tr } F_{p_1(\cdot),r_1}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}$$

and

$$\operatorname{tr} F_{p_{2}(\cdot),r_{0}}^{\alpha_{2}(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{tr} F_{p_{2}(\cdot),q_{2}}^{\alpha_{2}(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{tr} F_{p_{1}(\cdot),r_{1}}^{\alpha_{1}(\cdot)}.$$

We complete the proof by showing that $\operatorname{tr} F_{p_1(\cdot),r_1}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{tr} F_{p_2(\cdot),r_0}^{\alpha_2(\cdot)}$. Let $f \in F_{p_1(\cdot),r_1}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}$. According to Theorem (3.1.25) we have the representation

$$f = \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}^+} \mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} a_{\mathcal{Q}} \quad \text{with } \left\| \{\mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{f_{\mathsf{p}_{1}(\cdot),\mathsf{r}_{1}}^{\alpha_{1}(\cdot)}} \le \mathsf{c} \|f\|_{\mathsf{F}_{\mathsf{p}_{1}(\cdot),\mathsf{r}_{1}}^{\alpha_{1}(\cdot)}}$$

where the a_Q are smooth atoms for $F_{p_1(\cdot),r_1}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}$ satisfying (i) and (ii) up to high order. Then they are also smooth atoms for $F_{p_2(\cdot),r_0}^{\alpha_2(\cdot)}$.

Let $A: = \{Q \in D^+ : 3\overline{Q} \cap \{x_n = 0\} \neq \emptyset\}$. If $Q \in A$ is contained in the closed upper half space, then we write $Q \in A^+$, otherwise $Q \in A^-$. We set $\widetilde{t_Q} = t_Q$ when $Q \in A$, and $\widetilde{t_Q} = 0$ otherwise. Then we define $\tilde{f} = \sum_{Q \in D^+} \widetilde{t_Q} \widetilde{a_Q}$. It is clear that tr $f = \text{tr } \tilde{f}$, since all the atoms of f whose support intersects \mathbb{R}^{n-1} are included in \tilde{f} . For $Q \in A^+$, we define

$$\mathbf{E}_{\mathcal{Q}} = \left\{ x \in \mathcal{Q} : \frac{3}{4}\ell(\mathcal{Q}) \le x_n \le \ell(\mathcal{Q}) \right\}$$

for $Q \in A^-$ we define

$$\mathbf{E}_{\mathcal{Q}} = \left\{ (\dot{x}, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n : (\dot{x}, -x_n) \in \mathcal{Q}, \qquad \frac{1}{2}\ell(\mathcal{Q}) \le x_n \le \frac{3}{4}\ell(\mathcal{Q}) \right\}$$

for all other cubes $E_Q = \emptyset$. If $Q \in A$, then $|Q| = 4|E_Q|$; moreover, $\{E_Q\}_Q$ covers each point at most three times.

...

By Theorem (3.1.24) and Lemma (3.1.27) we conclude that

$$\|\widetilde{f}\|_{F_{p_{2}(\cdot),r_{0}}^{\alpha_{2}(\cdot)}} \leq c \left\|\left\{\widetilde{t_{Q}}\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{F_{p_{2}(\cdot),r_{0}}^{\alpha_{2}(\cdot)}} \leq c \left\|\left\|2^{\nu\alpha_{2}(x)}\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{\nu}}\left|t_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\left|\mathcal{Q}\right|^{-\frac{r}{2}}\chi_{E_{\mathcal{Q}}}\right\|_{L_{\nu}^{r_{0}}}\right\|_{L_{\nu}^{p_{2}(\cdot)}}$$

The inner norm consists of at most three non-zero members for each $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Therefore, we can replace r_0 by r_1 . Moreover, each E_Q is supported in the upper half space, where α_2 and α_1 , and p_2 and p_1 agree. Thus,

$$\|\widetilde{f}\|_{F_{p_{2}(\cdot),r_{0}}^{\alpha_{2}(\cdot)}} \leq c \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha_{1}(x)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{\nu}} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{r}{2}} \chi_{E_{\mathcal{Q}}} \right\|_{l_{\nu}^{r_{1}}} \right\|_{L_{x}^{p_{1}(\cdot)}}$$

The right hand side is bounded by $||f||_{F_{p_1(\cdot),r_1}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}}$ according to Theorem (3.1.24) and Lemma (3.1.27) Therefore, tr $F_{p_1(\cdot),r_1}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow$ tr $F_{p_2(\cdot),r_0}^{\alpha_2(\cdot)}$, and the claim follows.

For the next proposition we recall the common notation $F_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} = F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ for the Triebel-Lizorkin space with identical primary and secondary indices of integrability. The next result shows that the trace space depends only on the values of the indices at the boundary, as should be expected.

Proposition (3.1.29) [140]: Let p_1, p_2, q_1, α_1 , and α_2 be as in the Standing Assumptions. Assume that $\alpha_1(x) = \alpha_2(x)$ and $p_1(x) = p_2(x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \{0\}$. Then

$$\operatorname{tr} \operatorname{F}_{\operatorname{p}_{1}(\cdot),\operatorname{q}_{1}(\cdot)}^{\alpha_{1}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \operatorname{tr} \operatorname{F}_{\operatorname{p}_{2}(\cdot)}^{\alpha_{2}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

Proof: By Lemma (3.1.28) we conclude that $\operatorname{tr} F_{p_1(\cdot),q_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)} = \operatorname{tr} F_{p_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}$. Therefore, we can assume that $q_1 = p_1$.

We define $\tilde{\alpha}_j$ to equal α_j on the lower half space and min $\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$ on the upper half space and let $\tilde{\alpha} = \min\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$. Similarly, we define \tilde{p}_j and \tilde{p} . Applying Lemma (3.1.28) four times in the following chain

tr $F_{p_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \text{tr } F_{\widetilde{p}_1(\cdot)}^{\widetilde{\alpha}_1(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \text{tr } F_{\widetilde{p}(\cdot)}^{\widetilde{\alpha}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \text{tr } F_{\widetilde{p}_2(\cdot)}^{\widetilde{\alpha}_2(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \text{tr } F_{p_2(\cdot)}^{\alpha_2(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n),$ gives the result.

Theorem (3.1.30) [140]: Let the functions p,q and α be as in the Standing Assumptions. If

 $\alpha - 1/p - (n-1)(1/p - 1)_+ > 0$, then tr $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = F_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)-1/p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$. **Proof:** By Proposition (3.1.29) it suffices to consider the case q = p with p and α

independent of the *n*-th coordinate for $|x_n| \le 2$. Let $f \in F_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ with $||f||_{F_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \le 1$ and let $f = \sum s_0 a_0$ be an atomic decomposition as in Theorem (3.1.25).

We denote by π the orthogonal projection of \mathbb{R}^n onto \mathbb{R}^{n-1} , and $(\dot{x}, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n = \mathbb{R}^{n-1} \times \mathbb{R}$. For $J \in \mathcal{D}^{n-1}_{\mu}$, a dyadic cube in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} , we define $Q_i(J) \in \mathcal{D}^n_{\mu}$, $i = 1, ..., 6 \cdot 5^{n-1}$, to be all the dyadic cubes satisfying $J \subset 3Q_i$. We define $t_J = |Q_1(J)|^{-\frac{1}{2n}} \sum_i |s_{Q_i(J)}|$ and $h_J(\dot{x}) = t_J^{-1} \sum_i s_{Q_iQ} a_{Q_i}$. By $Q_+(J)$ we denote the cube $Q_i(J)$ which has J as a face (i.e. $J \subset \partial Q_+(J)$). Then we have

$$\operatorname{tr} f(\dot{x}) = \sum_{\mu} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{n-1}} \operatorname{t}_{J} \operatorname{h}_{J}(x')$$

with convergence in S'. The condition $\alpha - 1/p - (n-1)(1/p - 1)_+ > 0$ implies that molecules in $F_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)-1/p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ are not required to satisfy any moment conditions. Therefore, h_J is a family of smooth molecules for this space. Consequently, by Theorem (3.1.24), we find that

$$\left\|\operatorname{tr} f\right\|_{\mathrm{F}_{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)-1/p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \leq c \left\|\left\{\mathrm{t}_{\mathrm{J}}\right\}_{\mathrm{J}}\right\|_{f_{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)-1/p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}.$$

Thus, we conclude the proof by showing that the right hand side is bounded by a constant. Since the norm is bounded if and only if the modular is bounded, we see that it suffices to show that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} \sum_{\mu} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{n-1}} \left(2^{\mu \left(\alpha(x',0) - \frac{1}{p(x',0)} \right)} |t_{J}| |J|^{-1/2} \chi_{J}(x',0) \right) dx' \\ &= \sum_{\mu} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{n-1}} 2^{-\mu} \int_{J} \left(2^{\mu \alpha(x',0)} |t_{J}| |J|^{-1/2} \right)^{p(\hat{x},0)} dx' \end{split}$$

is bounded. For the integral we calculate

$$2^{-\mu} \int_{J} \left(2^{\mu\alpha(x',0)} |\mathbf{t}_{J}| |J|^{-1/2} \right)^{p(x',0)} dx' = 2^{-\mu} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{+}(J)} \left(2^{\mu\alpha(x,0)} |\mathbf{t}_{J}| |J|^{-1/2} \right)^{p(x',0)} d(x',x_{n})$$

$$\leq c \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{+}(J)} \left(2^{\mu\alpha(x)} \sum_{i} |\mathcal{Q}_{i}| |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{1}{2n} - \frac{n-1}{2n}} \right)^{p(x)} dx$$

$$= c \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{+}(J)} \left(2^{\mu\alpha(x)} \sum_{i} |\mathbf{s}_{\mathcal{Q}_{i}}| |\mathcal{Q}|^{-1/2} \right)^{p(x)} dx$$

Hence, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mu} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{n-1}} 2^{-\mu} \int_{J} \left(2^{\mu \alpha(x',0)} |\mathbf{t}_{J}| |J|^{-1/2} \right)^{p(x',0)} dx' \\ & \leq c \sum_{\mu} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{n}} 2^{-\mu} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} \left(2^{\mu \alpha(x)} \sum_{i} |s_{\mathcal{Q}_{i}}| |\mathcal{Q}|^{-1/2} \right)^{p(x)} dx \\ & \leq c \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\nu} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{\mu}^{n}} \left(2^{\nu \alpha(x)} |s_{\mathcal{Q}}| |\mathcal{Q}|^{-1/2} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right)^{p(x)} dx \end{split}$$

Where were again swapped the integral and the sums. Since $||f||_{F_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \leq 1$, the right hand side quantity is bounded, and we are done.

Section (3.2): Besov Spaces

Spaces of variable integrability, also known as variable exponent function spaces, can be traced back to 1931 and W. Orlicz [124], but the modern development started with [113] of Kováčik and Rákosník in 1991. Corresponding PDE with non-standard growth have been studied since the same time. For an overview we refer to the surveys [101, 128, 132, 148] and the monograph [145]. Apart from interesting theoretical considerations, the motivation to study such function spaces comes from applications to fluid dynamics [86, 130, 141], image processing [94], PDE and the calculus of variation [87, 103, 111, 147, 151, 155, 159].

We complete the picture of the variable exponent Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces, Almeida and Samko [88] and Gurka, Harjulehto and Nekvinda [109] introduced variable exponent Bessel potential spaces $\mathcal{L}^{\alpha p(\cdot)}$ with constant $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. As in the classical case, this space coincides with the Lebesgue-Sobolev space for integer α . There was taken a step further by Xu [137, 138, 159], who considered Besov $B^{\alpha}_{p(\cdot),q}$ and Triebel-Lizorkin $F^{\alpha}_{p(\cdot),q}$ spaces with variable p, but fixed q and α .

Along a different line of inquiry, Leopold [117, 119, 120] studied pseudodifferential operators with symbols of the type $\langle \xi^{m(x)} \rangle$, and defined related function spaces of Besov-type with variable smoothness, $B_{p,p}^{m(\cdot)}$. Beauzamy [144] had studied similar ψ DEs already in the beginning of the 70s. Function spaces of variable smoothness have recently been studied by Besov [90, 91, 92]: he generalized Leopold's work by considering both Triebel-Lizorkin spaces $F_{p(\cdot),q}^{\alpha}$ and Besov spaces $B_{p(\cdot),q}^{\alpha}$ in \mathbb{R}^{n} . By way of application, Schneider and Schwab [135] used $B_{2,2}^{m(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R})$ in the analysis of certain Black-Scholes equations. For further considerations of ψ DEs, see Hoh [149].

Integrating the above mentioned spaces into a single larger scale promises similar gains and simplifications as were seen in the constant exponent case in the 60s and 70s with the advent of the full Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin scales. Most of the advantages of

unification do not occur with only one index variable: for instance, traces or Sobolev embeddings cannot be covered in this case, since they involve an interaction between integrability and smoothness. To tackle this, Diening, Hästö and Roudenko [140] introduced Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with all three indices variable, $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and showed that they behaved nicely with respect to trace. Subsequently, Vybíral [157] proved Sobolev (Jawerth) type embeddings in these spaces; they were also studied by Kempka [150]. These studies were all restricted to bounded exponents p and q.

Vybíral [157] and Kempka [150] also considered Besov spaces $B_{p(\cdot),q}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ note that only the case of constant q was included. This is quite natural, since the norm in the Besov space is usually defined via the iterated space $\ell^q(L^p)$ so that the space integration in L^p is done first, followed by the sum over frequency scales in ℓ^q . Therefore, it is not obvious how q could depend on x, which has already been integrated out. It is the purpose to propose a method making this dependence possible and thus completing the unification process in the variable integrability-smoothness case by introducing the Besov space $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ with all three indices variable.

The space includes the previously mentioned spaces of Besov-type, as well as the Hölder-Zygmund space $C^{\alpha(\cdot)}$. As in the constant exponent case, it is possible to consider unbounded exponents p and q in the Besov space case, while for the Triebel-Lizorkin space one needs p to be bounded. Another advantage of the Besov space for constant exponent is its simplicity compared to the Triebel-Lizorkin space. This is not true for the generalization with variable q. We will see that working in the Besov space is relatively simple once some basic tools have been established for dealing in the "iterated" space $\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})$.

We then define the Besov space $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and give several basic properties establishing the soundness of our definition. We show elementary embeddings between Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, as well as Sobolev embeddings in the Besov scale. We show that our scale includes the variable order Hölder-Zygmund space as a special case: $B_{\infty,\infty}^{\alpha(\cdot)} = C^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ for $0 < \alpha < 1$. We give an alternative characterization of the Besov space by means of approximations by analytic functions.

So far, complex interpolation has been considered in the variable exponent in [101, 145]. Real interpolation, however, is more difficult in this setting. We have, for constant exponents,

$$(L^{p_0}, L^{p_1})_{\theta,q} = L^{p_{\theta},q}$$

where $1/p_{\theta} \coloneqq \theta/p_0 + (1 - \theta)/p_1$ and $L^{p_{\theta},q}$ is the Lorenz space. To obtain interpolation of Lebesgue spaces one simply chooses $q = p_{\theta}$. It seems that there are no major difficulties in letting p_0 and p_1 be variable here, i.e.

$$\left(L^{p_{0}(\cdot)},L^{p_{1}(\cdot)}\right)_{\theta,q}=L^{p_{\theta}(\cdot),q}$$

where p_{θ} is defined point-wise by the same formula as before. However, this time we do not obtain an interpolation result in Lebesgue spaces, since we cannot set the constant q equal to the function p_{θ} . In fact, the role of q in the real interpolation method is quite similar to the role of q in the Besov space $B_{p,q}^{\alpha}$. Therefore, we hope that the approach introduced for Besov spaces with variable q will also allow us to generalize real interpolation properly to the variable exponent context. Another interesting challenge is to extend extrapolation [95] to the setting of Besov spaces. The expression $f \approx g$ means that $\frac{1}{c}g \leq f \leq cg$ for some suitably independent constant c. By χ_A we denote the characteristic function of $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. By supp *f* we denote the support of the function *f*, i.e. the closure of its zero set. The notation $X \hookrightarrow Y$ denotes continuous embeddings from X to Y.

The spaces studied fit into the framework of so-called semimodular spaces. For an exposition of these concepts see [145, 151]. We recall the following definition:

Definition (3.2.1) [160]: Let X be a vector space over \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{C} . A function $\varrho : X \to [0, \infty]$ is called a semimodular on X if the following properties hold:

(i)
$$\varrho(0) = 0$$
.

(ii) $\varrho(\lambda f) = \varrho(f)$ for all $f \in X$ and $|\lambda| = 1$.

(iii) $\varrho(\lambda f) = 0$ for all $|\lambda| > 1$ implies f = 0.

(iv) $\lambda \mapsto \varrho(\lambda f)$ is left-continuous on $[0, \infty)$ for every $f \in X$.

A semimodular q is called a modular if

 $(\mathbf{v}) \mathbf{\varrho}(f) = 0$ implies f = 0.

A semimodular ϱ is called continuous if

(vi) For every $f \in X$ the mapping $\lambda \mapsto \varrho(\lambda f)$ is continuous on $[0, \infty)$.

A semimodular ϱ can be additionally qualified by the term (quasi)convex. This means, as usual, that

 $\varrho(\theta f + (1 - \theta)g) \le A[\theta \varrho(f) + (1 - \theta)\varrho(g)]$

for all $f, g \in X$; here A = 1 in the convex case, and $A \in [1, \infty)$ in the quasiconvex case. We obtain a normed space in a standard way:

Definition (3.2.2) [160]: If ϱ is a (semi)modular on X, then

 $X_{\varrho} \coloneqq \{x \in X : \exists \lambda > 0, \varrho(\lambda x) < \infty \}$

is called a (semi)modular space.

Theorem (3.2.3) [160]: Let ϱ be a (quasi)convex semimodular on X. Then X_{ϱ} is a (quasi)normed space with the Luxemburg (quasi)norm given by

$$\|x\|_{\varrho} \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \lambda > 0 : \varrho\left(\frac{1}{\lambda}x\right) \le 1 \right\}.$$

For simplicity we will refer to semimodulars as modulars except when special clarity is needed; similarly, we later drop the word "quasi".

For dealing with the somewhat complicated definition of a norm is the following relationship which follows from the definition and left-continuity: $\varrho(f) \le 1$ if and only if $||f||_{\rho} \le 1$.

The variable exponents that we consider are always measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n with range $(c, \infty]$ for some c > 0. We denote the set of such functions by \mathcal{P}_0 . The subset of variable exponents with range $[1, \infty]$ is denoted by \mathcal{P} . For $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $p \in \mathcal{P}_0$ we denote $p_A^+ = \text{ess sup } p(x)$ and $p_A^- = \text{ess inf } p(x)$; we abbreviate $p^+ = p_{\mathbb{R}^n}^+$ and $p^- = p_{\mathbb{R}^n}^-$.

The function ϕ_p is defined as follows:

$$\phi_p(t) = \begin{cases} t^p & \text{ if } p \in (0,\infty), \\ 0 & \text{ if } p = \infty \text{ and } t \leq 1, \\ \infty & \text{ if } p = \infty \text{ and } t > 1. \end{cases}$$

The convention $1^{\infty} = 0$ is adopted in order that φ_p be left-continuous. In what follows we write t^p instead of $\varphi_p(t)$, with this convention implied. The variable exponent modular is defined by

$$\varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(f) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_{\mathbf{p}}(|f(x)|) \mathrm{d}x.$$

The variable exponent Lebesgue space $L^{p(\cdot)}$ and its norm $||f||_{p(\cdot)}$ are defined by the modular as explained. The variable exponent Sobolev space $W^{k,p(\cdot)}$ is the subspace of $L^{p(\cdot)}$ consisting of functions f whose distributional k-th order derivative exists and satisfies $|D^k f| \in L^{p(\cdot)}$ with norm

$$||f||_{W^{k,p(\cdot)}} = ||f||_{p(\cdot)} + ||D^k f||_{p(\cdot)}.$$

We say that $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is locally log-Hölder continuous, abbreviated $g \in C_{loc}^{log}$, if there exists $c_{log} > 0$ such that

$$|g(x) - g(y)| \le \frac{c_{\log}}{\log(e + 1/|x - y|)}$$

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. We say that g is globally log-Hölder continuous, abbreviated $g \in C^{\log}$, if it is locally log-Hölder continuous and there exists $g_{\infty} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that

$$|\mathbf{g}(x) - \mathbf{g}_{\infty}| \le \frac{c_{\log}}{\log(\mathbf{e} + |x|)}$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. The notation \mathcal{P}^{\log} is used for those variable exponents $p \in \mathcal{P}$ with $\frac{1}{p} \in C^{\log}$. The class \mathcal{P}_0^{\log} is defined analogously. If $p \in \mathcal{P}^{\log}$, then convolution with a radially decreasing L¹-function is bounded on L^{p(·)}:

 $\|\boldsymbol{\varphi} \ast f\|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} \leq \mathbf{c} \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_1 \|f\|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}.$

Now we introduce a generalization of the iterated function space $\ell^q(L^{p(\cdot)})$ for the case of variable q, which allows us to define Besov spaces with variable q. We give a general but quite strange looking definition for the mixed Lebesgue-sequence space modular. This is not strictly an iterated function space indeed, it cannot be, since then there would be no space variable left in the outer function space. To motivate our definition, we show that it has several sensible properties and that it concurs with the iterated space when q is constant (Proposition (3.2.5)). Then we show that our modular in fact is a semimodular in the sense defined and conclude that it defines a normed space.

Definition (3.2.4) [160]: Let $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0$. The mixed Lebesgue-sequence space $\ell^q(L^{p(\cdot)})$ is defined on sequences of $L^{p(\cdot)}$ -functions by the modular

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q}(L^{p(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) \coloneqq \sum_{\nu} \inf \left\{ \lambda_{\nu} > 0 \, \Big| \varrho_{\ell^{q}(L^{p(\cdot)})}\left(f_{\nu}/\lambda_{\nu}^{1/q(\cdot)}\right) \leq 1 \right\}.$$

Here we use the convention $\lambda^{1/\infty} = 1$. The norm is defined from this as usual:

$$\|(f_{\nu})_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{q}(L^{p(\cdot)})} \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \mu > 0 \left| \varrho_{\ell^{q}(L^{p(\cdot)})} \left(\frac{1}{\mu} (f_{\nu})_{\nu} \right) \le 1 \right\}.$$

If $q^+ < \infty$, then

$$\inf\{\lambda > 0 | \varrho_{p(\cdot)}(f/\lambda^{1/q(\cdot)}) \le 1\} = \left\| |f|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}$$

Since the right-hand side expression is much simpler, we use this notation to stand for the left-hand side even when $q^+ = \infty$. We often use the notation

$$\varrho_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) = \sum_{\nu} \left\| |f_{\nu}|^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}$$

for the modular.

Proposition (3.2.5) [160]: If $q \in (0, \infty)$ is constant, then $\|(f)\| = c_0 = \|\|f\|$

$$\|(f_{v})_{v}\|_{\ell^{q}(L^{p(\cdot)})} = \|\|f_{v}\|_{p(\cdot)}\|_{\ell^{q}}.$$

Proof: Suppose first that $q \in (0, \infty)$. Since q is constant,

$$|||f_{v}|^{q}||_{p(\cdot)/q} = ||f_{v}||_{p(\cdot)}^{q}$$

and thus

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q}(L^{p(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) = \sum_{\nu} ||f_{\nu}||_{p(\cdot)}^{q} = |||f_{\nu}||_{p(\cdot)}||_{\ell^{q}}^{q}$$

from which the claim follows.

In the case $q = \infty$, we find

$$\varrho_{\ell^{\infty}(L^{p(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) = \sum_{\nu} \inf\{\lambda_{\nu} > 0 | \varrho_{p(\cdot)}(f_{\nu}/\lambda_{\nu}^{0}) \leq 1\}.$$

Here the infimum is zero, unless at least one of the sets over which it is taken is empty, in which case it is infinite. Therefore, the inequality in the definition of the norm,

$$\|(f_{\nu})_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{\infty}(L^{p(\cdot)})} = \inf\left\{\mu > 0 \left| \varrho_{\ell^{\infty}(L^{p(\cdot)})}\left(\frac{(f_{\nu})_{\nu}}{\mu}\right) \le 1\right\}$$

holds if and only if μ is such that $\varrho_{p(\cdot)}(f_{\nu}/\mu) \leq 1$ for every ν , which means that $\inf \mu = \sup\{\|f_{\nu}\|_{p(\cdot)}\} = \|\|f_{\nu}\|_{p(\cdot)}\|_{\ell^{\infty}}.$

Proposition (3.2.6) [160]: Let $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0$. Then $\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$ is a semimodular. Additionally,

(i) it is a modular if $p^+ < \infty$; and

(ii) it is continuous if p^+ , $q^+ < \infty$.

Proof: We need to check properties (i)-(iv) of Definition (3.2.1) and properties (v)-(vi) under the appropriate additional assumptions. Properties (i) and (ii) are clear. To prove (iii), we suppose that

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}(\lambda(f_{\nu})_{\nu}) = 0$$

for all $\lambda > 0$. Clearly, $\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}(0, \dots, 0, \lambda f_{\nu_0}, 0 \dots) \le \varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}(\lambda(f_{\nu})_{\nu}) = 0$. Thus $\|f_{\nu_0}\|_{p(\cdot)} = 0$ see [323], and so f = 0. If p is bounded, then the same argument implies (v).

To prove the left-continuity we start by noting that $\mu \mapsto \varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}(\mu(f_{\nu})_{\nu})$ in nondecreasing. By relabeling the function if necessary, we see that it suffices to show that $\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}(\mu(f_{\nu})_{\nu}) \nearrow \varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu})$

 $\mu \nearrow 1$. We assume that

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) < \infty$$

the other case is similar. We fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and choose N > 0 such that

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) - \varepsilon < \sum_{\nu=0}^{N} \inf \left\{ \lambda_{\nu} > 0 \left| \varrho_{p(\cdot)}\left(f_{\nu}/\lambda_{\nu}^{1/q(\cdot)}\right) \le 1 \right\}.$$

By the left-continuity of $\mu \mapsto \varrho_{p(\cdot)}(\mu f)$, we then choose $\mu^* < 1$ such that

$$\sum_{\nu=0}^{N} \inf \left\{ \lambda_{\nu} > 0 \left| \varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} \left(f_{\nu} / \lambda_{\nu}^{1/\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \right) \le 1 \right\} - \varepsilon < \sum_{\nu=0}^{N} \inf \left\{ \lambda_{\nu} > 0 \left| \varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} \left(\mu f_{\nu} / \lambda_{\nu}^{1/\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \right) \le 1 \right\}$$

for all $\mu \in (\mu^*, 1)$. Then $\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) < \varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}(\mu(f_{\nu})_{\nu}) + 2\varepsilon$ in the same range, which proves (iv). When $q^+ < \infty$, a similar argument reduces (vi) to the continuity of $\varrho_{p(\cdot)}$, which holds when $p^+ < \infty$.

We would have shown that the modular is quasiconvex as part of the previous theorem. Then Theorem (3.2.3) would immediately imply that the modular in $\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})$ defines a quasinorm. Unfortunately, we do not know whether the modular is quasiconvex when $q^+ = \infty$. Therefore, we prove the quasiconvexity of the norm directly; we do this in two steps, beginning with the true convexity. Notice that our assumption when q is non-constant is not as expected. We also do not know if it is necessary.

Theorem (3.2.7) [160]: Let $p, q \in \mathcal{P}$. If either $1/p + 1/q \le 1$ point-wise, or q is a constant, then $\|\cdot\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$ is a norm.

Proof: Theorem (3.2.3) implies all the other claims, except the convexity. If $p \in \mathcal{P}$ and $q \in [1, \infty]$ is a constant, then by Proposition (3.2.3), the convexity follows directly from the convexity of the modulars in ℓ^q and $L^{p(\cdot)}$.

Thus it remains only to consider $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} \le 1$ and to show that

 $\|(f_{\nu})_{\nu} + (g_{\nu})_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} \leq \|(f_{\nu})_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} + \|(g_{\nu})_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}.$

Let $\lambda > \|(f_{\nu})_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$ and $\mu > \|(g_{\nu})_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$. Then the claim follows from left-continuity if we show that

$$\left\|\frac{(f_{v})_{v} + (g_{v})_{v}}{\lambda + \mu}\right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} \leq 1.$$

Moving to the modular, we get the equivalent condition

$$\sum_{v} \left\| \left\| \frac{f_v + g_v}{\lambda + \mu} \right\|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \le 1$$

with our usual convention regarding the case p/q = 0. Since

$$\sum_{v} \left\| \left\| \frac{f_{v}}{\lambda} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1 \text{ and } \sum_{v} \left\| \left\| \frac{g_{v}}{\mu} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1$$

the claim follows provided we show that

$$\left\| \left\| \frac{f_{\nu} + g_{\nu}}{\lambda + \mu} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \leq \frac{\lambda}{\lambda + \mu} \left\| \left\| \frac{f_{\nu}}{\lambda} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} + \frac{\mu}{\lambda + \mu} \left\| \left\| \frac{g_{\nu}}{\mu} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}$$

for every v. Fix now one v. Denote the norms on the right-hand side of the previous inequality by σ and τ . Then what we need to show reads

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \frac{f_v + g_v}{\lambda + \mu} \right|^{p(x)} \left(\frac{\lambda \sigma + \mu \tau}{\lambda + \mu} \right)^{-p(x)/q(x)} dx \le 1.$$
(5)

We use Hölder's inequality (with two-point atomic measure and weights (λ, μ)) as follows: $|f_{\nu}| + |g_{\nu}| = \lambda \sigma^{1/q(x)} \frac{|f_{\nu}|/\lambda}{-1/q(x)} + \mu \tau^{1/q(x)} \frac{|g_{\nu}|/\mu}{-1/q(x)}$

$$\leq (\lambda + \mu)^{1 - 1/p(x) - 1/q(x)} (\lambda \sigma + \mu \tau)^{1/q(x)} \left(\lambda \left(\frac{|f_{\nu}|/\lambda}{\sigma^{1/q(x)}} \right)^{p(x)} + \mu \left(\frac{|g_{\nu}|/\mu}{\tau^{1/q(x)}} \right)^{p(x)} \right)^{1/p(x)}.$$

With this, we obtain

$$\left|\frac{f_{\nu} + g_{\nu}}{\lambda + \mu}\right|^{p(x)} \left(\frac{\lambda\sigma + \mu\tau}{\lambda + \mu}\right)^{-p(x)/q(x)} \le \frac{\lambda}{\lambda + \mu} \left(\frac{|f_{\nu}|/\lambda}{\sigma^{1/q(x)}}\right)^{p(x)} + \frac{\mu}{\lambda + \mu} \left(\frac{|g_{\nu}|/\mu}{\tau^{1/q(x)}}\right)^{p(x)}$$

Integrating the inequality over \mathbb{R}^n and taking into account that σ is the norm of f_v/λ and τ the norm of g_v/μ gives us (5), which completes the proof.

Theorem (3.2.8) [160]: If $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0$, then $\|\cdot\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$ is a quasinorm on $\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})$.

Proof: By Theorem (3.2.3), we only need to cosinder quasiconvexity. Let $r \in (0, \frac{1}{2}\min\{p^-, q^-, 2\}]$ and define $\tilde{p} = p/r$ and $\tilde{q} = q/r$. Then clearly $1/p + 1/q \le 1$. Thus we obtain by the previous theorem that

$$\begin{split} \|(f_{v})_{v} + (g_{v})_{v}\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} &= \|\|(f_{v})_{v} + (g_{v})_{v}\|^{\frac{1}{r}}_{\ell^{\tilde{q}(\cdot)}(L^{\tilde{p}(\cdot)})} \leq \|(|f_{v}|^{r})_{v} + (|g_{v}|^{r})_{v}\|^{\frac{1}{r}}_{\ell^{\tilde{q}(\cdot)}(L^{\tilde{p}(\cdot)})} \\ &\leq \left(\|(|f_{v}|^{r})_{v}\|_{\ell^{\tilde{q}(\cdot)}(L^{\tilde{p}(\cdot)})} + \|(|g_{v}|^{r})_{v}\|_{\ell^{\tilde{q}(\cdot)}(L^{\tilde{p}(\cdot)})}\right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \\ &= \left(\|(f_{v})_{v}\|^{r}_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} + \|(g_{v})_{v}\|^{r}_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}\right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \\ &\leq 2^{\frac{1}{r}-1}\left(\|(f_{v})_{v}\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} + \|(g_{v})_{v}\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}\right). \end{split}$$

This completes the proof.

The condition p, q ≥ 1 is not sufficient to guarantee that the modular $\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$ be convex! Although it is not true that the modular $\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$ is never convex when q is non-constant (see, [160]).

Since q is constant when f is non-zero, we conclude by Proposition (3.2.5) that $\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^p)}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) = \varrho_{\ell^{q_1}(L^p(\mathcal{Q}_1))}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) = \|a^{1/q_1}\chi_{\mathcal{Q}_1}\|_p^{q_1} = a.$

Similarly, $\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^p)}((g_v)_v) = b$. Then we consider the modular of $\frac{1}{2}(f+g)$:

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p})}\left(\frac{1}{2}(f_{\nu}+g_{\nu})_{\nu}\right) = \inf\left\{\lambda > 0 \left|\varrho_{p}\left(\frac{1}{2}(f+g)/\lambda^{\frac{1}{q(\cdot)}}\right) \le 1\right\}\right\}$$

The condition in the infimum translates to

$$1 \ge \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\frac{f+g}{2\lambda^{1/q(x)}}\right)^p \mathrm{d}x = \frac{1}{2^p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\frac{a}{\lambda}\right)^{\frac{p}{q_1}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_1} + \left(\frac{b}{\lambda}\right)^{\frac{p}{q_2}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_2} \mathrm{d}x = \frac{1}{2^p} \left(\frac{a}{\lambda}\right)^{\frac{p}{q_1}} + \frac{1}{2^p} \left(\frac{b}{\lambda}\right)^{\frac{p}{q_2}}.$$

Since the right hand side is continuous and decreasing in λ , we see that there exists a unique $\lambda_0 > 0$ for which equality holds. This number is the value of the modular of $\frac{1}{2}(f + g)$. Therefore the convexity inequality for the modular,

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p})}\left(\frac{1}{2}(f_{\nu}+g_{\nu})_{\nu}\right) \leq \frac{1}{2} \left[\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) + \varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p})}((g_{\nu})_{\nu})\right],$$

can be written as

$$\lambda_0 \leq \frac{a+b}{2}$$
 where $\left(\frac{a}{\lambda_0}\right)^{\frac{p}{q_1}} + \left(\frac{b}{\lambda_0}\right)^{\frac{p}{q_2}} = 2^p$

Let us denote $x \coloneqq a/\lambda_0$ and $y \coloneqq b/\lambda_0$. Then the convexity condition becomes

$$2 \le x + y$$
 when $x^{\frac{p}{q_1}} + y^{\frac{p}{q_2}} = 2^p$.

By monotonicity, we may reformulate this as follows:

$$x^{\frac{p}{q_1}} + y^{\frac{p}{q_2}} \le 2^p \text{ when } 2 = x + y.$$
(6)

Thus we need to look for the maximum of $x^{\overline{q_1}} + (2 - x)^{\overline{q_2}}$ on [0, 2].

Suppose first that p = 1. Then (6) holds with equality at x = y = 1, but this is not a maximum if $q_1 \neq q_2$. Thus we see that the inequality $x^{1/q_1} + y^{1/q_2} \leq 2$ does not hold in this case, which means that the modular is non-convex for arbitrarily small $|q_1 - q_2|$.

On the other hand, fix p > 1 and choose $q_1 = 0$. Then we can choose $x \in (0, 2)$ so large that $2^p - x^{p/q_1} = 1/2$. Since y = 2 - x > 0, we can choose q_1 so large that $y^{p/q_2} = 1/2$. Thus we see that there exists q_1 and q_2 for every p such that (6) does not hold.

We use a Fourier approach to the Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin space. For this we need some general definitions, well-known from the constant exponent case.

Definition (3.2.9) [160]: We say a pair
$$(\varphi, \Phi)$$
 is admissible if $\varphi, \Phi \in S$ satisfy
(i) supp $\widehat{\varphi} \subseteq \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{1}{2} \le |\xi| \le 2 \right\}$ and $|\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| \ge c > 0$ when $\frac{3}{5} \le |\xi| \le \frac{5}{3}$,

(ii) supp $\widehat{\Phi} \subseteq \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| \le 2\}$ and $|\widehat{\Phi}(\xi)| \ge c > 0$ when $|\xi| \le \frac{5}{2}$. We set $\varphi_{v}(x) \coloneqq 2^{vn} \varphi(2^{v}x)$ for $v \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\varphi_{0}(x) \coloneqq \Phi(x)$.

We always denote by φ_{ν} and ψ_{ν} admissible functions in the sense of the previous definition. Usually, the Besov space is defined using the functions φ_v ; when this is not the case, it will be explicitly marked, e.g. $\left\|\cdot\right\|_{{}_{R}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}^{\psi}$

Using the admissible functions (ϕ, Φ) we can define the norms

 $\|f\|_{\mathrm{F}^{\alpha}_{p,q}} \coloneqq \|\|2^{\nu\alpha}\varphi_{\nu}*f\|_{\ell^{q}}\|_{p} \quad \text{and} \quad \|f\|_{\mathrm{B}^{\alpha}_{p,q}} \coloneqq \|\|2^{\nu\alpha}\varphi_{\nu}*f\|_{p}\|_{\ell^{q}},$ for constants $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ and $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ (excluding $p = \infty$ for the F-scale). The Triebel-Lizorkin space $F_{p,q}^{\alpha}$ and the Besov space $B_{p,q}^{\alpha}$ consist of all distributions $f \in S'$ for which $\|f\|_{F_{p,q}^{\alpha}} < \infty$ and $\|f\|_{B_{p,q}^{\alpha}} < \infty$, respectively. It is well-known that these spaces do not depend on the choice of the initial system (ϕ , Φ) (up to equivalence of quasinorms). Further details on the classical theory of these spaces can be found in Triebel [40, 41]; see also [136].

Definition (3.2.10) [160]: Let φ_v be as in Definition (3.2.9). For $\alpha : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ and $p, q \in$ \mathcal{P}_0 , the Besov space $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ consists of all distributions $f \in \mathcal{S}'$ such that

$$\|f\|_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}}^{\varphi} \coloneqq \left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} < \infty.$$

In the case of p = q we use the notation $B_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \coloneqq B_{p(\cdot),p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$. To the Besov space we can also associate the following modular:

$$\varrho^{\varphi}_{\mathsf{B}^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}}(f) \coloneqq \varrho_{\ell^{\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}(\cdot)})}\left(\left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}\varphi_{\nu}*f\right)_{\nu}\right),$$

which can be used to define the norm. By Proposition (3.2.5) we directly obtain the following simplification in the case when q is constant:

Corollary (3.2.11) [160]: If q is a constant, then

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{B}^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{\mathrm{p}(\cdot),\mathrm{q}}}^{\varphi} \coloneqq \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right\|_{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathrm{q}}}.$$

An important special case of the Besov space is when p = q. In this case we show that the Besov space agrees with the corresponding Triebel-Lizorkin space studied in [140]. This space is defined via the norm

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}}^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}(\cdot)}}^{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} \coloneqq \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\boldsymbol{\alpha}(\cdot)}\boldsymbol{\varphi}_{\nu} * f \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}} \right\|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}.$$

Notice that there is no difficulty with q depending on the space variable x here, since the $\ell^{q(\cdot)}$ -norm is inside the $L^{p(\cdot)}$ -norm.

Proposition (3.2.12) [160]: Let $p \in \mathcal{P}_0$ and $\alpha \in L^{\infty}$. Then $B_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} = F_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$. **Proof:** The claim follows from the following calculation:

$$\begin{aligned} \varrho_{\mathsf{B}_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}^{\varphi}(f) &= \sum_{\nu} \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right\|^{p(\cdot)} \right\|_{1} = \sum_{\nu} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \varphi_{\nu} * f(x) \right|^{p(x)} \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\nu} \left| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \varphi_{\nu} * f(x) \right|^{p(x)} \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left\| 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \varphi_{\nu} * f(x) \right\|_{\ell^{q(x)}}^{p(x)} \mathrm{d}x = \varrho_{\mathsf{F}_{p(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}^{\varphi}(f). \end{aligned}$$

So far we have not considered whether the space given by Definition (3.2.10) depends on the choice of (ϕ, Φ) . Therefore, the previous result has to be understood in the sense that the Besov space defined from a certain (ϕ, Φ) equals the Triebel-Lizorkin space defined by the same φ . This is not entirely satisfactory. In [140] it was shown that the Triebel-Lizorkin space is independent of the basic functions, essentially assuming that

p, q, $\alpha \in \mathcal{P}_0^{\log} \cap L^{\infty}$. We prove now a corresponding result for the Besov space, but with more general assumptions; namely we allow p, q $\in \mathcal{P}_0^{\log}$ to be unbounded, and assume of $\alpha \in L^{\infty}$ only local log-Hölder continuity.

Theorem (3.2.13) [160]: Let $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0^{\log}$ and $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{\log} \cap L^{\infty}$. Then the space $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ does not depend on the admissible basis functions φ_v , i.e. different functions yield equivalent quasinorms.

Proof: Let (ϕ, Φ) and (ψ, Ψ) be two pairs of admissible functions. By symmetry, it suffices to prove that

$$\|f\|_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}}^{\varphi} \leq c\|f\|_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}}^{\psi}$$

Define $K \coloneqq \{-1, 0, 1\}$. Following classical lines, and using that $\widehat{\varphi}_{\nu}\widehat{\psi}_{\mu} = 0$ when $|\mu - \nu| > 1$, we have

$$\varphi_{\nu} * f = \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{K}} \varphi_{\nu} * \psi_{\nu+\mathbf{k}} * f.$$

Fix $r \in (0, \min\{1, p^-\})$ and m > n large. Since $|\varphi_v| \le c \eta_{v, 2m/r}$, with c > 0 independent of v, we obtain

 $|\varphi_{v} * \psi_{v+k} * f| \le c \eta_{v,2m/r} * |\psi_{v+k} * f| \le c \eta_{v,2m/r} * (\eta_{v+k,2m} * |\psi_{v+k} * f|^{r})^{1/r},$

where in the second inequality we used the r-trick. By Minkowski's integral inequality (with exponent 1/r > 1) and Lemma A.3, [140] we further obtain

 $|\varphi_{\nu} * \psi_{\nu+k} * f|^{r} \le c \left[\eta_{\nu,2m/r} * \eta_{\nu+k,2m}^{1/r}\right]^{r} * |\psi_{\nu+k} * f|^{r} \approx \eta_{\nu+k,2m} * |\psi_{\nu+k} * f|^{r}.$ This, together with Lemma 6.1 [140] and Lemma 4.7 [160] gives

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} &= \left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)r} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^{r} \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{\frac{q(\cdot)}{r}}(L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{r}})}^{1/r} \\ &\leq c \sum_{k \in K} \left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)r} \eta_{\nu+k,2m} * |\psi_{\nu+k} * f|^{r} \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{\frac{q(\cdot)}{r}}(L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{r}})}^{1/r} \\ &\leq c \sum_{k \in K} \left\| \left(\eta_{\nu+k,m} * \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)r} |\psi_{\nu+k} * f|^{r} \right) \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{\frac{q(\cdot)}{r}}(L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{r}})}^{1/r} \\ &\leq c \sum_{k \in K} \left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)r} |\psi_{\nu+k} * f|^{r} \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{\frac{q(\cdot)}{r}}(L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{r}})}^{1/r} = c \sum_{k \in K} \left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \psi_{\nu+k} * f \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}. \end{split}$$

By the shift invariance of the mixed Lebesgue sequence space, the last sum equals $3\|f\|_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}}^{\psi}$, which completes the proof.

Although one would obviously like to work in the variable index Besov space independent of the choice of basic functions φ_{ν} , the assumptions needed in the previous theorem are quite strong in the sense that many of the later results work under much weaker assumptions. In the interest of clarity, we state those results only with the assumptions actually needed in their proofs. They should then be understood to hold with any particular choice of basic functions. For simplicity, we will not explicitly include the dependence on φ , thus omitting φ in the notation of the norm and modular.

The following theorem gives basic embeddings between Besov spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces.

Theorem (3.2.14) [160]: Let α , α_0 , $\alpha_1 \in L^{\infty}$ and $p, q_0, q_1 \in \mathcal{P}_0$. (i) If $q_0 \leq q_1$, then

$$B_{p(\cdot),q_{0}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),q_{1}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}.$$

(ii) If $(\alpha_0 - \alpha_1)^- > 0$, then

$$B_{p(\cdot),q_0(\cdot)}^{\alpha_0(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),q_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}.$$

(iii) If p^+ , $q^+ < \infty$, then

$$B_{p(\cdot),\min\{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)\}}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),\max\{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)\}}^{\alpha(\cdot)}.$$

Proof: Assume that $q_0 \leq q_1$. We note that $\lambda^{\overline{q_0(x)}} \leq \lambda^{\overline{q_1(x)}}$ when $\lambda \leq 1$. By the definition it follows that

$$\varrho_{\mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\cdot),\mathfrak{q}_{0}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(f/\mu) \geq \varrho_{\mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(\cdot),\mathfrak{q}_{1}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}(f/\mu)$$

for every $\mu > 0$, which implies (i). By (i),

$$B_{p(\cdot),q_0(\cdot)}^{\alpha_0(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),q_0^+(\cdot)}^{\alpha_0(\cdot)} \text{ and } B_{p(\cdot),q_1^-(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),q_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}$$

Therefore, it suffices to prove (ii) for constant exponents q_0^+ and q_0^- , which we denote again by $q_0, q_1 \in (0, \infty]$ for simplicity. Then the proof is similar to the constant exponent situation. Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu \alpha_{1}(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right\|_{p(\cdot)} \right\|_{\ell^{q_{1}}} &\leq c_{1} \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu \alpha_{0}(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right\|_{p(\cdot)} \right\|_{\ell^{\infty}} \leq c_{1} \left\| \left\| 2^{\nu \alpha_{0}(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right\|_{p(\cdot)} \right\|_{\ell^{q_{0}}} \\ \text{with } c_{1}^{q_{1}} &= \sum_{\nu \geq 0} 2^{\nu q_{1}(\alpha_{0} - \alpha_{1})^{-}} < \infty. \end{split}$$

To prove the first embedding in (iii), let $r \coloneqq \min\{p, q\}$ and $f_v(x) \coloneqq 2^{v\alpha(x)} |\varphi_v * f(x)|$. We assume that $\varrho_{B_{p(\cdot),r(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}(f) \le 1$. Then it suffices to show that $\varrho_{F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}(f) \le c$. Since $\ell^{r(x)} \hookrightarrow \ell^{q(x)}$, we obtain

$$\varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}\big(\|f_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(x)}}\big) \le \varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}\big(\|f_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{r}(x)}}\big) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{\nu} f_{\nu}^{\mathbf{r}(x)}\right)^{\frac{\mathbf{p}(x)}{\mathbf{r}(x)}} \mathrm{d}x = \varrho_{\frac{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}{\mathbf{r}(\cdot)}}\left(\sum_{\nu} f_{\nu}^{\mathbf{r}(\cdot)}\right)^{\mathbf{r}(x)}.$$

Thus it suffices to show that the right hand side is bounded by a constant, which follows if the corresponding norm is bounded. Using the triangle inequality, we obtain just this:

$$\left\|\sum_{v} f_{v}^{\mathbf{r}(\cdot)}\right\|_{\frac{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}{\mathbf{r}(\cdot)}} \leq \sum_{v} \left\|f_{v}^{\mathbf{r}(\cdot)}\right\|_{\frac{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}{\mathbf{r}(\cdot)}} = \varrho_{\mathsf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{r}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}(f) \leq 1.$$

For the second embedding in (iii), we use a similar derivation, with $s = \max\{p, q\}$. We assume that $\varrho_{F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}(f) \le 1$. Then we estimate the modular in the Besov space with a reverse triangle inequality which holds since $p/s \le 1$:

$$\varrho_{\mathsf{B}_{p(\cdot),s(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}(f) = \sum_{\nu} \left\| f_{\nu}^{s(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{s(\cdot)}} \leq \left\| \sum_{\nu} f_{\nu}^{s(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{s(\cdot)}} = \left\| \left\| f_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{s(\cdot)}}^{s(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{s(\cdot)}}.$$

Since p/s is bounded, the right hand side is bounded if and only if the corresponding modular is bounded. In fact,

$$\varrho_{\underline{\mathbf{p}}(\cdot)}_{\underline{\mathbf{s}}(\cdot)}\Big(\|f_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{s}}(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot)}\Big) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \|f_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{s}}(x)}^{\mathbf{p}(x)} \mathrm{d}x = \varrho_{\mathrm{F}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}(f) \leq 1,$$

so we are done.

We next consider embeddings of Sobolev-type which trade smoothness for integrability. For constant exponents it is well-known that

$$B_{p_0,q}^{\alpha_0} \hookrightarrow B_{p_1,q}^{\alpha_1} \tag{7}$$

if $\alpha_0 - \frac{n}{p_0} = \alpha_1 - \frac{n}{p_1}$, where $0 < p_0 \le p_1 \le \infty$, $0 < q \le \infty$, $-\infty < \alpha_1 \le \alpha_0 < \infty$ (see e.g. [41]). This is a consequence of certain Nikolskii inequalities for entire analytic functions of exponential type (cf. [41]), which we now generalize to the variable exponent setting. **Lemma (3.2.15)** [160]: Let $p_1, p_0, q \in \mathcal{P}_0$ with $\alpha - n/p_1$ and 1/q locally log-Hölder continuous. If $p_1 \ge p_0$, then there exists c > 0 such that

$$\left\| \left| c2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}g \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p_1(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} \leq \left\| \left| 2^{\nu\left(\alpha(\cdot) + \frac{n}{p_0(\cdot)} - \frac{n}{p_1(\cdot)}\right)}g \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p_0(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} + 2^{-\nu}$$

for all $v \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $g \in L^{p_0(\cdot)} \cap S'$ with supp $\hat{g} \subset \{\xi : |\xi| \le 2^{\nu+1}\}$ such that the norm on the right hand side is at most one.

Proof: Let us denote $\beta \coloneqq \alpha - n/p_1$ and

$$\lambda \coloneqq \left\| \left| 2^{\nu \left(\beta(\cdot) + \frac{n}{p_0(\cdot)}\right)} g \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p_0(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} + 2^{-\nu}.$$

Note that the assumption on the norm implies that $\lambda \in [2^{-\nu}, 1 + 2^{-\nu}]$. Using the r-trick and [140, Lemma 6.1], we get

$$\lambda^{-\frac{r}{q(x)}} 2^{\nu r \beta(x)} |g(x)|^{r} \le c \,\lambda^{-\frac{r}{q(x)}} 2^{\nu r \beta(x)} (\eta_{\nu, 2m} * |g|^{r})(x) \le c \,\eta_{\nu, m} * \left(\lambda^{-\frac{1}{q(\cdot)}} 2^{\nu \beta(\cdot)} |g|\right)^{r}(x)$$

for large m. Fix $r \in (0, p_0^-)$ and set $s = p_0/r \in \mathcal{P}_0$. An application of Hölder's inequality with exponent s yields

$$\lambda^{-\frac{1}{q(x)}} 2^{\nu\beta(x)} |g(x)| \le c \left\| 2^{-\frac{\nu n}{s(\cdot)}} \eta_{\nu,m}(x-\cdot) \right\|_{s'(\cdot)}^{1/r} \left\| \lambda^{-\frac{1}{q(\cdot)}} 2^{\nu\left(\beta(\cdot)+\frac{n}{p_0(\cdot)}\right)} g \right\|_{p_0(\cdot)}$$

The second norm on the right hand side is bounded by 1 due to the choice of λ . To show that the first norm is also bounded, we investigate the corresponding modular:

$$\varrho_{s'(\cdot)}\left(2^{-\frac{vn}{s(\cdot)}}\eta_{v,m}(x-\cdot)\right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} 2^{vn}(1+2^v|x-y|)^{-ms'(y)}dy \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (1+|2^vx-z|)^{-m(s')^-}dz < \infty,$$

since $m(s')^- > n$. Now with the appropriate choice of $c_0 \in (0, 1]$, we find that

$$\begin{split} \left(c_0 \lambda^{-\frac{1}{q(x)}} 2^{\nu \alpha(x)} |g(x)| \right)^{p_1(x)} \\ &\leq c_0^{p_0(x)} \left[c_0 \frac{2^{\nu \beta(x)} |g(x)|}{\lambda^{-1/q(x)}} \right]^{p_1(x) - p_0(x)} \left(\lambda^{-\frac{1}{q(x)}} 2^{\nu \left(\beta(x) + \frac{n}{p_0(x)}\right)} |g(x)| \right)^{p_0(x)} \\ &\leq \left(\lambda^{-\frac{1}{q(x)}} 2^{\nu \left(\beta(x) + \frac{n}{p_0(x)}\right)} |g(x)| \right)^{p_0(x)}. \end{split}$$

Integrating this inequality over \mathbb{R}^n and taking into account the definition of λ gives us the claim.

Applying the previous lemma, we obtain the following generalization of (7). **Theorem (3.2.16)** (Sobolev inequality) [160]: Let $p_0, p_1, q \in \mathcal{P}_0$ and $\alpha_0, \alpha_1 \in L^{\infty}$ with $\alpha_0 \ge \alpha_1$. If 1/q and

$$\alpha_0(x) - \frac{n}{p_0(x)} = \alpha_1(x) - \frac{n}{p_1(x)}$$

are locally log-Hölder continuous, then

$$B_{p_0(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha_0(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p_1(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}.$$

Proof: Suppose without loss of generality that the $B_{p_0(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha_0(\cdot)}$ -modular of a function is less than 1. Then an application of the previous lemma with $\alpha(x) = \alpha_1(x)$ and $g = \varphi_v * f$, shows that the $B_{p_1(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}$ -modular is bounded by a constant.

Corollary (3.2.17) [160]: Let $p_0, p_1, q_0, q_1 \in \mathcal{P}_0$ and $\alpha_0, \alpha_1 \in L^{\infty}$ with $\alpha_0 \ge \alpha_1$. If $\alpha_0(x) - \frac{n}{p_0(x)} = \alpha_1(x) - \frac{n}{p_1(x)} + \varepsilon(x)$

is locally log-Hölder continuous and $\varepsilon^- > 0$, then

 $B_{p_0(\cdot),q_0(\cdot)}^{\alpha_0(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p_1(\cdot),q_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}.$

Proof: By Theorems (3.2.14) (i) and (3.2.16),

 $B_{p_0(\cdot),q_0(\cdot)}^{\alpha_0(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p_0(\cdot),\infty}^{\alpha_0(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p_1(\cdot),\infty}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)+\epsilon(\cdot)}.$ We combine this with the embedding $B_{p_1(\cdot),\infty}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)+\epsilon(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p_1(\cdot),q_1(\cdot)}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)}$ from Theorem (3.2.14) (ii) to conclude the proof.

Let C_u be the space of all bounded uniformly continuous functions on \mathbb{R}^n equipped with the sup norm. Concerning embeddings into C_u , we have the following result.

Corollary (3.2.18) [160]: Let $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log}$, $p \in \mathcal{P}^{log}$ and $q \in \mathcal{P}_0$. If $\alpha(x) - \frac{n}{p(x)} \ge \delta \max\left\{1 - \frac{1}{q(x)}, 0\right\}$

for some fixed $\delta > 0$ and every $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then

 $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow C_{u}$ **Proof:** Let $\gamma(x) \coloneqq \alpha(x) - \frac{n}{p(x)}$. By Theorem (3.2.14) (i), we may replace q with the larger exponent $\max\{1, \delta/(\delta - \gamma)\} \in \mathcal{P}^{\log}$. It then follows from Theorem (3.2.16) that

$$B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{\infty,q(\cdot)}^{\gamma(\cdot)}$$

Since $B^0_{\infty,1} \hookrightarrow C_u$ by classical results, we will complete the proof by showing that

$$B^{\gamma(\cdot)}_{\infty,q(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B^0_{\infty,1}$$

Denote $f_v \coloneqq \varphi_v * f$. The remaining embedding can be written, using homogeneity in the usual manner, as

$$\sum_{v} \sup_{x} |f_{v}| \le c \quad \text{whenever} \quad \sum_{v} \sup_{x} |2^{v\gamma(x)} f_{v}|^{q(x)} \le 1.$$

We choose x_v such that $\sup |f_v| \leq 2|f_v(x_v)|$ for each v. Then it follows from Young's inequality that

$$\sum_{v} \sup_{x} |f_{v}| \approx \sum_{v} |f_{v}(x_{v})| \le \sum_{v} \left| 2^{v\gamma(x_{v})} f_{v}(x_{v}) \right|^{q(x_{v})} + 2^{-v\gamma(x_{v})q'(x_{v})} \le 1 + \sum_{v} 2^{-v\delta} \le c,$$

which completes the proof of the remaining embedding.

Let $\mathcal{L}^{\alpha,p(\cdot)}, \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, be the Bessel potential space modeled in $L^{p(\cdot)}$. It was shown in [140] that $F_{p(\cdot),2}^{\alpha} = \mathcal{L}^{\alpha,p(\cdot)}$ when $\alpha \ge 0, 1 < p^{-} \le p^{+} < \infty$ and $p \in \mathcal{P}^{\log}$. Under the same assumptions on p, by Theorem (3.2.14) one gets the embedding

$$B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{L}^{\sigma,p(\cdot)}$$

for $\sigma^- > \sigma^+ \ge 0$. In particular, we have $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow L^{p(\cdot)}$ if $\alpha^- > 0$ (cf. [88] or [109]). Next we derive a stronger version of this.

Let us define

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{p}}(x) \coloneqq n\left(\frac{1}{\max\{1, \mathbf{p}(x)\}} - 1\right) \text{ and } \bar{\mathbf{p}}(x) \coloneqq \max\{1, \mathbf{p}(x)\}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(8)

If $\alpha - n/p = \alpha - \sigma_p - n/\overline{p}$ is log-Hölder continuous, $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0$, $\alpha \in L^{\infty}$ and $(\alpha - \sigma_p)^- > 0$, then by Corollary (3.2.17) we get

$$B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{\overline{p}(\cdot),1}^{0}.$$

We further conclude that

$$\|f\|_{\overline{p}(\cdot)} \leq \sum_{\nu \geq 0} \|\varphi_{\nu} * f\|_{\overline{p}(\cdot)} = \|f\|_{B^{0}_{\overline{p}(\cdot),1}} \leq c\|f\|_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)-\sigma_{p}(\cdot)}_{\overline{p}(\cdot),1}}.$$

Proposition (3.2.19) [160]: Assume that $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0$ and $\alpha \in L^{\infty}$ are such that $\alpha - n/p$ is log-Hölder continuous. Let σ_p and \overline{p} be as in (8). If $(\alpha - \sigma_p)^- > 0$, then

$$\mathsf{B}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow \mathsf{L}^{\overline{p}(\cdot)}$$

Let $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0$ and $\alpha \in L^{\infty}$. Define $\alpha_0 \coloneqq \left(\alpha - \frac{n}{p}\right)^-$. Then $\alpha \ge \alpha_0 + \frac{n}{p} =: \alpha_1 \in L^{\infty}$. It is clear that $\alpha_1 + \frac{n}{p} = \alpha_0$ is log-Hölder continuous. Therefore we obtain by Theorem (3.2.16) that

$$B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{\alpha_1(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B_{\infty,\infty}^{\alpha_1(\cdot) - \frac{n}{p(\cdot)}} = B_{\infty,\infty}^{\alpha_0} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}'.$$

Now we show that our scale of Besov spaces includes also the Hölder-Zygmund spaces of continuous functions. This application requires in particular that we include the case of unbounded p and q.

We start by generalizing the definition of Hölder-Zygmund spaces to the variable order setting. Such spaces have been considered e.g. in [142, 143, 153].

Recall that C_u denotes the set of all bounded uniformly continuous functions.

Definition (3.2.20) [160]: Let $\alpha : \mathbb{R}^n \to (0, 1]$. The Zygmund space $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ consists of all $f \in C_u$ such that $||f||_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} < \infty$, where

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \coloneqq \|f\|_{\infty} + \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, h \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus \{0\}} \frac{|\Delta_{h}^{2} f(x)|}{|h|^{\alpha(x)}}$$

For $\alpha < 1$, the Hölder space $C^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ is defined analogously but with the norm given by

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} \coloneqq \|f\|_{\infty} + \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, h \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus \{0\}} \frac{|\Delta_{h}^{1}f(x)|}{|h|^{\alpha(x)}}$$

Here Δ_{h}^{j} is the j-th order difference operator $h \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$:

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{1}f(x) = f(x+\mathbf{h}) - f(x), \quad \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{\mathbf{j}+1}f = \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{1}(\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{\mathbf{j}}f).$$

One can easily derive the point-wise inequality

$$\sup_{h} |h|^{-\alpha(x)} |\Delta_{h}^{1} f(x)| \leq \frac{1}{2 - 2^{\alpha^{+}}} \sup_{h} |h|^{-\alpha(x)} |\Delta_{h}^{2} f(x)|, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$

Hence we have $C^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow C^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ for $\alpha^+ < 1$. In fact, these two spaces coincide for such α , as in the classical case. This is one consequence of the following result.

Theorem (3.2.21) [160]: For α locally log-Hölder continuous with $\alpha^- > 0$,

 $B_{\infty,\infty}^{\alpha(\cdot)} = \mathcal{C}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \quad (\alpha \le 1) \text{ and } B_{\infty,\infty}^{\alpha(\cdot)} = C^{\alpha(\cdot)} \quad (\alpha^+ < 1).$

Proof: The proof is naturally divided into two parts. First we consider the claim that

$$\mathcal{C}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{\infty,\infty} \quad (\alpha \leq 1) \quad \text{and} \quad B^{\alpha_0}_{\infty,\infty} \hookrightarrow C^{\alpha(\cdot)} \quad (\alpha^+ < 1).$$

We prove only the first embedding; the second is similar. We estimate the absolute value on the right hand side of

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{B}_{\infty,\infty}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} = \sup_{v} \sup_{x} \left| 2^{v\alpha(x)} \varphi_{v} * f(x) \right|$$

by $||f||_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha(\cdot)}}$. The term v = 0 is easily estimated in terms of $||f||_{\infty}$, so we consider in what follows v > 0.

Since the Besov space is independent of the choice of admissible φ , we may assume without loss of generality that $\varphi(-y) = \varphi(y)$. Then

$$\varphi_{\nu} * f(x) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_{\nu}(\mathbf{h}) [f(x+\mathbf{h}) + f(x-\mathbf{h})] d\mathbf{h} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_{\nu}(\mathbf{h}) \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^2 f(x-\mathbf{h}) d\mathbf{h},$$

where we used the fact that $\int \varphi_{\nu}(y) dy = \widehat{\varphi_{\nu}}(0) = 0$ in the second step. By definition, $|\Delta_{h}^{2}f(x-h)| \leq ||f||_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha(\cdot)}} |h|^{\alpha(x-h)}$. For small h, the log-Hölder continuity implies that $|h|^{\alpha(x-h)} \leq c|h|^{\alpha(x)}$. Thus we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi_{v} * f(x)| &\leq c \int_{|h|<1} |\varphi_{v}(h)| |h|^{\alpha(x)} dh + c \int_{|h|\geq 1} |\varphi_{v}(h)| |h|^{\alpha^{+}} dh \\ &= c \int_{|h|<2^{v}} |\varphi_{v}(h)| |2^{-v} h|^{\alpha(x)} dh + c \int_{|h|\geq 2^{v}} |\varphi_{v}(h)| |2^{-v} h|^{\alpha^{+}} dh \\ &\leq c 2^{-v\alpha(x)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\varphi_{v}(h)| [|h|^{\alpha^{+}} + |h|^{\alpha^{-}}] dh, \end{aligned}$$

where in the second step we used a change of variables. Since φ decays faster than any polynomial (as supp $\hat{\varphi}$ is bounded), the integral on the right-hand side is finite, and so we are done.

We then move on to the second part of the proof of the theorem, and consider the claim

$$B_{\infty,\infty}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow C^{\alpha(\cdot)}$$
 $(\alpha \le 1)$ and $B_{\infty,\infty}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow C^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ $(\alpha^+ < 1)$.

First we note that

$$\sup_{0<|\mathbf{h}|\leq 1}\sup_{x}\frac{\left|\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{\mathbf{M}}f(x)\right|}{|\mathbf{h}|^{\alpha(x)}}\leq 2^{\alpha^{+}}\sup_{\mathbf{k}\geq 0}\sup_{|\mathbf{h}|\leq 2^{-\mathbf{k}}}\sup_{x}\left|2^{\mathbf{k}\alpha(x)}\Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{\mathbf{M}}f(x)\right|.$$

(We restrict ourselves to $|h| \le 1$ since large h are easily handled.) For a > 0 and M > 1 there exists c > 0 such that

 $\left|\Delta_{\mathrm{h}}^{\mathrm{M}}(\varphi_{v} * f)(x)\right| \leq \operatorname{cmin}\left\{1, 2^{(v-k)\mathrm{M}}\right\}\left(\varphi_{v}^{*}f\right)_{a}(x),$

for every $v, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $|\mathbf{h}| \le 2^{-k}$, where $(\varphi_v^* f)_a(x) \coloneqq \sup_y \frac{|\varphi_{v^*} f(x-y)|}{1+|2^v y|^a}$ is the Peetre maximal function, cf. [40]. Since $f = \sum_v \varphi_v * f$ with convergence in L¹, we can use the previous estimate to obtain

 $\sup_{|\mathbf{h}| \le 2^{-\mathbf{k}}} \left| 2^{\mathbf{k}\alpha(x)} \Delta_{\mathbf{h}}^{\mathbf{M}} f(x) \right|$

$$\leq c \sum_{\nu < k} 2^{(\nu-k)(M-\alpha(x))} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} (\phi_{\nu}^* f)_a(x) + c \sum_{\nu \ge k+1} 2^{(\nu-k)\alpha(x)} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} (\phi_{\nu}^* f)_a(x)$$
(9)

Therefore, we need to estimate $2^{\nu\alpha(x)}(\varphi_v^*f)_a(x)$. Let us denote $K \coloneqq \sup_x 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} |\varphi_v * f(x)|$. Then

$$2^{\nu\alpha(x)}(\varphi_{\nu}^{*}f)_{a}(x) = \sup_{y} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \frac{|\varphi_{\nu} * f(x-y)|}{1+|2^{\nu}y|^{a}} \le K \sup_{y} \frac{2^{\nu(\alpha(x)-\alpha(x-y))}}{1+|2^{\nu}y|^{a}}.$$

When $|y| < 2^{-\nu/2}$, it follows from the log-Hölder continuity of α that $\nu(\alpha(x) - \alpha(x-y)) \leq c$. When $|y| \geq 2^{-\nu/2}$, the right-hand side is bounded by $K2^{\nu(\alpha^+ - \alpha^- - \alpha/2)}$, which remains bounded provided we choose $\alpha > (\alpha^+ - \alpha^-)$. Therefore we have shown that

$$2^{\nu\alpha(x)}(\varphi_{\nu}^*f)_a(x) \le \operatorname{c}\sup_{x} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} |\varphi_{\nu}*f(x)| \le \operatorname{c} \|f\|_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{\infty,\infty}}.$$

Using this in (9), we find that

$$\sup_{h|\leq 2^{-k}} |2^{k\alpha(x)} \Delta_h^M f(x)| \leq c \left[\sum_{\nu < k} 2^{(\nu-k)(M-\alpha^+)} + \sum_{\nu \geq k+1} 2^{(k-\nu)\alpha^-} \right] ||f||_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{\infty,\infty}}.$$

If M = 1, then we have assumed that $\alpha^+ < 1$; for M = 2, M - $\alpha^+ \ge 1$. Thus the terms in the brackets are bounded, so we have estimated the main part of the norm. Since we also have $||f||_{\infty} \le c||f||_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{\infty,\infty}}$ for $\alpha^- > 0$, the proof is complete.

We characterize the elements from $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ in terms of Nikolskii representations involving sequences of entire analytic functions. Let

 $\mathcal{U}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} \coloneqq \{(\mathbf{u}_{\nu})_{\nu} \subset \mathcal{S}' \cap \mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} : \operatorname{supp} \hat{\mathbf{u}}_{\nu} \subset \{\xi : |\xi| \le 2^{\nu+1}\}, \nu \in \mathbb{N}_0\}.$

Theorem (3.2.22) [160]: Let $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0^{\log}$ and $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{\log} \cap L^{\infty}$ with $\alpha^- > 0$. Then $f \in S'$ belongs to $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ if and only if there exists $u = (u_v)_v \in \mathcal{U}^{p(\cdot)}$ such that

$$f = \lim_{v \to \infty} \mathbf{u}_v \quad \text{in } \mathcal{S}' \tag{10}$$

and

$$\|f\|^{\mathbf{u}} \coloneqq \|\mathbf{u}_0\|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} + \left\| \left(2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} (f - \mathbf{u}_{\nu}) \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})} < \infty.$$

Moreover,

$$||f||^* \coloneqq \inf_{\mathbf{u}} ||f||^{\mathbf{u}}$$

is an equivalent quasinorm in $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$, where the infimum is taken over all possible representations $(u_v)_v \in \mathcal{U}^{p(\cdot)}$ satisfying (10).

Proof: First we show that $||f||^* \leq ||f||_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}}$. If $(\varphi_v)_v$ is an admissible system, then

$$u_{v} \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{v} \varphi_{j} * f \to f \text{ in } \mathcal{S}' \text{ as } v \to \infty.$$

Thus $(u_v)_v \in \mathcal{U}^{p(\cdot)}$ and

$$\left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}(f-\mathbf{u}_{\nu})\right)_{\nu} = \sum_{\mathbf{j}\geq 0} 2^{-\mathbf{j}\alpha(\cdot)} \left(2^{(\mathbf{j}+\nu)\alpha(\cdot)}\varphi_{\mathbf{j}+\nu} * f\right)_{\nu} \quad \text{in } \mathcal{S}'.$$

Observe that $2^{-j\alpha(\cdot)} \le 2^{-j\alpha^-}$ and that $\alpha^- > 0$ by assumption. Let $r \in (0, \frac{1}{2}\min\{p, q, 2\})$. Using the previous expression and the triangle inequality in the mixed Lebesgue-sequence space, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} (f - u_{\nu}) \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} &= \left\| \left\| \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-j\alpha(\cdot)} \left(2^{(j+\nu)\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{j+\nu} * f \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{\frac{q(\cdot)}{r}}(L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{r}})}^{r} \\ &\leq \left\| \sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-jr\alpha(\cdot)} \left(2^{(j+\nu)r\alpha(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j+\nu} * f|^{r} \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{\frac{q(\cdot)}{r}}(L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{r}})}^{1/r} \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{j \ge 0} 2^{-jr\alpha^{-}} \left\| \left(2^{(j+\nu)r\alpha(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j+\nu} * f|^{r} \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{\frac{q(\cdot)}{r}}(L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{r}})}^{1/r} \right)^{1/r} \\ &\leq c \left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})'} \end{split}$$

where the last step follows from the invariance of the norm under shifts in the *v* direction. Since $\|u_0\|_{p(\cdot)} = \|\phi_0 * f\|_{p(\cdot)} \le \|f\|_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}}$, we have shown that

$$\|f\|^{\mathsf{u}} \le \mathsf{c}\|f\|_{\mathsf{B}^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}}$$

Now we prove the opposite inequality. Let $(u_v)_v \in \mathcal{U}^{p(\cdot)}$ be such that $f = \lim_{k \to \infty} u_k$ and $||f||^u < \infty$. Then $\varphi_v * f = \sum_{k \ge -1} \varphi_v * (u_{v+k} - u_{v+k-1}), v \in \mathbb{N}_0$ (with $u_{-1} = 0$). Using the r-trick, with r as before, we find that

$$2^{\nu\alpha(x)} |\phi_{\nu} * f| \le 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} \sum_{\substack{k \ge -1 \\ k \ge -1}} |\phi_{\nu} * (u_{\nu+k} - u_{\nu+k-1})| \le \sum_{\substack{k \ge -1 \\ k \ge -1}} [\eta_{\nu,m} * (2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)r} |u_{\nu+k} - u_{\nu+k-1}|^r)]^{\frac{1}{r}}.$$

Since $2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \le 2^{(\nu+k)\alpha(\cdot)} 2^{-k\alpha^-}$, we obtain

$$\left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} \le c \sum_{k \ge -1} 2^{-k\alpha^{-}} \left\| \left(\eta_{\nu,m} * \left(2^{(\nu+k)\alpha(\cdot)r} |u_{\nu+k} - u_{\nu+k-1}|^{r} \right) \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{\frac{q(\cdot)}{r}}(L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{r}})}^{\frac{1}{r}}.$$

Then we can get rid of the function η (see, [160]). Using

$$|u_{\nu+k} - u_{\nu+k-1}| \le |f - u_{\nu+k}| + |f - u_{\nu+k-1}|$$

we find that

$$\left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} \leq c \sum_{k \geq -1} 2^{-k\alpha^{-}} \left\| \left(2^{(\nu+k)\alpha(\cdot)} (f - \mathbf{u}_{\nu+k}) \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$$

Using again the invariance of the sequence space with respect to shifts, we see that the left hand side can be estimated by a constant times $||f||^u$. Taking the infimum over u, we obtain $||f||_{B^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}} \leq c||f||^*$.

Chapter 4

Besov-Type Spaces and Decomposition of Besov-Hausdorff Spaces

We introduce certain Hardy-Hausdorff spaces $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and show that the dual space of $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is just $\dot{B}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where t' denotes the conjugate index of $t \in (1, \infty)$. Moreover, using their atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations, we investigate the trace properties and the boundedness of pseudo-differential operators with homogeneous symbols in $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (q > 1), which generalize the corresponding classical results on homogeneous Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces when $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $q \in [1, \infty)$ by taking $\tau = 0$.

Section (4.1): Triebel-Lizorkin-Type Spaces Including *Q* Spaces

The most general scales, known so far, are the scales of Besov spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. Besov spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ respectively domains in \mathbb{R}^n for the full range of parameters $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ were introduced between 1959 and 1975 (see [41]). They cover many well-known classical concrete function spaces such as Hölder-Zygmund spaces, Sobolev spaces, fractional Sobolev spaces (also often referred to as Besselpotential spaces), Hardy spaces and BMO(\mathbb{R}^n), which have their own history. Acomprehensive treatment of these function spaces and their history can be found in Triebel's monographes [56, 136].

Let $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the space of all Schwartz functions on \mathbb{R}^n . Let φ and ψ be functions on \mathbb{R}^n satisfying

$$\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) \tag{1}$$

$$\operatorname{supp}\widehat{\varphi},\widehat{\Psi} \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \colon 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\},\tag{2}$$

$$|\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)|, |\widehat{\psi}(\xi)| \ge C > 0 \ if \ 3/5 \le |\xi| \le 5/3,$$
 (3)

And

$$\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}\overline{\widehat{\phi}(2^{j}\xi)}\widehat{\psi}(2^{j}\xi) = 1 \text{ if } \xi \neq 0, \tag{4}$$

where $\hat{f}(\xi) \equiv \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x) e^{-ix \cdot \xi} dx$. For all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we put $\varphi_j(x) \equiv 2^{jn} \varphi(2^j x)$. As in [176], we set

$$\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(x) x^{\gamma} dx = 0 \text{ for all multi} - \text{indices } \gamma \in (\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\})^n \right\}.$$

Following Triebel [41], we consider $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as a subspace of $S(\mathbb{R}^n)$, including the topology. Thus, $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a complete metric space (see [181]). Equivalently, $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ can be defined as a collection of all $\varphi \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that semi-norms $\|\varphi\|_M \equiv \sup \sup \sup_{|\gamma| \le M} |\partial^{\gamma} \widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| (|\xi|^M + |\xi|^{-M}) < \infty$ for all $M \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ (see [93]), where and in what follows, $\gamma = (\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_n) \in (\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\})^n$, $|\gamma| = \gamma_1 + ... + \gamma_n$ and $\partial^{\gamma} = (\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_1}) \gamma_1 ... (\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi_1}) \gamma_n \partial$. The semi-norms $\{\|\cdot\|_M\}_{M \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}}$ generate a topology of a locally convex space on $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ which coincides with the topology of $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as a subspace of a locally convex space $S(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the topological dual of $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, namely, the set of all continuous linear functionals $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We endow $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with the weak *-topology. Then $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is complete; see [177].

Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ and φ satisfy (1) through (3). The Besov space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ is defined to be the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{jsq} \|\phi_{j} * f\|^{q}_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \right\}^{1/q} < \infty;$$

the Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ for $p < \infty$ is defined to be the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(2^{js} |\varphi_{j} * f| \right)^{q} \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} < \infty;$$

see [41, 106]. For $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $q \in (0, \infty]$, the Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{F}_{\infty,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ is defined to be the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s}_{\infty,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \left\{ \frac{1}{|P|} \int_{P} \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} (2^{js} |\varphi_{j} * f(x)|)^{q} dx \right\}^{1/q} < \infty,$$

where l(P) is the side length of dyadic cube P, $j_P \equiv -\log_2 l(P)$ and the supremum is taken over all dyadic cubes P; see [106]. It is well known that the spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are independent of the choices of φ (see, for example, [41, 106, 176]).

There has been increasing interest in a new family of function spaces, called Q_{α} spaces, where $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. These spaces were originally defined by Aulaskari et al. [163] as spaces of holomorphic functions on the unit disk, which are geometric in the sense that they transform naturally under conformal mappings (see [185]). Following the works of Essén and Xiao [174] and Janson [178] on the boundary values of these functions on the unit circle, Essén et al. [173] extended these spaces to the n-dimensional Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n . Very recently, Xiao [186] found some applications of these spaces in Navier-Stokes equations. Recall that for $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, the space $Q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the space of all measurable functions $f \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \sup_{I} \left\{ \frac{1}{|I|^{1-\frac{2\alpha}{n}}} \int_{I} \int_{I} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^{2}}{|x - y|^{n+2\alpha}} dx dy \right\}^{1/2} < \infty,$$
(5)

where I ranges over all cubes in \mathbb{R}^n . Since every cube I is contained in a cube J with dyadic length (namely, $l(J) \in \{2^j : j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$) such that l(J) < 2l(I), we obtain an equivalent norm if we consider only cubes of dyadic edge lengths in (5).

In Dafni and Xiao [167], asked what are the relations among $Q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, Besov spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces? Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $q \in (1, \infty]$. In [189], based on the Carleson measure characterizations of Q_{α} spaces and $\dot{F}_{\infty,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ spaces (see [106]), we introduced a new class of function spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which unify and generalize the Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with both $p < \infty$ [41] and $p = \infty$ [41, 106] and Qspaces [173] on \mathbb{R}^n . Our results establish the relationship between Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and Q spaces. The spaces also include the space $Q_p^{\alpha,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $2 \le q <$ $p < \infty$ in [166] as a special case. Furthermore, for $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in [1, \infty)$, max{p, q} > 1 and $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{q}{(\max\{p,q\})'}\right]$, via the Hausdorff capacity, we introduced in [189] a new class of tent spaces $F\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$, and determined their dual spaces $F\dot{W}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau/q}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$; as an application of this, we further introduced certain Hardy-Hausdorff spaces $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and proved that the dual space of $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is just $\dot{F}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau/q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ when $p, q \in (1,\infty)$, where herein and in what follows, t' denotes the conjugate index of $t \in [1, \infty]$. Also, herein and in what follows, we set $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}} \equiv \mathbb{R}^n \times \{2^k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$.

Let $s, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$. We continue study of the Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ by also considering the cases $p, q \leq 1$; moreover, we also introduce some new class of Besov-type spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ as follows.

Definition (4.1.1) [190]: Let $s, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$, $q \in (0, \infty]$ and φ be a Schwartz function satisfying (1) through (3).

(i) Let $p \in (0, \infty]$. The Besov-type space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the set of all $f \in S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $||f||_{\dot{B}_{n,\alpha}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$, where

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \sup_{\substack{P \text{ dyadic}}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_P}^{\infty} \left[\int_{P} \left(2^{js} |\varphi_j * f(x)| \right)^p dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q}$$

with suitable modifications made when $p = \infty$ or $q = \infty$. (ii)Let $p \in (0, \infty)$. The Triebel-Lizorkin-type space $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the set of all

 $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $||f||_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$, where

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} (2^{js} |\varphi_{j} * f(x)|)^{q} dx \right]^{p/q} \right\}^{1/p}$$

with suitable modifications made when $q = \infty$.

Obviously, when $p = q \in (0, \infty)$, $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For simplicity, in what follows, we use $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to denote either $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ means $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then the case $p = \infty$ is excluded. The spaces $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ unify and generalize the classical Besov spaces [41, 45, 56, 176], Triebel-Lizorkin spaces [41, 56, 106, 176] and Q spaces [173] on

 \mathbb{R}^n . Thus, we give a complete answer to the question of Dafni and Xiao in [167].

Different from [189], we need some discrete Calderón reproducing formulae, which further yield the φ -transform characterization of these spaces via some subtle modifications on the methods developed by Frazier and Jawerth [45, 106]. As a special case of our Besov spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we also obtain the φ -transform characterization of the space $\dot{B}BMO_p^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which was, via the φ -transform and the space of sequences, introduced by Lin and Wang [180] to establish certain T(1) theorem for Besov spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We notice that the Besov-type spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ when p, q \in [1, ∞) were first introduced by El Baraka [169, 170, 171, 172]. El Baraka obtained some embedding and lifting properties and applied in [171] these results to study properties of solutions of certain elliptic systems.

Using the φ -transform characterizations of $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we obtain their embedding and lifting properties, which are also new even when $p, q \ge 1$; moreover, for appropriate τ , we also show that almost diagonal operators are bounded on their corresponding sequence spaces $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which further induces the smooth atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations of $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in [1, \infty)$, max $\{p, q\} > 1$ and $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(\max\{p,q\})'}\right]$, via the Hausdorff capacity, we introduce a new class of tent spaces $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})$ and determine their dual spaces $B\dot{W}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau/q}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})$; as an application of this, we further introduce certain Hardy-Hausdorff spaces $B\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and show that the dual space of $B\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is just $\dot{B}^{-s,\tau}_{p',q'}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ when $p \in (1,\infty)$ and $q \in [1,\infty)$.

We establish some discrete Calderón reproducing formulae in $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and its dual space $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which is a key tool.

For all $s, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$ and $q \in (0, \infty]$, we introduce the sequence spaces, $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.Via the fact that $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $Q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{F}_{2,2}^{\alpha,1/2-\alpha/n}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see [189]), we immediately obtain the connection between Besov spaces and Q spaces. Let φ satisfy (1) through (3). The main result is Theorem (4.1.5) below, which establish the φ -transform characterizations of $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the sense of Frazier and Jawerth for all desired indices s, τ, p and q. This result generalizes the classical results on $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in [45, 106]. From this characterization, we deduce that the spaces $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are independent of the choices of φ as in (1) through (3). Also, applying the φ -transform characterizations of $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we obtain some embedding properties for different metrics and the lifting properties of these spaces. If $\tau = 0$, all these results go back to the classical results. As a by-product, we also obtain the φ -transform characterization of the spaces $\dot{B}BMO_p^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

In Definition (4.1.16) below, for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \infty)$, we introduce a class of ε -almost diagonal operators on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and then prove in Theorem (4.1.17) below that for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$, p, q $\in (0, \infty]$ and $\tau \in [0, 1/p + \varepsilon/(2n))$, ε -almost diagonal operators on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are bounded on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We establish the smooth atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations of $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in [1, \infty)$, $\max\{p, q\} > 1$ and $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(\max\{p,q\})'}\right]$. Using the Hausdorff capacity, we introduce tent spaces $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})$ and $B\dot{W}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})$, which are related to Besov spaces. Then we establish their dual relations. These results generalize the corresponding results in [167] for the spaces with p = q = 2 and s and τ taking special values to the full ranges as above. We point out that our restriction on τ as above is optimal in certain sense.

Via the Tent spaces we introduce a new class of Hardy-Hausdorff spaces $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $p \in (1,\infty)$, $q \in [1,\infty)$. Via the duality of Tent spaces we further prove that the dual space of $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, is just $\dot{B}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

We make some conventions on notation. We denote by, C denotes unspecified positive constants, possibly different at each occurrence; the symbol $X \leq CY$ means that there exists a positive constant C such that $X \leq CY$, and $X \sim Y$ means $C^{-1}Y \leq X \leq CY$. For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we set $\tilde{\varphi}(x) \equiv \overline{\varphi(-x)}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. For $k = (k_1, ..., k_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, Q_{jk} denotes the dyadic cube $Q_{jk} \equiv \{(x_1, ..., x_n): k_i \leq 2^j x_i < k_i + 1 \text{ for } i = 1, ..., n\} \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ and $Q \equiv \{Q_{jk}\}_{j,k}$. We denote by x_Q the lower left-corner $2^{-j}k$ of $Q = Q_{jk}$. When dyadic cube Q appears as an index, such as \sum_Q and $\{\cdot\}_Q$, it is understood that Q runs over all dyadic cubes in \mathbb{R}^n . For each cube Q, we denote its side length by l(Q), its center by c_Q , and for r > 0, we denote by r Q the cube concentric with Q having the side length rl(Q). Let E be a set of \mathbb{R}^n . Denote by χ_E its characteristic function and \mathbb{E}° its interior. Also, set $\mathbb{N} \equiv \{1, 2, ...\}$ and $\mathbb{Z}_+ \equiv \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$.

Now we establish some Calderón reproducing formulae in $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and its dual space $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

For a function φ and dyadic cube $Q = Q_{jk}$, set $\varphi_Q(x) \equiv |Q|^{-1/2}\varphi(2^j x - k) = |Q|^{1/2}\varphi_j(x - x_Q)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

We establish the following discrete Calderón reproducing formula via [189]. It is well-known that this type of Calderón reproducing formula plays an important role in the study of Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces when $p \le 1$ or $q \le 1$; see, for example, [106]. The difference between these Calderón reproducing formulae with those in [16,18] exists in that here, we use the distribution space $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ instead of $S'(\mathbb{R}^n)/\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ therein.

Lemma (4.1.2) [190]: Let $\varphi, \psi \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (4) such that $\operatorname{supp} \widehat{\varphi}, \operatorname{supp} \widehat{\psi}$ are compact and bounded away from the origin. Then for any $f \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-jn} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (\widetilde{\varphi}_j * f) (2^{-j}k) \psi_j (\cdot - 2^{-j}k) = \sum_{\mathcal{Q}} \langle f, \varphi_{\mathcal{Q}} \rangle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}$$
(6)

holds in $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\tilde{\varphi}(x) \equiv \overline{\varphi(-x)}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Moreover, for any $f \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, (6) also holds in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: Let $f \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. By [189, Lemma 2.1], we have that $f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \psi_j * \widetilde{\varphi}_j * f$ in $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Thus, the proof of (6) for $f \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is reduced to proving

$$\psi_{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}_{j} * f = 2^{-jn} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (\widetilde{\varphi}_{j} * f) (2^{-j} \mathbf{k}) \psi_{j} (\cdot - 2^{-j} \mathbf{k})$$

$$\tag{7}$$

in $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

To show this, let $g \equiv \tilde{\varphi}_j * f$. Obviously, $g \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Since $\operatorname{supp} \hat{g} \subset 2^j [-\pi, \pi]^n$ expanding \hat{g} in the Fourier orthonormal basis $\left\{\frac{2^{-jn/2}}{(2\pi)^{n/2}}e^{-i\langle 2^{-j}k,\xi\rangle}\right\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^n}$ of $L^2(2^j [-\pi, \pi]^n)$, then for any $\xi \in 2^j [-\pi, \pi]^n$, we have

$$\hat{g} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{2^{-jn}}{(2\pi)^n} \left\{ \int_{2^j [-\pi,\pi]^n} \hat{g}(y) e^{i\langle 2^{-j}k,y \rangle} dy \right\} e^{-i\langle 2^{-j}k,\xi \rangle} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{-jn} g(2^{-j}k) e^{-i\langle 2^{-j}k,\xi \rangle}.$$
(8)

Notice that supp $\widehat{\psi}_j \subset 2^j [-\pi, \pi]^n$, we can replace \widehat{g} by its periodic extension without altering the product $\widehat{g}\widehat{\psi}_j$. Using $g * \psi_j = (\widehat{g}\widehat{\psi}_j)^{\vee}$ and (8), we obtain that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$(g * \psi_j)(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{-jn} g(2^{-j}k) \left(e^{-i\langle 2^{-j}k, \cdot \rangle} \widehat{\psi}_j \right)^{\vee}(x) = 2^{-jn} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (\widetilde{\varphi}_j * f) (2^{-j}k) \psi_j(x - 2^{-j}k),$$

where $f^{\vee}(x) = f(-x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Thus, (7) holds pointwise. To prove that (7) holds in $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, by the chain rule, for any $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\|g(2^{-j}k)\psi_{j}(\cdot-2^{-j}k)\right\|_{M} &\lesssim \left|g(2^{-j}k)\right| \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \sup_{|\gamma| \leq M} \left|\partial^{\gamma}\left(e^{-i\langle 2^{-j}k,\xi\rangle}\right)\right| \sup_{|\gamma| \leq M} \left|\partial^{\gamma}\widehat{\psi}_{j}(\xi)\right| (|\xi|^{M} + |\xi|^{-M}) \\ &\sim \left|2^{-j}k\right|^{M} \left|g(2^{-j}k)\right| \left\|\psi_{j}\right\|_{M}. \end{split}$$

Since g is a Schwartz function, then $|g(2^{-j}k)| \leq (1 + |(2^{-j}k)|)^{-M-n-1}$. Hence

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \left\| 2^{-jn} g(2^{-j}k) \psi_j(\cdot - 2^{-j}k) \right\|_M \lesssim \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{-jn} \left| 2^{-jk} \right|^M \left| g(2^{-j}k) \right| \left\| \psi_j \right\|_M < \infty$$

which together with the completion of $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ implies that $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{-jn} g(2^{-j}k) \psi_j(\cdot -2^{-j}k) \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and then (7) holds in $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. This shows that (6) holds in $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

To verify that (6) also holds for any $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, by [189, Lemma 2.1] again, we only need to show that (7) holds in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

To this end, let $g \equiv \tilde{\varphi}_j * f$ again. Then it is well-known that g is a slowly increasing C^{∞} function. For any $\delta > 0$, let $g_{\delta}(x) \equiv \gamma(\delta x)g(x)$, where $\gamma \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfies $\gamma(0) = 1$,

and supp $\hat{\gamma}$ is compact. Then $g_{\delta} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For sufficient small δ , by the proof of (7), we have that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\psi_{j} * g_{\delta}(x) = 2^{-jn} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} g_{\delta}(2^{-j}k) \psi_{j}(x - 2^{-j}k)$$
(9)

in $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Assume that g is at most polynomially increasing with order $m \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. Since $\psi_j \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, for any fixed $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \psi_{j} * g_{\delta}(x) \right| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| g_{\delta}(x-y)\psi_{j}(y) \right| dy \leq C_{\gamma,j}(1+|x|)^{m} < \infty, \\ \left| g_{\delta}(2^{-j}k) \right| \left| \psi_{j}(x-2^{-j}k) \right| &\leq C_{\gamma,j}(2^{-j}k)^{m} \left(1 + \left| x - 2^{-j}k \right| \right)^{-(m+n+1)} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$2^{-jn} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} |2^{-j}\mathbf{k}|^m (1 + |x - 2^{-j}\mathbf{k}|)^{-(m+n+1)} \le C_{\gamma,j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |y|^m (1 + |x - y|)^{-(m+n+1)} dy < \infty.$$

Then applying the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem and taking the limit as $\delta \rightarrow 0$ in (9), we obtain that (7) converges pointwise.

Noticing that for any $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $|\langle \psi_j(\cdot -2^{-j}k), \varphi \rangle| \leq C_j (1 + |x - 2^{-j}k|)^{-(m+n+1)}$, by $|g_{\delta}(2^{-j}k)| \leq C_{\gamma} (1 + |2^{-j}k|)^m$, we have

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{-jn} |g_{\delta}(2^{-j}k)| |\langle \psi_j(\cdot - 2^{-j}k), \phi \rangle| \le C_{\gamma, j} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (1 + |2^{-j}k|)^m (1 + |2^{-j}k|)^{-(m+n+1)} < \infty.$$

This observation together with the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem and (9) implies that for any $\varphi \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\begin{split} \langle \psi_{j} * g, \varphi \rangle &= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \langle \psi_{j} * g_{\delta}, \varphi \rangle = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{-jn} g_{\delta}(2^{-j}k) \langle \psi_{j}(\cdot - 2^{-j}k), \varphi \rangle \\ &= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{-jn} g(2^{-j}k) \langle \psi_{j}(\cdot - 2^{-j}k), \varphi \rangle. \end{split}$$

Thus (6) holds in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which completes the proof of Lemma (4.1.2).

For $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, set $\|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_M} \equiv \sup_{|\gamma| \le M} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |\partial^{\gamma} \varphi(x)| (1+|x|)^{n+M+|\gamma|}$. The

following basic estimate is used; for its proof, see [189]. **Lemma (4.1.3) [190]:** For any $M \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a positive constant C = C(M, n) such that for all $\varphi, \psi \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\left|\varphi_{j} * \psi_{i}(x)\right| \leq C \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \|\psi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} 2^{-|i-j|M} \frac{2^{-(i\wedge j)M}}{(2^{-(i\wedge j)} + |x|)^{n+M'}}$$

where $i \wedge j \equiv \min\{i, j\}$.

Now we establish the φ -transform characterizations of the spaces $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. To this end, we introduce their corresponding sequence spaces as follows.

Definition (4.1.4): Let $\tau, s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $q \in (0, \infty]$.

(i) Let $p \in (0, \infty]$. The sequence space $\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the set of all sequences $\{t_Q\}_O \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that $||t||_{\dot{b}_{n,\alpha}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$, where

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{s},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \sup_{\mathbf{P} \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\infty} 2^{j_{\mathbf{S}\mathbf{q}}} \left[\int\limits_{\mathbf{P}} \left(\sum_{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right)^{\mathbf{p}} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q}$$

$$|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \equiv |\mathcal{Q}|^{-1/2} \chi_{\mathbf{Q}}.$$

and $\tilde{\chi}_Q \equiv |Q|^{-1/2} \chi_Q$.

(ii)Let $p \in (0, \infty)$. The sequence space $\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the set of all sequences $\{t_Q\}_O \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that $\|t\|_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$, where

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{f}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \sup_{\mathbf{P} \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbf{P}} \left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q} \subset \mathbf{P}} \left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right)^{q} \right]^{p/q} \mathrm{d}x \right\}^{1/p}$$

Obviously, we have

$$\|t\|_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \sup_{\substack{P \text{ dyadic}}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{\substack{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j} \\ \mathcal{Q}\subset P}} \left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s/n-1/2+1/p} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}| \right)^{p} \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q}$$
(10)

Similarly to the case of $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we use $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to denote either $\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ means $\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then the case $p = \infty$ is excluded.

Let φ and ψ satisfy (1) through (4). Recall that the φ -transform S_{φ} is defined to be the map taking each $f \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to the sequence $S_{\varphi}f = \{(S_{\varphi}f)_{\varrho}\}_{\varrho}$, where $(S_{\varphi}f)_{\varrho} \equiv \langle f, \varphi_{\varrho} \rangle$ for all dyadic cubes Q; the inverse φ -transform T_{ψ} is defined to be the map taking a sequence $t = \{t_{\varrho}\}_{\varrho}$ to $T_{\psi}t = \sum_{\varrho} t_{\varrho}\psi_{\varrho}$; see, for example, [45, 175]. Then we have the following result.

Theorem (4.1.5) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ and φ and ψ satisfy (1) through (4). Then the operators $S_{\varphi} : \dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $T_{\psi} : \dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are bounded. Furthermore, $T_{\psi} \circ S_{\varphi}$ is the identity on $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Lemma (4.1.6) [190]: Let $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$. Then there exist positive constants L_0 and C such that for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\sum_{Q \in Q, l(Q) = 2^{-j}} \frac{|Q|^{\delta}}{\left(1 + |x_Q|^n / \max\{1, |Q|\}\right)^{L_0}} \le C2^{n(2|\delta|+1)|j|}$$

To show that T_{ψ} is well defined for all $t \in \dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we have the following conclusions. **Lemma (4.1.7) [190]:** Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\psi \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then for all $t \in \dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $T_{\psi}t = \sum_{\mathcal{Q}} t_{\mathcal{Q}}\psi_{\mathcal{Q}}$ converges in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; moreover, $T_{\psi} : \dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is continuous.

Proof: By Minkowski's inequality, we see that for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, $p \in (0, \infty)$ and $q \in (0, \infty]$, $\dot{b}_{p,\min(p,q)}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{b}_{p,\max\{p,q\}}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which implies that to prove Lemma (4.1.7), it suffices to show it for the space $\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let $t \in \dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We need to show that there exists an $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ such that for all $\phi \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\sum_{\mathcal{Q}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}| |\langle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}, \phi \rangle| \leq ||\phi||_{S_M}$. Indeed, observe that for all dyadic cubes \mathcal{Q} , $|t_{\mathcal{Q}}| \leq ||t||_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} |\mathcal{Q}|^{s/n+1/2+\tau-1/p}$. We have

$$\sum_{\mathcal{Q}} |\mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| |\langle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}, \varphi \rangle| \leq ||\mathsf{t}||_{\dot{\mathsf{b}}^{\mathsf{S}, \mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{p}, \mathsf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{\mathsf{s}/n+1/2+\mathsf{\tau}-1/p} |\langle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}, \varphi \rangle|.$$

To complete the proof, we need the following estimate that for any L > 0, there exists an $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ such that for all $Q, P \in Q$,

$$\left|\langle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}, \phi_{\mathcal{P}} \rangle\right| \lesssim \left\|\psi\right\|_{S_{\mathcal{M}}} \left\|\phi\right\|_{S_{\mathcal{M}}} \left(1 + \frac{\left|x_{\mathcal{Q}} - x_{\mathcal{P}}\right|^{n}}{\max\{|\mathcal{P}|, |\mathcal{Q}|\}}\right)^{-L} \left(\min\left\{\frac{|\mathcal{Q}|}{|\mathcal{P}|}, \frac{|\mathcal{P}|}{|\mathcal{Q}|}\right\}\right)^{L}.$$
(11)
Recall that if $P = [0, 1)^n$, then $\phi_P \equiv \phi$. Applying (11) for $P = [0, 1)^n$, $Q = Q_{jk}$ and $L > \max\{1/p + 1/2 - s/n - \tau, 1/p + 3/2 + s/n + \tau, L_0\}$, where L_0 is as in Lemma (4.1.6), we obtain

$$\left|\langle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}, \phi \rangle\right| \lesssim \left\|\phi\right\|_{S_{\mathrm{M}}} \left(1 + \frac{\left|x_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|^{n}}{\max\{1, |\mathcal{Q}|\}}\right)^{-L} (\min\{2^{-jn}, 2^{jn}\})^{L}.$$

Then applying Lemma (4.1.6) yields that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}} |\mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| |\langle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}, \phi \rangle | \\ \lesssim \|\mathsf{t}\|_{\dot{\mathsf{b}}_{p,q}^{\mathbf{S},\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \|\phi\|_{\mathsf{S}_{\mathsf{M}}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-|j|n\mathsf{L}} 2^{-jn\left(\frac{\mathsf{S}}{n} + \frac{1}{2} + \tau - 1/p\right)} |\langle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}, \phi \rangle | \\ \times \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{Q}, l(\mathcal{Q}) = 2^{-j}} (1 + |x_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{n} / \max\{1, |\mathcal{Q}|\})^{-\mathsf{L}} \lesssim \|\mathsf{t}\|_{\dot{\mathsf{b}}_{p,q}^{\mathbf{S},\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \|\phi\|_{\mathsf{S}_{\mathsf{M}}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, $T_{\psi}t = \sum_{\mathcal{Q}} t_{\mathcal{Q}}\psi_{\mathcal{Q}}$ converges in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; moreover, for all $t \in \dot{b}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $|\langle T_{\psi}t, \varphi \rangle| \leq ||t||_{\dot{b}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} ||\varphi||_{S_M}$, which completes the proof of Lemma (4.1.7).

For a sequence $t = \{t_Q\}_Q$, $r \in (0, \infty]$ and a fixed $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$, set

$$\left(\mathbf{t}_{r,\lambda}^{*}\right)_{\mathcal{Q}} \equiv \left(\sum_{\{\mathbf{R}:l(\mathbf{R})=l(\mathcal{Q})\}} \frac{|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{R}}|^{\mathbf{r}}}{\left(1+l(\mathbf{R})^{-1} |\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{R}}-\mathbf{x}_{\mathcal{Q}}|\right)^{\lambda}}\right)^{1/\mathbf{r}}$$
We have the following estimates

and $t_{r,\lambda}^* \equiv \left\{ \left(t_{r,\lambda}^* \right)_Q \right\}_Q$. We have the following estimates.

Lemma (4.1.8) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\lambda \in (n, \infty)$. Then there exists a constant $C \in [1, \infty)$ such that for all $t \in \dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $||t||_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq ||t_{\min\{p,q\},\lambda}^*||_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C ||t||_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Proof: Notice that $|t_{\mathcal{Q}}| \leq (t_{r,\lambda}^*)_{\mathcal{Q}}$ holds for all dyadic cubes \mathcal{Q} . This observation immediately implies that $||t||_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq ||t_{p\wedge q,\lambda}^*||_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, where $p \wedge q = \min\{p,q\}$.

To see the converses, fix a dyadic cube P. Let $r_Q \equiv t_Q$ if $Q \subset 3P$ and $r_Q \equiv 0$ otherwise, and let $u_Q \equiv t_Q - r_Q$. Set $r \equiv \{r_Q\}_Q$ and $u \equiv \{u_Q\}_Q$. Then for all dyadic cubes Q, we have

$$\left(\mathbf{t}_{p\wedge q,\lambda}^{*}\right)_{Q}^{\tilde{p}\wedge q} = \left(\mathbf{r}_{p\wedge q,\lambda}^{*}\right)_{Q}^{\tilde{p}\wedge q} + \left(\mathbf{u}_{p\wedge q,\lambda}^{*}\right)_{Q}^{p\wedge q}.$$
(12)

4 1 --

Applying the fact that for each sequence $t = \{t_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}}$, $\|t_{p\wedge q,\lambda}^*\|_{\dot{b}^{s}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sim \|t\|_{\dot{b}^{s}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ and $\|t_{p\wedge q,\lambda}^*\|_{\dot{f}^{s}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sim \|t\|_{\dot{f}^{s}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ (see [106]), we then have

$$\begin{split} I_{P} &\equiv \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{\substack{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j} \\ \mathcal{Q} \subset P}} \left[|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s/n-1/2+1/p} (r_{p \wedge q, \lambda}^{*})_{\mathcal{Q}} \right]^{p} \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \leq \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\| r_{p \wedge q, \lambda}^{*} \right\|_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\lesssim \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \| r \|_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \| t \|_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \end{split}$$

and similarly,

$$\tilde{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathbf{P}} \equiv \frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbf{P}} \left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q} \subset \mathbf{P}} \left[|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s/n-1/2} (\mathbf{r}_{p \wedge q, \lambda}^{*})_{\mathcal{Q}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right]^{q} \right]^{p/q} \mathrm{d}x \right\}^{1/p} \lesssim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

On the other hand, let $Q \subset P$ be a dyadic cube with $l(Q) = 2^{-j}l(P)$ for some $i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. Suppose \tilde{Q} is any dyadic cube with $l(\tilde{Q}) = l(Q) = 2^{-j}l(P)$ and $\tilde{Q} \subset P + kl(P) \not\subseteq 3P$ for some $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, where $P + kl(Q) \equiv \{x + kl(P) : x \in P\}$. Then $|k| \ge 2$ and $1 + l(\tilde{Q})^{-1}|x_Q - x_{\tilde{Q}}| \sim 2^i |k|$. Thus,

$$\begin{split} J_{P} &\equiv \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{\substack{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-i}l(P)\\\mathcal{Q}\subset P}} \left[|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s/n-1/2+1/p} (u_{p\wedge q,\lambda}^{*})_{\mathcal{Q}} \right]^{p} \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\lesssim \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{inq/p-i\lambda q/(p\wedge q)} \left[\sum_{\substack{k\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}\\|k|\geq 2}} |k|^{-\lambda} \sum_{\substack{l(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}})=2^{-i}l(P)\\\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}\subset P+kl(P)}} \left(|\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}|^{-s/n-1/2+1/p} |t_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}}| \right)^{p\wedge q} \right]^{\frac{q}{p\wedge q}} \right\}^{1/q} \end{split}$$

When $p \le q$, by $\lambda > n$, we have

$$J_{P} \lesssim \|t\|_{\dot{b}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{inq/p-i\lambda q/p} \left(\sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |k| \ge 2}} |k|^{-\lambda} \right)^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \lesssim \|t\|_{\dot{b}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})};$$

when p > q, by Hölder's inequality and $\lambda > n$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} J_{\mathrm{P}} &\lesssim \frac{1}{|\mathrm{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{inq/\mathrm{p}-i\lambda} \left[\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |\mathbf{k}| \geq 2}} |\mathbf{k}|^{-\lambda} \sum_{\substack{l(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}) = 2^{-i}l(\mathrm{P}) \\ \tilde{\mathcal{Q}} \subset \mathrm{P}+kl(\mathrm{P})}} \left(|\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}|^{-s/n-1/2+1/\mathrm{p}} |\mathbf{t}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}}| \right)^{q} \right] \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\lesssim \||\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{\mathbf{b}}^{S,\tau}_{\mathrm{p},q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{in-i\lambda} \left(\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |\mathbf{k}| \geq 2}} |\mathbf{k}|^{-\lambda} \right) \right\}^{1/q} \lesssim \||\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{\mathbf{b}}^{S,\tau}_{\mathrm{p},q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, by (12), $\|\mathbf{t}_{\min\{p,q\},\lambda}^*\|_{\dot{\mathbf{b}}_{p,q}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \sup_{\mathbf{P}\in\mathcal{Q}} (\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{P}} + \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{P}}) \lesssim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{\mathbf{b}}_{p,q}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$ To complete the proof, for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, $\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$ and dyadic cube P, set $\mathbf{A}(i, \mathbf{k}, \mathbf{P}) \equiv \{ \tilde{\mathcal{Q}} \in \mathcal{Q} : l(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}) = 2^{-i}l(\mathbf{P}), \quad \tilde{\mathcal{Q}} \subset \mathbf{P} + kl(\mathbf{P}), \quad \tilde{\mathcal{Q}} \cap (3\mathbf{P}) = \emptyset \}.$

Recall that $1 + l(\tilde{Q})^{-1} |x_Q - x_{\tilde{Q}}| \sim 2^i |\mathbf{k}|$ for any $Q \subset P$ and $\tilde{Q} \in A(i, \mathbf{k}, P)$, and that for all $d \in [0, 1]$ and $\{a_j\}_i \subset \mathbb{C}$,

$$\left(\sum_{j} |a_{j}|\right)^{d} \leq \sum_{j} |a_{j}|^{d}.$$
(13)

P and $a \in \{0, p, q, q\}$

By (13), we obtain that for all $x \in P$ and $a \in (0, p \land q]$,

$$\sum_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}\in\mathcal{A}(i,k,P)} \frac{\left(\left|\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}\right|^{-s/n-1/2} \left|t_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}}\right|\right)^{p/q}}{\left(1+l(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}})^{-1} \left|x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}}\right|\right)^{\lambda}}$$

$$\lesssim 2^{-i(\lambda-n(p\wedge q)/a)} |k|^{-\lambda} \left[M_{\mathrm{HL}} \left(\sum_{\substack{l(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}})=2^{-i}l(P)\\\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}\subset P+kl(P)}} \left(\left|\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}\right|^{-s/n} \left|t_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}}\right|\tilde{\chi}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}}\right)^{a} \right) (x+kl(P)) \right]^{\frac{p/q}{a}},$$

where herein and in what follows, M_{HL} denotes the Hardy-Littlewood maximal function on \mathbb{R}^n . Let $a \equiv \frac{2n(p \land q)}{n+\lambda}$. Then $a \in (0, p \land q)$. Applying Minkowski's inequality, Fefferman-Stein's vector-valued inequality and Hölder's inequality, we have

$$\tilde{J}_{P} \equiv \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{Q \subset P} \left[|Q|^{-\frac{s}{n} - \frac{1}{2}} (u_{p \wedge q, \lambda}^{*})_{Q} \chi_{Q}(x) \right]^{q} \right]^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p}$$

$$\lesssim \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |k| \ge 2}} 2^{-i(\lambda - n(p \wedge q)/a)} |k|^{-\lambda} \right] \right\}^{1/p} \right\}$$

$$\times \left[\mathsf{M}_{\mathsf{HL}} \left(\sum_{\substack{l(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}) = 2^{-i} l(\mathsf{P}) \\ \tilde{\mathcal{Q}} \subset \mathsf{P} + k l(\mathsf{P})}} \left(|\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}|^{-s/n} | \mathbf{t}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}} | \tilde{\chi}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}} \right)^{a} \right) (x + k l(\mathsf{P})) \right]_{a}^{\frac{p \wedge q}{p \wedge q}} \right]^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p}$$

 $\lesssim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{f}^{\mathbf{s},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$

Therefore, by (12) again, $\|t_{\min\{p,q\},\lambda}^*\|_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \sup_{P \in \mathcal{Q}} (\tilde{I}_P + \tilde{J}_P) \lesssim \|t\|_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, which completes the proof of Lemma (4.1.8).

Let φ satisfy (1) through (3). Since $\widetilde{\varphi}(x) \equiv \overline{\varphi(-x)}$ also satisfy (1) through (3), we may take $\widetilde{\varphi}$ in place of φ in the definition of $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For any $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $Q \in Q$ with $l(Q) = 2^{-j}$, define the sequence $\sup(f) \equiv \left\{\sup_{Q}(f)\right\}_{Q}$ by setting $\sup_{Q}(f) \equiv |Q|^{1/2} \sup_{y \in Q} |\widetilde{\varphi}_j * f(y)|$, and for any $\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, the sequence $\inf_{\gamma}(f) \equiv \left\{\inf_{Q,\gamma}(f)\right\}_{Q}$ by setting $\inf_{Q,\gamma}(f) \equiv \inf_{Q,\gamma}(f) \equiv |Q|^{1/2} \max\left\{\inf_{y \in \widetilde{Q}} |\widetilde{\varphi}_j * f(y)| : l(\widetilde{Q}) = 2^{-\gamma} l(Q), \widetilde{Q} \subset Q\right\}$. We have the following estimates.

Lemma (4.1.9) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ be sufficiently large. Then there exists a constant $C \in [1, \infty)$ such that for all $f \in \dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$C^{-1} \left\| \inf_{\gamma} (f) \right\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \| f \|_{\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \| \sup(f) \|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq C \left\| \inf_{\gamma} (f) \right\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

Proof: From Definitions (4.1.1), (4.1.4) and the definition of $\sup(f)$, it immediately follows that $||f||_{\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq ||\sup(f)||_{\dot{a}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

To prove the converses, define a sequence $t \equiv \{t_J\}_J$ by setting $t_J \equiv |J|^{1/2} \inf_{y \in J} |\widetilde{\varphi}_{i-\gamma} * f(y)|$ for all $J \in Q$ with $l(J) = 2^{-j}$. Then for all $r \in (0, \infty)$, dyadic cubes Q with $l(Q) = 2^{-j}$ and a fixed $\lambda > n$, we have

$$\inf_{\mathcal{Q},\gamma}(f)\,\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \lesssim 2^{\gamma\lambda/r} \sum_{\substack{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}\subset \mathcal{Q}\\l(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}})=2^{-\gamma}l(\mathcal{Q})}} (\mathfrak{t}_{r,\lambda}^*)_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}}\tilde{\chi}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}}$$

Picking $\mathbf{r} = \min(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q})$, then by Lemma (4.1.8), we obtain $\left\| \inf_{\gamma}(f) \right\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \left\| t \right\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \left\| f \right\|_{\dot{A}_{p,q}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$. Finally, for each $\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{Z}$, applying Lemma A.4 in [106] to the function $\widetilde{\varphi}_{\mathbf{j}} * f(2^{-j}x)$, we obtain that for all dyadic cubes Q with $l(Q) = 2^{-j}$, $(\sup(f)_{r,\lambda}^{*})_{Q} \sim \left(\inf_{\gamma}(f)_{r,\lambda}^{*} \right)_{Q}$, where $\mathbf{r} = \min(\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q})$. Thus, $\left\| \sup(f)_{r,\lambda}^{*} \right\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sim \left\| \inf_{\gamma}(f)_{r,\lambda}^{*} \right\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$, which together with Lemma (4.1.8) yields

 $\|\sup(f)\|_{\dot{a}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sim \left\|\inf_{\gamma}(f)\right\|_{\dot{a}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$ This finishes the proof of Lemma (4.1.9).

Corollary (4.1.10) [190]: With all the notations as in Definition (4.1.1), then the spaces $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are independent of the choice of φ .

Let φ satisfy (1) through (3). In Lin and Wang [180], introduced spaces $\dot{b}bmo_p^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $\dot{B}BMO_p^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to establish certain T(1) theorem for Besov spaces. Recall that the sequence space $\dot{b}bmo_p^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the set of all sequences $\{t_Q\}_Q \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\|t\|_{\dot{b}bmo_{p}^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = \sup_{\substack{P \text{ dyadic}}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\frac{1}{|P|} \sum_{\substack{l(Q)=2^{-j} \\ Q \subset P}} (|Q|^{-s/n-1/2+1/p} |t_{Q}|)^{p} \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} < \infty,$$

and the space $\dot{B}BMO_{p}^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ in [180] is defined to be the set of all distributions f such that $\|f\|_{\dot{B}BMO_{p}^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \|S_{\varphi}f\|_{\dot{b}bmo_{p}^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} < \infty$. Obviously, $\dot{b}bmo_{p}^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \equiv \dot{b}bmo_{p,q}^{s,1/p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, which together with Theorem (4.1.5) yields that $\dot{B}BMO_{p}^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \equiv \dot{B}BMO_{p,q}^{s,1/p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. Thus, Theorem (4.1.5) also gives the φ -transform characterization of the spaces $\dot{B}BMO_{p}^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$.

From Definition (4.1.1), it is easy to deduce the following basic properties of the spaces $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; see also [41]. In what follows, the symbol \subset stands for continuous embedding.

$$\begin{split} & \textbf{Proposition} \ (\textbf{4.1.11}) \ [\textbf{190}] \textbf{:} \ \text{Let} \ \tau, \textbf{s} \in \mathbb{R} \ \text{and} \ \textbf{p}, \textbf{q} \in (0, \infty] \textbf{.} \\ & (i) \ \text{If} \ \textbf{q}_1 \leq \textbf{q}_2, \ \text{then} \ \dot{A}_{p, \textbf{q}_1}^{s, \tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{A}_{p, \textbf{q}_2}^{s, \tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \textbf{;} \\ & (ii) \dot{A}_{p_{2}, \textbf{q}}^{s, \tau + \frac{1}{p_2} - \frac{1}{p_1}}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{A}_{p_{1}, \textbf{q}}^{s, \tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \ \text{for} \ \textbf{0} < \textbf{p}_1 \leq \textbf{p}_2 \leq \infty \textbf{;} \\ & (iii) \quad \text{If} \ \textbf{\epsilon} \in (0, \infty) \ \text{and} \ \textbf{q}_1, \textbf{q}_2 \in (0, \infty], \ \text{then} \ \dot{A}_{p, \textbf{q}_1}^{s + \varepsilon, \tau - \frac{\varepsilon}{n}}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{A}_{p, \textbf{q}_2}^{s, \tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \textbf{;} \\ & (iv) \quad \text{If} \ \tau \in [0, 1/p), \ \text{then} \ \dot{A}_{\frac{p}{1-\tau p', q}}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{A}_{p, \textbf{q}}^{s, \tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \textbf{;} \\ & (v) \text{If} \ \tau = 0, \ \text{then} \ \dot{B}_{p, \textbf{q}}^{s, \tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{B}_{p, \textbf{q}}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n) \ \text{for} \ \textbf{p} \in (0, \infty] \ \text{and} \ \dot{F}_{p, \textbf{q}}^{s, \tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{F}_{p, \textbf{q}}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n) \ \text{for} \ \textbf{p} \in (0, \infty) \ \text{with equivalent norms;} \\ & (vi) \quad \text{If} \ \tau \in (-\infty, 0), \ \text{then} \ \dot{A}_{p, \textbf{q}}^{s, \tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n), \ \text{where} \ \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n) \ \text{denotes the set of all} \end{split}$$

(vi) If $\tau \in (-\infty, 0)$, then $A_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes the set of all polynomials on \mathbb{R}^n ;

(vii) For all
$$p \in (0, \infty)$$
, $\dot{B}_{p,\min\{p,q\}}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{B}_{p,\max\{p,q\}}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$;

- (viii) For each $r \in (0, \infty)$, $\dot{F}_{r,q}^{s,-}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{F}_{\infty,q}^{s,-}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with equivalent norms;
- (ix) Let $\tau \in [0, \infty)$. Then $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: The properties (i) through (vii) are simple corollaries of both the monotonicity of the l^q -norm on q (see (13)) and Hölder's inequality. We leave the details to the reader. Property (viii) is just [106, Corollary 5.7].

To prove (ix), let $f \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and φ be as in Definition (4.1.1). Then by Lemma (4.1.3), we obtain that for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$|\varphi_{k} * f(x)| \leq ||f||_{S_{M+1}} ||\varphi||_{S_{M+1}} 2^{-|k|M} \frac{2^{-(0\wedge k)M}}{(2^{-(0\wedge k)} + |x|)^{n+M'}}$$

where M > 0 will be determined later. We now show $f \in B_{p,q}^{s,\iota}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let P be an arbitrary dyadic cube. If $j_P \ge 0$, choosing M > max{0, n(1/p - 1), s + $n\tau$ }, we then have

$$J_{P} \equiv \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} 2^{j_{Sq}} \left[\int_{P} \sum_{l(Q)=2^{-j}} |\varphi_{j} * f(x)|^{p} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \lesssim ||f||_{S_{M+1}} ||\varphi||_{S_{M+1}}$$

If $j_P < 0$, then $|P|^{-\tau} \le 1$ for all $\tau \in [0, \infty)$. Letting $M > \max\{0, s, n(1/p - 1), +n(1/p - 1) - s\}$, we see that

$$J_{P} \leq \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{jsq} \left[\int_{P} |\phi_{j} * f(x)|^{p} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} + \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{-1} 2^{jsq} \dots \right\}^{1/q} \leq \|f\|_{S_{M+1}} \|\phi\|_{S_{M+1}}.$$

Thus, $||f||_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \sup_{P \in \mathcal{Q}} J_P \lesssim ||f||_{S_{M+1}} ||\varphi||_{S_{M+1}}$, namely, $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}, \tau \in [0,\infty)$ and $p,q \in (0,\infty]$.

Applying Proposition (4.1.11) (vii), we also have $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,\min\{p,q\}}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which completes the proof of Proposition (4.1.11).

Proposition (4.1.12) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $q \in (0, \infty]$.

(i) If $r \in (0, \infty)$, then $\dot{B}^{s}_{\infty,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \subsetneq \dot{B}^{s,1/r}_{r,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and particularly $\dot{B}^{s}_{\infty,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \subsetneq \dot{B}^{s}_{\infty,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$.

(ii) If $r \in [q, \infty]$, then $\dot{B}_{r,q}^{s,1/r}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \check{B}_{\infty,q}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$; if $r \in (0,q]$, then $\dot{B}_{\infty,q}^s(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{B}_{r,q}^{s,1/r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: By Theorem (4.1.5), it suffices to prove the corresponding conclusions on sequence spaces $\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

- (i) The proof of $\dot{b}_{\infty,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \subset \dot{b}_{r,q}^{s,1/r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ is trivial. Next we show that there exists certain $t \in \dot{b}_{r,q}^{s,1/r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ but $||t||_{\dot{b}_{\infty,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = \infty$. Indeed, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $Q \in Q$ with $l(Q) = 2^{-j}$, let $t_{Q} \equiv 2^{-jn(s/n+1/2)}$ when $Q = [0, 2^{-j})^{n}$ and $t_{Q} \equiv 0$ otherwise. Obviously, $||t||_{\dot{b}_{\infty,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = \infty$. Observe that if a dyadic cube P contains $[0, 2^{-j})^{n}$, then $P = [0, 2^{-j_{P}})^{n}$ and $j_{P} \leq j$. Hence, $||t||_{\dot{b}_{r,q}^{s,1/r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = \sup_{j_{P} \in \mathbb{Z}} \{\sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} 2^{-(j-j_{P})nq/r}\}^{1/q} \leq 1$. That is, $t \in \dot{b}_{r,q}^{s,1/r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$.
- (ii) From Hölder's inequality, it is easy to deduce that if $r \in [q, \infty]$, then $||t||_{\dot{b}^{s}_{\infty,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq ||t||_{\dot{b}^{s,1/r}_{r,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$, and if $r \in (0,q]$, then $||t||_{\dot{b}^{s,1/r}_{r,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq ||t||_{\dot{b}^{s}_{\infty,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$, which completes the proof of Proposition (4.1.12).

We establish some embedding results, which generalize the classical results on Besov spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see [41]). In fact, if $\tau = 0$, then Proposition (4.1.13) is just [41, Theorem 2.7.1].

Proposition (4.1.13) [190]: Let $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, r, $q \in (0, \infty]$ and $-\infty < s_1 < s_0 < \infty$. (i) If $0 < p_0 < p_1 \le \infty$ such that $s_0 - n/p_0 = s_1 - n/p_1$, then $\dot{B}_{p_0,q}^{s_0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{B}_{p_1,q}^{s_1,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. (ii) If $0 < p_0 < p_1 < \infty$ such that $s_0 - n/p_0 = s_1 - n/p_1$, then $\dot{F}_{p_0,r}^{s_0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{F}_{p_1,q}^{s_1,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. **Proof:** By Theorem (4.1.5), it suffices to prove the corresponding conclusions on sequence spaces $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

The embedding $\dot{b}_{p_0,q}^{s_0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{b}_{p_1,q}^{s_1,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is immediately deduced from (10) and (13). To prove $\dot{f}_{p_0,r}^{s_0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{f}_{p_1,q}^{s_1,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, by Proposition (4.1.11)(i), we only need to show that $\dot{f}_{p_0,\infty}^{s_0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{f}_{p_1,q}^{s_1,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let $t \in \dot{f}_{p_0,\infty}^{s_0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. By the homogeneity of $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, without loss of generality, we may assume that $\|t\|_{\dot{f}^{s_0,\tau}_{p_0,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1.$

For any $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$ and $P \in Q$, pick $N \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$\left\{1 - 2^{-qn/p_1}\right\}^{1/q} \frac{\lambda}{2^{1+n/p_1}} < |\mathsf{P}|^{\tau} 2^{nN/p_1} \le \left\{1 - 2^{-qn/p_1}\right\}^{1/q} \frac{\lambda}{2}.$$

If $N \ge j_P$, since $|Q|^{-s_0/n-1/2} |t_Q| \le |Q|^{\tau-1/p_0} ||t||_{\dot{f}_{p_0,\infty}^{s_0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 2^{-jn(\tau-1/p_0)}$ for all $Q \in Q$ with $l(Q) = 2^{-j}$, this together with $s_0 - n/p_0 = s_1 - n/p_1$ yields that

$$\left\{\sum_{\substack{j=j_{P}\\Q \subset P}}^{N} 2^{-jq(s_{0}-s_{1})} \sup_{\substack{l(Q)=2^{-j}\\Q \subset P}} \left(|Q|^{-s_{0}/n} \left| t_{Q} \right| \tilde{\chi}_{Q}(x) \right)^{q} \right\}^{1/q} \leq |P|^{\tau} 2^{nN/p_{1}} \left\{1 - 2^{-qn/p_{1}}\right\}^{-1/q} \leq \lambda/2,$$

and

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{j=N+1}^{\infty} 2^{-jq(s_0-s_1)} \sup_{\substack{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}\\\mathcal{Q}\subset P}} \left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s_0/n} | \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} | \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right)^q \end{cases}^{1/q} \\ \leq 2^{-p_1(s_0-s_1)/n} \{ 1 - 2^{-qn/p_1} \}^{-p_1(s_0-s_1)/qn} \{ 1 - 2^{-q(s_0-s_1)} \}^{-1/q} \\ \times |P|^{\tau p_1(s_0-s_1)/n} \lambda^{-p_1(s_0-s_1)/n} \sup_{\mathcal{Q}\subset P} \left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s_0/n} | \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} | \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right). \end{cases}$$

Notice that for all dyadic cubes P,

$$\left\{\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\subset P} \left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s_0/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)\right)^q\right\}^{1/q} = \left\{\sum_{\substack{j=j_P\\\mathcal{Q}\subset P}}^{\infty} 2^{-jq(s_0-s_1)} \sup_{\substack{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}\\\mathcal{Q}\subset P}} \left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s_0/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)\right)^q\right\}^{1/q}.$$

Then by $s_0 - n/p_0 = s_1 - n/p_1$, we have

and hence

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{f}_{p_{1},q}^{\mathbf{s}_{1},\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\mathbf{p}_{1}} \lesssim \sup_{\mathbf{P} \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{-\tau \mathbf{p}_{0}}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda^{\mathbf{p}_{0}-1} \left| \left\{ x \in \mathbf{P} : \sup_{\mathcal{Q} \subset \mathbf{P}} \left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathbf{s}_{1}/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right) > \lambda \right\} \right| d\lambda \sim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{f}_{p_{1},\infty}^{\mathbf{s}_{0},\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\mathbf{p}_{0}} \sim 1.$$
For the case $\mathbf{N} \leq i_{\mathbf{P}}$ notice that

For the case $N \leq J_P$, house that

$$\left\{\sum_{\substack{j=j_{\mathrm{P}}\\\mathcal{Q}\subset\mathrm{P}}}^{\infty}\sup_{\substack{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}\\\mathcal{Q}\subset\mathrm{P}}}\left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s_{1}/n}|\mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)\right)^{q}\right\}^{1/q} \leq \left\{\sum_{\substack{j=\mathrm{N}+1\\\mathcal{Q}\subset\mathrm{P}}}^{\infty}\sup_{\substack{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}\\\mathcal{Q}\subset\mathrm{P}}}\left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s_{1}/n}|\mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)\right)^{q}\right\}^{1/q}.$$

By the argument same as above, we also obtain $\|t\|_{\dot{f}^{S_1,\tau}_{p_1,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$, which completes the proof of Proposition (4.1.13).

From Proposition (4.1.13), we deduce the following properties of the space $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Recall that the symbol \subset stands for continuous embedding

Proposition (4.1.12) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}, \tau \in [0, \infty)$ and $p, q \in (0, \infty]$. Then $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: We first show that $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, namely, there exists an $M \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $f \in \dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\phi \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $|\langle f, \phi \rangle| \leq ||f||_{\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} ||\phi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}}$. Indeed, let φ be as in Definition (4.1.1). By [176, Lemma (6.9)], there exists a function ψ such that φ and ψ satisfy (1) through (4). Then by [189, Lemma 2.1] and Lemma (4.1.3), we obtain

$$\begin{split} |\langle f, \phi \rangle| &\leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\psi_j * \phi(x)| |\varphi_j * f(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\lesssim \|\phi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-|j|M} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{j \wedge 0, k}} \frac{2^{-(j \wedge 0)M}}{(2^{-(j \wedge 0)M} + |x|)^{n+M}} |\varphi_j * f(x)| \, \mathrm{d}x, \end{split}$$

where $Q_{j \wedge 0,k}$ denotes the dyadic cube $2^{-(j \wedge 0)}(k + [0, 1)^n)$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$ will be determined later.

Notice that there exist 2^n disjoint dyadic cubes $\{Q_{j\wedge 0}^l\}_{l=1}^{2^n}$ with $l(Q_{j\wedge 0}^l) = 2^{-(j\wedge 0)}$ such that the ball $B(0, 2^{-(j\wedge 0)}) \subset (\bigcup_{l=1}^n Q_{j\wedge 0}^l)$. Obviously, if $Q_{j\wedge 0,k} \notin \{Q_{j\wedge 0}^l\}_{l=1}^{2^n}$ and $x \in Q_{j\wedge 0,k}$, then $|x| \ge 2^{-(j\wedge 0)}$. Moreover, if setting

$$\chi_{j,m}(\mathbf{k}) \equiv \chi_{\{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}:2^{m-(j\wedge 0)}\leq |c_{\mathcal{Q}_{j\wedge 0,\mathbf{k}}}|<2^{m+1-(j\wedge 0)}\}}(\mathbf{k}),$$

where $c_{Q_{j\wedge 0,k}}$ denotes the center of $Q_{j\wedge 0,k}$ we then have $\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^n}\chi_{j,m}(k) \leq 2^{mn}$. If $p \in [1, \infty]$, choose $M > \max\{-s, s + n\tau - n/p\}$. Then applying Hölder's inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} |\langle f, \phi \rangle| &\lesssim \|\phi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-|j|M} \left\{ \sum_{l=1}^{2^n} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{j\wedge 0}^l} \frac{2^{-(j\wedge 0)M}}{(2^{-(j\wedge 0)M} + |x|)^{n+M}} \Big| \varphi_j * f(x) \Big| dx \\ &+ \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi_{j,m}(k) \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{j\wedge 0,k}} \cdots \right\} \lesssim \|\phi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}. \end{split}$$

The case $p \in (0, 1)$ is deduced from the embedding $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{B}_{1,q}^{s-n/p+n,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in Proposition (4.1.13).

For Triebel-Liorkin-type spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, applying Proposition (4.1.11)(vii), we obtain $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{B}_{p,\max\{p,q\}}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which completes the proof of Proposition (4.1.14).

Now we have the following lifting property. For $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, recall that the lifting operator \dot{I}_{σ} (see, for example, [41]) is defined by $(\dot{I}_{\sigma}f)(x) \equiv (|\cdot|^{\sigma}\hat{f})^{\vee}(x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$

and $f \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}^{'}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, where the symbol $^{\vee}$ denotes the inverse Fourier transform. It is well-known that \dot{I}_{σ} maps $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}^{'}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ onto itself.

Proposition (4.1.15) [190]: Let $s, \sigma \in \mathbb{R}, \tau \in [0, \infty)$ and $p, q \in (0, \infty]$. Then \dot{I}_{σ} maps $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ isomorphically onto $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s-\sigma,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; moreover, $||f||_{\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s-\sigma,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ is an equivalent quasinorm on $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

The proof of Proposition (4.1.15) is standard (see [41]).

As an application of Theorem (4.1.5), we study boundedness of operators in $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ by first considering their boundedness in corresponding $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We show that almost diagonal operators are bounded on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for appropriate indices, which generalize the classical results on $\dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; see [106, 176].

Definition (4.1.16) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, \infty)$. Let $J \equiv n/\min\{1, p\}$ when $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $J \equiv n/\min\{1, p, q\}$ when $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. An operator A associated with a matrix $\{a_{QP}\}_{Q,P}$, namely, for all sequences $t = \{t_Q\}_Q \subset \mathbb{C}$, At $\equiv \{(At)_Q\}_Q \equiv \{\sum_P a_{QP} t_P\}_Q$, is called ε -almost diagonal on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if the matrix $\{a_{QP}\}_{Q,P}$ satisfies $\sup_{Q,P} |a_{QP}|/\omega_{QP}(\varepsilon) < \infty$, where

$$\omega_{QP}(\varepsilon) \equiv \left(\frac{l(Q)}{l(P)}\right)^{s} \left(1 + \frac{|x_Q - x_P|}{\max(l(P), l(Q))}\right)^{-J-\varepsilon} \times \min\left[\left(\frac{l(Q)}{l(P)}\right)^{(n+\varepsilon)/2}, \left(\frac{l(P)}{l(Q)}\right)^{(n+\varepsilon)/2+J-n}\right].$$

Theorem (4.1.17) [190]: Let $\varepsilon \in (0, \infty)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\tau \in [0, 1/p + \varepsilon/(2n))$. Then all ε -almost diagonal operators on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are bounded on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: Let $t = \{t_Q\}_Q \in \dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and A be a ε -almost diagonal operator on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ associated with the matrix $\{a_{QR}\}_{Q,R}$ and $\varepsilon \in (0,\infty)$. Without loss of generality, we may assume s = 0. Indeed, if the conclusion holds for s = 0, let $\tilde{t}_R \equiv l(R)^{-s} t_R$ and B be the operator associated with the matrix $\{b_{QR}\}_{Q,R}$, where $b_{QR} \equiv (l(R)/l(Q))^s a_{QR}$ for all $Q, R \in Q$. Then we have $\|At\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \|B\tilde{t}\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|\tilde{t}\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sim \|t\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, which deduces the desired conclusions.

We now consider the space $\dot{b}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the case $\min(p,q) > 1$. For all $Q \in Q$, we write $A \equiv A_0 + A_1 \operatorname{with}(A_0 t)_Q \equiv \sum_{\{R:l(R) \ge l(Q)\}} a_{QR} t_R$ and $(A_1 t)_Q \equiv \sum_{\{R:l(R) < l(Q)\}} a_{QR} t_R$. By Definition (4.1.16), we see that for all $Q \in Q$,

$$\left| (\mathbf{A}_0 \mathbf{t})_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \lesssim \sum_{\{\mathbf{R}: l(\mathbf{R}) \ge l(\mathcal{Q})\}} \left(\frac{l(\mathcal{Q})}{l(\mathbf{R})} \right)^{\frac{(n+\varepsilon)}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{R}}|}{\left(1 + l(\mathbf{R})^{-1} \left| x_{\mathcal{Q}} - x_{\mathbf{R}} \right| \right)^{n+\varepsilon}}$$

and therefore

$$\begin{split} \|A_{0}t\|_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} &\lesssim \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\int_{P} \left(\sum_{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} \sum_{\{R:l(\mathcal{Q})\leq l(R)\leq l(P)\}} \left(\frac{l(\mathcal{Q})}{l(R)} \right)^{(n+\varepsilon)/2} \right. \right. \\ & \left. \times \frac{|t_{R}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)}{\left(1+l(R)^{-1}|x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{R}|\right)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right)^{p} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \\ & \left. + \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\int_{P} \left(\sum_{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} \sum_{\{R:l(R)>l(P)\}} \cdots \right)^{p} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \equiv I_{1} + I_{2}. \end{split}$$

For all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}$, set $U_{0,i} \equiv \{R \in Q : l(R) = 2^{-i} \text{ and } |x_Q - x_R| < l(R)\}$ and, $U_{m,i} \equiv \{R \in Q : l(R) = 2^{-i} \text{ and } 2^{m-1} l(R) \le |x_Q - x_R| < 2^m l(R)\}$. Then we have $\#U_{m,i} \le 2^{mn}$, where $\#U_{m,i}$ denotes the cardinality of $U_{m,i}$. Notice that $|t_R| \le |R|^{1/2-1/p+\tau} ||t||_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ for all $R \in Q$. Thus, by $0 \le \tau < \frac{1}{p} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2n}$,

$$I_{2} \leq \|t\|_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\int_{P} \left(\sum_{l(Q)=2^{-j}} \sum_{i=-\infty}^{j_{P}-1} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{R \in U_{m,i}} \left(\frac{l(Q)}{l(R)} \right)^{(n+\varepsilon)/2} \right. \\ \left. \times \frac{|R|^{1/2-1/p+\tau} \tilde{\chi}_{Q}(x)}{\left(1+l(R)^{-1} |x_{Q}-x_{R}|\right)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right)^{p} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \leq \|t\|_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

For I_1 , let r and u be the same as in the proof of Lemma (4.1.8). We see that

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &\lesssim \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\iint_{P} \left(\sum_{l(Q)=2^{-j}} \sum_{i=j_{P}}^{j} 2^{(i-j)(n+\varepsilon)/2} \times \sum_{l(R)=2^{-i}} \frac{|r_{R}|\tilde{\chi}_{Q}(x)}{(1+l(R)^{-1}|x_{Q}-x_{R}|)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right)^{p} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &+ \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\iint_{P} \left(\sum_{l(Q)=2^{-j}} \sum_{i=j_{P}}^{j} 2^{(i-j)(n+\varepsilon)/2} \right)^{p} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\times \sum_{l(R)=2^{-i}} \frac{|u_{R}|\tilde{\chi}_{Q}(x)}{(1+l(R)^{-1}|x_{Q}-x_{R}|)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right)^{p} dx \\ \end{bmatrix}^{q/p} dx = J_{1} + J_{2} \end{split}$$

Applying [106, Remark A.3] with a = 1, for all $x \in Q$, we have

$$\sum_{l(R)=2^{-i}} \frac{|\mathbf{r}_{R}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)}{\left(1+l(R)^{-1}|x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{R}|\right)^{n+\varepsilon}} \lesssim \mathsf{M}_{\mathsf{HL}}\left(\sum_{l(R)=2^{-i}}|\mathbf{r}_{R}|\chi_{R}\right)(x).$$

Hence Hölder's inequality and the $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -boundedness for $p \in (1, \infty]$ of the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator yield

$$J_{1} \lesssim \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\int_{P} \left(\sum_{i=j_{P}}^{j} 2^{(i-j)\varepsilon/2} M_{HL} \left(\sum_{l(R)=2^{-i}} |r_{R}|\tilde{\chi}_{R} \right)(x) \right)^{p} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q}$$

$$\lesssim \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{i=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\int_{3P} \left(\sum_{l(R)=2^{-i}} |t_{R}|\tilde{\chi}_{R}(x) \right)^{p} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \lesssim ||t||_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})^{q/p}}$$

where the last inequality follows from Minkowski's inequality if q > p or (13) if $q \le p$. To estimate J_2 , we notice that if $R \cap (3P) = \emptyset$, then $R \subset P + kl(P)$ and $(P + kl(P)) \cap (3P) = \emptyset$ for some $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ with $|k| \ge 2$ and $1 + l(R)^{-1} |x_Q - x_R| \sim |k| l(P) / l(R)$. Therefore, by Hölder's inequality,

$$\begin{split} J_{2} &\lesssim \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau+1+\frac{\varepsilon}{n}}} \Biggl\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} 2^{-jq\varepsilon/2} \Biggl[\iint_{P} \left(\sum_{l(Q)=2^{-j}} \sum_{i=j_{P}}^{j} 2^{-i(n+\varepsilon)/2} \right)^{p} dx \Biggr]_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |k| \geq 2}}^{q/p} \\ &\times \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |k| \geq 2}} ||k||^{-n-\varepsilon} \sum_{\substack{l(R)=2^{-i} \\ R \subset P+kl(P)}} ||t_{R}|\chi_{R}(x) \Biggr)_{P} dx \Biggr]_{q}^{q/p} \Biggr\}_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |k| \geq 2}}^{1/q} \\ &\lesssim ||t||_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\frac{\varepsilon}{n}}} \Biggl\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} 2^{-jq\varepsilon/2} \Biggl[\sum_{\substack{i=j_{P} \\ i=j_{P}}}^{j} 2^{-i\varepsilon/2} \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |k| \geq 2}} ||k||^{-n-\varepsilon} \Biggr]_{q}^{q} \Biggr\}_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}}}^{1/q} \\ &\lesssim ||t||_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \exp_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\frac{\varepsilon}{n}}} \Biggl\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} 2^{-jq\varepsilon/2} \Biggl[\sum_{\substack{i=j_{P} \\ i=j_{P}}}^{j} 2^{-i\varepsilon/2} \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |k| \geq 2}} ||k|^{-n-\varepsilon} \Biggr]_{q}^{q} \Biggr\}_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}}}^{1/q} \\ &\lesssim ||t||_{\dot{b}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \exp_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\frac{\varepsilon}{n}}} \Biggl\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} 2^{-jq\varepsilon/2} \Biggl[\sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |k| \geq 2}} ||k|^{-n-\varepsilon} \Biggr]_{q}^{q} \Biggr\}_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}}}^{1/q}$$

Hence, $\|A_0t\|_{\dot{b}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|t\|_{\dot{b}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. Some similar computations to I_1 also yield that $\|A_1t\|_{\dot{b}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|t\|_{\dot{b}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

For Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces $\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we also have

$$\begin{split} \|A_{0}t\|_{\dot{f}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} &\lesssim \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q} \subset P} \left(\sum_{\{R:l(\mathcal{Q}) \leq l(R) \leq l(P)\}} \left(\frac{l(\mathcal{Q})}{l(R)} \right)^{(n+\varepsilon)/2} \right)^{(n+\varepsilon)/2} \right. \\ & \left. \times \frac{|t_{R}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)}{\left(1+l(R)^{-1}|x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{R}|\right)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right)^{q} \right]^{p/q} dx \\ & \left. + \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q} \subset P} \left(\sum_{\{R:l(R) > l(P)\}} \cdots \right)^{q} \right]^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \equiv \tilde{I}_{1} + \tilde{I}_{2}. \end{split}$$

Similarly to the estimate for I₂, applying the fact that $|t_R| \le |R|^{1/2-1/p+\tau} ||t||_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ and $\tau \in [0, \frac{1}{p} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2n})$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \tilde{I}_{2} &\lesssim \|\|t\|_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \sum_{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} \left(\sum_{i=-\infty}^{j_{P}-1} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{R \in U_{m,i}} \left(\frac{l(\mathcal{Q})}{l(R)} \right)^{(n+\varepsilon)/2} \right. \\ & \left. \times \frac{|R|^{1/2-1/p+\tau} \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)}{\left(1+l(R)^{-1} |x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{R}|\right)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right)^{q} \right]^{p/q} dx \\ \end{bmatrix}^{1/p} &\lesssim \|t\|_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}. \end{split}$$

To estimate \tilde{I}_1 , notice that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{I}_{1} &\lesssim \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \sum_{l(Q)=2^{-j}} \left(\sum_{i=j_{P}}^{j} 2^{(i-j)(n+\varepsilon)/2} \right)^{q} \right]^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\times \sum_{l(R)=2^{-i}} \frac{|r_{R}|\tilde{\chi}_{Q}(x)}{(1+l(R)^{-1}|x_{Q}-x_{R}|)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right)^{q} \right]^{p/q} dx \\ &+ \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \sum_{l(Q)=2^{-j}} \left(\sum_{i=j_{P}}^{j} 2^{(i-j)(n+\varepsilon)/2} \right)^{q} \right]^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\times \sum_{l(R)=2^{-i}} \frac{|u_{R}|\tilde{\chi}_{Q}(x)}{(1+l(R)^{-1}|x_{Q}-x_{R}|)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right)^{q} \right]^{p/q} dx \\ &= \tilde{J}_{1} + \tilde{J}_{2}. \end{split}$$

Similarly to the estimate of J_1 , by [106, Remark A.3], Hölder's inequality and the Fefferman-Stein vector valued inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \tilde{J}_{1} &\lesssim \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left(\sum_{i=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{i=j_{P}}^{j} 2^{(i-j)\varepsilon/2} M_{HL} \left(\sum_{l(R)=2^{-i}} |r_{R}| \tilde{\chi}_{R} \right) (x) \right]^{q} \right)^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{3P} \left(\sum_{i=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\left(\sum_{l(R)=2^{-i}} |t_{R}| \tilde{\chi}_{R} \right) (x) \right]^{q} \right)^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \|t\|_{\dot{f}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}. \end{split}$$

For \tilde{J}_2 , similarly to the estimate for J_2 , by Minkowski's inequality and the Fefferman-Stein vector-valued maximal inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \tilde{J}_{2} &\lesssim \sum_{\substack{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |k| \geq 2}} |k|^{-(n+\varepsilon)} \sup_{P \text{ dyadic}} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau+\varepsilon/n}} \begin{cases} \int_{P} \left(\sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{i=j_{P}}^{j} 2^{(i-j)\varepsilon/2} 2^{-i\varepsilon} \right] \\ &\times M_{HL} \left(\sum_{\substack{l(R)=2^{-i} \\ R \subset P+kl(P)}} |R|^{-1/2} |t_{R}| \chi_{R} \right) (x+kl(P)) \end{cases} \right]^{q} dx \end{split}^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \|t\|_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}. \end{split}$$

Hence $\|\mathbf{A}_0 \mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{f}^{0,\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{f}^{0,\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Some similar estimates to \tilde{I}_1 also yield that $||A_1t||_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq ||t||_{\dot{f}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. Thus, we obtain the desired conclusion for the case min{p, q} > 1.

The case min{p,q} ≤ 1 is a simple consequence of the case min{p,q} > 1. Indeed, choosing a $\delta \in (0, p \land q)$, then $p/\delta > 1$ and $q/\delta > 1$. Let \widetilde{A} be an operator on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ associated with the matrix $\{\widetilde{a}_{QP}\}_{Q,P} \equiv \{|a_{QP}|^{\delta}(l(Q)/l(P))^{n/2-\delta n/2}\}_{Q,P}$. Then \widetilde{A} is a ε -almost diagonal operator on $\dot{a}_{p/\delta,q/\delta}^{0,\tau\delta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\widetilde{\varepsilon} = \delta \varepsilon$.

Define $\tilde{t} \equiv \left\{ l(Q)^{n/2 - \delta n/2} |t_Q|^{\delta} \right\}_Q$. Then $\|\tilde{t}\|_{\dot{a}_{p/\delta,q/\delta}^{0,\tau\delta}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = \|t\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. Since $\delta < 1$, by (13), we see that $\|At\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|\tilde{A}\tilde{t}\|_{\dot{a}_{p/\delta,q/\delta}^{0,\tau\delta}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1/\delta}$. Applying the conclusions for min{p,q} > 1 yields $\|At\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|\tilde{A}\tilde{t}\|_{\dot{a}_{p/\delta,q/\delta}^{0,\tau\delta}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1/\delta} \lesssim \|\tilde{t}\|_{\dot{a}_{p/\delta,q/\delta}^{0,\tau\delta}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1/\delta} \approx \|t\|_{\dot{a}_{p/\delta,q/\delta}^{0,\tau\delta}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, which completes the proof of Theorem (4.1.17).

Definition (4.1.18) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ and $J \equiv n/\min\{1, p\}$ when $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $J \equiv n/\min\{1, p, q\}$ when $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let $N \equiv \max(\lfloor J - n - s \rfloor, -1)$ and $s^* = s - \lfloor s \rfloor$ denotes the maximal integer no more than s.

(i) A function $m_{\mathcal{Q}}$ is called a smooth synthesis molecule for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near dyadic cube \mathcal{Q} if there exist a $\delta \in (\max\{s^*, (s+n\tau)^*\}, 1]$ and an $M \in (J, \infty)$ such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\gamma} m_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) dx = 0$ if $|\gamma| \leq N$, $|m_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)| \leq |\mathcal{Q}|^{-1/2} (1 + l(\mathcal{Q})^{-1} |x - x_{\mathcal{Q}}|)^{-\max(M,M-s)}$,

$$\left|\delta^{\gamma} \mathbf{m}_{Q}(x)\right| \le |Q|^{-1/2 - |\gamma|/n} \left(1 + l(Q)^{-1} |x - x_{Q}|\right)^{-M} \text{ if } |\gamma| \le [s + n\tau], \tag{14}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \delta^{\gamma} \mathbf{m}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) - \delta^{\gamma} \mathbf{m}_{\mathcal{Q}}(y) \right| \\ &\leq |\mathcal{Q}|^{-1/2 - |\gamma|/n - \delta/n} |x - y|^{\delta} \times \sup_{|\mathbf{z}| \leq |x - y|} \left(1 + l(\mathcal{Q})^{-1} |x - \mathbf{z} - x_{\mathcal{Q}}| \right)^{-M} \text{ if } |\gamma| \\ &= [\mathbf{s} + n\tau]. \end{aligned}$$

$$\tag{15}$$

A collection $\{m_Q\}_Q$ is called a family of smooth synthesis molecules for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if each m_Q is a smooth synthesis molecule for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near Q.

(ii) A function b_Q is called a smooth analysis molecule for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near Q if there exist a $\rho \in ((J-s)^*, 1]$ and an $M \in (J, \infty)$ such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\gamma} b_Q(x) dx = 0$ if $|\gamma| \le |s + n\tau|$, $|b_Q(x)| \le |Q|^{-1/2} (1 + l(Q)^{-1} |x - x_Q|)^{-\max(M,M+n+s+n\tau-J)}$,

$$\left|\delta^{\gamma} \mathbf{b}_{Q}(x)\right| \le |\mathcal{Q}|^{-1/2 - |\gamma|/n} \left(1 + l(\mathcal{Q})^{-1} |x - x_{Q}|\right)^{-M} \text{ if } |\gamma| \le N,$$
(16)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \delta^{\gamma} \mathbf{b}_{Q}(x) - \delta^{\gamma} \mathbf{b}_{Q}(y) \right| \\ &\leq |Q|^{-1/2 - |\gamma|/n - \rho/n} |x - y|^{\rho} \times \sup_{|\mathbf{z}| \leq |x - y|} \left(1 + l(Q)^{-1} |x - \mathbf{z} - x_{Q}| \right)^{-M} \text{ if } |\gamma| \\ &= \mathbf{N}. \end{aligned}$$
(17)

A collection $\{b_Q\}_Q$ is called a family of smooth synthesis molecules for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if each b_Q is a smooth analysis molecule for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near Q.

Lemma (4.1.19) [190]: Let s, p, q, J, M, N and ρ be as in Definition (4.1.18). Assume that $\tau \in [0, (\frac{1}{p} + \frac{M-J}{2n}) \land (\frac{1}{p} + \frac{\rho-(J-s)^*}{n}))$ if $N \ge 0, \tau \in [0, (\frac{1}{p} + \frac{M-J}{2n}) \land (\frac{1}{p} + \frac{s+n-J}{n}))$ if N < 0, and $\delta \in (\max\{(s + n\tau)^*, s^*\}, 1]$. Then there exist a positive real number ε_1 and a positive

constant C such that $\varepsilon_1 > 2n\left(\tau - \frac{1}{p}\right)$ and for all families $\{m_Q\}_Q$ of smooth synthesis molecules for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and families $\{b_Q\}_Q$ of smooth analysis molecules for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$|\langle \mathbf{m}_{\mathbf{P}}, \mathbf{b}_{\mathcal{Q}}\rangle| \leq C_{\omega \mathcal{Q} \mathbf{P}}(\varepsilon_1).$$

Namely, the operator associated with the matrix $\{a_{QP}\}_{Q,P} \equiv \{\langle m_P, b_Q \rangle\}_{Q,P}$ is ε_1 -almost diagonal on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

As an immediate consequence of Lemma (4.1.19), we have the following corollary **Corollary (4.1.20) [190]:** Let s, p, q, τ and ε_1 be as in Lemma (4.1.19) and φ satisfy (1) through (3). Suppose that $\{m_Q\}_Q$ and $\{b_Q\}_Q$ are families of smooth synthesis and analysis molecules for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, respectively. Then the operators associated with the matrices $\{a_{Q,P}\}_{Q,P} = \{\langle m_Q, \varphi_P \rangle\}_{Q,P}$ and $\{b_{Q,P}\}_{Q,P} = \{\langle \varphi_P, b_Q \rangle\}_{Q,P}$ are, respectively, ε_1 -almost diagonal operators on $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Lemma (4.1.21) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$, τ and ε_1 be as in Lemma (4.1.19), $f \in \dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Φ be a smooth analysis molecule for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near Q. Then $\langle f, \Phi \rangle$ is well defined. Indeed, for φ, ψ satisfy (1) through (4),

$$\langle f, \Phi \rangle \equiv \sum_{j} \langle \widetilde{\varphi}_{j} * \psi_{j} * f, \Phi \rangle = \sum_{P} \langle f, \varphi_{P} \rangle \langle \psi_{P}, \Phi \rangle$$
(18)

converges absolutely and its value is independent of the choices of ϕ and ψ .

Proof: By similarity, we only consider the space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let Φ be a smooth analysis molecule for $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near Q and φ, ψ satisfy (1) through (4).We claim that there exists a matrix $\{a_{Q P}\}_{Q,P}$ such that $|\langle f, \varphi_P \rangle| |\langle \psi_P, \Phi \rangle| \leq a_{Q P}$ and $\sum_P a_{Q P} < \infty$. In fact, Corollary (4.1.20) yields that there exists a positive constant C such that $|\psi_P, \Phi| \leq C\omega_{Q P}(\varepsilon_1)$. Then $a_{Q P} \equiv C|\langle f, \varphi_P \rangle| \omega_{Q P}(\varepsilon_1)$ does the job. Furthermore, by Theorem (4.1.5), the sequence $\{|\langle f, \varphi_P \rangle|\}_P \in \dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and hence by Theorem (4.1.17), $\sum_P a_{Q P} < \infty$. This shows the absolutely convergence of (18).

Next we claim that for $f \in \dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \tilde{\psi}_j * \phi_j * f$ converges in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. To see this, we need the following estimate that there exists an $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ such that for all $\psi \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$|\psi_{j} * \phi(x)| \lesssim \|\phi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \|\psi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} 2^{-jM} \frac{1}{(1+|x|)^{n+M}}.$$
(19)

(21)

The proof of (19) is similar to that of Lemma (4.1.3) (see also, [189]). We omit the details.

Let $M > \max\{0, -s\}$. If $p \in [1, \infty]$, then by (19) and Hölder's inequality, we obtain that for all $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |\langle \widetilde{\Psi}_{j} * \varphi_{j} * f, \varphi \rangle| \leq ||\varphi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} ||\Psi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-jM} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\varphi_{j} * f(x)|}{(1+|x|)^{n+M}} dx$$
$$\leq ||\varphi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} ||\Psi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} ||f||_{\dot{B}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(20)

If $p \in (0, 1)$, by Corollary (4.1.10), $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{B}_{1,q}^{s+(1-\frac{1}{p})n,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and hence $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |\langle \tilde{\psi}_j * \phi_j * f, \phi \rangle| \leq ||\phi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} ||\psi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} ||f||_{\dot{B}_{1,q}^{s+(1-\frac{1}{p})n,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ $\leq ||\phi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} ||\psi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} ||f||_{\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$

The estimates (20) and (21) imply that $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \widetilde{\psi}_j * \varphi_j * f$ converges in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Since $\psi \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and multi-indices γ , we have

$$\left| \left(\partial^{\gamma} \widetilde{\Psi}_{j} \right) * \varphi_{j} * f(x) \right| \lesssim \|\Psi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{\mathsf{M}+1}} 2^{j(n+\gamma)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left| \varphi_{j} * f(y) \right|}{(1+|x-y|)^{n+\mathsf{M}+|\gamma|}} \mathrm{d}y.$$

Then, if $p \in [1, \infty]$, applying Hölder's inequality, we obtain $|(\partial^{\gamma} \tilde{\psi}_{j}) * \varphi_{j} * f(x)| \leq ||\psi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M}} 2^{j(|\gamma|+n/p-s-n\tau)} ||f||_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$. Similarly to the estimate of (21), applying Proposition (4.1.13) again, we know this estimate still holds when $p \in (0, 1)$. Thus, if $|\gamma| \in (s + n\tau - n/p, \infty)$, then for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$, $\sum_{j=-\infty}^{1} |(\partial^{\gamma} \tilde{\psi}_{j}) * \varphi_{j} * f(x)| \leq ||\psi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M}} ||f||_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$, which together with (20) and (21) implies that there exist a sequence of polynomials, $\{P_{N}\}_{N=1}^{\infty}$, with degree no more than $L \equiv s + n\tau - n/p$ and $g \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ such that $g = \lim_{N \to \infty} (\sum_{j=-N}^{\infty} \tilde{\psi}_{j} * \varphi_{j} * f + P_{N})$ in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and g is a representative of the equivalence class $f + \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$; see [106]. Using [93, Lemma 5.4] and repeating the argument in [106] then completes the proof of Lemma (4.1.21).

Using Lemmas (4.1.19) and (4.1.21), by the method pioneered by Frazier and Jawerth [93, 106], we obtain the following Theorem (4.1.22).

Theorem (4.1.22) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$, τ and ε_1 be as in Lemma (4.1.19).

- (i) If $\{m_Q\}_Q$ is a family of smooth synthesis molecules for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $t = \{t_Q\}_Q \in \dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n), \|\sum_Q t_Q m_Q\|_{\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C \|t\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)};$
- (ii) If $\{b_Q\}_Q$ is a family of smooth analysis molecules for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in \dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\|\{\langle f, b_Q \rangle\}_Q\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C \|f\|_{\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

We establish smooth atomic decomposition characterizations of $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For the classical results on $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, see [93, 106, 164].

Definition (4.1.23) [190]: Let s, τ , p, q and J be as in Definition (4.1.18). A function a_Q is called a smooth atom for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near a dyadic cube Q if there exist \tilde{K} and \tilde{N} with $\tilde{K} \ge \max\{|s + n\tau + 1|, 0\}$ and $\tilde{N} \ge \max(|J - n - s|, -1)$ such that supp $a_Q \subset 3Q$, $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\gamma} a_Q(x) dx = 0$ if $|\gamma| \le \tilde{N}$, and $|\partial^{\gamma} a_Q(x)| \le |Q|^{-1/2 - |\gamma|/n}$ if $|\gamma| \le \tilde{K}$.

A collection $\{a_Q\}_Q$ is called a family of smooth atoms for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if each a_Q is a smooth atom for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near Q.

It is clear that every smooth atom for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a multiple of a smooth synthesis molecule for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near Q. Using Theorem (4.1.22) and repeating the argument as in [106] or [93] yield the following result.

Theorem (4.1.24) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$, τ be as in Lemma (4.1.19). Then for each $f \in \dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exist smooth atoms $\{a_Q\}_Q$ for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, coefficients $t = \{t_Q\}_Q \in \dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $f = \sum_Q t_Q a_Q$ in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $||t||_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C||f||_{\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, where C is a positive constant independent of f and t.

Conversely, there exists a positive constant C such that for all families $\{a_Q\}_Q$ of smooth atoms for $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $t = \{t_Q\}_Q \in \dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n), \|\sum_Q t_Q a_Q\|_{\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C \|t\|_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

In [189], some tent spaces $F\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ were introduced, which are used to determine the predual spaces of $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We introduce a class of tent spaces

 $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$, which is used to determine the predual space of $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. First we recall the notion of Hausdorff capacities; see, for example, [161, 162]. In what follows, for $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and r > 0, $B(x, r) \equiv \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x - y| < r\}$.

Definition (4.1.25) [190]: Let $d \in (0, \infty)$ and $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Then the d-dimensional Hausdorff capacity of E is defined by

$$\Lambda_{d}^{(\infty)}(E) \equiv \inf\left\{\sum_{j} r_{j}^{d} : E \subset \bigcup_{j} B(x_{j}, r_{j})\right\},$$
(22)

where the infimum is taken over all covers of E by countable families of open balls with radius \boldsymbol{r}_j .

The notion of $\Lambda_d^{(\infty)}$ can be extended to d = 0, namely, in (22), let d = 0. Then $\Lambda_d^{(\infty)}$ is monotone and countable sub additive; moreover, $\Lambda_d^{(\infty)}$ does not vanish on the empty set, it has the property that for all sets $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $\Lambda_0^{(\infty)}(E) \ge 1$ and $\Lambda_0^{(\infty)}(E) = 1$ if E is bounded.

Adyadic version of the Hausdorff capacity, $\widetilde{\Lambda}_d^{(\infty)},$ which is defined by

$$\widetilde{\Lambda}_{d}^{(\infty)}(E) \equiv \inf\left\{\sum_{j} l(I_{j})^{d} : E \subset \left(\bigcup_{j} I_{j}\right)^{d}\right\},$$
(23)

where now the infimum ranges only over covers of E by dyadic cubes $\{I_j\}_j$. Recall that A[°] denotes the interior of the set A.

It was proved in [188] that $\widetilde{\Lambda}_d^{(\infty)}$ is a Choquet capacity and that $\Lambda_d^{(\infty)}$ and $\widetilde{\Lambda}_d^{(\infty)}$ are equivalent, namely, there exist positive constants C_1 and C_2 , only depending on the dimension *n*, such that

$$C_1 \Lambda_d^{(\infty)}(E) \le \tilde{\Lambda}_d^{(\infty)}(E) \le C_2 \Lambda_d^{(\infty)}(E)$$
 for all $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. (24)

Next we recall the notions of Choquet integral with respect to the Hausdorff capacities $\Lambda_d^{(\infty)}$ and $\widetilde{\Lambda}_d^{(\infty)}$; see [161, 162]. For any function $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, \infty]$, define

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f \, \mathrm{d}\Lambda_{\mathrm{d}}^{(\infty)} \equiv \int_0^\infty \Lambda_{\mathrm{d}}^{(\infty)} (\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(x) > \lambda\}) \mathrm{d}\lambda.$$

This functional is not sub linear, so sometimes we need to use an equivalent integral with respect to $\widetilde{\Lambda}_{d}^{(\infty)}$, which is sublinear and satisfies Fatou's lemma. See [188, 189] for more properties on the Hausdorff capacities and their Choquet integrals.

Let $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \equiv \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$. For $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let $\Gamma(x) \equiv \{(y, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ : |y - x| < t\}$ be the cone at x. Define the nontangential maximal function N(f) of any measurable function f on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ by $Nf(x) \equiv \sup_{(y,t) \in \Gamma(x)} |f(y,t)|$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$. Since a point $(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ belongs to $\Gamma(y)$ for every $y \in B(x, t)$, we see that

$$|f(x,t)| \le \inf_{\mathbf{y}\in \mathbf{B}(x,t)} \mathbf{N}(f)(\mathbf{y}).$$
(25)

Recall that $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}} \equiv \mathbb{R}^n \times \{2^k : k \in \mathbb{Z}\}$. For all functions f on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ or $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, we set $f^k(x) \equiv f(x, 2^{-k})$. For any set A, define $T(A) \equiv \{(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ : B(x, t) \subset A\}$. **Definition (4.1.26) [190]:** Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

(i) Let $p, q \in [1, \infty)$, $(p \lor q) > 1$ and $\tau \in (0, \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'}]$. The space $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ is defined to be the set of all functions f on $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ such that $\{f^k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ are Lebesgue measurable and

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{BT}^{\mathbf{s},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})} \equiv \inf_{\omega} \left\{ \sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{s}\mathbf{q}} \left\| f^{\mathbf{k}} [\omega^{\mathbf{k}}]^{-1} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\mathbf{q}} \right\}^{1/q} < \infty,$$

(ii) where the infimum is taken over all nonnegative Borel measurable functions ω on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ with

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\mathrm{N}\omega(x) \right)^{(\mathrm{pvq})'} \mathrm{d}\Lambda_{n\tau(\mathrm{pvq})'}^{(\infty)} \le 1$$
(26)

and with the restriction that $\tilde{\omega}$ is allowed to vanish only where f vanishes.

(iii) Let $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\tau \in [0, \infty)$. The space $B\dot{W}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ is defined to be the set of all functions f on $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ such that $\{f^k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}}$ are Lebesgue measurable and

$$\|f\|_{B\dot{W}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})} \equiv \sup_{B} \frac{1}{|B|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{ksq} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |f^{k}(x)|^{p} \chi_{T(B)}(x, 2^{-k}) dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} < \infty$$

where B runs over all balls in \mathbb{R}^n .

Definition (4.1.27) [190]: Let s, τ , p, q be as in Definition (4.1.25) (i). A function *a* on $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is called a B $\dot{T}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ -atom associated with a ball B, if a is supported in T(B) and satisfies

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{s}\mathbf{q}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| a^{\mathbf{k}}(x) \right|^p \chi_{\mathrm{T}(\mathrm{B})}(x, 2^{-\mathbf{k}}) \mathrm{d}x \right)^{\mathbf{q}/p} \le |\mathrm{B}|^{-\tau \mathbf{q}}.$$

Lemma (4.1.28) [190]: Let s, τ , p, q be as in Definition (4.1.26) (i). Then there exists a positive constant C such that all $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ -atoms a belong to $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ and $\|a\|_{B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})} \leq C.$

Lemma (4.1.29) [190]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in (1, \infty]$, $(p \land q) < \infty, \tau \in (0, \frac{1}{p \land q}]$ and $a \in (0, \infty)$. Then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in B\dot{W}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ and nonnegative Borel measurable functions ω on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ , when $q \le p$,

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{s}\mathbf{q}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| f^{\mathbf{k}}(x) \right|^p \left[\omega^{\mathbf{k}}(x) \right]^{ap} dx \right\}^{q/p} \leq C \|f\|^q_{\mathrm{BW}^{\mathbf{S},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\mathrm{N}\omega(x) \right)^{ap} d\Lambda^{(\infty)}_{n\tau\mathbf{q}}(x);$$

and when $\mathbf{p} < \mathbf{q}$,

$$\left\{\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{s}\mathbf{q}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left|f^{\mathbf{k}}(x)\right|^p \left[\omega^{\mathbf{k}}(x)\right]^{ap} dx\right]^{q/p}\right\}^{1/q} \le C \|f\|_{\mathbf{BW}^{\mathbf{s},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})} \left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\mathbf{N}\omega(x)\right)^{ap} d\Lambda_{n\tau\mathbf{q}}^{(\infty)}(x)\right\}^{1/p}.$$

In Theorem (4.1.30) below, we establish the dual relation between tent spaces $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ and $B\dot{W}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$, whose continuous variant when $s = \frac{n-d}{2}$, $\tau = \frac{d}{2n}$ and p = q = 2 was obtained by Dafni and Xiao [167]. The proof of Theorem (4.1.30) is a slight modification of the proof of [189, Theorem 4.1] by replacing Lemmas 4.2 and 4.3 in [189] with Lemmas (4.1.28) and (4.1.29) here.

Theorem (4.1.30) [190]: Let s, τ, p, q be as in Definition (4.1.26) (i).

(i) If $f \in B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})$, then there exist $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})$ -atoms $\{a_j\}_j$ and an l^1 -sequence $\{\lambda_j\}$ such that $f = \sum_j \lambda_j a_j$ pointwise; moreover, $\sum_j |\lambda_j| \leq C ||f||_{B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})}$. In particular, if $p = q \in (1, \infty)$, then $f = \sum_j \lambda_j a_j$ also in $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})$. Conversely, if $p = q \in (1, \infty)$, and there exist $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})$ -atoms $\{a_j\}_j$ and an l^1 sequence $\{\lambda_j\}$ such that $f = \sum_j \lambda_j a_j$ pointwise, then $f = \sum_j \lambda_j a_j$ also in $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})$ and $\|f\|_{B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1})} \leq C\sum_j |\lambda_j|$, where C is a positive constant independent of f.

- (ii) There exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in B\dot{T}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ and $g \in B\dot{W}^{-s,\tau}_{p,q'}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}}), \left|\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\int_{\mathbb{R}^n}f^k(x)g^k(x)dx\right| \leq C||f||_{B\dot{T}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})}||g||_{B\dot{W}^{-s,\tau}_{p',q'}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})}.$
- (iii) The dual space of $B\dot{T}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ is $B\dot{W}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ under the following pairing $\langle f,g \rangle = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f^k(x) g^k(x) dx.$

Section (4.2): Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff Spaces and their Applications

To establish the connections between Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with Q spaces, which was an open problem (see, [167]), Yang and Yuan [189, 190] introduced new classes of Besov-type spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which unify and generalize the Besov spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, Triebel-Lizorkin spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, Morrey spaces, Morrey-Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and Q spaces. We pointed out that the Q spaces on \mathbb{R}^n were originally introduced in [193]; see also [167, 184, 185, 193] for the history of Q spaces and their properties.

Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\tau \in [0, 1 - \frac{1}{\max\{p,q\}}]$, where and in what follows, t denotes the conjugate index of $t \in [1, \infty)$. The Besov-Hausdorff spaces $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff spaces $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (q > 1) were also introduced in [189, 190]; moreover, it was proved therein that they are, respectively, the predual spaces of $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The spaces $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ were originally called the Hardy-Hausdorff spaces in [189, 190]. However, it seems that it is more reasonable to call them, respectively, the Besov-Hausdorff spaces and the Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff spaces. The spaces $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ unify and generalize the Besov space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the Triebel-Lizorkin space $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and the Hardy-Hausdorff space $HH_{-\alpha}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $HH_{-\alpha}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ was introduced in [167] and was proved to be the predual space of the space $Q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ therein.

It is well known that the wavelet decomposition plays an important role in the study of function spaces and their applications; see, for example, [198, 199]. The φ -transform decomposition of Frazier and Jawerth [45, 106, 175] is very similar in spirit to the wavelet decomposition, which is also proved to be a powerful tool in the study of function spaces and boundedness of operators, and was further developed by Bownik [93, 165]. We establish the φ -transform characterizations of the spaces $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; via these characterizations, we also obtain their embedding properties (which on $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is also sharp), smooth atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations for suitable τ . Using their atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations, we investigate the trace properties and the boundedness of pseudo-differential operators with homogeneous symbols (see [197]) in $B\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which generalizes the corresponding classical results on homogeneous Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces when $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $q \in [1, \infty)$ by taking $\tau = 0$; see, for example [7, 17, 106, 197]. Recall that the study of pseudo-differential operators with non-homogeneous symbols on non-homogeneous Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces using φ -transform arguments was started by Torres [201, 202]; the results in [197] are based on these works. See Pseudo-differential operators

on Triebel-Lizorkin spaces using more classical methods. We will concentrate here on φ -transform arguments.

Let $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the space of all Schwartz functions on \mathbb{R}^n . Following Triebel's [41], set

$$\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(x) x^{\gamma} dx = 0 \text{ for all multi} - \text{ indices } \gamma \in (\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\})^n \right\}$$

and use $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to denote the topological dual of $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, namely, the set of all continuous linear functionals on $\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ endowed with weak *-topology. Recall that $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)/\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are topologically equivalent, where $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denote, respectively, the space of all Schwartz distributions and the set of all polynomials on \mathbb{R}^n .

For each cube Q in \mathbb{R}^n , we denote its side length by $\ell(Q)$, its center by cQ, and set $j_Q \equiv -\log_2 \ell(Q)$. For $k = (k_1, ..., k_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, let Q_{jk} be the dyadic cube $\{(x_1, ..., x_n) : k_i \leq 2^j x_i < k_i + 1 \text{ for } i = 1, ..., n\} \subset \mathbb{R}^n, x_Q$ be the lower left-corner $2^j k$ of $Q = Q_{jk}, \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \{Q_{jk}\}_{j,k}$, and $\mathcal{D}_j(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \ell(Q) = 2^{-j}\}$. When dyadic cube Q appears as an index, such as $\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ and $\{\cdot\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, it is understood that Q runs over all dyadic cubes in \mathbb{R}^n .

For $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and r > 0, we write $B(x, r) \equiv \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x - y| < r\}$. Next we recall the notion of Hausdorff capacities; see, for example, [161, 188]. Let $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $d \in (0, n]$. The d-dimensional Hausdorff capacity of E is defined by

$$H^{d}(E) \equiv \inf \left\{ \sum_{j} r_{j}^{d} : E \subset \bigcup_{j} B(x_{j}, r_{j}) \right\},\$$

where the infimum is taken over all covers $\{B(x_j, r_j)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ of E by countable families of open balls. It is well known that H^d is monotone, countably subadditive and vanishes on empty set. Moreover, the notion of H^d can be extended to d = 0. In this case, H⁰ has the property that for all sets $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, H⁰(E) ≥ 1 , and H⁰(E) = 1 if and only if E is bounded.

For any function $f : \mathbb{R}^n \mapsto [0, \infty]$, the Choquet integral of f with respect to H^d is defined by

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f dH^d \equiv \int_0^\infty H^d(\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(x) > \lambda\}) d\lambda$$

This functional is not sublinear, so sometimes we need to use an equivalent integral with respect to the d-dimensional dyadic Hausdorff capacity \tilde{H}^d , which is sublinear; see [188] for the definition of dyadic Hausdorff capacities and their properties.

Set $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \equiv \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$. For any measurable function ω on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we define its nontangential maximal function $N\omega(x)$ by setting $N\omega(x) \equiv \sup_{|y-x| < t} |\omega(y,t)|$.

In what follows, for any $\varphi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we use $\mathcal{F}\varphi$ to denote its Fourier transform, namely, for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\mathcal{F}\varphi(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-i\xi x} \varphi(x) dx$. For all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let $\varphi_j(x) = 2^{jn}\varphi(2^jx)$. For any $p, q \in (0, \infty]$, let $(p \lor q) \equiv \max\{p, q\}$; and for any $t \in [1, \infty]$, we denote by t' the conjugate index, namely, $\frac{1}{t} + 1/t' = 1$.

We now recall the notions of $B\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in [189, 190]. **Definition** (4.2.1) [204]: Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that supp $\mathcal{F}\varphi \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\}$ and $\mathcal{F}\varphi$ never vanishes on $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 3/5 \le |\xi| \le 5/3\}$. Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}^n$. (i) If $q \in [1, \infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'}\right]$, the Besov-Hausdorff space $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is then defined to be the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{B\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \inf_{\omega} \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{jsq} \|\phi_{j} * f[\omega(\cdot, 2^{-j})]^{-1} \|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q} \right\}^{1/q} < \infty$$

where ω runs over all nonnegative Borel measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} [\mathrm{N}\omega(x)]^{(\mathrm{p}\vee\mathrm{q})'} \mathrm{d}\mathrm{H}^{n\tau(\mathrm{p}\vee\mathrm{q})'}(x) \le 1$$
(27)

and with the restriction that for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\omega(\cdot, 2^{-j})$ is allowed to vanish only where $\varphi_j * f$ vanishes.

(ii) If $q \in (1, \infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'}\right]$, the Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff space $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is then defined to be the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{F}\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{\tau}}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \inf_{\omega} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{j\mathrm{s}\mathrm{q}} |\varphi_{j} * f[\omega(\cdot, 2^{-j})]^{-1}|^{\mathrm{q}} \right\}^{1/\mathrm{q}} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} < \infty$$

where ω runs over all nonnegative Borel measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ such that ω satisfies (27) and with the restriction that for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\omega(\cdot, 2^{-j})$ is allowed to vanish only where $\varphi_i * f$ vanishes.

To simplify the presentation, in what follows, we use $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to denote either $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. When $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then it will be understood tacitly that $q \in (1, \infty)$. It was proved in [189, 190] that the space $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is independent of the choices of φ . We also remark that when $\tau = 0$, then $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,0}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,0}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; when $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, $s = -\alpha$, p = q = 2 and $\tau = 1/2 - \alpha/n$, then $A\dot{H}_{2,2}^{-\alpha,1/2-\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv HH_{-\alpha}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which is the predual space of $Q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

We now recall the notions of Besov-type spaces $\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces $\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in [189, 190].

Definition (4.2.2) [204]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$ and φ be as in Definition (4.2.1).

(i) If $p \in (0, \infty]$, the Besov-type space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the set of all $f \in S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $||f||_{\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$, where

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \sup_{P \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_P}^{\infty} \left[\int_{P} \left(2^{js} |\varphi_j * f(x)| \right)^P dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q}$$

with suitable modifications made when $p = \infty$ or $q = \infty$.

(ii) If $p \in (0, \infty)$, the Triebel-Lizorkin-type space $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the set of all $f \in \dot{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $||f||_{\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$, where

$$\|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \sup_{P \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left[\sum_{j=j_P}^{\infty} (2^{js} |\varphi_j * f(x)|)^q \right]^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p}$$

with suitable modifications made when $q = \infty$.

Similarly, we use $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to denote $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ means $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then the case $p = \infty$ is excluded. It was proved in [190] that the space $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is independent of the choices of φ . Also, [189, 190] show that $\left(\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right)^* = \dot{A}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (1,\infty)$, $q \in [1,\infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0,\frac{1}{(p \vee q)'}\right]$. This result partially extends the well-known dual results on Besov spaces, Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and the recent result that $\left(HH_{-\alpha}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)\right)^* = Q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ obtained in [167].

We establish the φ -transform characterizations and embedding properties of $\dot{AH}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. In particular, we show that the embedding property of $\dot{BH}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is sharp. Using these φ -transform characterizations. We obtain the boundedness of almost diagonal operators and the smooth atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations of $\dot{AH}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. As applications of these decomposition characterizations, we investigate the trace properties and the boundedness of pseudo-differential operators with homogeneous symbols in $\dot{AH}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We pointed out that the method used in the proof of Theorem (4.2.27) comes from [194, 195].

We denote by C a positive constant which is independent of the main parameters, but it may vary from line to line. The symbol $A \leq B$ means that $A \leq CB$. If $A \leq B$ and $B \leq A$, then we write $A \sim B$. If E is a subset of \mathbb{R}^n , we denote by χ_E the characteristic function of E. For all $Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, set $\varphi_Q(x) \equiv |Q|^{-1/2}\varphi(2^{jQ}(x - x_Q))$ and $\tilde{\chi}_Q(x) \equiv |Q|^{-1/2}\chi_Q(x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. We also set $\mathbb{N} \equiv \{1, 2, ...\}$ and $\mathbb{Z}_+ \equiv (\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\})$.

We establish the φ -transform characterizations of the spaces $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the sense of Frazier and Jawerth; see, for example, [45, 106, 175, 176]. We begin with the definition of the corresponding sequence space of $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Definition (4.2.3) [204]: Let $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

(i) If $q \in [1, \infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'}\right]$, the sequence space $b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is then defined to be the set of all $t = \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\mathbf{b}\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathbf{s},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \inf_{\omega} \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{jsq} \left\| \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left| \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| * \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}[\omega(\cdot, 2^{-j})]^{-1} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q} \right\}^{1/q} < \infty,$$

where the infimum is taken over all nonnegative Borel measurable functions ω on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ such that ω satisfies (27) and with the restriction that for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $\omega(\cdot, 2^{-j})$ is allowed to vanish only where $\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} |t_Q| * \tilde{\chi}_Q$ vanishes.

(iii) If $q \in (1, \infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'}\right]$, the sequence space $f \dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is then defined to be the set of all $t = \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{f\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{\mathbf{s},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \inf_{\omega} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{j\mathbf{s}\mathbf{q}} \left(\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| * \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}[\omega(\cdot,2^{-j})]^{-1} \right)^{\mathbf{q}} \right\}^{1/\mathbf{q}} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} < \infty,$$

where the infimum is taken over all nonnegative Borel measurable functions ω on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ with the same restrictions as in (i).

Similarly, in what follows, we use $a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to denote either $b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $f\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. When $a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes $f\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then it will be understood tacitly that

 $q \in (1, \infty)$. We remark that $\|\cdot\|_{a\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ is a quasi-norm, namely, there exists a nonnegative constant $\rho \in [0, 1]$ such that for all $t_1, t_2 \in a\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\|\mathbf{t}_{1} + \mathbf{t}_{2}\|_{a\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq 2^{\rho} \left(\|\mathbf{t}_{1}\|_{a\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + \|\mathbf{t}_{2}\|_{a\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}\right).$$
(28)

Let φ be as in Definition (4.2.1). For all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, set $\widetilde{\varphi}(x) \equiv \overline{\varphi(x)}$. Then by [176], there exists a function $\psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that supp $\mathcal{F}\psi \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\}$, $\mathcal{F}\psi$ never vanishes on $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 3/5 \le |\xi| \le 5/3\}$ and that for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(2^{-j}\xi) \mathcal{F}\psi(2^{-j}\xi) = \chi_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}}(\xi)$. Furthermore, we have the following Calderón reproducing formula which asserts that for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \psi_j * \widetilde{\varphi}_j * f = \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \langle f, \varphi_{\mathcal{Q}} \rangle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}$$
(29)

in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; see [190].

We recall the notion of the φ -transform; see, for example, [45, 106, 175, 176].

Definition (4.2.4) [204]: Let $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\operatorname{supp} \mathcal{F}\psi \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\}$, $\mathcal{F}\varphi, \mathcal{F}\psi$ never vanish on $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 3/5 \le |\xi| \le 5/3\}$ and $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{F}(\widetilde{\varphi}_j) \mathcal{F}(\psi_j) \equiv \chi_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}}$.

(i) The φ -transform \mathcal{S}_{φ} is defined to be the map taking each $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to the sequence

$$\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f \equiv \left\{ \left(\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f \right)_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}, \text{ where } \left(\mathcal{S}_{\varphi}f \right)_{\mathcal{Q}} \equiv \langle f, \varphi_{\mathcal{Q}} \rangle \text{ for all } \mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

(ii) The inverse φ -transform T_{ψ} is defined to be the map taking a sequence $t = \{t_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \subset \mathbb{C}$ to $T_{\psi}t \equiv \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} t_{\mathcal{Q}}\psi_{\mathcal{Q}}$.

To show that T_{ψ} is well defined for all $t \in a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we need the following conclusion.

Lemma (4.2.5) [204]: Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(p \lor q)}\right]$. Then for all $t \in a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $T_{\psi}t \equiv \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} t_{\mathcal{Q}}\psi_{\mathcal{Q}}$ converges in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; moreover, $T_{\psi} : a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is continuous.

Proof: By similarity, we only consider the space $b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let $t = \{t_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \in b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We need to show that there exists an $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ such that for all $\phi \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}| |\langle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}, \phi \rangle| \leq ||\phi||_{\mathcal{S}_M}$, where and in what follows, for all $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we set $||\phi||_{\mathcal{S}_M} \equiv \sup_{|\gamma| \leq M} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |\partial^{\gamma} \phi(x)| (1 + |x|)^{n+M+|\gamma|}$.

Choose a Borel function ω that almost attains the infimum in Definition (4.2.3)(i). That is, ω is a function on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ satisfying (27) as well as

$$\left\{\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}2^{jsq}\left\|\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}\left|t_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|*\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}[\omega(\cdot,2^{-j})]^{-1}\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q}\right\}^{1/q}\leq 2\|t\|_{b\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(30)

A simple consequence obtained from (27) is that for all $(x, s) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, \omega(x, s) \leq s^{-n\tau}$; see [189]. Then for all $Q \in \mathcal{D}_{i}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, by Hölder's inequality and (30), we have

$$\left| \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \le |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\tau - \frac{1}{p}} \left| \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \left(\int_{\mathcal{Q}} [\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-p} dx \right)^{1/p} \le |\mathcal{Q}|^{\frac{s}{n} + \frac{1}{2} - \tau - \frac{1}{p}} \|\mathbf{t}\|_{\mathbf{b}\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{\mathbf{S}, \tau}_{\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(31)

Recall that as a special case of [165], there exists a positive constant L_0 such that for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$,

$$\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left(1 + \frac{\left| x_{Q} \right|^{n}}{\max\{1, |Q|\}} \right)^{-L_{0}} \lesssim 2^{n|j|}.$$

$$(32)$$

Furthermore, it was proved in [190] that if $L > \max\{1/p + 1/2 - s/n - \tau, 1/p + 3/2 + s/n + \tau, L_0\}$, then there exists an $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ such that for all $Q \in \mathcal{D}_j(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\left|\langle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}, \phi \rangle\right| \lesssim \left\|\phi\right\|_{\mathcal{S}_{\mathsf{M}}} \left(1 + \frac{\left|x_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|^{n}}{\max\{1, |\mathcal{Q}|\}}\right)^{-L} (\min\{2^{-jn}, 2^{jn}\})^{L}$$
(33)

see also [165]. Using (31), (32) and (33), we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} & \left| \mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \left| \langle \psi_{\mathcal{Q}}, \varphi \rangle \right| \lesssim \|\mathsf{t}\|_{\mathsf{b}\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathsf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{p},\mathsf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{\mathsf{M}}} \lesssim \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} |\mathcal{Q}|^{\frac{\mathsf{s}}{n} + \frac{1}{2} - \tau - \frac{1}{p}} \left(1 + \frac{|x_{\mathcal{Q}}|^n}{\max\{1, |\mathcal{Q}|\}} \right)^{-2} 2^{-\mathsf{L}|j_{\mathcal{Q}}|n} \\ \lesssim \|\mathsf{t}\|_{\mathsf{b}\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathsf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{p},\mathsf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{\mathsf{M}}}, \end{split}$$

which completes the proof of Lemma (4.2.5).

Lemma (4.2.6) [204]: Let s, p, q, τ be as in Theorem (4.2.8) and $\lambda \in (n, \infty)$ be sufficiently large. Then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $t \in a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $||t||_{a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq ||t_{p\wedge q,\lambda}^*||_{a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C||t||_{a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Proof: The inequality $\|t\|_{a\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \|t^*_{p\wedge q,\lambda}\|_{a\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ being trivial, we only need to concentrate on $\|t^*_{p\wedge q,\lambda}\|_{a\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|t\|_{a\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. Also, by similarity, we only consider the spaces $b\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let $\mathbf{t} = {\mathbf{t}_{Q}}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \in b\dot{\mathbf{H}}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. We choose a Borel function ω as in the proof of Lemma (4.2.5). For all cubes $Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and $\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{N}$, we set $A_{0}(Q) \equiv {\mathbf{P} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) : 2^{j}|x_{\mathbf{P}} - x_{Q}| \leq 1}$ and $A_{\mathbf{m}}(Q) \equiv {\mathbf{P} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) : 2^{\mathbf{m}-1} < 2^{j}|x_{\mathbf{P}} - x_{Q}| \leq 2^{\mathbf{m}}}$. The triangle inequality that $|x - y| \leq |x - x_{Q}| + |x_{Q} - x_{\mathbf{P}}| + |x_{\mathbf{P}} - y|$ gives us that $|x - y| \leq 3\sqrt{n}2^{\mathbf{m}-j}$ provided $x \in Q$, $y \in \mathbf{P}$ and $\mathbf{P} \in A_{\mathbf{m}}(Q)$.

For all $m \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $(x, s) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$, we set

 $\omega_{\rm m}(x,s) \equiv 2^{-{\rm m}n} ([({\rm pvq})']^{+2}) \sup\{\omega(y,s) : y \in \mathbb{R}^n, |y-x| < \sqrt{n}2^{{\rm m}+2}s\},\$

where and in what follows, [s] denotes the maximal integer no more than s. By the argument in [189], we know that ω_m still satisfies (27) modulo multiplicative constants independent of m. Also it follows from the definition of ω_m that for all $x \in Q$, $y \in P$ with $P \in A_m(Q)$, $\omega(y, 2^{-j}) \leq 2^{-mn} (\lfloor (p \lor q)' \rfloor + 2) \omega_m(x, 2^{-j})$. For all $r \in (0, \infty)$ and $a \in (0, r)$), using this estimate and the monotonicity of $l^{a/r}$, we obtain that for all $x \in Q$,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}_{j_{\mathcal{Q}}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{|t_{P}|^{r}}{(1+2^{j}|x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{P}|)^{\lambda}} [\omega_{m}(x,2^{-j})]^{-r} \\ &\leq \left\{ \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}_{j_{\mathcal{Q}}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{|t_{P}|^{a}}{(1+2^{j}|x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{P}|)^{\lambda a/r}} [\omega_{m}(x,2^{-j})]^{-a} \right\}^{r/a} \\ &\lesssim 2^{-m\lambda+jnr/a} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{P \in A_{m}(\mathcal{Q})} |t_{P}|^{a} \chi_{P}(y) [\omega_{m}(x,2^{-j})]^{-a} dy \right\}^{r/a} \\ &\lesssim 2^{-m\lambda+mnr(1/a+\lfloor(p\vee q)'\rfloor+2)} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{P \in A_{m}(\mathcal{Q})} |t_{P}|^{a} \chi_{P}(y) [\omega_{m}(y,2^{-j})]^{-a} dy \right\}^{r/a} \\ &\lesssim 2^{-m\lambda+mnr(1/a+\lfloor(p\vee q)'\rfloor+2)} \left\{ HL\left(\sum_{P \in A_{m}(\mathcal{Q})} |t_{P}|^{a} \chi_{P}[\omega_{m}(\cdot,2^{-j})]^{-a}\right)(x) \right\}^{r/a}, \end{split}$$

where HL denotes the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator on \mathbb{R}^n .

all
$$m \in \mathbb{Z}_+$$
, set $t_{r,\lambda}^{*,m} \equiv \left\{ \left(t_{r,\lambda}^{*,m} \right)_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ with
 $\left(t_{r,\lambda}^{*,m} \right)_{\mathcal{Q}} \equiv \left(\sum_{P \in A_m(\mathcal{Q})} \frac{|t_P|^r}{\left(1 + 2^j [\ell(P)]^{-1} |x_P - x_Q| \right)^{\lambda}} \right)^{1/r}$

In what follows, choose $a \in (0, p \land q)$ and $\lambda > (p \land q)[n(1/a + \lfloor (p \lor q)' \rfloor + 2) + \rho]$, where ρ is a nonnegative constant as in (30). By (30), the previous pointwise estimate and the $L^{\frac{p}{a}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -boundedness of HL, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathbf{t}_{p\wedge q,\lambda}^{*} \right\|_{\mathbf{b}\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{p,q}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} &\lesssim \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 2^{\rho m} \left\| \mathbf{t}_{p\wedge q,\lambda}^{*,m} \right\|_{\mathbf{b}\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{p,q}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 2^{\rho m} \left\{ \sum_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{\mathbf{j}\mathbf{s}\mathbf{q}} \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{p}\in\mathbf{A}_{m}(\mathcal{Q})} \frac{|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{p}}|^{p\wedge q}}{(1+2^{\mathbf{j}}[\ell(\mathbf{P})]^{-1}|x_{\mathbf{P}}-x_{\mathcal{Q}}|)^{\lambda}} \right)^{\frac{p}{p\wedge q}} \frac{\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)^{p}}{[\omega_{m}(x,2^{-\mathbf{j}})]^{p}} dx \right\|_{\mathbf{p}}^{\frac{q}{p}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\frac{m}{p\wedge q}[\lambda-(p\wedge q)[n(1/a+[(p\vee q)']+2)+\rho]]} \left[\sum_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}} 2^{\mathbf{j}\mathbf{s}\mathbf{q}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\mathrm{HL}\left(\sum_{\mathbf{p}\in\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{(|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{p}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathbf{p}})^{a}}{[\omega_{m}(\cdot,2^{-\mathbf{j}})]^{a}} \right)(x) \right]^{\frac{p}{a}} dx \right\}^{\frac{q}{p}} \right]^{\frac{q}{q}} \\ &\leqslant |\mathbf{t}\mathbf{t}| \\ &\leqslant |\mathbf{t}\mathbf{t}| \end{aligned}$$

 $\lesssim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{\mathbf{b}\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\mathbf{\tau}}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})},$

For

which completes the proof of Lemma (4.2.6).

For any $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_j(\mathbb{R}^n)$, set $\sup_{\mathcal{Q}}(f) \equiv |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Q}} |\widetilde{\varphi}_j * f(y)|$ and

$$\inf_{\mathcal{Q},\gamma}(f) \equiv |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2} \max\left\{ \inf_{\mathbf{y}\in\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}} |\widetilde{\varphi}_{\mathbf{j}} * f(\mathbf{y})| : \ell(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}) = 2^{-\gamma}\ell(\mathcal{Q}), \tilde{\mathcal{Q}} \subset \mathcal{Q} \right\}.$$

Let $\sup(f) \equiv \{\sup_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \text{ and } \inf_{\gamma}(f) \equiv \{\inf_{Q,\gamma}(f)\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. We have the following conclusion, whose proof is similar to [106].

Lemma (4.2.7) [204]: Let s, p, q, τ be as in Theorem (4.2.8) and $\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ be sufficiently large. Then there exists a constant $C \in [1, \infty)$ such that for all $f \in A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

 $C^{-1}\left\|\inf_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}(f)\right\|_{a\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \|f\|_{A\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \|\sup(f)\|_{a\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C\left\|\inf_{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}(f)\right\|_{a\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$

Theorem (4.2.8) [204]: Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(p \vee q)'}\right]$, φ and Ψ be as in Definition (4.2.4). Then $\mathcal{S}_{\varphi} : A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $T_{\psi} : a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are bounded; moreover, $T_{\psi} \circ \mathcal{S}_{\varphi}$ is the identity on $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: To prove Theorem (4.2.8), we need some technical lemmas. For a sequence $t = {t_Q}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, $Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $r \in (0, \infty]$ and $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$, define

$$\left(\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{r},\lambda}^{*}\right)_{\mathcal{Q}} \equiv \left(\sum_{\mathbf{P}\in\mathcal{D}_{j_{\mathcal{Q}}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{P}}|^{\mathbf{r}}}{\left(1 + \left[\ell(\mathbf{P})\right]^{-1} \left|x_{\mathbf{P}} - x_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\right)^{\lambda}}\right)^{1/\mathbf{r}}$$

and $t_{r,\lambda}^* \equiv \{(t_{r,\lambda}^*)_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. For any $p,q \in (0,\infty]$, let $p \land q \equiv \min\{p,q\}$. The following estimate is crucial in that this corresponds to the maximal operator estimate

estimate is crucial in that this corresponds to the maximal operator estimate. With the Calderón reproducing formula (29), Lemmas (4,2,6) and (4,2,7)

With the Calderón reproducing formula (29), Lemmas (4.2.6) and (4.2.7), the proof of Theorem (4.2.8) follows (see [106, 165]). We omit the details.

Recall that the corresponding sequence spaces $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ of $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in [190] were defined as follows.

Definition (4.2.9) [204]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\tau \in (0, \infty)$. The sequence space $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the set of all $t = \{(t)_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that $||t||_{\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$, where if $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \dot{b}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \in (0,\infty]$, then

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{\mathbf{b}}^{\mathbf{S},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \sup_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\infty} 2^{j_{\mathbf{S}\mathbf{q}}} \left[\int\limits_{\mathbf{P}} \left(\sum_{l(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right)^{\mathbf{p}} dx \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q}$$

and if $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \dot{f}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $p \in (0,\infty)$, then

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\dot{f}^{\mathbf{s},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \equiv \sup_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbf{P}} \left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\subset\mathbf{P}} \left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right)^{\mathbf{q}} \right]^{\mathbf{p}/\mathbf{q}} dx \right\}^{1/p}$$

We now establish the duality between $\dot{a}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{a}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. In what follows, for any quasi-Banach spaces \mathcal{B}_1 and \mathcal{B}_2 , the symbol $\mathcal{B}_1 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{B}_1$ means that there exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in \mathcal{B}_1$, then $f \in \mathcal{B}_2$ and $||f||_{\mathcal{B}_2} \leq C||f||_{\mathcal{B}_1}$.

Proposition (4.2.10) [204]: Let s, p, q, τ be as in Theorem (4.2.8). Then $\left(a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right)^* = \dot{a}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the following sense.

If
$$\mathbf{t} = {\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \in \dot{a}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$$
, then the map
$$\lambda = {\lambda_{\mathcal{Q}}}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \mapsto \langle \lambda, \mathbf{t} \rangle \equiv \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lambda_{\mathcal{Q}} \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathcal{Q}}$$

defines a continuous linear functional on $a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with operator norm no more than a constant multiple of $\|t\|_{\dot{a}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. Conversely, every $L \in (a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*$ is of this form for a certain $t \in \dot{a}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\|t\|_{\dot{a}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ is no more than a constant multiple of the operator norm of L.

Proof: We only consider the spaces $b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ because the assertion for $f\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ can be proved similarly. Below we write $\mathbb{R}_{\mathbb{Z}}^{n+1} \equiv \{(x, a) \in \mathbb{R}_{+}^{n+1} : \log_2 a \in \mathbb{Z}\}$. For $t = \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \in \dot{b}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\lambda = \{\lambda_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \in b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, let F and G be

For $t = \{t_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \in \dot{b}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\lambda = \{\lambda_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \in \dot{b}H_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, let F and G be functions on $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ defined by setting, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $F(x, 2^{-j}) \equiv \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} |\lambda_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ and $G(x, 2^{-j}) \equiv \sum_{P\in\mathcal{D}_j(\mathbb{R}^n)} |\lambda_P| \tilde{\chi}_P$. Since

 $\|F\|_{B\dot{T}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})} \sim \|\lambda\|_{b\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$ and $\|G\|_{B\dot{W}^{-s,\tau}_{p',q'}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})} \sim \|t\|_{\dot{b}^{-s,\tau}_{p',q'}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$, where $B\dot{T}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ and $B\dot{W}^{-s,\tau}_{p',q'}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$ are tent spaces introduced in [190], by the duality of tent spaces obtained in [190] that $\left(B\dot{T}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})\right)^{*} = B\dot{W}^{-s,\tau}_{p',q'}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lambda_{\mathcal{Q}} \tilde{\mathsf{t}}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| &\leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sum_{\mathsf{P} \in \mathcal{D}_j(\mathbb{R}^n)} |\lambda_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} |\mathsf{t}_{\mathsf{P}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathsf{P}}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \mathsf{F}(x, 2^{-j}) \mathsf{G}(x, 2^{-j}) \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \|\mathsf{F}\|_{\mathsf{B}\dot{\mathsf{T}}^{\mathsf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{p},\mathsf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})} \|\mathsf{G}\|_{\mathsf{B}\dot{\mathsf{W}}^{-\mathsf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{p}',\mathsf{q}'}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{\mathbb{Z}})} \sim \|\lambda\|_{\mathsf{b}\dot{\mathsf{H}}^{\mathsf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{p},\mathsf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \|\mathsf{t}\|_{\dot{\mathsf{b}}^{-\mathsf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{p}',\mathsf{q}'}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \end{aligned}$$

which implies that $\dot{b}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow (b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n))^*$.

Conversely, since sequences with finite non-vanishing elements are dense in $b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we know that every $L \in \left(b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right)^*$ is of the form $\lambda \mapsto \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lambda_{\mathcal{Q}} \tilde{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ for a certain $t = \{t_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \subset \mathbb{C}$. It remains to show that $\|t\|_{\dot{b}_{p',q'}^{-s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \|t\|_{\left(b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)\right)^*}$.

Fix $P \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $a \in \mathbb{R}$. For $j \ge j_P$, let X_j be the set of all $Q \in \mathcal{D}_j(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying $Q \subset P$ and let μ be a measure on X_j such that the μ -measure of the "point" Q is $|Q|/|P|^{\tau a}$. Also, let l_P^q denote the set of all $\{a_j\}_{j\ge j_P} \subset \mathbb{C}$ with $\|\{a_j\}_{j\ge j_P}\|_{l_P^q} \equiv (\sum_{j=j_P}^{\infty} |a_j|^q)^{1/q}$ and $l_P^q(l^p(X_j, d\mu))$ denote the set of all $\{a_Q, j\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}_j(\mathbb{R}^n), Q \subset P, j\ge j_P} \subset \mathbb{C}$ with

$$\left\|\left\{a_{\mathcal{Q}},j\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}),\mathcal{Q}\subset\mathsf{P},j\geq j_{\mathsf{P}}}\right\|_{l_{\mathsf{P}}^{\mathsf{q}}\left(l^{\mathsf{p}}(\mathsf{X}_{j},\mathsf{d}\mu)\right)} \equiv \left(\sum_{j=j_{\mathsf{P}}}^{\infty}\left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}),\mathcal{Q}\subset\mathsf{P}}\left|a_{\mathcal{Q}},j\right|^{\mathsf{p}}\frac{|\mathcal{Q}|}{|\mathsf{P}|^{\tau a}}\right]^{\mathsf{q}/\mathsf{p}}\right)^{1/\mathsf{q}}.$$

It is easy to see that the dual space of $l_P^q(l^p(X_j, d\mu))$ is $l_P^{q'}(l^{p'}(X_j, d\mu))$; see [41]. Via this observation and the already proved conclusion of this proposition, we see that

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), \mathcal{Q} \subset \mathbf{P}} \left(|\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s}{n}-\frac{1}{2}} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \right)^{\mathbf{p}'} |\mathcal{Q}| \right]^{\frac{\mathbf{p}'}{\mathbf{q}'}} \right\}^{\frac{1}{\mathbf{q}'}} = \left\| \left\{ |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s}{n}-\frac{1}{2}} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \right\}_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), \mathcal{Q} \subset \mathbf{P}, \mathbf{j} \geq \mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{P}}} \right\|_{l_{\mathbf{P}}^{\mathbf{q}'} \left(l^{\mathbf{p}'}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{j}}, d\mu) \right)} \\ &= \sup_{\left\| \left\{ \lambda_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), \mathcal{Q} \subset \mathbf{P}, \mathbf{j} \geq \mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{P}}} \right\|_{l_{\mathbf{P}}^{\mathbf{q}} \left(l^{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{j}}, d\mu) \right)} \leq 1} \left\| \mathbf{t} \right\|_{\left(\mathbf{b} \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{s}, \tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \right)^{*}} \left\| \left\{ \lambda_{\mathcal{Q}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s}{n}-\frac{1}{2}} |\mathcal{Q}| / |\mathbf{P}|^{\tau \mathbf{p}'} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), \mathcal{Q} \subset \mathbf{P}, \mathbf{j} \geq \mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{P}}} \right\|_{\mathbf{b} \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{s}, \tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \end{split}$$

To finish the proof of this proposition, it suffices to show that

$$\left\| \left\{ \lambda_{\mathcal{Q}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s}{n-2}} |\mathcal{Q}| / |\mathsf{P}|^{\mathsf{T}\mathsf{p}'} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), \mathcal{Q} \subset \mathsf{P}, j \ge j_{\mathsf{P}}} \right\|_{\mathsf{b}\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathsf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathsf{p},\mathsf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim 1$$

for all sequences λ satisfying $\left\| \left\{ \lambda_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), \mathcal{Q} \subset P, j \ge j_{P}} \right\|_{l_{P}^{q}\left(l^{p}(X_{j}, d\mu)\right)} \le 1$. In fact, let $B \equiv B\left(C_{P}, \sqrt{n}\ell(P)\right)$ and ω be as in the proof of [189] associated with B, then ω satisfies (27)

and for all $x \in P$ and $j \ge j_P$, $[\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-1} \sim [\ell(P)]^{n\tau}$. We then obtain that

which completes the proof of Proposition (4.2.10).

Applying Theorem (4.2.8), we establish the following Sobolev-type embedding properties of $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For the corresponding results on $\dot{B}^s_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{F}^s_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, see [41].

Proposition (4.2.11) [204]: Let $1 < p_0 < p_1 < \infty$ and $-\infty < s_1 < s_0 < \infty$ Assume in addition that $s_0 - n/p_0 = s_1 - n/p_1$.

- (i) If $q \in [1, \infty)$ and $\tau \in [0, \min\{\frac{1}{(p_0 \vee q)'}, \frac{1}{(p_1 \vee q)'}\}]$ such that $\tau(p_0 \vee q)' = \tau(p_1 \vee q)'$, then $B\dot{H}^{s_0, \tau}_{p_0, q}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow B\dot{H}^{s_1, \tau}_{p_1, q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.
- (ii) If $q, r \in (1, \infty)$ and $\tau \in [0, \min\left\{\frac{1}{(p_0 \vee r)'}, \frac{1}{(p_1 \vee q)'}\right\}]$ such that $\tau(p_0 \vee r)' = \tau(p_1 \vee q)'$, then $F\dot{H}^{s_0, \tau}_{p_0, r}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow F\dot{H}^{s_1, \tau}_{p_1, q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: By Theorem (4.2.8) and similarity, it suffices to prove the corresponding conclusions on sequence spaces $f\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, namely, to show that $\|t\|_{f\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{p_1,q}^{s_1,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|t\|_{f\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{p_0,r}^{s_0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ for all $t \in f\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{p_0,r}^{s_0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. When $\tau = 0$, this is a classic conclusion on Triebel-Lizorkin spaces.

In the case when $\tau > 0$, we have $(p_0 \vee r)' \le (p_1 \vee q)'$. Let $t \in f \dot{H}_{p_0,r}^{s_0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and ω satisfy

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} [\mathrm{N}\omega(x)]^{(\mathrm{p}_0\vee\mathrm{r})'} \mathrm{d}\mathrm{H}^{n\tau(\mathrm{p}_0\vee\mathrm{r})'}(x) \le 1$$
(34)

and

$$\left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}^n}\left[\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}^{\infty}\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_j(\mathbb{R}^n)}|\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s_0}{n}-\frac{r}{2}}|t_{\mathcal{Q}}|^r\chi_{\mathcal{Q}}[\omega(x,2^{-j})]^{-r}\right]^{p_0/r}dx\right\}^{1/p_0}\lesssim \|t\|_{f\dot{H}^{s_0,\tau}_{p_0,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

For all $(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$, we set $\widetilde{\omega}(x, s) \equiv \sup\{\omega(y, s) : y \in \mathbb{R}^n, |y - x| < \sqrt{ns}\}$. Then by the argument in [189], we know that a constant multiple of $\widetilde{\omega}$ also satisfies (34). Since $(p_0 \vee r)' \leq (p_1 \vee q)'$, we note that $\widetilde{\omega}$ satisfies

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} [N\widetilde{\omega}(x)]^{(p_1 \vee q)'} d\mathrm{H}^{n\tau(p_1 \vee q)'}(x) \lesssim 1.$$

For all Q with $\ell(Q) = 2^{-j}$, set $\tilde{t}_Q \equiv |t_Q| \sup_{y \in Q} \{ [\tilde{\omega}(y, 2^{-j})]^{-1} \}$. Observe that for all $x \in Q$ with $\ell(Q) = 2^{-j}, [\tilde{\omega}(y, 2^{-j})]^{-1} \leq \inf_{y \in Q} [\omega(y, 2^{-j})]^{-1}$, and hence, $\sup_{x \in Q} [\tilde{\omega}(x, 2^{-j})]^{-1} \leq \inf_{y \in Q} [\omega(y, 2^{-j})]^{-1}$. This observation together with $p_0 < p_1$, $s_0 - n/p_0 = s_1 - n/p_1$ and the corresponding embedding property for Triebel-Lizorkin spaces (see, [41]) yields that

$$\begin{split} &\left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s_{1}q}{n} - \frac{q}{2}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{q} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) [\widetilde{\omega}(x, 2^{-j})]^{-q} \right]^{p_{1}/q} dx \right\}^{1/p_{1}} \\ &\leq \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s_{1}q}{n} - \frac{q}{2}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{q} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Q}} \{[\widetilde{\omega}(y, 2^{-j})]^{-q}\} \right]^{p_{1}/q} dx \right\}^{1/p_{1}} \\ &= \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s_{1}q}{n} - \frac{q}{2}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{q} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right]^{p_{1}/q} dx \right\}^{1/p_{1}} \\ &= \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s_{1}q}{n} - \frac{q}{2}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{r} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \right]^{p_{0}/r} dx \right\}^{1/p_{1}} \\ &= \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s_{0}r}{n} - \frac{r}{2}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{r} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Q}} \{[\widetilde{\omega}(y, 2^{-j})]^{-r}] \right]^{p_{0}/r} dx \right\}^{1/p_{0}} \\ &\sim \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s_{0}r}{n} - \frac{r}{2}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{r} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Q}} \{[\widetilde{\omega}(y, 2^{-j})]^{-r}] \right]^{p_{0}/r} dx \right\}^{1/p_{0}} \\ &\lesssim \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{s_{0}r}{n} - \frac{r}{2}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{r} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) [\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-r} \right]^{p_{0}/r} dx \right\}^{1/p_{0}} \\ &\lesssim f \dot{H}_{p_{0},r}^{s_{0},\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n}); \end{aligned}$$

see [106] for the definition of the sequence spaces $\dot{f}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. Therefore, $\|t\|_{\dot{f}_{p_{1},q}^{s_{1},\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \|t\|_{\dot{f}_{p_{0},r}^{s_{0},\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$, which completes the proof of Proposition (4.2.11).

When $\tau = 0$, Proposition (4.2.11) recovers the corresponding results on $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ in [41], which are known to be sharp; see [203]. We further show that the restriction that $\tau(p_{0} \vee q)' = \tau(p_{1} \vee q)'$ in Proposition (4.2.11)(i) is also sharp. To see this, we need the following geometrical observation on the Hausdorff capacity.

Lemma (4.2.12) [204]: Let $d \in (0, n]$. Suppose that $\{E_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ are given subsets of \mathbb{R}^n such that $E_j \subset B((A_j, 0, ..., 0), n)$, where $\{A_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is an increasing sequence of natural numbers satisfying that $A_1 \ge 10$ and for all $j, l \in \mathbb{N}, A_{j+l} - A_j \ge 4nl^{1/d}$. Then $H^d(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} E_j)$ and $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} H^d(E_j)$ are equivalent.

Proof: The inequality $H^d(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} E_j) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} H^d(E_j)$ is trivial. Let us prove the reverse inequality. To this end, let us first notice the following geometric observation that when a ball $B \equiv (x_B, r_B)$ intersects E_j and E_{j+l} for some $j, l \in \mathbb{N}$, then 2B engulfs $E_j, E_{j+l}, ..., E_{j+l}$. Thus, $4r_B$ is greater than $A_{j+l} - A_j$ and hence, $r_B^d \geq ((A_{j+l} - A_j)/4)^d \geq ln^d$. Therefore, instead of using B we can use $B((A_j, 0, ..., 0), n), ..., B((A_j, 0, ..., 0), n)$ to cover E_j and E_{j+l} . Notice that $\{B((A_j, 0, ..., 0), n)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ are disjoint. Based on these observations, without loss of generality, we may assume, in estimating $H^d(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} E_j)$, that each ball in the ball covering meets only one E_j . From this, it is easy to follow that $H^d(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} E_j) \geq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} H^d(E_j)$, which completes the proof of Lemma (4.2.12).

Lemma (4.2.13) [204]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$, $\tau \in (0, \frac{1}{(p \vee q)'}]$ and $\{A_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be as in Lemma (4.2.12) such that $Q_k \equiv (A_k, 0, ..., 0) + 2^{-k}[0,1)^n \in \mathcal{D}_k(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ (the existence of $\{A_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is obvious). Define $t_j \equiv \{(t_j)_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ so that $(t_j)_Q \equiv 2^{-\frac{kn}{2}-k\left(s-\frac{n}{p}\right)}$ if $Q = Q_k$ and $k \in \{1, ..., j\}$, $(t_j)_Q \equiv 0$ otherwise. Then for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $\|t_j\|_{b\dot{H}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ is equivalent to $j^{\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{(p \vee q)'}}$ and $\|t_j\|_{f\dot{H}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ is equivalent to $j^{\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{(p \vee q)'}}$.

Proof: For the Besov-Hausdorff space, let us minimize

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} 2^{ksq} \left\| \left| \left(t_{j} \right)_{\mathcal{Q}_{k}} \right| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}_{k}}(x) \left[\omega(\cdot, 2^{-k}) \right]^{-1} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q} \right)^{1/q}$$

under the condition (27). By the definition of t_j and the assumption on ω in Definition (4.2.3), we may assume that $\omega \equiv 0$ outside $\bigcup_{k=1}^{j} (\mathcal{Q}_{0,(A_k,0,\dots,0)} \times \{2^{-k}\})$ and for all $\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_k(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\mathcal{Q} \subset \mathcal{Q}_{0,(A_k,0,\dots,0)}$ and $k \in \{1,\dots,j\}$, $\sup_{x \in \mathcal{Q}} \omega(x, 2^{-k}) = \sup_{x \in \mathcal{Q}_k} \omega(x, 2^{-k})$, where $\mathcal{Q}_{0,(A_j,0,\dots,0)} \equiv (A_j, 0, \dots, 0) + [0,1)^n \in \mathcal{D}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Also, we can replace ω with the maximal function $\widetilde{\omega}$ given by $\widetilde{\omega}(x, 2^{-k}) \equiv \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Q}_{k,x}} \omega(y, 2^{-k})$, where $k \in \{1, \dots, j\}$ and $\mathcal{Q}_{k,x} \in \mathcal{D}_k(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a unique cube containing x. This construction implies that $\widetilde{\omega}$ equals a constant on $\mathcal{Q}_{0,(A_j,0,\dots,0)}$ for each $k \in \{1,\dots,j\}$, namely, $\widetilde{\omega}(\cdot, 2^{-k}) \equiv \alpha_k \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{0,(A_j,0,\dots,0)}}$. Notice that if $N\widetilde{\omega}(x) \neq 0$, then $x \in B((A_k, 0, \dots, 0), n)$ for some $k \in \{1, \dots, j\}$. This combined with Lemma (4.2.12) yields that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} [N\widetilde{\omega}(x)]^{(p\vee q)'} dH^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(x)$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} H^{n\tau(p\vee q)'} \left(\left\{ x \in \left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{j} B((A_{k}, 0, \dots, 0), n) \right) : [N\widetilde{\omega}(x)]^{(p\vee q)'} \right\} d\lambda \sim \sum_{k=1}^{j} \int_{0}^{\infty} H^{n\tau(p\vee q)'} (\{x \in B((A_{k}, 0, \dots, 0), n) : [N\widetilde{\omega}(x)]^{(p\vee q)'} \right\} d\lambda \sim \sum_{k=1}^{j} \int_{B((A_{k}, 0, \dots, 0), n)} [N\widetilde{\omega}(x)]^{(p\vee q)'} dH^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(x) \sim \sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{(p\vee q)'}.$$

On the other hand,

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} 2^{ksq} \left\| \left\| \left(t_j \right)_{\mathcal{Q}_k} \right| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}_k}(x) \left[\widetilde{\omega} \left(\cdot, 2^{-k} \right) \right]^{-1} \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^q \right)^{1/q} = \left[\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_k)^{-q} \right]^{1/q}$$

In summary (modulo a multiplicative constant), we need to minimize $(\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_k)^{-q})^{1/q}$ under the condition $\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_k)^{(p \vee q)'} \leq 1$. This can be achieved as follows: By using the geometric mean, we have

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{-q}\right)^{1/q} \gtrsim \left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{-q}\right)^{1/q} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{(p \vee q)'}\right)^{1/(p \vee q)'}$$
$$\gtrsim \left(\int_{1}^{j} \sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{-q}}\right)^{1/q} \left(\int_{1}^{j} \sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{(p \vee q)'}}\right)^{1/(p \vee q)'} \sim j^{1/q+1/(p \vee q)'}.$$

In particular, $\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_k)^{-q}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \sim j^{\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'}}$ when $\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_k)^{(p \lor q)'} \sim 1$ and the α_k 's are identical. Thus, for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $\|\mathbf{t}_j\|_{\mathbf{b}\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\mathsf{T}}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sim j^{\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'}}$.

For the Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff space, similarly to the above arguments, we see that

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{j} |\mathcal{Q}_{k}|^{-(s/n+1/2)q} \left| \left(t_{j}\right)_{\mathcal{Q}_{k}} \right|^{q} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{k}}(x) [\widetilde{\omega}(x, 2^{-k})]^{-q} \right]^{p/q} dx \right)^{1/p}$$

$$= \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{k=1}^{j} |\mathcal{Q}_{k}|^{-(s/n+1/2)q} \left| \left(t_{j}\right)_{\mathcal{Q}_{k}} \right|^{p} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{k}}(x) (\alpha_{k})^{-p} dx \right)^{1/p} = \left[\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{-q} \right]^{1/q}$$

Applying the geometric mean again, we have

$$\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{-p} \right)^{1/p} \gtrsim \left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{-p} \right)^{1/p} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{(p \vee q)'} \right)^{1/(p \vee q)'}$$

$$\gtrsim \left(\int_{j}^{j} \sqrt{\prod_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{-p}} \right)^{1/p} \left(\int_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_{k})^{(p \vee q)'} \right)^{1/(p \vee q)'} \sim j^{1/p+1/(p \vee q)'}.$$

In particular, $(\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_k)^{-p})^{\frac{1}{p}} \sim j^{\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{(p \vee q)'}}$ when $\sum_{k=1}^{j} (\alpha_k)^{(p \vee q)'} \sim 1$ and the α_k 's are identical, which implies that for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $\|t_j\|_{b\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sim j^{\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{(p \vee q)'}}$. This finishes the proof of Lemma (4.2.13).

Proposition (4.2.14) [204]: Let s, τ , p_0 , p_1 , q, r be as in Proposition (4.2.11). (i) If $b\dot{H}_{p_0,q}^{s_0,\tau} \hookrightarrow b\dot{H}_{p_1,q}^{s_1,\tau}$, then $\tau(p_0 \lor q)' = \tau(p_1 \lor q)'$. (ii) If $f\dot{H}_{p_0,r}^{s_0,\tau} \hookrightarrow f\dot{H}_{p_1,q}^{s_1,\tau}$, then $\tau(p_0 \lor r)' \le \tau(p_1 \lor q)' + \tau\left(\frac{1}{p_0} - \frac{1}{p_1}\right)(p_0 \lor r)'(p_1 \lor q)'$. **Proof:** By similarity, we only consider the Besov-Hausdorff space. Let t_j be as in Lemma (4.2.13) with s, p replaced, respectively, by s_0 and p_0 . Since $s_0 - n/p_0 = s_1 - n/p_1$, by Lemma (4.2.13), we have $\|\mathbf{t}_{j}\|_{\mathbf{b}\dot{H}_{p_{0},q}^{s_{0},\tau}} \sim j^{\frac{1}{p}+\frac{1}{(p\vee q)'}}$ and $\|\mathbf{t}_{j}\|_{\mathbf{b}\dot{H}_{p_{1},q}^{s_{1},\tau}} \sim j^{\frac{1}{p}+\frac{1}{(p\vee q)'}}$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, which together with $\mathbf{b}\dot{H}_{p_{0},q}^{s_{0},\tau} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{b}\dot{H}_{p_{1},q}^{s_{1},\tau}$ implies that $j^{\frac{1}{q}+\frac{1}{(p_{1}\vee q)'}} \lesssim j^{\frac{1}{p}+\frac{1}{(p_{0}\vee q)'}}$ for all $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Therefore, $(p_{0} \vee q)' \leq (p_{1} \vee q)'$. Meanwhile it is trivial that $(p_{0} \vee q)' \geq (p_{1} \vee q)'$ since $p_{1} > p_{0}$. We then have $(p_{0} \vee q)' = (p_{1} \vee q)'$. This finishes the proof of Proposition (4.2.14).

We begin with considering the boundedness of almost diagonal operators on $a\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}^{\mathrm{s},\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which is applied to establish the smooth atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations of $A\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}^{\mathrm{s},\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Definition (4.2.15) [204]: Let $p \in (1, \infty), q \in [1, \infty)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}, \tau \in (0, \frac{1}{(p \vee q)'}]$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, \infty)$. For all $Q, P \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, define

$$\omega_{\mathcal{Q}P}(\varepsilon) \equiv \left(\frac{\ell(\mathcal{Q})}{\ell(P)}\right)^{s} \left(1 + \frac{|x_{P} - x_{\mathcal{Q}}|}{\max(\ell(\mathcal{Q}), \ell(P))}\right)^{-n-\varepsilon} \min\left(\left(\frac{\ell(P)}{\ell(\mathcal{Q})}\right)^{\frac{n+\varepsilon}{2}}, \left(\frac{\ell(\mathcal{Q})}{\ell(P)}\right)^{\frac{n+\varepsilon}{2}}\right).$$

An operator A associated with a matrix $\{a_{\mathcal{Q}P}\}_{\mathcal{Q},P\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, namely, for all sequences $t = \{t_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \subset \mathbb{C}$, At $\equiv \{(At)_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \{\sum_{P\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} a_{\mathcal{Q}P} t_P\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, is called ε -almost diagonal on $a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if the matrix $\{a_{\mathcal{Q}P}\}_{\mathcal{Q},P\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ satisfies

$$\sup_{\mathbf{P}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} |a_{\mathcal{Q}|\mathbf{P}}| / \omega_{\mathcal{Q}|\mathbf{P}}(\varepsilon) < \infty.$$

Lemma (4.2.16) [204]: Let $d \in (0, n]$ and Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^n such that $\Omega = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_j$, where $\{B_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty} \equiv \{B(X_j, R_j)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ is a countable collection of balls. Define

$$H^{d}\left(\Omega, \left\{B_{j}\right\}_{j=1}^{\infty}\right) \equiv \inf\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} r_{k}^{d}: \Omega \subset \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} B(X_{k}, R_{k}), B(X_{k}, R_{k}) \supset B_{j} \text{ if } B_{j} \cap B(X_{k}, R_{k}) \neq \emptyset\right\}$$

Then there exists a positive constant C, independent of Ω , $\{B_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ and d, such that

$$\mathrm{H}^{d}(\Omega) \leq \mathrm{H}^{d}\left(\Omega, \left\{B_{j}\right\}_{j=1}^{\infty}\right) \leq \mathrm{C}(46)^{d}\mathrm{H}^{d}(\Omega).$$

Proof: The first inequality is trivial. We only need to prove the second one. Without loss of generality, we may assume $\sup_{j\in\mathbb{N}} R_j < \infty$. By the well-known (5r)-covering lemma, there exists a subset j^* of \mathbb{N} such that $\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} (3B_j) \subset \bigcup_{j\in j^*} (15B_j)$ and $\chi_{j\in j^*} * \chi_{(3B_j)} \leq 1$. Furthermore, by its construction, if $B_{j'}, j' \in \mathbb{N}$, intersects B_j for some $j \in j^*$, we have that $(3B_{j'}) \subset (15B_j)$.

Let $\{B(x_k, r_k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a collection of balls such that $\Omega \subset \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} B(x_k, r_k)$ and $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} r_k^d \leq 2H^d(\Omega)$. Set

$$\begin{split} & K_1 \equiv \left\{ k \in \mathbb{N} : \text{when } B(x_k, 45r_k) \cap B_j \neq \emptyset \text{ for any } j \in \mathbb{N}, \quad \text{then } r_k \geq 135R_j \right\} \\ & \text{And } J_1 \equiv \left\{ j \in \mathbb{N} : B_j \cap B(x_k, 45r_k) \neq \emptyset \text{ for some } k \in K_1 \right\}. \text{ Also define } J_2 \equiv (\mathbb{N} \setminus J_1) \text{ and } \\ & K_2 \equiv (\mathbb{N} \setminus K_1) \text{ . We remark that if } k \in K_2 \text{ , then there exists } j \in J_2 \text{ such that } B_j \cap B(x_k, 45r_k) \neq \emptyset \text{ and } 135R_j > r_k. \text{ Notice that } B_j \subset \Omega \subset (\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} B(x_k, r_k)). \text{ Hence, for each } j \in J_2 \text{ , we have } B_j \subset \Omega \subset \left(\bigcup_{k \in K_2, B(x_k, r_k) \cap B_j \neq \emptyset} B(x_k, r_k)\right), \text{ and then, by } d \leq n \text{ and the monotonicity of } l^{\frac{d}{n}}, \text{ we see that} \end{split}$$

$$\sum_{k \in K_2} r_k^d \sim \sum_{k \in K_2} |B(x_k, r_k)|^{\frac{d}{n}} \gtrsim \sum_{j \in J^* \cap J_2} \sum_{k \in K_2, B_j \cap B(x_k, 45r_k) \neq \emptyset} |B(x_k, r_k)|^{\frac{d}{n}}$$
$$\gtrsim \sum_{j \in J^* \cap J_2} \left(\sum_{k \in K_2, B_j \cap B(x_k, 45r_k) \neq \emptyset} |B(x_k, r_k)| \right)^{\frac{d}{n}} \gtrsim \sum_{j \in J^* \cap J_2} R_j^d$$
r yields that

which further yields that

$$\sum_{\mathbf{k}\in \mathbf{K}_1} \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathbf{d}} + \sum_{\mathbf{j}\in \mathbf{J}^*\cap \mathbf{J}_2} \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{j}}^{\mathbf{d}} \lesssim \sum_{\mathbf{k}\in \mathbf{K}} \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathbf{d}}.$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\Omega \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B_{j} \subset \bigcup_{j \in J^{*}} (15B_{j}) = \left\{ \bigcup_{j \in J^{*} \cap J_{1}} (15B_{j}) \right\} \cup \left\{ \bigcup_{j \in J^{*} \cap J_{2}} (15B_{j}) \right\}$$
$$\subset \left\{ \bigcup_{k \in K_{1}} B(x_{k}, 46r_{k}) \right\} \cup \left\{ \bigcup_{j \in J^{*} \cap J_{2}} (15B_{j}) \right\}.$$

Notice that for $k \in K_1$, $B(x_k, 45r_k)$ meets B_j for some $j \in \mathbb{N}$ gives us $r_k \ge 135R_j$, which further implies that $B(x_k, 46r_k) \supset B_j$. Also, for $j \in J^*$ and $j' \in \mathbb{N}$, if $B_j \cap B_{j'} \ne \emptyset$, then $(15B_j) \supset B_{j'}$. As a result, we conclude that $\{B(x_k, 46r_k)\}_{k \in K_1} \cup \{15B_j\}_{j \in J^* \cap J_2}$ is the desired covering of Ω and hence,

$$\mathrm{H}^{d}\left(\Omega,\left\{B_{j}\right\}_{j=1}^{\infty}\right) \leq \sum_{k \in K_{1}} (46r_{k})^{d} + \sum_{j \in J^{*} \cap J_{2}} (15R_{j})^{d} \leq (46)^{d} \mathrm{H}^{d}(\Omega),$$

which completes the proof of Lemma (4.2.16).

Applying Lemma (4.2.16), we have the following conclusion.

Lemma (4.2.17)[204]: Let $\beta \in [1, \infty)$, $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$ and ω be a nonnegative Borel measurable function on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ . Then there exists a positive constant C, independent of β , ω and λ , such that

 $H^{d}(\{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : N_{\beta}\omega(x) > \lambda\}) \leq C\beta^{d}H^{d}(\{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : N\omega(x) > \lambda\}),$ where $N_{\beta}\omega(x) \equiv \sup_{|y-x| < \beta t} \omega(y, t).$ **Proof:** Observe that

$$\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \mathrm{N}\omega(x) > \lambda\} = \bigcup_{\substack{\mathsf{t}\in(0,\infty)\\\omega(y,\mathsf{t})>\lambda}} \bigcup_{\substack{\mathsf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^n\\\omega(y,\mathsf{t})>\lambda}} B(\mathsf{y},\mathsf{t})$$

and that

$$\left\{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : \mathrm{N}_{\beta}\omega(x) > \lambda\right\} = \bigcup_{\substack{\mathsf{t} \in (0,\infty) \\ \omega(y,t) > \lambda}} \bigcup_{\substack{\mathsf{y} \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \\ \omega(y,t) > \lambda}} \mathrm{B}(\mathsf{y},\beta\mathsf{t}).$$

By the Linderöf covering lemma, there exists a countable subset $\{B_l\}_{l=0}^{\infty}$ of $\{B(y,t) : t \in (0,\infty), y \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ satisfying } \omega(y,t) > \lambda\}$ such that $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : N_\beta \omega(x) > \lambda\}$. By Lemma (4.2.16), it suffices to prove that

$$\mathrm{H}^{\mathrm{d}}(\{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : \mathrm{N}_{\beta}\omega(x) > \lambda\}, \{\beta \mathrm{B}_{l}\}_{l=0}^{\infty}) \leq \beta^{\mathrm{d}}\mathrm{H}^{\mathrm{d}}\left(\bigcup_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathrm{B}_{l}, \{\mathrm{B}_{l}\}_{l=0}^{\infty}\right).$$

Let $\{B_k^*\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ be a ball covering of $\bigcup_{l \in \mathbb{N}} B_l$ such that $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} r_{B_k^*}^d \leq 2H^d (\bigcup_{l=0}^{\infty} B_l, \{B_l\}_{l=0}^{\infty})$, and that B_k^* engulfs B_l whenever they intersect, where $r_{B_k^*}$ denotes the radius of B_k^* .

Therefore, βB_k^* engulfs βB_l whenever they intersect and $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : N_\beta \omega(x) > \lambda\} \subset \{\bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} (\beta B_k^*)\}$. We then have

$$2\beta^{d} \mathrm{H}^{d} \left(\bigcup_{l=0}^{\infty} \mathrm{B}_{l}, \{\mathrm{B}_{l}\}_{l=0}^{\infty} \right) \geq \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \left(\beta \mathrm{r}_{\mathrm{B}_{k}^{*}} \right)^{d} \geq \mathrm{H}^{d} \left(\left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : \mathrm{N}_{\beta} \omega(x) > \lambda \right\}, \{\beta \mathrm{B}_{l}\}_{l=0}^{\infty} \right),$$

which completes the proof of Lemma (4.2.17).

As an immediate consequence of Lemma (4.2.17), we have the following result. **Corollary** (4.2.18) [204]: Let $d \in (0, n]$, $\beta \in [1, \infty)$ and ω be a nonnegative measurable function on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ . Define $\omega_{\beta}(x, t) \equiv \sup_{y \in B(x,\beta t)} \omega(y, t)$. Then there exists a positive constant C such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} N_{\beta} \omega(x) dH^d(x) \le C\beta^d \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} N\omega(x) dH^d(x).$$

Theorem (4.2.19) [204]: Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\varepsilon \in (0, \infty)$ and $\tau \in (0, \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'}]$. Then all the ε -almost diagonal operators on $a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are bounded if $\varepsilon > 2n\tau$.

Proof: By similarity, we only consider $f\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Similarly to the proof of [190, Theorem 4.1], without loss of generality, we may assume s = 0, since this case implies the general case.

By the Aoki theorem (see [191]), there exists a $\kappa \in (0, 1]$ such that $\|\cdot\|_{f\dot{H}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\kappa}$ becomes a norm in $f\dot{H}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let $t \in f\dot{H}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For $Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we write $A \equiv A_0 + A_1$ with $(A_0t)_Q \equiv \sum_{\{P \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n): \ell(Q) \leq \ell(P)\}} a_Q P t_P$ and $(A_1t)_Q \equiv \sum_{\{P \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n): \ell(Q) \leq \ell(P)\}} a_Q P t_P$. By Definition (4.2.15), we see that for $Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\left| (\mathbf{A}_0 \mathbf{t})_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \lesssim \sum_{\{\mathbf{P} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n): \, \ell(\mathcal{Q}) \le \ell(\mathbf{P})\}} \left(\frac{\ell(\mathcal{Q})}{\ell(\mathbf{P})} \right)^{\frac{N+\varepsilon}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{P}}|}{\left(1 + \left[\ell(\mathbf{P}) \right]^{-1} \left| x_{\mathcal{Q}} - x_{\mathbf{P}} \right| \right)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right)^{n+\varepsilon}$$

Thus, we have

$$\begin{split} \|A_{0}t\|_{f\dot{H}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ \lesssim \inf_{\omega} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{q}{2}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \left[\sum_{i=-\infty}^{j} \sum_{P\in\mathcal{D}_{i}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{(i-j)\frac{n+\varepsilon}{2}} \frac{|t_{P}|[\omega(\cdot,2^{-j})]^{-1}}{(1+2^{i}|x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{P}|)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right]^{q} \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \end{split}$$

Let ω be a nonnegative Borel measurable function satisfying (27) and

$$\left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left| \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right|^{q} \left[\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \omega(\cdot, 2^{-j}) \right]^{-q} \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{f\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

Let $A_{0,i}(Q) \equiv \{P \in \mathcal{D}_i(\mathbb{R}^n) : 2^i | x_Q - x_P | \le \sqrt{n}/2 \}$ and $A_{m,i}(Q) \equiv \{P \in \mathcal{D}_i(\mathbb{R}^n) : 2^{m-1} \sqrt{n}/2 < 2^i | x_P - x_Q | \le 2^m \sqrt{n}/2 \}$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. Define $\omega_m(x,t) \equiv 2^{-mn\tau} \sup_{y \in B(x,\sqrt{n}2^{m+1}t)} \omega(y,t)$ for all $(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}_n^{n+1}$. Then $N\omega_m \le 2^{-mn\tau} N_{\sqrt{n}2^{m+2}}\omega$ and

 $[\omega_{\rm m}(x,2^{-j})]^{-1}\omega(y,2^{-j}) \lesssim 2^{{\rm m}n\tau}$ for ${\rm m} \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, $x \in Q$ with $Q \in \mathcal{D}_j(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $y \in {\rm P}$ with ${\rm P} \in A_{{\rm m},i}(Q)$ and $i \leq j$. Moreover, using Corollary (4.2.18), we see that a constant multiple of $\omega_{\rm m}$ also satisfies (27). Similarly to the proof of Lemma (4.2.6), we have that for all $x \in Q$,

$$\sum_{P \in A_{m,i}(Q)} \frac{|t_P|[\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-1}}{(1 + 2^i |x_Q - x_P|)^{n+\varepsilon}} \lesssim 2^{-m\varepsilon + mn\tau} HL\left(\sum_{P \in A_{m,i}(Q)} |t_P|[\chi_P \omega(\cdot, 2^{-i})]^{-1}\right)(x).$$

Hence, choosing $\varepsilon > n\tau$, by Fefferman-Stein's vector-valued inequality, we obtain $||A_0t||_{\kappa=0}^{\kappa}$

The proof for A_1 t is similar. Indeed, we have

$$\left| (\mathbf{A}_0 \mathbf{t})_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \lesssim \sum_{\{\mathbf{P} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \ell(\mathcal{Q}) \le \ell(\mathbf{P})\}} \left(\frac{\ell(\mathcal{Q})}{\ell(\mathbf{P})} \right)^{\frac{n+\varepsilon}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{P}}|}{\left(1 + \left[\ell(\mathbf{P}) \right]^{-1} \left| x_{\mathcal{Q}} - x_{\mathbf{P}} \right| \right)^{n+\varepsilon}}.$$

n⊥c

Thus,

 $\|\mathbf{A}_{1}\mathbf{t}\|_{f\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{0,\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$

$$\lesssim \inf_{\omega} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{q}{2}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \left[\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}_{j+l}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{-l\frac{n+\varepsilon}{2}} \frac{|\mathbf{t}_{P}|[\omega(\cdot, 2^{-j})]^{-1}}{(1+2^{j}|x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{P}|)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right]^{q} \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

$$\text{Let} \quad \widetilde{A}_{0,j,l}(\mathcal{Q}) \equiv \left\{ P \in \mathcal{D}_{j+l}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) : 2^{j}|x_{P}-x_{\mathcal{Q}}| \le \sqrt{n}/2 \right\} \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{A}_{m,j,l}(\mathcal{Q}) \equiv \left\{ P \in \mathcal{D}_{j+l}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) : 2^{m}\sqrt{n}/2 \right\} \text{ for all } j \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } l \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}. \text{ Set}$$

 $\widetilde{\omega}_{m}(x,s) \equiv 2^{-(m+l)n\tau} \sup \{ \omega(y,s) : y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, |y-x| < \sqrt{n}2^{m+l+1}s \}$ for all $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}$ and $(x,s) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+}$. Similarly, we have that a constant multiple of $\widetilde{\omega}_{m}$ satisfies (27) and $[\widetilde{\omega}_{m}(x,2^{-j})]^{-1} \times \omega(y,2^{-j-l}) \leq 2^{(m+l)n\tau}$ for $m, l \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}, x \in Q$ with $Q \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), y \in P$ with $P \in \widetilde{A}_{m,j,l}(Q)$. Similarly to the proof of Lemma (4.2.6) again, we see that for all $x \in Q$,

$$\sum_{\mathbf{P}\in \widetilde{A}_{\mathrm{m},j,l}(\mathcal{Q})} \frac{|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{P}}|[\widetilde{\omega}_{\mathrm{m}}(x,2^{-j})]^{-1}}{\left(1+2^{i}|x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{\mathbf{P}}|\right)^{n+\varepsilon}} \lesssim 2^{-m\varepsilon+ln+(m+l)n\tau} \mathrm{HL}\left(\sum_{\mathbf{P}\in \widetilde{A}_{\mathrm{m},j,l}(\mathcal{Q})} \frac{|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{P}}|\chi_{\mathbf{P}}}{\omega(\cdot,2^{-i})}\right)(x).$$

Hence, choosing $\varepsilon > 2n\tau$, similarly to the estimate of $\|A_0t\|_{f\dot{H}^{0,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, we also have

$$\begin{split} \|A_{0}t\|_{f\dot{H}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\kappa} &\lesssim \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{q}{2}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \left[\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{P\in\tilde{A}_{m,j,i}(\mathcal{Q})} 2^{-l\frac{n+\varepsilon}{2}} \frac{|t_{P}|[\omega_{m}(\cdot,2^{-j})]^{-1}}{(1+2^{j}|x_{\mathcal{Q}}-x_{P}|)^{n+\varepsilon}} \right]^{q} \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\kappa} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 2^{m(n\tau-\varepsilon)\kappa} \left\| \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \left[\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l(\varepsilon/2-n\tau)} \right]^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\kappa} \\ &\times \mathrm{HL} \left(\sum_{P\in\tilde{A}_{m,j,i}(\mathcal{Q})} |t_{P}|[\tilde{\chi}_{P}\omega(\cdot,2^{-i})]^{-1} \right) \right\|_{1}^{q} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\kappa} \lesssim \|t\|_{f\dot{H}_{p,q}^{0,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\kappa}, \end{split}$$

which completes the proof of Theorem (4.2.19).

As applications of Theorem (4.2.19), we establish the smooth atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations of $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Definition (4.2.20) [204]: Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'})$ and $Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Set $N \equiv \max([-s + 2n\tau], -1)$ and $s^* \equiv s - [s]$.

(i) A function $m_{\mathcal{Q}}$ is called a smooth synthesis molecule for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ supported near \mathcal{Q} , if there exist a $\delta \in (\max\{s^{*}, (s+n\tau)^{*}\}, 1]$ and $M > n + 2n\tau$ such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} x^{\gamma} m_{\mathcal{Q}}(x) dx = 0$ if $|\gamma| \leq N$, $|m_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)| \leq |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{1}{2}} (1 + [\ell(\mathcal{Q})]^{-1} |x - x_{\mathcal{Q}}|)^{-\max(M,M-s)}$, $|\partial^{\gamma} m_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)| \leq |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{|\gamma|}{n}} (1 + [\ell(\mathcal{Q})]^{-1} |x - x_{\mathcal{Q}}|)^{-M}$ if $|\gamma| \leq [s + 3n\tau]$ (35)

$$\left| \partial^{\gamma} \mathbf{m}_{Q}(x) - \partial^{\gamma} \mathbf{m}_{Q}(y) \right| \leq |Q|^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{|\gamma|}{n} - \frac{\delta}{n}} |x - y|^{\delta} \sup_{|z| \leq |x - y|} \left(1 + [\ell(Q)]^{-1} |x - z - x_{Q}| \right)^{-M}$$
(36)
if $|\gamma| = [s + 3n\tau].$

A set $\{m_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ of functions is called a family of smooth synthesis molecules for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if each m_Q is a smooth synthesis molecule for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near Q.

(ii) A function b_Q is called a smooth analysis molecule for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near near Q, if there exist a $\rho \in ((n-s)^*, 1]$ and $M > n + 2n\tau$ such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\gamma} b_Q(x) dx = 0$ if $|\gamma| \le |s + 3n\tau|, |b_Q(x)| \le |Q|^{-\frac{1}{2}} (1 + [\ell(Q)]^{-1} |x - x_Q|)^{-\max(M,M+s+n\tau)},$

$$\left| \partial^{\gamma} \mathbf{b}_{Q}(x) \right| \le |Q|^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{|\gamma|}{n}} \left(1 + [\ell(Q)]^{-1} |x - x_{Q}| \right)^{-M} \quad \text{if } |\gamma| \le N$$

$$f|\gamma| = N$$
(37)

and if
$$|\gamma| = N$$

 $\left|\partial^{\gamma} b_{Q}(x) - \partial^{\gamma} b_{Q}(y)\right| \le |Q|^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{|\gamma|}{n} - \frac{\delta}{n}} |x - y|^{\delta} \sup_{|z| \le |x - y|} (1 + [\ell(Q)]^{-1} |x - z - x_{Q}|)^{-M}$ (38)

A set $\{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ of functions is called a family of smooth analysis molecules for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if each b_Q is a smooth analysis molecule for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near Q. **Lemma (4.2.21) [204]:** Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'})$. Then there exist

 $\varepsilon_1 > 2n\tau$ and a positive constant C such that for all families $\{m_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ of smooth synthesis molecules for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and families $\{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ of smooth analysis molecules for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $|\langle m_P, b_Q \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}| \le C\omega_{Q,P}(\varepsilon_1)$.

To formulate the molecular decomposition, the following lemma is indispensable.

Lemma (4.2.22) [204]: Retain the same assumptions as in Lemma (4.2.21). Let $f \in$ $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Φ be a smooth analysis molecule for $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near a dyadic cube Q. Then $\langle f, \Phi \rangle$ is well defined. Indeed, let $\phi, \psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be as in (29). Then the series

$$\langle f, \Phi \rangle \equiv \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \langle \widetilde{\varphi}_j * \psi_j * f, \Phi \rangle = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \langle f, \varphi_P \rangle \langle \psi_P, \Phi \rangle$$
(39)

converges absolutely and its value is independent of the choices of ϕ and ψ .

Proof: The same proof as that of [190, Lemma 4.2] works for the absolute convergence of (39). We only need to prove that the value of (39) is independent of the choices of ϕ and ψ . By similarity again, we only consider the spaces $B\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let $f \in B\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We claim that $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \widetilde{\varphi}_j * \psi_j * f$, Φ converges in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. In fact, similarly to the proof of [189, Lemma 4.2.6], we have that for all $\psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$|\varphi_{j} * \varphi(x)| \leq ||\varphi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} ||\varphi||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \frac{2^{-jM}}{(1+|x|)^{n+M'}}$$

where $M \in \mathbb{N}$ is determined later. Thus,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| \langle \widetilde{\varphi}_j * \psi_j * f, \Phi \rangle \right| \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-jM} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\left|\psi_j * f(x)\right|}{(1+|x|)^{n+M}} dx.$$

Recall again that $\omega(x,t) \leq t^{-n\tau}$ for all nonnegative Borel measurable functions ω on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ satisfying (27). Letting M > max(0, $n\tau$ – s), by Hölder's inequality, we then obtain

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} |\langle \widetilde{\varphi}_{j} * \psi_{j} * f, \Phi \rangle| \leq \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-jM+jn\tau} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\psi_{j} * f(x)| [\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-1}}{(1+|x|)^{n+M}} dx$$
$$\leq \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \|f\|_{B\dot{H}^{S,\tau}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^{n})},$$

which implies that $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \widetilde{\varphi}_j * \psi_j * f$ at converges in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Thus, the claim is true. We need to handle carefully the remaining summation: $\sum_{j=-\infty}^{-1} \widetilde{\varphi}_j * \psi_j * f$. In general it is not possible to prove that $\sum_{j=-\infty}^{-1} \widetilde{\varphi}_j * \psi_j * f$ is convergent in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Therefore, we pass to its partial derivatives. Choose $\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+$ such that $|\gamma| > s - n\tau - n/p$. Then using Hölder's inequality, similarly to the previous estimate, we obtain that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{-1} \left| \partial^{\gamma} \big(\widetilde{\varphi}_{j} * \psi_{j} * f \big)(x) \big| \lesssim \sum_{j=-\infty}^{-1} 2^{j(+|\gamma|)} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left|\psi_{j} * f(x)\right|}{(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{n+M+|\gamma|}} dy$$
$$\lesssim \sum_{j=-\infty}^{-1} 2^{j\left(|\gamma|-s+n\tau+\frac{n}{p}\right)} \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \|f\|_{\mathrm{B}\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}} \|f\|_{\mathrm{B}\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

Therefore, it follows from the well-known result in [93] that there exist a sequence $\{P_N\}_{N\in\mathbb{N}}$ of polynomials on \mathbb{R}^n with degree no more than max $(-1, \lfloor s - n\tau - n/p \rfloor)$ and $g \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $g = \lim_{N \to \infty} \left(\sum_{j=-N}^{\infty} |\widetilde{\varphi}_j * \psi_j * f + P_N| \right)$ in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and g is a representative of the equivalence class $f + \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; see [106]. Using [93, Lemma 5.4] and repeating the argument in [106], we obtain that the value of (39) is independent of the choices of ϕ and ψ , which completes the proof of Lemma (4.2.22).

Theorem (4.2.23) [204]: Let s, p, q and τ be as in Lemma (4.2.21).

(i) If $\{m_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ is a family of smooth synthesis molecules for $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $t = \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \in a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n),$



(ii) If $\{b_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ is a family of smooth analysis molecules for $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $f \in a\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\left\|\left\{\left\langle f, \mathbf{b}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\rangle\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}\right\|_{a\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{\mathbf{s},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \mathbf{C}\|f\|_{\mathbf{A}\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{\mathbf{s},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

Theorem (4.2.23) generalizes the well-known results on $\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and $\dot{F}^{s}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ in [45, 106, 164, 165, 175, 176] by taking $\tau = 0$. We establish the smooth atomic decomposition characterizations of $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$.

Definition (4.2.24) [204]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$, τ and N be as in Definition (4.2.20). A function a_Q is called a smooth atom for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near a dyadic cube Q, if there exist \tilde{K} and \tilde{N} with $\tilde{K} \ge \max([s + 3n\tau + 1], 0)$ and $\tilde{N} \ge N$ such that a_Q satisfies the following support, regularity and moment conditions: $\sup a_Q \subset 3Q$, $\|\partial^{\gamma}a_Q\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le |Q|^{-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{|\gamma|}{n}}$ if $|\gamma| \le \tilde{K}$, and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\gamma}a_Q(x)dx = 0$ if $|\gamma| \le \tilde{N}$.

A set $\{a_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ of functions is called a family of smooth atoms for $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if each $a_{\mathcal{Q}}$ is a smooth atom for $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near \mathcal{Q} .

Theorem (4.2.25) [204]: Let s, p, q, τ be as in Lemma (4.2.21). Then for each $f \in A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, there exist a family $\{a_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ of smooth atoms for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, a coefficient sequence $t \equiv \{t_Q\}_{Q\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \in a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and a positive constant C such that $f = \sum_{Q\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} t_Q a_Q$ in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\|t\|_{a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C\|f\|_{A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Conversely, there exists a positive constant C such that for all families $\{a_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ of smooth atoms for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and coefficient sequences $t \equiv \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \in a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\|\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} t_Q a_Q\|_{A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C \|t\|_{a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

We give some applications of the smooth atomic and molecular decomposition characterizations of $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, including the boundedness of pseudo-differential operators with homogeneous symbols in these spaces and their trace properties. We first recall the notion of homogeneous symbols; see, [197].

Definition (4.2.26) [204]: Let $m \in \mathbb{Z}$. A smooth function a defined on $\mathbb{R}^n_x \times (\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi} \setminus \{0\})$ belongs to the class $\dot{S}^m_{1,1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if *a* satisfies the following differential inequalities that for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+$,

$$\sup_{x\in\mathbb{R}^n,\xi\in(\mathbb{R}^n\setminus\{0\})}|\xi|^{-m-|\alpha|+|\beta|}\left|\partial_x^{\alpha}\,\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}a(x,\xi)\right|<\infty.$$

As an application of the smooth molecular decomposition of $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (Theorem (4.2.23)) and the Calderón reproducing formula (29), we have the following conclusion. **Theorem (4.2.27) [204]:** Let $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$ and $\tau \in [0, \frac{1}{(p \vee q)'}]$. Let *a* be a symbol in $\dot{S}_{1,1}^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and a(x, D) be the pseudodifferential operator such that

$$a(x, \mathbf{D})f(x) \equiv \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} a(x, \xi) (\mathcal{F} f)(\xi) \mathrm{e}^{-ix\xi} \mathrm{d}\xi$$

for all smooth synthesis molecules for $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s+m,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Assume that its formal adjoint $a(x, D)^*$ satisfies $a(x, D)^*(x^\beta) = 0$ in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+$ with $|\beta| \leq \alpha$
max{-s + 2n τ , -1}. Then a(x, D) is a bounded linear operator from $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s+m,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: The proof is similar to that in [194, 195]; see also [200]. We abbreviate $T \equiv a(x, D)$ for simplicity. Let $f \in A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s+m,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and ϕ be as in Definition 4.2.1 such that for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\mathcal{F} \phi(2^{-j}\xi)|^2 = \chi_{\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}}(\xi)$. Then by the Calderón reproducing formula (29), we have $f \equiv \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \langle f, \phi_Q \rangle \phi_Q$ in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$; moreover, by the ϕ -transform characterization of $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s+m,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we see that $\left\| \{\langle f, \phi_Q \rangle\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \right\|_{a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s+m,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|f\|_{A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s+m,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, or equivalently, $\left\| \{ |Q|^{-\frac{m}{n}} \langle f, \phi_Q \rangle\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \right\|_{a\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|f\|_{A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s+m,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. We claim that $T(f) \equiv \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \langle f, \phi_Q \rangle T(\phi_Q)$ in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\|T(f)\|_{A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|f\|_{A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

 $||f||_{A\dot{H}^{s+m,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. To this end it suffices to show that every $|Q|^{\frac{m}{n}}T(\varphi_Q)$ is a constant multiple of a synthesis molecule for $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near Q. This fact was established by Grafakos and Torres [197]. We then conclude that T is bounded from $A\dot{H}^{s+m,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $A\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which completes the proof of Theorem (4.2.27).

Lemma (4.2.28) [204]: Let $d \in (0, n]$ and Ω be an open set in \mathbb{R}^n . Define

$$H^{d}_{*}(\Omega) \equiv \inf\left\{\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} r_{j}^{d}: \Omega \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B(x_{r}, r_{j}), r_{j} > \frac{\operatorname{dist}(x_{j}, \partial\Omega)}{10000}\right\}.$$

Then $H^{d}(\Omega)$ and $H^{d}_{*}(\Omega)$ are equivalent for all Ω .

Proof: The inequality $H^{d}(\Omega) \leq H^{d}_{*}(\Omega)$ is trivial from the definitions. To prove the converse, we choose a ball covering $\{B(x_{j}, r_{j})\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ of Ω such that $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} r_{j}^{d} \leq 2H^{d}(\Omega)$. Let $\{B(X_{j}, R_{j})\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ be a Whitney covering of Ω satisfying $\Omega = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} B(X_{j}, R_{j})$, $R_{j}/1000 \leq dist(X_{j}, \partial(\Omega)) \leq R_{j}/100$ and $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \chi_{R_{j}} \leq C_{n}$; see, [196]. Set

$$J_1 \equiv \left\{ j \in \mathbb{N} \colon \left(B(X_j, R_j) \cap B(x_k, r_k) \right) \neq \emptyset \text{ and } R_j \le 4r_k \text{ for some } k \in \mathbb{N} \right\}$$

and $J_2 \equiv (\mathbb{N} \setminus J_1)$. Notice that if $k \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfies $(B(X_j, R_j) \cap B(x_k, r_k)) \neq \emptyset$ for some $j \in J_2$, then $B(x_k, r_k) \subset B(X_j, 2R_j)$ since $r_k < R_j/4$. With this in mind, we define

 $K_1 \equiv \left\{ k \in \mathbb{N} : \left(B(x_k, r_k) \cap B(X_j, R_j) \right) \neq \emptyset \text{ for some } j \in J_2 \right\},$

and $K_1 \equiv (\mathbb{N} \setminus K_2)$. It is easy to see that

$$\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} B(x_k, r_k) \subset \left(\bigcup_{k \in K_1} B(x_k, r_k) \cup \bigcup_{j \in J_2} B(X_j, 2R_j) \right).$$
(40)

Furthermore, for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, the cardinality of the set $\{j \in J_2 : (B(x_k, r_k) \cap B(X_j, R_j)) \neq \emptyset\}$ is bounded by a constant depending only on the dimension. Hence, we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} r_k^d = \sum_{k \in K_1} r_k^d + \sum_{k \in K_2} r_k^d \sim \sum_{k \in K_1} r_k^d + \sum_{j \in J_2} \left(\sum_{k \in K_2, \left(B(x_k, r_k) \cap B(x_j, R_j) \right) \neq \emptyset} r_k^d \right) \sim \sum_{k \in K_1} r_k^d + \sum_{j \in J_2} \left(\sum_{k \in K_2, \left(B(x_k, r_k) \cap B(x_j, R_j) \right) \neq \emptyset} |B(x_k, r_k)|^{\frac{d}{n}} \right).$$
Notice that $B(X_j, R_j) \subset \Omega \subset (\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} B(x_k, r_k)).$ Then for each $j \in J_2$, we have

 $B(X_j, R_j) \subset \left\{ \bigcup_{k \in K_2, (B(x_k, r_k) \cap B(X_j, R_j)) \neq \emptyset} B(x_k, r_k) \right\}.$

Since $d \in (0, n]$, by the monotonicity of $l^{\frac{1}{n}}$, we see that

$$\left(\sum_{k\in K_{2}, \left(B(x_{k}, r_{k})\cap B(X_{j}, R_{j})\right)\neq\emptyset}|B(x_{k}, r_{k})|^{\frac{d}{n}}\right) \geq \left(\sum_{k\in K_{2}, \left(B(x_{k}, r_{k})\cap B(X_{j}, R_{j})\right)\neq\emptyset}|B(x_{k}, r_{k})|\right)^{\frac{d}{n}}$$
$$\geq \left|B(X_{j}, R_{j})\right|^{\frac{d}{n}}.$$

As a consequence, $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} r_k^d \gtrsim \sum_{k \in K_1} r_k^d + \sum_{j \in J_2} R_j^d$, which combined with (40) yields that $H^d_*(\Omega) \le \sum_{k \in K_1} r_k^d + \sum_{j \in J_2} (2R_j)^d \le \sum_{k \in K_1} r_k^d + \sum_{j \in J_2} R_j^d \le \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} r_k^d \le H^d(\Omega)$. This finishes the proof of Lemma (4.2.28).

As an application of smooth atomic decomposition of $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we are now going to show the trace theorem. For $x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we set $x' \equiv (x_1, ..., x_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$. **Theorem (4.2.29) [204]:** Let $n \ge 2$, $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$, $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{n-1}{n(p \lor q)'}\right]$ and $s \in \left(\frac{1}{p} + 2n\tau, \infty\right)$. Then there exists a surjective and continuous operator $s = \frac{1}{p} \frac{n}{\tau}$

$$\operatorname{Tr}: f \in \operatorname{A}\dot{\operatorname{H}}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}(f) \in \operatorname{A}\dot{\operatorname{H}}_{p,q}^{s-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$$

such that $\operatorname{Tr}(f)(x') = f(x', 0)$ for all $x' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ and smooth atoms f for $\operatorname{AH}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. **Proof:** For similarity, we concentrate on the space $\operatorname{BH}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. By Theorem (4.2.25), any $f \in \operatorname{BH}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ admits a smooth atomic decomposition $f = \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \operatorname{t}_Q a_Q$ in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where each a_Q is a smooth atom for $\operatorname{BH}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\operatorname{t} = \{\operatorname{t}_Q\}_{Q \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \subset \mathbb{C}$ satisfies $\|\operatorname{t}\|_{\operatorname{BH}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \|f\|_{\operatorname{BH}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. Since $s > 1/p + 2n\tau$, there is no need to postulate any momentcondition on a_Q . Define

$$\operatorname{Tr}(f)(*') \equiv \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} a_{\mathcal{Q}}(*',0) = \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \frac{\mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}}{[\ell(\mathcal{Q})]^{\frac{1}{2}}} [\ell(\mathcal{Q})]^{\frac{1}{2}} a_{\mathcal{Q}}(*',0).$$

By the support condition of smooth atoms, the above summation can be re-written as

$$\operatorname{Tr}(f)(*') \equiv \sum_{i=0}^{2} \sum_{\mathcal{Q}' \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \frac{t_{\mathcal{Q}' \times [(i-1)\ell(\mathcal{Q}'), i\ell(\mathcal{Q}')]}}{[\ell(\mathcal{Q}')]^{\frac{1}{2}}} [\ell(\mathcal{Q}')]^{\frac{1}{2}} a_{\mathcal{Q}' \times [(i-1)\ell(\mathcal{Q}'), i\ell(\mathcal{Q}')]}(*', 0).$$
(41)

We need to show that (41) converges in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ and $\|\operatorname{Tr}(f)\|_{\infty} \leq \|f\|_{\operatorname{Pl}} \leq \|f\|_{\operatorname{Pl}}$

$$\left\| \int_{\mathrm{B}\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}^{\mathrm{s}-\frac{1}{\mathrm{p}'n-1}\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \lesssim \|f\|_{\mathrm{B}\dot{\mathrm{H}}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}^{\mathrm{s},\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \right\|_{\mathrm{B}}$$

To this end, by Theorem (4.2.25), it suffices to prove that each $[\ell(Q')]^{\frac{1}{2}}a_{Q'\times[(i-1)\ell(Q'),i\ell(Q')]}(*',0)$ is a smooth atom for $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ supported near Q' and for all $i \in \{0, 1, 2\}$,

$$\left\|\left\{\left[\ell(\mathcal{Q}')\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}'\times\left[(i-1)\ell(\mathcal{Q}'),i\ell(\mathcal{Q}')\right]}\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}'\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}\right\|_{\mathsf{b}\overset{s-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\tau}{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} < \infty.$$
(42)

Indeed, it was already proved in [200] that $[\ell(Q')]^{\frac{1}{2}}a_{Q'\times[(i-1)\ell(Q'),i\ell(Q'))}(*',0)$ is a smooth atom for $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$. By similarity, we only prove (42) when = 1. Let ω be a nonnegative function on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ satisfying (27) and

$$\left\{\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)}|\mathcal{Q}|^{-\left(\frac{s}{n}+\frac{1}{2}\right)p}|t_{\mathcal{Q}}|^p\int_{\mathcal{Q}}[\omega(x,2^{-j})]^{-p}dx\right]^{\frac{q}{p}}\right\}^{\frac{1}{q}} \lesssim \|t\|_{b\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

For all $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$, set $E_{\lambda} \equiv \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : [N\omega(x)]^{(p \lor q)'} > \lambda\}$. Then there exists a ball covering $\{B_m\}_m$ of E_{λ} such that

$$H^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(E_{\lambda}) \sim \sum_{m}^{m} r_{B_{m}}^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}, \qquad (43)$$

where r_{B_m} denotes the radius of B_m . Let $\widetilde{H}^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}$ be the $(n-1)\frac{n\tau}{n-1}$ ($p \vee q$)'-Hausdorff capacity in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} and define $\widetilde{\omega}$ on \mathbb{R}^n_+ by setting, for all $x' \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ and $t \in (0, \infty)$, $\widetilde{\omega}(x',t) \equiv \widetilde{C} \sup_{\{x_n \in \mathbb{R}: |x_n| < t\}} \omega((x',x_n),t)$, where \widetilde{C} is a positive constant chosen so that $N\widetilde{\omega}(x') \leq N\omega(x',0)$ for all $x' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$. Therefore, if $[N\widetilde{\omega}(x')]^{(p\vee q)'} > \lambda$, then $[N\omega(x',0)]^{(p\vee q)'} > \lambda$, and hence $(x',0) \in B_m$ for some m, which further implies that $\widetilde{E}_{\lambda} \equiv \{x' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}: [N\widetilde{\omega}(x')]^{(p\vee q)'} > \lambda\} \subset (\bigcup_m B_m^*)$, where B_m^* is the projection of B_m from \mathbb{R}^n to \mathbb{R}^{n-1} . This combined with (43) further yields that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} [N\widetilde{\omega}(x')]^{(p\vee q)'} d\widetilde{H}^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(x') = \int_{0}^{\infty} \widetilde{H}^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(\widetilde{E}_{\lambda}) d\lambda \lesssim \int_{0}^{\infty} H^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(E_{\lambda}) d\lambda \lesssim 1.$$

Furthermore,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\{ \left[\ell(\mathcal{Q}') \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}' \times [0, \ell(\mathcal{Q}'))} \right\}_{\mathcal{Q}' \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \right\|_{\mathbf{b}\dot{\mathbf{H}}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}^{s-\frac{1}{p},n-1}} \mathbf{t}_{(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \\ & \lesssim \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q}' \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathrm{sp}-\frac{np}{2}+1} \left| \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}' \times [0, \ell(\mathcal{Q}'))} \right|^{p} \int_{\mathcal{Q}'} [\widetilde{\omega}(x', 2^{-j})]^{-p} \mathrm{d}x' \right]^{\mathbf{q}/p} \right\}^{1/q} \\ & \lesssim \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q}' \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathrm{sp}-\frac{np}{2}} \left| \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}' \times [0, \ell(\mathcal{Q}'))} \right|^{p} \int_{\mathcal{Q}} [\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-p} \mathrm{d}x \right]^{\mathbf{q}/p} \right\}^{1/q} \\ & \lesssim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{\mathbf{b}\dot{\mathbf{H}}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}, \end{split}$$

which implies that Tr is well defined and bounded from $B\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $B\dot{H}^{s-\frac{n}{p'n-1}\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$.

Let us show that Tr is surjective. To this end, for any $f \in B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$, by Theorem (4.2.25), there exist smooth atoms $\{a_{Q'}\}_{Q'\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}$ for $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ and coefficients $t \equiv \{t_{Q'}\}_{Q'\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}$ such that $f = \sum_{Q'\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} t_{Q'}a_{Q'}$ in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ and $\|t\|_{b\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} \lesssim \|f\|_{B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}$. Let $\varphi \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ with $\operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)$ and $\varphi(0) = 1$. For all $Q' \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}$, set $\varphi_{Q'}(x) \equiv \varphi(2^{-\log_2 \ell(Q')}x)$. Under this notation, we define $F \equiv \sum_{Q'\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} t_{Q'}a_{Q'} \otimes \varphi_{Q'}$. It is easy to check that for all $Q' \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})$, $[\ell(Q')]^{-\frac{1}{2}}a_{Q'} \otimes \varphi_{Q'}$ is a smooth atom for $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ supported near $Q' \times [0, \ell(Q'))$. Hence, to show $F \in B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, by Theorem (4.2.25), it suffices to prove that

$$\left\|\left\{\left[\ell(\mathcal{Q}')\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}'}\right\}_{\mathcal{Q}'\in\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}\right\|_{b\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{T}}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \|f\|_{B\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{S}-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\mathrm{T}}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}$$

Let $\widetilde{\omega}$ satisfy $\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} [N\widetilde{\omega}(x')]^{(p\vee q)'} d\widetilde{H}^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(x') \le 1$ and

$$\left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left[\sum_{\mathcal{Q}' \in \mathcal{D}_{j}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})} |\mathcal{Q}'|^{-\left(\frac{s-1/p}{n-1} + \frac{1}{2}\right)} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}'}|^{p} \int_{\mathcal{Q}'} [\widetilde{\omega}(x', 2^{-j})]^{-p} dx' \right]^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} \lesssim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{b\dot{\mathbf{H}}_{p,q}^{s-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}$$

By Lemma (4.2.28), for each $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$ there exists a ball covering $\{B_m^*\}_m \equiv \{B(x_{B_m^*}, r_{B_m^*})\}_m$ of $\tilde{E}_{\lambda} \equiv \{x' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} : [N\tilde{\omega}(x')]^{(p\vee q)'} > \lambda\}$ such that $\sum_m r_{B_m^m}^{n\tau(p\vee q)'} \sim \tilde{H}_*^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(\tilde{E}_{\lambda}) \sim \tilde{H}^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(\tilde{E}_{\lambda})$ and that $r_{B_m^*} > \text{dist}(x_{B_m^*}, \partial \tilde{E}_{\lambda})/10000$ for all m. For all $x = (x', x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $t \in (0, \infty)$, define $\omega(x, t) \equiv \tilde{\omega}(x', t)\chi_{[0,t)}(x_n)$. Notice that if $N\omega(x', x_n) > \lambda^{\frac{1}{(p\vee q)'}}$, then $\tilde{\omega}(y', t) = \omega((y', y_n), t) > \lambda^{\frac{1}{(p\vee q)'}}$ for some $|(y', y_n) - (x', x_n)| < t$ and $y_n \in [0, t)$. Then $N\tilde{\omega}(y') > \lambda^{\frac{1}{(p\vee q)'}}$ and thus, $y' \in B_m^*$ for some m. Since for all $z' \in B(y', t), N\tilde{\omega}(z') \geq \tilde{\omega}(y', t) > \lambda^{\frac{1}{(p\vee q)'}}$, we see that $B(y', t) \subset \tilde{E}_{\lambda} \subset (\bigcup_m B_m^*)$, and hence, $t \leq 10000r_{B_m^*}$. Notice that $x_n \in [0, t)$. We have $(x', x_n) \in (20000B_m^*) \times [0,20000r_{B_m^*})$ and $E_{\lambda} \subset \bigcup_m (2000B_m^*) \times [0,20000r_{B_m^*})$, which further implies that $H^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(E_{\lambda}) \leq \sum_m r_{B_m^*}^{n\tau(p\vee q)'} \in \tilde{H}^{n\tau(p\vee q)'}(\tilde{E}_{\lambda})$ and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} [\mathrm{N}\omega(x', x_{n})]^{(\mathrm{p}\vee\mathrm{q})'} \mathrm{d}\mathrm{H}^{n\tau(\mathrm{p}\vee\mathrm{q})'}(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{H}^{n\tau(\mathrm{p}\vee\mathrm{q})'}(\mathrm{E}_{\lambda}) \mathrm{d}\lambda \lesssim \int_{0}^{\infty} \widetilde{\mathrm{H}}^{n\tau(\mathrm{p}\vee\mathrm{q})'}(\widetilde{\mathrm{E}}_{\lambda}) \mathrm{d}\lambda$$
$$\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} [\mathrm{N}\widetilde{\omega}(x')]^{(\mathrm{p}\vee\mathrm{q})'} \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\mathrm{H}}^{n\tau(\mathrm{p}\vee\mathrm{q})'}(x') \lesssim 1.$$

Therefore, we have

which implies that $F \in B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\|F\|_{B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \|f\|_{B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s-\frac{1}{p'n-1}\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1})}$. Furthermore, the

definition of F implies Tr(F) = f, which completes the proof of Theorem (4.2.29).

We point out that Theorem (4.2.29) generalizes the corresponding classical results on Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces for $p \in (1, \infty)$ and $q \in [1, \infty)$ by taking $\tau = 0$; see, for example, [7, 17, 106].

Chapter 5

Besov-Morrey Spaces and Characterizations of Besov-Type Spaces

We obtain the characterization of local means, the boundedness of pseudodifferential operators and the characterization of the Hardy-Morrey spaces. By using the maximal estimate and the molecular decomposition, we shall integrate and extend the known results on these spaces. We obtain the local mean characterizations of these function spaces via functions satisfying the Tauberian condition and establish a Fourier multiplier theorem on these spaces. All these results generalize the existing classical results on Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces by taking $\tau = 0$ and are also new even for Qspaces and Hardy-Hausdorff spaces.

Section (5.1): Triebel-Lizorkin-Morrey Spaces

The well-known two scales of spaces B_{pq}^s and F_{pq}^s with $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $p, q \in (0, \infty]$ ($p < \infty$ for the F-scale) on \mathbb{R}^n are based on the L^p spaces, that is, they can be regarded as variants of the L^p spaces which take into account some smoothness condition. A_{pq}^s , which indicates either B_{pq}^s or F_{pq}^s , is applied to various partial differential equations. Recently there arose some interest to replace L^p by Morrey spaces \mathcal{M}_q^p (see [55, 206, 207]). It is Kozono and Yamazaki that initially investigated Besov-Morrey spaces in connection with the Navier-Stokes equations. These function spaces are investigated by changing scales or extending admissible parameters in [50, 52, 55, 206, 207].

Besov-Morrey spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin-Morrey spaces are defined as follows: let $0 < q \le p < \infty$ and $0 < r \le \infty$. Given a sequence of functions $\{f_j\}_{j \in A}$ indexed by a countable set A, we define

$$\left\| \left\{ f_{j} \right\}_{j \in A} : l_{r} \left(\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right) \right\| \coloneqq \left\| f_{j} : l_{r} \left(\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} , A \right) \right\| \coloneqq \left(\sum_{j \in A} \left\| f_{j} : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\|^{r} \right)^{1/r},$$
$$\left\| \left\{ f_{j} \right\}_{j \in A} : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} (l_{r}) \right\| \coloneqq \left\| f_{j} : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} (l_{r} , A) \right\| \coloneqq \left\| \left(\sum_{j \in A} \left| f_{j} \right|^{r} \right)^{1/r} : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\|,$$

where a natural modification is made if $r = \infty$. If $A = \mathbb{N}_0 := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$, then we write

$$\|f_j : l_r(\mathcal{M}_q^p)\| = \|\{f_j\}_{j \in A} : l_r(\mathcal{M}_q^p)\|,$$

$$\|f_j : \mathcal{M}_q^p(l_r)\| = \|\{f_j\}_{j \in A} : \mathcal{M}_q^p(l_r)\|.$$

Given a function $t \in S$ and $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we define $t^j(x) \coloneqq 2^{jn}t(2^jx)$. If $t \in S$ and $f \in \mathcal{F}$, then we denote $t(D)f \coloneqq \mathcal{F}^{-1}[t \cdot \mathcal{F}f]$, where \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^{-1} are the Fourier transform and its inverse respectively. Pick $\psi \in \mathcal{G}$ so that $\chi_{B(1)} \leq \psi \leq \chi_{B(2)}$, where B(r) is the open ball centered at the origin and of radius r. In this paper we use Q(r) to denote the closed cube centered at the origin and of side length $r = Q(r) \coloneqq \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \max(|x_1|, |x_2|, \dots, |x_n|) \leq r\}$. Returning to the definition of the function spaces, we define $\psi(x) = \Psi(x)$ and $\varphi(x) = \Psi(x) - \Psi(2x)$. Define $\varphi_j(x) \coloneqq \varphi(2^{-j}x)$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $0 < q \leq p < \infty, 0 < r \leq \infty$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the Besov-Morrey norm and the Triebel-Lizorkin-Morrey norm are given respectively as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|f:\mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s}\right\| &:= \left\|\psi(D)f:\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right\| + \left\|\left\{2^{js}\phi_{j}(D)f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}:l_{r}\left(\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right)\right\|,\\ \left\|f:\mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s}\right\| &:= \left\|\psi(D)f:\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right\| + \left\|\left\{2^{js}\phi_{j}(D)f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}:\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{r})\right\|\end{aligned}$$

for $f \in S'$. To unify the statement in the sequel we use \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s} to denote either \mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s} or \mathcal{E}_{par}^{s} . From the definition of the Morrey spaces we have

$$\mathcal{A}^{\rm s}_{\rm ppr} = \mathcal{A}^{\rm s}_{\rm pr}, \qquad 0$$

Theorem (5.1.1) [219]: Suppose that $a \in S_{1\delta}^0$ with $0 \le \delta < 1$. Then a(x, D), the pseudodifferential operator with symbol a, is \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s} -bounded.

We have the following

Proposition (5.1.2) [219]: Let the parameters p, q, r, r₁, r₂, s, ε satisfy

$$0 < q \le p < \infty$$
, $0 < r, r_1, r_2 \le \infty$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\varepsilon > 0$.

Then we have

1 $\mathcal{N}_{pqr_1}^{s+\varepsilon} \subset \mathcal{E}_{pqr_2}^s$ and $\mathcal{E}_{pqr_1}^{s+\varepsilon} \subset \mathcal{N}_{pqr_2}^s$,

- 2 $\mathcal{A}_{pqr_1}^{s+\varepsilon} \subset \mathcal{A}_{pqr_2}^s$, if $r_1 \leq r_2$,
- 3 $\mathcal{N}_{pq\min(q,r)}^{s} \subset \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s} \subset \mathcal{N}_{pq\infty}^{s}$.

Proposition (5.1.3) [219]: The inclusions in Proposition (5.1.2) are strict in the following sense:

1 Suppose that the parameters p, q, r, r_0 , s satisfy

 $0 < q < p < \infty$, $0 < r, r_0 \le \infty$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$. If the continuous embedding $\mathcal{E}_{pqr}^s \subset \mathcal{N}_{pqr_0}^s$ is true, then $r_0 = \infty$.

- 2 Suppose that the parameters p, q, s satisfy $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the inclusion $\mathcal{E}_{pq\infty}^{s} \subset \mathcal{N}_{pq\infty}^{s}$ is strict.

Proposition (5.1.4) [219]: Suppose that the parameters satisfy

 $0 < q_i \le p_i < \infty, \qquad 0 < r_i \le \infty,$ $s_i \in \mathbb{R}$.

and let $\mathcal{N}_i \coloneqq \mathcal{N}_{p_i q_i r_i}^{s_i}$ and $\mathcal{E}_i \coloneqq \mathcal{E}_{p_i q_i r_i}^{s_i}$ for i = 0, 1. The following are true:

- 1 $\mathcal{N}_0 = \mathcal{N}_1$ if and only if $(p_0, q_0, r_0, s_0) = (p_1, q_1, r_1, s_1)$,
- 2 $\mathcal{E}_0 = \mathcal{E}_1$ if and only if $(p_0, q_0, r_0, s_0) = (p_1, q_1, r_1, s_1)$,
- 3 $\mathcal{N}_0 = \mathcal{E}_1$ if and only if $p_0 = p_1 = q_0 = q_1 = r_0 = r_1$ and $s_0 = s_1$.

Now we have the following, which will yield a clue to the analysis of Morrey spaces in connection with partial differential equations (see [206]).

Proposition (5.1.5) [219]: $\mathcal{E}_{pq2}^0 = \mathcal{M}_q^p$ with $1 < q \le p < \infty$.

For example, in [208] some properties connected to partial differential equations such as the trace property of Sobolev-Morrey spaces were obtained.

Following [57], let us define molecules. As usual, for $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $0 < q, r \leq \infty$, we define

$$\langle a \rangle \coloneqq \sqrt{|a|^2 + 1}, \qquad \sigma_q \coloneqq \frac{n}{\min(1,q)} - n, \qquad \sigma_{qr} \coloneqq \frac{n}{\min(1,q,r)} - n.$$

Definition (5.1.6) [219]: (Molecule) Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < r \le \infty$. Fix K, $L \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that

$$K \ge (1 + [s])_+, L \ge max(-1, [\sigma_q - s])$$

for the \mathcal{N} -scale and

 $K \ge (1 + [s])_+, \quad L \ge \max(-1, [\sigma_{qr} - s])$

for the \mathcal{E} -scale. A C^K-function m is called an (s, p)-molecule for the function space \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s} , if the following oscillation and decay conditions hold for some point $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{Z}$, where M is a sufficiently large constant:

- 1 $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\alpha} \mathbf{m}(x) dx = 0$ for $|\alpha| \le L$,
- 2 $|\partial^{\alpha} m(x)| \le 2^{-\nu(s-n/p)+\nu|\alpha|} \langle 2^{\nu}(x-x_0) \rangle^{-M-|\alpha|}$ if $|\alpha| \le K$.

Here and below we call m a molecule centered at x_0 and we always assume that

$$M \ge L + \frac{10n}{\min(1, q, r)},$$

as we have assumed in [207]. One defines

 $Mol_0 = \{\{M_{\nu m}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} : each \ M_{\nu m} \text{ is a molecular with } x_0 = 2^{-\nu}m\}.$

Proposition (5.1.7) [219]: (Molecular Decomposition) Suppose that the parameters $K, L \in \mathbb{Z}$ and p, q, r, s $\in \mathbb{R}$ satisfy

 $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < r \le \infty$, $K \ge (1 + [s])_+$, $L \ge \max(-1, [\sigma_q - s])$ for the \mathcal{N} -scale and

 $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < r \le \infty$, $K \ge (1 + [s])_+$, $L \ge \max(-1, [\sigma_{qr} - s])$ for the \mathcal{E} -scale.

1 Assume that $\{M_{\nu m}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \in Mol_0$ and $\lambda = \{\lambda_{\nu m}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \in a_{pqr}$. Then the sum

$$f \coloneqq \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \lambda_{\nu \mathbf{m}} \mathbf{M}_{\nu \mathbf{m}}$$

converges in \mathcal{S}' and belongs to \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s} with the norm estimate

$$\left\|f:\mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s}\right\| \leq c \left\|\lambda:a_{pqr}\right\|$$

Here the constant c does not depend on $\{M_{\nu m}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n}$ nor λ .

2 Conversely, any $f \in \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s}$ admits the following decomposition

$$f \coloneqq \sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0} \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \lambda_{\nu \mathbf{m}} \mathbf{M}_{\nu \mathbf{m}}.$$

The sum converges in S'. We can even arrange that $\{M_{\nu m}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \in Mol_0$ and that the coefficient $\lambda = \{\lambda_{\nu m}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \in a_{pqr}$ fulfills the norm estimate

$$\|\lambda:\mathbf{a}_{pqr}\| \le \mathbf{c}\|f:\mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s}\|.$$

We frequently use the following lemma, which gives us information on the coefficients of molecular decomposition.

Lemma (5.1.8) [219]: Let $\kappa_0, \kappa_1 \in S$ supported on B(4) and B(8)\B(1) respectively. Set $\kappa_j(x) = \kappa_1(2^{-j+1}x)$ for $j \ge 2$. Then we have

$$\left\| \left\{ 2^{k\left(s-\frac{n}{p}\right)} \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in \mathbf{Q}_{km}} |\kappa_{k}(\mathbf{D})f(\mathbf{y})| \right\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}_{0}, m\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} : \mathbf{a}_{pqr} \right\| \le c \left\| f:\mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s} \right\|.$$

In view of our actual construction, unfortunately the coefficient λ does not depend linearly on *f*, see [57, 106, 207].

We reconsider the local means on \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s} . The local means for \mathcal{A}_{pq}^{s} are effective equivalent norms for these function spaces dealt with in [56]. However, we had to be prudent when we use it: we need to check that the function belongs a priori to the function spaces in question.

Now we shall describe the local means. To do this, we set $K(x) = \Psi(x)$ and $k(x) = \Delta^{L}\Psi(x)$ with L sufficiently large. In [207] the following assertion was established.

Theorem (5.1.9) [219]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < r \le \infty$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$. For $L \gg 1$ the following are true.

1 Let us define

$$\|f:\mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s}\|_{*} := \|K*f:\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\| + \|\{2^{js}k^{j}*f\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}:l_{r}(\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p})\|$$
for $f\in\mathcal{S}'$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|f:\mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s}\right\|_{*} \leq c\left\|f:\mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s}\right\| \\ \text{for all } f \in \mathcal{S}'. \text{ Furthermore, if } f \in \mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s}. \text{ Then we have} \\ \left\|f:\mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s}\right\| \leq c\left\|f:\mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s}\right\|_{*} \end{aligned}$$

for some constant c > 0 independent of f.

Ι

2 Let us define

$$f: \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s} \big\|_{*} := \big\| \mathbf{K} * f: \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \big\| + \big\| \{ 2^{js} \mathbf{k}^{j} * f \}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{r}) \big|$$

for $f \in \mathcal{S}'$. Then

or all
$$f \in S'$$
. Furthermore, if $f \in \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s}$. Then we have

 $\|f:\mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s}\| \le c\|f:\mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s}\|_{*}$

for some constant c > 0 independent of f.

Proposition (5.1.10) [219]: Let $K \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $0 < q \le p < \infty$. Suppose that A is a C^K -function with compact support. Then $a \in \mathcal{N}_{pq\infty}^K$. In particular if K > s, $0 < r \le \infty$, then we have $a \in \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^s$.

Proof: By virtue of the equivalent norm

$$\|a: \mathcal{N}_{\mathrm{pq}\infty}^{\mathrm{K}}\| \simeq \|a: \mathcal{N}_{\mathrm{pq}\infty}^{0}\| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|\partial_{j}^{\mathrm{K}}a: \mathcal{N}_{\mathrm{pq}\infty}^{0}\|,$$

(see [207]) we can assume K = 0. Since the family $\{k^j * a\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is supported on a fixed compact set, owing to the fact that

 $\mathcal{M}_{q_0}^{p_0} \cap \{f : \operatorname{supp}(f) \subset B(R)\} \supset \mathcal{M}_{q_1}^{p_1} \cap \{f : \operatorname{supp}(f) \subset B(R)\}$

for all $0 < q_0 \le p_0 < q_1 \le p_1 < \infty$ and R > 0 we see, by using the local means, the matter is reduced to the case when $1 < q \le p < \infty$. In this case

 $\|a:\mathcal{N}_{pq\infty}^{K}\| = \|a:\mathcal{N}_{pq\infty}^{0}\| \le c\|a:\mathcal{E}_{pq2}^{0}\| \le c\|a:\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\| < \infty$

and the proof of the first statement is now complete. The second assertion follows from the embedding $\mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s} \supset \mathcal{N}_{pq\infty}^{K}$, which follows from Proposition (5.1.2).

Definition (5.1.11) [219]: Let $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and A > 0. Then define

$$\mathcal{M}_{A,j}f(x) \coloneqq \sup_{\substack{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^n\\l\geq j}} 2^{A(j-t)} \langle 2^{j}\mathbf{y} \rangle^{-A} |\mathbf{k}^t * f(x-\mathbf{y})|,$$
$$\mathcal{M}_{A,0}f(x) \coloneqq \mathcal{M}_{A,1}f(x) + \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^n} \langle \mathbf{y} \rangle^{-A} |\mathbf{K} * f(x-\mathbf{y})|$$

for $f \in \mathcal{S}'$. Also define

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{A},\mathrm{j};\,\mathrm{\eta}}f(x) \coloneqq \left(\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{A},\mathrm{j}}f(x)\right)^{\mathrm{\eta}}$$

for $A, \eta > 0$ and $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

For $s \in \mathbb{R}$, we denote $s_{-} \coloneqq -\min(s, 0)$.

Proposition (5.1.12) [219]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < r \le \infty$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$. 1 If $A > -s_- + \frac{n}{\min(1,q)}$, then we have

$$\left\|\left\{2^{js}\mathcal{M}_{A,j}f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}_{0}}:l_{r}\left(\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right)\right\|\leq c\left\|f:\mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s}\right\|_{*}$$

for all $f \in S'$. 2 If $A > -s_{-} + \frac{n}{\min(1,q,r)}$, then we have

, then we have
$$\left\|\left\{2^{js}\mathcal{M}_{A,j}f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}_0}:\mathcal{M}_q^p(l_r)\right\|\leq c\left\|f:\mathcal{E}_{pqr}^s\right\|_*$$

for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'$.

Proof: The proof is identical to [213] except in that we use the Hardy norm. Here, for the sake of convenience for readers, we include the proof. Let $j \in \mathbb{N}$. The term for j = 0 can be readily incorporated afterward. Therefore, we shall consider $\mathcal{M}_{A,j}f$ with $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Furthermore, we shall prove (ii), the proof of (i) being simpler.

Choose $\zeta, \theta \in \mathcal{D}$ so that

$$\zeta \cdot \mathcal{F}K + \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \theta(2^{-l} *) \cdot \mathcal{F}[k^{l}] \equiv 1, \quad 0 \notin \operatorname{supp}(\theta).$$
(1)

Note that $\mathcal{F}^{-1}\theta$ has vanishing moment of infinite order. Then we have

$$k^{j} * f = (2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} \left(K^{j} * (\mathcal{F}^{-1}\zeta)^{j} * k^{j} * f + \sum_{l=j+1}^{\infty} k^{j} * (\mathcal{F}^{-1}\theta)^{l} * k^{l} * f \right).$$

Let L \gg 1, where L is a number appearing in the definition of k : k = $\Delta^{L}\Psi$. Note that

$$\mathcal{F}[\mathbf{k}^{\mathbf{j}} * (\mathcal{F}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\theta})^{l}](x) = (2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} = \mathcal{F}\mathbf{k}(2^{-j}x)\boldsymbol{\theta}(2^{-l}x)$$

and that k has vanishing moment up to order [A] + 1. Hence, for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ and $M \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $c_{\alpha,M}$ independent of *l* and m such that

$$\left|\partial^{\alpha} \mathcal{F}[\mathbf{k}^{j} * (\mathcal{F}^{-1} \mathbf{\theta})^{l}](x)\right| \leq c_{\alpha, \mathsf{M}} 2^{([\mathsf{A}]+1)(j-l)+jn} \langle 2^{j} x \rangle^{-\mathsf{M}}.$$

Hence it follows that

$$\left|\mathbf{k}^{j} * (\mathcal{F}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\theta})^{l}(x)\right| \leq c_{\mathrm{K}} 2^{([\mathrm{A}]+1)(j-l)+jn} \langle 2^{\mathrm{k}} x \rangle^{-\mathrm{K}}.$$

We remark that this technique was due to Rychkov [213]. As a result, we obtain

$$\left|\mathbf{k}^{\mathbf{j}} * (\mathcal{F}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\theta})^{l} * \mathbf{k}^{l} * f(x)\right| \leq c2^{\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{j}-l)+\mathbf{j}n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left|\mathbf{k}^{l} * f(x-y)\right|}{\langle 2^{\mathbf{j}}y \rangle^{\mathbf{A}}} \mathrm{d}y.$$

for all A > 0. A similar calculation works for the first term, namely, $K^{j} * (\mathcal{F}^{-1}\zeta)^{j} * k^{j} * f$, and we obtain

$$\left|\mathbf{k}^{\mathbf{j}} * f(x)\right| \le c \sum_{l=\mathbf{j}}^{\infty} 2^{\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{j}-l)+ln} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\left|\mathbf{k}^l * f(x-\mathbf{y})\right|}{\langle 2^{\mathbf{j}} \mathbf{y} \rangle^{\mathbf{M}}} d\mathbf{y}$$

Now we invoke this pointwise estimate. From this estimate we deduce

$$\mathcal{M}_{A,j}f(x) = \sup_{\substack{y \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ l \ge j}} \frac{2^{A(j-l)} |k^l * f(x-y)|}{\langle 2^j y \rangle^A}$$

$$\leq c \sup_{\substack{y \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ l \ge j}} \sum_{m=l}^{\infty} 2^{A(j-l)+A(l-m)+mn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|k^m * f(x-y-z)|}{\langle 2^j y \rangle^A \langle 2^l z \rangle^A} dz$$

$$= c \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \sum_{m=j}^{\infty} 2^{A(j-m)+mn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|k^m * f(x-y-z)|}{\langle 2^j y \rangle^A \langle 2^j z \rangle^A} dz.$$

By virtue of the Peetre inequality $\langle y + z \rangle \le \sqrt{2} \langle y \rangle \langle z \rangle$ and by changing variables, we obtain

$$\left|\mathbf{k}^{j} * f(x)\right| \le \mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{A},j}f(x) \le c \sum_{\mathrm{m}=j}^{\infty} 2^{\mathrm{A}(j-\mathrm{m})+\mathrm{m}n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left|\mathbf{k}^{\mathrm{m}} * f(x-z)\right|}{\langle 2^{j}z \rangle^{\mathrm{A}}} \mathrm{d}z.$$
(2)

Let us choose $\eta > 0$ so that

 $(A + s)\eta > n$, $A\eta > n$, $0 < \eta < \min(1, q, r)$,

which is possible by assumption. From the definition of the maximal operator $\mathcal{M}_{A,j}f(x)$ and the above inequality we deduce

$$\mathcal{M}_{A,m}f(x) \le c\mathcal{M}_{A,m;1-\eta}f(x) \sum_{l=m}^{\infty} 2^{A\eta(m-l)+ln} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\mathbf{k}^l * f(x-z)|^{\eta}}{\langle 2^m z \rangle^{A\eta}} dz.$$
(3)

Here the constant c depends on A. Therefore, if we assume that $\mathcal{M}_{A,m}f(x) < \infty$, then we obtain from (3)

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{A},\mathbf{m};\boldsymbol{\eta}}f(x) \le c \sum_{l=m}^{\infty} 2^{(\mathbf{m}-l)(\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}-n)+\mathbf{m}n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\mathbf{k}^l * f(x-z)|^{\boldsymbol{\eta}}}{\langle 2^m z \rangle^{\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}}} \mathrm{d}z.$$
(4)

By using the Torchinsky technique [214], Rychkov observed that (4) is still the case if we do not assume $\mathcal{M}_{A,m}f(x) < \infty$. To establish this, let us assume that the right-hand side of (4) is finite. Since $f \in S'$, we see that there exists A_f such that

$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{A},\mathrm{m}}f(x) < \infty, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

for all $A \ge A_f$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Note that c in (4) depends implicitly on A. Therefore, for all $f \in S'$, there exists $c_f > 0$ depending on f such that

$$\left|k^{j} * f(x)\right|^{\eta} \le c_{f} \sum_{l=m}^{\infty} 2^{(m-l)(A\eta-n)+mn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|k^{l} * f(x-z)|^{\eta}}{\langle 2^{m}z \rangle^{A_{f}\eta}} dz.$$
(5)

Since the right-hand side of (4) is decreasing with respect to A, we see that (5) is valid if we replace A_f with any positive number A less than A_f . Let $A \le A_f$. Then we have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{A},\mathbf{m};\boldsymbol{\eta}}f(x) &= \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^{n},l\in\mathbb{Z}:l\geq\mathbf{m}} 2^{\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}(\mathbf{m}-l)} \frac{|\mathbf{k}^{l}*f(x-\mathbf{y})|^{\boldsymbol{\eta}}}{\langle 2^{\mathbf{m}}\mathbf{y}\rangle^{\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}}} \\ &\leq \mathsf{c}_{f} \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^{n},l\in\mathbb{Z}:l\geq\mathbf{m}} \sum_{i=l}^{\infty} 2^{(\mathbf{m}-i)(\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}-n)+\mathbf{m}n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}^{i}*f(x-\mathbf{y}-\mathbf{z})|^{\boldsymbol{\eta}}}{\langle 2^{\mathbf{m}}\mathbf{y}\rangle^{\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}}\langle 2^{l}\mathbf{z}\rangle^{\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{z} \\ &\leq \mathsf{c}_{f} \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{l\in\mathbb{Z}:i=l}^{\infty} 2^{(\mathbf{m}-i)(\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}-n)+\mathbf{m}n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}^{i}*f(x-\mathbf{y}-\mathbf{z})|^{\boldsymbol{\eta}}}{\langle 2^{\mathbf{m}}\mathbf{y}\rangle^{\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}}\langle 2^{\mathbf{m}}\mathbf{z}\rangle^{\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{z} \\ &\leq \mathsf{c}_{f} \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{l=\mathbf{m}}^{\infty} 2^{(\mathbf{m}-l)(\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}-n)+\mathbf{m}n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}^{l}*f(x-\mathbf{y}-\mathbf{z})|^{\boldsymbol{\eta}}}{\langle 2^{\mathbf{m}}(\mathbf{y}+\mathbf{z})\rangle^{\mathbf{A}\boldsymbol{\eta}}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{z} < \infty, \end{split}$$

because we are assuming the right-hand side of (4) is finite. Returning to (3), we obtain (4) for all $f \in S'$. By using the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator M, we have

$$2^{js\eta}\mathcal{M}_{A,m;\eta}f(x) \le c \sum_{l=m}^{\infty} 2^{(m-l)((A+s)\eta-n)} M[|2^{ls}k^{l} * f|^{\eta}](x).$$

By the Fefferman-Stein maximal inequality for the Morrey spaces (see [54] or [55]), we obtain the desired result.

Corollary (5.1.13) [219]: Retain the same condition as Proposition (5.1.12).

1 If
$$A > -s_{-} + \frac{n}{\min(1,q)}$$
, then we have

$$\left\| \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \langle z \rangle^{-A} | K * f(*-z)| : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\| + \left\| \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} 2^{js} \langle 2^{j}z \rangle^{-A} | k^{j} * f(*-z)| : l_{r} (\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}) \right\|$$
is dominated by $\left\| f : \mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s} \right\|_{*}$ for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'$.

2 If $A > -s_{-} + \frac{n}{\min(1,q,r)}$, then we have $\left\| \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \langle z \rangle^{-A} |K * f(*-z)| : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\| + \left\| \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} 2^{js} \langle 2^{j}z \rangle^{-A} |k^{j} * f(*-z)| : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{r}) \right\|$ is dominated by $\left\| f : \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s} \right\|_{*}$ for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'$.

Theorem (5.1.14) [219]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < r \le \infty$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Then there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\mathbf{c}^{-1} \left\| f : \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{pqr}}^{\mathrm{s}} \right\| \le \left\| f : \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{pqr}}^{\mathrm{s}} \right\|_{*} \le \mathbf{c} \left\| f : \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{pqr}}^{\mathrm{s}} \right\|$$

for all $f \in S'$.

Proof: From Theorem (5.1.9) it suffices to show the right inequality. Pick $\zeta, \eta \in \mathcal{D}$ so that

$$\zeta \cdot \mathcal{F}l + \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \eta(2^{-m} *) \cdot \mathcal{F}k^m \equiv 1, \quad 0 \notin supp(\eta).$$

Note that $\mathcal{F}^{-1}\eta$ has vanishing moment up to order L, since $0 \notin \text{supp}(\eta)$. From this formula, we deduce

$$2^{js} \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_j \right] * f = (2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} 2^{js} \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_j \right] * l^j * \zeta^j * f + (2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} \sum_{m=j+1}^{\infty} 2^{js} \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_j \right] * (\mathcal{F}\eta)^j * k^j * f.$$

Observe that

 $\left| \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_j \right] * (\mathcal{F} \eta)^j (x) \right| \le c 2^{jn + L(j-m)} \langle 2^j x \rangle^{-A},$

where A satisfies the same condition as Corollary (5.1.13). Therefore, it follows that

$$\begin{split} \left| 2^{js} \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_j \right] * (\mathcal{F} \eta)^m * \mathbf{k}^m * f(x) \right| &\leq c 2^{js} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_j \right] * (\mathcal{F} \eta)^m(\mathbf{y}) \right| \cdot |\mathbf{k}^m * f(x - \mathbf{y})| d\mathbf{y} \\ &\leq \left(\sup_{\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{R}^n} \langle 2^m \mathbf{z} \rangle^{-A} |\mathbf{k}^m * f(x - \mathbf{z})| \right) \cdot \left(2^{js} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_j \right] * (\mathcal{F} \eta)^m(\mathbf{y}) \right| \cdot \langle 2^m \mathbf{y} \rangle^A d\mathbf{y} \right) \\ &\leq c 2^{-(s+A-L)(m-j)} \sup_{\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{R}^n} \langle 2^m \mathbf{z} \rangle^{-A} |2^{sm} \mathbf{k}^m * f(x - \mathbf{z})|, \end{split}$$

if $m \ge j$. Therefore, if we let L > A + s, then this inequality is summable. Hence, we obtain the desired result by Corollary (5.1.13).

Now we deal with pseudo-differential operators. First, we deal with the class S_{45}^{m} with $0 < \delta < 1$.

Let
$$0 \le \rho, \delta \le 1$$
. $a \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ is said to be $S^m_{\rho,\delta}$, if for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$
$$\sup_{x,\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n} \left| \partial_x^\beta \partial_\xi^\alpha a(x,\xi) \right| \langle \xi \rangle^{-m+\rho|\beta|-\delta|\alpha|} < \infty.$$

Let $a \in S^m_{\rho,\delta}$ with $m \in \mathbb{R}$ and $0 \le \rho, \delta \le 1$. One defines a continuous linear mapping $a(x, D) : S \to S$ by

$$a(x, \mathbf{D})f(x) \coloneqq \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ix \cdot \xi} a(x, \xi) \mathcal{F}f(\xi) d\xi$$

By duality this mapping extends to a continuous mapping from S' to S' (see [216]). **Theorem (5.1.15) [219]:** Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < r \le \infty$, $m \in \mathbb{R}$ and $a \in S_{1,1}^m$.

1 If $s > \sigma_q$, then there exists c > 0 such that

$$\|a(x, D)f : \mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s}\| \le c \|f : \mathcal{N}_{pqr}^{s+m}\|$$

2 If $s > \sigma_{qr}$, then there exists c > 0 such that

$$\|a(x, \mathbf{D})f : \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s}\| \le c \|f : \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s+m}\|.$$

Proof: Let us pick auxiliary functions ψ , φ , $\kappa \in S$ with the following conditions.

- 1 $\chi_{Q(1)} \leq \psi \leq \chi_{Q(2)};$
- 2 $\varphi(x) = \psi(x) \psi(2x);$
- 3 $\chi_{Q(2)} \leq \kappa \leq \chi_{Q(3)}$.

We consider $a(x, D)(1 - \psi(D))f$ because $a(x, D)\psi(D)f$ can be dealt with in a similar way.

Let us consider $(1 - \psi) \cdot \mathcal{F}f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \varphi_j \cdot \mathcal{F}f$. Expand $\varphi_j \cdot \mathcal{F}f$ into a Fourier series

$$\varphi_{j} \cdot \mathcal{F}f = \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{\varphi_{j}(\mathbf{D})f(2^{-j}\mathbf{m})}{(2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} \cdot 2^{jn}} \kappa_{j} \exp(-i2^{-j}\mathbf{m} \cdot *),$$

where $\kappa_j(x) = \kappa(2^{-j}x)$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}$. From this we have

$$a(x, D)[(1 - \psi(D))f](x) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\varphi_j(D)f(2^{-j}m)}{(2\pi \cdot 2^j)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} a(x, \xi)\kappa_j(\xi) \exp(i(x - 2^{-j}m) \cdot \xi) d\xi.$$

The Leibniz rule gives us that

$$\partial_x^{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} a(x,\xi) \kappa_j(\xi) \exp(i(x-2^{-j}m)\cdot\xi) d\xi$$

= $\sum_{\beta \le \alpha} c_{\alpha\beta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} [\partial_x^{\beta} a(x,\xi)] \kappa_j(\xi) (i\xi)^{\alpha-\beta} \exp(i(x-2^{-j}m)\cdot\xi) d\xi$

and κ does not contain 0 as its support, where $c_{\alpha\beta}$ is the binomial coefficient. If we carry out integration by parts, then we obtain

$$2^{-j(s+m)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} a(x,\xi) \kappa_j(\xi) \exp(i(x-2^{-j}m)\cdot\xi) d\xi$$

is a molecule in \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s} . Together with Lemma (5.1.8) we obtain the desired result.

A passage to the general case can be achieved by the following well-known lemma (see [216]).

Lemma (5.1.16) [219]: Let $0 \le \delta < 1$, $a \in S_{1\delta}^0$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there exists $b \in S_{1\delta}^0$ such that

$$a(x, D) = (1 - \Delta)^{N} \circ b(x, D) \circ (1 - \Delta)^{-N}.$$

Corollary (5.1.17) [219]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$, $0 < r \le \infty$, s, $m \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 \le \delta < 1$, $a \in S_{1\delta}^0$. Then there exists c > 0 such that

$$\|a(x, \mathbf{D})f : \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s}\| \le c \|f : \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s+m}\|.$$

Definition (5.1.18) [215]: Let $0 \le \delta \le 1$ and l > 0. One defines

$$C_*^l S_{1\delta}^m \coloneqq \{ p : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C} : p(x,*) \in C^{\infty}, x \in \mathbb{R}^n \text{ and } \| p : C_*^l S_{1\delta}^m \|_* < \infty \},\$$

where

$$\|p: C^l_* S^m_{1\delta}\|_* \coloneqq \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n} \langle \xi \rangle^{-m+|\alpha|-l\delta} \|\partial^{\alpha}_{\xi} p(*,\xi): C^l_*\| + \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n} \langle \xi \rangle^{-m+|\alpha|} \|\partial^{\alpha}_{\xi} p(*,\xi): L^{\infty}\|.$$

An elementary symbol is an expression of the form

$$\sigma(x,\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sigma_j(x) \psi_j(\xi),$$

where $\psi_j(\xi) = \psi_1(2^{-j+1}\xi)$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and ψ_1 is a compactly supported function such that ψ_1 is not supported on the origin. Furthermore,

$$\sup_{j\in\mathbb{N}} 2^{-jm} \|\sigma_j: L^{\infty}\| + 2^{-j(m+l\delta)} \|\sigma_j: C^l_*\| < \infty.$$

Proposition (5.1.19) [41]: Let $f \in L^{\infty}$ such that $supp(\mathcal{F}f) \subset B(\mathbb{R})$. Then for all $\eta > 0$, there exists c > 0 such that there holds

$$\sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^n}\frac{|f(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y})|}{\langle \mathbf{R}\mathbf{y}\rangle^{n/\eta}} < \mathbf{c}\mathbf{M}[|f|^\eta](\mathbf{x})^{1/\eta}$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Theorem (5.1.20) [219]: Suppose that the parameters p, q, r, s, l, δ satisfy

 $0 < s < l, \quad 1 \le q \le p < \infty, \quad 1 \le r \le \infty, \quad 0 \le \delta \le 1$ and that $a \in C_l^* S_{1\delta}^0$. Then there exists c > 0 such that

$$\|a(x, \mathbf{D})f : \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s}\| \leq c \|f : \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^{s+m}\|.$$

Proof: Let us concentrate on the case when $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{E}$, the case when $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{N}$ is simpler. Note that $(1 - \Delta)^{\frac{m}{2}}$ is an isomorphism that composes well with pseudo-differential operators. Therefore, it is enough to examine the case m = 0. Let $f \in \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s}$ and a be an elementary form as in [215]. Any symbol in $C_l^*S_{1\delta}^0$ can be approximated by elementary symbols. Therefore, it is sufficient to investigate the case when a is an elementary form:

$$a(x,\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sigma_j(x) \varphi_j(\xi).$$

Define $q_{jk} = \phi_k(D)\sigma_j$. Then we have

$$\left\|q_{jk}\right\|_{\infty} \le c2^{(j-k)l}.$$
(6)

As a consequence, we obtain $q(x, D)f(x) = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}_0} q_{jk}(x) \cdot \varphi_j(D)f(x)$. We decompose q(x, D)f into three pieces. Let us set

$$q_1(x, D)f \coloneqq \sum_{j=4}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{j-4} q_{jk}\right) \varphi_j(D)f,$$
$$q_2(x, D)f \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=\max(j-3,0)}^{j+3} q_{jk}\right) \varphi_j(D)f,$$
$$q_3(x, D)f \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=j+4}^{\infty} q_{jk}\right) \varphi_j(D)f.$$

The estimate of $q_2(x, D)f$ is simple. Choose an auxiliary function $\kappa \in S$ so that $\chi_{Q(3)} \leq \kappa \leq \chi_{Q(\pi)}$. Then we have

$$\left\| \partial^{\alpha} \left(\sum_{k=\max(j-3,0)}^{j+3} q_{jk} \right) \right\|_{\infty} \le c2^{j|\alpha|} \left\| \left(\sum_{k=\max(j-3,0)}^{j+3} q_{jk} \right) \right\|_{\infty} \le c2^{j|\alpha|}$$

Here we have used Proposition (5.1.19) for the first inequality and for the second inequality we have used (6) and the fact that at most 7 terms are involved. Therefore,

$$q_2(x, D)f \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \varphi_j(D)f(2^{-j}m) \left(\sum_{k=\max(j-3,0)}^{J+3} q_{jk}\right) \mathcal{F}^{-1}\kappa(2^j * -m)$$

can be regarded as a molecular decomposition and hence we conclude that $q_2(x, D)$ is bounded from \mathcal{A}_{pqr}^s to itself.

The first piece is treated in a spirit similar to [41]. We shall make use of the fact that $supp(f * g) \subset supp(f) + supp(g)$ for all compactly supported distributions $f, g \in S'$, where the right-hand side denotes the algebraic sum. Note that $(\sum_{k=0}^{j-4} q_{jk})\phi_j(D)f$ is concentrated on $B(2^{j+3})\setminus B(2^{j-3})$ in frequency. Hence it follows that

$$\begin{split} \|q_{1}(x, D)f : \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s}\| &\leq c \left\| 2^{js} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\max(j-4,0)} q_{jk} \right) \varphi_{j}(D)f : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{r}) \right\| \\ &\leq c \left(\sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \left\| \sum_{k=0}^{\max(j-4,0)} q_{jk} \right\|_{\infty} \right) \|2^{js} \varphi_{j}(D)f : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{r})\| \\ &\leq c \left(\sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\max(j-4,0)} \|q_{jk}\|_{\infty} \right) \right) \|2^{js} \varphi_{j}(D)f : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{r})\| \\ &\leq c \left(\sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} \|\sigma_{j}\|_{\infty} \right) \|2^{js} \varphi_{j}(D)f : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{r})\| \leq c \|f : \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s}\|. \end{split}$$

Let us turn to the estimate of $q_3(x, D)$. Let us rewrite

$$q_3(x, D)f(x) \coloneqq \sum_{k=4}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{k-4} q_{jk}(x)\right) \varphi_j(D)f(x),$$

where the change of order of the summation will be justified below. Note that the frequency support of $\sum_{j=0}^{k-4} q_{jk}(x) \cdot \varphi_j(D) f(x)$ is concentrated on $B(2^{k+3}) \setminus B(2^{k-3})$. As a result, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathbf{q}_{3}(x,\mathbf{D})f : \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s} \right\| &\leq c \left\| \left\{ 2^{ks} \sum_{j=0}^{k-4} \mathbf{q}_{jk} \cdot \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j}(\mathbf{D})f \right\}_{k=4}^{\infty} : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{r}) \right\| \\ &\leq c \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{k-4} 2^{(k-j)(s-l)} \cdot 2^{js} \left| \boldsymbol{\varphi}_{j}(\mathbf{D})f \right| \right\}_{k=4}^{\infty} : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{r}) \right\| \leq c \left\| f : \mathcal{E}_{pqr}^{s} \right\|, \end{split}$$

where we have used the fact that s < l for the second inequality. This is the desired result.

Now we are going to characterize \mathcal{E}_{pq2}^0 and its homogeneous counterpart. Assume that ψ is a non-degenerate function in the sense that

$$\int \psi \neq 0. \tag{7}$$

Definition (5.1.21) [219] (Hardy-Morrey Spaces): Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$. Then define

$$\|f: \mathcal{HM}_{q}^{p}\| \coloneqq \left\|\sup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} |\psi^{j}*f|: \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right\|, \qquad \|f: \mathcal{HM}_{q}^{p}\| \coloneqq \left\|\sup_{j\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} |\psi^{j}*f|: \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right\|$$

for $f \in S'$. $H\mathcal{M}_q^p$ (resp. $h\mathcal{M}_q^p$) is a set of all tempered distributions $f \in S'$ for which the quasi-norm $||f : H\mathcal{M}_q^p||$ (resp. $||f : h\mathcal{M}_q^p||$) is finite. $H\mathcal{M}_q^p$ is the homogeneous Hardy-Morrey space and $h\mathcal{M}_q^p$ is the nonhomogeneous Hardy-Morrey space. If we invoke the fact that the maximal operator M is bounded from \mathcal{M}_q^p to itself whenever $1 < q \le p < \infty$, then we obtain

$$\mathrm{H}\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{q}}^{\mathrm{p}}\simeq\mathrm{h}\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{q}}^{\mathrm{p}}\simeq\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{q}}^{\mathrm{p}}$$

with norm equivalence.

We use the homogeneous norms to formulate our results:

$$\left\| f : \dot{\mathcal{N}}_{pqr}^{s} \right\| \coloneqq \left\| 2^{js} \varphi_{j}(D) f : l_{r} \left(\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}, \mathbb{Z} \right) \right\| = \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^{jrs} \left\| \varphi_{j}(D) f : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\|^{r} \right)^{1/r},$$
$$\left\| f : \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{pqr}^{s} \right\| \coloneqq \left\| 2^{js} \varphi_{j}(D) f : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{r}, \mathbb{Z}) \right\| = \left\| \left(\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} 2^{jrs} \left| \varphi_{j}(D) f \right|^{r} \right)^{1/r} : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\|.$$

Unlike the nonhomogeneous version, we need to consider these norms modulo the set of all polynomials \mathcal{P} (see [106]).

Note we assume that $\psi \in S$ is a non-degenerate function in the sense that $\int \psi \neq 0$. Define $\varphi(x) := 2^n \psi(2x) - \psi(x)$.

Lemma (5.1.22) [219]: Let $\psi \in S$ and $L \in \mathbb{N}_0$ be given. Define $\varphi(x) := 2^n \psi(2x) - \psi(x)$. Then there exist $\widetilde{\psi}, \widetilde{\varphi} \in S$ such that

$$\widetilde{\psi} * \psi + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \widetilde{\phi}^j * \phi^j = \delta$$

and that $\widetilde{\phi}$ has vanishing moment up to order L.

Proof: The proof can be obtained with a minor modification of the results due to Rychkov (see [218]), where Rychkov used \mathcal{D} instead of \mathcal{S} .

Theorem (5.1.23) [219]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$. Then the sets $H\mathcal{M}_q^p$ and $h\mathcal{M}_q^p$ are independent of the choices of admissible ψ satisfying (7).

Proof: for $H\mathcal{M}_q^p$ The following theorem asserts more than Theorem (5.1.23). To formulate the stronger result, for $N \in \mathbb{N}$ we set

$$p_{N}(\zeta) \coloneqq \sum_{|\alpha| \le N} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \langle x \rangle^{N} |\partial^{\alpha} \zeta(x)|, \qquad \zeta \in S$$

Note that $\{p_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ topologizes \mathcal{S} .

Theorem (5.1.24) [219]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$. Assume that $\psi \in S$ satisfies the nondegenerate condition $\int \psi \ne 0$. Then there exist $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and c > 0 such that

$$\left\|\sup_{\zeta\in B_{p_{N}}(1)}\left(\sup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\zeta^{j}*f\right|\right):\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right\|\leq c\left\|\sup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\psi^{j}*f\right|:\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right\|,$$

where $B_{p_N}(1) \coloneqq \{\zeta \in \mathcal{S} : p_N(\zeta) < 1\}.$

Proof: Fix $\zeta \in B_{p_N}(1)$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then there exist $\widetilde{\psi}, \widetilde{\varphi} \in S$ such that $\widetilde{\varphi}$ has vanishing moment up to order L with L large enough and that

$$\widetilde{\Psi} * \Psi + \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \widetilde{\varphi}^{l} * \varphi^{l} = \delta$$

by virtue of Lemma (5.1.22). Using this formula, we obtain

$$\left|\zeta^{j} * f(x)\right| \leq \left|\zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\psi}^{j} * \psi^{j} * f(x)\right| + \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \left|\zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l} * \varphi^{j+l} * f(x)\right|.$$

Let us set

$$\varphi^{j+l,*}f(x) \coloneqq \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^n} \langle 2^{j+l}\mathbf{y} \rangle^{-\frac{n}{r}} |\varphi^{j+l}*f(x-\mathbf{y})|,$$

$$\psi^{j+l,*}f(x) \coloneqq \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^n} \langle 2^{j+l}\mathbf{y} \rangle^{-\frac{n}{r}} |\psi^{j+l}*f(x-\mathbf{y})|$$

for j, $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $0 < r \ll 1$. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l} * \varphi^{j+l} * f(x) \right| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l}(y) \right| \cdot \left| \varphi^{j+l} * f(x-y) \right| \mathrm{d}y \\ &\leq \varphi^{j+l,*} f(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l}(y) \right| \cdot \langle 2^{j+l}y \rangle^{\frac{n}{r}} \mathrm{d}y = \varphi^{j+l,*} f(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \zeta * \widetilde{\varphi}^{l}(y) \right| \cdot \langle 2^{l}y \rangle^{\frac{n}{r}} \mathrm{d}y. \end{aligned}$$

Now that $\tilde{\varphi}$ has vanishing moment up to order L, we have $|\mathcal{F}\tilde{\varphi}(x)| \leq c|x|^{L}$. Therefore, it follows that

$$|\zeta * \widetilde{\varphi}^{l}(\mathbf{y})| \le c2^{-Ll} \langle \mathbf{y} \rangle^{-n\left(1+\frac{1}{r}\right)-1}.$$

Inserting this estimate, we obtain

$$\left| \zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l} * \varphi^{j+l} * f(x) \right| \le c 2^{-\left(L - \frac{n}{r}\right)l} \varphi^{j+l,*} f(x).$$
(8)

Since $\phi = \psi^1 - \psi$, it follows that

$$\left| \zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l} * \varphi^{j+l} * f(x) \right| \le c 2^{-\left(L - \frac{n}{r} \right)l} \left(\psi^{j+l+1,*} f(x) + \psi^{j+l,*} f(x) \right).$$

A similar estimate is valid for $|\zeta^j * \widetilde{\psi}^j * \psi^j * f(x)|$. As a result, adding these estimates over $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we have

$$\left|\zeta^{j} * f(x)\right| \leq c \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \psi^{k,*} f(x).$$

From this formula, we obtain

$$\left|\sup_{\zeta\in B_{p_{N}}(1)}\left(\sup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\zeta^{j}*f\right|\right):\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right\|\leq c\left\|\sup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\psi^{j,*}f:\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right\|.$$

Since we can deduce

$$\psi^{j,*} f(x)^{\eta} \le c \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l\delta} M[|\psi^{j+l,*} f(x)|^{\eta}](x), \quad \delta > 0$$

in the same way as before, another application of the Hardy-Littlewood maximal inequality for the Morrey spaces gives us

$$\left\|\sup_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}}\psi^{\mathbf{j},*}f:\mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}}\right\|\leq c\left\|\sup_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\psi^{\mathbf{j}}*f\right|:\mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}}\right\|.$$

Putting together these observations, we obtain the desired result.

We consider the Fourier multiplier. Recall that Bui proved the following result on the weighted Hardy spaces. As for A_{∞} -weights, see [216].

Proposition (5.1.25) [217]: Let $\omega \in A_{\infty}$ and define

$$\|f: \mathrm{H}^{\mathrm{p}}(\omega)\| \coloneqq \left\| \sup_{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{Z}} |\psi_{\mathbf{j}} * f| : \mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}}(\omega) \right\|.$$

for $f \in S'$ and $0 . Assume in addition that <math>\tau \in S$ and that $c_{\alpha} \coloneqq \sup |x|^{|\alpha|} \cdot |\partial^{\alpha} \tau(x)| < \infty.$

$$x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

Then there exists c, depending on $c_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \mathbb{N}$ and on the A_{∞} -constant, such that $\|\tau(\mathbf{D})f: \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{p}}(\omega)\| \leq \mathbf{c}\|f: \mathbf{H}^{\mathbf{p}}(\omega)\|.$

With this proposition in mind, we show that the Fourier multiplier operators are bounded on $H\mathcal{M}_{a}^{p}$.

Proposition (5.1.26) [219]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$ and $\tau \in \mathcal{D}$. Assume $c_{\alpha} \coloneqq \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} |x|^{|\alpha|} \cdot |\partial^{\alpha} \tau(x)| < \infty.$ Then there exists a constant c depending only on $c_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{n}$ such that

 $\left\| \tau(\mathbf{D})f : \mathbf{H}\mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}} \right\| \leq \mathbf{c} \left\| f : \mathbf{H}\mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}} \right\|$

for all $f \in H\mathcal{M}_q^p$.

Proof: We adopt the following norm in view of Theorem (5.1.24): For $f \in S'$, we define

$$\left\|f: \mathrm{H}\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{q}}^{\mathrm{p}}\right\| = \left\|\sup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\psi_{j}(\mathrm{D})f\right|: \mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{q}}^{\mathrm{p}}\right\|,$$

where ψ is a bump function satisfying $\chi_{B(1)} \leq \psi \leq \chi_{B(2)}$.

Since
$$(M\chi_Q)^{1-\frac{q}{2p}}$$
 is an A_1 -weight, we obtain
 $|Q|^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \int_Q \left(\sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} |\psi_j(D)\tau(D)f|^q \right) \le |Q|^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \left\| \tau(D)f : H^q \left((M\chi_Q)^{1-\frac{q}{2p}} \right) \right\|^q$
 $\le c |Q|^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \left\| f : H^q \left((M\chi_Q)^{1-\frac{q}{2p}} \right) \right\|^q$,

where for the last inequality we have used Proposition (5.1.25). $2^{k}Q$ denotes the cube concentric to Q with sidelength $2^{k}|Q|^{\frac{1}{n}}$. Now we use the two-sided estimate

$$M\chi_{Q}(x) \simeq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\chi_{2^{k}Q}(x)}{2^{k n}},$$

which yields

$$\begin{aligned} |Q|^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \int_{Q} \left(\sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \psi_{j}(D)\tau(D)f \right|^{q} \right) &\leq c |Q|^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{k\left(\frac{q}{2p}-1\right)} \int_{2^{k}Q} \left(\sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \psi_{j}(D)f \right|^{q} \right) \\ &\leq c \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\frac{q}{2p}} \cdot |2^{k}Q|^{\frac{q}{p}-1} \int_{2^{k}Q} \left(\sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \psi_{j}(D)f \right|^{q} \right) \leq c \left\| f : H\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\|^{q}. \end{aligned}$$

The cubes being chosen arbitrarily, we obtain the desired estimate.

Now we turn to Local Hardy-Morrey spaces.

Lemma (5.1.27) [219]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$. The definition of $h\mathcal{M}_q^p$ does not depend on the admissible choices of $\psi \in S$ with $\int \psi \ne 0$.

Proof: The proof is analogous to homogeneous Hardy spaces (just mimic the proof of Theorem (5.1.24)).

Local Hardy spaces and Hardy spaces are related as follows :

Proposition (5.1.28) [219]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$. Assume in addition that $\mathcal{F}_{\psi} \equiv 1$ on a neighborhood of 0. Then we have

$$\left\|f: \mathbf{h}\mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}}\right\| \simeq \left\|\psi(\mathbf{D})f: \mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}}\right\| + \left\|\left(1-\psi(\mathbf{D})\right)f: \mathbf{H}\mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}}\right\|.$$

Proof: Following the definition we calculate

$$\begin{aligned} \|f: h\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\| &\simeq \left\| \sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} |\psi_{j}(D)f| : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\| \\ &\simeq \left\| \sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} |\psi_{j}(D)\psi(D)f| : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\| + \left\| \sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}_{0}} |\psi_{j}(D)(1-\psi(D))f| : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\| \\ &\simeq \|\psi(D)f : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\| + \|(1-\psi(D))f : H\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\| \end{aligned}$$

where we have used Proposition (5.1.19) for the second and the third equivalences. **Definition (5.1.29) [219]** (Vector-valued Spaces): Let $E \subset \mathbb{Z}$. We define $M(\mathbb{C}, E)$ as the set of all \mathbb{C} -valued $E \times E$ -matrices for a set E. Now we shall consider the vector-valued space. Let us denote by $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}(E)}$ the set of all $M(\mathbb{C}, E)$ -valued functions Φ of the form

$$\Phi(x) = \left\{ \Phi^{ee'}(x) \right\}_{e,e' \in E'}$$

where $\Phi^{ee'} \in S$ and $\Phi^{ee'} \equiv 0$ with finite exception. In this case we denote $\Phi = {\{\Phi^{ee'}\}}_{e,e' \in \mathbb{N}_0}$.

Recall we defined $\tau_j(x) = \tau(2^{-j}x)$ for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\tau \in S$. Given $\Phi = {\Phi^{ee'}}_{e,e' \in E} \in \widetilde{S(E)}$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, we define $\Phi_j \coloneqq {\{(\Phi^{ee'})_j\}}_{e,e' \in E} \in \widetilde{S(E)}$. If we are given $\Phi = {\{\Phi^{ee'}\}}_{e,e' \in E} \in \widetilde{S(E)}$ and $F = {f_e}_{e \in E}$, then we define

$$\Phi * \mathsf{F} \coloneqq \left\{ \sum_{\mathsf{e}' \in \mathsf{E}} \Phi^{\mathsf{e}\mathsf{e}'} * f_{\mathsf{e}'} \right\}_{\mathsf{e} \in \mathsf{E}}.$$

Denote by $H\mathcal{M}_q^p(l_2, E)$ the set of all sequences of distributions $F = \{f_e\}_{e \in E}$ such that

$$\left\| F: \mathcal{HM}_{q}^{p}(l_{2}(E)) \right\| \coloneqq \left\| \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \Phi_{j} * F: l_{2}(E) \right\| : \mathcal{M}_{q}^{p} \right\| < \infty.$$

For $\Phi \in \widetilde{\mathcal{S}(E)}$, we define

$$p_{N}(\Phi) \coloneqq \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{|\alpha|, |\beta| \le N} \left\| \left\{ x^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta} \Phi^{ee'}(x) \right\}_{e, e' \in E} : B(l_{2}(E)) \right\| \right).$$

Denote by $h\mathcal{M}_q^p(l_2(E))$ the set of all sequences of distributions $F = \{f_e\}_{e \in E}$ for which the quasi-norm

$$\left\| \mathbf{F} : \mathbf{h} \mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}} \big(l_{2}(\mathbf{E}) \big) \right\| \coloneqq \left\| \sup_{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{N}} \left\| \left\{ \left| \psi_{\mathbf{j}} * f_{\mathbf{e}} \right| \right\}_{\mathbf{e} \in \mathbf{E}} : l_{2}(\mathbf{E}) \right\| : \mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}} \right\| < \infty.$$

It is the same as the scalar case where the following theorems hold. **Theorem (5.1.30)** [219]: Let $E \subset \mathbb{Z}$. Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$ and $\Phi \in \widetilde{\mathcal{S}(E)}_0$. Then there exists c such that

$$\left\| \sup_{\Phi \in B_{p_N}(1), j \in \mathbb{N}} \left\| \Phi_j * F(\cdot) : l_2(E) \right\| : \mathcal{M}_q^p \right\| \le c \left\| \sup_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \left\| \{ |\psi_j * f_k| \}_{k \in E} : l_2(E) : \mathcal{M}_q^p \right\| \right\|$$
for all F = { f_e }_{e \in E} $\in \mathcal{S}'^E$ = {{ f_e }_{e \in E} $: f_e \in \mathcal{S}', e \in E$ }.
Theorem (5.1.31) [219]: Let $\psi \in \widetilde{\mathcal{S}(E)}$. Set

brem (5.1.31) [219]: Let
$$\psi \in S(E)$$
. Set

$$\mathbf{c}_{\alpha} \coloneqq \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |x|^{|\alpha|} \|\partial^{\alpha} \Psi(x) : \mathbf{B}(l_2)\|.$$

Then there exists c > 0 depending only on $c_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ such that $\left\|\Psi * F : H\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{2}(E))\right\| \leq c \left\|F : H\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}(l_{2}(E))\right\|.$

Having defined the nonhomogeneous Hardy spaces, we are now in a position of proving an equivalence theorem (Theorem (5.1.32)). Now assume that $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}$ is a bump function that equals 1 on a neighborhood of 0. Let us set $\varphi(x) = \psi(2^{-1}x) - \psi(x)$ for $x \in$ \mathbb{R}^{n} .

Proposition (5.1.32) [219]: Let $f \in S'$ satisfy $||f : H\mathcal{M}_q^p|| < \infty$. Then we have f = $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \varphi_j(D) f$ in the topology of \mathcal{S}' .

Proof: It is easy to see that $f = c_{\psi} \lim_{i \to \infty} \psi_i(D) f$ for some $c_{\psi} > 0$. Therefore, we can assume that *f* itself is a band-limited distribution. As a result there exists $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $f = \psi_{j_0}(D)f$. From this and the assumption that $f \in \mathcal{M}_q^p$ we deduce that $f \in \mathcal{M}_q^p$. In [207] we have shown that

$$\left\|\varphi_{j}(D)f:L^{\infty}\right\| \leq c2^{\frac{jn}{p}} \cdot \left\|\psi_{j}(D)f:\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right\| \leq c2^{\frac{jn}{p}} \cdot \left\|\psi_{j_{0}}(D)f:\mathcal{M}_{q}^{p}\right\|.$$

Therefore, we conclude that

$$g \coloneqq \lim_{\mathbf{j} \to -\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{k}=\mathbf{j}}^{\infty} \varphi_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{D}) f$$

converges in L^{∞}. However, $\mathcal{F}(f-g)$ is supported on the origin and hence f-g is a polynomial. Furthermore, $\{f - \sum_{k=j}^{\infty} \varphi_k(D)f\}_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$ is a uniformly bounded set in \mathcal{M}_q^p . As a result we have f = g, which is the desired result.

Theorem (5.1.33) [219]: Let $0 < q \le p < \infty$. Then we have $\left\| f: \mathrm{H}\mathcal{M}^{\mathrm{p}}_{\mathrm{q}} \right\| \simeq \left\| f: \dot{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathrm{0}}_{\mathrm{pq2}} \right\|,$ $\|f: \mathbf{h}\mathcal{M}^{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{q}}\| \simeq \|f: \dot{\mathcal{E}}^{\mathbf{0}}_{\mathbf{p}\mathbf{q}2}\|$

for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'$.

for

Proof: see Proposition (5.1.23) for $H\mathcal{M}_q^p$.

Let
$$f \in \mathcal{S}'$$
. Then we have
 $\|f : h\mathcal{M}_q^p\| \simeq \|\psi(D)f : h\mathcal{M}_q^p\| + \|(1-\psi(D))f : h\mathcal{M}_q^p\|$
 $\simeq \|\psi(D)f : \mathcal{M}_q^p\| + \|(1-\psi(D))f : H\mathcal{M}_q^p\|$
 $\simeq \|\psi(D)f : \mathcal{M}_q^p\| + \|\varphi_j(D)f : \mathcal{M}_q^p(l_2, \mathbb{N})\| = \|f : \mathcal{E}_{pq2}^0\|,$

Let $\tau \in \mathcal{D}$ be a function such that supp $(\tau) \ni 0$ and $\tau \equiv 1$ on a neighborhood of the origin. We shall consider the following operators:

$$\mathsf{T}_{1},\mathsf{T}_{2}:\mathsf{H}\mathcal{M}^{\mathsf{p}}_{\mathsf{q}}(l_{2},\mathbb{Z})\to\mathsf{H}\mathcal{M}^{\mathsf{p}}_{\mathsf{q}}(l_{2},\mathbb{Z}),$$

which are given by

$$T_{1}\left(\left\{f_{j}\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right) = \left\{\delta_{j0}\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}\tau_{k}(D)f_{k}\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}},$$
$$T_{2}\left(\left\{f_{j}\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right) = \left\{\tau_{j}(D)f_{0}\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}.$$

By Theorem (5.1.31) and a simple limiting argument we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}} \tau_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{D}) f_{\mathbf{k}} : \mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}}(l_{2}, \mathbb{Z}) \right\| &\leq \mathbf{c} \left\| \{ f_{\mathbf{k}} \}_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}} : \mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}}(l_{2}) \right\|, \\ & \left\| \tau_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{D}) f_{0} : \mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}}(l_{2}, \mathbb{Z}) \right\| \leq \mathbf{c} \left\| f_{0} : \mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{p}} \right\| \end{aligned}$$

for all $\{f_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \in \mathcal{M}_q^p(l_2)$ such that $f_k = 0$ for all sufficiently large k. By virtue of Proposition (5.1.32), we have

$$\|f: \mathcal{HM}_{q}^{p}\| = \left\|\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \varphi_{j}(D)f: \mathcal{HM}_{q}^{p}\right\| = \left\|\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \tau_{j}(D)[\varphi_{j}(D)f]: \mathcal{HM}_{q}^{p}\right\|$$
$$\simeq \|\varphi_{j}(D)f: \mathcal{HM}_{q}^{p}(l_{2},\mathbb{Z})\|.$$

It is not so hard by using Proposition (5.1.19) to show that

 $\left\| \overline{\varphi_{j}}(\mathbf{D})f : \mathbf{H}\mathcal{M}_{q}^{\mathbf{p}}(l_{2},\mathbb{Z}) \right\| \simeq \left\| f : \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{\mathbf{p}q2}^{0} \right\|.$

The proof is therefore complete.

Corollary (5.1.34) [299]: Let $K \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $0 \le \epsilon \le \infty$. Suppose that A is a C^K-function with compact support. Then $a \in \mathcal{N}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)\infty}^K$. In particular if K > s, then we have $a \in \mathcal{A}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^s$.

Proof: By virtue of the equivalent norm

$$\|a:\mathcal{N}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)\infty}^{\mathsf{K}}\|\simeq \|a:\mathcal{N}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)\infty}^{\mathsf{0}}\|+\sum_{j=1}^{n}\|\partial_{j}{}^{\mathsf{K}}a:\mathcal{N}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)\infty}^{\mathsf{0}}\|,$$

n

(see [207]) we can assume K = 0. Since the family $\{k^j * a\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is supported on a fixed compact set, owing to the fact that

 $\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon_0}^{1+2\epsilon_0} \cap \{f^2 : \operatorname{supp}(f^2) \subset B(\mathbb{R})\} \supset \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon_1}^{1+2\epsilon_1} \cap \{f^2 : \operatorname{supp}(f^2) \subset B(\mathbb{R})\}$

for all $0 \le \epsilon_0 \le \epsilon_1 \le \infty$ and R > 0 we see, by using the local means, the matter is reduced to the case when $0 \le \epsilon \le \infty$. In this case

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|a:\mathcal{N}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)\infty}^{\mathsf{K}}\right\| &= \left\|a:\mathcal{N}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)\infty}^{0}\right\| \leq (1+\epsilon) \left\|a:\mathcal{E}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)\infty}^{0}\right\| \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left\|a:\mathcal{M}_{(1+\epsilon)}^{(1+2\epsilon)}\right\| < \infty \end{aligned}$$

and the proof of the first statement is now complete. The second assertion follows from the embedding $\mathcal{A}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^s \supset \mathcal{N}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)\infty}^K$, which follows from Proposition (5.1.2).

Corollary (5.1.35) [299]: Let $0 \le \epsilon \le \infty$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$. Then there exists a constant $\epsilon > -1$ such that

 $(1+\epsilon)^{-1} \left\| f^2 : \mathcal{A}^{\mathsf{s}}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2} \right\| \leq \left\| f^2 : \mathcal{A}^{\mathsf{s}}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2} \right\|_* \leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| f^2 : \mathcal{A}^{\mathsf{s}}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2} \right\|$ for all $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'$.

Proof: Now we refer back to the proof of Theorem (5.1.14). From Theorem (5.1.9) it suffices to show the right inequality. Pick $\zeta \in D$ so that

$$\zeta \cdot \mathcal{F}l + \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (1+\epsilon)(2^{-m}*) \cdot \mathcal{F}k^m \equiv 1, \quad 0 \notin \operatorname{supp}(1+\epsilon).$$

Note that $\mathcal{F}^{-1}(1 + \epsilon)$ has vanishing moment up to order L, since $0 \notin \text{supp}(1 + \epsilon)$. From this formula, we deduce

$$2^{js} \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_{j} \right] * f^{2} = (2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} 2^{js} \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_{j} \right] * l^{j} * \zeta^{j} * f^{2} + (2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} \sum_{m=j+1}^{\infty} 2^{js} \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_{j} \right] * (\mathcal{F} \eta)^{j} * k^{j} * f^{2}.$$

Observe that

$$\left[\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi_{j}\right]*\left(\mathcal{F}(1+\epsilon)\right)^{j}(x_{n})\right| \leq c2^{jn+L(j-m)}\langle 2^{j}x_{n}\rangle^{-(1+\epsilon)},$$

where $(1 + \epsilon)$ satisfies the same condition as Corollary (5.1.13). Therefore, it follows that $\left|2^{js}\left[\mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi_{i}\right]*\left(\mathcal{F}(1+\epsilon)\right)^{m}*k^{m}*f^{2}(x_{n})\right|$

$$\begin{aligned} 2^{js} \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_{j} \right] &* \left(\mathcal{F}(1+\epsilon) \right)^{-s} k^{m} * f^{2}(x_{n}) \right| \\ &\leq \left(1+\epsilon) 2^{js} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_{j} \right] * \left(\mathcal{F}(1+\epsilon) \right)^{m}(x_{n}) \right| \cdot \left| k^{m} * f^{2}(\epsilon) \right| dx_{n} \\ &\leq \left(\sup_{x_{n} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \langle 2^{m}(x_{n}+2\epsilon) \rangle^{-(1+\epsilon)} \left| k^{m} * f^{2}(2\epsilon) \right| \right) \\ &\cdot \left(2^{js} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \left[\mathcal{F}^{-1} \varphi_{j} \right] * \left(\mathcal{F}(1+\epsilon) \right)^{m}(x_{n}+\epsilon) \right| \cdot \langle 2^{m}(x_{n}+\epsilon) \rangle^{(1+\epsilon)} dx_{n} \right) \\ &\leq \left(1+\epsilon \right) 2^{-(1+\epsilon+s-L)(m-j)} x_{n} \langle 2^{m}(x_{n}+2\epsilon) \rangle^{-(1+\epsilon)} |2^{sm} k^{m} * f^{2}(2\epsilon)|, \end{aligned}$$

if $m \ge j$. Therefore, if we let $L > 1 + \epsilon + s$, then this inequality is summable. Hence, we obtain the desired result by Corollary (5.1.13).

Corollary (5.1.36) [299]: Let $0 \le \epsilon \le \infty$, $m \in \mathbb{R}$ and $a \in S_{1,1}^m$.

(i) If $s > \sigma_{1+\epsilon}$, then there exists $\epsilon > -1$ such that

$$\|a(x_n, \mathbf{D})f^2 : \mathcal{N}^{s}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}\| \le (1+\epsilon) \|f^2 : \mathcal{N}^{s+m}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}\|.$$

(ii) If $s > \sigma_{(1+\epsilon)^2}$, then there exists $\epsilon > -1$ such that

$$\left\|a(x_n, \mathbf{D})f^2: \mathcal{E}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^{\mathrm{s}}\right\| \le (1+\epsilon) \left\|f^2: \mathcal{E}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^{\mathrm{s+m}}\right\|.$$

Proof: Let us pick auxiliary functions ψ , φ , $\kappa \in S$ with the following conditions.

(i) $\chi_{Q(1)} \le \psi \le \chi_{Q(2)};$ (ii) $\varphi(x_n) = \psi(x_n) - \psi(2x_n);$ (iii) $\chi_{Q(2)} \le \kappa \le \chi_{Q(3)}.$

We consider $a(x_n, D)(1 - \psi(D))f^2$ because $a(x_n, D)\psi(D)f^2$ can be dealt with in a similar way.

Let us consider $(1 - \psi) \cdot \mathcal{F}f^2 = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \varphi_j \cdot \mathcal{F}f^2$. Expand $\varphi_j \cdot \mathcal{F}f^2$ into a Fourier series $\nabla \varphi_j(D)f^2(2^{-j}m)$

$$\varphi_{j} \cdot \mathcal{F}f^{2} = \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{\tau_{j}(-y) \cdot (-z)}{(2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} \cdot 2^{jn}} \kappa_{j} \exp(-i2^{-j}\mathbf{m} \cdot *),$$

where $\kappa_j(x_n) = \kappa(2^{-j}x_n)$ for $j \in \mathbb{N}$. From this we have

$$f(x_n, D)[(1 - \psi(D))f^2](x_n) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{\varphi_j(D)f^2(2^{-j}m)}{(2\pi \cdot 2^j)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} a(x_n, \xi)\kappa_j(\xi) \exp(i(x_n - 2^{-j}m) \cdot \xi) d\xi.$$

The Leibniz rule gives us that

$$\partial_{x_n}^{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} a(x_n,\xi) \kappa_j(\xi) \exp(i(x_n - 2^{-j}m) \cdot \xi) d\xi$$

= $\sum_{\beta \le \alpha} (1 + \epsilon)_{\alpha\beta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} [\partial_{x_n}^{\beta} a(x_n,\xi)] \kappa_j(\xi) (i\xi)^{\alpha-\beta} \exp(i(x_n - 2^{-j}m) \cdot \xi) d\xi$

and κ does not contain 0 as its support, where $(1 + \epsilon)_{\alpha\beta}$ is the binomial coefficient. If we carry out integration by parts, then we obtain

$$2^{-j(s+m)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} a(x_n,\xi) \kappa_j(\xi) \exp(i(x_n-2^{-j}m)\cdot\xi) d\xi$$

is a molecule in $\mathcal{A}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^{s}$. Together with Lemma (5.1.8) we obtain the desired result. **Corollary (5.1.37) [299]:** Suppose that the parameters ϵ , s, *l* satisfy

 $0 < s < l, \qquad 0 \le \epsilon \le \infty$ and that $a \in C_l^* S_{1,(1-\epsilon)}^0$. Then there exists $\epsilon > -1$ such that $\|a(x_n, D)f^2 : \mathcal{A}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^s \| \le (1+\epsilon) \|f^2 : \mathcal{A}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^{s+m} \|.$

Proof: Let us concentrate on the case when $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{E}$, the case when $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{N}$ is simpler.

Let $f^2 \in \mathcal{E}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^s$ and *a* be an elementary form as in [215]. Any symbol in $C_l^* S_{1,(1-\epsilon)}^0$ can be approximated by elementary symbols. Therefore, it is sufficient to investigate the case when *a* is an elementary form:

$$a(x_n,\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sigma_j(x_n) \varphi_j(\xi).$$

Define $q_{jk} = \varphi_k(D)\sigma_j$. Then we have

$$\left\| \mathbf{q}_{jk} \right\|_{\infty} \le (1+\epsilon)2^{(j-k)l}. \tag{9}$$

As a consequence, we obtain $q(x_n, D)f^2(x_n) = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}_0} q_{jk}(x_n) \cdot \varphi_j(D)f^2(x_n)$. We decompose $q(x_n, D)f^2$ into three pieces. Let us set

$$q_1(x_n, D)f^2 \coloneqq \sum_{j=4}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{j-4} q_{jk}\right) \varphi_j(D)f^2,$$
$$q_2(x_n, D)f^2 \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=\max(j-3,0)}^{j+3} q_{jk}\right) \varphi_j(D)f^2,$$
$$q_3(x_n, D)f^2 \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{k=j+4}^{\infty} q_{jk}\right) \varphi_j(D)f^2.$$

The estimate of $q_2(x_n, D)f^2$ is simple. Choose an auxiliary function $\kappa \in S$ so that $\chi_{Q(3)} \leq \kappa \leq \chi_{Q(\pi)}$. Then we have

$$\left\| \partial^{\alpha} \left(\sum_{k=\max(j-3,0)}^{j+3} q_{jk} \right) \right\|_{\infty} \leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{j|\alpha|} \left\| \left(\sum_{k=\max(j-3,0)}^{j+3} q_{jk} \right) \right\|_{\infty} \leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{j|\alpha|}.$$

Here we have used Proposition (5.1.19) for the first inequality and for the second inequality we have used (9) and the fact that at most 7 terms are involved. Therefore,

$$q_2(x_n, D)f^2 \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \varphi_j(D)f^2(2^{-j}m) \left(\sum_{k=\max(j-3,0)}^{j+3} q_{jk}\right) \mathcal{F}^{-1}\kappa(2^j * -m)$$

can be regarded as a molecular decomposition and hence we conclude that $q_2(x_n, D)$ is bounded from $\mathcal{A}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^s$ to itself.

The first piece is treated in a spirit similar to [41]. We shall make use of the fact that $\operatorname{supp}(f^2 * g^2) \subset \operatorname{supp}(f^2) + \operatorname{supp}(g^2)$ for all compactly supported distributions $f^2, g^2 \in S'$, where the right-hand side denotes the algebraic sum. Hence it follows that

$$\begin{split} \left\| q_{1}(x_{n}, \mathbf{D}) f^{2} : \mathcal{E}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^{2}}^{s} \right\| &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| 2^{js} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\max(j-4,0)} q_{jk} \right) \varphi_{j}(\mathbf{D}) f^{2} : \mathcal{M}_{(1+\epsilon)}^{(1+2\epsilon)}(l_{1+\epsilon}) \right\| \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left(\sup_{j\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \left\| \sum_{k=0}^{\max(j-4,0)} q_{jk} \right\|_{\infty} \right) \left\| 2^{js} \varphi_{j}(\mathbf{D}) f^{2} : \mathcal{M}_{(1+\epsilon)}^{(1+2\epsilon)}(l_{1+\epsilon}) \right\| \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left(\sup_{j\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\max(j-4,0)} \left\| q_{jk} \right\|_{\infty} \right) \right) \left\| 2^{js} \varphi_{j}(\mathbf{D}) f^{2} : \mathcal{M}_{(1+\epsilon)}^{(1+2\epsilon)}(l_{1+\epsilon}) \right\| \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left(\sup_{j\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \left\| \sigma_{j} \right\|_{\infty} \right) \left\| 2^{js} \varphi_{j}(\mathbf{D}) f^{2} : \mathcal{M}_{(1+\epsilon)}^{(1+2\epsilon)}(l_{1+\epsilon}) \right\| \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| f^{2} : \mathcal{E}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^{2}}^{s} \right\|. \end{split}$$

Finally let us turn to the estimate of $q_3(x_n, D)$. Let us rewrite

$$q_3(x_n, D)f^2(x_n) \coloneqq \sum_{k=4}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{k-4} q_{jk}(x_n) \right) \varphi_j(D)f^2(x_n),$$

where the change of order of the summation will be justified below. As a result, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| q_{3}(x_{n}, \mathbf{D}) f^{2} : \mathcal{E}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^{2}}^{s} \right\| &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| \left\{ 2^{ks} \sum_{j=0}^{k-4} q_{jk} \cdot \varphi_{j}(\mathbf{D}) f^{2} \right\}_{k=4}^{\infty} : \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}(l_{1+\epsilon}) \right\| \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{k-4} 2^{(k-j)(s-l)} \cdot 2^{js} |\varphi_{j}(\mathbf{D}) f^{2}| \right\}_{k=4}^{\infty} : \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}(l_{1+\epsilon}) \right\| \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \| f^{2} : \mathcal{E}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^{2}}^{s} \|, \end{split}$$

where we have used the fact that s < l for the second inequality. This is the desired result. **Corollary** (5.1.38) [299]: Let $0 \le \epsilon \le \infty$. Then the sets $H\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}$ and $h\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}$ are independent of the choices of admissible ψ satisfying (7).

Proof: For $H\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}$ Corollary (5.1.39) asserts more than Corollary (5.1.38). To formulate the stronger result, for $N \in \mathbb{N}$ we set

$$p_{N}(\zeta) \coloneqq \sum_{|\alpha| \leq N} \sup_{x_{n} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \langle x_{n} \rangle^{N} \left| \partial^{\alpha} \zeta(x_{n}) \right|, \qquad \zeta \in \mathcal{S}$$

Corollary (5.1.39) [299]: Let $0 \le \epsilon \le \infty$. Assume that $\psi \in S$ satisfies the non-degenerate condition $\int \psi \ne 0$. Then there exist $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\epsilon > -1$ such that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \sup_{\zeta \in B_{p_{N}}(1)} \left(\sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \zeta^{j} * f^{2} \right| \right) : \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon} \right\| &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \psi^{j} * f^{2} \right| : \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon} \right\|, \\ \text{where } B_{p_{N}}(1) &\coloneqq \{\zeta \in \mathcal{S} : p_{N}(\zeta) < 1\}. \end{split}$$

Proof: Fix $\zeta \in B_{p_N}(1)$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then there exist $\widetilde{\psi}, \widetilde{\varphi} \in S$ such that $\widetilde{\varphi}$ has vanishing moment up to order L with L large enough and that

$$\widetilde{\Psi} * \Psi + \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \widetilde{\varphi}^{l} * \varphi^{l} = 1 - \epsilon$$

by virtue of Lemma (5.1.22). Using this formula, we obtain

$$\left|\zeta^{j} * f^{2}(x_{n})\right| \leq \left|\zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\psi}^{j} * \psi^{j} * f^{2}(x_{n})\right| + \sum_{l=0}^{l} \left|\zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l} * \varphi^{j+l} * f^{2}(x_{n})\right|.$$

Let us set

$$\begin{split} \varphi^{j+l,*}f^{2}(x_{n}) &\coloneqq \sup_{x_{n} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \langle 2^{j+l}(x_{n}+\epsilon) \rangle^{-\frac{n}{1+\epsilon}} \left| \varphi^{j+l} * f^{2}(\epsilon) \right|, \\ \psi^{j+l,*}f^{2}(x_{n}) &\coloneqq \sup_{x_{n} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \langle 2^{j+l}(x_{n}+\epsilon) \rangle^{-\frac{n}{1+\epsilon}} \left| \psi^{j+l} * f^{2}(\epsilon) \right|, \end{split}$$

for j, $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $0 \le \epsilon \ll 1$. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l} * \varphi^{j+l} * f^{2}(x_{n}) \right| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l}(x_{n}+\epsilon) \right| \cdot \left| \varphi^{j+l} * f^{2}(\epsilon) \right| \mathrm{d}x_{n} \\ &\leq \varphi^{j+l,*} f^{2}(x_{n}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l}(x_{n}+\epsilon) \right| \cdot \left\langle 2^{j+l}(x_{n}+\epsilon) \right\rangle^{\frac{n}{1+\epsilon}} \mathrm{d}x_{n} \\ &= \varphi^{j+l,*} f^{2}(x_{n}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| \zeta * \widetilde{\varphi}^{l}(x_{n}+\epsilon) \right| \cdot \left\langle 2^{l}(x_{n}+\epsilon) \right\rangle^{\frac{n}{1+\epsilon}} \mathrm{d}x_{n}. \end{aligned}$$

we have $|\mathcal{F}\widetilde{\varphi}(x_n)| \leq (1+\epsilon)|x_n|^{L}$. Therefore, it follows that

$$|\zeta * \widetilde{\varphi}^l(x_n + \epsilon)| \le (1 + \epsilon)2^{-Ll} \langle x_n + \epsilon \rangle^{-n\left(\frac{2+\epsilon}{1+\epsilon}\right) - 1}.$$

Inserting this estimate, we obtain

$$\left| \zeta^{\mathbf{j}} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{\mathbf{j}+l} * \varphi^{\mathbf{j}+l} * f^2(x_n) \right| \le (1+\epsilon) 2^{-\left(L - \frac{n}{1+\epsilon} \right) l} \varphi^{\mathbf{j}+l,*} f^2(x_n).$$

Since $\varphi = \psi^1 - \psi$, it follows that

$$\zeta^{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}^{j+l} * \varphi^{j+l} * f^{2}(x_{n}) \Big| \le (1+\epsilon) 2^{-\left(L-\frac{n}{1+\epsilon}\right)l} \left(\psi^{j+l+1,*} f^{2}(x_{n}) + \psi^{j+l,*} f^{2}(x_{n}) \right).$$

A similar estimate is valid for $|\zeta^j * \widetilde{\psi}^j * \psi^j * f^2(x_n)|$. As a result, adding these estimates over $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$, we have

$$\left|\zeta^{j} * f^{2}(x_{n})\right| \leq (1+\epsilon) \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \psi^{k,*} f^{2}(x_{n})$$

From this formula, we obtain

$$\left|\sup_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}\in B_{p_{N}}(1)} \left(\sup_{\boldsymbol{j}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left|\boldsymbol{\zeta}^{\boldsymbol{j}}\ast f^{2}\right|\right) \colon \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\right\| \leq (1+\epsilon) \left\|\sup_{\boldsymbol{j}\in\mathbb{Z}} \psi^{\boldsymbol{j},\ast} f^{2} \colon \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\right\|.$$

Since we can deduce

$$\psi^{j,*} f^2(x_n)^{1+\epsilon} \le (1+\epsilon) \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l(1-\epsilon)} \mathbb{M}\left[\left| \psi^{j+l,*} f^2(x_n) \right|^{1+\epsilon} \right](x_n), \quad \epsilon < 1$$

in the same way as before, another application of the Hardy-Littlewood maximal inequality for the Morrey spaces gives us

$$\left\|\sup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\psi^{j,*}f^{2}:\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\right\| \leq (1+\epsilon)\left\|\sup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\left|\psi^{j}*f^{2}\right|:\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\right\|.$$

Putting together these observations, we obtain the desired result.

Corollary (5.1.40) [299]: Let $0 \le \epsilon \le \infty$ and $\tau \in \mathcal{D}$. Assume

$$(1+\epsilon)_{\alpha} \coloneqq \sup_{x_n \in \mathbb{R}^n} |x_n|^{|\alpha|} \cdot |\partial^{\alpha} \tau(x_n)| < \infty.$$

Then there exists a constant $(1 + \epsilon)$ depending only on $(1 + \epsilon)_{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$ such that $\|\tau(D)f^2 : H\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| \le (1 + \epsilon)\|f^2 : H\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\|$

for all $f^2 \in \mathcal{HM}^{1+2\epsilon}_{1+\epsilon}$.

Proof: We adopt the following norm in view of Theorem (5.1.24): For $f^2 \in S'$, we define

$$\|f^{2}: \mathcal{H}\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| = \left\|\sup_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} |\psi_{j}(\mathbf{D})f^{2}|: \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\right\|,$$

where ψ is a bump function satisfying $\chi_{B(1)} \leq \psi \leq \chi_{B(2)}$.

Since $(M\chi_Q)^{\frac{1+3\epsilon}{2(1+2\epsilon)}}$ is an A₁-weight, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left| Q \right|^{\frac{-\epsilon}{1+2\epsilon}} \int_{Q} \left(\sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| \psi_{j}(D)\tau(D)f^{2} \right|^{1+\epsilon} \right) &\leq \left| Q \right|^{\frac{-\epsilon}{1+2\epsilon}} \left\| \tau(D)f^{2} : \mathrm{H}^{1+\epsilon} \left(\left(\mathrm{M}\chi_{Q} \right)^{\frac{1+3\epsilon}{2(1+2\epsilon)}} \right) \right\|^{1+\epsilon} \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left| Q \right|^{\frac{-\epsilon}{1+2\epsilon}} \left\| f^{2} : \mathrm{H}^{1+\epsilon} \left(\left(\mathrm{M}\chi_{Q} \right)^{\frac{1+3\epsilon}{2(1+2\epsilon)}} \right) \right\|^{1+\epsilon}, \end{aligned}$$

where for the last inequality we have used Proposition (5.1.25). Now we use the two-sided estimate

$$M\chi_{Q}(x_{n}) \simeq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\chi_{2^{k}Q}(x_{n})}{2^{k n}}$$

which yields

$$\begin{split} |\mathbf{Q}|^{\frac{-\epsilon}{1+2\epsilon}} &\int_{\mathbf{Q}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \psi_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{D})\tau(\mathbf{D})f^{2} \right|^{1+\epsilon} \right) \leq (1+\epsilon) |\mathbf{Q}|^{\frac{-\epsilon}{1+2\epsilon}} \sum_{\mathbf{k}=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\mathbf{k}\left(\frac{1+3\epsilon}{2(1+2\epsilon)}\right)} \int_{2^{\mathbf{k}}\mathbf{Q}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \psi_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{D})f^{2} \right|^{1+\epsilon} \right) \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{\mathbf{k}=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\frac{(1+\epsilon)n}{2(1+2\epsilon)}} \cdot \left| 2^{\mathbf{k}}\mathbf{Q} \right|^{\frac{-\epsilon}{1+2\epsilon}} \int_{2^{\mathbf{k}}\mathbf{Q}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}} \left| \psi_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{D})f^{2} \right|^{1+\epsilon} \right) \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \|f^{2}: \mathrm{H}\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\|^{1+\epsilon}. \end{split}$$

The cubes being chosen arbitrarily, we obtain the desired estimate.

Corollary (5.1.41) [299]: Let $0 \le \epsilon \le \infty$. Assume in addition that $\mathcal{F}_{\psi} \equiv 1$ on a neighborhood of 0. Then we have

 $\|f^2 : h\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| \simeq \|\psi(\mathbf{D})f^2 : \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| + \|(1-\psi(\mathbf{D}))f^2 : H\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\|.$ owing the definition we calculate

Proof: Following the definition we calculate

$$\begin{split} \|f^{2}: \mathbf{h}\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| &\simeq \left\| \sup_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \left| \psi_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{D})f^{2} \right|: \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon} \right\| \\ &\simeq \left\| \sup_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \left| \psi_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{D})\psi(\mathbf{D})f^{2} \right|: \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon} \right\| + \left\| \sup_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \left| \psi_{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{D})\left(1-\psi(\mathbf{D})\right)f^{2} \right|: \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon} \right\| \\ &\simeq \|\psi(\mathbf{D})f^{2}: \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| + \| \left(1-\psi(\mathbf{D})\right)f^{2}: \mathbf{H}\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon} \| \end{split}$$

where we have used Proposition (5.1.19) for the second and the third equivalences. Corollary (5.1.42) [299]: Let $0 \le \epsilon \le \infty$. Then we have

$$\begin{split} \|f^2 : \mathrm{H}\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| &\simeq \left\|f^2 : \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^0\right\|, \\ \|f^2 : \mathrm{h}\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| &\simeq \left\|f^2 : \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^2}^0\right\| \end{split}$$

for all $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'$.

Proof: Let $f^2 \in S'$. Then we have

$$\begin{split} \|f^{2}: \mathbf{h}\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| &\simeq \|\psi(\mathbf{D})f^{2}: \mathbf{h}\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| + \left\| \left(1-\psi(\mathbf{D})\right)f^{2}: \mathbf{h}\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon} \right\| \\ &\simeq \|\psi(\mathbf{D})f^{2}: \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| + \left\| \left(1-\psi(\mathbf{D})\right)f^{2}: \mathbf{H}\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon} \right\| \\ &\simeq \|\psi(\mathbf{D})f^{2}: \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}\| + \left\| \varphi_{j}(\mathbf{D})f^{2}: \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}^{1+2\epsilon}(l_{2}, \mathbb{N}) \right\| = \left\| f^{2}: \mathcal{E}_{(1+2\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^{2}}^{0} \right\|, \end{split}$$

where for the third equivalence we have used Proposition (5.1.19) and Theorem (5.1.32). The proof is therefore complete.

Corollary (5.1.43) [299]: let $\tau \in \mathcal{D}$ or $(\tau \in \mathcal{S})$ and $\psi \in \widetilde{\mathcal{S}(E)}$ such that

$$\|\partial^{\alpha}\psi(x_n)\| \leq \frac{1}{M_0} |\partial^{\alpha}\tau(x_n)| |\partial^{\alpha}\mathbf{m}(x_n)|$$

where $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}$. **Proof:** For $\|\partial^{\alpha} m(x_n)\| \leq M_0$ where

$$M_0 = 2^{-\nu^2(s-n/1+2\epsilon)+\nu^2|\alpha|} \langle 2^{\nu^2}(x_n - (x_n)_0) \rangle^{-M-|\alpha|}, \qquad |\alpha| \le K$$

(i)

Using Theorem 4.10 we have

$$(1+\epsilon)_{\alpha}|\partial^{\alpha}\mathbf{m}(x_n)| \ge \mathbf{M}_0 \|x_n\|^{|\alpha|} \|\partial^{\alpha}\psi(x_n)\|$$
(ii)

Hence upon using Proposition (5.1.25) with (ii) the result follows.

Section (5.2): Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff Spaces via Maximal Functions and Local Means

Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$. The Besov-type space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p, q \in (0,\infty]$ and $\tau \in [0,\infty)$, and the Triebel-Lizorkin-type space $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p \in (0,\infty), q \in (0,\infty]$ and $\tau \in [0,\infty)$ and their predual spaces, the Besov-Hausdorff space $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p \in (1,\infty), q \in$ $[1,\infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0,\frac{1}{(\max\{p,q\})'}\right]$ and the Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff space $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p, q \in (1,\infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0,\frac{1}{(\max\{p,q\})'}\right]$, were recently introduced and investigated in [189, 190, 200, 204], where t' denotes the conjugate index of $t \in [1,\infty]$, namely, 1/t + 1/t' = 1. These spaces unify and generalize many classical function spaces including Besov spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Triebel=Lizorkin spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see [41, 106]), Morrey spaces $M_u^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Triebel-Lizorkin-Morrey spaces $\dot{E}_{pqu}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see [55, 59, 200, 218]), Q spaces $Q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Hardy-Hausdorff spaces $HH_{-\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see, for example, [167, 173, 184, 185]).

We establish the maximal function characterizations of $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\dot{B}\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all admissible indices s, τ , p and q as above. Using this characterization, we further obtain the local mean characterizations of these function spaces via functions satisfying the Tauberian condition and establish a Fourier multiplier theorem on these spaces. All these results generalize the existing classical results on Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces by taking $\tau = 0$; (see [41, 56]). In particular, all our results are also new even for Q spaces $Q_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Hardy-Hausdorff spaces $HH_{-\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\alpha \in (0, 1)$.

To recall the notions of $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, let $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the space of all Schwartz functions on \mathbb{R}^n endowed with the classical topology and denote by $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ its topological dual, namely, the space of all continuous linear functionals on $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ endowed with the weak *-topology. Following [41], we let

$$\mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \left\{ \varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(x) x^{\gamma} dx = 0 \text{ for all multi-indices } \gamma \in (\mathbb{N} \cup \{0\})^n \right\}$$

and consider $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as a subspace of $S(\mathbb{R}^n)$, including the topology. Use $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to denote the topological dual of $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, namely, the set of all continuous linear functional on $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We also endow $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with the weak *-topology. Let $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the set of all polynomials on \mathbb{R}^n . It is well known that $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) = S'(\mathbb{R}^n)/\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as topological spaces.

In what follows, for any $\varphi \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we use $\widehat{\varphi}$ to denote its Fourier transform, namely, for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\widehat{\varphi}(\xi) \equiv \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-i\xi x} \varphi(x) dx$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. For $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, denote by \mathcal{Q}_{jk} the dyadic cube $2^{-j}([0,1)^n + k)$, $\ell(\mathcal{Q})$ its side length, $x_{\mathcal{Q}}$ its lower left-corner $2^{-j}k$ and $c_{\mathcal{Q}}$ its center. Let $\mathfrak{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \{\mathcal{Q}_{jk} : j \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$, $\mathfrak{Q}_j(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \ell(\mathcal{Q}) = 2^{-j}\}$ and $j_{\mathcal{Q}} \equiv -\log_2 \ell(\mathcal{Q})$ for all $\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. When the dyadic cube \mathcal{Q} appears as an index, such as $\sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ and $\{\cdot\}_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, it is understood that \mathcal{Q} runs over all dyadic cubes in \mathbb{R}^n .

Let $q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\tau \in [0, \infty)$. Denote by $\ell^q \left(L^p_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \right)$ with $p \in (0, \infty]$ the set of all sequences $G \equiv \left\{ g_j \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ of measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n such that

$$\|G\|_{\ell^{q}\left(L^{p}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} \equiv \sup_{P \in \mathfrak{Q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left(\int_{P} \left| g_{j}(x) \right|^{p} dx \right)^{q/p} \right\}^{1/p} < \infty.$$

Similarly, $\ell^p (L^q_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n))$ with $p \in (0, \infty]$ is defined to be the set of all sequences $G \equiv \{g_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ of measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n such that

$$\|G\|_{\ell^{p}\left(L^{q}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} \equiv \sup_{P \in \mathfrak{Q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left(\sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left| g_{j}(x) \right|^{q} \right)^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} < \infty.$$

It is easy to see that $\ell^q \left(L_0^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \right) = \ell^q \left(L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \right)$ and $L_0^p \left(\ell^q(\mathbb{R}^n) \right) = L^p \left(\ell^q(\mathbb{R}^n) \right)$ (see [41]). Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

supp $\widehat{\varphi} \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\}$ and $|\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| \ge C > 0$ if $3/4 \le |\xi| \le 5/3$, (10) where C is a positive constant independent of ξ . We recall the notions of the Besov-type space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and the Triebel-Lizorkin-type space $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in [190].

Definition (5.2.1) [222]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (10).

(i) The Besov-type space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p \in (0,\infty]$ is defined to be the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \left\| \{ 2^{js}(\varphi_j * f) \}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\ell^p(L^q_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n))} < \infty.$

(ii) The Triebel-Lizorkin-type space $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p \in (0,\infty)$ is defined to be the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $||f||_{\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \left\| \{ 2^{js}(\varphi_j * f) \}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\ell^q(\mathbb{R}^n))} < \infty.$

Recall that $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,0}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{B}_{p,q}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,0}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{F}_{p,q}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,1/p}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{F}_{\infty,q}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $\dot{F}_{2,2}^{\alpha,1/2-\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for all $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ (see [189, 190]), where the spaces $\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ were originally introduced by Essén et al. [173]; see also [167, 184, 185] for the history of \mathcal{Q} spaces and their properties.

Let φ be as in Definition (5.2.1) and $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. For all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $a \in (0, \infty)$, $P \in \mathbb{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let

$$\varphi_{j}^{*,a}f(x) \equiv \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\varphi_{j} * f(y)|}{(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{a}} \text{ and } \varphi_{j,P}^{*,a}f(x) \equiv \sup_{y \in P} \frac{|\varphi_{j} * f(y)|}{(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{a}}.$$

Using these maximal functions, we characterize the spaces $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as follows.

Definition (5.2.2) [222]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (1, \infty)$, and $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (10).

- (i) The Besov-Hausdorff space $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $q \in [1,\infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0,\frac{1}{(p\vee q)'}\right]$ is defined to be the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \left\|\left\{2^{js}(\varphi_j * f)\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\ell^p(\widetilde{L^q_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)})} < \infty$.
- (ii) The Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff space $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $q \in (1,\infty)$ and $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(p \lor q)'}\right]$ is defined to be the set of all $f \in S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $||f||_{\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \equiv \left||\{2^{js}(\varphi_j * f)\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}\right||_{L^p_{\tau}(\ell^q(\mathbb{R}^n))} < \infty.$

Theorem (5.2.3) [222]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}, \tau \in [0, \infty), q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (9). (i) Let $p \in (0, \infty]$ and $a \in (n/p, \infty)$. Then $\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} \varphi_j^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\ell^q \left(L^p_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \right)}$ and

$$\sup_{\mathbf{P}\in\mathbb{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}\frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\tau}}\left\{\sum_{j=j_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\infty}2^{jsq}\left(\int_{\mathbf{P}}\left[\varphi_{j,\mathbf{P}}^{*,a}f(x)\right]^{\mathbf{p}}dx\right)^{q/\mathbf{p}}\right\}^{1/q}$$

Are equivalent quasi-norms in $\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

(ii) Let
$$p \in (0, \infty)$$
 and $a \in (n \max\{1/p, 1/q\}, \infty)$. Then $\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} \varphi_j^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^p_\tau(\ell^q(\mathbb{R}^n))}$ and

$$\sup_{P \in \mathfrak{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \frac{1}{|P|^\tau} \left\{ \int_P \left(\sum_{j=j_P}^\infty 2^{jsq} [\varphi_{j,P}^{*,a} f(x)]^q \right)^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p}$$
or a conjugate energy in $\dot{F}^{S,\tau}(\mathbb{D}^n)$.

are equivalent quasi-norms in $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: By similarity, we only show (ii).

Notice that for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $P \in \mathfrak{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $x \in P$, $|\varphi_j * f(x)| \le \varphi_{j,P}^{*,a} f(x) \le \varphi_j^{*,a} f(x)$. Therefore, to complete the proof of (ii), it suffices to prove that $\left\| \{2^{js}\varphi_j^{*,a}f\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\ell^q(\mathbb{R}^n))} \le \|f\|_{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$

 $\|f\|_{\dot{\mathrm{F}}^{\mathrm{S},\mathrm{T}}_{\mathrm{p},\mathrm{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$

Let $f \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ Since $a \in (n \max\{1/p, 1/q\}, \infty)$, there exists a $\delta \in (0, \infty)$ such that $\delta < p, \delta < q$ and $a \delta > n$. By the argument in [45], we see that for any $y, z \in Q_{jk}$ with $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}^n$,

$$\left|\varphi_{j} * f(\mathbf{y})\right|^{\delta} \leq C(\delta, \mathbf{N}) \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + |l|)^{-\mathbf{N}} \left|\varphi_{j} * f(2^{-j}l + \mathbf{z})\right|^{\delta},$$

where $N \in \mathbb{N}$ is determined later and $C(\delta, N)$ is a positive constant only depending on δ and N. Then for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\begin{split} \left[\varphi_{j}^{*,a}f(x)\right]^{\delta} &\lesssim \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Q}_{jk}} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1+|l|)^{-N} \left|\varphi_{j} * f(2^{-j}l+z)\right|^{\delta} (1 \\ &+ 2^{j}|x-y|)^{-a\delta} \sim \sup_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Q}_{jk}} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1+|l-k|)^{-N} \left|\varphi_{j} * f(2^{-j}l)\right|^{\delta} (1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{-a\delta}. \end{split}$$
Notice that for all $y \in \mathcal{Q}_{ik}, |y-2^{-j}l| \lesssim 2^{-j}(1+|l-k|)$. This shows that $(1+2^{j}|x-y|)(1+2^{j}|x-y|) \leq 2^{-j}(1+|l-k|)$.

Notice that for all $y \in Q_{jk}$, $|y - 2^{-j}l| \leq 2^{-j}(1 + |l - k|)$. This shows that $(1 + 2^j|x - y|)(1 + |l - k|) \leq (1 + 2^j|x - 2^{-j}l|)$. Choosing $N \geq a \delta$ then yields that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\left[\varphi_{j}^{*,a} f(x) \right]^{\circ} \lesssim \sup_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1 + |l - \mathbf{k}|)^{a\delta - \mathbf{N}} |\varphi_{j} * f(2^{-j}l)|^{\circ} (1 + 2^{j}|x - 2^{-j}l|)^{-\alpha}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |\varphi_{j} * f(2^{-j}l)|^{\delta} (1 + 2^{j}|x - 2^{-j}l|)^{-a\delta}.$$

Let $P \in Q(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $j \ge j_P$ and $x \in Q_{jk} \subset P$. It is easy to see that $1 + 2^j |x - 2^{-j}l| \sim 1 + |l - k|$.

Then by [106], there exists a
$$\gamma \in \mathbb{N}$$
 such that
 $\left[\varphi_{j}^{*,a}f(x)\right]^{\delta} \lesssim \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left|\varphi_{j} * f(2^{-j}l)\right|^{\delta} (1 + |\mathbf{k} - l|)^{-a\delta}$
 $\lesssim \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{\max\left\{\inf_{z \in \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}} |\varphi_{j} * f(z)|^{\delta} : \tilde{\mathcal{Q}} \subset \mathcal{Q}_{jl}, l(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}) = 2^{-\gamma}l(\mathcal{Q}_{jl})\right\}}{(1 + |\mathbf{k} - l|)^{a\delta}}$

For all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $l \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, let $t_{Q_{jl}} \equiv \max \left\{ \inf_{z \in \tilde{Q}} |\varphi_j * f(z)|^{\delta} : \tilde{Q} \subset Q_{jl}, l(\tilde{Q}) = 2^{-\gamma} l(Q_{jl}) \right\}$. Then for all $x \in Q_{jk} \subset P$,

(11)

$$\left[\varphi_{j}^{*,a}f(x)\right]^{\delta} \lesssim \sum_{\{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}: \mathcal{Q}_{jl} \subset (3P)\}} \frac{t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}}}{(1+|k-l|)^{a\delta}} + \sum_{\{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}: \mathcal{Q}_{jl} \cap (3P) = \emptyset\}} \frac{t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}}}{(1+|k-l|)^{a\delta}} \equiv I_{1} + I_{2}.$$

For I₁, since $a \delta > n$, by [106], we have that for all $x \in Q_{jk} \subset P$,

$$I_{1} \lesssim \mathrm{HL}\left(\sum_{\{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}: \mathcal{Q}_{jl} \subset (3P)\}} \mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}}\right)(x),$$

where and in what follows, HL denotes the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator. Then by Fefferman-Stein's vector-valued inequality (see [60, 190]), we obtain

$$\frac{1}{|\mathsf{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{\mathsf{P}} \left[\sum_{j=j_{\mathsf{P}}}^{\infty} 2^{j\mathsf{sq}} (\mathsf{I}_{1})^{\frac{\mathsf{q}}{\delta}} \right]^{\frac{\mathsf{p}}{\mathsf{q}}} dx \right\}^{1/\mathfrak{p}} \lesssim \frac{1}{|\mathsf{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j=j_{\mathsf{P}}}^{\infty} 2^{j\mathsf{sq}} \sum_{\{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}: \mathcal{Q}_{jl} \subset (3\mathsf{P})\}} \left(\mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}} \right)^{\frac{\mathsf{q}}{\delta}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}}(x) \right]^{\frac{\mathsf{p}}{\mathsf{q}}} dx \right\}^{1/\mathfrak{p}} \\ \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{\mathsf{F}}^{\mathsf{s},\tau}_{\mathsf{p},\mathsf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

For I_2 , since $a\delta > n$ and $|2^{-j}l - 2^{-j}k| \sim |i|l(P)$ when $j \ge j_P, Q_{jk} \subset P$ and $Q_{jl} \subset (P + il(P))$ with $|i| \ge 2$, we see that for all $x \in P$,

$$\begin{split} I_{2} &\lesssim \sum_{\{i \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}: |i| \geq 2\}} \sum_{\{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}: \mathcal{Q}_{jl} \subset (P+il(P))\}} |i|^{-a\delta} 2^{(j_{P}-j)a\delta} 2^{jn} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}} |\phi_{j} * f(z)|^{\delta} dz \\ &\sim \sum_{\{i \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}: |i| \geq 2\}} |i|^{-a\delta} 2^{(j_{P}-j)a\delta} 2^{jn} \int_{P+il(P)} |\phi_{j} * f(z)|^{\delta} dz \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\{i \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}: |i| \geq 2\}} |i|^{-a\delta} 2^{(j_{P}-j)(a\delta-n)} \operatorname{HL}\left(|\phi_{j} * f|^{\delta} \chi_{P+il(P)} \right) (x+il(P)), \end{split}$$

where and in what follows, $P + il(P) \equiv \{z + il(P) : z \in P\}$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ and $P \in \mathbb{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then applying Minkowski's inequality and Fefferman-Stein's vector-valued inequality, we also obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\delta\tau}} & \left\{ \int_{\mathbf{P}} \left[\sum_{j=j_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\infty} 2^{jsq} (\mathbf{I}_{2})^{\frac{\mathbf{q}}{\delta}} \right]^{\frac{\mathbf{p}}{\mathbf{q}}} dx \right\}^{\frac{\delta}{\mathbf{p}}} \\ & \lesssim \sum_{\{i \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}: |i| \ge 2\}} \frac{|i|^{-a\delta}}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\delta\tau}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbf{P}} \left[\sum_{j=j_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\infty} 2^{jsq} \left[\mathrm{HL} \left(\left| \varphi_{j} * f \right|^{\delta} \chi_{\mathbf{P}+il(\mathbf{P})} \right) \left(x + il(\mathbf{P}) \right) \right]^{\frac{\mathbf{q}}{\delta}} \right]^{\frac{\mathbf{p}}{\mathbf{q}}} dx \right\}^{\frac{\delta}{\mathbf{p}}} \\ & \lesssim \| f \|_{\mathbf{F}^{\mathbf{S},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\delta,\tau} \end{split}$$

which together with the estimate for I_1 yields that

$$\frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbf{P}} \left[\sum_{j=j_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\infty} 2^{j_{sq}} \left[\varphi_{j}^{*,a} f(x) \right]^{q} \right]^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

and hence completes the proof of Theorem (5.2.3).

Now let integer $\beta \ge -1$, $\mathcal{S}_{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\mathcal{S}_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the set of all Schwartz functions ϕ satisfying that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \phi(x) x^{\gamma} dx = 0$ for all $|\gamma| \le \beta$ when $\beta \ge 0$. Consider $\mathcal{S}_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as a subspace of $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, including the topology. Let $\mathcal{S}'_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denote the space of

all continuous linear functional on $S_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, endowed with the weak *-topology. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, \infty)$ and $k \in S_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy the following Tauberian condition:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \hat{k}(\xi) \right| &> 0 \text{ on } \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \varepsilon/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\varepsilon\}. \end{aligned}$$
(12)
For all $j \in \mathbb{Z}, a \in (0, \infty), P \in \mathbb{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n), f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n) \text{ and } x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \text{ let} \\ k_j^{*,a} f(x) &\equiv \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\left| k_j * f(y) \right|}{(1+2^j|x-y|)^a} \text{ and } k_{j,P}^{*,a} f(x) \equiv \sup_{y \in P} \frac{\left| k_j * f(y) \right|}{(1+2^j|x-y|)^a}. \end{aligned}$

Recall that $k_j * f$ is called the local mean; see, for example, [56]. Applying Theorem (5.2.3) and the Calderón reproducing formula, we establish the following local mean characterizations of $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Lemma (5.2.4) [222]: Let $\varepsilon \in (0, \infty)$ and $\eta \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (12). Then there exists a function $\psi \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\operatorname{supp} \widehat{\psi} \subset \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{11}{20} \varepsilon < |\xi| < \frac{20}{11} \varepsilon \right\}$ and $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \widehat{\eta}(2^j \xi) \overline{\widehat{\psi}(2^j \xi)} = 1$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$.

Proof: The proof of this lemma is similar to that of [176, Lemma (6.9)]. For the convenience of the reader, we sketch some details. Let $g \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that \hat{g} is nonnegative, supp $\hat{g} \subset \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{11}{20} \varepsilon < |\xi| < \frac{20}{11} \varepsilon \right\}$ and $\hat{g}(\xi) \ge \tilde{C} > 0$ when $3\varepsilon/5 < |\xi| < 5\varepsilon/3$, where \tilde{C} is a positive constant.

Set $F(\xi) \equiv \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \hat{g}(2^{j}\xi)$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$. Then F is bounded and smooth outside the origin, and $F(\xi) \ge \tilde{C} > 0$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n} \setminus \{0\}$. Furthermore, $F(2^{j}\xi) = F(\xi)$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}$.

For all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let $h(\xi) \equiv \hat{g}(\xi)/F(\xi)$. Then $h \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, supp $h \subset \left\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{11}{20}\varepsilon < |\xi| < \frac{20}{11}\varepsilon\right\}$, $h(\xi) \ge C_1 > 0$ when $3\varepsilon/5 < |\xi| < 5\varepsilon/3$, and for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$, $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} h(2^j\xi) = 1$, where C_1 is a positive constant.

By (12), $|\hat{\eta}(\xi)| \ge C_2 > 0$ on $\{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{11}{20}\varepsilon < |\xi| < \frac{20}{11}\varepsilon\}$, where C_2 is a positive constant. Define ψ by setting, for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\widehat{\psi}(\xi) \equiv h(\xi)/\hat{\eta}(\xi)$. Then ψ is the desired function, which completes the proof of Lemma (5.2.4).

Lemma (5.2.5) [222]: Let $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cup \{-1\}, \phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $f \in \mathcal{S}_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

(i) Let $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. Then for all $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, there exists a positive constant $C(M, n, \varphi, f)$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

 $|\varphi_{j} * f(x)| \le C(M, n, \varphi, f)^{-jM} (1 + |x|)^{-n-M-1}.$

(ii)Let $j \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathbb{Z}_+$. Then for all $L \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, there exists a positive constant $C(\beta, n, \varphi, f, L)$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

 $|\varphi_{j} * f(x)| \le C(\beta, n, \varphi, f, L)^{-j(\beta+n+1)} (1+2^{j}|x|)^{-n-2\beta-L-2}$

Lemma (5.2.6) [222]: Let $q \in (0, \infty], \tau \in [0, \infty), \delta \in (n\tau, \infty)$ and $\{g_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}$ be a sequence of measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n . For all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let $G_j(x) \equiv \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-|m-j|\delta} g_m(x)$. Then there exists a positive constant C, independent of $\{g_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}$, such that for all $p \in (0, \infty]$,

$$\left\|\left\{G_{j}\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\ell^{q}\left(L^{p}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} \leq C\|\left\{g_{m}\right\}_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{q}\left(L^{p}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)},$$

and that for all $p \in (0, \infty)$,

$$\left\|\left\{G_{j}\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}\left(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} \leq C\|\left\{g_{m}\right\}_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}\left(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)}.$$

Proof: By similarity, we only prove the first inequality. Let $P \in Q(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If $p \in (0, 1]$, applying the inequality that for all $d \in (0, 1]$ and $\{\alpha_j\}_i \subset \mathbb{C}$,

$$\left(\sum_{j} |\alpha_{j}|\right)^{d} \leq \sum_{j} |\alpha_{j}|^{d},$$
(13)

we obtain

$$I_{P} \equiv \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left(\int_{P} \left| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-|m-j|\delta} g_{m}(x) \right|^{p} dx \right)^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q}$$
$$\lesssim \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-|m-j|\delta p} \int_{P} |g_{m}(x)|^{p} dx \right)^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q}.$$

When $q \in (0, p]$, applying (13) again, we have

$$\begin{split} I_{P} &\lesssim \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \sum_{m=j_{P}}^{\infty} 2^{-|m-j|\delta q} \left(\int_{P} |g_{m}(x)|^{p} dx \right)^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} + \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{j_{P}-1} \cdots \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\lesssim \|\{g_{m}\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{q} \left(L^{p}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} \\ &+ \left\{ \sum_{m=-\infty}^{j_{P}-1} 2^{(j_{P}-m)n\tau q} \left(\sum_{m=j_{P}}^{\infty} 2^{(m-j)\delta q} \right) \right\}^{1/q} \|\{g_{m}\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{q} \left(L^{p}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} \\ &\lesssim \|\{g_{m}\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{q} \left(L^{p}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)}. \end{split}$$

When $q \in (p, \infty]$, choosing $\varepsilon \in (0, \delta - n\tau)$ and applying Hölder's inequality, similarly to the above proof, we also have

$$\begin{split} I_{P} &\lesssim \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \sum_{m=j_{P}}^{\infty} 2^{-|m-j|(\delta-\epsilon)q} \left(\int_{P} |g_{m}(x)|^{p} dx \right)^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} + \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{j_{P}-1} \cdots \right\}^{1/q} \\ &\lesssim \|\{g_{m}\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^{q} \left(L^{p}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \right)} \cdot \end{split}$$

If $p \in (1, \infty]$, applying Minkowski's inequality, we see that

$$I_{P} \lesssim \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left[\sum_{m=j_{P}} 2^{-|m-j|\delta q} \left(\int_{P} |g_{m}(x)|^{p} dx \right)^{1/p} \right]^{q} \right\}^{1/q}.$$

Then by Hölder's inequality when $q \in (1, \infty]$ or (13) when $q \in (0, 1]$, we also obtain that $I_P \leq ||\{g_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}||_{\ell^q(L^p_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n))}$, which further implies that

$$\left\|\left\{\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{j}}\right\}_{\mathsf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\ell^{\mathsf{q}}\left(\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} \lesssim \left\|\{\mathsf{g}_{\mathsf{m}}\}_{\mathsf{m}\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\ell^{\mathsf{q}}\left(\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)},$$

and then completes the proof of Lemma (5.2.6).

We also need the following estimate.

Lemma (5.2.7) [222]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}, \tau \in [0, \infty)$, β be an integer such that $\beta \ge -1$ and $\beta + 1 > s + n\tau$, and $p, q \in (0, \infty]$. Then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $f \in \dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $|k_j * f(y)| \le C ||f||_{\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} 2^{-j[s+n(\tau-1/p)]}$, where $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes either $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: By similarity, we only consider the spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let $f \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (10). Then by [176, Lemma (6.9)], there exists a function $\psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying (10) such that $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \overline{\phi}(2^j\xi) \widehat{\psi}(2^j\xi) = 1$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$. By the Calderón reproducing formula in [189], we know that $f = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \widetilde{\psi}_m * \varphi_m * f$ in $\mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where and in what follows, $\widehat{\psi}(z) \equiv \overline{\psi}(-z)$ for all $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$. From the arguments in [190] (see also [106] and [93]), we deduce that there exists a sequence $\{P_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ of polynomials, with degree no more than $L = \max\{-1, \lfloor s + n(\tau - 1/p) \rfloor\}$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $g \equiv \lim_{N \to \infty} (\sum_{m=-N}^{N} \widetilde{\psi}_m * \varphi_m * f + P_N)$ exists in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and g is a representative of the equivalence class $f + \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where for any $a \in \mathbb{R}$, $\lfloor a \rfloor$ denotes the maximal integer not more than a. We identify f with its representative g. Since $s + n(\tau - 1/p) < \beta + 1$ and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} k(x)x^{\gamma}dx = 0$ for all $|\gamma| \leq \beta$, we see that $k_j * f(y) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_j * \widetilde{\psi}_m * \varphi_m * f(y)$ for $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

Applying Lemma (5.2.5), we see that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathbf{k}_{j} * f(\mathbf{y}) \right| &\lesssim \sum_{\mathbf{m} \geq j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{jn - (\mathbf{m} - j)\mathbf{N}} |\varphi_{\mathbf{m}} * f(\mathbf{z})|}{[1 + 2^{j}|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{z}|]^{n + N + 1}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{z} + \sum_{\mathbf{m} < j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{jn - (\mathbf{m} - j)(\beta + n + 1)} |\varphi_{\mathbf{m}} * f(\mathbf{z})|}{[1 + 2^{j}|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{z}|]^{n + 2\beta + N + 2}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{z} \\ &\equiv \mathbf{I}_{1} + \mathbf{I}_{2}, \end{aligned}$$

where N \in N is sufficiently large, which is determined later. When p \in [1, ∞), choosing N > max{ $n(\tau p - 1) - 1$, [$n(1 - \tau p) + 1 - sp$]/(p - 1), $n(\tau - 1/p) - 2\beta - 2$ },

by Hölder's inequality, we obtain that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\begin{split} &I_{1} \lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{-(m-j)N} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{jn} |\varphi_{m} * f(z)|^{p}}{[1+2^{j}|y-z|]^{n+N+1}} dz \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{-(m-j)N} 2^{-j(N+1)} \left\{ 2^{m(n+N+1)} \int_{|y-z|<2^{-m}} |\varphi_{m} * f(z)|^{p} dz \right. \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} 2^{(m-l)(n+N+1)} \int_{2^{l-m-1} \le |y-z|<2^{l-m}} |\varphi_{m} * f(z)|^{p} dz \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{j[N-(N+1)/p]} 2^{-m[N(1-1/p)+s-1/p-n(1/p-\tau)]} \left\{ \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l[N+1+n(1-\tau p)]} \right\}^{1/p} \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{-j[s+n(\tau-1/p)]}. \end{split}$$

Similarly, for I₂, by $\beta + 1 > s + n\tau$ and Hölder's inequality, we also have that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\begin{split} I_{2} \lesssim \sum_{m < j} 2^{(m-j)(\beta+1)} 2^{mn} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l(n+2\beta+N+2)} \int_{|y-z| < 2^{l-m}} |\varphi_{m} * f(z)| dz \\ \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sum_{m < j} 2^{-j(\beta+1)} 2^{m[\beta+1-s+n(1/p-\tau)]} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l[2\beta+N+2-n(\tau-1/p)]} \\ \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sum_{m < j} 2^{-j(\beta+1)} 2^{m[\beta+1-s+n(1/p-\tau)]} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{-j[s+n(\tau-1/p)]}. \end{split}$$

When $p \in (0, 1)$, by [190, Corollary 3.1], $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset \dot{F}_{1,q}^{s+(1-1/p)n,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which together with the above proved conclusion when p = 1 yields that for all $f \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p \in (0, 1), j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\left\|k_{j} * f(y)\right| \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s+(1-1/p)n,\tau}_{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{-j[s+(1-1/p)n+n(\tau-1)]} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{-j[s+n(\tau-1/p)]}$$

and hence completes the proof of Lemma (5.2.7).

Theorem (5.2.8) [222]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $\tau \in [0, \infty)$ and $q \in (0, \infty]$ such that $s + n\tau < \beta + 1$. (i) Let $p \in (0, \infty]$ and $a \in (n/p, \infty)$. Then the quasi-norms $\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} (k_j * f) \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\ell^q (L^p_\tau(\mathbb{R}^n))}$,

$$\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\ell^{q} \left(\mathbf{L}_{\tau}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \right)} \text{ and } \\ \sup_{\mathbf{P} \in \mathbb{Q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{P}|^{\tau}} \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{\mathbf{P}}}^{\infty} 2^{jsq} \left(\int_{\mathbf{P}} \left[\mathbf{k}_{j,\mathbf{P}}^{*,a} f(x) \right]^{\mathbf{P}} \mathrm{d}x \right)^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q}$$

are equivalent in $\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

(ii) Let $p \in (0, \infty)$ and $a \in (n \max\{1/p, 1/q\}, \infty)$. Then the quasi-norms $\|\{2^{js}(k_j * u_j)\}\|_{\infty}$

$$f)\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}, \|\{2^{js}k^{*,a}_{j}f\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} \text{ and } \\ \sup_{P\in\mathbb{Q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{1}{|P|^{\tau}} \left\{ \int_{P} \left(\sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} 2^{jsq} [k^{*,a}_{j,P}f(x)]^{q} \right)^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p}$$

are equivalent in $\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: By similarity, we only prove (ii). Notice that for all $f \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $j \in \mathbb{Z}, P \in \mathbb{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in P$, $|k_j * f(x)| \le k_{j,P}^{*,a} f(x) \le k_j^{*,a} f(x)$. Therefore, to show (ii), it suffices to prove that $\left\| \{2^{js}k_j^{*,a}f\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^p_\tau(\ell^q(\mathbb{R}^n))}$ and $\left\| \{2^{js}(k_j * f)\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^p_\tau(\ell^q(\mathbb{R}^n))}$ are equivalent quasinorms in $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We show this in three steps.

Step 1. Let $f \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. First we prove

$$\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} k_{j}^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} \lesssim \| \{ 2^{ms} \varphi_{m}^{*,a} f \}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}.$$
(14)

To this end, letting φ and ψ be as in the proof of Lemma (5.2.7), we see that for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$k_{j} * f(y) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_{j} * \widetilde{\Psi}_{m} * \varphi_{m} * f(y).$$
(15)

Notice that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\left|\mathbf{k}_{j} \ast \widetilde{\Psi}_{m} \ast \varphi_{m} \ast f(\mathbf{y})\right| \le \varphi_{m}^{\ast,a} f \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left|\mathbf{k}_{j} \ast \psi_{m}(\mathbf{z})\right| (1 + 2^{m} |\mathbf{z}|)^{a} d\mathbf{z}.$$

By Lemma (5.2.5), we see that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$|\mathbf{k}_{j} * \widetilde{\Psi}_{m} * \varphi_{m} * f(\mathbf{y})| \lesssim \min\{2^{(m-j)(\beta+1)}, 2^{(j-m)(M-a)}\}\varphi_{m}^{*,a}f(\mathbf{y}), \tag{16}$$
a can be sufficiently large, which is determined later: see also [213] and its

where M > a can be sufficiently large, which is determined later; see also [213] and its proof. On the other hand, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

 $\varphi_{m}^{*,a} f(y) \le \varphi_{m}^{*,a} f(x)(1+2^{m}|x-y|)^{a} \le \max\{1, 2^{(m-j)a}\}(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{a}\varphi_{m}^{*,a} f(x),$ which together with (16) yields that

 $|\mathbf{k}_{j} * \widetilde{\Psi}_{m} * \varphi_{m} * f(\mathbf{y})| \leq \min\{2^{(m-j)(\beta+1)}, 2^{(j-m)(M-2a)}\}\varphi_{m}^{*,a}f(x)(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{a}.$ Then, from this and (15), it follows that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$,

$$k_{j}^{*,a} * f(x) \leq \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\left|k_{j} * \widetilde{\Psi}_{m} * \varphi_{m} * f(y)\right|}{(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{a}} \lesssim \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \varphi_{m}^{*,a} f(x) \min\{2^{(m-j)(\beta+1)}, 2^{(j-m)(M-2a)}\}$$

and hence

$$2^{js}k_j^{*,a} * f(x) \lesssim \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{ms} \varphi_m^{*,a} f(x) \min\{2^{(m-j)(\beta+1-s)}, 2^{(j-m)(M-2a+s)}\}.$$

Choosing M > $2a - s + n\tau$, by $\beta + 1 > s + n\tau$ and Lemma (5.2.6), we obtain (14). Step 2. Next we show that for all $f \in S'_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} \varphi_{j}^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} \lesssim \| \{ 2^{ms} k_{m}^{*,a} f \}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}.$$
(17)

Without loss of generality, we may assume that the right-hand side of (17) is finite. The proof for (17) is similar to that for (14). In fact, by Lemma (5.2.4), there exists a function $\psi \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that $\sup \hat{\psi} \subset \left\{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \frac{11}{20}\varepsilon < |\xi| < \frac{20}{11}\varepsilon \right\}$ and $\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \hat{k}(2^m\xi)\overline{\hat{\psi}(2^m\xi)} = 1$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$. Then by the Calderón reproducing formula in [189], for all $f \in S'_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \widetilde{\psi}_m * k_m * f$ in $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and hence $\varphi_j * f(y) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \varphi_j * \widetilde{\psi}_m * k_m * f(y)$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Since $\varphi, \psi \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, similarly to the estimate of (16), by [189], we see that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\rho_{i} * \widetilde{\Psi}_{m} * k_{m} * f(y) \le \min\{2^{(m-j)M}, 2^{(j-m)(M-a)}\} k_{m}^{*,a} f(y),$$

where we chose M > max{0, s + $n\tau$, 2a - s + $n\tau$ }. Then repeating the argument in Step 1, we obtain (17).

From Step 1, Step 2 and Theorem (5.2.3), it follows that $\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} \varphi_{j}^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}$ is an equivalent quasi-norm in $\dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$.

Step 3. To complete the proof of Theorem (5.2.8)(ii), we still need to prove that for all $f \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\left\| \{ 2^{js} \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,a} f \}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} \lesssim \| \{ 2^{ms} (\mathbf{k}_{m} * f) \}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))},$$
(18)

since the converse inequality is trivial. Without loss of generality, we may assume that the right-hand side of (18) is finite.

Since $a > (n/\min\{p,q\},\infty)$, we choose $r < \min\{p,q\}$ such that a r > n. By the argument in the proof of Lemma (5.2.7), there exist functions $\varphi, \psi \in S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ such that $f = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \psi_{j} * \widetilde{\varphi}_{m} * f$ in $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. For all $N \in \mathbb{N}$, set $f_{N} = \sum_{m=-N}^{N} \psi_{m} * \widetilde{\varphi}_{m} * f$. Then $f_{N} \in S'(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. By [190, (2.2)], we see that $f_{N} = \sum_{m=-N}^{N} \sum_{l(Q)=2^{-m}} \langle f, \varphi_{Q} \rangle \psi_{Q}$ in $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. Then, similarly to the proof of [190, Lemma 3.2], we obtain that for all $f \in \dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\|f_{N}\|_{\dot{F}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(19)

Also, similarly to the proof of Lemma (5.2.7), we know that there exists a sequence $\{P_N\}_{N\in\mathbb{N}}$ of polynomials with degree no more than $L \equiv \max\{-1, [s + n(\tau - 1/p)]\}$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $g \equiv \lim_{N\to\infty} (f_N + P_N)$ exists in $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and g is a representative of the equivalence class $f + \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then, by $\beta \ge -1$ and $\beta + 1 > s + n\tau$, for any $\varphi \in S_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\varphi * f(y) = \lim_{N\to\infty} \varphi * f_N(y)$. Hence, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $k_j * f(y) = \lim_{N\to\infty} k_j * f_N(y)$. From the discrete version of the Strömberg-Torchinsky type estimate in [71] (see also [73]), we deduce that for any $M \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a positive constant $\tilde{C}(k, r, M)$, depending only on k, r and M, such that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\left|k_{j} * f_{N}(y)\right|^{r} \leq \tilde{C}(k, r, M) \sum_{m \geq j} 2^{(j-m)Mr} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{mn} |k_{m} * f_{N}(z)|^{r}}{(1+2^{m}|x-y|)^{Mr}} dz.$$
(20)

Applying Lemma (5.2.7) and (19), we see that for all $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\begin{split} |\mathbf{k}_{m} * f_{N}(\mathbf{z})| &\leq \|f_{N}\|_{\dot{F}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{-m[s+n(\tau-1/p)]} \leq \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{-m[s+n(\tau-1/p)]}.\\ \text{If we choose } M &> \max\{n/r, n(1/p-\tau) - s, a, a-s\}, \text{ then for all } \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{R}^{n},\\ &\sum_{m\geq j} 2^{(j-m)Mr} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{mn} |\mathbf{k}_{m} * f_{N}(\mathbf{z})|^{r}}{(1+2^{m}|\mathbf{y}-\mathbf{z}|)^{Mr}} d\mathbf{z} \\ &\leq \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sum_{m\geq j} 2^{jMr-mr[M+s+n(\tau-1/p)]} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{mn}}{(1+2^{m}|\mathbf{y}-\mathbf{z}|)^{Mr}} d\mathbf{z} \\ &\leq \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{-j[s+n(\tau-1/p)]}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, from (20) and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, it follows that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\left|k_{j} * f_{N}(y)\right|^{r} \lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{(j-m)Mr} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{mn} |k_{m} * f_{N}(z)|^{r}}{(1+2^{m}|y-z|)^{Mr}} dz.$$
(21)

Notice that for all $m \ge j$ and $x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$2^{m}|x-z| \le 2^{m-j}(2^{j}|x-y|+2^{m}|y-z|).$$

Then $1 + 2^m |x - z| \le 2^{m-j}(1 + 2^j |x - y|)(1 + 2^m |y - z|)$, which combined with (21) yields that for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\frac{|\mathbf{k}_{j} * f(\mathbf{y})|^{r}}{(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{ar}} \lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{(j-m)(M-a)r} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{mn}|\mathbf{k}_{m} * f(\mathbf{z})|^{r}}{(1+2^{m}|x-z|)^{ar}} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{z}.$$

Thus, by taking the supremum on $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ in the above formula and a r > n, we obtain that for all $x \in P$ with $P \in \mathbb{Q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\begin{split} \left[k_{j}^{*,a} f(x) \right]^{r} &\lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{(j-m)(M-a)r} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{mn} |k_{m} * f(z)|^{r}}{(1+2^{m} |x-z|)^{ar}} dz \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{(j-m)(M-a)r} \left[\int_{3^{p}} \frac{2^{mn} |k_{m} * f(z)|^{r}}{(1+2^{m} |x-z|)^{ar}} dz \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}, |i| \ge 2} \int_{P+il(P)} \frac{2^{mn} |k_{m} * f(z)|^{r}}{(1+2^{m} |x-z|)^{ar}} dz \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{(j-m)(M-a)r} \left[\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-lar} 2^{mn} \int_{|x-z| \le 2^{l-m}} |k_{m} * f(z)|^{r} \chi_{3P}(z) dz \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}, |i| \ge 2} |i|^{-ar} 2^{(j-m)(ar-n)} HL(|k_{m} * f|^{r} \chi_{P+il(P)})(x+il(P)) \Big] \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{(j-m)(M-a)r} \left[HL(|k_{m} * f|^{r} \chi_{3P})(x) \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}, |i| \ge 2} |i|^{-ar} HL(|k_{m} * f|^{r} \chi_{3P+il(P)})(x+il(P)) \right]. \end{split}$$

Then, choosing $\epsilon \in (0, \min\{M - a, M - a + s\})$, by Hölder's inequality, Minkowski's inequality, Fefferman-Stein's vector valued inequality and a r > n, we further obtain

which implies (18) and hence completes the proof of Theorem (5.2.8).

For the Besov-Hausdorff space $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and the Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff space $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we also have the maximal function and the local mean characterizations similar to Theorems (5.2.3) and (5.2.8). To state these results, we first recall some notation.

For $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and r > 0, let $B(x, r) \equiv \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x - y| < r\}$. For $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $d \in (0, n]$, the d-dimensional Hausdorff capacity of E is defined by

$$H^{d}(E) \equiv \inf\left\{\sum_{j} r_{j}^{d} : E \subset \bigcup_{j} B(x_{j}, r_{j})\right\},$$
(22)

where the infimum is taken over all countable coverings $\{B(x_j, r_j)\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$ of open balls of E; see, for example, [161, 188]. It is well known that H^d is monotone, countably subadditive and vanishes on the empty set. Moreover, H^d in (22) when d = 0 also makes sense, and H⁰ has the properties that for all sets $E \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, H⁰(E) ≥ 1 , and H⁰(E) = 1 if and only if E is bounded. For any function $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to [0, \infty]$, the Choquet integral of f with respect to H^d is then defined by

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f \, \mathrm{d}\mathrm{H}^\mathrm{d} \equiv \int_0^\infty \mathrm{H}^\mathrm{d}(\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(x) > \lambda\}) \mathrm{d}\lambda.$$

In what follows, for any $p, q \in (0, \infty]$, let $p \lor q \equiv \max\{p, q\}$ and $p \land q \equiv \min\{p, q\}$. Set $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \equiv \mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$. For any measurable function ω on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, define its nontangential maximal function N ω by setting N $\omega(x) \equiv \sup_{|y-x| < t} |\omega(y, t)|$.

For $p \in (0, \infty)$ and $\tau \in [0, \infty)$, let $\ell^q \left(\widetilde{L^p_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \right)$ with $q \in [1, \infty)$ be the set of all sequences $G \equiv \{g_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ of measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n such that
$$\|G\|_{\ell^{q}\left(\widetilde{L^{p}_{\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}\right)} \equiv \inf_{\omega} \left\{ \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left| g_{j}(x) \right|^{p} [\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-p} dx \right)^{q/p} \right\}^{1/q} < \infty$$

and $L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))$ with $q \in (1, \infty)$ the set of all sequences $G \equiv \{g_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ of measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n such that

$$\|G\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})} \equiv \inf_{\omega} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left| g_{j}(x) \right|^{q} \left[\omega(x, 2^{-j}) \right]^{-q} \right)^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} < \infty,$$

where the infimum is taken over all nonnegative Borel measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ satisfying

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} [\mathrm{N}\omega(x)]^{(\mathrm{p}\vee q)'} \, \mathrm{d}\mathrm{H}^{n\tau(\mathrm{p}\vee q)'}(x) \le 1$$
(23)

and with the restriction that for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}, \omega(\cdot, 2^{-j})$ is allowed to vanish only where g_j vanishes.

Theorem (5.2.9) [222]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (1, \infty)$, and $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (10).

(i) If $q \in [1, \infty), \tau \in [0, 1/(p \vee q)']$ and $a \in (n[1/p + \tau], \infty)$, then $\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} \varphi_j^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\ell^q \left(\widetilde{L_{\tau}^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \right)}$ is

an equivalent quasi-norm in $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

(ii) If $q \in (1, \infty), \tau \in [0, 1/(p \vee q)']$ and $a \in (n[\max\{1/p, 1/q\} + \tau], \infty)$, then the quasi-norm $\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} \varphi_{j}^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}$ is an equivalent quasi-norm in $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$.

Proof: By similarity, we only show (ii). Notice that for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\in \mathbb{Z}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $|\phi_j * f(x)| \le \phi_j^{*,a} f(x)$. Therefore, to complete the proof of (ii), it suffices to prove that $\|\{2^{js}\phi_j^{*,a}f\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))} \le \|f\|_{\mathrm{FH}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ for all $f \in \mathrm{FH}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let ω be a nonnegative function on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ satisfying (23) such that

$$\left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}^{\infty} 2^{jsq} |\varphi_j * f(x)|^q [\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-q} \right)^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \lesssim \|f\|_{\mathrm{F}\dot{\mathrm{H}}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$
(24)

Since $a > n(\max\{1/p, 1/q\} + \tau)$, we choose $\delta \in (0, \min\{p, q\})$ such that $a > n(1/\delta + \tau)$. By (11), we know that for all $x \in Q_{jk}$ with $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $k, l \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, $1 + 2^j |x - 2^{-j}l| \sim 1 + |k - l|$ and

$$\left[\varphi_{j}^{*,a}f(x)\right]^{\delta} \lesssim \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jk}} (1+|k-l|)^{-a\delta} \lesssim \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jk}} (1+2^{j}|x-2^{-j}l|)^{-a\delta},$$

is as in the proof of Theorem (5.2.2). Set $\Lambda = \left[l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} + 2^{j}|x-2^{-j}l|\right]^{-a\delta}$

where $t_{Q_{jk}}$ is as in the proof of Theorem (5.2.3). Set $A_0 \equiv \{l \in \mathbb{Z}^n : 2^j | x - 2^{-j}l | \le \sqrt{n}\}$ and $A_m \equiv \{l \in \mathbb{Z}^n : 2^{m-1}\sqrt{n} < 2^{-j} | x - 2^{-j}l | \le 2^m \sqrt{n}\}$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$. We further have that for all $x \in Q_{jk}$,

$$\varphi_{j}^{*,a}f(x) \lesssim \left[\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 2^{-ma\delta} \sum_{l \in A_{m}} t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}}\right]^{1/\delta} \lesssim \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 2^{-m(\varepsilon-a)} \left[\sum_{l \in A_{m}} t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}}\right]^{1/\delta},$$

where the last inequality follows from (13) if $1/\delta \le 1$ or Hölder's inequality if $1/\delta > 1$, and $\varepsilon \in (0, a - n(1/\delta + \tau))$.

Since $\|\cdot\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))}^{\nu_2}$ is a norm, the last inequality further implies that

$$\left\|\left\{2^{js}\varphi_{j}^{*,a}f(x)\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}^{\nu_{2}} \lesssim \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 2^{m\nu_{2}(\varepsilon-a)} \left\|\left\{2^{js}\left[\sum_{l\in A_{m}} t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}}\right]^{1/\delta}\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}^{1/\delta}.$$
 (25)

 v_2

For each $m \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $(y, s) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$, define

 $\omega_{\mathrm{m}}(\mathbf{y},\mathbf{s}) \equiv 2^{-\mathrm{m}n\tau} \sup \{ \omega(\mathbf{z},\mathbf{s}) : \mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, |\mathbf{z}-\mathbf{y}| < \sqrt{n} 2^{\mathrm{m}+2} \mathbf{s} \}.$

Then by [204, Corollary 3.1], ω_m still satisfies (23) modulo a multiplicative positive constant independent of m. Moreover, for all $y \in Q_{jl}$ with $l \in A_m$, we have that $\omega(y, 2^{-j}) \leq 2^{mn\tau} \omega_m(y, 2^{-j})$. Therefore, for all $x \in Q_{jk}$,

$$\sum_{l \in A_{m}} t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}} [\omega_{m}(x, 2^{-j})]^{-\delta} \lesssim 2^{jn} \sum_{l \in A_{m}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}} |\varphi_{j} * f(y)|^{\delta} dy [\omega_{m}(x, 2^{-j})]^{-\delta}$$
$$\lesssim 2^{jn} 2^{mn\tau\delta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{l \in A_{m}} |\varphi_{j} * f(y)|^{\delta} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}}(y) [\omega(y, 2^{-j})]^{-\delta} dy$$
$$\lesssim 2^{mn(1+\tau\delta)} HL \left(\sum_{l \in A_{m}} |\varphi_{j} * f|^{\delta} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}} [\omega(\cdot, 2^{-j})]^{-\delta} \right) (x),$$

which combined with Fefferman-Stein's vector-valued inequality and (24) yields that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\{ 2^{js} \left[\sum_{l \in A_{m}} t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}} \right]^{1/\delta} \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \sum_{L_{\tau}^{p}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})} \lesssim \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{jsq} \left(\sum_{l \in A_{m}} t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}}[\omega_{m}(x, 2^{-j})]^{-\delta} \right)^{q/\delta} \right]^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \\ \lesssim 2^{mn(1/\delta+\tau)} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{jsq} \sum_{l \in A_{m}} |\varphi_{j} * f(x)|^{q} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{jl}}(x) [\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-q} \right)^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \\ \lesssim 2^{mn(1/\delta+\tau)} \| f \|_{\mathrm{FH}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}. \end{split}$$

By $a > n(1/\delta + \tau)$ and (25), we further have

$$\left\|\left\{2^{js}\varphi_{j}^{*,a}f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}^{\nu_{2}} \lesssim \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 2^{m\nu_{2}(\varepsilon-a+n(1/\delta+\tau))} \|f\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}^{\nu_{2}} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}^{\nu_{2}},$$

which completes the proof of Theorem (5.2.9).

Lemma (5.2.10) [222]: Let $p \in (1, \infty)$, $\delta \in (0, \infty)$ and $\{g_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}$ be a sequence of measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n . For all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let $G_j(x) \equiv \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{-|m-j|\delta} g_m(x)$.

- (i) If $q \in [1, \infty)$, $\tau \in [0, 1/(p \lor q)']$ and $\delta \in (n\tau, \infty)$, then there exists a positive constant C, independent of $\{g_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}$, such that $\|\{G_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^q(L^{\widetilde{p}}(\mathbb{R}^n))} \leq C \|\{g_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{\ell^q(L^{\widetilde{p}}(\mathbb{R}^n))}$.
- (ii) If $q \in (1, \infty)$, $\tau \in [0, 1/(p \lor q)']$ and $\delta \in (n\tau, \infty)$, then there exists a positive constant C, independent of $\{g_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}$, such that $\|\{G_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))} \lesssim C \|\{g_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))}$.

Proof: By similarity, we only prove (ii). Let $\tilde{\omega}$ be a nonnegative function on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ satisfying (23) such that

$$\left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} |g_m(x)|^q [\widetilde{\omega}(x, 2^{-m})]^{-q} \right]^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \lesssim C \|\{g_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))}.$$
(26)

For each $i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and all $(x, s) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$, let $\omega_i(x, s) \equiv 2^{-in\tau} \sup\{\widetilde{\omega}(x, t) : 2^{-i} \le s/t \le 2^i\}$. Then by [204, Corollary 3.1], ω_i still satisfies (23) modulo a multiplicative constant independent of *i*. Moreover, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, m, j $\in \mathbb{Z}$ with |j - m| = i, we have that $[\omega_i(x, 2^{-j})]^{-1} \le 2^{in\tau} [\widetilde{\omega}(x, 2^{-m})]^{-1}$.

Since $\|\cdot\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))}^{\nu_2}$ is a norm, by (26), we see that

$$\begin{split} \left\{G_{j}\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}\left(\ell^{\widetilde{q}}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)\right)}^{\nu_{2}} &= \inf_{\omega} \left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{m\in\mathbb{Z}\\|m-j|=i}} 2^{-i\delta} \left[\frac{|g_{m}(x)|}{\omega(x,2^{-j})}\right]\right)^{q}\right]^{\frac{p}{q}} dx\right\}^{\frac{\nu_{2}}{p}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\delta\nu_{2}} \inf_{\omega} \left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{\substack{m\in\mathbb{Z}\\|m-j|=i}} \left[\frac{|g_{m}(x)|}{\omega(x,2^{-j})}\right]\right)^{q}\right]^{\frac{p}{q}} dx\right\}^{\frac{\nu_{2}}{p}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\delta\nu_{2}} \left[\left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} \left[\frac{|g_{m}(x)|}{\omega_{i}(x,2^{-m+i})}\right]^{q}\right)^{\frac{p}{q}} dx\right\}^{\frac{\nu_{2}}{p}} \\ &+ \left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} \left[\frac{|g_{m}(x)|}{\omega_{i}(x,2^{-m-i})}\right]^{q}\right)^{\frac{p}{q}} dx\right\}^{\frac{\nu_{2}}{p}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\nu_{2}(\delta-n\tau)} \left\{\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} \left[\frac{|g_{m}(x)|}{\widetilde{\omega}(x,2^{-m})}\right]^{q}\right)^{\frac{p}{q}} dx\right\}^{\frac{\nu_{2}}{p}} \\ &\lesssim \|\{g_{m}\}_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}\left(\ell^{\widetilde{q}\left(\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)}\right)}, \end{split}$$

which completes the proof of Lemma (5.2.10).

Lemma (5.2.11) [222]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in (1, \infty)$, $q \in [1, \infty)$, $\tau \in [0, 1/(p \lor q)']$ and β be an integer such that $\beta \ge -1$ and $\beta + 1 \ge s + n\tau$. Then there exists a positive constant C such that for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $f \in A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $|k_j * f(y)| \le C||f||_{A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)} 2^{-j[s-n(\tau+1/p)]}$, where $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes either $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: By similarity, we only consider the Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff spaces $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let $f \in F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be as in the proof of Lemma (5.2.7). From the arguments in [204], we deduce that there exists a sequence $\{P_N\}_{N\in\mathbb{N}}$ of polynomials with degree no more than $L \equiv \max\{-1, \lfloor s - n(\tau + 1/p) \rfloor\}$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $g \equiv \lim_{N\to 0} (\sum_{m=-N}^{N} \widetilde{\Psi}_m * \varphi_m * f + P_N)$ exists in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and g is a representative of the equivalence class $f + \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Since $\beta + 1 \ge s + n\tau$ and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} k(x)x^{\gamma}dx = 0$ for all $|\gamma| \le \beta$, we obtain that $k_j * f(y) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} k_j * \widetilde{\Psi}_m * \varphi_m * f(y)$ for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Furthermore, we have $|k_j * f(y)| \le I_1 + I_2$, where I_1, I_2 are as in the proof of Lemma (5.2.7). Let ω be as in (24). Recall that if ω satisfies (23), then for all $(x, s) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+, \omega(x, s) \leq \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$ $s^{-n\tau}$ (see [189]). Choosing N > $n\tau$ – s and applying Hölder's inequality and (24) yield that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\begin{split} I_{1} \lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{-m(N-n\tau)+jN} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{jn} |\phi_{m} * f(z)| [\omega(z, 2^{-m})]^{-1}}{[1+2^{j}|y-z|]^{n+N+1}} dz \\ \lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{-m(N+s-n\tau)+jN} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{jn} 2^{msq} |\phi_{m} * f(z)|^{p} [\omega(z, 2^{-m})]^{-p}}{[1+2^{j}|y-z|]^{n+N+1}} dz \right\}^{1/p} \\ \lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{-m(N+s-n\tau)+jN} 2^{jn/p} ||f||_{F\dot{H}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim ||f||_{F\dot{H}^{S,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{-j[s-n(\tau+1/p)]}. \end{split}$$

Similarly, by the assumption that $\beta + 1 \ge s + n\tau$ and Hölder's inequality, we also have that for all $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $I_1 \leq 2^{-j[s-n(\tau+1/p)]} ||f||_{F\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, which completes the proof of Lemma (5.2.11).

Theorem (5.2.12) [222]: Let $a \in (1, \infty)$, $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $p \in (1, \infty)$.

(i) If $q \in [1, \infty), \tau \in [0, 1/(p \lor q)']$ and $a \in (n[1/p + \tau], \infty)$ such that $s + n\tau < \beta + 1$, then $\left\|\left\{2^{js}k_{j}^{*,a}f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\ell^{q}\left(\widetilde{L_{\tau}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}\right)} \text{ and } \left\|\left\{2^{js}k_{j}*f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\ell^{q}\left(\widetilde{L_{\tau}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}\right)} \text{ are equivalent quasi-norms in }$ $B\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n).$

(ii) If $q \in (1,\infty), \tau \in [0, 1/(p \lor q)']$ and $a \in (n[\max\{1/p, 1/q\} + \tau], \infty)$ such that $s + n\tau < \beta + 1$, then $\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} k_j^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))}$ and $\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} k_j * f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))}$ are equivalent quasinorms in $F\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: By similarity, we only show (ii), namely, we need to prove that $\|\{2^{js}k_j^{*,a}f\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))}$ and $\|\{2^{js}(k_j*f)\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))}$ are equivalent quasi-norms in $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We show this in three steps.

Step 1. Let $f \in F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, φ and ψ be as in the proof of Lemma (5.2.7). Similarly to Step 1 of the proof of Theorem (5.2.8), we see that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$2^{js}k_j^{*,a}f(x) \lesssim \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{ms} \varphi_m^{*,a}f(x) \min\{2^{(m-j)(\beta+1-s)}, 2^{(j-m)(M-2a+s)}\}.$$

Choosing M > $2a + s + n\tau$, by $\beta + 1 \ge s + n\tau$ and Lemma (5.2.10), we obtain

$$\left\|\left\{2^{js}\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,a}f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\tau}^{p}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})} \lesssim \left\|\left\{2^{ms}\varphi_{m}^{*,a}f\right\}_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\tau}^{p}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}.$$

Step 2. Next we show that for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\left\|\left\{2^{js}\varphi_{j}^{*,a}f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})} \lesssim \left\|\left\{2^{ms}k_{m}^{*,a}f\right\}_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}.$$
(27)

Without loss of generality, we may assume that the right-hand side of (27) is finite. Similarly to Step 2 of the proof of Theorem (5.2.8), there exists a function $\psi \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $f \in \mathcal{S}'_{\beta}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\phi \in \mathcal{S}_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\phi_j * f(y) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \phi_j * f(y) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}$ $\widetilde{\Psi}_{\mathrm{m}} * \mathrm{k}_{\mathrm{m}} * f(\mathrm{y})$. By [189, Lemma 2.2], we obtain that for all $\mathrm{y} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$, $|\varphi_{\mathrm{j}} * \widetilde{\Psi}_{\mathrm{m}} * \mathrm{k}_{\mathrm{m}} * f(\mathrm{y})| \leq \min\{2^{(\mathrm{m}-\mathrm{j})\mathrm{M}}, 2^{(\mathrm{j}-\mathrm{m})(\mathrm{M}-a)}\}\mathrm{k}_{\mathrm{j}}^{*,a}f(\mathrm{y}),$

where we chose M > max{s + $n\tau$, 2a - s + $n\tau$ }. Then, similarly to Step 1 of the proof of Theorem (5.2.8), we obtain that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$2^{js}\varphi_{j}^{*,a}f(x) \lesssim \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{ms}k_{m}^{*,a}f(x)\min\{2^{(m-j)(M-s)}, 2^{(j-m)(M-2a+s)}\}.$$

which together with Lemma (5.2.10) yields (27).

Step 3. Combining Step 1, Step 2 and Theorem (5.2.9) yields that $\left\| \left\{ 2^{js} k_j^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))}$ is an equivalent quasi-norm in $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. To complete the proof of (ii), it suffices to prove that for all $f \in \dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\left\|\left\{2^{js}\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,a}f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\tau}^{p}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})} \lesssim \left\|\left\{2^{ms}(\mathbf{k}_{m}*f)\right\}_{m\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\tau}^{p}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}.$$
(28)

Without loss of generality, we may assume that the right-hand side of (28) is finite. Since $a > n[\max\{1/p, 1/q\} + \tau]$, we choose $1 \le r \le \min\{p,q\}$ such that $a > n(1/r + \tau)$. Let $\tilde{\omega}$ be a nonnegative function on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ satisfying (23) such that

$$\left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{jsq} |\mathbf{k}_j * f(x)|^q [\widetilde{\omega}(x, 2^{-j})]^{-q} \right)^{p/q} dx \right\}^{1/p} \leq \|\{2^{ms}(\mathbf{k}_m * f)\}_{m \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q}(\mathbb{R}^n))}.$$
(29)

Let φ and ψ be as in the proof of Lemma (5.2.11). Then $f = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \widetilde{\psi}_m * \varphi_j * f$ in $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. By the argument in [204], we know that there exists a sequence $\{P_N\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$ of polynomials with degree no more than $L \equiv \max\{-1, \lfloor s - n(\tau + 1/p) \rfloor\}$ for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $g \equiv \lim_{N \to \infty} (f_N + P_N)$ exists in $S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and g is a representative of the equivalence class $f + \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $f_N \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is as in the proof of Theorem (5.2.8). By Lemma (5.2.11) and [204, Lemma 2.1], we know that for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$, $f \in F\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$, $|k_j * f_N(y)| \leq ||f_N||_{F\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} 2^{-j[s-n(\tau+1/p)]} \leq ||f||_{F\dot{H}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} 2^{-j[s-n(\tau+1/p)]}$. On the other hand, since $\beta + 1 \geq s + n\tau$, we see that for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $k_j * f(y) = \lim_{N \to \infty} k_j * f_N(y)$. Similarly to the proof of Theorem (5.2.8), we obtain that for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\left[k_{j}^{*,a}f(x)\right]^{r} \lesssim \sum_{m \ge j} 2^{(j-m)(M-a)r} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{mn} |k_{m} * f(z)|^{r}}{[1+2^{m}|x-z|]^{ar}} dz,$$

where we chose $M > a + n\tau - s$. Then for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\begin{split} \left[2^{js} \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,a} f(x)\right]^{\mathbf{r}} &\lesssim \sum_{\mathbf{m} \ge j} 2^{(j-\mathbf{m})(\mathbf{M}-a)\mathbf{r}} 2^{js\mathbf{r}} 2^{\mathbf{m}n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{m}} * f(z)|^{\mathbf{r}}}{[1+2^{\mathbf{m}}|x-z|]^{a\mathbf{r}}} dz \\ &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-ia\mathbf{r}} \left\{ \sum_{\mathbf{m} \ge j} 2^{(j-\mathbf{m})(\mathbf{M}-a)\mathbf{r}} 2^{js\mathbf{r}} 2^{\mathbf{m}n} \int_{|z-x|\le 2^{i-\mathbf{m}}} |\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{m}} * f(z)|^{\mathbf{r}} dz \right\} \equiv \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-ia\mathbf{r}} J_{j,i}, \end{split}$$

which, together with (13) and the fact that $\|\cdot\|_{L^p_\tau(\ell^q(\mathbb{R}^n))}^{\nu_2}$ is a norm, yields that

$$\left\|\left\{2^{js}k_{j}^{*,a}f\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}^{\nu_{2}} \lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-ia\nu_{2}} \left\|\left\{\left(J_{j,i}\right)^{1/r}\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}\right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}^{\nu_{2}}.$$
(30)
(30)

Furthermore, by (13) and the fact that $\|\cdot\|_{L^p_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^q(\mathbb{R}^n)})}^{\nu_2}$ is a norm again, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\{ \left(J_{j,i} \right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})})}^{\nu_{2}} &\sim \inf_{\omega} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left(\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l(M-a)r} 2^{jsr} 2^{(j+l)n} \int_{|z-x| \le 2^{l-j-l}} |\mathbf{k}_{j+l} \right)^{\frac{q}{r}} \right. \\ &\left. * f(z) \Big|^{r} dz \right)^{\frac{q}{r}} [\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-q} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}^{\frac{p}{q}} dx \right\}^{\frac{\nu_{2}}{p}} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l(M-a)\nu_{2}} \inf_{\omega} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{jsq} \left(2^{(j+l)n} \int_{|z-x| \le 2^{l-j-l}} |\mathbf{k}_{j+l} \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{q}} dx \right\}^{\frac{\nu_{2}}{p}} \\ & \left. * f(z) \Big|^{r} [\omega(x, 2^{-j})]^{-r} dz \right]^{\frac{q}{r}} dx \\ \end{split}$$

$$(31)$$

For all $i, l \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and all $(x, s) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+$, let $\omega_{i,l}(x, s) \equiv 2^{-(i+l)n\tau} \sup\{\widetilde{\omega}(y, t) : |x - y| \leq 2^i t, 2^{-l} \leq t/s \leq 2^l\}$. Then by [204, Corollary 3.1], $\omega_{i,l}$ still satisfies (23) modulo a multiplicative constant independent of *i* and *l*. Moreover, for all m, $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ with |j - m| = l and $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $|z - x| \leq 2^{i-m}$, we have that $[\omega_{i,l}(x, 2^{-j})]^{-1} \leq 2^{(i+l)n\tau}[\widetilde{\omega}(z, 2^{-m})]^{-1}$. Thus, from Fefferman-Stein's vector-valued inequality, (29) and (31), it follows that

$$\begin{split} \left\{ \left(\mathbf{j}_{j,l} \right)^{\frac{1}{r}} \right\}_{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{Z}} \left\| \int_{\mathbf{L}_{\tau}^{\mathbf{p}}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} \\ & \lesssim \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l(\mathbf{M}-a+s)\nu_{2}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{\mathbf{j}\mathbf{s}\mathbf{q}} \left(2^{\mathbf{j}n} \int_{|\mathbf{z}-\mathbf{x}| \leq 2^{l-j}} \right] \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{j}} \right. \\ & \left. * f(\mathbf{z}) \right|^{r} \left[\omega_{i,l}(\mathbf{x}, 2^{-j-l}) \right]^{-r} d\mathbf{z} \right)^{\frac{q}{r}} \int_{\mathbf{q}}^{\frac{p}{q}} d\mathbf{x} \\ \\ & \lesssim \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l(\mathbf{M}-a+s-n\tau)\nu_{2}} 2^{in\tau\nu_{2}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left[\sum_{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{\mathbf{j}\mathbf{s}\mathbf{q}} \left(2^{\mathbf{j}n} \int_{|\mathbf{z}-\mathbf{x}| \leq 2^{l-j}} \right] \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{j}} \right. \\ & \left. * f(\mathbf{z}) \right|^{r} \left[\widetilde{\omega}(\mathbf{z}, 2^{-j}) \right]^{-r} d\mathbf{z} \right)^{\frac{q}{r}} \right]^{\frac{p}{q}} d\mathbf{x} \\ \\ & \lesssim \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} 2^{-l(\mathbf{M}-a+s-n\tau)\nu_{2}} 2^{i(\tau+1/r)n\nu_{2}} \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{Z}} 2^{\mathbf{j}\mathbf{s}\mathbf{q}} \left[\mathbf{HL}(|\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{j}} + f|^{r} [\widetilde{\omega}(\cdot, 2^{-j})]^{-r})(\mathbf{x}) \right]^{\frac{q}{r}} \right)^{\frac{p}{q}} d\mathbf{x} \\ \\ & \left. * f \right|^{r} [\widetilde{\omega}(\cdot, 2^{-j})]^{-r} (\mathbf{x}) \right]^{\frac{q}{r}} \right)^{\frac{q}{q}} d\mathbf{x} \\ \end{aligned}$$

which together with (30) yields that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\{ 2^{js} \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,a} f \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\tau}^{p}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}^{\nu_{2}} \lesssim \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\nu_{2}[a-n(1/r+\tau)]} \right\} \left\| \left\{ 2^{js} (\mathbf{k}_{j} * f) \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\tau}^{p}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}^{\nu_{2}} \\ \lesssim \left\| \left\{ 2^{js} (\mathbf{k}_{j} * f) \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}_{\tau}^{p}(\widetilde{\ell^{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}^{\nu_{2}} \end{split}$$

and hence completes the proof of Theorem (5.2.12).

We give a simple application of Theorems (5.2.8) and (5.2.9), we establish a Fourier multiplier theorem of the spaces $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes either $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\dot{A}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ denotes either $F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in (0, \infty]$, $a \in [0, \infty)$ and φ be as in Definition (5.2.1). The space $\dot{B}_{p,q}^{s}(a)$ is defined to be the set of all $m \in \mathcal{S}'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ such that

$$\|\mathbf{m}\|_{\dot{\mathbf{B}}^{s}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(a)} \equiv \left\| \left\{ 2^{js} (1+2^{j}|\cdot|)^{a} \varphi_{j} * \mathbf{m} \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{l^{\mathbf{q}}\left(\widetilde{\mathbf{L}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}\right)} < \infty;$$

see [66]. Then we have the following theorem, whose proof is similar to that of [66, Theorem 5.1].

Theorem (5.2.13) [222]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

(i) If $p,q \in (0,\infty]$, $\tau \in [0,\infty)$, $a \in (n/p,\infty)$ when $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $a \in (n[\max\{1/p, 1/q\}], \infty)$ when $\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv \dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $m \in \dot{B}^0_{1,\infty}(a)$, then $\|m * f\|_{\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C \|m\|_{\dot{B}^0_{1,\infty}(a)} \|f\|_{\dot{A}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$,

where C is a positive constant independent of m and f.

(ii) If $p \in (1,\infty)$, $q \in [1,\infty)$, $\tau \in \left[0, \frac{1}{(p \vee q)'}\right]$, $a \in (n[1/p + \tau], \infty)$ when $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv$ $B\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ or $a \in (n[\max\{1/p, 1/q\} + \tau], \infty)$ when $A\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n) \equiv F\dot{H}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and $m \in$ $\dot{B}^{0}_{1,\infty}(a)$, then

 $\|\mathbf{m} * f\|_{\mathbf{A}\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\tau}_{\mathbf{D},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \mathbf{C} \|\mathbf{m}\|_{\dot{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathbf{0}}_{\mathbf{1},\infty}(a)} \|f\|_{\mathbf{A}\dot{\mathbf{H}}^{\mathbf{S},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^n)},$

where C is a positive constant independent of m and f.

Proof: By similarity, we only consider the spaces $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy (10). Then $\phi * \phi$ also satisfies (10). Recall that $\dot{F}_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is independent of the choice of ϕ . Thus, $\left\| \left\{ 2^{j}(\varphi_{j} * \varphi_{j} * f) \right\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \right\|_{L^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))}$ is an equivalent quasi-norm of $f \in \dot{F}^{s,\tau}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. Notice that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\left|\varphi_{j} \ast \varphi_{j} \ast \mathbf{m} \ast f(x)\right| \leq \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \left|\varphi_{j} \ast \mathbf{m}(y)\right| (1+2^{j}|y|)^{a} \mathrm{d}y \right\} \varphi_{j}^{\ast,a} f(x) = \|\mathbf{m}\|_{\dot{B}_{1,\infty}^{0}(a)} \varphi_{j}^{\ast,a} f(x).$$

Then applying Theorem (5.2.3) yields that

 $\|\mathbf{m} * f\|_{\dot{F}^{\mathbf{s},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \|\{2^{j}(\varphi_{j} * \varphi_{j} * \mathbf{m} * f)\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{p}_{\tau}(\ell^{\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} \lesssim \|\mathbf{m}\|_{\dot{B}^{0}_{1,\infty}(a)} \|f\|_{\dot{F}^{\mathbf{s},\tau}_{\mathbf{p},\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})},$ which completes the proof of Theorem (5.2.13).

Chapter 6 Atomic Decomposition and Besov-Type Spaces

We characterize the Besov spaces with variable smoothness and integrability by socalled Peetre maximal functions. We use these results to show the atomic decomposition for these spaces. As an application of their atomic characterization, we obtain a trace theorem of these variable Besov-type spaces.

Section (6.1): Besov Spaces with Variable Smoothness and Integrability

Besov spaces of variable smoothness and integrability, $B_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$, initially appeared in [160]. Several basic properties were established, such as the Fourier analytical characterization. When p, q, α are constants they coincide with the usual function spaces $B_{p,q}^{\alpha}$. Also Sobolev type embeddings and the characterization by approximations of these function spaces were obtained. Some properties of such a type are well known with variable p, but fixed q and α . J. Vybiral [157] proved Sobolev type embeddings in these spaces. H. Kempka [150, 264] has studied so-called micro-local versions of variable index Besov spaces, when local means characterizations, atomic, molecular and wavelet decomposition of these spaces are given. This setting includes also some range of weights as well as slightly more general smoothness. These studies were all restricted to variable p, but fixed q and α .

The interest in these spaces comes not only from theoretical reasons but also from their applications to several classical problems in analysis. For the range of parameters p = q = 2, the spaces $B_{2,2}^{m(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R})$ have been considered in the analysis of certain Black-Scholes equations, see Schneider, Reichmann and Schwab [135]. For further considerations of PDEs, see [227].

We present a decomposition by atoms for $B_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$. All these results generalize the existing classical results on Besov spaces by taking p, q and α as constants.

We define the Besov spaces $B_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and repeat some results from [160]. We show a useful characterization of these spaces based on the so-called local means. The theorem on local means that proved for Besov spaces of variable smoothness and integrability is highly technical and its proved required (based on maximal functions and the classical situation) new techniques and ideas. Using the results, we show the atomic decomposition for $B_{p(\cdot)q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

As usual, \mathbb{R}^n the *n*-dimensional real Euclidean space, N the collection of all natural numbers and $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. The letter Z stands for the set of all integer numbers. For a multi-index $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}_0^n$, we write $|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_n$. The Euclidean scalar product of $x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)$ and $y = (y_1, \dots, y_n)$ is given by $x \cdot y = x_1y_1, + \dots + x_ny_n$. For $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and r > 0 we denote by $\mathbb{B}(x, r)$ the open ball in \mathbb{R}^n with center x and radius r. By supp f we denote the support of the function f, i.e., the closure of its non-zero set. By $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ we denote the Schwartz space of all complex-valued, infinitely differentiable and rapidly decreasing functions on \mathbb{R}^n and by $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ the dual space of all tempered distributions on \mathbb{R}^n . We define the Fourier transform of a function $f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ by

$$\mathcal{F}(f)(\xi) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{-ix \cdot \xi} f(x) dx.$$

Its inverse is denoted by $\mathcal{F}^{-1}f$. Both \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^{-1} are extended to the dual Schwartz space $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the usual way. The Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator \mathcal{M} is defined on L^1_{loc} by

$$\mathcal{M}f(x) = \sup_{r>0} \frac{1}{|B(x,r)|} \int_{B(x,r)} |f(y)| dy,$$

and $\mathcal{M}_t f = \mathcal{M}|f|^t$ for any $0 < t \le 1$. The variable exponents that we consider are always measurable functions on \mathbb{R}^n with range in $[c, \infty]$ for some c > 0. We denote the set of such functions by \mathcal{P}_0 . The subset of variable exponents with range $[1, \infty]$ is denoted by \mathcal{P} .

$$p^- = \operatorname{ess-inf}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} p(x)$$
, $p^+ = \operatorname{ess-sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} p(x)$.

We define

$$\rho_p(t) = \begin{cases} t^p & \text{if} \quad p \in (0,\infty), \\ 0 & \text{if} \ p = \infty \text{ and } t \leq 1, \\ \infty & \text{if} \ p = \infty \text{ and } t > 1. \end{cases}$$

The convention $1^{\infty} = 0$ is adopted in order that ρ_p be left-continuous. The variable exponent modular is defined by

$$\varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \rho_{\mathbf{p}(x)}(|f(x)|) \mathrm{d}x.$$

The variable exponent Lebesgue space $L^{p(\cdot)}$ consists of measurable functions $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ with $\varrho_{p(\cdot)}(\lambda f) < \infty$ for some $\lambda > 0$.

We define the Luxemburg (quasi)-norm on this space by the formula

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} = \inf \left\{ \lambda > 0 : \varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} \left(\frac{f}{\lambda} \right) \le 1 \right\}.$$

As is known, the following inequalities hold (see [227])

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} \le 1 \iff \varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(f) \le 1 \tag{1}$$

and

$$||f||_{p(\cdot)} \le \varrho_{p(\cdot)}(f) + 1.$$
 (2)

Let p, q $\in \mathcal{P}_0$. The mixed Lebesgue-sequence space $\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})$ is defined on sequences of $L^{p(\cdot)}$ -functions by the modular

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) = \sum_{\nu} \inf \left\{ \lambda_{\nu} > 0 : \varrho_{p(\cdot)}\left(\frac{f_{\nu}}{\lambda_{\nu}^{1/q(\cdot)}}\right) \le 1 \right\}$$

The norm is defined from this as usual:

$$\|(f_{\nu})_{\nu}\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} = \inf \left\{ \mu > 0 : \varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} \left(\frac{1}{\mu} (f_{\nu})_{\nu} \right) \le 1 \right\}.$$

We will use the notation

$$\varrho_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu}) = \sum_{\nu} \left\| |f_{\nu}|^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}}$$

for the modular. In (1) and (2) $||f||_{p(\cdot)}$ and $\varrho_{p(\cdot)}(f)$ can be replaced by $||(f_{\nu})_{\nu}||_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$ and $\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}((f_{\nu})_{\nu})$, respectively.

We say that $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is locally log-Hölder continuous, abbreviated $g \in C_{loc}^{log}$, if there exists $c_1 > 0$ such that

$$|g(x) - g(y)| \le \frac{c_1}{\log(e + 1/|x - y|)}$$

for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$. We say that g satisfies the log-Hölder decay condition, if there exists $g_{\infty} > 0$ and a constant $c_2 > 0$ such that

$$|\mathbf{g}(x) - \mathbf{g}_{\infty}| \le \frac{\mathbf{c}_2}{\log(\mathbf{e} + |x|)}$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. We say that g is globally-log-Hölder continuous, abbreviated $g \in C^{\log}$, if it is locally log-Hölder continuous and satisfies the log-Hölder decay condition. The constants c_1 and c_2 are called the locally log-Hölder constant and the log-Hölder decay constant, respectively. The maximum max $\{c_1, c_2\}$ is just called the log-Hölder constant of g and it is denoted by $c_{\log}(g)$.

We note that all functions $g \in C_{loc}^{log}$ always belong to L^{∞} .

We define the following class of variable exponents

$$\mathcal{P}^{\log} = \left\{ p \in \mathcal{P} : \frac{1}{p} \text{ is globally- log- Hölder continuous} \right\}.$$

The class \mathcal{P}_0^{\log} is defined analogously. It was shown in [227] that $\mathcal{M} : L^{p(\cdot)} \to L^{p(\cdot)}$ is bounded if $p \in \mathcal{P}^{\log}$ and $p^- > 1$, see [95] and [97], where various results on maximal function in variable Lebesgue spaces were obtained.

Recall that $\eta_{\nu,m}(x) = 2^{n\nu}(1+2^{\nu}|x|)^{-m}$, for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and m > 0. Note that $\eta_{\nu,m} \in L^1$ when m > n and that $\|\eta_{\nu,m}\|_1 = c_m$ is independent of ν .

By c we denote generic positive constants, which may have different values at different occurrences. Although the exact values of the constants are usually irrelevant for our purposes, sometimes we emphasize their dependence on certain parameters (e.g. c(p) means that c depends on p, etc.).

Lemma (6.1.1) [258]: If $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log}$, then there exists $d \in (n, \infty)$ such that if m > d, then $2^{\nu\alpha(x)}\eta_{\nu,2m}(x-y) \le c2^{\nu\alpha(y)}\eta_{\nu,m}(x-y)$ with c > 0 independent of $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

The previous lemma allows us to treat the variable smoothness in many cases as if it were not variable at all, namely we can move the term inside the convolution as follows:

$$2^{\nu\alpha(x)}\eta_{\nu,2m} * f(x) \le c \eta_{\nu,m} * (2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}f)(x)$$

The next lemma often allows us to deal with exponents which are smaller than 1. **Lemma (6.1.2) [258]:** Let r > 0, $v \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and m > n. Then there exists c = c(r, m, n) > 0such that for all $g \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with supp $\mathcal{F}g \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| \le 2^{\nu+1}\}$, we have

$$|\mathbf{g}(x)| \le \mathbf{c} \left(\eta_{\nu,\mathrm{m}} * |\mathbf{g}|^{\mathrm{r}}(x) \right)^{1/\mathrm{r}}, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n .$$

The next lemma is a Hardy-type inequality which is easy to prove.

Lemma (6.1.3) [258]: Let 0 < a < 1 and $0 < q \le \infty$. Let $\{\varepsilon_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ be a sequence of positive real numbers, such that

The sequence
$$\{\delta_k : \delta_k = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a^{|k-j|} \varepsilon_j \}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0}$$
 is in ℓ^q with $\|\{\delta_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0}\|_{\ell^q} \le cI.$

c depends only on *a* and q.

Lemma (6.1.4) [258]: Let $\omega, \mu \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $M \ge -1$, an integer such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\alpha} \mu(x) dx = 0$ for all $|\alpha| \le M$. Then for any N > 0, there is a constant $c_N > 0$ so that $\sup |t^{-n} \mu(t^{-1} \cdot) * \omega(z)|(1 + |z|)^N \le c_N t^{M+1}$.

$$\sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^n} ||u(t^{-1}) * w(z)| (1 + |z|) \le c_N t^{-1}.$$

Lemma (6.1.5) [258]: Let $0 < r \le 1$, and let $\{b_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$, $\{d_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ be two sequences taking values in $(0, +\infty)$. Assume that for some $\mathbb{N}_0 > 0$

$$d_j = O(2^{jN_0}), \qquad j \to \infty, \tag{3}$$

and that for any N > 0

$$d_j \leq C_N \sum_{k=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-k)N} b_k d_k^{1-r}, \qquad j \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

Then for any N > 0

$$d_j^r \leq C_N \sum_{k=j}^\infty 2^{(j-k)Nr} b_k, \qquad j \in \mathbb{N}_0$$

with the same constants C_N .

We present the Fourier analytical definition of the spaces $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and recall their basic properties. We first need the concept of a smooth dyadic resolution of unity.

Definition (6.1.6) [258]: Let ψ be a function in $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfying $\psi(x) = 1$ for $|x| \le 1$ and $\psi(x) = 0$ for $|x| \ge 2$. We put $\mathcal{F}\varphi_0(x) = \psi(x)$, $\mathcal{F}\varphi_1(x) = \psi\left(\frac{x}{2}\right) - \psi(x)$ and

$$\mathcal{F}\varphi_{\nu}(x) = \mathcal{F}\varphi_1(2^{-\nu+1}x) \text{ for } \nu = 2, 3, \cdots$$

Then $\{\mathcal{F}\varphi_{\nu}\}_{\nu\in\mathbb{N}_{0}}$ is a smooth dyadic resolution of unity,

$$\sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{F} \varphi_{\nu}(x) = 1$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Thus we obtain the Littlewood-Paley decomposition

$$f = \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \varphi_{\nu} * f$$

of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (convergence in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$).

Definition (6.1.7) [258]: Let φ_v be as in Definition (6.1.6). For $\alpha : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ and $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0$, the Besov space $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ consists of all distributions $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{B}^{\alpha(\cdot)}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}} = \left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})} < \infty.$$

$$\tag{4}$$

For any $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0^{\log}$ and $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{\log}$, the space $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ does not depend on the chosen smooth dyadic resolution of unity $\{\mathcal{F}\phi_v\}_{v\in\mathbb{N}_0}$ (in the sense of equivalent quasi-norms). They are quasi-Banach spaces, and

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Moreover, if p, q, α are constants, we re-obtain the usual Besov spaces $B_{p,q}^{\alpha}$ studied in detail by H. Triebel in [41, 56, 57, 136].

The full treatment of the spaces $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ can be found in [160] and [227], see [138, 150, 157, 264], for further results on the variable Besov spaces $B_{p(\cdot),q}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ (only the case of constant q was considered, see also [90, 91]).

We characterize the spaces $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ by so-called local means (see [213]). Therefore, we define for a > 0, $\alpha : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ and $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the Peetre maximal function

$$\varphi_{v}^{*,a} 2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} f(x) = \sup_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{v\alpha(\mathbf{y})} |\varphi_{v} * f(\mathbf{y})|}{(1 + 2^{v} |x - \mathbf{y}|)^{a}}, \quad v \in \mathbb{N}_{0}.$$
Theorem (6.1.8) [258]: Let $\alpha \in C_{\text{loc}}^{\log}$, p, $\mathbf{q} \in \mathcal{P}_{0}^{\log}$ and $a > \frac{n}{p^{-}}$. Then
$$\left\| \left(\varphi_{v}^{*,a} 2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} f \right)_{v} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})} \tag{5}$$

is an equivalent quasi-norm in $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$. **Proof:** We will do the proof in two steps. Step 1. It is easy to see that for any $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ we have $2^{\nu\alpha(x)} |\varphi_v * f(x)| \le \varphi_v^{*,a} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} f(x).$

This shows that the right-hand side in (4) is less than or equal (5).

Step 2. We will prove in this step that there is a constant c > 0 such that for every $f \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$\left\| \left(\varphi_{v}^{*,a} 2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} f \right)_{v} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} \leq c \left\| \left(2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{v} * f \right)_{v} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}.$$

By a scaling argument, we see that it suffices to consider the case

$$\left\| \left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} = 1$$

and show that the modular of a constant times the function on the left-hand side is bounded. In particular, we will show that

$$\sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| c \varphi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} \le C \quad \text{whenever} \quad \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} = 1.$$

This clearly follows from the inequality

$$\left\| \left| c \varphi_{v}^{*,a} 2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} \leq \left\| \left| 2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{v} * f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} + 2^{-\sigma v} = \delta,$$

for some $\sigma > 0$. This claim can be reformulated as showing that

$$\left\| \delta^{-1} \left| c \varphi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} \le 1$$

which is equivalent to

$$\left\| c \delta^{-\frac{1}{q(\cdot)}} \varphi_{v}^{*,a} 2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} f \right\|_{p(\cdot)} \leq 1.$$

We choose t > 0 such that $a > \frac{n}{t} > \frac{n}{p^{-}}$. By Lemmas (6.1.2) and (6.1.1) the estimates

$$2^{\nu\alpha(y)}|\varphi_{\nu}*f(y)| \le C2^{\nu\alpha(y)} \left(\eta_{\nu,2m}*|\varphi_{\nu}*f|^{t}(y)\right)^{1/t} \le C \left(\eta_{\nu,m}*\left(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}|\varphi_{\nu}*f|\right)^{t}(y)\right)^{1/t} (6)$$

4 /1

are true for any $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $v \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and any m > d (with d as in Lemma (6.1.1)). Divide both sides of (6) by $(1 + 2^v | x - y |)^a$, in the right-hand side we use the inequality

 $(1 + 2^{\nu}|x - y|)^{-a} \le (1 + 2^{\nu}|x - z|)^{-a}(1 + 2^{\nu}|y - z|)^{a}, \quad x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$ in the left-hand side take the supremum over $y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ and get for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, any $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$, m > max(d, at) and any $\nu \in \mathbb{N}_{0}$

$$\left(\varphi_{v}^{*,a}2^{v\alpha(\cdot)}f(x)\right)^{t} \leq C2^{vn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{v\alpha(z)t}|\varphi_{v}*f(z)|^{t}}{(1+2^{v}|x-z|)^{at}} dz$$

$$= C \int_{B(x,2^{-v/2})} \cdots dz + C \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \int_{B(x,2^{-v/2}+i+1)\setminus B(x,2^{-v/2}+i)} \cdots dz = J_{v}^{1}(x) + \sum_{i\geq 0} J_{v-i}^{2}(x),$$

where C > 0 is independent of *x*, *v* and *f*. We choose $\sigma > 0$ such that

$$0 < \sigma < \frac{a - n/t}{4(1/q^{-} - 1/q^{+})}$$

Since 1/q is log-Hölder continuous and $\delta \in [2^{-\sigma \nu}, 1 + 2^{-\sigma \nu}]$, we have

$$S_{q(z)}^{\left(\frac{1}{q(z)}-\frac{1}{q(x)}\right)} \le (2^{\sigma \nu}\delta)^{\left|\frac{1}{q(z)}-\frac{1}{q(x)}\right|} 2^{\nu \sigma \left|\frac{1}{q(z)}-\frac{1}{q(x)}\right|} \le c 2^{2c_{\log}(q)\sigma \nu/\log(e+1/|x-z|)} \le c$$
(7)
= B(x, 2^{-\nu/2}) Hence

for any $z \in B(x, 2^{-\nu/2})$. Hence

$$\delta^{-\frac{t}{q(x)}} J_{v}^{1}(x) \le C2^{vn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\delta^{-\frac{t}{q(z)}} 2^{v\alpha(z)t} |\varphi_{v} * f(z)|^{t}}{(1+2^{v}|x-z|)^{at}} dz$$

Now the function $z \mapsto \frac{1}{(1+|z|)^{at}}$ is in L¹ (since a > n/t), then using the majorant property for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator \mathcal{M} , see [181],

$$\left(|\mathbf{g}|^{t} * \frac{1}{(1+|\cdot|)^{at}}\right)(x) \le C \left\|\frac{1}{(1+|\cdot|)^{at}}\right\|_{1} \mathcal{M}_{t}(\mathbf{g})(x),$$

it follows that for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\delta^{-\frac{t}{q(x)}} J^{1}_{\nu}(x) \leq C \mathcal{M}_{t}\left(\delta^{-\frac{1}{q(\cdot)}} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f\right)(x),$$

where the constant C > 0 is independent of x and v. Since $|x - z| \ge 2^{-\nu/2+i}$ and the right-hand side of (7) can be estimated by $c 2^{2\nu\sigma(1/q^{-1/q^+})}$, then for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and any $v \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $\delta^{-t/q(x)} J^2_{\nu-i}(x)$ is bounded by

$$C2^{\nu t(2\sigma(1/q^{-}-1/q^{+})-a/2+n/t)}2^{-iat} \int_{B(x,2^{-\nu/2}+i+1)} \delta^{-t/q(z)}2^{\nu \alpha(z)t} |\varphi_{\nu} * f(z)|^{t} dz$$

$$\leq C2^{\nu t(2\sigma(1/q^{-}-1/q^{+})-a/2+n/2t)}2^{i(n-at)}\mathcal{M}_{t}(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)}2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)}\varphi_{\nu} * f)(x)$$

$$\leq C2^{i(n-at)}\mathcal{M}_{t}(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)}2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)}\varphi_{\nu} * f)(x),$$

due to our choice of σ . Hence,

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \delta^{-t/q(x)} J_{\nu-i}^2(x) \le C \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{i(n-at)} \mathcal{M}_t \big(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \big)(x)$$
$$\le C \mathcal{M}_t \big(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \big)(x),$$

since again a > n/t. Consequently we have proved that

$$\left(\delta^{-1/q(x)}\varphi_{v}^{*,a}2^{v\alpha(\cdot)}f(x)\right)^{\mathsf{t}} \leq \mathcal{CM}_{\mathsf{t}}\left(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)}2^{v\alpha(\cdot)}\varphi_{v}*f\right)(x),$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Taking the $L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{t}}$ -norm and using the fact that $\mathcal{M} : L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{t}} \to L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{t}}$ is bounded we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \left\| c\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} f \right\|_{p(\cdot)}^{t} &= \left\| \left| c\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{t} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/t} \leq \left\| \delta^{-t/q(\cdot)} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)t} |\varphi_{\nu} * f|^{t} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/t} \\ &= \left\| \delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right\|_{p(\cdot)'}^{t} \end{split}$$

with an appropriate choice of c > 0. Now the right-hand side is less than or equal to one if and only if

$$\left\| \left\| \delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\nu} * f \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \leq 1,$$

which follows immediately from the definition of $\boldsymbol{\delta}.$

The proof is completed.

In order to formulate the main result, let us consider $k_0, k \in S(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $S \ge -1$ an integer such that for an $\varepsilon > 0$

$$|\mathcal{F}k_0(\xi)| > 0 \quad \text{for} \quad |\xi| < 2\varepsilon, \tag{8}$$

$$|\mathcal{F}\mathbf{k}(\xi)| > 0 \quad \text{for } \frac{\varepsilon}{2} < |\xi| < 2\varepsilon,$$
 (9)

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\alpha} \mathbf{k}(x) \mathrm{d}x = 0 \quad \text{for any } |\alpha| \le \mathbf{S}.$$
(10)

Here (8) and (9) are Tauberian conditions, while (10) are moment conditions on k. We recall the notation

 $k_t(x) = t^{-n}k(t^{-1}x), \quad k_j(x) = k_{2^{-j}}(x), \quad \text{for } t > 0 \text{ and } j \in \mathbb{N}.$ For any $a > 0, f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ we denote

$$k_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f(x) = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{j\alpha(y)} |k_{j} * f(y)|}{(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{a}}, \qquad j \in \mathbb{N}_{0}.$$
 (11)

Usually $k_i * f$ is called local mean.

Theorem (6.1.9) [258]: Let $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log}$ and $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0^{log}$ with $q^+ < \infty$. Let $a > \frac{n}{p^-}$ and $\alpha^+ < \infty$ S + 1. Then

$$\left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|' = \left\| \left(\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{j}}^{*,a} 2^{\mathbf{j}\alpha(\cdot)} f \right)_{\mathbf{j}} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})}$$
(12)

and

$$\left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|^{\prime\prime} = \left\| \left(2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{j} * f \right)_{j} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})},$$
(13)

are equivalent quasi-norms on $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

Proof: First H. Kempka [150] proved this result, but only the case of constant q was included. J.-S. Xu [138] has proved this result with variable p, but fixed q and α . H. Kempka and J. Vybiral [265], independently, proved this result with $2^{j\alpha(\cdot)}k_i^{*,a}f$, $\frac{n+c_{\log}(1/q)}{p^{-}} + c_{\log}(\alpha) \text{ in place of } k_j^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f, \frac{n}{p^{-}} \text{ respectively. The idea of the proof is from}$ V.S. Rychkov [213].

Take any pair of functions ϕ_0 and $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that Step 1.

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{F}\phi_0(\xi)| &> 0 & \text{for } |\xi| < 2\varepsilon, \\ |\mathcal{F}\phi(\xi)| &> 0 & \text{for } \frac{\varepsilon}{2} < |\xi| < 2\varepsilon. \\ \text{a constant } c > 0 \text{ such that for any } f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) \end{aligned}$$

We will prove that there is

$$\left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|' \le c \left\| \left(\phi_{\mathbf{j}}^{*,a} 2^{\mathbf{j}\alpha(\cdot)} f \right)_{\mathbf{j}} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})}.$$
(14)

By a scaling argument, we see that it suffices to consider the case

$$\left\| \left(\Phi_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right)_{j} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} = 1$$

and show that the modular of a constant times the function on the left-hand side is bounded. In particular, we will show that \sim

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| ck_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} \le C \quad \text{whenever} \quad \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| \phi_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} = 1.$$
Let $\Lambda, \lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ so that

$$\sup \mathcal{F}\Lambda \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : |\xi| < 2\varepsilon\}, \quad \sup \mathcal{F}\lambda \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : \varepsilon/2 < |\xi| < 2\varepsilon\},$$

$$p\mathcal{F}\Lambda \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| < 2\varepsilon\}, \quad \operatorname{supp} \mathcal{F}\lambda \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \varepsilon/2 < |\xi| < 2\varepsilon\},$$
$$\mathcal{F}\Lambda(\xi)\mathcal{F}\varphi_0(\xi) + \sum_{\nu=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}\lambda(2^{-\nu}\xi)\mathcal{F}\varphi(2^{-\nu}\xi) = 1, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(15)

In particular, for any $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ the identity is true

$$f = \Lambda * \phi_0 * f + \sum_{\nu=1} \lambda_{\nu} * \phi_{\nu} * f.$$
(16)

Hence we can write

$$\mathbf{k}_{j} * f = \mathbf{k}_{j} * \Lambda * \mathbf{\phi}_{0} * f + \sum_{\nu=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{k}_{j} * \lambda_{\nu} * \mathbf{\phi}_{\nu} * f.$$

We have

$$2^{j\alpha(y)} |\mathbf{k}_{j} * \lambda_{v} * \phi_{v} * f(y)| \le 2^{j\alpha(y)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\mathbf{k}_{j} * \lambda_{v}(z)| |\phi_{v} * f(y-z)| dz.$$
(17)

First let $v \leq j$. Writing for any $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{i}} * \lambda_{\nu}(\mathbf{z}) = 2^{\nu n} \mathbf{k}_{2^{\nu-j}} * \lambda(2^{\nu} \mathbf{z}),$$

we get by Lemma (6.1.4), that for any integer $S \ge -1$ and any N > 0 there is a constant c > 0 independent of j and v

$$|\mathbf{k}_{j} * \lambda_{v}(\mathbf{z})| \le c \frac{2^{(v-j)(S+1)+vn}}{(1+2^{v}|\mathbf{z}|)^{2N}}, \quad \mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$

So the right-hand side of (17) can be estimated from above by

$$c2^{j\alpha(y)+(\nu-j)(S+1)+\nu n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (1+2^{\nu}|z|)^{-2N} |\phi_{\nu} * f(y-z)| dz = c2^{(\nu-j)(S+1)} 2^{j\alpha(y)} \eta_{\nu,2N} * |\phi_{\nu} * f|(y).$$

By Lemma (6.1.1) the estimates

 $2^{j\alpha(y)}\eta_{\nu,2N} * |\phi_{\nu} * f(y)| \le 2^{(j-\nu)\alpha^{+}}\eta_{\nu,N} * (2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}|\phi_{\nu} * f|)(y) \le 2^{(j-\nu)\alpha^{+}}\phi_{\nu}^{*,a}2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}f(y) ||\eta_{\nu,N-a}||_{1} \le c2^{(j-\nu)\alpha^{+}}\phi_{\nu}^{*,a}2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}f(y),$

are true for any N > max(d, n + a) and any $v \le j$ (with d as in Lemma (6.1.1)).

Let now $v \ge j$. Then, again by Lemma (6.1.4) we have for any $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and any L > 0

$$|\mathbf{k}_{j} * \lambda_{\nu}(\mathbf{z})| = 2^{jn} |\mathbf{k} * \lambda_{2^{j-\nu}}(2^{j}\mathbf{z})| \le c \frac{2^{(j-\nu)(M+1)+jn}}{(1+2^{j}|\mathbf{z}|)^{2L}},$$

where $M \ge -1$ an integer can be taken arbitrarily large, since $D^{\alpha} \mathcal{F} \lambda(0) = 0$ for all α . Therefore, for $\nu \ge j$, the right-hand side of (17) can be estimated from above by

$$c2^{j\alpha(y)+(j-\nu)(M+1)+jn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (1+2^j|z|)^{-2L} |\phi_{\nu} * f(y-z)| dz = c2^{j\alpha(y)+(j-\nu)(M+1)} \eta_{j,2L} * |\phi_{\nu} * f|(y).$$

We have for any $v \ge j$

$$(1+2^{j}|z|)^{-2L} \le 2^{2(\nu-j)L}(1+2^{\nu}|z|)^{-2L}.$$

Then, again, the right-hand side of (17) is dominated by

$$\begin{split} c2^{j\alpha(y)+(j-\nu)(M-2L+1+n)}\eta_{\nu,2L}*|\phi_{\nu}*f|(y) &\leq c2^{(j-\nu)(M-2L+1+\alpha^{-}+n)}\eta_{\nu,L}*(2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}|\phi_{\nu}*f|)(y) \\ &\leq c2^{(j-\nu)(M-2L+1+\alpha^{-}+n)}\phi_{\nu}^{*,a}2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}f(y) \|\eta_{\nu,L-a}\|_{1} \\ &\leq c2^{(j-\nu)(M-2L+1+\alpha^{-}+n)}\phi_{\nu}^{*,a}2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}f(y), \end{split}$$

where in the first inequality we have used Lemma (6.1.1) (by taking L > max(d, n + a)). Taking M > 2L - $\alpha^- + a - n$ to estimate the last expression by

$$c2^{(j-\nu)(a+1)}\phi_{\nu}^{*,a}2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}f(y),$$

where c > 0 is independent of j, v and f. Further, note that for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and all j, $v \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\begin{split} \phi_{v}^{*,a} 2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} f(\mathbf{y}) &\leq \phi_{v}^{*,a} 2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} f(x) (1 + 2^{v} | x - \mathbf{y} |)^{a} \\ &\leq \phi_{v}^{*,a} 2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} f(x) \max(1, 2^{(v-j)a}) (1 + 2^{j} | x - \mathbf{y} |)^{a}. \end{split}$$

Hence

$$\sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{j\alpha(\mathbf{y})} |\mathbf{k}_j * \lambda_v * \phi_v * f(\mathbf{y})|}{(1+2^j |x-\mathbf{y}|)^a} \le C \phi_v^{*,a} 2^{v\alpha(\cdot)} f(x) \times \begin{cases} 2^{(v-j)(S+1-\alpha^+)} & \text{if } v \le j, \\ 2^{j-v} & \text{if } v \ge j. \end{cases}$$

Using the fact that for any $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$, any N > 0 and any integer $S \ge -1$

$$|\mathbf{k}_{j} * \Lambda(\mathbf{z})| = |\mathbf{k}_{2^{-j}} * \Lambda(\mathbf{z})| \le c \frac{2}{(1+|\mathbf{z}|)^{2N'}}$$

we obtain by the similar arguments that for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{|\alpha(\mathbf{y})|} |\mathbf{k}_j * \Lambda * \phi_0 * f(\mathbf{y})|}{(1+2^j|x-\mathbf{y}|)^a} \le C2^{-j(S+1-\alpha^+)} \phi_0^{*,a} f(x).$$

Hence with $\delta = \min(1, S+1-\alpha^+) > 0$ for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n), x \in \mathbb{R}^n, j \in \mathbb{N}$

$$k_{v}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f(y) \le C 2^{-j\delta} \phi_{0}^{*,a} f(x) + C \sum_{\nu=1}^{\infty} 2^{-|j-\nu|\delta} \phi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} f(x) = C \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} 2^{-|j-\nu|\delta} \phi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} f(x).$$

Also for j = 0, we use the fact that for $v \ge 1$, any $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$, any N > 0 and any integer $M \ge -1$

$$|\mathbf{k}_0 * \lambda_{\nu}(\mathbf{z})| = |\mathbf{k}_0 * \lambda_{2^{-\nu}}(\mathbf{z})| \le c \frac{2^{-\nu(M+1)}}{(1+|\mathbf{z}|)^{2N}}$$

and

$$|k_0 * \Lambda(z)| \le c \frac{1}{(1+|z|)^{2N}}$$

to get for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$k_0^{*,a} f(x) \le C \phi_0^{*,a} f(x) + C \sum_{\nu=1}^{\infty} 2^{-\nu\delta} \phi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} f(x) = C \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\nu\delta} \phi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} f(x).$$

Let $\tau > \max(q^+, q^+/p^-)$. Then by Lemma (6.1.3)

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| ck_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| ck_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)/\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{\tau} \\ \leq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} 2^{-|j-\nu|\delta} \left\| \left| \varphi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)/\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \right)^{\tau} \\ \leq C \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| \varphi_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)/\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{\tau} = C \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| \varphi_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \leq C,$$

with an appropriate choice of c > 0.

Step 2. We will prove in this step that there is a constant c > 0 such that for any $f \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$\left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|' \le \mathbf{c} \left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|''.$$
(18)

Analogously to (15), (16) find two functions $\Lambda, \psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\begin{split} & \text{supp } \mathcal{F}\Lambda \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| < 2\varepsilon\}, \qquad \text{supp } \mathcal{F}\psi \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \varepsilon/2 < |\xi| < 2\varepsilon\}, \\ & \text{and for all } f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) \text{ and } j \in \mathbb{N}_0 \end{split}$$

$$f = \Lambda_j * (\mathbf{k}_0)_j * f + \sum_{\mathbf{m}=j+1}^{\infty} \Psi_{\mathbf{m}} * \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{m}} * f.$$

Hence

$$k_j * f = \Lambda_j * (k_0)_j * k_j * f + \sum_{m=j+1}^{\infty} k_j * \psi_m * k_m * f.$$

By a scaling argument, we see that it suffices to consider the case

$$\left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|^{\prime\prime} = 1$$

and show that the modular of a constant times the function on the left-hand side is bounded. In particular, we will show that $\tilde{}$

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| c k_j^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \le C \text{ whenever } \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} = 1.$$

Writing for any $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\mathbf{k}_{j} \ast \boldsymbol{\psi}_{m}(\mathbf{z}) = 2^{jn} \big(\mathbf{k} \ast \boldsymbol{\psi}_{2^{j-m}} \big) (2^{j} \mathbf{z}),$$

we get by Lemma (6.1.4), that for any integer $K \ge -1$ and any M > 0 there is a constant c > 0 independent of j and m

$$|k_j * \psi_m(z)| \le c \frac{2^{(j-m)(K+1)+jn}}{(1+2^j|z|)^{2M}}, \ z \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Analogous estimate

$$|\Lambda_{j} * (k_{0})_{j}(z)| \le c \frac{2^{jn}}{(1+2^{j}|z|)^{2M}}, \quad z \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

is obvious. From this it follows that

$$2^{j\alpha(y)} |\mathbf{k}_{j} * f(y)| \le c \sum_{m=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-m)(K+1+\alpha^{-})} 2^{m\alpha(y)} \eta_{j,2M} * |\mathbf{k}_{m} * f|(y)$$
$$= c \sum_{m=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-m)(K+1+\alpha^{-})+jn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{m\alpha(y)} |\mathbf{k}_{m} * f(z)|}{(1+2^{j}|y-z|)^{2M}} dz.$$

Since

$$(1+2^j|y-z|)^{-2M} \le 2^{2(m-j)M}(1+2^m|y-z|)^{-2M},$$
 then by Lemma (6.1.1) we have

$$2^{j\alpha(y)} |\mathbf{k}_{j} * f(y)| \leq c \sum_{m=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-m)(K+1+\alpha^{-}-2M+n)} 2^{m\alpha(y)} \eta_{m,2M} * |\mathbf{k}_{m} * f|(y)$$

$$\leq c \sum_{m=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-m)(K+1+\alpha^{-}-2M+n)} \eta_{m,a} * (2^{m\alpha(\cdot)} |\mathbf{k}_{m} * f|)(y),$$
(19)

by taking M > max(d, a). Using the elementary estimates $(1 + 2^{j}|x - y|)^{-a} \le (1 + 2^{j}|x - z|)^{-a}(1 + 2^{j}|y - z|)^{a}$ $\le 2^{(m-j)a}(1 + 2^{m}|x - z|)^{-a}(1 + 2^{m}|y - z|)^{a},$

to get

$$k_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f(x) \le c \sum_{m=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-m)(K+1-a-\alpha^{-}-2M+n)+mn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{m\alpha(z)}|k_{m}*f(z)|}{(1+2^{m}|x-z|)^{a}} dz.$$

(20)

Fix any $r \in (0, 1]$. We have

$$2^{m\alpha(z)}|\mathbf{k}_{m} * f(z)| = (2^{m\alpha(z)}|\mathbf{k}_{m} * f(z)|)^{r} (2^{m\alpha(z)}|\mathbf{k}_{m} * f(z)|)^{1-r}$$

= $(2^{m\alpha(z)}|\mathbf{k}_{m} * f(z)|)^{r} (\frac{2^{m\alpha(z)}|\mathbf{k}_{m} * f(z)|}{(1+2^{m}|x-z|)^{a}})^{1-r} (1+2^{m}|x-z|)^{a(1-r)}$
 $\leq (2^{m\alpha(z)}|\mathbf{k}_{m} * f(z)|)^{r} (\mathbf{k}_{m}^{*,a} 2^{m\alpha(\cdot)} f(x))^{1-r} (1+2^{m}|x-z|)^{a(1-r)}.$

Then

$$k_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f(x) \le c \sum_{m=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-m)N'+mn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{mr\alpha(z)} |k_{m} * f(z)|^{r}}{(1+2^{m}|x-z|)^{ar}} dz \left(k_{m}^{*,a} 2^{m\alpha(\cdot)} f(x)\right)^{1-r},$$

where N' = K + 1 - $a + n - a^- - 2M$ can be still be taken arbitrarily large. Quite analogously one proves for all $f \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ the estimate

$$k_0^{*,a} f(x) \le C \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 2^{-mN'+mn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{mr\alpha(z)} |k_m * f(z)|^r}{(1+2^m|x-z|)^{ar}} dz \left(k_m^{*,a} 2^{m\alpha(\cdot)} f(x)\right)^{1-r}.$$

We now fix any $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and apply Lemma (6.1.5) with $d_j = k_j^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f(x), \quad j \in \mathbb{N}_0,$

$$b_{m} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{mr\alpha(z)+mn} |k_{m} * f(z)|^{r}}{(1+2^{m}|x-z|)^{ar}} dz, \qquad m \in \mathbb{N}_{0}.$$

The assumption (3) is satisfied with $N_0 = N_1 + n + [max(0, \alpha^+)] + 1$, where N_1 is the order of the distribution $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ([a] the integer part of the real number a). We conclude that for any $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, any N > 0 and any $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$

$$\left(k_{j}^{*,a}2^{j\alpha(\cdot)}f(x)\right)^{r} \leq C\sum_{m=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-m)Nr+mn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{mr\alpha(z)}|k_{m}*f(z)|^{r}}{(1+2^{m}|x-z|)^{ar}} dz.$$

This estimate is also true for r > 1, with much simpler proof. It suffices to take (19) with a + n instead of a, apply Hölder's inequalities in m and z, and finally the inequality (20). We omit the details.

Since
$$a > n/p^-$$
, it possible to take $n/a < r < p^-$. Let $\tau > q^+/r$. We see that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left| ck_j^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} &= \left\| \left| ck_j^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{rq(\cdot)/r} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} &= \left\| \left| ck_j^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{rq(\cdot)/r\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \\ &\leq C \left(\sum_{m=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-m)Nq^-/\tau} \left\| \left| c\eta_{m,ar} * \left(2^{m\alpha(\cdot)} |k_m * f| \right)^r \right|^{q(\cdot)/r\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \right)^{\tau}. \end{aligned}$$

By the same method given in the proof of Theorem (6.1.8) (with m, $q(\cdot)/\tau$, r in place of $v, q(\cdot), t$ respectively) we can prove that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left| c\eta_{m,ar} * \left(2^{m\alpha(\cdot)} |\mathbf{k}_{m} * f| \right)^{r} \right|^{q(\cdot)/r\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} &\leq \left\| \left| 2^{m\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{m} * f \right|^{q(\cdot)/\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} + 2^{-m\sigma} \\ &= \left\| \left| 2^{m\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{m} * f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-m\sigma}, \end{aligned}$$

with an appropriate choice of c > 0 and here $0 < \sigma < \frac{a-n/r}{4\tau(1/q^2-1/q^4)}$. Then for any $f \in$ $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and any $\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{N}_0$

$$\left\| \left| c \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \leq \left(\sum_{m=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-m)Nq^{-}/\tau} \left(\left\| \left| 2^{m\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{m} * f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-m\sigma} \right) \right)^{\tau}.$$

τ

By Lemma (6.1.3) we get

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| c\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,a} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \leq c \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\left\| \left| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{j} * f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-j\sigma} \right) \right\|_{q(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \leq c \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{j} * f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} + c \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j\sigma\tau} \leq C.$$

We will prove in this step that for all $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ the following estimates are Step 3. true:

$$\left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|' \le \mathbf{c} \left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\| \le \mathbf{c} \left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|''$$

Let $\{\phi_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ be as in Definition (6.1.6) and let $\phi_j = \phi_j$. The first inequality is proved by the chain of the estimates

$$\left\|f|\mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|' \le \mathsf{c}\left\|\left(\varphi_{j}^{*,a}2^{j\alpha(\cdot)}f\right)_{j}\right\|_{\ell^{\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}(\cdot)})} \le \mathsf{c}\left\|\left(2^{j\alpha(\cdot)}\varphi_{j}*f\right)_{j}\right\|_{\ell^{\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}(\cdot)})} \le \mathsf{c}\left\|f|\mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|,$$

where the first inequality is (14), see Step 1, the second inequality is (18) (with ϕ and ϕ_0 instead of k and k₀), see Step 2, and finally the third inequality is obvious. Now the second inequality can be obtained by the following chain

$$\left\|f|\mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\| \leq \mathsf{c}\left\|\left(\varphi_{j}^{*,a}2^{j\alpha(\cdot)}f\right)_{j}\right\|_{\ell^{\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}(\cdot)})} \leq \mathsf{c}\left\|f|\mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|' \leq \mathsf{c}\left\|f|\mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|'',$$

where the first inequality is obvious, the second inequality is (14), see Step 1, with the roles of k_0 and k respectively φ_0 and φ interchanged, and finally the last inequality is (18), see Step 2. Hence the theorem is proved.

Now let \mathbb{Z}^n be the lattice of all points in \mathbb{R}^n with integer-valued components. If $v \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $\mathbf{m} = (\mathbf{m}_1, \dots, \mathbf{m}_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ we denote $Q_{v\mathbf{m}}$ the dyadic cube in \mathbb{R}^n centred at $2^{-v}\mathbf{m}$ which has sides parallel to the axes and side length 2^{-v} . If $Q_{v\mathbf{m}}$ is such a cube in \mathbb{R}^n and c > 0 then $cQ_{v\mathbf{m}}$ is the cube in \mathbb{R}^n concentric with $Q_{v\mathbf{m}}$ and with side length $c2^{-v}$. By $\chi_{v\mathbf{m}}$ we denote the characteristic function of the cube $Q_{v\mathbf{m}}$. The main goal is to show an atomic decomposition result for $B_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

Definition (6.1.10) [258]: Let $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and let $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log}$. Then for all complex-valued sequences $\lambda = \{\lambda_{\nu m} \in \mathbb{C} : \nu \in \mathbb{N}_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$ we define

$$b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} = \left\{ \lambda : \left\| \lambda \right| b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\| < \infty \right\}$$

where

$$\left\|\lambda\right| b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\| = \left\| \left(\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu m} \chi_{\nu m} \right)_{\nu} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}.$$

Definition (6.1.11) [258]: Let $K, L \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and let $\gamma > 1$. A K-times continuous differentiable function $a \in C^k(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is called [K, L]-atom centered at $Q_{vm}, v \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, if

$$\sup a \subseteq \gamma \mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathrm{m}},\tag{21}$$

. .

$$\left| D^{\beta} a(x) \right| \le 2^{\nu |\beta|}, \quad \text{for } 0 \le |\beta| \le K, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
 (22)

and if

$$\int_{n} x^{\beta} a(x) dx = 0, \quad \text{for } 0 \le |\beta| < L \text{ and } v \ge 1.$$
(23)

If the atom *a* located at $Q_{\nu m}$, that means if it fulfills (21), then we will denote it by $a_{\nu m}$. For $\nu = 0$ or L = 0 there are no moment conditions (23) required.

Lemma (6.1.12) [45]: Let $\{\mathcal{F}\phi_j\}$, $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$ be a resolution of unity and let $\rho_{\nu m}$ be an [K, L]atom. Then

$$|\varphi_{j} * \rho_{\nu m}(x)| \le c2^{(\nu-j)K}(1+2^{\nu}|x-2^{-\nu}m|)^{-M}$$

if $v \leq j$, and

$$|\varphi_{j} * \rho_{\nu m}(x)| \le c2^{(j-\nu)(L+n+1)}(1+2^{j}|x-2^{-\nu}m|)^{-M}$$

if $v \ge j$, where M is sufficiently large.

Lemma (6.1.13) [45]: Let $\{\mathcal{F}\varphi_j\}$, $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$ be a resolution of unity and let $R \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there exist functions $\theta_0, \theta \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with:

$$\sup \theta_{0}, \sup \theta \subset \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : |x| \leq 1\},$$

$$|\mathcal{F}\theta_{0}(\xi)| > c_{0} \text{ for } |\xi| \leq 2, \qquad |\mathcal{F}\theta(\xi)| > c \text{ for } \frac{1}{2} \leq |\xi| \leq 2,$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} x^{\beta}\theta(x)dx = 0, \text{ for } 0 \leq |\beta| < R,$$

$$(24)$$

such that

$$\mathcal{F}\theta_0(\xi)\mathcal{F}\psi_0(\xi) + \sum_{j\geq 1}\mathcal{F}\theta(2^{-j}\xi)\mathcal{F}\psi(2^{-j}\xi) = 1, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

where the functions $\psi_0, \psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are defined via

$$\mathcal{F}\psi_0(\xi) = \frac{\mathcal{F}\varphi_0(\xi)}{\mathcal{F}\theta_0(\xi)}$$
 and $\mathcal{F}\psi(\xi) = \frac{\mathcal{F}\varphi_1(2\xi)}{\mathcal{F}\theta(\xi)}$.

Theorem (6.1.14) [258]: Let $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log}$ and $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0^{log}$ with $q^+ < \infty$. Further, let $K, L \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that

$$K > \alpha^+, L > n\left(\frac{1}{\min(1, p^-)} - 1\right) - 1 - \alpha^-.$$
 (26)

Then $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ belongs to $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$, if and only if, it can be represented as

$$f = \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \lambda_{\nu \mathbf{m}} \rho_{\nu \mathbf{m}}, \qquad (27)$$

convergence being in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where ρ_{vm} are [K, L]-atoms and $\lambda = \{\lambda_{vm} \in \mathbb{C} : v \in \mathbb{N}_0, m \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$. Furthermore, $\inf \left\|\lambda \left| b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|$, where the infimum is taken over admissible representations (27), is an equivalent quasi-norm in $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

Proof: The proof follows the ideas in [45].

Step 1. Assume that $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and let θ_0, θ, ψ_0 and ψ be the functions introduced in Lemma (6.1.13). We have

$$f = \theta_0 * \psi_0 * f + \sum_{\nu=1}^{\infty} \theta_\nu * \psi_\nu * f$$

and using the definition of the cubes $Q_{\nu m}$ we obtain

$$f(x) = \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{0\mathbf{m}}} \theta_0(x - \mathbf{y}) \psi_0 * f(\mathbf{y}) d\mathbf{y} + \sum_{\nu=1}^\infty 2^{\nu n} \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu\mathbf{m}}} \theta(2^{\nu}(x - \mathbf{y})) \psi_\nu * f(\mathbf{y}) d\mathbf{y},$$

with convergence in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We define for every $v \in \mathbb{N}$ and all $m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$

$$\lambda_{\nu m} = C_{\theta} \sup_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathcal{Q}_{\nu m}} |\Psi_{\nu} * f(\mathbf{y})|$$
(28)

where

$$C_{\theta} = \max\left\{\sup_{|y| \le 1} |D^{\alpha}\theta(y)| : |\alpha| \le K\right\}$$

Define also

$$\rho_{\nu \mathrm{m}}(x) = \frac{1}{\lambda_{\nu \mathrm{m}}} 2^{\nu n} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathrm{m}}} \theta \left(2^{\nu} (x - y) \right) \psi_{\nu} * f(y) \mathrm{d}y.$$
(29)

Similarly we define for every $m \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ the numbers λ_{0m} and the functions ρ_{0m} taking in (28) and (29) v = 0 and replacing ψ_v and θ by ψ_0 and θ_0 , respectively. Let us now check that such ρ_{vm} are atoms in the sense of Definition (6.1.11). Note that the support and moment conditions are clear by (24) and (25), respectively. It thus remains to check (22) in Definition (6.1.11). We have

$$\begin{split} \left| \mathsf{D}^{\beta} \rho_{\nu \mathsf{m}}(x) \right| &\leq \frac{2^{\nu(n+|\beta|)}}{\mathsf{C}_{\theta}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathsf{m}}} \left| \left(\mathsf{D}^{\beta} \theta \right) \left(2^{\nu}(x-y) \right) \right| \left| \psi_{\nu} * f(y) \right| dy \left(\sup_{y \in \mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathsf{m}}} \left| \psi_{\nu} * f(y) \right| \right)^{-1} \\ &\leq \frac{2^{\nu(n+|\beta|)}}{\mathsf{C}_{\theta}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathsf{m}}} \left| \left(\mathsf{D}^{\beta} \theta \right) \left(2^{\nu}(x-y) \right) \right| dy \leq 2^{\nu(n+|\beta|)} \left| \mathcal{Q}_{\nu \mathsf{m}} \right| \leq 2^{\nu|\beta|}. \end{split}$$

The modifications for the terms with v = 0 are obvious. Step 2. Next we show that there is a constant c > 0 such that

$$\left\|\lambda \middle| b_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\| \le c \left\|f \middle| B_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|.$$

For that reason we exploit the equivalent quasi-norms given in Theorem (6.1.9) involving Peetre's maximal function. Let $v \in \mathbb{N}$. Taking into account that $|x - y| \le c2^{-v}$ for $x, y \in Q_{vm}$ we obtain

$$2^{\nu(\alpha(x)-\alpha(y))} \le 2^{\frac{c_{\log}(\alpha)\nu}{\log(e+1/|x-y|)}} \le 2^{\frac{c_{\log}(\alpha)\nu}{\log(e+2^{\nu}/c)}} \le c$$

if $\nu \ge [\log_2 c] + 2$. If $0 < \nu < [\log_2 c] + 2$, then $2^{\nu(\alpha(x)-\alpha(y))} \le 2^{\nu(\alpha^+-\alpha^-)} \le c$. Therefore,
 $2^{\nu\alpha(x)}|\psi_{\nu} * f(y)| \le c2^{\nu\alpha(y)}|\psi_{\nu} * f(y)|$

for any $x, y \in Q_{vm}$ and any $v \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence,

$$\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \lambda_{\nu m} 2^{\nu \alpha(x)} \chi_{\nu m}(x) = C_{\theta} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{\nu \alpha(x)} \sup_{y \in \mathcal{Q}_{\nu m}} |\psi_{\nu} * f(y)| \chi_{\nu m}(x)$$

$$\leq c \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \sup_{|z| \leq c2^{-\nu}} \frac{2^{\nu \alpha(x-z)} |\psi_{\nu} * f(x-z)|}{(1+2^{\nu}|z|)^{a}} (1+2^{\nu}|z|)^{a} \chi_{\nu m}(x)$$

$$\leq c \psi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} f(x) \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \chi_{\nu m}(x) = c \psi_{\nu}^{*,a} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} f(x),$$

where we have used $\sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi_{\nu m}(x) = 1$. This estimate and its counterpart for $\nu = 0$ (which can be obtained by a similar calculation) give

$$\left\|\lambda\left|b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\| \le c \left\|\left(\psi_{v}^{*,a}2^{v\alpha(\cdot)}f\right)_{v}\right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} \le c \left\|f\right|B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|,$$

by Theorem (6.1.9) (since $\psi_0 \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are two kernels which fulfill Tauberian conditions (8) and (9) and the moment conditions (10)).

Step 3. Assume that *f* can be represented by (27), with K and L satisfying (26). We will show that $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and that for some c > 0

$$\left\| f \left| \mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\| \leq \mathsf{c} \left\| \lambda \right| \mathsf{b}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|.$$

By a scaling argument, we see that it suffices to consider the case $\|\lambda\|b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\| = 1$ and show that the modular of a constant times the function on the left-hand side is bounded. In particular, we will show that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| c2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{j} * f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \le C \text{ whenever } \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{jm} \chi_{jm} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} = 1, \quad (30)$$

where $\left\{\mathcal{F}\phi_{j}\right\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}_{0}}$ is the resolution of unity. We write

Let

$$f = \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \lambda_{\nu m} \rho_{\nu m} = \sum_{\nu=0}^{J} + \dots + \sum_{\nu=j+1}^{\infty} \dots$$
$$0 < r < \max\left(\frac{1}{q^+}, \frac{p^-}{q^+}\right). \text{ We have}$$

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| c2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{j} * f \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \leq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| c \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu m} \varphi_{j} * \rho_{\nu m} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}^{rq(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)} \right)^{1/r} \\ \leq c \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\nu=0}^{j} \left\| \left\| c \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu m} \varphi_{j} * \rho_{\nu m} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}^{rq(\cdot)} \right)^{1/r} \\ + c \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\nu=j+1}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| c \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu m} \varphi_{j} * \rho_{\nu m} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}^{rq(\cdot)} \right)^{1/r} = I + II.$$

For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we define $\Omega_k = \{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n : 2^{k-1} < 2^{\min(v,j)} | x - 2^{-v}m| \le 2^k\}$ and $\Omega_0 = \{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n : 2^{\min(v,j)} | x - 2^{-v}m| \le 1\}.$

Estimate of I. From Lemma (6.1.12), we have for any M sufficiently large

$$\sum_{\mathbf{m}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(x)} |\lambda_{v\mathbf{m}}| \left| \phi_j * \rho_{v\mathbf{m}}(x) \right| \le c 2^{(\nu-j)(k-\alpha^+)} \sum_{\mathbf{m}\in\mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} |\lambda_{v\mathbf{m}}| (1+2^{\nu}|x-2^{-\nu}\mathbf{m}|)^{-M}.$$

We claim that there exists c > 0 such that

$$\left\| \left| c \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu m} (1 + 2^{\nu} | \cdot - 2^{-\nu} m |)^{-M} \right|^{rq(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{rq(\cdot)}} \leq \left\| \left| c \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu m} \chi_{\nu m} \right|^{rq(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{rq(\cdot)}} + 2^{-\nu} = \delta \quad (31)$$

Therefore, by Lemma (6.1.3) (with the help of (26)) we obtain

$$\begin{split} I &\leq c \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\left| \left| \left| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{jm} \chi_{jm} \right|^{rq(\cdot)} \right| \right|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{rq(\cdot)}} + 2^{-j} \right)^{1/r} \leq c \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| \left| \left| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{jm} \chi_{jm} \right|^{rq(\cdot)} \right| \right|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{rq(\cdot)}} + c \sum_{j \geq 0} 2^{-j/r} \right|_{rq(\cdot)} \\ &= c \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left| \left| \left| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{jm} \chi_{jm} \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right| \right|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} + c \leq C. \end{split}$$

Let us prove (31). This claim can be reformulated as showing that

$$\left| \delta^{-1} \left| c \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu \mathbf{m}} (1 + 2^{\nu} | \cdot - 2^{-\nu} \mathbf{m} |)^{-\mathbf{M}} \right|^{r\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \right|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/r\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \leq 1,$$

which is equivalent to

$$\left\| c\delta^{-1/rq(\cdot)} \sum_{\mathbf{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu \mathbf{m}} (1 + 2^{\nu} | \cdot - 2^{-\nu} \mathbf{m} |)^{-M} \right\|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} \le 1$$

We have, with M = R + T,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{m}\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{\mathrm{rq}(x)}} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} |\lambda_{\nu\mathbf{m}}| (1+2^{\nu}|x-2^{-\nu}\mathbf{m}|)^{-\mathsf{M}} &= \sum_{\mathbf{k}=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{m}\in\Omega_{\mathbf{k}}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{\mathrm{rq}(x)}} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} |\lambda_{\nu\mathbf{m}}| (1+2^{\nu}|x-2^{-\nu}\mathbf{m}|)^{-\mathsf{M}} \\ &\leq c \sum_{\mathbf{k}=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{m}\in\Omega_{\mathbf{k}}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{\mathrm{rq}(x)}} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} 2^{-\mathsf{Mk}} |\lambda_{\nu\mathbf{m}}| = \sum_{\mathbf{k}=0}^{\infty} 2^{-(\mathsf{T}-n/\mathsf{t})\mathsf{k}} \sum_{\mathbf{m}\in\Omega_{\mathbf{k}}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{\mathrm{rq}(x)}} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} 2^{-(\mathsf{R}+n/\mathsf{t})\mathsf{k}} |\lambda_{\nu\mathbf{m}}| \\ &\leq \sup_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \sum_{\mathbf{m}\in\Omega_{\mathbf{k}}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{\mathrm{rq}(x)}} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} |\lambda_{\nu\mathbf{m}}| 2^{-(\mathsf{R}+n/\mathsf{t})\mathsf{k}}, \end{split}$$

for any T sufficiently large such that T > n/t. For any $0 < t \le 1$, the last expression is bounded by

$$\sup_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{m}\in\Omega_{\mathbf{k}}} \delta^{-t/r\mathbf{q}(x)} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)t} |\lambda_{\nu\mathbf{m}}|^{t} 2^{-(\mathbf{R}t+n)\mathbf{k}} \right)^{1/t}$$

$$= \left(\sup_{\mathbf{k}\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} 2^{-\mathbf{R}t\mathbf{k}+(\nu-\mathbf{k})n} \int_{\bigcup_{\mathbf{m}\in\Omega_{\mathbf{k}}} \mathcal{Q}_{\nu\mathbf{m}}} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{m}\in\Omega_{\mathbf{k}}} \delta^{-1/r\mathbf{q}(x)} 2^{\nu\alpha(x)} |\lambda_{\nu\mathbf{m}}| \chi_{\nu\mathbf{m}}(\mathbf{y}) \right)^{t} d\mathbf{y} \right)^{1/t}.$$
(32)

Let $y \in \bigcup_{m \in \Omega_k} Q_{\nu m}$ then $y \in Q_{\nu m}$ for some $m \in \Omega_k$ and $2^{k-1} < 2^{\nu} |x - 2^{-\nu} m| \le 2^k$. From this it follows that

 $|y-x| \le |y-2^{-\nu}m| + |x-2^{-\nu}m| \le \sqrt{n}2^{-\nu} + 2^{k-\nu} \le 2^{k-\nu+h_n}, \quad h_n \in \mathbb{N},$ which implies that y is located in some ball $B(x, 2^{k-\nu+h_n})$. Therefore, (32) does not exceed

$$c\left(\sup_{k\in\mathbb{N}_{0}}\frac{2^{-\mathrm{Rtk}}}{|\mathrm{B}(x,2^{\mathrm{k}-\nu+h_{n}})|}\int_{\mathrm{B}(x,2^{\mathrm{k}-\nu+h_{n}})}\left(\sum_{m\in\Omega_{\mathrm{k}}}\delta^{-1/\mathrm{rq}(x)}2^{\nu\alpha(x)}|\lambda_{\nu\mathrm{m}}|\chi_{\nu\mathrm{m}}(\mathrm{y})\right)^{\mathrm{t}}\mathrm{d}\mathrm{y}\right)^{1/\mathrm{t}}.$$
(33)

Since 1/q is log-Hölder continuous and $\delta \in [2^{-\nu}, 1 + 2^{-\nu}]$, we have

$$\begin{split} \delta^{1/q(x)-1/q(y)} &= (2^{\nu}\delta)^{1/q(x)-1/q(y)} 2^{(1/q(x)-1/q(y))\nu} \leq 2^{|1/q(x)-1/q(y)|(2\nu+1)} \leq 2^{\frac{c_{\log}(q)(2\nu+1)}{\log(e+1/|x-y|)}} \\ &\leq 2^{\frac{c_{\log}(q)(2\nu+1)}{\nu-k-h_n}} \leq c 2^{2c_{\log}(q)k}, \end{split}$$

for any k < max(0, $v - h_n$) and any y $\in B(x, 2^{k-v+h_n})$. If k $\ge \max(0, v - h_n)$ then since again $\delta \in [2^{-v}, 1 + 2^{-v}]$,

$$\delta^{1/q(x)-1/q(y)} \le c2^{|1/q(x)-1/q(y)|(2\nu+1)} \le c2^{2(1/q^{-1/q^{+}})k}.$$

Also since α is log-Hölder continuous we can prove that

$$2^{\nu(\alpha(x)-\alpha(y))} \le c \times \begin{cases} 2^{c_{\log}(\alpha)k} & \text{if } k < \max(0, \nu - h_n), \\ 2^{(\alpha^+ - \alpha^-)k} & \text{if } k \ge \max(0, \nu - h_n), \end{cases}$$

where c > 0 not depending on v and k. Hence with R sufficiently large such that $R > \max(2/r c_{\log}(q) + c_{\log}(\alpha), \qquad 2/r (1/q^{-} - 1/q^{+}) + \alpha^{+} - \alpha^{-}),$

we get that (33) is bounded by

$$c\left(\mathcal{M}_{t}\left(\sum_{m\in\Omega_{k}}\delta^{-1/rq(\cdot)}2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)}|\lambda_{\nu m}|\chi_{\nu m}\right)(x)\right)^{1/t}, x\in\mathbb{R}^{n}.$$

Now taking $0 < t < \min(1, p^{-})$ and using the fact that $\mathcal{M} : L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{t}} \to L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{t}}$ is bounded we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| c \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \delta^{-1/rq(\cdot)} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} |\lambda_{\nu m}| (1 + 2^{\nu} | \cdot - 2^{-\nu} m |)^{-L} \right\|_{p(\cdot)} \\ & \leq c \left\| \mathcal{M}_{t} \left(\sum_{m \in \Omega_{k}} \delta^{-1/rq(\cdot)} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} |\lambda_{\nu m}| \chi_{\nu m} \right) \right\|_{p(\cdot)/t}^{1/t} \\ & \leq \left\| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \delta^{-1/rq(\cdot)} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} |\lambda_{\nu m}| \chi_{\nu m} \right\|_{p(\cdot)}, \end{split}$$

with an appropriate choice of c > 0. Now this expression is less than or equal to one if and only if

$$\left\| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \delta^{-1/rq(\cdot)} 2^{\nu \alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu m} \chi_{\nu m} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}^{rq(\cdot)} \leq 1,$$

which follows immediately from the definition of δ .

Estimate of II. From Lemma (6.1.6), we have for any M sufficiently large

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(x)} |\lambda_{\nu m}| |\varphi_j * \rho_{\nu m}(x)| \le c 2^{(j-\nu)(L+n+1)} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(x)} |\lambda_{\nu m}| (1+2^j|x-2^{-\nu}m|)^{-M}.$$

Let $0 < t < \min(1, p^{-})$ be a real number such that $L > n/t - 1 - n - \alpha^{-}$. Using a combination of the arguments used in the estimate of I, we arrive at the inequality

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\| c2^{(j-\nu)(n/t-\alpha^{-})} \sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu m} (1+2^{j}|\cdot-2^{-\nu}m|)^{-M} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}^{rq(\cdot)} \\ & \leq \left\| \left\| \sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu m} \chi_{\nu m} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}^{rq(\cdot)} + 2^{-j}, \end{split}$$

with some positive constant c. Hence II can be estimated by

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\nu=j+1}^{\infty} 2^{(j-\nu)(L+n+1-n/t+\alpha^{-})rq^{-}} \left(\left\| \left\| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{\nu\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\nu m} \chi_{\nu m} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}^{rq(\cdot)} + 2^{-j} \right) \right)^{1/r}.$$

Observing that $L > n/t - 1 - n - \alpha^{-}$, an application of Lemma (6.1.3) yields the desired inequality, i.e.

$$II \leq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{jm} \chi_{jm} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}^{1/r} + c = c \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{jm} \chi_{jm} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} + c \leq C.$$

The proof is completed.

Corollary (6.1.15) [299]: Let $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $x^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$. There exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that for all $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$|\mathbf{g}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathrm{r}})| \le (1+\epsilon) \left(\frac{1}{\log(e+1/|x^{\mathrm{r}}-\mathbf{y}^{\mathrm{r}}|)} - \left(\eta_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon,\mathbf{1}+\epsilon} * |\mathbf{g}|^{1-\epsilon}(x^{\mathrm{r}}) \right)^{1/1-\epsilon} \right)$$

Proof. Since $|g(x^r) - g(y^r)| \le |g(x^r)| + |g(y^r)|$ Then by Lemma (6.1.2), we have

$$|\mathbf{g}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathrm{r}})| \leq \frac{1+\epsilon}{\log(\epsilon+1/|x^{\mathrm{r}}-\mathbf{y}^{\mathrm{r}}|)} - |\mathbf{g}(x^{\mathrm{r}})|$$

= $(1+\epsilon) \left(\frac{1}{\log(\epsilon+1/|x^{\mathrm{r}}-\mathbf{y}^{\mathrm{r}}|)} - \left(\eta_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon,\mathbf{1}+\epsilon} * |\mathbf{g}|^{1-\epsilon}(x^{\mathrm{r}})\right)^{1/1-\epsilon}\right)$
rv (6.1.16) [299]: Let $\alpha \in C_{\mathrm{log}}^{\mathrm{log}}$ in $\alpha \in \mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{log}}$ and $1+\epsilon > \frac{n}{\epsilon}$ Then

Corollary (6.1.16) [299]: Let $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log}$, p, $q \in \mathcal{P}_0^{log}$ and $1 + \epsilon > \frac{n}{p^-}$. Then

$$\left\| \left(\varphi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2 \right)_{j+\epsilon} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$$
(34)

is an equivalent quasi-norm in $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

Proof. We will do the proof in two steps.

Step 1. It is easy to see that for any $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and any $x^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$ we have $2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^r)} |\phi_{j+\epsilon} * f^2(x^r)| \le \phi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2(x^r).$

This shows that the right-hand side in (4) is less than or equal (34).

Step 2. We will prove in this step that there is a constant $\epsilon \ge 0$ such that for every $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$\left\| \left(\varphi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2 \right)_{j+\epsilon} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} \leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| \left(2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{j+\epsilon} * f^2 \right)_{j+\epsilon} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}.$$

By a scaling argument, we see that it suffices to consider the case

$$\left\| \left(2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{j+\epsilon} * f^2 \right)_{j+\epsilon} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} = 1$$

and show that the modular of a constant times the function on the left-hand side is bounded. In particular, we will show that

$$\sum_{j+\epsilon=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| (1+\epsilon) \varphi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2 \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ whenever} \sum_{j+\epsilon=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{j+\epsilon} * f^2 \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}} = 1$$

This clearly follows from the inequality

$$\left\| \left| (1+\epsilon)\varphi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2 \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \le \left\| \left| 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}\varphi_{j+\epsilon} * f^2 \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} + 2^{-(1+\epsilon)(j+\epsilon)} = \delta,$$

for some $\epsilon > 0$. This claim can be reformulated as showing that

 $\left\|\delta^{-1}\left|(1+\epsilon)\varphi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}f^2\right|^{q(\cdot)}\right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \leq 1,$

which is equivalent to

$$\left\| (1+\epsilon)\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} \varphi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)} \leq 1.$$

We choose $\epsilon \ge 0$ such that $1 + \epsilon > n/1 + \epsilon > n/p^-$. By Lemmas (6.1.1) and (6.1.2) the estimates

$$2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})} |\varphi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})| \leq (1+\epsilon)2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})} \left(\eta_{j+\epsilon,2(n+\epsilon)} * |\varphi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}|^{1+\epsilon}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})\right)^{1/1+\epsilon}$$

$$\leq (1+\epsilon) \left(\eta_{j+\epsilon,(n+\epsilon)} * \left(2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}|\right)^{1+\epsilon}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})\right)^{1/1+\epsilon}$$

$$(35)$$

are true for any $y^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$. Divide both sides of (35) by $(1 + 2^{j+\epsilon}|x^r - y^r|)^{1+\epsilon}$, in the right-hand side we use the inequality

 $(1 + 2^{j+\epsilon}|x^r - y^r|)^{-(1+\epsilon)} \le (1 + 2^{j+\epsilon}|x^r - z^r|)^{-(1+\epsilon)}(1 + 2^{j+\epsilon}|y^r - z^r|)^{1+\epsilon}, \quad x^r, y^r, z^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$, in the left-hand side take the supremum over $y^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and get for all $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, any $x^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and any $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$

$$\left(\varphi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon}^{*,\mathbf{1}+\epsilon} 2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2(x^{\mathbf{r}}) \right)^{\mathbf{1}-\epsilon} \leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)(\mathbf{1}-\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})} |\varphi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon} * f^2(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})|^{\mathbf{1}-\epsilon}}{(1+2^{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon}|x^{\mathbf{r}}-\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}|)^{(\mathbf{1}-\epsilon^2)}} d\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}$$

$$= (1+\epsilon) \int_{\mathbf{B}(x^{\mathbf{r}},2^{-\mathbf{j}+\epsilon/2})} \cdots d\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}} + (1+\epsilon) \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbf{B}(x^{\mathbf{r}},2^{-(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)/2+i+1})\setminus\mathbf{B}(x^{\mathbf{r}},2^{-(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)/2+i})} \cdots d\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}$$

$$= \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon}^1(x^{\mathbf{r}}) + \sum_{i\geq 0} \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon-i}^2(x^{\mathbf{r}}),$$
here $\epsilon > 0$ is independent of $x^{\mathbf{r}}$, i and f^2 , such that

where $\epsilon > 0$ is independent of x^r , j and f^2 , such that $1 + \epsilon$

$$0 < \frac{1+\epsilon}{(1+\epsilon)^2 - n} < 1/4(1/q^- - 1/q^+).$$

Since 1/q is log-Hölder continuous and $\delta \in [2^{-(1+\epsilon)(j+\epsilon)}, 1+2^{-(1+\epsilon)(j+\epsilon)}]$, we have $\delta^{(1/q(z^2)-1/q(x^r))} \leq (2^{(1+\epsilon)(j+\epsilon)}\delta)^{|1/q(z^r)-1/q(x^r)|} 2^{(j+\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)|1/q(z^r)-1/q(x^r)|}$ $\leq (1+\epsilon)2^{\frac{2c_{\log}q(1+\epsilon)(j+\epsilon)}{\log(e+1/|x^r-z^r|)}}$ $\leq 1+\epsilon$ (36) for any $z^r \in B(x^r, 2^{-(j+\epsilon)/2})$. Hence

$$\delta^{-(1+\epsilon)/q(x^{\mathrm{r}})} J_{j+\epsilon}^{1}(x^{\mathrm{r}}) \leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{(j+\epsilon)n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{\delta^{-(1+\epsilon)/q(z^{\mathrm{r}})} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(z^{\mathrm{r}})(1+\epsilon)} \left| \varphi_{(j+\epsilon)} * f^{2}(z^{\mathrm{r}}) \right|^{1+\epsilon}}{(1+2^{j+\epsilon}|x^{\mathrm{r}}-z^{\mathrm{r}}|)^{(1+\epsilon)^{2}}} \mathrm{d}z^{\mathrm{r}}.$$

Now the function $z^r \mapsto \frac{1}{(1+|z^r|)^{(1+\epsilon)^2}}$ is in L¹ (since $(1+\epsilon)^2 > n$), then using the majorant property for the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator \mathcal{M}

 $(|\mathbf{g}|^{1+\epsilon} * 1/(1+|\cdot|)^{(1+\epsilon)^2})(x^r) \le (1+\epsilon) \left\| 1/(1+|\cdot|)^{(1+\epsilon)^2} \right\|_1 \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}(\mathbf{g})(x^r),$ it follows that for any $x^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$

 $\delta^{-(1+\epsilon)/q(x^{r})}J_{j+\epsilon}^{1}(x^{r}) \leq (1+\epsilon)\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}\left(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}\varphi_{j+\epsilon}*f^{2}\right)(x^{r}),$

where the constant $\epsilon \ge 0$ is independent of x^r and j. Since $|x^r - z^r| \ge 2^{-(j+\epsilon)/2+i}$ and the right-hand side of (36) can be estimated by $(1 + \epsilon)2^{2(j+\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)(1/q^{-1/q^+})}$, then for any $x^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and any $j + \epsilon \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $\delta^{-(1+\epsilon)/q(x^r)} J^2_{(j+\epsilon)-i}(x^r)$ is bounded by

$$(1+\epsilon)2^{(j+\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^{2}(2(1/q^{-}-1/q^{+})-n-(1+\epsilon)^{2}/2)}2^{-i(1+\epsilon)^{2}}\int_{B(x^{r},2^{-(j+\epsilon)/2+i+1})}\delta^{-(1+\epsilon)/q(z^{r})}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(z^{r})(1+\epsilon)}|\varphi_{j+\epsilon}|$$

$$\begin{aligned} &* f^{2}(\mathbf{z}^{r}) | \quad \mathrm{d}\mathbf{z}^{r} \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)^{2}(2(1/q^{-}-1/q^{+})+n-(1+\epsilon)^{2}/2)} 2^{\mathbf{i}(n-(1+\epsilon)^{2})} \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon} \left(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} 2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon} \right) \\ &* f^{2}(x^{r}) \leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{\mathbf{i}(n-(1+\epsilon)^{2})} \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon} \left(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} 2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon} * f^{2}\right) x^{r}, \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \delta^{-1+\epsilon/q(x^{\mathrm{r}})} J_{j+\epsilon-i}^{2}(x^{\mathrm{r}}) \leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{i(n-(1+\epsilon)^{2})} \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon} \left(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2} \right) (x^{\mathrm{r}})$$
$$\leq (1+\epsilon) \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon} \left(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2} \right) (x^{\mathrm{r}})$$

since again $(1 + \epsilon)^2 > n$. Consequently we have proved that

$$\left(\delta^{-1/q(x^{r})}\varphi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}f^{2}(x^{r})\right)^{1+\epsilon} \leq (1+\epsilon)\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}\left(\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}\varphi_{j+\epsilon}*f^{2}\right)(x^{r}),$$

for all $x^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Taking the $L^{\frac{p(r)}{1+\epsilon}}$ -norm and using the fact that $\mathcal{M} : L^{\frac{p(r)}{1+\epsilon}} \to L^{\frac{p(r)}{1+\epsilon}}$ is bounded we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \left\| (1+\epsilon)\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)}\varphi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)}^{1+\epsilon} &= \left\| \left| (1+\epsilon)\delta^{-1/q(\cdot)}\varphi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}f^2 \right|^{1+\epsilon} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1+\epsilon)} \\ &\leq \left\| \delta^{-(1+\epsilon)/q(\cdot)}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)1+\epsilon} |\varphi_{j+\epsilon}*f^2|^{1+\epsilon} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1+\epsilon)} \\ &= \left\| \delta^{-1/q(\cdot)}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}\varphi_{j+\epsilon}*f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)}^{1+\epsilon} \end{split}$$

with an appropriate choice of $\epsilon > 0$. Now the right-hand side is less than or equal to one if and only if

$$\left\| \left| \delta^{-1/q(\cdot)} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{j+\epsilon} * f^2 \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \le 1,$$

which follows immediately from the definition of δ . The proof is completed.

Corollary (6.1.17) [299]: Let $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log}$ and $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0^{log}$ with $q^+ < \infty$. Let $1 + \epsilon > n/p^-$ and $\alpha^+ < \epsilon$. Then

$$\left\|f^{2}|B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|' = \left\|\left(k_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{j\alpha(\cdot)}f^{2}\right)_{j}\right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}$$
(37)

and

$$\left\|f^{2}|\mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|^{\prime\prime} = \left\|\left(2^{j\alpha(\cdot)}\mathsf{k}_{j}*f^{2}\right)_{j}\right\|_{\ell^{\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}(\cdot)})},\tag{38}$$

are equivalent quasi-norms on $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

Proof:

Step 1. Take any pair of functions ϕ_0 and $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{F}\phi_0(\xi)| &> 0 & \text{for } |\xi| < 2\varepsilon, \\ |\mathcal{F}\phi(\xi)| &> 0 & \text{for } \frac{\varepsilon}{2} < |\xi| < 2\varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

We will prove that there is a constant $\epsilon > 0$ such that for any $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$\left\| f^2 | B_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|' \le (1+\epsilon) \left\| \left(\Phi_j^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^2 \right)_j \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})}.$$
(39)

By a scaling argument, we see that it suffices to consider the case

$$\left\| \left(\Phi_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right)_{j} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})} = 1$$

and show that the modular of a constant times the function on the left-hand side is bounded. In particular, we will show that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| (1+\epsilon) k_j^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^2 \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \quad \text{when} \quad \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| \varphi_j^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^2 \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} = 1.$$

Let $\Lambda, \lambda \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ so that

supp
$$\mathcal{F}\Lambda \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| < 2\varepsilon\},$$
 supp $\mathcal{F}\lambda \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \varepsilon/2 < |\xi| < 2\varepsilon\},$
 $\mathcal{F}\Lambda(\xi)\mathcal{F}\phi_0(\xi) + \sum_{i+\varepsilon=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{F}\lambda(2^{-(i+\varepsilon)}\xi)\mathcal{F}\phi(2^{-(i+\varepsilon)}\xi) = 1, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$ (40)

In particular, for any $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ the identity is true

$$f^{2} = \Lambda * \phi_{0} * f^{2} + \sum_{j+\epsilon=1}^{n} \lambda_{j+\epsilon} * \phi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}.$$

$$(41)$$

Hence we can write

$$\mathbf{k}_{j}*f^{2} = \mathbf{k}_{j}*\Lambda*\phi_{0}*f^{2} + \sum_{j+\epsilon=1}^{\infty}\mathbf{k}_{j}*\lambda_{j+\epsilon}*\phi_{j+\epsilon}*f^{2}$$

We have

$$2^{j\alpha(y^{r})}|\mathbf{k}_{j}*\lambda_{j+\epsilon}*\phi_{j+\epsilon}*f^{2}(y^{r})| \leq 2^{j\alpha(y^{r})} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\mathbf{k}_{j}*\lambda_{j+\epsilon}(z^{r})||\phi_{j+\epsilon}*f^{2}(y^{r}-z^{r})|dz^{r}.$$

$$(42)$$

First let $\epsilon \ge 0$. Writing for any $z^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\mathbf{k}_{j} * \lambda_{j+\epsilon}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}) = 2^{(j+\epsilon)n} \mathbf{k}_{2^{\epsilon}} * \lambda(2^{j+\epsilon} \mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}),$$

we get by Lemma (6.1.4),

$$\left|\mathbf{k}_{j} \ast \lambda_{j+\epsilon}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})\right| \le (1+\epsilon) \frac{2^{\epsilon^{2}+(j+\epsilon)n}}{(1+2^{j+\epsilon}|\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}|)^{2(1+\epsilon)}}, \quad \mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$$

So the right-hand side of (42) can be estimated from above by

$$(1+\epsilon)2^{j\alpha(y^{r})+\epsilon^{2}+(j+\epsilon)n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (1+2^{1+\epsilon}|z^{r}|)^{-2(1+\epsilon)} |\phi_{1+\epsilon} * f^{2}(y^{r}-z^{r})| dz^{r}$$

= $(1+\epsilon)2^{\epsilon^{2}}2^{j\alpha(y^{r})}\eta_{1+\epsilon,2(1+\epsilon)} * |\phi_{1+\epsilon} * f^{2}|(y^{r}).$

By Lemma (6.1.1) the estimates

$$2^{j\alpha(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})}\eta_{1+\epsilon,2(1+\epsilon)} * \left| \phi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}) \right| \leq 2^{\epsilon\alpha^{+}}\eta_{j+\epsilon,1+\epsilon} * \left(2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \left| \phi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2} \right| \right) (\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})$$

$$\leq 2^{\epsilon\alpha^{+}} \phi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}) \left\| \eta_{j+\epsilon} \right\|_{1} \leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{\epsilon\alpha^{+}} \phi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}),$$
Let near $\epsilon \geq 0$. Then a social has Lemma (6.1.4) are here for any $r^{\mathbf{r}} \in \mathbb{D}^{n}$

Let now $\epsilon \ge 0$. Then, again by Lemma (6.1.4) we have for any $z^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\left|\mathbf{k}_{j} \ast \lambda_{j+\epsilon}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}})\right| = 2^{jn} \left|\mathbf{k} \ast \lambda_{2^{\epsilon}}(2^{j}\mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}})\right| \leq (1+\epsilon) \frac{2^{\epsilon^{2}+jn}}{(1+2^{j}|\mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}}|)^{2(1+\epsilon)}},$$

where $\epsilon \ge 0$ an integer can be taken arbitrarily large, since $D^{\alpha} \mathcal{F} \lambda(0) = 0$ for all α . Therefore, the right-hand side of (42) can be estimated from above by

$$(1+\epsilon)2^{j\alpha(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})+\epsilon^{2}+jn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (1+2^{j}|\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}|)^{-2(1+\epsilon)} |\phi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}-\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})| d\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}$$
$$= (1+\epsilon)2^{j\alpha(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})+\epsilon^{2}} \eta_{j,2(1+\epsilon)} * |\phi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}|(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}).$$

We have

$$(1+2^{j}|z^{r}|)^{-2(1+\epsilon)} \leq 2^{2\epsilon(1+\epsilon)}(1+2^{j+\epsilon}|z^{r}|)^{-2(1+\epsilon)}$$

or hand side of (42) is dominated by

Then, again, the right-hand side of (42) is dominated by $(1 + \epsilon)2^{j\alpha(y^r) - \epsilon(n - \epsilon - 1)}\eta_{i+\epsilon,2L} * |\phi_{i+\epsilon} * f^2|(y^r)$

$$\begin{aligned} & + \epsilon) 2^{\epsilon(\alpha)} | \phi_{j+\epsilon,2L} * | \phi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{-1} | (y^{-}) \\ & \leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{\epsilon(\alpha^{-}+n-\epsilon)} \eta_{j+\epsilon,L} * \left(2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} | \phi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2} | \right) (y^{r}) \\ & \leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{\epsilon(\alpha^{-}+n-\epsilon)} \phi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} (y^{r}) \| \eta_{j+\epsilon,L-(1+\epsilon)} \|_{1} \\ & \leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{\epsilon(\alpha^{-}+n-\epsilon)} \phi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} (y^{r}), \end{aligned}$$

where in the first inequality we have used Lemma (6.1.1). Taking $\epsilon < \frac{\alpha^{-}-n+4}{2}$ to estimate the last expression by

$$(1+\epsilon)2^{\epsilon(\epsilon+2)}\phi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}f^2(y^r)$$
,

where
$$\epsilon \ge 0$$
 is independent of j and f^2 . Further, note that for all $x^r, y^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and all $j \in \mathbb{N}$
 $\phi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2(y^r) \le \phi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2(x^r) (1+2^{j+\epsilon}|x^r-y^r|)^{1+\epsilon}$
 $\le \phi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,j+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2(x^r) \max(1, 2^{\epsilon(1+\epsilon)}) (1+2^j|x^r-y^r|)^{1+\epsilon}.$

Hence

$$\sup_{x^{r} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{j\alpha(y^{r})} |k_{j} * \lambda_{j+\epsilon} * \phi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}(y^{r})|}{(1+2^{j}|x^{r}-y^{r}|)^{1+\epsilon}} \leq (1+\epsilon)\phi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2}(x^{r}) \times \begin{cases} 2^{\epsilon(\epsilon-\alpha^{+})} & \text{if } \epsilon \leq 0, \\ 2^{\epsilon} & \text{if } \epsilon \geq 0. \end{cases}$$
Using the fact that for any $z^{r} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$ any integer $\epsilon \geq 0$.

Using the fact that for any $z^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$, any integer $\epsilon \ge 0$

$$\left|\mathbf{k}_{j} * \Lambda(\mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}})\right| = \left|\mathbf{k}_{2^{-j}} * \Lambda(\mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}})\right| \le (1+\epsilon) \frac{2^{-j\epsilon}}{(1+|\mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}}|)^{2(1+\epsilon)}},$$

we obtain by the similar arguments that for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\sup_{y^{r} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{j\alpha(y^{r})} |\mathbf{k}_{j} * \Lambda * \phi_{0} * f^{2}(y^{r})|}{(1+2^{j}|x^{r}-y^{2}|)^{1+\epsilon}} \leq (1+\epsilon)2^{-j(\epsilon-\alpha^{+})} \phi_{0}^{*,1+\epsilon} f^{2}(x^{r}).$$

Hence with $\delta = \min(1, \epsilon - \alpha^+) > 0$ for all $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n), x^r \in \mathbb{R}^n, j \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon}^{*,\mathbf{1}+\epsilon} 2^{\mathbf{j}\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}) &\leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{-\mathbf{j}\delta} \phi_{0}^{*,\mathbf{1}+\epsilon} f^{2}(x^{\mathbf{r}}) + (1+\epsilon) \sum_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon=1}^{\infty} 2^{-|\epsilon|\delta} \phi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon}^{*,\mathbf{1}+\epsilon} 2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2}(x^{\mathbf{r}}) \\ &= (1+\epsilon) \sum_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon=0}^{\infty} 2^{-|\epsilon|\delta} \phi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon}^{*,\mathbf{1}+\epsilon} 2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2}(x^{\mathbf{r}}). \end{split}$$

Also for j = 0, we use the fact that for $\epsilon \ge 0$, any $z^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\left|\mathbf{k}_{0} \ast \lambda_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})\right| = \left|\mathbf{k}_{0} \ast \lambda_{\mathbf{2}^{-(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)}}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})\right| \le (1+\epsilon) \frac{2^{-\epsilon(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)}}{(1+|\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}|)^{2(1+\epsilon)}}$$

and

$$|k_0 * \Lambda(z^r)| \le (1+\epsilon) \frac{1}{(1+|z^r|)^{2(1+\epsilon)}}$$

to get for any $x^{\mathrm{r}} \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{0}^{*,1+\epsilon} f^{2}(x^{\mathbf{r}}) &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left(\phi_{0}^{*,1+\epsilon} f^{2}(x^{\mathbf{r}}) + \sum_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon=1}^{\infty} 2^{-(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)\delta} \phi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2}(x^{\mathbf{r}}) \right) \\ &= (1+\epsilon) \sum_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon=0}^{\infty} 2^{-(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)\delta} \phi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2}(x^{\mathbf{r}}). \end{aligned}$$

Let $\tau > \max(q^+, q^+/p^-)$. Then by Lemma (6.1.3)

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| (1+\epsilon) k_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} &= \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| (1+\epsilon) k_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right|^{q(\cdot)/\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-|\epsilon|\delta} \left\| \left| \varphi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right|^{q(\cdot)/\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \right)^{\tau} \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| \varphi_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right|^{q(\cdot)/\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \\ &= (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| \varphi_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \leq 1+\epsilon, \end{split}$$

with an appropriate choice of $\epsilon > 0$.

Step 2. We will prove in this step that there is a constant $\epsilon > 0$ such that for any $f^2 \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$\left\| f^2 | B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|' \le (1+\epsilon) \left\| f^2 | B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|''.$$
(43)

Analogously to (40), (41) find two functions $\Lambda, \psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\begin{split} \sup \mathcal{F}\Lambda \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| < 2\epsilon\}, & \sup \mathcal{F}\psi \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : \epsilon/2 < |\xi| < 2\epsilon\}, \\ \text{and for all } f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) \text{ and } j \in \mathbb{N}_0 \end{split}$$

$$f^{2} = \Lambda_{j} * (\mathbf{k}_{0})_{j} * f^{2} + \sum_{n=j-\epsilon+1}^{\infty} \psi_{n+\epsilon} * \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^{2}.$$

Hence

$$\mathbf{k}_{j} * f^{2} = \Lambda_{j} * (\mathbf{k}_{0})_{j} * \mathbf{k}_{j} * f^{2} + \sum_{n=j-\epsilon+1}^{\infty} \mathbf{k}_{j} * \psi_{n+\epsilon} * \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^{2}.$$

By a scaling argument, we see that it suffices to consider the case

$$\left\|f^2 |\mathsf{B}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|'' = 1$$

and show that the modular of a constant times the function on the left-hand side is bounded. In particular, we will show that

$$\sum_{\substack{j=0\\ W \text{ it is g. for some } -\Gamma \in \mathbb{T}^n}}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) k_j^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} = 1. \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \le 1+\epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{\substack{j=0\\ j=0}}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q$$

Writing for any $z^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$

$$\mathbf{k}_{j} * \psi_{n+\epsilon}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}}) = 2^{jn} \left(\mathbf{k} * \psi_{2^{j-(n+\epsilon)}} \right) (2^{j} \mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}}),$$

we get by Lemma (6.1.5), that for any integer $\epsilon \ge 0$ independent of j

$$\left|\mathbf{k}_{j} \ast \psi_{n+\epsilon}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}})\right| \le (1+\epsilon) \frac{2^{(j-n-\epsilon)\epsilon+jn}}{(1+2^{j}|\mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}}|)^{2(\epsilon-1)}}, \quad \mathbf{z}^{\mathrm{r}} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$$

Analogous estimate

$$|\Lambda_{j} * (\mathbf{k}_{0})_{j}(\mathbf{z}^{r})| \leq (1+\epsilon) \frac{2^{jn}}{(1+2^{j}|\mathbf{z}^{r}|)^{2(\epsilon-1)}}, \quad \mathbf{z}^{r} \in \mathbb{R}^{n},$$

202

is obvious. From this it follows that

$$2^{j\alpha(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})} |\mathbf{k}_{j} * f^{2}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})| \leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{(j-n-\epsilon)(\epsilon+\alpha^{-})} 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})} \eta_{j,2(\epsilon-1)} * |\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^{2}|(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})|$$
$$= (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n=j-\epsilon}^{\infty} 2^{(j-n-\epsilon)(\epsilon+\alpha^{-})+jn} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})} |\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^{2}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})|}{(1+2^{j}|\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}-\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}|)^{2(\epsilon-1)}} d\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}.$$

Since

$$(1+2^j|y^r-z^r|)^{-2(\epsilon-1)} \le 2^{2(n+\epsilon-j)(\epsilon-1)}(1+2^{n+\epsilon}|y^r-z^r|)^{-2(\epsilon-1)},$$
 then by Lemma (6.1.1) we have

$$2^{j\alpha(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})} |\mathbf{k}_{j} * f^{2}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})| \leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n=j-\epsilon}^{\infty} 2^{(j-n-\epsilon)(\alpha^{-}-2\epsilon+n-2)+(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})} \eta_{n+\epsilon,2(\epsilon-1)} * |\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^{2}|(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})$$
$$\leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n=j-\epsilon}^{\infty} 2^{(j-n-\epsilon)(\alpha^{-}-2\epsilon+n-2)} \eta_{n+\epsilon,1+\epsilon} * \left(2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} |\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^{2}|\right) (\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}), \quad (44)$$

Using the elementary estimates

$$(1+2^{j}|x^{r}-y^{r}|)^{-(1+\epsilon)} \leq (1+2^{j}|x^{r}-z^{r}|)^{-(1+\epsilon)}(1+2^{j}|y^{r}-z^{r}|)^{1+\epsilon} \\ \leq 2^{(n+\epsilon-j)(1+\epsilon)}(1+2^{n+\epsilon}|x^{r}-z^{r}|)^{-(1+\epsilon)}(1+2^{n+\epsilon}|y^{r}-z^{r}|)^{1+\epsilon},$$
(45)

to get

$$k_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2}(x^{r}) \leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n=j-\epsilon}^{\infty} 2^{(j-n-\epsilon)(-\alpha^{-}-\epsilon+n+1)+(n+\epsilon)n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(z^{r})} |k_{n+\epsilon} * f^{2}(z^{r})|}{(1+2^{n+\epsilon}|x^{r}-z^{r}|)^{1+\epsilon}} dz^{r}.$$

Fix any $\epsilon \geq 0$. We have

$$2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})}|\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon}*f^{2}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})| = \left(2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})}|\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon}*f^{2}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})|\right)^{1-\epsilon} \left(2^{(1+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})}|\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon}*f^{2}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})|\right)^{\epsilon}$$
$$= \left(2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})}|\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon}*f^{2}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})|\right)^{1-\epsilon} \left(\frac{2^{(1+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})}|\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon}*f^{2}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})|}{(1+2^{n+\epsilon}|\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{r}}-\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}|)^{1+\epsilon}}\right)^{\epsilon} (1$$
$$+ 2^{n+\epsilon}|\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{r}}-\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}|)^{(1+\epsilon)\epsilon}$$
$$\leq \left(2^{(1+\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})}|\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon}*f^{2}(\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}})|\right)^{1-\epsilon} \left(\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{(1+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}f^{2}(\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{r}})\right)^{\epsilon} (1$$
$$+ 2^{n+\epsilon}|\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{r}}-\mathbf{z}^{\mathbf{r}}|)^{(1+\epsilon)\epsilon}.$$

Then

$$k_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{j\alpha(\cdot)}f^{2}(x^{r})$$

$$\leq (1+\epsilon)\sum_{n=j-\epsilon}^{\infty}2^{(j-n-\epsilon)N'+(n+\epsilon)n}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\frac{2^{n+\epsilon(1-\epsilon)\alpha(z^{r})}|k_{n+\epsilon}*f^{2}(z^{r})|^{1-\epsilon}}{(1+2^{n+\epsilon}|x^{r}-z^{r}|)^{1-\epsilon^{2}}}dz^{r}\left(k_{n+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{n+\epsilon\alpha(\cdot)}f^{2}(x^{r})\right)^{\epsilon},$$

where N' = $n - \alpha^{-} - 2\epsilon - 1$ can be still be taken arbitrarily large. Quite analogously one proves for all $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ the estimate $V^{*,1+\epsilon}f^2(r)$

$$\leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n=-\epsilon}^{\infty} 2^{-(n+\epsilon)(N'-n)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{2^{(n+\epsilon)(1-\epsilon)\alpha(z^r)} |\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2(z^r)|^{1-\epsilon}}{(1+2^{n+\epsilon}|x^r-z^r|)^{1-\epsilon^2}} dz^r \left(\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} f^2(x^r)\right)^{\epsilon}.$$
We now fix one $\alpha^r \in \mathbb{D}^n$ and apply Lemma (6.1.5) with

We now fix any $x^r \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and apply Lemma (6.1.5) with

$$(n+\epsilon)_{j} = \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2}(x^{r}), \qquad j \in \mathbb{N}_{0},$$

$$(n+2\epsilon)_{n+\epsilon} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{(n+\epsilon)(1-\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{z}^{r})+(n+\epsilon)n} |\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^{2}(\mathbf{z}^{r})|^{1-\epsilon}}{(1+2^{n+\epsilon}|x^{r}-\mathbf{z}^{r}|)^{1-\epsilon^{2}}} d\mathbf{z}^{r}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_{0}.$$

The assumption (3) is satisfied with $N_0 = N_1 + n + [\max(0, \alpha^+)] + 1$, where N_1 is the order of the distribution $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We conclude that for any $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and any $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$

$$\left(\mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{j\alpha(\cdot)}f^{2}(x^{r})\right)^{1-\epsilon} \\ \leq (1+\epsilon)\sum_{j=n+\epsilon}^{\infty}2^{(j-n-\epsilon)(1-\epsilon^{2})+(n+\epsilon)n}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}\frac{2^{(n+\epsilon)(1-\epsilon)\alpha(\mathbf{z}^{r})}|\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon}*f^{2}(\mathbf{z}^{r})|^{1-\epsilon}}{(1+2^{n+\epsilon}|x^{r}-\mathbf{z}^{r}|)^{1-\epsilon^{2}}}d\mathbf{z}^{r}.$$

This estimate is also true for $\epsilon < 0$, with much simpler proof. It suffices to take (44) with $1 + \epsilon + n$ instead of $1 + \epsilon$, apply Hölder's inequalities in z^r , and finally the inequality (45). We omit the details.

Since
$$1 + \epsilon > \frac{n}{p^{-}}$$
, it possible to take $\frac{n}{1+\epsilon} < 1 - \epsilon < p^{-}$. Let $\tau > \frac{q^{+}}{1-\epsilon}$. We see that
 $\left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} = \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)/\tau} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{\tau}$

$$= \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)/\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{\tau}$$

$$\leq (1+\epsilon) \left(\sum_{n=j-\epsilon}^{\infty} 2^{(j-n-\epsilon)Nq^{-}/\tau} \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) \eta_{n+\epsilon,1-\epsilon^{2}} * \left(2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} |\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^{2}| \right)^{1-\epsilon} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)/\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{\tau} \right)^{\tau}$$

By the same method given in the proof of Theorem (6.1.8) we can prove that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon)\eta_{n+\epsilon,1-\epsilon^2} * \left(2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} |\mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2| \right)^{1-\epsilon} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)\tau} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \\ & \leq \left\| \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/\eta(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \\ & = \left\| \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)\sigma} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|_{\tau p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\ & = \left\| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} + 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} \\$$

with an appropriate choice of $\epsilon \ge 0$ and here $0 < \sigma < \frac{1+\epsilon-n/(1-\epsilon)}{4\tau(1/q^{-}-1/q^{+})}$. Then for any $f^2 \in$ $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and any $\mathbf{j} \in \mathbb{N}_0$

$$\left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) \mathbf{k}_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \\ \leq \left(\sum_{n=j-\epsilon}^{\infty} 2^{(j-n-\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)q^{-}/\tau} \left(\left\| \left| 2^{(n+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \mathbf{k}_{n+\epsilon} * f^{2} \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-(n+\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)} \right) \right)^{\tau} \right)^{\tau}$$

By Lemma (6.1.4) we get

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) k_{j}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_{j} * f^{2} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{1/\tau} + 2^{-j(1+\epsilon)} \right)^{\tau} \leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} k_{j} * f^{2} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} + (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j(1+\epsilon)\tau} \leq 1+\epsilon.$$
Step 3. We will prove in this step that for all $f^{2} \in S'(\mathbb{D}^{n})$ the following estimates a

Step 3. We will prove in this step that for all $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ the following estimates are true:

$$\left\| f^2 | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|' \le (1+\epsilon) \left\| f^2 | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\| \le (1+\epsilon) \left\| f^2 | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|''.$$

Let $\{\varphi_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}_0}$ be as in Definition (6.1.1) and let $\varphi_j = \varphi_j$. The first inequality is proved by the chain of the estimates

$$\begin{split} \left\| f^{2} | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|' &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| \left(\varphi_{\mathbf{j}}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{\mathbf{j}\alpha(\cdot)} f^{2} \right)_{\mathbf{j}} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})} \leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| \left(2^{\mathbf{j}\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{\mathbf{j}} * f^{2} \right)_{\mathbf{j}} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})} \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| f^{2} | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|, \end{split}$$

where the first inequality is (39), see Step 1, the second inequality is (43) (with ϕ and ϕ_0 instead of k and k₀), see Step 2, and finally the third inequality is obvious. Now the second inequality can be obtained by the following chain

$$\begin{split} \left\| f^2 | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\| &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| \left(\varphi_{\mathbf{j}}^{*,1+\epsilon} 2^{\mathbf{j}\alpha(\cdot)} f^2 \right)_{\mathbf{j}} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})} \leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| f^2 | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|' \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| f^2 | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)} \right\|'', \end{split}$$

where the first inequality is obvious, the second inequality is (39), see Step 1, with the roles of k_0 and k respectively ϕ_0 and ϕ interchanged, and finally the last inequality is (43), see Step 2. Hence the Corollary is proved.

Corollary (6.1.18) [299]: Let $\alpha \in C_{loc}^{log}$ and $p, q \in \mathcal{P}_0^{log}$ with $q^+ < \infty$. Further, let $K, L \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that

$$K > \alpha^+, L > n \left(\frac{1}{\min(1, p^-)} - 1 \right) - 1 - \alpha^-.$$
 (46)

Then $f^2 \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ belongs to $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$, if and only if, it can be represented as

$$f^{2} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \lambda_{A} \rho_{A}, \qquad (47)$$

where $A = (j + \epsilon)(n + \epsilon)$

convergence being in $S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where ρ_A are [K, L]-atoms and $\lambda = \{\lambda_{(j+\epsilon)(n+\epsilon)} \in \mathbb{C} : j \in \mathbb{N}_0, \epsilon \ge 0, n + \epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$. Furthermore, $\inf \left\|\lambda\right\| b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|$, where the infimum is taken over admissible representations (47), is an equivalent quasi-norm in $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$.

Proof: The proof follows the ideas in [45].

Step 1. Assume that $f^2 \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and let θ_0, θ, ψ_0 and ψ be the functions introduced in Lemma (6.1.13). We have

$$f^{2} = \theta_{0} * \psi_{0} * f^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \theta_{j+\epsilon} * \psi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}$$

and using the definition of the cubes $Q_{(j+\epsilon)(1+\epsilon)}$ we obtain

$$f^{2}(x^{r}) = \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{0}(n+\epsilon)} \theta_{0}(x^{r} - y^{r})\psi_{0} * f^{2}(y^{r})dy^{r}$$
$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} 2^{(j+\epsilon)n} \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{A}} \theta\left(2^{j+\epsilon}(x^{r} - y^{r})\right)\psi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}(y^{r})dy^{r},$$

with convergence in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We define for every $j \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\lambda_{A} = (1 + \epsilon)_{\theta} \sup_{y^{r} \in \mathcal{Q}_{A}} \left| \psi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}(y^{r}) \right|$$
(48)

where

$$(1+\epsilon)_{\theta} = \max\left\{\sup_{|\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}|\leq 1} |\mathbf{D}^{\alpha}\theta(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}})| : |\alpha| \leq \mathbf{K}\right\}.$$

Define also

$$\rho_{A}(x^{r}) = \frac{1}{\lambda_{A}} 2^{(j+\epsilon)n} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{A}} \theta\left(2^{j+\epsilon}(x^{r}-y^{r})\right) \psi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}(y^{r}) dy^{r}.$$
(49)

Similarly we define for every $n + \epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ the numbers $\lambda_{\epsilon(n+\epsilon)}$ and the functions $\rho_{\epsilon(n+\epsilon)}$ taking in (48) and (49) $\mathbf{j} = -\epsilon$ and replacing $\psi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon}$ and θ by $\psi_{-\epsilon}$ and $\theta_{-\epsilon}$, respectively. Let us now check that such $\rho_{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)(n+\epsilon)}$ are atoms in the sense of Definition (6.1.11). We have

$$\begin{split} \left| \mathbf{D}^{\beta} \rho_{\mathbf{A}}(x^{\mathbf{r}}) \right| &\leq \frac{2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)(n+|\beta|)}}{(1+\epsilon)_{\theta}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{A}}} \left| \left(\mathbf{D}^{\beta} \theta \right) \left(2^{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon} (x^{\mathbf{r}} - y^{\mathbf{r}}) \right) \right| \left| \psi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon} \right. \\ &\quad \left. * f^{2}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}) \left| d\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}} \left(\sup_{\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}} \in \mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{A}}} \left| \psi_{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon} * f^{2}(\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}}) \right| \right)^{-1} \right. \\ &\quad \left. \leq \frac{2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)(n+|\beta|)}}{(1+\epsilon)_{\theta}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{A}}} \left| \left(\mathbf{D}^{\beta} \theta \right) \left(2^{\mathbf{j}+\epsilon} (x^{\mathbf{r}} - y^{\mathbf{r}}) \right) \right| d\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}} \leq 2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)(n+|\beta|)} |\mathcal{Q}_{\mathbf{A}}| \leq 2^{(\mathbf{j}+\epsilon)|\beta|}. \end{split}$$

The modifications for the terms with $j = -\epsilon$ are obvious.

Step 2. Next we show that there is a constant $\epsilon \ge 0$ such that

$$\left\|\lambda\left|b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\| \le (1+\epsilon)\left\|f^{2}\right|B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|$$

Let $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Taking into account that $|x^r - y^r| \le (1 + \epsilon)2^{-(j+\epsilon)}$ for $x^r, y^r \in \mathcal{Q}_A$ we obtain $2^{(j+\epsilon)(\alpha(x^r) - \alpha(y^r))} \le 2^{\frac{(1+\epsilon)_{\log}(\alpha)(j+\epsilon)}{\log(e+1/|x^r - y^r|)}} \le 2^{\frac{(1+\epsilon)_{\log}(\alpha)(j+\epsilon)}{\log(e+2^{j+\epsilon}/(1+\epsilon))}} \le 1 + \epsilon$

if $j + \epsilon \ge [\log_2(1 + \epsilon)] + 2$. If $0 < j + \epsilon < [\log_2(1 + \epsilon)] + 2$, then $2^{(j+\epsilon)(\alpha(x^r) - \alpha(y^r))} \le 2^{(j+\epsilon)(\alpha^+ - \alpha^-)} \le 1 + \epsilon$. Therefore,

$$2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^{r})} |\psi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}(y^{r})| \le (1+\epsilon)2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(y^{r})} |\psi_{j+\epsilon} * f^{2}(y^{r})|$$

for any
$$x^{r}, y^{r} \in Q_{A}$$
 and any $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence,

$$\sum_{n+\epsilon\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}}\lambda_{A}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^{r})}\chi_{A}(x^{r}) = (1+\epsilon)_{\theta}\sum_{\substack{n+\epsilon\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}\\ 0 \leq 1+\epsilon \\ 0 \leq$$

where we have used $\sum_{n+\epsilon\in\mathbb{Z}^n}\chi_A(x^r) = 1$. This estimate and its counterpart for $j = -\epsilon$ give $\|\lambda\|b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\| \le (1+\epsilon) \|(\psi_{j+\epsilon}^{*,1+\epsilon}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}f^2)_{j+\epsilon}\|_{\ell^q(\cdot)(1,p(\cdot))} \le (1+\epsilon) \|f^2\|B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\|,$

by Theorem (6.1.9) and
$$\psi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$
 are two kernels which fulfill Tauberian conditions (8) and (9) and the moment conditions (10).

Step 3. Assume that f^2 can be represented by (27), with K and L satisfying (26). We will show that $f^2 \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}$ and that for some $\epsilon \ge 0$

$$\left\|f^{2}\left|B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\| \leq (1+\epsilon) \left\|\lambda\right|b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|.$$

By a scaling argument, we see that it suffices to consider the case $\|\lambda\|b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\| = 1$ and show that the modular of a constant times the function on the left-hand side is bounded. In particular, we will show that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left| (1+\epsilon) 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_{j} * f^{2} \right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \\ & \leq 1 + \epsilon \text{ when } \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{j(n+\epsilon)} \chi_{j(n+\epsilon)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \\ & = 1, \end{split}$$

(50)

where $\left\{ \mathcal{F}\phi_{j}\right\} _{j\in\mathbb{N}_{0}}$ is the resolution of unity. We write

$$\begin{split} f^2 &= \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \lambda_A \rho_A = \sum_{j=0}^{j} + \dots + \sum_{j=\epsilon+1}^{\infty} \dots \\ \text{Let } 0 < 1 - \epsilon < \max(1/q^+, p^-/q^+). \text{ We have} \\ &\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \varphi_j * f^2 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \\ &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_A \varphi_j * \rho_A \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)}^{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \right)^{1/(1-\epsilon)} \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_A \varphi_j * \rho_A \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)}^{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \right)^{1/(1-\epsilon)} \\ &+ (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{j=\epsilon+1}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_A \varphi_j * \rho_A \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)}^{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \right)^{1/(1-\epsilon)} \\ &= I + II. \end{split}$$

For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we define $\Omega_k = \{n + \epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n : 2^{k-1} < 2^{\min(j+\epsilon,j)} | x^r - 2^{-(j+\epsilon)}(n+\epsilon) | \le 2^k \}$ and $\Omega_0 = \{n + \epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n : 2^{\min(j+\epsilon,j)} | x^r - 2^{-(j+\epsilon)}(n+\epsilon) | \le 1 \}.$

Estimate of I **.** From Lemma (6.1.12), we have for any ϵ sufficiently large

$$\sum_{n+\epsilon\in\mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(x^r)} |\lambda_A| |\varphi_j * \rho_A(x^r)| \\ \leq (1+\epsilon) 2^{\epsilon(k-\alpha^+)} \sum_{n+\epsilon\in\mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^r)} |\lambda_A| (1+2^{j+\epsilon} |x^r-2^{-(j+\epsilon)}(n+\epsilon)|)^{1-\epsilon}.$$

We claim that there exists $\epsilon \ge 0$ such that

$$\left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_A (1+2^{j+\epsilon} | \cdot -2^{-(j+\epsilon)}(n+\epsilon) |)^{1-\epsilon} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)}}^{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)}} \leq \left\| \left\| (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_A \chi_A \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)}}^{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} + 2^{-(j+\epsilon)} = \delta \right\|_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)}}$$
(51)

Therefore, by Lemma (6.1.3) we obtain

$$I \leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\left\| \left\| \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{j(n+\epsilon)} \chi_{j(n+\epsilon)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} + 2^{-j} \right)^{1/(1-\epsilon)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \\ \leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{j(n+\epsilon)} \chi_{j(n+\epsilon)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)}^{1/(1-\epsilon)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \\ + (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j\geq 0} 2^{-j/(1-\epsilon)} = (1+\epsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{j\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{j(n+\epsilon)} \chi_{j(n+\epsilon)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)} \leq 0.$$

Let us prove (51). This claim can be reformulated as showing that

$$\left\| \delta^{-1} \left| (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_{\mathsf{A}} (1+2^{j+\epsilon} | \cdot -2^{-(j+\epsilon)}(n+\epsilon) |)^{1-\epsilon} \right|^{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \leq 1,$$

which is equivalent to

$$\left\| (1+\epsilon)\delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \sum_{n+\epsilon\in\mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}\lambda_{\mathbf{A}} (1+2^{j+\epsilon}|\cdot-2^{-(j+\epsilon)}(n+\epsilon)|)^{1-\epsilon} \right\|_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} \le 1.$$

We have, with $\epsilon - 1 = R + T$,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n+\epsilon\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}} \delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(x^{r})} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^{r})} |\lambda_{A}| \left(1+2^{j+\epsilon} \left|x^{r}-2^{-(j+\epsilon)}(n+\epsilon)\right|\right)^{1-\epsilon} \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n+\epsilon\in\Omega_{k}} \delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(x^{r})} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^{r})} |\lambda_{A}| \left(1+2^{j+\epsilon} \left|x^{r}-2^{-(j+\epsilon)}(n+\epsilon)\right|\right)^{1-\epsilon} \\ &\leq (1+\epsilon) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n+\epsilon\in\Omega_{k}} \delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(x^{r})} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^{r})} 2^{(1-\epsilon)k} |\lambda_{A}| \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{-(T-n/(1-\epsilon))k} \sum_{n+\epsilon\in\Omega_{k}} \delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(x^{r})} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^{r})} 2^{-(R+n/(1-\epsilon))k} |\lambda_{A}| \\ &\leq \sup_{k\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \sum_{n+\epsilon\in\Omega_{k}} \delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(x^{r})} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^{r})} |\lambda_{A}| 2^{-(R+n/(1-\epsilon))k}, \end{split}$$

for any T sufficiently large such that $T > n/(1-\epsilon)$. For any $0 \le \epsilon < 1$, the last expression is bounded by

$$\sup_{k\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} \left(\sum_{n+\epsilon\in\Omega_{k}} \delta^{-\frac{1-\epsilon}{(1-\epsilon)q(x^{r})}} 2^{(j+\epsilon)(1-\epsilon)\alpha(x^{r})} |\lambda_{A}|^{1-\epsilon} 2^{-(R(1-\epsilon)+n)k} \right)^{\frac{1}{(1-\epsilon)}} = \left(\sup_{k\in\mathbb{N}_{0}} 2^{-Rk(1-\epsilon)+(j+\epsilon-k)n} \int_{\bigcup Q_{A}} \left(\sum_{n+\epsilon\in\Omega_{k}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{(1-\epsilon)q(x^{r})}} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^{r})} |\lambda_{A}| \chi_{A}(y^{r}) \right)^{1-\epsilon} dy^{r} \right)^{\frac{1}{(1-\epsilon)}}.$$
 (52)

Let $y^r \in \bigcup_{n+\epsilon \in \Omega_k} Q_A$ then $y^r \in Q_A$ for some $n + \epsilon \in \Omega_k$ and $2^{k-1} < 2^{j+\epsilon} |x^r - 2^{-(j+\epsilon)}(n+\epsilon)| \le 2^k$. From this it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}} - \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{r}}| &\leq \left| \mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{r}} - 2^{-(j+\epsilon)} (1+\epsilon) \right| + \left| \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{r}} - 2^{-(j+\epsilon)} (n+\epsilon) \right| \leq \sqrt{n} 2^{-(j+\epsilon)} + 2^{\mathbf{k} - (j+\epsilon)} \\ &\leq 2^{\mathbf{k} - (j+\epsilon) + \mathbf{h}_n}, \ \mathbf{h}_n \in \mathbb{N}, \end{aligned}$$

which implies that y^r is located in some ball $B(x^r, 2^{k-(j+\epsilon)+h_n})$. Therefore, (52) does not exceed

$$\left(\sup_{k\in\mathbb{N}_{0}}\frac{2^{-R(1+\epsilon)k}}{|B(x^{r},2^{k-(j+\epsilon)+h_{n}})|}\int_{B(x^{r},2^{k-(j+\epsilon)+h_{n}})}\left(\sum_{n+\epsilon\in\Omega_{k}}\delta^{-\frac{1}{(1-\epsilon)q(x^{r})}}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(x^{r})}|\lambda_{A}|\chi_{A}(y^{r})\right)^{1-\epsilon}dy^{r}\right)^{(1-\epsilon)}$$
(53)

Since 1/q is log-Hölder continuous and $\delta \in [2^{-(j+\epsilon)}, 1+2^{-(j+\epsilon)}]$, we have $\delta^{1/q(x^{r})-1/q(y^{r})} = (2^{j+\epsilon}\delta)^{1/q(x^{r})-1/q(y^{r})}2^{(1/q(x^{r})-1/q(y^{r}))(j+\epsilon)} \le 2^{|1/q(x^{r})-1/q(y^{r})|(2(j+\epsilon)+1)} \le 2^{\frac{c_{\log}(q)(2(j+\epsilon)+1)}{j+\epsilon-k-h_{n}}} \le (1+\epsilon)2^{2c_{\log}(q)k},$

for any $k < \max(0, j + \epsilon - h_n)$ and any $y^r \in B(x^r, 2^{k-(j+\epsilon)+h_n})$. If $k \ge \max(0, j + \epsilon - h_n)$ then since again $\delta \in [2^{-(j+\epsilon)}, 1 + 2^{-(j+\epsilon)}]$,
$\delta^{1/q(x^r)-1/q(y^r)} \leq (1+\epsilon)2^{|1/q(x^r)-1/q(y^r)|(2(j+\epsilon)+1)} \leq (1+\epsilon)2^{2(1/q^--1/q^+)k}.$ Also since α is log-Hölder continuous we can prove that

$$2^{(j+\epsilon)(\alpha(x^{r})-\alpha(y^{r}))} \le (1+\epsilon) \times \begin{cases} 2^{c_{\log}(\alpha)k} & \text{if } k < \max(0, j+\epsilon-h_{n}), \\ 2^{(\alpha^{+}-\alpha^{-})k} & \text{if } k \ge \max(0, j+\epsilon-h_{n}), \end{cases}$$

where $\epsilon \ge 0$ not depending on j and k. Hence with R sufficiently large such that

$$R > \max\left(2/(1-\epsilon)c_{\log}(q) + c_{\log}(\alpha), \frac{2}{(1-\epsilon)}\left(\frac{1}{q^{-}} - \frac{1}{q^{+}}\right) + \alpha^{+} - \alpha^{-}\right),$$

we get that (53) is bounded by

$$(1+\epsilon)\left(\mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon}\left(\sum_{n+\epsilon\in\Omega_{k}}\delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)}2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)}|\lambda_{A}|\chi_{A}\right)(x^{r})\right)^{1/(1-\epsilon)}, x^{r}\in\mathbb{R}^{n}.$$

Now taking $0 \le \epsilon < \min(1, p^{-})$ and using the fact that $\mathcal{M} : L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{1-\epsilon}} \to L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{1-\epsilon}}$ is bounded we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| (1+\epsilon) \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} |\lambda_A| \left(1+2^{j+\epsilon} |\cdot -2^{-(j+\epsilon)}(n+\epsilon)| \right)^{-L} \right\|_{p(\cdot)} \\ & \leq (1+\epsilon) \left\| \mathcal{M}_{1+\epsilon} \left(\sum_{n+\epsilon \in \Omega_k} \delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} |\lambda_A| \chi_A \right) \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)}^{1/(1-\epsilon)} \\ & \leq \left\| \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} |\lambda_A| \chi_A \right\|_{p(\cdot)}, \end{split}$$

with an appropriate choice of $\epsilon \ge 0$. Now this expression is less than or equal to one if and only if

$$\left\| \left\| \sum_{n+\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \delta^{-1/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} 2^{(j+\epsilon)\alpha(\cdot)} \lambda_A \chi_A \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)}^{(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \le 1 \right\|_{p(\cdot)/(1-\epsilon)q(\cdot)} \le 1$$

which follows immediately from the definition of δ .

Section (6.2): Variable Smoothness and Integrability

Spaces of variable integrability, also known as variable exponent Lebesgue spaces $L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, can be traced back to Orlicz [124, 284], and studied by Musielak [45] and Nakano [278, 279], but the modern development started with [31] of Kováčik and Rákosník as well as [8] of Cruz-Uribe and [13] of Diening. The variable Lebesgue spaces have already widely used in the study of harmonic analysis. Apart from theoretical considerations, such function spaces have interesting applications in fluid dynamics [85, 130], image processing [7], partial differential equations and variational calculus [87, 103, 111, 283, 285].

Function spaces with variable exponents attract many attentions, especially based on classical Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces (see Triebel's monographes [41, 56, 136] for the history of these two spaces). When Leopold [117, 118, 119, 120] and Leopold and Schrohe [37] studied pseudo-differential operators, they introduced related Besov spaces with variable smoothness, $B_{p,q}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which were further generalized to the case that $q \neq p$, including $B_{p,q}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F_{p,q}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, by Besov [90, 91, 92]. Along a different line of study, Xu [137, 138] studied Besov spaces $B_{p(\cdot),q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces

 $F_{p(\cdot),q}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ with variable exponent $p(\cdot)$ but fixed q and s. As was well known from the trace theorem (see [22]) and Sobolev-type embeddings (see [60]) of classical function spaces, the smoothness and the integrability often interact each other. However, the unification of both trace theorems and Sobolev-type embeddings does not hold true on function spaces with only one variable index; for example, the trace space of Sobolev space $W^{k,p(\cdot)}$ is no longer a space of the same type (see [15]). Thus, function spaces with full ranges of variable smoothness and variable integrability are needed.

The concept of function spaces with variable smoothness and variable integrability was firstly mixed up by Diening, Hästö and Roudenko in [16]; they introduced Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with variable exponents $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and proved a trace theorem as follows:

$$\operatorname{Tr} \mathsf{F}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot),\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}^{\mathsf{s}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \mathsf{F}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot,0),\mathsf{p}(\cdot,0)}^{\mathsf{s}(\cdot,0)-1/\mathsf{p}(\cdot,0)}(\mathbb{R}^{n-1}),$$

(see [16]), which shows that these spaces behaved nicely with respect to the trace operator. Subsequently, Vybíral [65] established Sobolev-Jawerth embeddings of these spaces. On the other hand, Almeida and Hästö [3] introduced the Besov space with variable smoothness and integrability $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which makes a further step in completing the unification process of function spaces with variable smoothness and integrability. Later, Drihem [17] established the atomic characterization of $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Noi et al. [280, 281, 282] also studied the space $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ including the boundedness of trace and extension operators, duality and complex interpolation. Here we point out that vector-valued convolution inequalities developed in [3] and [16] supply well remedy for the absence of the Fefferman-Stein vector-valued inequality for the mixed Lebesgue sequence spaces $\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n))$ and $L^{p(\cdot)}(\ell^{q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n))$, respectively, in studying Besov spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with variable smoothness and integrability.

More generally, 2-microlocal Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with variable, $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\omega(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, were introduced by Kempka [150, 264] and provided a unified approach that cover the classical Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces as well as versions of variable smoothness and integrability. Afterwards, Kempka and Vybíral [29] characterized these spaces by local means and ball means of differences. The trace spaces of 2-microlocal type spaces were studied very recently by Moura et al. [44] and Gonçalves et al. [24].

Besov-type spaces $B_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces $F_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and their homogeneous counterparts for all admissible parameters were introduced in [189, 190, 221] in order to clarify the relations among Besov spaces, Triebel-Lizorkin spaces and Qspace (see [12, 19]). Various properties and equivalent characterizations of Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces, including smoothness atomic, molecular or wavelet decompositions, characterizations, respectively, via differences, oscillations, Peetre maximal functions, Lusin area functions or g_{λ}^{s} functions, have already been established in [222, 261, 271, 289, 290, 291, 292, 295]. Moreover, these function spaces, including some of their special cases related to Q spaces, have been used to study the existence and the regularity of solutions of some partial differential equations such as (fractional) Navier-Stokes equations. Based on $F_{p,q}^{s,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we introduced the Triebel-Lizorkin-type space with variable exponent $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) p(\cdot)$ in [76] with a measurable function ϕ on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ and obtained a related trace theorem (see [294]). We based on Besov-type spaces $B_{p,q}^{s,\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and variable Besov spaces $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we are aimed to introduce another more generalized scale of function spaces with variable smoothness $s(\cdot)$, variable integrability $p(\cdot)$ and $q(\cdot)$, and a measurable function ϕ on \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ , denoted by $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which covers both Besov spaces with variable smoothness and integrability and Besov-type spaces. We then establish their ϕ -transform characterization in the sense of Frazier and Jawerth. We also characterize these spaces by smooth atoms or Peetre maximal functions and we give some basic properties and Sobolev-type embeddings. We show a trace theorem of $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and obtain several equivalent norms of these spaces.

We give some conventions and notation such as semimodular spaces, variable and mixed Lebesgue-sequence spaces, and also introduce variable Besov-type spaces $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. We point out that the function spaces studied fit into the framework of so-called semimodular spaces. We point out that, in general, the scale of Besov-type spaces with variable smoothness and integrability and the scale of Musielak-Orlicz Besov-type spaces in [75] do not cover each other.

We devote to the φ -transform characterization of $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in the sense of Frazier and Jawerth [22], which is then applied to show that $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is well defined. This is different from [3], in which the space $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ was proved to be well defined via the Calderón reproducing formula. We point out that the method used is originally from Frazier and Jawerth [22], which is smartly modified, via a subtle decomposition of dyadic cubes, so that it is suitable to the present setting. Observe that the r-trick lemma from [16] plays a key role in establishing a convolutional estimate so that we can use the convolutional inequality from [3] to obtain the desired conclusion.

By making full use of the r-trick lemma from [16] again, we mainly give out the Sobolev-type embedding property of $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Some other basic embeddings and properties of the spaces $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are also presented.

We characterize the space $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ via Peetre maximal functions. A key step to obtain this is to establish a technical lemma, which indicates that the Peetre maximal function can be controlled, via semimodulars, by the approximation to the identity in a suitable way. We further obtain two equivalent characterizations of $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. By applying a Hardy-type inequality from [18] and the Sobolev-type embedding theorem obtained, together with some ideas from the proof of Lemma (6.2.23), we establish the smooth atomic characterization of $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

The symbols $A \leq B$ means $A \leq CB$. If $A \leq B$ and $B \leq A$, then we write $A \sim B$. For all $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, let $a \vee b := \max\{a, b\}$. For all $k := (k_1, \dots, k_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, let $|k| := |k_1| + \dots + |k_n|$. Let $\mathbb{Z}_+ := \{0, 1, \dots\}, \mathbb{N} := \{1, 2, \dots\}$ and $\mathbb{K} := \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} . Let $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ := \mathbb{R}^n \times [0, \infty)$. If E is a subset of \mathbb{R}^n , we denote by χ_E its characteristic function and $\tilde{\chi}_E := |E|^{-1/2}\chi_E$. For all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $r \in (0, \infty)$, denote by Q(x, r) the cube centered at x with side length r, whose sides parallel axes of coordinate. For all cube $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, we denote its center by c_Q and its side length by $\ell(Q)$ and, for $a \in (0, \infty)$, we denote by aQ the cube concentric with Q having the side length with $a\ell(Q)$.

For an exposition of these concepts, see [15]. The function spaces studied fit into the framework of so-called semimodular spaces. In what follows, let X be a vector space over \mathbb{K} .

Definition (6.2.1) [298]: A function $\varrho : X \to [0, \infty]$ is called a semimodular on X if it satisfies:

(i) $\varrho(0) = 0$ and, for all $f \in X$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$ with $|\lambda| = 1$, $\varrho(\lambda f) = \rho(f)$;

(ii) If $\varrho(\lambda, f) = 0$ for all $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$, then f = 0;

(iii) ρ is quasiconvex, namely, there exists $A \in [1, \infty)$ such that, for all $f, g \in X$,

$$\varrho(\theta f + (1 - \theta)g) \le \mathcal{A}[\theta \varrho(f) + (1 - \theta)\varrho(g)];$$

(iv) $\lambda \mapsto \varrho(\lambda f)$ is left continuous on $[0, \infty)$ for every $f \in X$, namely, $\lim_{\lambda < 1, \lambda \to 1} \varrho(\lambda f) = \varrho(f)$.

A semimodular ϱ is called a modular if it satisfies that $\varrho(f) = 0$ implies f = 0, and is called continuous if, for every $f \in X$, the mapping $\lambda \mapsto \varrho(\lambda f)$ is continuous on $[0, \infty)$, namely, $\lim_{t \to 0} \varrho(\lambda f) = \varrho(f)$.

Definition (6.2.2) [298]: Let ϱ be a (semi)modular on X. Then

 $X_{\rho} \coloneqq \{f \in X : \exists \lambda \in (0, \infty) \text{ such that } \varrho(\lambda f) < \infty\}$

is called a (semi)modular space with the norm

 $||f||_{\varrho} \coloneqq \inf\{\lambda \in (0,\infty) : \varrho(f/\lambda) \le 1\}.$

Lemma (6.2.3) [298]: Let ϱ be a semimodular on X. Then $||f||_{\varrho} \le 1$ if and only if $\varrho(f) \le 1$; moreover, if ϱ is continuous, then $||f||_{\varrho} < 1$ if and only if $\varrho(f) < 1$, as well as $||f||_{\varrho} = 1$ if and only if $\varrho(f) = 1$.

We recall some definitions and notation for the space with variable integrability. For a measurable function $p(\cdot) : \mathbb{R}^n \to (0, \infty]$, let

 $p_{-} \coloneqq \underset{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}}{\operatorname{ees}} \inf p(x)$ and $p_{+} \coloneqq \underset{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}}{\operatorname{ees}} \sup p(x)$.

The set of variable exponents, denoted by $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, is the set of all measurable functions $p(\cdot) : \mathbb{R}^n \to (0, \infty]$ satisfying $p_- \in (0, \infty]$. For $p(\cdot) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, define the function $\rho_{p(x)}$ by setting, for all $t \in [0, \infty)$,

$$\rho_{p(x)}(t) \coloneqq \begin{cases} t^{p(x)}, & \text{if } p(x) \in (0, \infty), \\ 0, & \text{if } p(x) = \infty \text{ and } t \in [0, 1], \\ \infty, & \text{if } p(x) = \infty \text{ and } t \in (1, \infty). \end{cases}$$

The variable exponent modular of a measurable function f on \mathbb{R}^n is defined by

$$\rho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(f) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \rho_{\mathbf{p}(x)}(|f(x)|) dx$$

Definition (6.2.4) [298]: Let $p(\cdot) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and E be a measurable subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then the variable exponent Lebesgue space $L^{p(\cdot)}(E)$ is defined to be the set of all measurable functions *f* such that

 $\|f\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\mathrm{E})} \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \lambda \in (0,\infty) : \varrho_{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(f\chi_{\mathrm{E}}/\lambda) \leq 1 \right\} < \infty.$

Definition (6.2.5) [298]: Let $p, q \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and E be a measurable subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then the mixed Lebesgue-sequence space $\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)}(E))$ is defined to be the set of all sequences $\{f_v\}_{v\in\mathbb{N}}$ of functions in $L^{p(\cdot)}(E)$ such that

$$\|\{f_{\nu}\}_{\nu\in\mathbb{N}}\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}\left(L^{p(\cdot)}(E)\right)} \coloneqq \inf\left\{\lambda\in(0,\infty): \varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}(\{f_{\nu}\chi_{E}/\lambda\}_{\nu\in\mathbb{N}}) \leq 1\right\} < \infty,$$

where, for all sequences $\{g_{v}\}_{v\in\mathbb{N}}$ of measurable functions,

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}(\{g_{\nu}\}_{\nu\in\mathbb{N}}) \coloneqq \sum_{\nu\in\mathbb{N}} \inf\left\{\mu_{\nu}\in(0,\infty): \varrho_{p(\cdot)}\left(\left\{g_{\nu}/\mu_{\nu}^{1/q(\cdot)}\right\}_{\nu\in\mathbb{N}}\right) \le 1\right\}$$
(54)

with the convention $\lambda^{1/\infty} = 1$ for all $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$.

A measurable function $g \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is said to satisfy the locally log-Hölder continuous condition, denoted by $g \in C_{loc}^{log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if there exists a positive constant $C_{log}(g)$ such that, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$|g(x) - g(y)| \le \frac{C_{\log}(g)}{\log(e + 1/|x - y|)},$$
 (55)

and *g* is said to satisfy the globally log-Hölder continuous condition, denoted by $g \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if $g \in C^{\log}_{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and there exist positive constants C_{∞} and g_{∞} such that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$|g(x) - g_{\infty}| \le \frac{C_{\infty}}{\log(e + |x|)}.$$
(56)

Now let $\mathcal{G}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ be the set of all measurable functions $\phi : \mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+ \to (0, \infty)$ having the following properties: there exist positive constants c_1 and c_2 such that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $r \in (0, \infty)$,

$$c_1^{-1}\phi(x,2r) \le \phi(x,r) \le c_1\phi(x,2r)$$
(57)
and, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $r \in (0,\infty)$ with $|x-y| \le r$,

$$c_1^{-1}\phi(y,r) \le \phi(x,r) \le c_2\phi(y,2r)$$
 (58)

In what follows, for $\phi \in \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$ and all cubes $Q := Q(x,r) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ with center $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and radius $r \in (0, \infty)$, define $\phi(Q) := \phi(Q(x,r)) := \phi(x, 2r)$. Let $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the space of all Schwartz functions on \mathbb{R}^n and $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ its topological dual space. A pair of functions, (φ, Φ) , is said to be admissible if $\varphi, \Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy

 $\sup \hat{\varphi} \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\} \text{ and } |\hat{\varphi}(\xi)| \ge c > 0 \text{ when } 3/5 \le |\xi| \le 5/3$ (59) and

supp $\widehat{\Phi} \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : |\xi| \le 2\}$ and $|\widehat{\Phi}(\xi)| \ge c > 0$ when $|\xi| \le 5/3$, (60) where $\widehat{f}(\xi) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x) e^{-ix \cdot \xi} dx$ for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and c is a positive constant independent of $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$. For all $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we put $\varphi_j(x) \coloneqq 2^{jn}\varphi(2^jx)$ and $\widetilde{\varphi}(x) \coloneqq \overline{\varphi(-x)}$. For $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, denote by \mathcal{Q}_{jk} the dyadic cube $2^{-j}([0,1)^n + k)$, $x_{\mathcal{Q}_{jk}} \coloneqq 2^{-j}k$ its lower left corner and $\ell(\mathcal{Q}_{jk})$ its side length. Let $\mathfrak{Q} \coloneqq \{\mathcal{Q}_{jk} : j \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$, $\mathfrak{Q}^* \coloneqq \{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q} : \ell(\mathcal{Q}) \le 1\}$ and $j_{\mathcal{Q}} \coloneqq -\log_2 \ell(\mathcal{Q})$ for all $\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}$.

Definition (6.2.6) [298]: Let (φ, Φ) be a pair of admissible functions on \mathbb{R}^n . Let $p, q \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $s \in C^{\log}_{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Then the Besov-type space with variable smoothness and integrability, $B^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, is defined to be the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{B^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \coloneqq \sup_{P \in \mathbb{Q}} \frac{1}{\varphi(P)} \left\| \left\{ 2^{js(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j} * f| \right\}_{j \ge (j_{P} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}\left(L^{p(\cdot)}(P)\right)} < \infty,$$

where the supremum is taken over all dyadic cubes P in \mathbb{R}^n .

By comparing Besov-type spaces with variable smoothness and integrability with Musielak-Orlicz Besov-type spaces in [75] we show that, in general, these two scales of Besov-type spaces do not cover each other.

To recall the definition of Musielak-Orlicz Besov-type spaces, we need some notions on Musielak-Orlicz functions. A function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}^n \times [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ is called a Musielak-Orlicz function if the function $\varphi(x, \cdot) : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ is an Orlicz function for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, namely, for any given $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\varphi(x, \cdot)$ is nondecreasing, $\varphi(x, 0) = 0$, $\varphi(x, t) \in (0, \infty)$ for all $t \in (0, \infty)$ and $\lim_{t \to \infty} \varphi(x, t) = \infty$, and $\varphi(\cdot, t)$ is a Lebesgue measurable function for all $t \in [0, \infty)$. A Musielak-Orlicz function φ is said to be of uniformly upper (resp. lower) type p for some $p \in [0, \infty)$ if there exist a positive constant C such that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $t \in [0, \infty)$ and $s \in [1, \infty)$ (resp. $s \in [0, 1]$), $\varphi(x, st) \leq Cs^p \varphi(x, t)$ (see [32]). Let

$$i(\phi) \coloneqq \sup\{p \in (0, \infty) : \phi \text{ is uniformly lower type } p\}$$

and

 $I(\phi) \coloneqq \inf\{p \in (0, \infty) : \phi \text{ is uniformly upper type } p\}.$

The function $\varphi(\cdot, t)$ is said to satisfy the uniformly Muckenhoupt condition for some $r \in [1, \infty)$, denoted by $\varphi \in A_r(\mathbb{R}^n)$, if, when $r \in (1, \infty)$,

$$\sup_{\substack{t \in (0,\infty) \text{ balls } B \subset \mathbb{R}^n}} \sup_{\substack{B \mid r \\ B \mid r}} \int_B \varphi(x,t) dx \left\{ \int_B [\varphi(y,t)]^{-r'/r} dy \right\}^{r'/r} < \infty,$$

where $1/r + 1/r' = 1$, or, when $r = 1$,
$$\sup_{\substack{t \in (0,\infty) \text{ balls } B \subset \mathbb{R}^n}} \sup_{\substack{B \mid \\ B \mid$$

Let $A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \coloneqq \bigcup_{r \in [1,\infty)} A_r(\mathbb{R}^n).$

The Musielak-Orlicz space $L^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined as the set of all measurable functions f on \mathbb{R}^n such that

$$||f||_{\mathrm{L}^{\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \lambda \in (0,\infty) : \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(x,|f(x)|/\lambda) \mathrm{d}x \le 1 \right\} < \infty.$$

Let $S_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be the space of all Schwartz functions h satisfying that, for all multiindices $\gamma := (\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_n) \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+$, $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) x^{\gamma} dx = 0$ and let $S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be its topological dual space.

Definition (6.2.7) [298]: Let $s \in \mathbb{R}, \tau \in [0, \infty)$, $q \in (0, \infty]$ and ψ be a Schwartz function satisfying supp $\widehat{\varphi} \subset \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n : 1/2 \le |\xi| \le 2\}$ and $|\widehat{\varphi}(\xi)| \ge C > 0$ if $3/5 \le |\xi| \le 5/3$ for some positive constant C independent of $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$. For all $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let $\psi_j(x) := 2^{jn}\psi(2^jx)$. Assume that, for $j \in \{1, 2\}, \varphi_j$ is a Musielak-Orlicz function with $0 < i(\varphi_j) \le$ $I(\varphi_j) < \infty$ and $\varphi_j \in A_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then the Musielak-Orlicz Besov-type space $\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{\varphi_1,\varphi_2,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the space of all $f \in S'_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\tau}_{\varphi_{1},\varphi_{2},q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \coloneqq \sup_{P \in \mathfrak{Q}} \frac{1}{\|\chi_{P}\|_{L^{\varphi_{1}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} (2^{js} |\psi_{j} * f|)^{q} \right\}^{1/q} \right\|_{L^{\varphi_{2}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} < \infty$$

with suitable modification made when $q = \infty$, where the supremum is taken over all dyadic cubes P of \mathbb{R}^n .

The purpose is to show that $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is independent of the choice of admissible function pairs (ϕ, Φ) . To this end, we first introduce the sequence space $b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with respect to $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and then establish its ϕ -transform characterization in the sense of Frazier and Jawerth [22].

Definition (6.2.8) [98]: Let p, q, s and ϕ be as in Definition (6.2.6). Then the sequence space $b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is defined to be the set of all sequences $t := \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*} \subset \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\mathbf{\phi}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \coloneqq \sup_{\mathbf{P}\in\mathbb{Q}} \frac{1}{\mathbf{\phi}(\mathbf{P})} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathbb{Q}^{*},\mathcal{Q}\subset\mathbf{P}\\\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{\mathbf{s}(\cdot)}{n}} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\mathbf{j}\geq(\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{p}}\vee\mathbf{0})} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}\left(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{P})\right)} < \infty,$$

where the supremum is taken over all dyadic cubes P in \mathbb{R}^n .

Let (φ, Φ) be a pair of admissible functions. Then $(\tilde{\varphi}, \tilde{\Phi})$ is also a pair of admissible functions, where $\tilde{\varphi}(\cdot) \coloneqq \overline{\varphi(-\cdot)}$ and $\tilde{\Phi}(\cdot) \coloneqq \overline{\Phi(-\cdot)}$. Moreover, by [22] or [23], there exist Schwartz functions ψ and Ψ satisfying (59) and (60), respectively, such that, for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\widehat{\Phi}(\xi)\widehat{\Psi}(\xi) + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \widehat{\varphi}(2^{-j}\xi)\widehat{\psi}(2^{-j}\xi) = 1.$$
(61)

Recall that the φ -transform S_{φ} is defined to be the mapping taking each $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to the sequence $S_{\varphi}(f) \coloneqq \{(S_{\varphi}f)_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathbb{Q}^*}$, where $(S_{\varphi}f)_{\mathcal{Q}} \coloneqq |\mathcal{Q}|^{1/2}\varphi_{j_{\mathcal{Q}}} * f(x_{\mathcal{Q}})$ with φ_0 replaced by Φ ; the inverse φ -transform T_{ψ} is defined to be the mapping taking a sequence $t \coloneqq \{t_{\mathcal{Q}}\}_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathbb{Q}^*} \subset \mathbb{C}$ to

$$T_{\psi}t \coloneqq \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathbb{Q}^*, \ell(\mathcal{Q})=1} t_{\mathcal{Q}}\Psi_{\mathcal{Q}} + \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathbb{Q}^*, \ell(\mathcal{Q})<1} t_{\mathcal{Q}}\psi_{\mathcal{Q}};$$
(62)

Corollary (6.2.9) [298]: With all notations as in Definition (6.2.6), the space $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is independent of the choice of the admissible function pairs (ϕ, Φ) .

Lemma (6.2.10) [298]: Let $\phi \in \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$. Then there exist positive constants C and \tilde{C} such that, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, $\phi(\mathcal{Q}_{jk}) \leq C2^{j \log_2 c_1}(|k| + 1)^{2 \log_2 c_1}$ and, for all $\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}$ and $l \in \mathbb{Z}^n$,

$$\frac{\phi(\mathcal{Q}+l\ell(\mathcal{Q}))}{\phi(\mathcal{Q})} \leq \tilde{C}(1+|l|)^{2\log_2 c_1},$$

where c_1 is as in (57).

Lemma (6.2.11) [298]: Let $p \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then there exists a positive constant C such that, for all dyadic cubes Q_{jk} with $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$,

$$C^{-1}2^{-(n/p_{-})j}(1+|k|)^{n(1/p_{+}-1/p_{-})} \leq \left\|\chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{jk}}\right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq C2^{-(n/p_{+})j}(1+|k|)^{n(1/p_{-}-1/p_{+})}.$$

In what follows, for all $h \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $M \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, let

 $\|\mathbf{h}\|_{\mathcal{S}_{\mathsf{M}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \coloneqq \sup_{|\gamma| \le \mathsf{M}} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} |\partial^{\gamma} \mathbf{h}(x)| (1+|x|)^{n+\mathsf{M}+\gamma}.$

Lemma (6.2.12) [298]: Let p, q, s and ϕ be as in Definition (6.2.6). Then, for all $t \in b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $T_{\psi}t$ in (56) converges in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$; moreover, $T_{\psi}: b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is continuous.

Proof: Observe that, for any $Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*$,

$$\begin{split} \left| \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| &\leq \left\| |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathbf{s}(\cdot)/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathcal{Q})} \left\| \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathcal{Q})}^{-1} |\mathcal{Q}|^{\mathbf{s}_{-}/n+1/2} \\ &\leq \left\| \left\{ \left\{ \sum_{\substack{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}} \subset \mathcal{Q}, \tilde{\mathcal{Q}} \in \mathfrak{Q}^{*} \\ \ell(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}) = 2^{-j}} |\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}|^{-\mathbf{s}(\cdot)/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}} \right\}_{\mathbf{j} \geq (\mathbf{j}_{\mathcal{Q}} \vee \mathbf{0})} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \left(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathcal{Q})\right)} \frac{|\mathcal{Q}|^{\mathbf{s}_{-}/n+1/2}}{\left\| \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathcal{Q})}} \\ &\leq \left\| \mathbf{t} \right\|_{\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\mathbf{\phi}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{\Phi(\mathcal{Q})}{\left\| \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathcal{Q})}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{\mathbf{s}_{-}/n+1/2}. \end{split}$$

Then, by this and an argument similar to that used in [294], we conclude that, for all $h \in$ $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n), \left|\langle T_{\psi}t,h\rangle\right| \lesssim \|t\|_{b^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \|h\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \text{ with some large } M \in (0,\infty) \text{ which completes the } \mathbb{C}$ proof of Lemma (6.2.12).

Lemma (6.2.13) [298]: Let $r \in (0, \infty)$, $v \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $m \in (n, \infty)$. Then there exists a positive constant C, only depending on r, m and n, such that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $g \in$ $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $\operatorname{supp} \hat{g} \subset \{\xi : |\xi| \le 2^{\nu+1}\}, \ \sup_{z \in \mathcal{O}} |g(z)| \le C[\eta_{\nu,m} * (|g|^r)(x)]^{1/r}, \text{ where } Q \in \mathbb{Q}$ contains x and $\ell(Q) = 2^{-\nu}$.

Lemma (6.2.14) [298]: Let $s \in C_{loc}^{log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $d \in [C_{log}(s), \infty)$, where $C_{log}(s)$ denotes the constant as in (55) with g replaced by s. Then, for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $v \in \mathbb{N}$, $2^{\nu s(x)}\eta_{\nu,m+d}(x-y) \leq C2^{\nu s(y)}\eta_{\nu,m}(x-y)$ with C being a positive constant independent of x, y and v; moreover, for all nonnegative measurable functions f, it holds true that $2^{\nu s(x)} \eta_{\nu,m+d} * f(x) \le C \eta_{\nu,m} * (2^{\nu s(\cdot)} f)(x), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$

Lemma (6.2.15) [298]: Let $p, q \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy $p_-, q_- \in [1, \infty]$ and $m \in (n + 1)$ $C_{log}(1/q), \infty$, where $C_{log}(1/q)$ denotes the constant as in (55) with g replaced by 1/q. Then there exists a positive constant C such that, for all sequences $\{f_{\nu}\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}}$ of measurable functions,

$$\left\|\left\{\eta_{\nu,m} * f_{\nu}\right\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}}\right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}\left(L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} \leq C \left\|\left\{f_{\nu}\right\}_{\nu \in \mathbb{N}}\right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}\left(L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)}.$$

Lemma (6.2.16) [298]: Let $p, q \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n), q_- \in (1, \infty)$ and f be a measurable function on \mathbb{R}^{n} .

(i) If $||f||_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$, then $||f|^{q(\cdot)}||_{L^{\overline{q(\cdot)}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq ||f||_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{q_-}$.

(ii) If
$$||f||_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} > 1$$
, then $||f|^{q(\cdot)}||_{L^{\overline{q(\cdot)}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le ||f||_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{q_+}$

- $If \left\| |f|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \ge 1, \text{ then } \left\| f \right\|_{L^{q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \left\| |f|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1/q_-}.$ $If \left\| |f|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \ge 1, \text{ then } \left\| f \right\|_{L^{q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \left\| |f|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1/q_+}.$ (iii)
- (iv)

Proof: By similarity, we only prove (i) and (iii). Let $f \in L^{\hat{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then, by [298] and the fact that $\|f/\|f\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$, we see that $\varrho_{p(\cdot)}(f/\|f\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}) \leq 1$. Thus, if $||f||_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$, then

 $\varrho_{p(\cdot)}\left(f/\left(\|f\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q_{-}}\right)^{1/q(\cdot)}\right) \leq \varrho_{p(\cdot)}\left(f/\left(\|f\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q_{-}}\right)^{1/q_{-}}\right) = \varrho_{p(\cdot)}\left(f/\|f\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}\right) \leq 1,$ which implies that $\||f|^{q(\cdot)}\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \|f\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{q_-}$ and then completes the proof of (i). For (iii), if $\||f|^{q(\cdot)}\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \ge 1$, then for all $\lambda > \||f|^{q(\cdot)}\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, $\varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(f/\lambda^{1/q_-}) \leq \varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(f/\lambda^{1/q(\cdot)}) \leq 1,$

which implies that $\|f\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \lambda^{\frac{1}{q_-}}$. By this and the arbitrariness of $\lambda > 1$ $\||f|^{q(\cdot)}\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$, we conclude that (iii) holds true, which completes the proof of Lemma (6.2.16).

For a sequence $t = \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*} \subset \mathbb{C}, r \in (0, \infty) \text{ and } \lambda \in (0, \infty), \text{ let } t^*_{r,\lambda} \coloneqq \{(t^*_{r,\lambda})_Q\}_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*}, t \in \mathbb{Q}\}$ where, for all $Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*$,

$$\left(\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{r},\lambda}^{*}\right)_{\mathcal{Q}} \coloneqq \left\{\sum_{\mathbf{R}\in\mathcal{Q}^{*},\ell(\mathbf{R})=\ell(\mathcal{Q})}\frac{|\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{R}}|^{\mathbf{r}}}{\left[1+\{\ell(\mathbf{R})\}^{-1}|x_{\mathbf{R}}-x_{\mathcal{Q}}|\right]^{\lambda}}\right\}^{1/\mathbf{r}}$$
216

Lemma (6.2.17) [298]: Let p, q, s and ϕ be as in Definition (6.2.6), $r \in (0, \min\{p_-, q_-\})$ and $\lambda \in (2n + C_{\log}(s) + 2r \log_2 c_1, \infty)$, where $C_{\log}(s)$ denotes the constant as in (55) with *g* replaced by s, and c_1 is as in (57). Then there exists a constant $C \in [1, \infty)$ such that, for all $t \in b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\mathbf{b}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\mathbf{\phi}}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \|\mathbf{t}^{*}_{\mathbf{r},\lambda}\|_{\mathbf{b}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\mathbf{\phi}}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq C\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\mathbf{b}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\mathbf{\phi}}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(63)

Proof: To prove this lemma, it suffices to show the second inequality of (63) since the first one holds true obviously. We first claim that, for all $t \in b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\|t_{r,\lambda}^*\|_{b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),1}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim \|t\|_{b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. Indeed, observe that, for all $r \in (0, \min\{p_-, q_-\})$, $Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*$ and $x \in Q$,

$$\left(\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{r},\lambda}^{*}\right)_{\mathcal{Q}} \sim \left\{\eta_{j_{\mathcal{Q}},\lambda} * \left(\sum_{\mathbf{R}\in\mathbb{Q}^{*},\ell(\mathbf{R})=2^{-j_{\mathcal{Q}}}} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{R}}|^{\mathbf{r}}\chi_{\mathbf{R}}\right)(x)\right\}^{1/\mathbf{r}}.$$

Thus, by Lemma (6.2.14) and Lemma (6.2.15), we see that

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{r},\lambda}^{*} \right\|_{\mathbf{b}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \left\| \left\{ \eta_{j,\lambda-C_{\log}(\mathbf{s})} * \left(\left[2^{j\mathbf{s}(\cdot)} \sum_{\mathbf{R}\in\mathbb{Q}^{*},\ell(\mathbf{R})=2^{-j}\varrho} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{R}}|^{\mathbf{r}} \tilde{\chi}_{\mathbf{R}} \right]^{\mathbf{r}} \right) \right\}_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)/r}\left(\mathbf{L}^{p(\cdot)/r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} \\ \lesssim \left\| \left\{ 2^{j\mathbf{s}(\cdot)} \sum_{\mathbf{R}\in\mathbb{Q}^{*},\ell(\mathbf{R})=2^{-j}\varrho} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{R}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathbf{R}} \right\}_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)/r}\left(\mathbf{L}^{p(\cdot)/r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)} \sim \left\| \mathbf{t} \right\|_{\mathbf{b}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \end{split}$$

which proves the above claim.

For all $P \in \mathbb{Q}$ and $Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*$, let $v_Q^P \coloneqq t_Q$ if $Q \subset 4P$ and $v_Q^P \coloneqq 0$ otherwise, and let $u_Q^P \coloneqq t_Q - v_Q^P$. Let $v^P \coloneqq \{u_Q^P\}_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*}$. Then we have $\|t_{r,\lambda}^*\|_{b_{r,\lambda}^{S(\cdot),\Phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$

$$\leq \sup_{P \in \mathbb{Q}} \left\{ \frac{1}{\Phi(P)} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}, Q \subset P \\ \ell(Q) = 2^{-j}}} |Q|^{-s(\cdot)/n} \left| ((v^{P})_{r,\lambda}^{*})_{Q} \right| \tilde{\chi}_{Q} \right\}_{j \geq (j_{P} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)}(P))} + \frac{1}{\Phi(P)} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}, Q \subset P \\ \ell(Q) = 2^{-j}}} |Q|^{-s(\cdot)/n} \left| ((u^{P})_{r,\lambda}^{*})_{Q} \right| \tilde{\chi}_{Q} \right\}_{j \geq (j_{P} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)}(P))} \right\}$$
$$=: \sup_{P \in \mathbb{Q}} (I_{P,1}, I_{P,2}). \tag{64}$$

By the above claim, (57), we find that

To estimate $I_{P,2}$, we only consider the case that $q_+ \in (0, \infty)$, since the proof of the case that $q_+ = \infty$ is similar, the details being omitted. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $\|t\|_{b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ and prove that $I_{P,2} \leq 1$. To this end, it suffices to show that

$$\left\| \left\{ \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}, \mathcal{Q} \subset P \\ \ell(\mathcal{Q}) = 2^{-j}}} \frac{\chi_{P}}{\varphi(P)} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-s(\cdot)/n} ((u^{P})_{r,\lambda}^{*})_{\mathcal{Q}} \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{j \ge (j_{P} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)} (L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} \lesssim 1.$$

By (54), we see that the above inequality is equivalent to that there exists some large positive constant C_0 such that

$$\sum_{j=(j_{P}\vee 0)}^{\infty} \left\| \left[\sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathbb{Q}^{*},\mathcal{Q}\subset P\\\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}}} \frac{\chi_{P}}{C_{0}\phi(P)} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-s(\cdot)/n} ((u^{P})_{r,\lambda}^{*})_{\mathcal{Q}} \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right]^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq 1,$$

which, by Lemma (6.2.16) (i), is a consequence of

$$J_{P} \coloneqq \sum_{j=(j_{P}\vee 0)}^{\infty} \left\| \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathbb{Q}^{*},\mathcal{Q}\subset P\\\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}}} \frac{\chi_{P}}{C_{0}\phi(P)} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-s(\cdot)/n} ((u^{P})_{r,\lambda}^{*})_{\mathcal{Q}} \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q(\cdot)} \leq 1.$$
(66)

Now we show (66). Since $\|t\|_{b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$, it follows that, for all $\widetilde{P} \in \mathbb{Q}$,

$$\left\| \left\{ \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}^*, \mathcal{Q} \subset P\\ \ell(\mathcal{Q}) = 2^{-j}}} [\phi(\widetilde{P})]^{-1} \chi_{\widetilde{P}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-s(\cdot)/n} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}| \widetilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{j \ge (j_{\widetilde{P}} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)} (L^{p(\cdot)}(\widetilde{P}))} \le 1,$$

which, together with (54), implies that

$$\sum_{j=(j_{\widetilde{P}}\vee 0)}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathfrak{Q}^{*},\mathcal{Q}\subset\widetilde{P}\\\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}}} [\varphi(\widetilde{P})]^{-1}\chi_{\widetilde{P}}|\mathcal{Q}|^{-s(\cdot)/n} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq 1.$$

From this, and (iii) and (iv) of Lemma (6.2.16), we deduce that, for all $\tilde{P} \in Q$ and $j \ge (j_{\tilde{P}} \lor 0)$,

$$\left\|\sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathbb{Q}^{*},\mathcal{Q}\subset\widetilde{P}\\\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}}} \left[\varphi(\widetilde{P})\right]^{-1} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-s(\cdot)/n} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\widetilde{P})} \leq 1.$$
(67)

-a(.)..

For the given $P \in \mathbb{Q}$, $i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $l \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, let $A(i, l, P) := \{R \in \mathbb{Q}^* : \ell(R) = 2^{-i}\ell(P), R \subset P + l\ell(Q)\}.$ Then we see that

Then we see that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{J}_{P} &\coloneqq \sum_{j=(j_{P}\vee 0)}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}\in \mathcal{Q}^{*}, \mathcal{Q}\subset P\\\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}}} \chi_{P}[\phi(P)]^{-1} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-s(\cdot)/n} (u_{r,\lambda}^{*})_{\mathcal{Q}} \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}\in \mathcal{Q}^{*}, \mathcal{Q}\subset P\\\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-i}\ell(P)}} \frac{\chi_{P}}{\phi(P)} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-[s(\cdot)/n+1/2]} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\times \left[\sum_{l\in\mathbb{Z}^{n}, |l|\geq 2} \sum_{R\in A(i,l,P)} \frac{|u_{R}|^{r}}{[1+\{\ell(\mathcal{Q})\}^{-1} |x_{R}-x_{\mathcal{Q}}|]^{\lambda}} \right]^{1/r} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q_{-}}. \end{split}$$

Notice that, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, $l \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ and $x \in Q \in \mathfrak{Q}^*$ with $\ell(Q) = 2^{-i}\ell(P)$, $\sum_{R \in A(i,l,P)} \frac{|u_R|^r}{\left[1 + \{\ell(Q)\}^{-1} |x_R - x_Q|\right]^m} \sim \eta_{j_Q,m} * \left(\left[\sum_{R \in A(i,l,P)} |u_R|\chi_R\right]^r\right)(x),$

where $m \in (n + C_{\log}(s), \infty)$ is chosen such that $\lambda > m + n + 2r \log_2 c_1$. Notice that, when $|l| \ge 2, 1 + \{\ell(Q)\}^{-1} |x_R - x_Q| \sim 2^i |l|$. Thus, by Lemma (6.2.15), we know that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{J}_{P} &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left\| \left\| \sum_{\substack{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |l| \geq 2}} \frac{(2^{i}|l|)^{m-\lambda}}{[\phi(P)]^{r}} \eta_{i+j_{P},m-C_{\log}(s)} * \left(\left[\sum_{R \in A(i,l,P)} |R|^{-rs(\cdot)/n} |u_{R}| \tilde{\chi}_{R} \right]^{r} \right) \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q_{-}/r} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left\{ \sum_{\substack{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n} \\ |l| \geq 2}} (2^{i}|l|)^{m-\lambda} \left[\frac{\phi(P + l\ell(P))}{\phi(P)} \right]^{r} \right\| \sum_{R \in A(i,l,P)} \frac{\chi_{P} + l\ell(P)}{\phi(P + l\ell(P))} |R|^{-s(\cdot)/n} |t_{R}| \tilde{\chi}_{R} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q_{-}/r}, \end{split}$$

which, combined with (67) and Lemma (6.2.10), implies that

$$\tilde{J}_{P} \lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left\{ \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}, |l| \ge 2} 2^{i(m-\lambda)} |l|^{m+2r\log_{2} c_{1}-\lambda} \right\}^{q-r} \sim 1.$$

Therefore, there exists a positive constant C_0 large enough such that (66) holds true for all $P \in Q$ and hence

$$I_{P,2} \lesssim \|t\|_{b^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(68)

Combining (64), (65) and (68), we conclude that

$$\|\mathbf{t}_{r,\lambda}^*\|_{\mathbf{b}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \sup_{\mathbf{P}\in\mathbb{Q}} (\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{P},1} + \mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{P},2}) \leq \|\mathbf{t}\|_{\mathbf{b}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)'}$$

which completes the proof of Lemma (6.2.17).

Theorem (6.2.18) [298]: Let p, q, s and ϕ be as in Definition (6.2.6) and ϕ, ψ, Φ and Ψ as in (61). Then operators $S_{\phi} : B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $T_{\psi} : b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ are bounded. Furthermore, $T_{\psi} \circ S_{\phi}$ is the identity on $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Proof: We first show that S_{φ} is bounded from $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let $f \in$ $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $r \in \left(0, \frac{1}{2}\min\{p_-, q_-, 2\}\right)$ and $m \in \left(n + C_{\log}(s) + C_{\log}(r/q) + \log_2 c_1, \infty\right)$. Then, by Lemma (6.2.13), we see that, for all $Q_{jk} \in \mathbb{Q}^*$ and $x \in Q_{jk}$,

$$\left|\varphi_{j} * f\left(x_{\mathcal{Q}_{jk}}\right)\right|^{r} \lesssim 2^{jn} \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{j(k+l)}} \frac{\left|\varphi_{j} * f(y)\right|^{r}}{(1+2^{jn}|x-y|)^{4m}} \,\mathrm{d}y,$$
it the fact that $1 + 2^{jn}|x-y| = 1 + |U|$ when $x \in C$

which, together with the fact that $1 + 2^{jn}|x - y| \sim 1 + |l|$ when $x \in Q_{jk}$ and $y \in Q_{j(k+l)}$, implies that 1 /r

$$\left|\varphi_{j} * f\left(x_{\mathcal{Q}_{jk}}\right)\right| \lesssim \left[\sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1+|l|)^{-m} \eta_{j,3m} * \left|\left(\varphi_{j} * f\right) \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{j(k+l)}}\right|^{r}(x)\right]^{1/r}.$$

From this and Lemma (6.2.14), we deduce that $\|\mathbf{S}_{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}(f)\|_{\mathbf{h}^{\mathbf{S}(\cdot),\boldsymbol{\varphi}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$

$$\lesssim \sup_{P \in \mathbb{Q}} \frac{1}{\Phi(P)} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left[\sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{2^{jrs(\cdot)}}{(1+|l|)^{m}} \eta_{j,3m} * \left| (\varphi_{j} * f) \chi_{3n|l|P} \right|^{r} \right\}_{j \ge (j_{P} \vee 0)} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{jk}} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)}(P))}$$

$$\lesssim \sup_{P \in \mathbb{Q}} \frac{1}{\Phi(P)} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{2^{jrs(\cdot)}}{(1+|l|)^{m}} \eta_{j,3m} * \left| (\varphi_{j} * f) \chi_{3n|l|P} \right|^{r} \right\}_{j \ge (j_{P} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)/r}(L^{p(\cdot)/r}(P))}^{1/r}$$

$$\lesssim \left[\sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1+|l|)^{-m} \sup_{P \in \mathbb{Q}} \frac{1}{\{\phi(P)\}^{r}} \left\| \{ \eta_{j,2m} * \left| 2^{js(\cdot)} (\phi_{j} * f) \chi_{3n|l|P} \right|^{r} \}_{j \ge (j_{P} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)/r} (L^{p(\cdot)/r}(P))} \right]^{-r}$$

1 / n

which, combined with Lemmas (6.2.15) and (6.2.10), implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| S_{\varphi}(f) \right\|_{b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} &\lesssim \left[\sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1+|l|)^{-m} \sup_{P \in \mathbb{Q}} \frac{1}{\varphi(P)^{r}} \left\| \left\{ 2^{js(\cdot)} \left| \varphi_{j} * f \right| \right\}_{j \geq (j_{P} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)}(3n|l|P))}^{r} \right]^{1/r} \\ &\lesssim \left\| f \right\|_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left\{ \sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} (1+|l|)^{-m} (1+|l|)^{r \log_{2} c_{1}} \right\}^{1/r} \lesssim \left\| f \right\|_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, S_{φ} is bounded from $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The boundedness of T_{ψ} from $b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ to $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is deduced from an argument similar to that used in [78]. Finally, by the Calderón reproducing formula [78], we know that $T_{\psi} \circ S_{\varphi}$ is the identity on $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, which completes the proof of Theorem (6.2.18).

We show some basic properties and embeddings between $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Recall that the Triebel-Lizorkin-type space with variable exponents, $F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, is defined to be the set of all $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \coloneqq \sup_{\mathbf{P}\in\Omega} \frac{1}{\mathbf{\phi}(\mathbf{P})} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j=\max\{j_{\mathbf{P}},0\}}^{\infty} \left[2^{j\mathbf{s}(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j} * f(\cdot)| \right]^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \right\}^{1/\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{P})} < \infty,$$

where φ_0 is replaced by Φ and the supremum is taken over all dyadic cubes P in \mathbb{R}^n , which was introduced in [76].

Proposition (6.2.19) [298]: Let $\phi \in \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, s, s₀, s₁ $\in C_{loc}^{log}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and p, q, q₀, q₁ \in $C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n).$

(i) If $q_0 \leq q_1$, then $B_{p(\cdot),q_0(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),q_1(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. (ii) If $(s_0 - s_1)_- > 0$, then $B_{p(\cdot),q_0(\cdot)}^{s_0(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),q_1(\cdot)}^{s_1(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. (iii) If $p_+, q_+ \in (0, \infty)$, then $B_{p(\cdot),\min\{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)\}}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \hookrightarrow F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),\max\{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)\}}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$ In particular, if $p_{+} \in (0,\infty)$, then $B_{p(\cdot),p(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = F_{p(\cdot),p(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}).$

Proof: We only give the proof of (iii). Let $f_i(x) \coloneqq 2^{js(x)} |\varphi_i * f(x)|$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $f \in$ $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. To prove the first embedding of (iii), we let $r(\cdot) \coloneqq \min\{p(\cdot), q(\cdot)\}$ and $f \in B_{p(\cdot),r(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $||f||_{B_{p(\cdot),r(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ and prove that $||f||_{F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$. Obviously, for all $P \in \mathbb{Q}$,

$$\left\|\left\{\left[\phi(\mathbf{P})\right]^{-1}\chi_{\mathbf{P}}f_{j}\right\}_{j\geq(j_{\mathbf{P}}\vee\mathbf{0})}\right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}\left(\mathbf{L}^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)}\leq 1,$$

which, together with (54), implies that

$$\left\|\sum_{j=(j_{P}\vee 0)}^{\infty} \left[[\phi(P)]^{-1}\chi_{P}f_{j}\right]^{r(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \sum_{j=(j_{P}\vee 0)}^{\infty} \left\| \left\{ [\phi(P)]^{-1}\chi_{P}f_{j}\right\}^{r(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/r(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq 1.$$

Then, by the fact that, for all $d \in (0, 1]$ and $\{a_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{C}$,

$$\left(\sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}}\left|a_{j}\right|\right)^{d}\leq\sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}}\left|a_{j}\right|^{d},$$
(69)

we find that, for all $P \in Q$,

$$\varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}\left(\left[\sum_{j=(j_{\mathbf{P}}\vee\mathbf{0})}^{\infty}\left[[\phi(\mathbf{P})]^{-1}\chi_{\mathbf{P}}f_{j}\right]^{q(\cdot)}\right]^{1/q(\cdot)}\right) \leq \varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/r(\cdot)}\left(\sum_{j=(j_{\mathbf{P}}\vee\mathbf{0})}^{\infty}\left\{[\phi(\mathbf{P})]^{-1}\chi_{\mathbf{P}}f_{j}\right\}^{r(\cdot)}\right) \leq 1,$$

which implies that

$$\frac{1}{\phi(\mathbf{P})} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{j=(j_{\mathbf{P}}\vee\mathbf{0})}^{\infty} \left[2^{j_{\mathbf{S}}(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j}*f| \right]^{q(\cdot)} \right\}^{1/q(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{P})} \leq 1.$$

Therefore, $||f||_{F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$, which completes the proof of the first embedding of (iii).

For the second embedding of (iii), let $f \in F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\alpha(\cdot) \coloneqq \max\{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)\}$. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $||f||_{F_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ and show that $\|f\|_{B^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim 1. \text{ Since } \|f\|_{F^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = 1, \text{ we know that, for all } P \in \mathfrak{Q},$ $\left\| \left\{ \sum_{j=(j_{P}\vee 0)}^{\infty} \left([\phi(P)]^{-1}\chi_{P}f_{j} \right)^{q(\cdot)} \right\}^{1/q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(D)} \leq 1,$

which, combined with (69), implies that, for all $P \in \Omega$,

$$\varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/\alpha(\cdot)}\left(\sum_{\mathbf{j}=(\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{P}}\vee\mathbf{0})}^{\infty}\left\{[\phi(\mathbf{P})]^{-1}\chi_{\mathbf{P}}f_{\mathbf{j}}\right\}^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right) \leq \varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}\left(\left[\sum_{\mathbf{j}=(\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{P}}\vee\mathbf{0})}^{\infty}\left[[\phi(\mathbf{P})]^{-1}\chi_{\mathbf{P}}f_{\mathbf{j}}\right]^{q(\cdot)}\right]^{1/q(\cdot)}\right) \leq 1.$$

From this, we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \varrho_{\ell^{\alpha(\cdot)}\left(L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)}\left(\left\{\left[\varphi(P)\right]^{-1}\chi_{P}f_{j}\right\}_{j\geq(j_{P}\vee0)}\right) &= \sum_{j=(j_{P}\vee0)}^{\infty} \left\|\left(\left[\varphi(P)\right]^{-1}\chi_{P}f_{j}\right)^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\leq \left\|\sum_{j=(j_{P}\vee0)}^{\infty} \left(\left[\varphi(P)\right]^{-1}\chi_{P}f_{j}\right)^{\alpha(\cdot)}\right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq 1, \end{aligned}$$

which implies that $||f||_{B^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),\alpha(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$ and hence completes the proof of Proposition (6.2.19).

The Sobolev-type embedding of $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see [3]) shows that it is reasonable and necessary to consider the Besov spaces with variable smoothness and integrability. For $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we also have the following Sobolev-type embeddings.

Proposition (6.2.20) [298]: Let $\phi \in \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, $s_0, s_1 \in C_{loc}^{log}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $p_0, p_1 \in C^{log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfy that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $s_1(x) \le s_0(x)$ and $s_0(x) - n/p_0(x) = s_1(x) - n/p_1(x)$. Then

$$b_{p_{0}(\cdot),\infty}^{s_{0}(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \hookrightarrow b_{p_{1}(\cdot),\infty}^{s_{1}(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n});$$
(70)

moreover, $B_{p_0(\cdot),\infty}^{s_0(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow B_{p_1(\cdot),\infty}^{s_1(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n).$

Proof: To prove this proposition, we only need to show (70), since the embedding $B_{p_0(\cdot),\infty}^{s_0(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow B_{p_1(\cdot),\infty}^{s_1(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a consequence of (70) and Theorem (6.2.18). To prove (70), let $t := \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*} \in b_{p_0(\cdot),\infty}^{s_0(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $P \in \mathbb{Q}$ be any given dyadic cube. For all $Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*$, let $u_Q := t_Q$ when $Q \subset P$ and $u_Q = 0$ otherwise. Then, by the Sobolev-type embedding of $b_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{s(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) = b_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{s(\cdot),1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ (see [28]), namely, $b_{p_0(\cdot),\infty}^{s_0(\cdot),1}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow b_{p_1(\cdot),\infty}^{s_1(\cdot),1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we conclude that

$$\begin{split} \sup_{j \ge (j_{P} \lor 0)} \left\| \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathfrak{Q}^{*}, Q \subset P \\ \ell(Q) = 2^{-j}}} |Q|^{-s_{1}(\cdot)/n} |t_{Q}| \tilde{\chi}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{p_{1}(\cdot)}(P)} &= \sup_{j \ge 0} \left\| \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathfrak{Q}^{*}, \ell(Q) = 2^{-j}}} |Q|^{-s_{1}(\cdot)/n} |u_{Q}| \tilde{\chi}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{p_{1}(\cdot)}(P)} \\ &= \| u \|_{b^{s_{1}(\cdot),1}_{p_{1}(\cdot),\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \| u \|_{b^{s_{0}(\cdot),1}_{p_{0}(\cdot),\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sim \sup_{j \ge 0} \left\| \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathfrak{Q}^{*}, \ell(Q) = 2^{-j}}} |Q|^{-s_{0}(\cdot)/n} |u_{Q}| \tilde{\chi}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{p_{0}(\cdot)}(P)} \\ &\sim \sup_{j \ge (j_{P} \lor 0)} \left\| \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathfrak{Q}^{*}, Q \subset P \\ \ell(Q) = 2^{-j}}} |Q|^{-s_{0}(\cdot)/n} |t_{Q}| \tilde{\chi}_{Q} \right\|_{L^{p_{0}(\cdot)}(P)}. \end{split}$$

From this, we further deduce that

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{t}\|_{b_{p_{1}(\cdot),\infty}^{s_{1}(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} &= \sup_{P\in\mathfrak{Q}} \frac{1}{\phi(P)} \sup_{j\geq (j_{P}\vee 0)} \left\| \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathfrak{Q}^{*},\mathcal{Q}\subset P\\ \ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-s_{1}(\cdot)/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{L^{p_{1}(\cdot)}(P)} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{P\in\mathfrak{Q}} \frac{1}{\phi(P)} \sup_{j\geq (j_{P}\vee 0)} \left\| \sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathfrak{Q}^{*},\mathcal{Q}\subset P\\ \ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-s_{0}(\cdot)/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{L^{p_{0}(\cdot)}(P)} \sim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{b_{p_{0}(\cdot),\infty}^{s_{0}(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}, \end{split}$$

which implies that (69) holds true and hence completes the proof of Proposition (6.2.20). **Theorem (6.2.21) [298]:** Let $\phi \in \mathcal{G}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_+)$, $s_0, s_1 \in C^{\log}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $p_0, p_1, q \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Assume that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $s_1(x) \leq s_0(x)$ and

$$s_0(x) - \frac{n}{p_0(x)} = s_1(x) - \frac{n}{p_1(x)}$$
(71)

Then $B_{p_0(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s_0(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow B_{p_1(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s_1(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n).$

Proof: We only give the proof of the case that $q_+ \in (0, \infty)$, since the case that $q_+ = \infty$ was proved in Proposition (6.2.20). Let $f \in B_{p_0(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s_0(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $g_j(x) \coloneqq \varphi_j * f(x)$. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $||f||_{B_{p_0(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s_0(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$. Next, we show that $||f||_{B_{p_1(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s_1(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$. Obviously, by (54) we find that, for all $R \in \mathcal{D}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\sum_{i=(j_{R}\vee 0)}^{\infty} \left\| \left[\frac{\chi_{R}}{\phi(R)} 2^{js_{0}(\cdot)} |g_{j}| \right]^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p_{0}(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim 1.$$
(72)

Let $P \in \mathbb{Q}$ be a given dyadic cube. We claim that there exists $c \in (0, 1)$, independent of P, such that, for all $j \ge [j_P \lor 0, \infty)$,

$$\left\| \left[\frac{c\chi_{P}}{\phi(P)} 2^{js_{1}(\cdot)} |g_{j}| \right]^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p_{1}(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} 2^{-i\xi} \left\| \left[\frac{\chi_{P_{i}}}{\phi(P_{i})} 2^{js_{0}(\cdot)} |g_{j}| \right]^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p_{0}(\cdot)}{q(\cdot)}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + 2^{-j} =: \delta_{j},$$

where $P_{i} := 2^{i+1+n}P$ and $\xi \in (0, \infty)$. From this claim and (72), we deduce that

$$\sum_{\substack{\mathbf{j}=(\mathbf{j}_{\mathsf{P}}\mathsf{V}\mathbf{0})\\\mathbf{j}=(\mathbf{j}_{\mathsf{P}}\mathsf{V}\mathbf{0})}}^{\infty} \left\| \left[\frac{\mathsf{c}\chi_{\mathsf{P}}}{\boldsymbol{\phi}(\mathsf{P})} 2^{\mathsf{j}\mathsf{s}_{1}(\cdot)} |g_{\mathsf{j}}| \right]^{\mathsf{q}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathsf{L}^{\frac{\mathsf{p}_{1}(\cdot)}{\mathsf{q}(\cdot)}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim 1.$$

which, together with (54), implies that

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{B}^{\mathfrak{s}_1(\cdot),\mathfrak{q}_{(\cdot)}}_{p_1(\cdot),\mathfrak{q}_{(\cdot)}}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim 1 \sim \|f\|_{\mathrm{B}^{\mathfrak{s}_0(\cdot),\mathfrak{q}}_{p_0(\cdot),\mathfrak{q}_{(\cdot)}}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$

Therefore, it remains to prove the above claim. Observe that, for all $j \ge [j_P \lor 0, \infty)$, $\delta_j \in [2^{-j}, 2^{-j} + \theta]$ with $\theta \in [0, \infty)$. Then, by Lemma (6.2.13), we conclude that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $r \in (0, p_-)$ and $m \in (0, \infty)$ large enough,

$$2^{jr[s_{1}(x)-n/p_{1}(x)]}/[\phi(P)]^{r}\delta_{j}^{r/q(x)}|g_{j}(x)|^{r} \leq \eta_{j,2m} \ast \left(\left\{ \frac{2^{j[s_{1}(\cdot)-n/p_{1}(\cdot)]}}{\phi(P)\delta_{j}^{1/q(\cdot)}}|g_{j}| \right\}^{r} \right)(x)$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \int_{D_{i,P}} \frac{2^{jn} (2^{j[s_{1}(y)-n/p_{1}(y)]}|g_{j}(y)|)^{r}}{[\phi(P)]^{r}\delta_{j}^{r/q(y)}(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{2m}}|g_{j}(x)|^{r}dy$$

$$=: \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} A_{j,i}(x), \qquad (73)$$

where $D_{1,P} \coloneqq 4\sqrt{n}P$ and, for all $i \in [2, \infty)$, $D_{i,P} \coloneqq (2^{i+1}\sqrt{n}P) \setminus (2^i\sqrt{n}P)$. For $A_{j,1}$, by the Hölder inequality in (71), (57) and Lemma (6.2.16), we see that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{j},1} &\lesssim \left\| \left\| \frac{\chi_{4\sqrt{n}\mathbf{P}}}{\boldsymbol{\phi}(\mathbf{P})\delta_{\mathbf{j}}^{1/q(\cdot)}} 2^{\mathbf{j}\mathbf{s}_{0}(\cdot)} \left| g_{\mathbf{j}} \right| \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}_{0}(\cdot)/\mathbf{r}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} &\lesssim \left\| \frac{2^{\mathbf{j}n}2^{-\mathbf{j}n\mathbf{r}/p_{0}(\cdot)}}{(1+2^{\mathbf{j}}|x-\cdot|)^{2m}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{(\mathbf{p}_{0}(\cdot)/\mathbf{r})^{*}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\lesssim \left[\frac{\boldsymbol{\phi}(\mathbf{P}_{1})}{\boldsymbol{\phi}(\mathbf{P})} \right]^{\mathbf{r}} \left\| \frac{\chi_{4\sqrt{n}\mathbf{P}}}{\boldsymbol{\phi}(\mathbf{P}_{1})\delta_{\mathbf{j}}^{1/q(\cdot)}} 2^{\mathbf{j}\mathbf{s}_{0}(\cdot)} \left| g_{\mathbf{j}} \right| \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}_{0}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\mathbf{r}} \lesssim 1, \end{split}$$

where the last inequality follows from the definition of δ_j . Similarly, observe that, for all $x \in P$ and $y \in D_{i,P}$ with $i \ge 2$, $|x - y| \ge 2^{i-j_P}$, then the fact that $j \ge j_P$ further implies that

$$\begin{split} A_{j,i} &\lesssim \frac{2^{(j_{P}-j)m}}{2^{i(m-\xi/q_{-})}} \left[\frac{\varphi(P_{i})}{\varphi(P)} \right]^{r} \left\| \frac{\chi_{P_{i}} 2^{js_{0}(\cdot)} |g_{j}|}{\varphi(P_{i}) \left\{ 2^{i\xi} \delta_{j} \right\}^{1/q(\cdot)}} \right\|_{L^{p_{0}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{r} \left\| \frac{2^{jn} 2^{-jnr/p_{0}(\cdot)}}{(1+2^{j}|x-\cdot|)^{m}} \right\|_{L^{(p_{0}(\cdot)/r)^{*}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\lesssim 2^{(j_{P}-j)m} 2^{-i(m-r\log_{2}c_{1})} \lesssim 2^{-i(m-\xi/q_{-}-r\log_{2}c_{1})}. \end{split}$$

Thus, by (73) we conclude that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\chi_{\mathbf{P}}(x)[\phi(\mathbf{P})]^{-1}\delta_{j}^{-1/q(x)}2^{jr[s_{1}(x)-n/p_{1}(x)]}|g_{j}(x)| \leq 1.$$

From this, (71) and an appropriate choice of $c \in (0, 1)$, we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{c\chi_{\mathrm{P}}(x)2^{\mathrm{j}\mathbf{s}_{1}(x)}}{\phi(\mathrm{P})\delta_{j}^{1/q(x)}} |g_{j}(x)| \end{aligned} \\ &= c^{\mathrm{p}_{0}(x)} \left[\frac{\chi_{\mathrm{P}}(x)2^{\mathrm{j}\mathbf{s}_{0}(x)}}{\phi(\mathrm{P})\delta_{j}^{1/q(x)}} |g_{j}(x)| \right]^{\mathrm{p}_{0}(x)} \left[\frac{c\chi_{\mathrm{P}}(x)2^{\mathrm{j}[\mathbf{s}_{1}(x)-n/\mathrm{p}_{1}(x)]}}{\phi(\mathrm{P})\delta_{j}^{1/q(x)}} |g_{j}(x)| \right]^{\mathrm{p}_{1}(x)-\mathrm{p}_{0}(x)} \\ &\leq c^{\mathrm{p}_{0}(x)} \left[\frac{\chi_{\mathrm{P}}(x)2^{\mathrm{j}\mathbf{s}_{0}(x)}}{\phi(\mathrm{P})\delta_{j}^{1/q(x)}} |g_{j}(x)| \right]^{\mathrm{p}_{0}(x)} \leq \left[\frac{\chi_{\mathrm{P}_{1}}(x)2^{\mathrm{j}\mathbf{s}_{0}(x)}}{\phi(\mathrm{P}_{1})\{2^{\mathrm{\xi}}\delta_{j}\}^{1/q(x)}} |g_{j}(x)| \right]^{\mathrm{p}_{0}(x)}, \end{aligned}$$

which, together with the definition of δ_j , implies that the previous claim holds true and hence completes the proof of Theorem (6.2.21).

Now we characterize $B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in terms of the Peetre maximal functions and establish their atomic characterization via Sobolev embeddings. Following [17], for all $f \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $a \in (0, \infty)$ and $s : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$, the Peetre maximal function of f is defined by setting, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$,

$$\varphi_{j}^{*,a}(2^{js(\cdot)}f)(x) \coloneqq \sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{js(\mathbf{y})} |\varphi_{j} * f(\mathbf{y})|}{(1+2^{j}|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}|)^{a}}.$$

Lemma (6.2.22) [298]: Let $p \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with $p_- \in (1, \infty]$. Then there exists a positive constant C, independent of f, such that, for all $f \in L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $\|\mathcal{M}(f)\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C\|f\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Lemma (6.2.23) [298]: Let p, q, s, ϕ be as in Definition (6.2.6) and $a \in (n + \log_2 c_1 + \epsilon/q_-, \infty)$ with $\epsilon \in (0, \infty)$. Assume that $p_- \in (1, \infty)$, $q_+ \in (0, \infty)$ and $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}$ with norm 1. Then there exists a positive constant c such that, for all $P \in Q$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ with $j \ge (j_P \lor 0)$,

$$\inf \left\{ \lambda_{j} \in (0,\infty) : \varrho_{p(\cdot)} \left(\frac{c \chi_{P} \varphi_{j}^{*,a} \left(2^{js(\cdot)} f \right)}{\varphi(P) \lambda_{j}^{1/q(\cdot)}} \right) \leq 1 \right\}$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \inf \left\{ \eta_{j} \in (0,\infty) : \varrho_{p(\cdot)} \left(\frac{\chi_{P_{k}^{n}} 2^{js(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j} * f|}{2^{k\epsilon/q(\cdot)} \varphi(P_{k}^{n}) \eta_{j}^{1/q(\cdot)}} \right) \leq 1 \right\} + 2^{-\sigma[j-(j_{P} \vee 0)]}$$
(74)

where, for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $P_k^n \coloneqq 2^{k+1+n}P$ and $\sigma \in \left(0, \frac{a-n}{4(1/q_--1/q_+)}\right)$. **Proof:** Let δ_j^P be the right hand side term of (74), we easily see that

$$\begin{split} \delta_{j}^{p} &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{-k\varepsilon} \frac{1}{\Phi(P_{k}^{n})} \left\| \left\{ 2^{js(\cdot)} \left| \varphi_{j} * f \right| \right\}_{j \geq \left(j_{P_{k}^{n}} \lor 0 \right)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)} \left(L^{p(\cdot)}(P_{k}^{n}) \right)} + 2^{-\sigma[j - (j_{P} \lor 0)]} \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{-k\varepsilon} \| f \|_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot), \varphi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + 2^{-\sigma[j - (j_{P} \lor 0)]} = 1/(2^{\varepsilon} - 1) + 2^{-\sigma[j - (j_{P} \lor 0)]}, \end{split}$$

which implies that

$$\delta_{j}^{P} \in \left[2^{-\sigma[j-(j_{P}\vee 0)]}, 1/(2^{\varepsilon}-1) + 2^{-\sigma[j-(j_{P}\vee 0)]}\right].$$
(75)

Thus, to prove Lemma (6.2.23), we only need to show that, for some positive constant c,

$$\inf\left\{\lambda_{j} \in (0,\infty): \varrho_{p(\cdot)}\left(\frac{c\chi_{P}(\delta_{j}^{P})^{-1/q(\cdot)}\varphi_{j}^{*,a}(2^{js(\cdot)}f)}{\varphi(P)\lambda_{j}^{1/q(\cdot)}}\right) \leq 1\right\} \leq 1,$$

which, via Lemma (6.2.16), is a consequence of

$$H_{P} \coloneqq \left\| \frac{\chi_{P}(\delta_{j}^{P})^{-1/q(\cdot)}}{\varphi(P)} \varphi_{j}^{*,a}(2^{js(\cdot)}f) \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim 1.$$
(76)

Next we prove (76). By Lemma (6.2.13) and the inequality that, for all $x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $(1+2^{-j}|x-y|)^{-a} \le (1+2^{-j}|x-z|)^{-a}(1+2^{-j}|z-y|)^a$, we find that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$.

$$\begin{split} &\varphi_{j}^{*,a} \left(2^{js(\cdot)} f \right)(x) \lesssim \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{jn} 2^{js(z)} |\varphi_{j} * f(y)|}{(1+2^{j}|y-z|)^{2a}} dz \frac{1}{(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{a}} \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{jn} 2^{js(z)} |\varphi_{j} * f(z)|}{(1+2^{j}|x-z|)^{a}} dz \\ &\sim \int_{4\sqrt{n}P} \frac{2^{jn} 2^{js(z)} |\varphi_{j} * f(z)|}{(1+2^{j}|x-z|)^{a}} dz + \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \int_{D_{k,P}} \cdots dz =: A_{j}(x) + \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} A_{j}^{k}(x), \end{split}$$
where, for all $k \in \mathbb{N} \cap [2,\infty)$, $D_{k,p} := \left(2^{k+1}\sqrt{n}P\right) 2^{k}\sqrt{n}P$. Thus, we obtain

where, for all $k \in \mathbb{N} \cap [2, \infty)$, $D_{k,P} \coloneqq (2^{k+1}\sqrt{n}P \setminus 2^k\sqrt{n}P)$. Thus, we obtain

$$H_{P} \leq \left\| \frac{\chi_{P}A_{j}(\cdot)}{\left[\delta_{j}^{P}\right]^{1/q(\cdot)}\phi(P)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + \left\| \frac{\chi_{P}A_{j}(\cdot)}{\left[\delta_{j}^{P}\right]^{1/q(\cdot)}\phi(P)} \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} A_{j}^{k}(\cdot) \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} =: H_{P,1} + H_{P,2}.$$
(77)

We first estimate $H_{P,1}$. For all $x \in P$, we write

$$A_{j}(x) \sim \left\{ \int_{B_{-1}^{j}(x)} + \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \int_{B_{i}^{j}(x)} \right\} \frac{2^{jn} 2^{js(z)} |\varphi_{j} * f(z)| \chi_{4\sqrt{n}P}(z)}{(1+2^{j}|x-z|)^{a}} dz =: A_{j,1}(x) + A_{j,2}(x), \quad (78)$$

refor all $x \in \mathbb{P}^{n}$ B^{j} $(x) := B(x, 2^{-[j-(j_{P}\vee 0)]/2})$ and for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$

i).

where, for all
$$x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
, $B_{-1}^j(x) \coloneqq B(x, 2^{-[j-(j_P \vee 0)]/2})$ and, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$,
 $B_i^j(x) \coloneqq B(x, 2^{-[j-(j_P \vee 0)]/2+i+1}) \setminus B(x, 2^{-[j-(j_P \vee 0)]/2+i+1})$

From (75), $q \in C^{\log}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we deduce that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $z \in B^j_{-1}(x)$, $\left(\delta_j^{\mathrm{P}}\right)^{\frac{1}{q(z)}-\frac{1}{q(x)}} \leq \left\{2^{\sigma[j-(j_{\mathrm{P}}\vee 0)]}\delta_j^{\mathrm{P}}\right\}^{\left|\frac{1}{q(z)}-\frac{1}{q(x)}\right|} \left\{2^{\sigma[j-(j_{\mathrm{P}}\vee 0)]}\right\}^{\left|\frac{1}{q(z)}-\frac{1}{q(x)}\right|} \leq 2^{2\sigma[j-(j_{\mathrm{P}}\vee 0)]}^{\frac{C_{\log}(1/q)}{\log(e+1/|x-z|)}} \leq 1.$ By this, $a \in (n, \infty)$ and [286, (3.9)], we conclude that, for all $x \in \mathrm{P}$,

$$\frac{\left(\delta_{j}^{p}\right)^{-1/q(x)}}{\phi(P)}A_{j,1}(x) \lesssim \frac{1}{\phi(P)} \int_{B_{-1}^{j}(x)} \frac{2^{jn}2^{js(z)} |\varphi_{j} * f(z)| \chi_{4\sqrt{n}P}(z)}{\left[\delta_{j}^{P}\right]^{1/q(z)} (1+2^{j}|x-z|)^{a}} dz
\lesssim \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{2^{js(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j} * f| \chi_{4\sqrt{n}P}}{\left[\delta_{j}^{P}\right]^{1/q(\cdot)} \phi(P)}\right)(x).$$
(79)

On the other hand, by (75), we see that, for all $x \in P$ and $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$,

$$\left(\delta_{j}^{P}\right)^{[1/q(z)-1/q(x)]} \lesssim 2^{2\sigma[j-(j_{P}\vee 0)](1/q_{-}-1/q_{+})}$$
(80)

and $1 + 2^{j}|x - z| \ge 1 + 2^{j}2^{-\frac{j - (j_{P} \vee 0)}{2} + i}$. Thus, by $\sigma \in \left(0, \frac{a - n}{4(1/q_{-} - 1/q_{+})}\right)$, we conclude that, for all $x \in P$,

$$\begin{split} \frac{\left(\delta_{j}^{p}\right)^{-1/q(x)}}{\varphi(P)} A_{j,2}(x) &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{2^{2\sigma[j-(j_{P}\vee 0)](1/q_{-}-1/q_{+})}}{\varphi(P)2^{\left[\frac{j+(j_{P}\vee 0)}{2}+i\right]a}} \int_{B_{i}^{j}(x)} \frac{2^{jn}2^{js(z)}}{\left(\delta_{j}^{P}\right)^{1/q(z)}} |\varphi_{j}*f(z)|\chi_{4\sqrt{n}P}(z)dz \\ &\lesssim 2^{j[2\sigma(1/q_{-}-1/q_{+})+n/2-a/2]}2^{(j_{P}\vee 0)[-2\sigma(1/q_{-}-1/q_{+})-a/2+n/2]} \\ &\times \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{i(n-a)} \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{\chi_{4\sqrt{n}P}}{\left[\delta_{j}^{P}\right]^{1/q(\cdot)}\varphi(P)}2^{js(\cdot)}|\varphi_{j}*f|\right)(x) \\ &\lesssim \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{\chi_{4\sqrt{n}P}}{\left[\delta_{j}^{P}\right]^{1/q(\cdot)}\varphi(P)}2^{js(\cdot)}|\varphi_{j}*f|\right)(x), \end{split}$$

which, together with (78) and (79), implies that, for all $x \in P$,

$$\frac{\left(\delta_{j}^{\mathrm{P}}\right)^{-1/q(x)}}{\phi(\mathrm{P})}A_{j}(x) \lesssim \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{\chi_{4\sqrt{n}\mathrm{P}}}{\left[\delta_{j}^{\mathrm{P}}\right]^{1/q(\cdot)}\phi(\mathrm{P})}2^{js(\cdot)}|\varphi_{j}*f|\right)(x).$$

By this, Lemma (6.2.22) and (57), we further know that

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{H}_{\mathsf{P},1} &\lesssim \left\| \frac{\chi_{2^{n+2}\mathsf{P}}}{\left[\delta_{j}^{\mathsf{P}} \right]^{1/q(\cdot)} \varphi(2^{n+2}\mathsf{P})} 2^{\mathsf{j}\mathsf{s}(\cdot)} |\varphi_{\mathsf{j}} \ast f| \right\|_{\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\lesssim 2^{\varepsilon/q_{-}} \left\| \frac{\chi_{2^{n+2}\mathsf{P}} 2^{\varepsilon/q(\cdot)}}{\left[\delta_{j}^{\mathsf{P}} \right]^{1/q(\cdot)} \varphi(2^{n+2}\mathsf{P})} 2^{\mathsf{j}\mathsf{s}(\cdot)} |\varphi_{\mathsf{j}} \ast f| \right\|_{\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim 1, \end{split}$$

where the last inequality comes from the definition of δ_j^P .

We now estimate $H_{P,2}$. Notice that, when $x \in P$ and $z \in D_{k,P}$ with $k \in \mathbb{N} \cap [2, \infty, 1+2^j|x-z| \ge 2^k 2^{j-j_P}$. Then, by (80) and (74), we see that, for all $x \in P$, $(\delta_i^P)^{-1/q(x)} A_i^k(x)$

$$\begin{split} &\lesssim 2^{2\sigma[j-(j_{P}\vee 0)](1/q_{-}-1/q_{+})} 2^{-(k+j-j_{P})a} 2^{jn} 2^{k\epsilon/q_{-}} \int_{D_{k,P}} \frac{2^{-k\epsilon/q(z)}}{[\delta_{j}^{P}]^{1/q(z)}} 2^{js(z)} |\varphi_{j} * f(z)| dz \\ &\lesssim 2^{-(j-j_{P})[a-n-2\sigma(1/q_{-}-1/q_{+})]} 2^{-k(a-n-\epsilon/q_{-})} \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{\chi_{P_{k}^{n}} 2^{-k\epsilon/q(\cdot)}}{[\delta_{j}^{P}]^{1/q(\cdot)} \varphi(P)} 2^{js(\cdot)t} |\varphi_{j} * f|\right)(x) \\ &\lesssim 2^{-k(a-n-\epsilon/q_{-})} \mathcal{M}\left(\frac{\chi_{P_{k}^{n}} 2^{-k\epsilon/q(\cdot)}}{[\delta_{j}^{P}]^{1/q(\cdot)} \varphi(P)} 2^{js(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j} * f|\right)(x), \end{split}$$

which, combined with Lemma (6.2.22), (57), the definition of δ_j^P and $a \in (n + \log_2 c_1 + \epsilon/q_-, \infty)$, implies that

$$H_{P,2} \lesssim \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} 2^{-k(a-n-\varepsilon/q_{-}-\log_{2}c_{1})} \left\| \frac{\chi_{P_{k}^{n}} 2^{-k\varepsilon/q(\cdot)}}{\varphi(P_{k}^{n}) [\delta_{j}^{P}]^{1/q(\cdot)}} 2^{js(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j} * f| \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim 1.$$
(82)

Combining (77), (81) and (82), we conclude that (76) holds true and then complete the proof of Lemma (6.2.23).

Theorem (6.2.24) [298]: Let p, q, s, ϕ be as in Definition (6.2.6) and $a \in ([n + \log_2 c_1]/p_-, \infty).$ (83)

Then $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $||f||_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$, where

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{B}^{\mathrm{s}(\cdot),\mathrm{\varphi}}_{\mathrm{p}(\cdot),\mathrm{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{*} = \sup_{\mathrm{P}\in\mathrm{Q}}\frac{1}{\mathrm{\varphi}(\mathrm{P})}\left\|\left\{\varphi_{j}^{*,a}\left(2^{j\mathrm{s}(\cdot)}f\right)\right\}_{j\geq(j_{\mathrm{P}}\vee0)}\right\|_{\ell^{\mathrm{q}(\cdot)}\left(\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right)}^{*}.$$

Moreover, for all $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}$, $||f||_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sim ||f||_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{*}$ with equivalent positive constants independent of f.

Proof: Let $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $||f||^*_{B^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$. Then, by the obvious fact that, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$2^{\mathrm{js}(x)} \big| \varphi_{\mathrm{j}} * f(x) \big| \le \varphi_{\mathrm{j}}^{*,a} \big(2^{\mathrm{js}(\cdot)} f \big)(x),$$

we find that $||f||_{B^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq ||f||^*_{B^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ and hence $f \in B^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Thus, to complete the proof of this theorem, we only need to show that, for all $f \in B^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\|f\|_{B^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{*} \lesssim \|f\|_{B^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(84)

Without loss of generality, to prove (84), we may assume that $||f||_{B^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ and show that $||f||^*_{B^{s(\cdot),\varphi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$. By (83), we find that there exist $t \in (0, p_-)$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, \infty)$ such that

$$at \in (n + \log_2 c_1 + \varepsilon/q_-, \infty).$$
(85)

. t

Let $P \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a given dyadic cube. Next we show that

$$\frac{1}{[\phi(\mathbf{P})]^{\mathsf{t}}} \left\| \left\{ \left[\varphi_{j}^{*,a} \left(2^{j\mathbf{s}(\cdot)} f \right) \right]^{\mathsf{t}} \right\}_{j \ge (j_{\mathbf{P}} \lor 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)/\mathsf{t}} \left(L^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/\mathsf{t}}(\mathbf{P}) \right)} \lesssim 1$$
(86)

with implicit positive constant independent of P, by Lemma (6.2.3), is equivalent to prove that $\sum_{j=(j_P \vee 0)}^{\infty} I_{P,j} \leq 1$, where

$$I_{P,j} \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \lambda_j \in (0,\infty) : \varrho_{\underline{p}(\cdot)} \left(\frac{c\chi_P \left[\varphi_j^{*,a} \left(2^{js(\cdot)} f \right) \right]^t}{[\varphi(P)]^t \lambda_j^{t/q(\cdot)}} \right) \le 1 \right\},$$

with c being a positive constant sufficiently small. Since

$$\left[\varphi_{j}^{*,a}(2^{js(\cdot)}f)(x)\right]^{t} = \sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{2^{js(y)t} |\varphi_{j} * f(y)|^{t}}{(1+2^{j}|x-y|)^{at}},$$

it follows, from Lemma (6.2.23), that, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cap [(j_P \lor 0), \infty)$,

$$\begin{split} I_{P,j} &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \inf \left\{ \eta_{j} \in (0,\infty) : \varrho_{p(\cdot)/t} \left(\frac{\chi_{P_{k}^{n}} 2^{js(\cdot)t} \big| \varphi_{j} * f(y) \big|^{t}}{2^{k\epsilon t/q(\cdot)} [\varphi(P_{k}^{n})]^{t} \eta_{j}^{t/q(\cdot)}} \right) &\leq 1 \right\} + 2^{-\widetilde{\sigma}[j-(j_{P}\vee 0)]} \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{-k\epsilon} \inf \left\{ \eta_{j} \in (0,\infty) : \varrho_{p(\cdot)/t} \left(\frac{\chi_{P_{k}^{n}} 2^{js(\cdot)t} \big| \varphi_{j} * f(y) \big|^{t}}{[\varphi(P_{k}^{n})]^{t} \eta_{j}^{t/q(\cdot)}} \right) \leq 1 \right\} + 2^{-\widetilde{\sigma}[j-(j_{P}\vee 0)]} \\ &=: \widetilde{\delta_{j}^{P}}, \end{split}$$

where $P_k^n \coloneqq 2^{k+1+n}P$ and $\tilde{\sigma} \in \left(0, \frac{at-n}{4(1/q_- - 1/q_+)}\right)$. From this, we further deduce that $\sum_{j=(j_P \lor 0)}^{\infty} I_{P,j} \lesssim \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{2^{-k\varepsilon}}{[\phi(P_k^n)]^t} \left\| \left\{ 2^{j_S(\cdot)} | \varphi_j * f | \right\}_{j \ge (j_P \lor 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)} \left(L^{p(\cdot)}(P_k^n)\right)}^t + 1$ $\lesssim \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{-k\varepsilon} \|f\|_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^t + 1 \lesssim 1,$

which implies that (86) holds true. This finishes the proof of Theorem (6.2.24).

As applications of Theorem (6.2.24), we obtain more equivalent quasi-norms of Besov-type spaces with variable smoothness and integrability. To this end, for all $f \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, let

$$\left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \right\|_1 \coloneqq \sup_{\mathbf{P} \in \mathbb{Q}} \frac{1}{\phi(\mathbf{P})} \left\| \left\{ 2^{\mathbf{j}\mathbf{s}(\cdot)} | \varphi_{\mathbf{j}} * f | \right\}_{\mathbf{j} \ge 0} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}\left(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{k}}^n)\right)}$$

and

$$\left\| f | B_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \right\|_2 \coloneqq \sup_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathbb{Q}^*} \sup_{x\in\mathcal{Q}} [\phi(\mathcal{Q})]^{-1} | \mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathbf{s}(x)/n} \left\| \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{L^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \left\| \varphi_{\mathbf{j}_{\mathcal{Q}}} * f(x) \right\|_{L^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \| \varphi_{\mathbf{j}_{\mathcal{Q}}} * f(x) \|_{L^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \| \varphi_{\mathbf{j}_{\mathcal{Q}}} * f(x) \|$$

Theorem (6.2.25) [298]: Let p, q, s, ϕ be as in Definition (6.2.6).

(i) Assume that $p_+ \in (0, \infty)$ and $c_1 \in (0, 2^{n/p_+})$. Then $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if $f \in S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\|f|B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)\|_1 < \infty$; moreover, there exists a positive constant C, independent of f, such that

$$\|f\|_{\mathbf{B}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\mathbf{\phi}}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \left\|f|\mathbf{B}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\mathbf{\phi}}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})\right\|_{1} \leq C\|f\|_{\mathbf{B}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\mathbf{\phi}}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(87)

(ii) Assume that $p_{-} \in (0, \infty)$ and $c_{1} \in (0, 2^{-n/p_{-}})$. Then $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ if and only if $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and $\left\| f | B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \right\|_{2} < \infty$; moreover, there exists a positive constant C, independent of f, such that

$$C^{-1} \|f\|_{B^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \left\| f|B^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \right\|_2 \le C \|f\|_{B^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$$
(88)

Proof: Let $P \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a given dyadic cube and, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $f_j(x) \coloneqq 2^{js(x)} |\phi_j * f(x)|$.

We first prove (i). Let $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\left\| f | B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \right\|_1 < \infty$. Then, by definitions, we easily find that $\| f \|_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq \left\| f | B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \right\|_1$ and hence $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Conversely, let $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. To complete the proof of (i), it suffices to show the second inequality of (87).

When $p_+ \in (0, \infty)$, we have

$$\frac{1}{\phi(P)} \left\| \left\{ f_{j} \right\}_{j \geq 0} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)}(P))} \lesssim \frac{1}{\phi(P)} \left\| \left\{ f_{j} \right\}_{j=0}^{(j_{P}\vee 0)-1} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)}(P))} + \frac{1}{\phi(P)} \left\| \left\{ f_{j} \right\}_{j \geq (j_{P}\vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)}(P))} =: I_{P,1} + I_{P,2},$$
(89)

where $I_{P,1} = 0$ if $j_P \le 0$. Obviously, $I_{P,2} \le ||f||_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$. To estimate $I_{P,1}$, without loss of generality, we may assume that $||f||_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ and show that $I_{P,1} \le 1$ in the case that $j_P > 0$. Observe that, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ with $j \le j_P - 1$, there exists a unique dyadic cube P_j such that $P \subset P_j$ and $\ell(P_j) = 2^{-j}$. It follows that, for all $x \in P$, $f(x) := 2^{j_s(x)} |_{\ell_p} = f(x)| \le \inf_{t \to t_1} e^{*,a}(2^{j_s(\cdot)}, f)(y)$ (90)

$$f_{j}(x) \coloneqq 2^{js(x)} |\varphi_{j} * f(x)| \lesssim \inf_{y \in P_{j}} \varphi_{j}^{*,a} (2^{js(\cdot)} f)(y)$$

$$\tag{90}$$

and, moreover,

$$\begin{split} \left\| [\phi(P)]^{-1} \chi_{P} f_{j} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} &\lesssim \left\| [\phi(P)]^{-1} \chi_{P} \inf_{y \in P_{j}} \varphi_{j}^{*,a} (2^{js(\cdot)} f)(y) \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ &\lesssim \frac{\|\chi_{P}\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}}{\|\chi_{P_{j}}\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}} [\phi(P)]^{-1} \|\varphi_{j}^{*,a} (2^{js(\cdot)} f)\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(P_{j})} \\ &\lesssim \|f\|_{B^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \frac{\|\chi_{P}\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}}{\|\chi_{P_{j}}\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}} \frac{\phi(P_{j})}{\phi(P)}, \end{split}$$
(91)

where we used Theorem (6.2.24) in the last inequality. On the other hand, by [297, Lemma 2.6], we find that

$$\left\|\chi_{\mathbf{P}_{j}}\right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \gtrsim 2^{-j\frac{n}{p_{+}}} 2^{j\mathbf{p}\frac{n}{p_{+}}} \|\chi_{\mathbf{P}}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

and, by (57) and (58), we see that $\phi(P) \gtrsim 2^{j \log_2 c_1} 2^{-j_P \log_2 c_1} \phi(c_{P_j}, 2^{-j})$. Thus, by (5.18), we further conclude that

$$\| [\phi(\mathbf{P})]^{-1} \chi_{\mathbf{P}} f_{\mathbf{j}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \| f \|_{\mathbf{B}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\phi}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{(\mathbf{j}-\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{P}})(n/p_{+}-\log_{2}c_{1})},$$
(92)

which, together with (i) and (ii) of Lemma (6.2.16), implies that

 $\inf \left\{ \lambda_{j} : \varrho_{p(\cdot)} \left([\phi(P)]^{-1} \lambda_{j}^{-1/q(\cdot)} \chi_{P} f_{j} \right) \leq 1 \right\} \lesssim \left\| [\phi(P)]^{-1} \chi_{P} f_{j} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q_{-}} + \left\| [\phi(P)]^{-1} \chi_{P} f_{j} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{q_{+}} \\ \lesssim 2^{(j-j_{P})(n/p_{+}-\log_{2}c_{1})q_{-}} + 2^{(j-j_{P})(n/p_{+}-\log_{2}c_{1})q_{+}}.$

From this and $c_1 \in (0, 2^{n/p_+})$, we deduce that there exists a positive constant C_0 such that

$$\sum_{j=0} \inf \left\{ \lambda_j : \varrho_{p(\cdot)} \left(\frac{\chi_P f_j}{C_0 \phi(P) \lambda_j^{1/q(\cdot)}} \right) \le 1 \right\} \le 1,$$

namely, $\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)}(P))}\left(\left\{\left[C_{0}\phi(P)\right]^{-1}\chi_{P}f_{j}\right\}_{j=0}^{j_{P}-1}\right) \le 1$ implies that $I_{P,1} \le 1$. Therefore, by (89), we find that

$$\left\| f | B_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \right\|_1 \lesssim \sup_{\mathbf{P} \in \mathbb{Q}} \left(I_{\mathbf{P},1} + I_{\mathbf{P},2} \right) \lesssim \| f \|_{B_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)},$$

which completes the proof of the second inequality of (87) in the case $q_+ \in (0, \infty)$.

We now consider the case that $q_+ = \infty$. In this case, $q \equiv \infty$. From (92) and $c_1 \in (0, 2^{n/p_+})$, we deduce that, for $j_P \in \mathbb{N}$,

 $\sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_+, j \le j_P} [\phi(P)]^{-1} \|f_j\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(P)} \lesssim \|f\|_{B^{s(\cdot), \phi}_{p(\cdot), q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_+, j \le j_P} 2^{(j-j_P)(n/p_+ - \log_2 c_1)} \lesssim \|f\|_{B^{s(\cdot), \phi}_{p(\cdot), q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}.$ By this, we know that

$$\left\| f | B_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \right\|_{1} \lesssim \sup_{P \in \mathbb{Q}} \left\{ \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}, j \leq (j_{P} \vee 0)} \frac{\left\| f_{j} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(P)}}{\phi(P)} + \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}, j \geq (j_{P} \vee 0)} \frac{\left\| f_{j} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(P)}}{\phi(P)} \right\} \lesssim \left\| f \right\|_{B_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})},$$

which completes the proof of the second inequality of (87) in the case that $q_+ = \infty$ and hence (i) of Theorem (6.2.25).

Next, we show (ii). Let $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Then $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. On the other hand, for all $Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*$ and $x \in Q$, by Theorem (6.2.24) and (90), we easily see that

$$\frac{\left\|\chi_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}}{\phi(\mathcal{Q})}f_{j_{\mathcal{Q}}}(x) \lesssim \frac{\left\|\chi_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}}{\phi(\mathcal{Q})}\inf_{y\in\mathcal{Q}}\phi_{j_{\mathcal{Q}}}^{*,a}(2^{j_{\mathcal{Q}}s(\cdot)}f)(y) \lesssim [\phi(\mathcal{Q})]^{-1}\left\|\phi_{j_{\mathcal{Q}}}^{*,a}(2^{j_{\mathcal{Q}}s(\cdot)}f)\right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathcal{Q})}$$
$$\lesssim \left\|f\right\|_{B^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$

This implies that $\left\| f | B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \right\|_2 \lesssim \left\| f \right\|_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} < \infty$. Conversely, let $f \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\left\| f | B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n) \right\|_2 < \infty$. We need to show the first inequality of (88). To this end, for all $j \ge (j_P \lor 0)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\mathfrak{Q}_{P,j}^* \coloneqq \{Q \in \mathfrak{Q}^* : Q \subset \mathbb{Q}^*\}$ P, $\ell(Q) = 2^{-j}$ } and, for all *Q* ∈ $\mathbb{Q}_{P,j}^*$, let

$$g(\mathcal{Q}, \mathbf{P})(\mathbf{x}) \coloneqq [\mathbf{\phi}(\mathbf{P})]^{-1} \mathbf{\phi}(\mathcal{Q}) \| \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{-1} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}}(\mathbf{x}).$$

When $q_+ \in (0, \infty)$, by [297, Lemma 2.6], (57) and (58), we find that

$$\left\| \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}_{P,j}^*} g(\mathcal{Q}, \mathsf{P}) \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim 2^{(j-j_P)(\log_2 c_1 + n/p_-)}$$

which, combined with (i) and (ii) of Lemma (6.2.16), implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \varrho_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)})} \left(\left\{ \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\mathbf{P},j}^{*}} g(\mathcal{Q}, \mathbf{P}) \right\} \right) &= \sum_{\mathbf{j}=(\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{P}} \vee \mathbf{0})}^{\infty} \inf \left\{ \lambda_{\mathbf{j}} \in (0, \infty) : \varrho_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)} \left(\sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\mathbf{P},j}^{*}} \frac{g(\mathcal{Q}, \mathbf{P})}{\lambda_{\mathbf{j}}^{1/\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}} \right) \leq 1 \right\} \\ &\leq \sum_{\mathbf{j}=(\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{p}} \vee \mathbf{0})}^{\infty} \left[\left\| \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\mathbf{P},j}^{*}} g(\mathcal{Q}, \mathbf{P}) \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\mathbf{q}_{-}} + \left\| \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\mathbf{P},j}^{*}} g(\mathcal{Q}, \mathbf{P}) \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\mathbf{q}_{+}} \right] \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\mathbf{j}=(\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{p}} \vee \mathbf{0})}^{\infty} \left[2^{(\mathbf{j}-\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{P}})(\log_{2}c_{1}+n/p_{-})q_{-}} + 2^{(\mathbf{j}-\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{P}})(\log_{2}c_{1}+n/p_{-})q_{+}} \right] \leq 1. \end{aligned}$$

By this, we conclude that

$$\left\| \left\{ \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathbb{Q}_{P,j}^{*}} g(\mathcal{Q}, P) \right\}_{j \ge (j_{P} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)} \left(L^{p(\cdot)}(P) \right)} \lesssim 1.$$

...

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\{ [\phi(\mathbf{P})]^{-1} \chi_{\mathbf{P}} f_{j} \right\}_{j \ge (j_{\mathbf{P}} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)} \left(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{P}) \right)} &\lesssim 1 \left\| \left\{ \frac{1}{\phi(\mathbf{P})} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\mathbf{P}, j}^{*}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} f_{j} \right\}_{j \ge (j_{\mathbf{P}} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q(\cdot)} \left(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{P}) \right)} \\ &\lesssim \left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot), \mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot), \phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \right\|_{2} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}_{\mathbf{P}, j}^{*}} g(\mathcal{Q}, \mathbf{P}) \right\}_{j \ge (j_{\mathbf{P}} \vee 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \left(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{P}) \right)} \lesssim \left\| f | \mathbf{B}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot), \mathbf{q}(\cdot)}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot), \phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \right\|_{2}, \end{split}$$

which implies that the first inequality of (88) holds true in the case that $q_+ \in (0, \infty)$. The proof of the case that $q_+ = \infty$ is similar and more simple, the details being omitted. This finishes the proof of (ii) and hence Theorem (6.2.25).

As another application of Theorem (6.2.24), we obtain the following conclusion. **Proposition** (6.2.26) [298]: Let p, q, s and ϕ be as in Definition (6.2.6). Then

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{B}^{\mathsf{s}(\cdot), \varphi}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot), \mathsf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n).$$
(93)

Proof: By Proposition (6.2.19), we see that $B_{p(\cdot),q_{-}}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \hookrightarrow B_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. Thus, to prove (93), it suffices to show that

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{B}^{\mathsf{s}(\cdot), \varphi}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot), \mathsf{q}_-}(\mathbb{R}^n) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathsf{B}^{\mathsf{s}(\cdot), \varphi}_{\mathsf{p}(\cdot), \infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n) \tag{94}$$

The first embedding of (94) can be obtained by an argument similar to that used in [294]. We give the proof of the second one. To this end, we only need to show that there exists an $M \in \mathbb{N}$ such that, for all $f \in B_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $h \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $|\langle f, h \rangle| \leq ||h||_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)} ||f||_{B_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{s(\cdot),\varphi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$.

Let ϕ , ψ , Φ and Ψ be as in (61). Then, by the Calderón reproducing formula in [221], together with [221, Lemma 2.4], we find that

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle f, h \rangle| &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\Phi * f(x)| |\Psi * h(x)| dx + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\phi_{j} * f(x)| |\psi_{j} * h(x)| dx \\ &\lesssim \|h\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-jM} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{0k}} |\phi_{j} * f(x)| (1+|x|)^{-(n+M)} dx, \end{aligned}$$
(95)

where we used φ_0 to replace. Notice that, for any $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$, $a \in (0, \infty)$ and $y \in Q_{jk}$,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{0k}} & |\phi_{j} * f(x)| dx \leq \phi_{j}^{*,a} (2^{js(\cdot)} f)(y) 2^{ja} \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{0k}} 2^{-js(x)} (1 + 2^{j} |x| + 2^{j} |y|)^{a} dx \\ & \leq 2^{-js_{-}} \phi_{j_{Q}}^{*,a} (2^{js(\cdot)} f)(y) 2^{ja} (1 + |k|)^{a}. \end{split}$$

It follows that

$$|\varphi_{0\mathbf{k}}| \varphi_{j} * f(x) | \mathrm{d}x \lesssim 2^{j(a-s_{-})} (1+|\mathbf{k}|)^{a} \inf_{\mathbf{y} \in \mathcal{Q}_{j\mathbf{k}}} \varphi_{j\boldsymbol{Q}}^{*,a} (2^{j\mathbf{s}(\cdot)}f)(\mathbf{y}),$$

which, combined with (95), Theorem (6.2.24), Lemmas (6.2.10) and (6.2.11), implies that

$$\begin{split} |\langle f, \mathbf{h} \rangle| &\leq \|\mathbf{h}\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} 2^{-j(M+s_{-}-a)} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (1+|\mathbf{k}|)^{a-n-M} \frac{\left\| \varphi_{j_{\mathcal{Q}}}^{*,d}(2^{j_{\mathbf{S}}(\cdot)}f) \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathcal{Q}_{j_{\mathbf{k}}})}{\left\| \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{j_{\mathbf{k}}}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}} \\ &\leq \|\mathbf{h}\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \|f\|_{\mathbf{B}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\phi}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot),\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \frac{2^{-j(M+s_{-}-a)}}{(1+|\mathbf{k}|)^{M+n-a}} \frac{\phi(\mathcal{Q}_{j_{\mathbf{k}}})}{\left\| \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{j_{\mathbf{k}}}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}} \\ &\leq \|\mathbf{h}\|_{\mathcal{S}_{M+1}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \|f\|_{\mathbf{B}^{\mathbf{s}(\cdot),\phi}_{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}, \end{split}$$

where a is as in Theorem (6.2.24) and M is large enough. This finishes the proof of Proposition (6.2.26).

Definition (6.2.27) [298]: Let $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $L \in \mathbb{Z}$. A measurable function a_Q on \mathbb{R}^n is called a (K, L)-smooth atom supported near $Q \coloneqq Q_{jk} \in \mathbb{Q}$ if it satisfies the following conditions:

(A1) (support condition) supp $a_Q \subset 3Q$;

(A2) (vanishing moment) when $j \in \mathbb{N}$, $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} x^{\gamma} a_Q(x) dx = 0$ for all $\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+$ with $|\gamma| < L$;

(A3) (smoothness condition) for all multi-indices $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}^n_+$ with $|\alpha| \le K$, $|D^{\alpha}a_{\mathcal{Q}}(x)| \le 2^{(|\alpha|+n/2)j}$.

A collection $\{a_Q\}_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*}$ is called a family of (K, L)-smoothness atoms, if each a_Q is a (K, L)-smooth atom supported near Q.

We point out that, if $L \leq 0$, then the vanishing moment condition (A2) is avoid.

Lemma (6.2.28) [298]: Let $\{\varphi_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_+}$ be as in Definition (6.2.6) and $a_{\mathcal{Q}_{vk}}$ with $v \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ be a (K, L)-smooth atom. Then, for all $M \in (0, \infty)$, there exist positive constants C_1 and C_2 such that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, when $j \leq v$,

$$\varphi_{j} * a_{\mathcal{Q}_{vk}}(x) \Big| \le C_1 2^{\nu n/2} 2^{-(\nu-j)(L+n)} (1+2^j |x-x_{\mathcal{Q}_{vk}}|)^{-M}$$

and, when j > v,

 $|\varphi_{j} * a_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}(x)| \leq C_{2} 2^{\nu n/2} 2^{-(j-\nu)K} (1 + 2^{\nu} |x - x_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}|)^{-M}.$

Lemma (6.2.29) [298]: Let $a \in (0, 1)$, $J \in \mathbb{Z}$, $q \in (0, \infty]$ and $\{\varepsilon_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_+}$ be a sequence of positive real numbers. For all $k \in [J \lor 0, \infty)$, let $\delta_k \coloneqq \sum_{j=(J \lor 0)}^k a^{j-k}\varepsilon_j$ and $\eta_k \coloneqq \sum_{j=k}^{\infty} a^{k-j}\varepsilon_j$. Then there exists *a* positive constant C, depending only on *a* and q, such that

$$\left(\sum_{k=(J\vee 0)}^{\infty} \delta_k^q\right)^{1/q} + \left(\sum_{k=(J\vee 0)}^{\infty} \eta_k^q\right)^{1/q} \le C \left(\sum_{k=(J\vee 0)}^{\infty} \varepsilon_k^q\right)^{1/q}$$

Theorem (6.2.30) [298]: Let p, q, s and ϕ be as in Definition (6.2.6).

(i) Let $K \in (s_+ + \log_2 c_1, \infty)$ and

$$L \in (n/\min\{1, p_{-}\} - n - s_{-}, \infty).$$
(96)
Suppose that $\{a_{Q}\}_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}}$ is a family of (K, L) -smooth atoms and $t \coloneqq \{t_{Q}\}_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}} \in b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$. Then $f \coloneqq \sum_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}} t_{Q} a_{Q}$ converges in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ and $||f||_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq C||t||_{b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$ with C being a positive constant independent of t.

(ii) Conversely, if $f \in B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then, for any given $K, L \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, there exist sequences $t \coloneqq \{t_Q\}_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*} \subset \mathbb{C}$ and $\{a_Q\}_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*}$ of (K, L)-smooth atoms such that $f \coloneqq \sum_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*} t_Q a_Q$ in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\|t\|_{b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq C \|f\|_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ with C being a positive constant independent of f.

Proof: The proof of (ii) is similar to that of [221, Theorem 3.3] (see also [106]). Indeed, by repeating the argument that used in [221], therein replaced by Lemma (6.2.17), we can prove (ii), the details being omitted.

Next we prove (i) by two steps. First, we show that $f \coloneqq \sum_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*} t_Q a_Q$ converges in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. To this end, it suffices to prove that

$$\lim_{N\to\infty,\Lambda\to\infty}\sum_{j=0}^{N}\sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^{n},|k|\leq\Lambda}t_{\mathcal{Q}_{jk}}a_{\mathcal{Q}_{jk}}$$
(97)

exists in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. By (96), we find that there exists $r \in (0, \min\{1, p_-\})$ such that $s_- + n/p_-(r-1) > -L$. Let, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $\tilde{p}(x) \coloneqq p(x)/r$ and \tilde{s} be a measurable function on \mathbb{R}^n such that $s(x) - n/p(x) = \tilde{s}(x) - n/\tilde{p}(x)$. Then $\tilde{s}_- \ge s_- + n/p_-(r-1) > -L$. Therefore, by Proposition (6.2.20) and an argument similar to that used in [294], we conclude that there exist $\delta_0 \in (\log_2 c_1, \infty)$, $a \in (n, \infty)$, $c_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $R \in (0, \infty)$ being large enough such that, for all $h \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$,

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}, |\mathbf{k}| \leq \Lambda} t_{\mathcal{Q}_{j\mathbf{k}}} a_{\mathcal{Q}_{j\mathbf{k}}}(\mathbf{y}) \mathbf{h}(\mathbf{y}) d\mathbf{y} \right| \\ & \lesssim 2^{-j(\mathbf{L}+\tilde{s}_{-})} \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\nu\delta_{0}} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\mathbf{R}-\mathbf{L}-a)} \left\| \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} 2^{j\tilde{s}(\cdot)} \left| \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}_{j\mathbf{k}}} \right| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}_{j\mathbf{k}}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\tilde{p}(\cdot)}(\mathcal{Q}(0,2^{i+\nu+c_{0}}))} \\ & \lesssim 2^{-j(\mathbf{L}+\tilde{s}_{-})} \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\nu\delta_{0}} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\mathbf{R}-\mathbf{L}-a)} \varphi \left(\mathcal{Q}(0,2^{i+\nu+c_{0}}) \right) \| \mathbf{t} \|_{\mathbf{b}^{\tilde{s}(\cdot),\Phi}_{\tilde{p}(\cdot),\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ & \lesssim 2^{-j(\mathbf{L}+\tilde{s}_{-})} \sum_{\nu=0}^{\nu=0} 2^{-\nu(\delta_{0}-\log_{2}c_{1})} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\mathbf{R}-\mathbf{L}-a-\log_{2}c_{1})} \| \mathbf{t} \|_{\mathbf{b}^{s(\cdot),\Phi}_{p(\cdot),\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ & \lesssim 2^{-j(\mathbf{L}+\tilde{s}_{-})} \| \mathbf{t} \|_{\mathbf{b}^{s(\cdot),\Phi}_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}. \end{split}$$

By this and the fact that $L > -\tilde{s}_{-}$, we find that the limit of (97) exists in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Second, we prove that

$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{B}^{\mathrm{s}(\cdot),\mathrm{\varphi}}_{\mathrm{p}(\cdot),\mathrm{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim \|\mathbf{t}\|_{\mathrm{b}^{\mathrm{s}(\cdot),\mathrm{\varphi}}_{\mathrm{p}(\cdot),\mathrm{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}.$$
(98)

without loss of generality, we may assume that $\|t\|_{b_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} = 1$ and show $\|f\|_{B_{p(\cdot),q(\cdot)}^{s(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \leq 1$

Case I) $q_+ \in (0, \infty)$. We see that, for all $R \in \mathcal{D}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$\frac{1}{\phi(\mathbf{R})} \left\| \left\{ \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathbb{Q}^{*}, \ell(\mathcal{Q}) = 2^{-\nu}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{\mathbf{s}(\cdot)}{n}} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\}_{\nu \ge (\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{R}} \vee \mathbf{0})} \right\|_{\ell^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \left(\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)}(\mathbf{R}) \right)} \lesssim 1$$
(99)

with implicit positive constant independent of R. Since $f = \sum_{Q \in \mathbb{Q}^*} t_Q a_Q$ in $S'(\mathbb{R}^n)$, it follows that, for all $P \in Q$,

$$\varphi_{j} * f = \left\{ \sum_{\nu=0}^{(j_{P} \vee 0)-1} + \sum_{\nu=(j_{P} \vee 0)}^{j} + \sum_{\nu=j+1}^{\infty} \right\} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} t_{Q} \varphi_{j} * a_{Q} =: S_{j,1} + S_{j,2} + S_{j,3},$$

$$(j_{P} \vee 0)^{-1} = 0 : f = 0 \text{ The same first table to the set of the set of$$

Where $\sum_{\nu=0}^{(j_P \vee 0)-1} \cdots = 0$ if $j_P \leq 0$. Thus, we find that

$$I_{P} \coloneqq \frac{1}{\phi(P)} \left\| \left\{ 2^{j_{S}(\cdot)} \varphi_{j} * f \right\}_{j \ge (j_{P} \lor 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q}(\cdot) \left(L^{p}(\cdot)(P) \right)} \lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\phi(P)} \left\| \left\{ 2^{j_{S}(\cdot)} S_{j,i} \right\}_{j \ge (j_{P} \lor 0)} \right\|_{\ell^{q}(\cdot) \left(L^{p}(\cdot)(P) \right)}$$

=: $I_{P,1} + I_{P,2} + I_{P,3}$.

In what follows, let $r \in (0, min\{1, p_-\})$ satisfy $L + n - n/r + s_- > 0$.

We show that $I_{P,1} \leq 1$. To this end, it suffices to consider the case that $j_P > 0$ and prove that there exists a positive constant C such that

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)}(L^{p(\cdot)})}\left(\left\{\frac{\chi_{P}2^{js(\cdot)}}{C\phi(P)}\sum_{\nu=0}^{j_{P}-1}\sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}}|t_{Q}||\phi_{j}*a_{Q}|\right\}_{j\geq j_{P}}\right)\leq 1,$$

which is equivalent to show that

$$J_{P,1} \coloneqq \sum_{j=j_P}^{\infty} \left\| \left[\frac{\chi_P}{C\varphi(P)} 2^{j_{S(\cdot)}} \sum_{\nu=0}^{j_P-1} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} |t_Q| |\phi_j * a_Q| \right]^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/q(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim 1.$$

By Lemma (6.2.28) and (69), we find that

$$J_{P,1} \lesssim \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left\| \left[\frac{\chi_{P}}{\{\phi(P)\}^{r}} 2^{j_{S}(\cdot)r} \sum_{\nu=0}^{j_{P}-1} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}|^{r} |\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}|^{-r/2} \right]^{q(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim 1,$$
(100)

where $M \in (0, \infty)$ is large enough. On the other hand, by the proof of [294, Theorem 3.8(i)], we know that, for all $v, j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ with $v \leq j$ and $x \in P$,

$$2^{js(x)r} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}|^{r} |\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}|^{-\frac{r}{2}} \times 2^{(\nu-j)Kr} (1+2^{\nu}|x-x_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}|)^{-Mr}$$

$$\lesssim 2^{(\nu-j)(K-s_{+})r} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\left(M-a-\frac{C_{\log}(s)}{r}\right)r} \eta_{\nu,ar}$$

$$* \left(\left[\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}| 2^{\nu s(\cdot)} \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}(c_{P},2^{i-\nu+c_{0}})}\right]^{r} \right) (x),$$

where $a \in (n/r, \infty)$, cP is the center of P and $c_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ independent of x, P, i, v and k. From this, (100), and (i) and (ii) of Lemma (6.2.16), we deduce that $J_{P,1} \leq \sum_{j=j_P}^{\infty} \left[\left(J_{P,1}^j \right)^{q_-} + \left(J_{P,1}^j \right)^{q_+} \right]$, where

$$J_{P,1}^{j} \coloneqq \left\| \frac{\chi_{P}}{[\phi(P)]^{r}} \sum_{\nu=0}^{j_{P}-1} 2^{(\nu-j)(K-s_{+})r} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(M-a-C_{\log}(s)/r)r} \times \eta_{\nu,ar} \right\|_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left\| t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \right\|^{r} 2^{\nu s(\cdot)r} |\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}|^{-r/2} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}(c_{P},2^{i-\nu+c_{0}})} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{1/r}$$

we find that

$$\begin{split} J_{P,1}^{j} &\lesssim \left\{ \frac{1}{[\phi(P)]^{r}} \sum_{\nu=0}^{j_{P}-1} 2^{(\nu-j)(K-s_{+})r} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(M-a-C_{\log}(s)/r)r} \\ &\times \left\| \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left| t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \right|^{r} 2^{\nu s(\cdot)r} |\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}|^{-r/2} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}(c_{P},2^{i-\nu+c_{0}})} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p(\cdot)}{r}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \right\}^{1/r} \\ &\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{\nu=0}^{j_{P}-1} 2^{(\nu-j)(K-s_{+})r} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(M-a-C_{\log}(s)/r)r} \frac{\left[\phi\left(\mathcal{Q}(c_{P},2^{i-\nu+c_{0}})\right) \right]^{r}}{[\phi(P)]^{r}} \right\}^{1/r}. \end{split}$$

By this, (57) and the fact that $K \in (s_+ + \log_2 c_1, \infty)$, we know that

$$\sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} (J_{P,1}^{j})^{q_{-}} \lesssim 2^{j_{P}q - \log_{2}c_{1}} \sum_{j=j_{P}}^{\infty} \left\{ 2^{j(s_{+}-K)} \sum_{\nu=0}^{j_{P}-1} 2^{(K-s_{+}+\log_{2}c_{1})\nu r} \right\}^{q_{-}/r} \lesssim 1$$

and $\sum_{j=j_P}^{\infty} (J_{P,1}^j)^{q_+} \leq 1$, where M is chosen large enough such that $M > a + C_{\log}(s)/r + \log_2 c_1$, which implies $I_{P,1} \leq 1$. This is a desired estimate.

We now estimate $I_{P,2}$. By Lemma (6.2.28), we see that, for all $M \in (0, \infty)$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} 2^{js(x)} |t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}| |\varphi_j * a_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}(x)| \leq 2^{(\nu-j)(K-s_+)} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n} |\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}|^{-s(x)/n+1/2} |t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}| (1+2^{\nu}|x-x_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}|)^{-M}$$

and hence, for all $r \in (0, \min\{1/q_+, p_-/q_+\})$,

$$\left\| \left[\frac{\chi_{\mathrm{P}}}{\phi(\mathrm{P})} 2^{\mathrm{j}\mathbf{s}(\cdot)} \mathrm{S}_{\mathrm{j},2} \right]^{\mathrm{q}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)/\mathrm{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\
\lesssim \left\{ \sum_{\nu=(\mathrm{j}_{\mathrm{P}}\vee0)}^{\mathrm{j}_{\mathrm{P}}-1} 2^{(\nu-\mathrm{j})\mathrm{q}_{-}(\mathrm{K}-\mathrm{s}_{+})} \left\| \left[\frac{\chi_{\mathrm{P}}}{\phi(\mathrm{P})} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} \frac{|\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathrm{s}(\cdot)/n+1/2} |\mathrm{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}|}{(1+2^{\nu}|\cdot-x_{\mathcal{Q}}|)^{\mathrm{M}}} \right]^{\mathrm{rq}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)/\mathrm{rq}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \right\}^{1/\mathrm{r}}. \quad (101)$$

We claim that there exists a positive constant c such that ra(a)

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left[\frac{c\chi_{P}}{\phi(P)} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} \frac{|Q|^{-s(\cdot)/n+1/2} |t_{Q}|}{(1+2^{\nu}|\cdot-x_{Q}|)^{M}} \right]^{rq(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ & \leq \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\tau} \left\| \left[\frac{\chi_{Q_{i}^{0}}}{\phi(Q_{i}^{0})} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} |Q|^{-s(\cdot)/n} |t_{Q}| \tilde{\chi}_{Q} \right]^{rq(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} + 2^{-\nu} =: \delta_{\nu}^{p}, \end{split}$$

$$(102)$$

where $Q_i^0 \coloneqq Q(\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{P}}, 2^{i-j_{\mathbf{P}}+c_0})$ with some $\mathbf{c}_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\tau \in (0, \infty)$.

From the above claim, (101), Lemma (6.2.29), the Minkowski inequality and (99), we deduce that ∞

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mathbf{j}=(\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{p}}\vee\mathbf{0})}^{\infty} \left\| \left[\frac{\chi_{\mathbf{p}}}{\varphi(\mathbf{p})} 2^{\mathbf{j}\mathbf{s}(\cdot)} \mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{j},2} \right]^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \\ & \lesssim \sum_{\mathbf{j}=(\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{p}}\vee\mathbf{0})}^{\infty} \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{0} 2^{-i\tau} \left\| \left[\frac{\chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{i}^{0}}}{\varphi(\mathcal{Q}_{i}^{0})} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathbf{s}(\cdot)/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right]^{\mathbf{r}(\mathbf{0})} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/\mathbf{r}\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \right\}^{1/r} \\ & + \sum_{\mathbf{j}=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\mathbf{j}/r} \\ & \lesssim \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\tau} \left(\sum_{\mathbf{j}=(\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{p}}\vee\mathbf{0})}^{\infty} \right) \left\| \left[\frac{\chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{i}^{0}}}{\varphi(\mathcal{Q}_{i}^{0})} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathbf{s}(\cdot)/n} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right]^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}(\cdot)/\mathbf{q}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \right)^{\mathbf{r}} \right\}^{1/r} + 1 \\ & \lesssim \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\tau} \right\}^{1/r} + 1 \lesssim 1, \end{split}$$

which, together with Lemma (6.2.3) again, implies that $I_{P,2} \lesssim 1$.

Let us prove (102) now. Obviously, it suffices to show that

$$\left\| \left[\delta_{\nu}^{\mathrm{P}} \right]^{-1} \left[\frac{c \chi_{\mathrm{P}}}{\phi(\mathrm{P})} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} \frac{|\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathrm{s}(\cdot)/n+1/2} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}|}{\left(1+2^{\nu} |\cdot-x_{\mathcal{Q}}|\right)^{\mathrm{M}}} \right]^{\mathrm{rq}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)/\mathrm{rq}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq 1,$$

which, via Lemma (6.2.16), is a consequence of

$$\mathcal{A} \coloneqq \left\| \left[\delta_{\nu}^{\mathrm{P}} \right]^{-1/\mathrm{rq}(\cdot)} \left[\frac{\chi_{\mathrm{P}}}{\Phi(\mathrm{P})} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} \frac{|\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathrm{s}(\cdot)/n+1/2} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}|}{\left(1+2^{\nu} |\cdot-x_{\mathcal{Q}}|\right)^{\mathrm{M}}} \right]^{\mathrm{rq}(\cdot)} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\mathrm{p}(\cdot)/\mathrm{rq}(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \lesssim 1$$

Taking $t \in (0, \min\{1, p_{-}\})$ and using some arguments similar to those used in [261], we conclude that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}$,

$$\sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} [\delta_{\nu}^{P}]^{-1/rq(x)} \frac{\chi_{P}(x)}{\phi(P)} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} \frac{|Q|^{-s(\cdot)/n+1/2} |t_{Q}|}{(1+2^{\nu}|x-x_{Q}|)^{M}}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{(\nu-c_{0})\vee 0} 2^{i\zeta} \left\{ \mathcal{M}\left(\sum_{j=(j_{P}\vee 0)}^{\infty} \left[\frac{\chi_{Q_{i}^{0}}}{\phi(Q_{i}^{0})} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-j}} \frac{2^{\nu s(\cdot)}}{[\delta_{\nu}^{P}]^{1/rq(\cdot)}} |t_{Q}| \tilde{\chi}_{Q} \right]^{t} \right) \right\}^{1/t}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=(\nu-c_{0})\vee 0}^{\infty} 2^{i\vartheta} \cdots, \qquad (103)$$

where $\zeta := -M + \frac{n}{t} + \frac{2}{r}C_{\log}(q) + C_{\log}(s)$ and $\vartheta := -M + n/t + 2/r(1/q_- - 1/q_+) + s_+ - s_-$. Taking M large enough such that

 $M > \max\{n/t + 2/r C_{\log}(q) + C_{\log}(s) + \log_2 c_1, 2/r (1/q_- - 1/q_+) + s_+ - s_- + \log_2 c_1\} + r, then, by (57), Lemmas (6.2.22) and (6.2.16), we know that$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=0}^{(\nu-c_0)\vee 0} 2^{i\varsigma t} \left\| \mathcal{M}\left(\sum_{j=(j_P\vee 0)}^{\infty} \frac{\chi_{\mathcal{Q}_i^0}}{\varphi(P)} \left[\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} \frac{2^{\nu s(\cdot)}}{[\delta_{\nu}^{P}]^{1/rq(\cdot)}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right]^t \right) \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/t}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{(\nu-c_0)\vee 0} 2^{it(\varsigma+\log_2 c_1)} \left\| \frac{\chi_{\mathcal{Q}_i^0}}{\varphi(\mathcal{Q}_i^0)} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} \frac{2^{\nu s(\cdot)}}{[\delta_{\nu}^{P}]^{1/rq(\cdot)}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}}\right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^t \\ &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{(\nu-c_0)\vee 0} 2^{it(\varsigma+\log_2 c_1)} \left\| 1/\delta_{\nu}^{P} \left[\frac{\chi_{\mathcal{Q}_i^0}}{\varphi(\mathcal{Q}_i^0)} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} \frac{2^{\nu s(\cdot)}}{[\delta_{\nu}^{P}]^{1/rq(\cdot)}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right]^{rq(\cdot)} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/rq(\cdot)}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^t \\ &\lesssim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{it(\varsigma+\log_2 c_1+\tau)} \lesssim 1, \end{split}$$

where we used the definition of δ_{v}^{P} in the penultimate inequality and, similarly,

$$\sum_{i=(\nu-c_0)\vee 0}^{\infty} 2^{i\vartheta t} \left\| \mathcal{M}\left(\left[\frac{\chi_{\mathcal{Q}_i^0}}{\Phi(P)} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} \frac{2^{\nu s(\cdot)}}{[\delta_{\nu}^P]^{1/rq(\cdot)}} \left| t_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right]^t \right) \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/t}(\mathbb{R}^n)} \lesssim 1.$$

From this and (103), we deduce that $\mathcal{A} \leq 1$, which implies that (102) holds true and then completes the proof that $I_{P,2} \leq 1$.

We next prove that $I_{\text{P},3} \lesssim$ 1. To this end, it suffices to show that

$$\varrho_{\ell^{q(\cdot)/r}(L^{p(\cdot)/r})}\left(\left\{\frac{\chi_{P}}{\tilde{C}\phi(P)}2^{js(\cdot)}\sum_{\nu=(j_{P}\vee0)}^{\infty}\sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}}|t_{Q}||\phi_{j}\ast a_{Q}|\right\}_{j\geq(j_{P}\vee0)}^{r}\right)\leq 1$$

for some positive constant \tilde{C} large enough independent of P, which, by Definition (6.2.5), is equivalent to show that $\sum_{j=(j_P \vee 0)}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell(Q)=2^{-\nu}} Y_j^P \leq 1$, where, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cap [j_P \vee 0, \infty)$,

$$Y_{j}^{P} \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \lambda_{j} \in (0,\infty) : \varrho_{p(\cdot)/r} \left(\frac{\chi_{P} \left[2^{js(\cdot)} \sum_{\nu=j}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} \left| t_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \left| \varphi_{j} \ast a_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| \right]^{r}}{\tilde{C} \left[\varphi(P) \lambda_{j}^{1/q(\cdot)} \right]^{r}} \right) \le 1 \right\}.$$

We claim that, for all $P \in \mathbb{Q}$ and $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cap [j_P \vee 0, \infty)$,

$$Y_{j}^{P} \leq 2^{-j} + \sum_{\nu=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-\nu)d} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\tilde{d}} \times \inf\left\{\xi_{\nu} \in (0,\infty) : \varrho_{\underline{p}(\cdot)} \left(\frac{\chi_{P_{i}} \left[\sum_{\ell (Q)=2^{-\nu}} \left|t_{Q}\right| 2^{-\nu s(\cdot)} \chi_{Q}\right]^{r}}{\left[\varphi(P_{i})\xi_{\nu}^{1/q(\cdot)}\right]^{r}}\right) \leq 1\right\}$$

$$=: 2^{-j} + \sum_{\nu=j}^{\infty} 2^{(j-\nu)d} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\tilde{d}} Y_{\nu,2}^{P} =: \delta_{j}^{P}, \qquad (104)$$

where $P_i \coloneqq \mathcal{Q}(c_P, 2^{i-j_P+c_0})$ with $c_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, d is chosen such that $L + n - n/r + s_- - n/r + n/r +$ $d/q_+ > 0$ and $\tilde{d} \in (0, \infty)$.

From the above claim, (99) and (54), we deduce that

$$\sum_{j=(j_P\vee 0)}^{\infty} Y_j^P \lesssim 1 + \sum_{\nu=(j_P\vee 0)}^{\infty} \sum_{j=(j_P\vee 0)}^{\nu} 2^{(j-\nu)d} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\widetilde{d}} Y_{\nu,2}^P \lesssim 1 + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i\widetilde{d}} \sum_{\nu=(j_P\vee 0)}^{\infty} Y_{\nu,2}^P \lesssim 1,$$

implies that $I_{P,2} \lesssim 1$ and $\delta_i^P \in [2^{-j}, 2^{-j} + \theta]$ for some $\theta \in [0, \infty)$

which implies that $I_{P,3} \lesssim 1$ and $\delta_j^P \in [2^{-j}, 2^{-j} + \theta]$ for some $\theta \in [0, \infty)$

Therefore, to complete the estimate for IP,3, it remains to prove the above claim (104). To this end, it suffices to show that, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cap [j_P \lor 0, \infty)$,

$$\inf\left\{\tilde{\lambda}_{j} \in (0,\infty): \varrho_{\frac{p(\cdot)}{r}}\left(\frac{\chi_{P}\left[2^{js(\cdot)}\sum_{\nu=j}^{\infty}\sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}}\left|t_{\mathcal{Q}}\right| \left|\phi_{j} \ast a_{\mathcal{Q}}\right|\right]^{r}}{\left[\phi(P)\left(\delta_{j}^{P}\tilde{\lambda}_{j}\right)^{1/q(\cdot)}\right]^{r}}\right) \leq 1\right\} \lesssim 1$$

which follows from the following estimate

$$\mathbf{H}_{j}^{\mathbf{P}} \coloneqq \left\| \frac{\chi_{\mathbf{P}} 2^{j\mathbf{s}(\cdot)\mathbf{r}}}{\left\{ \phi(\mathbf{P}) \left[\delta_{j}^{\mathbf{P}} \right]^{1/q(\cdot)} \right\}^{\mathbf{r}}} \sum_{\nu=j}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} \left| \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right|^{\mathbf{r}} \left| \boldsymbol{\phi}_{j} \ast \boldsymbol{a}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right|^{\mathbf{r}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}}(\cdot)/\mathbf{r}} \lesssim 1.$$
(105)

Next we show (105). By Lemma (6.2.28), we find that

$$H_{j}^{P} \lesssim \sum_{\nu=j}^{\infty} 2^{-(\nu-j)(L+n)r} \left\| \frac{\chi_{P} 2^{js(\cdot)r}}{\left\{ \phi(P) [\delta_{j}^{P}]^{1/q(\cdot)} \right\}^{r}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{\left| t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \right|^{r} |\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}|^{-r/2}}{(1+2^{j}|\cdot-2^{-\nu}k|)^{Rr}} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/r(\mathbb{R}^{n})}}, \quad (106)$$

where R can be large enough. For all $x \in P$ and $v \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ with $v \ge j$, let $\Omega_{0,j}^{x,v} \coloneqq \left\{ \mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n : 2^j | x - 2^{-v} \mathbf{k} | \le 1 \right\}$

and, for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$, $\Omega_{0,j}^{x,v} \coloneqq \{k \in \mathbb{Z}^n : 2^{i-1} < 2^j | x - 2^{-v} k | \le 2^i \}$. Then, we see that, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ Ρ,

$$J(\nu, j, x, P) \coloneqq \frac{2^{js(x)r}}{\left(\delta_{j}^{P}\right)^{r/q(x)}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \frac{\left|t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}\right|^{r} |\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}|^{-r/2}}{(1+2^{j}|x-2^{-\nu}k|)^{Rr}} \sim \frac{2^{js(x)r}}{\left(\delta_{j}^{P}\right)^{r/q(x)}} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k \in \Omega_{i,j}^{x,\nu}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}|^{r} |\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}|^{-iRr} \sim \frac{2^{js(x)r}}{\left(\delta_{j}^{P}\right)^{r/q(x)}} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-iRr} 2^{\nu n} \int_{\bigcup_{\tilde{k} \in \Omega_{i,j}^{x,\nu} \mathcal{Q}_{\nu \tilde{k}}}} \left[\sum_{k \in \Omega_{i,j}^{x,\nu}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}}(y)\right]^{r} dy.$$
(107)

Since, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, $v \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ with $v \ge j$, $x \in P$ and $y \in \bigcup_{\tilde{k} \in \Omega_{i,j}^{x,v}} Q_{v,\tilde{k}}$, there exists $\tilde{k}_y \in \Omega_{i,j}^{x,v}$ such that $y \in Q_{v \widetilde{k}_{v}}$, it follows that

$$1 + 2^{j}|x - y| \le 1 + 2^{j} \left| x - x_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu \tilde{k}_{y}}} \right| + 2^{j} \left| y - x_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu \tilde{k}_{y}}} \right| \le 2^{i} + 2^{j-\nu} \le 2^{i}$$
(108)

and hence

$$|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{P}}| \le \left| \mathbf{y} - x_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu\,\tilde{\mathbf{k}}_{\mathbf{y}}}} \right| + \left| \mathbf{x} - x_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu\,\tilde{\mathbf{k}}_{\mathbf{y}}}} \right| + |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{P}}| \le 2^{-\nu} + 2^{i-j} + 2^{-j_{\mathbf{P}}} \le 2^{i-j_{\mathbf{P}}}.$$
 (109)
By (109), we see that, for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}, v \in \mathbb{Z}_{+}$ with $v \ge j, x \in \mathbf{P}$,

$$\bigcup_{\widetilde{\mathbf{k}}\in\Omega_{i,j}^{\mathbf{x},\nu}}\mathcal{Q}_{\nu\,\widetilde{\mathbf{k}}}\subset\mathcal{Q}(\mathbf{c}_{\mathrm{P}},2^{i-j_{\mathrm{P}}+\mathbf{c}_{0}})=:\mathcal{Q}_{i}^{0}$$

for some constant $c_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, which, combined with (107) and (108), implies that

$$J(\nu, j, x, P) \coloneqq \left(\delta_{j}^{P}\right)^{-r/q(x)} 2^{js(x)r} \sum_{i=0}^{r} 2^{-iRr} 2^{(\nu-j)n} 2^{i(a-\varepsilon)r} \times \eta_{j,ar+\varepsilon r}$$

$$* \left(\left[\sum_{\tilde{k} \in \Omega_{i,j}^{x,\nu}} \left| t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu \tilde{k}}} \right| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{l}^{0}} \right]^{r} \right) (x)$$

$$\lesssim 2^{(\nu-j)(n-rs_{-})} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-ir(R-a-\varepsilon)} \eta_{j,ar} \times$$

$$* \left(\left[\sum_{k \in \Omega_{i,j}^{x,\nu}} \left(\delta_{j}^{P}\right)^{-r/q(\cdot)} 2^{js(\cdot)} \left| t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \right| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}_{l}^{0}} \right]^{r} \right) (x), \qquad (110)$$

where $\varepsilon \in [C_{\log}(s) + C_{\log}(1/q), \infty)$. From this, (106) and Lemma (6.2.15), we deduce that

$$\begin{split} H_{j}^{p} &\lesssim \sum_{\nu=j}^{\infty} 2^{-(\nu-j)(L+n-n/r+s_{-})r} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(R-a-\varepsilon)r} \frac{[\Phi(\mathcal{Q}_{i}^{0})]^{r}}{[\Phi(\mathcal{P})]^{r}} \\ &\times \left\| \frac{\left| \frac{\left(\delta_{j}^{p} \right)^{-r/q(\cdot)}}{\Phi(\mathcal{Q}_{i}^{0})} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left| t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \right| 2^{\nu s(\cdot)} \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(\mathcal{Q}_{i}^{0})}^{r} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\nu=j}^{\infty} 2^{-(\nu-j)(L+n-n/r+s_{-}-d/q_{+})r} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(R-a-\varepsilon-\log c_{1}-\tilde{d}/q_{-})r} \\ &\times \left\| \frac{2^{(\nu-j)dr/q(\cdot)}2^{-i\tilde{d}r/q(\cdot)}}{[\Phi(\mathcal{Q}_{i}^{0})]^{r}(\delta_{j}^{p})^{r/q(\cdot)}} \left[\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{n}} \left| t_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \right| 2^{\nu s(\cdot)} \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}_{\nu k}} \right]^{r} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/r}(\mathcal{Q}_{i}^{0})} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\nu=j}^{\infty} 2^{-(\nu-j)(L+n-n/r+s_{-}-d/q_{+})r} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(R-a-\varepsilon-\log c_{1}-\tilde{d}/q_{-})r} \lesssim 1, \end{split}$$

where R is chosen large enough such that $R > a + \varepsilon + \log c_1 + \tilde{d}/q_-$, which completes the proof of that $I_{P,3} \leq 1$ and hence the case I.

Case II $q_+ = \infty$.

We see that $q(x) = \infty$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Thus, we see that

$$\|\mathbf{t}\|_{\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{p}^{(\cdot)},\infty}^{\mathbf{s}^{(\cdot)},\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} = \sup_{\mathbf{P}\in\mathbb{Q}} \frac{1}{\phi(\mathbf{P})} \sup_{\mathbf{j}\in\mathbb{Z}_{+},\mathbf{j}\geq(\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{P}}\vee\mathbf{0})} \left\| \sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in\mathbb{Q}^{*},\ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-j}} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\frac{\mathbf{s}^{(\cdot)}}{n}} |\mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{p}^{(\cdot)}}(\mathbf{P})}.$$

..

Let P be a given dyadic cube. Then, by (97), we find that, for all $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cap j \ge [j_P \lor 0, \infty)$,

$$\begin{aligned}
G_{P}^{j} &\coloneqq \frac{1}{\Phi(P)} \| 2^{js(\cdot)} |\varphi_{j} * f| \|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(P)} \\
&\lesssim \frac{1}{\Phi(P)} \| 2^{js(\cdot)} \sum_{\nu=0}^{j-1} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}^{*}, \ell(\mathcal{Q}) = 2^{-j}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}| |\varphi_{j} * a_{\mathcal{Q}}| \|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(P)} \\
&+ \frac{1}{\Phi(P)} \| 2^{js(\cdot)} \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}^{*}, \ell(\mathcal{Q}) = 2^{-j}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}| |\varphi_{j} * a_{\mathcal{Q}}| \|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(P)} =: G_{P,1}^{j} + G_{P,2}^{j}.
\end{aligned}$$
(111)

To estimate $G_{P,1}^{j}$ and $G_{P,2}^{j}$, we let $\varepsilon \in (C_{\log}(s), \infty)$, $r \in (0, \min\{1, q_{-}\})$ and $a \in (n/r, \infty)$. For $G_{P,1}^{j}$, by an argument similar to that used in the estimate for $I_{P,1}$, we conclude that there exists a positive constant c_0 such that

$$\begin{split} G_{P,1}^{j} \lesssim \left\{ \sum_{\nu=0}^{j} 2^{(\nu-j)(K-s_{+})r} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(M-a-\epsilon/r)} \\ & \times \frac{1}{\varphi(P)} \left\| \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathfrak{Q}^{*}, \ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} |t_{\mathcal{Q}}|^{r} 2^{\nu s(\cdot)r} |\mathcal{Q}|^{-r/2} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}} \right\|_{L^{p(\cdot)/r} \left(\mathcal{Q}(c_{P}, 2^{i-\nu+c_{0}})\right)} \right\}^{1/r}, \end{split}$$

which, together with (57) and the facts that $c_1 \in [1,\infty)$ and $j \geq j_P$, implies that

$$\begin{aligned}
G_{P,1}^{j} &\leq \|t\|_{b_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{q(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left\{ \sum_{\nu=0}^{j} 2^{(\nu-j)(K-s_{+})r} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(M-a-\epsilon/r)} \frac{\left[\phi\left(\mathcal{Q}(c_{P}, 2^{i-\nu})\right) \right]^{r}}{[\phi(P)]^{r}} \right\}^{1/r} \\
&\leq \|t\|_{b_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{q(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left\{ \sum_{\nu=0}^{j} 2^{\nu(K-s_{+}-\log_{2}c_{1})r} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(M-a-\epsilon/r-\log_{2}c_{1})} 2^{j_{P}\log_{2}c_{1}} \right\}^{1/r} \\
&\leq \|t\|_{b_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{q(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} 2^{-j\log_{2}c_{1}} 2^{j_{P}\log_{2}c_{1}} \leq \|t\|_{\|t\|_{b_{p(\cdot),\infty}^{q(\cdot),\phi}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}}.
\end{aligned}$$
(112)

For $G_{P,2}^{j}$, by an argument similar to that used in the proof of (110), we find that there exists $c_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{P},2}^{\mathsf{j}} &\lesssim \frac{1}{\boldsymbol{\varphi}(\mathsf{P})} \left\{ \sum_{\nu=\mathsf{j}+1}^{\infty} 2^{-(\nu-\mathsf{j})(\mathsf{L}+n)\mathsf{r}} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\mathsf{R}-a-\varepsilon)\mathsf{r}} \right. \\ & \times \left\| \eta_{\mathsf{j},a\mathsf{r}} * \left(\left[\sum_{\substack{\mathcal{Q}\in \mathbb{Q}^*\\ \ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}}} |\mathsf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}}| |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathsf{s}(\cdot)/n} \, \tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \chi_{\mathcal{Q}(\mathsf{c}_{\mathsf{P}},2^{i-\mathsf{j}_{\mathsf{P}}+\mathsf{c}_{0}})} \right]^{\mathsf{r}} \right) \right\|_{\mathsf{L}^{\mathsf{p}(\cdot)/\mathsf{r}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \end{split}^{1/\mathsf{r}}, \end{split}$$

which, combined with (57) and (62), implies that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{P},2}^{\mathbf{j}} &\lesssim \frac{1}{\boldsymbol{\Phi}(\mathbf{P})} \left\{ \sum_{\nu=\mathbf{j}+1}^{\infty} 2^{-(\nu-\mathbf{j})(\mathbf{L}+n)\mathbf{r}} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\mathbf{R}-a-\varepsilon)\mathbf{r}} \\ &\times \left\| \left(\sum_{\mathcal{Q}\in \mathfrak{Q}^{*}, \ell(\mathcal{Q})=2^{-\nu}} \left| \mathbf{t}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right| |\mathcal{Q}|^{-\mathbf{S}(\cdot)/n} \,\tilde{\chi}_{\mathcal{Q}} \right) \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\mathbf{P}(\cdot)/\mathbf{r}}\left(\mathcal{Q}(\mathbf{c}_{\mathbf{P}}, 2^{i-\mathbf{j}\mathbf{p}+\mathbf{c}_{0}})\right)} \right\}^{1/\mathbf{r}} \\ &\lesssim \left\| \mathbf{t} \right\|_{\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{P}(\cdot),\infty}^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot), \mathbf{\Phi}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \left\{ \sum_{\nu=\mathbf{j}+1}^{\infty} 2^{-(\nu-\mathbf{j})(\mathbf{L}+n)\mathbf{r}} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} 2^{-i(\mathbf{R}-a-\varepsilon-\log_{2}c_{1})\mathbf{r}} \right\}^{1/\mathbf{r}} \lesssim \left\| \mathbf{t} \right\|_{\mathbf{b}_{\mathbf{P}(\cdot),\infty}^{\mathbf{q}(\cdot), \mathbf{\Phi}}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}. \end{split}$$

By this, (111) and (112), we conclude that 1

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{B^{s(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} &\lesssim \sup_{P \in \mathfrak{Q}} \frac{1}{\phi(P)} \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_{+} \cap [(j_{P} \vee 0),\infty)} \|2^{j_{s(\cdot)}} |\phi_{j} * f|\|_{L^{p(\cdot)}(P)} \\ &\lesssim \sup_{P \in \mathfrak{Q}} \frac{1}{\phi(P)} \sup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}_{+} \cap [(j_{P} \vee 0),\infty)} (G^{j}_{P,1} + G^{j}_{P,2}) \lesssim \|t\|_{b^{q(\cdot),\phi}_{p(\cdot),\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}, \end{split}$$

which completes the proof of the case II.

Combining Cases I and II, we conclude that (98) holds true. This finishes the proof of Theorem (6.2.30).

List of Symbols

Symbol		Page
B_p^{sp} :	Besov space	1
\dot{H}_p :	Hardy space	1
supp:	support	1
sup:	supremum	2
max:	maximum	6
Tr:	trace	6
⊗:	tensor product	8
inf:	infimum	10
BMO:	Bounded mean oscillation	10
L^p :	Lebesgue space	13
loc:	local	18
L^2 :	Hilbert space	21
L^{∞} :	Essential Lebesgue space	22
min:	minimum	26
ℓ^2 :	Hilbert space of sequences	27
ℓ^q :	Dual of Hilbert space of sequences	27
$MB_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$, $MF_{p,q}^{s,\beta}$:	Besov and Triebel-Lizerkin space	41
$W^{1,p(\cdot)}$:	Sobolev space of variable	57
L^1 :	Lebesgue space	59
ess:	essential	59
$f_{p,q}^{\alpha}$:	Triebel-Lizorkin space	61
BV:	Bounded variation	67
$L^{p_0,q}$:	Lorentz space	79
ℓ^{∞} :	Essential Lebesgue space sequences	82
$BH^{s,\tau}$	Hardy-Hausdorff space	93
Mol:	Molecular	142
M_u^p :	Morrey space	162
$HH_{-\alpha}$:	Hardy-Hausdorff space	162

References

- [1] J.-E. Björk, Some conditions which imply that a translation operator is continuous in the Hardy space $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$, Pre-print.
- [2] P. L. Duren, B. W. Romberg and A. L. Shields, Linear functional on H^p spaces with 0 , J. Reine Angew. Math. 238 (1969), 32-60.
- [3] C. Fefferman, talk delivered at the University of Maryland.
- [4] C. Fefferman, N. Rivière and Y. Sagher, Introduction between H^p spaces, the real method, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 191 (1974), 75-81.
- [5] C. Fefferman, E. M. Stein, H^p spaces of several variables, Acta Math. 129 (1972), 137-193.
- [6] T. M. Flett, Lipschitz spaces of functions on the circle and the disc, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 39 (1972), 125-158.
- [7] B. Jawerth, The trace of the Sobolev and Besov spaces if 0 , Studia Math. 62 (1987), 65-71.
- [8] J. Peetre, H^p spaces, Technical report, Lund, 1974.
- [9] J. Peetre, New thoughts on Besov spaces, Duke University Math. Series 1, Dept. Math. J. 31 (1979), 41-48.
- [10] J. Peetre, On spaces of Triebel-Lizorkin type, Ark. Mat. 13 (1975), 123-130.
- [11] J. Peetre, Remarques sur les espaces de Besov. Le cas 0 , C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A 277 (1973), 947-949.
- [12] N. M. Rivière, Classes of smoothness, Lecture notes, 1972/73.
- [13] E. M. Stein, Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions (Princeton Mathematical Series 30), Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1970.
- [14] E. M. Stein and G. Weiss, On the theory of harmonic functions of several variables I: the theory of H^p spaces, Acta Math. 103 (1960), 25-62.
- [15] H. Triebel, Spaces of distributions of Besov type in Euclidean *n*-space, Duality, interpolation, Ark. Mat. 11 (1973), 13-64.
- [16] T. Walsh, The dual of $H^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}_{+})$ for p < 1, Canad. J. Math. 25 (1973), 567-577.
- [17] Björn and Jawerth, Some observations on Besov and Lizorkin-Triebel spaces, Math. Scand. 40 (1977), 94-104.
- [18] S.Agmon and L. Hörmander, Asymptotic properties of solutions of differential equations with simple characteristics. J. Analyse Math. 30 (1976), 1-38.
- [19] A. Baernstein and E. Sawyer, Embedding and multiplier theorems for $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.
- [20] R. Boas, Entire functions, Academic Press, New York, 1954.
- [21] H. –Q. BUI, Representation theorems and atomic decomposition of Besov spaces
- [22] V. I. Burenkov and M. L. Gold'dman, On the extension of functions of L_p, (Russian), Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov. 150 (1979), 31-51.
- [23] A. P. Calderón, An atomic decomposition of distributions in parabolic H^p spaces, Adv. in Math 25 (1977), 216-225.
- [24] A. P. Calderón and A. Torchinsky, Parabolic maximal functions associated with a distribution I, Adv. in Math. 16 (1975), 1-64.
- [25] S. Y. Chang and R. Fefferman, A continuous version of duality of H¹ and BMO on the bidisc, Ann. of Math. 112 (1980), 179-201.
- [26] G. Cohen, $H^{(p,q)}$: some new spaces of distributions with atomic decomposition
- [27] R. R. Coifman, A real variable characterization of H^p, Studia Math. 51 (1974), 269-274.

- [28] R. R. Coifman and R. Rochberg, Representation theorems for holomorphic and harmonic functions in L^p, Astérisque 77 (1980), 11-66.
- [29] G. S. De Souza, R. O'Neill and S. Sampson, An analytic characterization of the special atom spaces
- [30] G. B. Folland and E. M. Stein, Hardy spaces on homogeneous groups, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1982.
- [31] M. L. Gol'dman, On the extension of functions of $L_p(\mathbb{R}_m)$ in spaces with a greater number of dimensions, (Russian), Mat. Zametki 25 (1979), 513-520.
- [32] B. Jawerth, Weighted norm inequalities for functions of exponential type, Ark. Mat. 15 (1977), 223-228.
- [33] R. Latter, A characterization of $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in terms of atoms, Studia Math. 62 (1978), 93-101.
- [34] E. T. Y. Lee and G. –I. Sunouchi, On the majorant properties of L^p(G), Tôhoku Math. J. 31 (1979), 41-48.
- [35] J. Peetre, The trace of Besov space a limiting case, Technical Report, Lund, 1975.
- [36] M. Plancherel and G. Pólya, Functions entières et integrals de Fourier multiples, Comment. Math. Helv. 9 (1937), 224-248.
- [37] F. Ricci and M. Taiblenson, Boundary values of harmonic functions in mixed norm spaces and their atomic structure, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa C1. Sci. (4) 10 (1983), 1-54.
- [38] R. Rochberg, Decomposition theorems for Bergman spaces and their applications,
- [39] R. Rochberg and S. Semmes, A decomposition theorem for BMO and applications,
- [40] M. Taibleson and G. Weiss, The molecular characterization of certain Hardy spaces, Astérisque 77(1980), 67-151.
- [41] H. Triebel, Theory of function spaces, Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft Geest and Portig K. G., Leipzig, 1983.
- [42] A. Uchiyama, A constructive proof of the Fefferman-Stein decomposition of BMO(\mathbb{R}^n), Acta Math. 148 (1982), 215-241.
- [43] M. Wilson, On the atomic decomposition for Hardy spaces, Pcific J. Math. 116 (1985), 201-207.
- [44] M. Wilson, Personal communication.
- [45] M. Frazier and B. Jawerth, Decomposition of Besov spaces, Indian University, Mathematics journal, Vol. 34, No. 4(1985).
- [46] P. D'Ancona and V. Pierfelice, On the wave equation with a large rough potential. J. Funct. Anal. 227 (2005), no. 1, 30–77.
- [47] J. Bj[°]orn and F. Michael, A discrete transform and decompositions of distribution spaces. Indiana University Math. J. 34 (1985), no. 4, 777–799.
- [48] J. Bj[°]orn and F. Michael, A discrete transform and decompositions of distribution spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 93 (1990), no. 1, 34–170.
- [49] M. Kobayashi, Modulation spaces Mp;q for 0 < p; $q \cdot 1$, to appear in Journal of function spaces and applications 4, no. 3.
- [50] H. Kozono and M. Yamazaki, Semilinear heat equations and the Navier-Stokes equations with distributions in new function spaces as initial data, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 19 (1994) no. 5–6, 959–1014.
- [51] A. Mazzucato, Decomposition of Besov-Morrey spaces. Harmonic analysis at Mount Holyoke (South Hadley, MA, 2001), 279–294, Contemp. Math., 320, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003.

- [52] A. Mazzucato, Besov-Morrey spaces : Function space theory and applications to nonlinear PDE, Trans. Amer. Math. Society, 355 (2003), no. 4, 1297–1364.
- [53] C. B. Morrey Jr, On the solutions of quasi-linear elliptic partial differential equations. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 43 (1938), no. 1, 126–166.
- [54] Y. Sawano and H. Tanaka, Morrey spaces for non-doubling measures, Acta Math. Sinica, 21 no.6, 1535–1544.
- [55] L. Tang and J. Xu, Some properties of Morrey type Besov-Triebel spaces, Math. Nachr 278 (2005), 904–914.
- [56] H. Triebel, Theory of function spaces II, Birkhauser (1992).
- [57] H. Triebel, Fractal and Spectra, Birkhauser (1997).
- [58] H. Triebel, The structure of functions, Birkhauser (2000).
- [59] Y. Sawan and H. Tanaka, Decomposition of Besov-Morrey spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, Math. z. 257 (2007) 871-905.
- [60] Fefferman C. and Stein, E. M., Some maximal inequalities. Amer. J. Math. 93 (1971), 107-115.
- [61] Freud, G., Über trigonometrische Approximation und Fouriesche Reihen. Math. Z. 78 (1962), 252-262
- [62] Hörmander. L., Estimates for translation invariant operators in L_p spaces. Acta Math. 104 (1960), 93-140.
- [63] Lizorkin, P.I., Properties of functions of class A^r_{p,θ}. Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov. 131 (1974), 158-181. (Russian.)
- [64] Lizorkin, P.I., Operators, connected with fractional differentiation, and classes of differentiable functions. Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov. 117 (1972), 212-243. (Russian.)
- [65] Peetre, J., On the spaces F_{pq}^{s} . Technical report, Lund, 1974.
- [66] Peetre, J., On spaces of Triebel-Lizorkin type, Ark. Mat. 13 (1975) 123-130.
- [67] Bui, H.-Q. (1982). Weighted Besov and Triebel spaces: Interpolation by the real method. Hiroshima Math. J. 12, 581-605.
- [68] Bui, H-Q., Paluszynski, M., and Taibleson, M. (1996). A maximal function characterization of weighted Besov-Lipschitz and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. Studia Math. 119(3), 219-246.
- [69] Janson, S. and Taibleson, M. (1981). I teoremi di rappresentazione di Calderón. Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Politecn. Torino. 39, 27-35.
- [70] Kokilasvili, V.M. (1978). Mximal inequalities and multipliers in weighted Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, English translation. Soviet Math. Dokl. 19, 272-276.
- [71] Strömberg, J.O. and Torchinsky, A. (1989). Weighted Hardy Spaces, Springer Verlag, Berlin.
- [72] Uchiyama, A. (1985) Characterization of $H^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ in terms of generalized Littlewood-Paley g-functions. Studia Math. 81, 215-241.
- [73] H.-Q. Bui, M. Paluszyński, M. Taibleson, Characterization of the Besov-Lipschiz and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. The case q < 1, J.Fourier Anal. 3(1997) 837-846.</p>
- [74] K. Andersen and R. John, Weighted inequalities for vector-valued maximal functions on singular integrals, Studia. Math. LXIX, 19-31 (1980).
- [75] H. Arai and T. Mizuhara, Morrey spaces on spaces of homogeneous type and estimates for $\Delta_{\rm b}$ and the Cauchy-Szegö projection, Math. Nachr. 175, 5-20 (1997).
- [76] P. Dintelmann, Class of Fourier multipliers on Besov-Nikolskij spaces, Math. Nachr. 173, 115-130 (1995).
- [77] P. Dintelmann, on the boundedness of pseudo-differential operators on weighted Besov-Triebel spaces, Math. Nachr.183, 13-53 (1997).
- [78] G. Di Fazio and M. Ragua, Interior estimates in Morrey spaces for strong solutions to nondivergence from equations with discontinuous coefficients, J. Funt. Anal. 112, 241-256 (1993).
- [79] D. Fan, S. Lu, and D. Yang, Regularity in Morrey spaces of strong solutions to nondivergence elliptic equations with VMO coefficients, Georgian Math. J. 5, 425-440 (1998).
- [80] C. Fefferman and E. Stein, Some maximal inequalities, Amer J. Math. 93, 105-115 (1971).
- [81] Y. Giga and T. Miyakama, Navier-Stokes flow in \mathbb{R}^3 with measures as initial verticity and Morrey spaces, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 14, 577-618 (1989).
- [82] T. Kato, Strong solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations in Morrey spaces, Bol. Soc. Brasil. Mat. 22, 127-155 (1992).
- [83] M. Taylor, Analysis on Morrey spaces and applications to Navier-Stokes evaluation equations, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 17, 1407-1456 (1992).
- [84] X. Zhou, The stability of small station in Morrey spaces of the semlinear heat equations, J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 6, 793-822 (1999).
- [85] E. Acerbi and G. Mingione: Regularity results for stationary electro-rheological fluids, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 164 (2002), no. 3, 213–259.
- [86] E. Acerbi and G. Mingione: Regularity results for electrorheological fluids: the stationary case, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Ser. I 334 (2002), no. 9, 817–822.
- [87] E. Acerbi and G. Mingione: Gradient estimates for the p(x)–Laplacean system, J. Reine Angew. Math. 584 (2005), 117–148.
- [88] A. Almeida and S. Samko: Characterization of Riesz and Bessel potentials on variable Lebesgue spaces, J.Function Spaces Appl. 4 (2006), no. 2, 113–144.
- [89] O. Besov: Embeddings of spaces of differentiable functions of variable smoothness, Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 214 (1997), Issled. po Teor. Differ. Funkts. Mnogikh Perem. i ee Prilozh. 17, 25–58. [Translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 1996, no. 3 (214), 19–53.]
- [90] O. Besov: On spaces of functions of variable smoothness defined by pseudodifferential operators, Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 227 (1999), Issled. po Teor. Differ. Funkts. Mnogikh Perem. i ee Prilozh. 18, 56–74. [Translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 1999, no. 4 (227), 50–69.
- [91] O. Besov: Equivalent normings of spaces of functions of variable smoothness, (Russian) Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 243 (2003), Funkts. Prostran., Priblizh., Differ. Uravn., 87–95. [Translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 243 (2003), no. 4, 80–88.]
- [92] O. Besov: Interpolation, embedding, and extension of spaces of functions of variable smoothness, (Russian) Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 248 (2005), Issled. po Teor. Funkts. i Differ. Uravn., 52–63. [Translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 248 (2005), no. 1, 47–58.]
- [93] M. Bownik and K.-P. Ho: Atomic and molecular decompositions of anisotropic Triebel–Lizorkin spaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 358 (2006), no. 4, 1469-U" 1510.
- [94] Y. Chen, S. Levine and R. Rao: Variable exponent, linear growth functionals in image restoration, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 66 (2006), no. 4, 1383–1406.

- [95] D. Cruz-Uribe, A. Fiorenza, J. M. Martell and C. Pérez: The boundedness of classical operators in variable Lp spaces, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. 13 (2006), 239–264.
- [96] D. Cruz-Uribe, A. Fiorenza and C. J. Neugebauer: The maximal function on variable Lp spaces, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. 28 (2003), 223–238; 29 (2004), 247–249.
- [97] L. Diening: Maximal function on generalized Lebesgue spaces $Lp(\cdot)$, Math. Inequal. Appl. 7 (2004), no. 2, 245–254.
- [98] L. Diening: Maximal function on Orlicz–Musielak spaces and generalized Lebesgue spaces, Bull. Sci. Math. 129 (2005), no. 8, 657–700.
- [99] L. Diening, P. Harjulehto, P. Hästö, Y. Mizuta and T. Shimomura: Maximal functions in variable exponent spaces: limiting cases of the exponent, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn., Ser. A1 Math. 34(2), 503-522 (2009).
- [100] L. Diening and P. Hästö: Variable exponent trace spaces, Studia Math. 183 (2007), no. 2, 127–141.
- [101] L. Diening, P. Hästö and A. Nekvinda: Open problems in variable exponent Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces, FSDONA04 Proceedings (Drabek and Rakosnik (eds.); Milovy, Czech Republic, 2004), 38–58.
- [102] L. Diening and M. R°uži cka: Calderón-Zygmund operators on generalized Lebesgue spaces Lp(·) and problems related to fluid dynamics, J. Reine Angew. Math. 563 (2003), 197–220.
- [103] X.-L. Fan: Global C1,_ regularity for variable exponent elliptic equations in divergence form, J. Differential Equations 235 (2007), no. 2, 397–417.
- [104] X.-L. Fan: Boundary trace embedding theorems for variable exponent Sobolev spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 339 (2008), no. 2, 1395–1412.
- [105] X.-L. Fan, S. Wang and D. Zhao: Density of C1() in W1,p(x)() with discontinuous exponent p(x), Math. Nachr. 279 (2006), no. 1-2, 142–149.
- [106] M. Frazier and B. Jawerth: A discrete transform and decompositions of distribution spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 93 (1990), 34–170.
- [107] M. Frazier and S. Roudenko: Matrix-weighted Besov spaces and conditions of Ap type for 0 < p 6 1, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 53 (2004), no. 5, 1225–1254.
- [108] M. Frazier and S. Roudenko: Traces and extensions of matrix-weighted Besov spaces, Bull. London Math. Soc., to appear.
- [109] P. Gurka, P. Harjulehto and A. Nekvinda: Bessel potential spaces with variable exponent, Math. Inequal. Appl. 10 (2007), no. 3, 661–676.
- [110] P. Harjulehto and P. Hästö: Sobolev inequalities for variable exponents attaining the values 1 and n, Publ. Mat., to appear.
- [111] P. Harjulehto, P. Hästö and V. Latvala: Minimizers of the variable exponent, non-uniformly convex Dirichlet energy, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 89 (2008), 174-197.
- [112] P. Hästö: On the density of smooth functions in variable exponent Sobolev space, Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana 23 (2007), no. 1, 215–237.
- [113] O. Kováčik and J. Rákosník: On spaces Lp(x) and W1,p(x), Czechoslovak Math. J. 41(116) (1991), 592–618.
- [114] T. Kühn, H.-G. Leopold, W. Sickel and L. Skrzypczak: Entropy numbers of embeddings of weighted Besov spaces. III. Weights of logarithmic type, Math. Z. 255 (2007), no. 1, 1–15.

- [115] D. S. Kurtz: Littlewood–Paley and multiplier theorems on weighted Lp spaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 259 (1980), no. 1, 235-254.
- [116] H.-G. Leopold: Pseudodifferentialoperatoren und Funktioneräume variabler Glatt-heit, Dissertation B, Jena: Friedrich-Schiller-Universität, 1987.
- [117] H.-G. Leopold: On Besov spaces of variable order of differentiation, Z. Anal. Anwen-dungen 8 (1989), no. 1, 69–82.
- [118] H.-G. Leopold: Interpolation of Besov spaces of variable order of differentiation, Arch. Math. (Basel) 53 (1989), no. 2, 178–187.
- [119] H.-G. Leopold: On function spaces of variable order of differentiation, Forum Math. 3 (1991), 633–644.
- [120] H.-G. Leopold: Embedding of function of variable order spaces of differentiation function spaces variable order in of of integration, Czechoslovak Math. J. 49(124) (1999), no. 3, 633-644.
- [121] H.-G. Leopold and E. Schrohe: Trace theorems for Sobolev spaces of variable order of differentiation, Math. Nachr. 179 (1996), 223–245.
- [122] A. Lerner: Some remarks on the Hardy–Littlewood maximal function on variable Lp spaces, Math. Z. 251 (2005), no. 3, 509–521.
- [123] S. Levine: An adaptive variational model for image decomposition, Energy Minimization Methods in Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, Springer Verlag LCNS No. 3757, 382–397, 2005.
- [124] W. Orlicz: Über konjugierte Exponentenfolgen, Studia Math. 3 (1931), 200–212.
- [125] G. Mingione: Regularity of minima: an invitation to the dark side of the Calculus of Variations, Appl. Math. 51 (2006), 355–425.
- [126] A. Nekvinda: Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator on Lp(x)(Rn), Math. Inequal. Appl. 7 (2004), no. 2, 255–266.
- [127] L. Pick and M. R°užička: An example of a space Lp(x) on which the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator is not bounded, Expo. Math. 19 (2001), 369– 371.
- [128] K. Rajagopal and M. Ruzicka: On the modeling of electrorheological materials, Mech. Research Comm. 23 (1996), 401–407.
- [129] S. Roudenko: Matrix-weighted Besov spaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 355 (2003), 273–314.
- [130] M. R^ouži^{*}cka: Electrorheological fluids: modeling and mathematical theory, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1748, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2000.
- [131] M. R^ouži^{*}cka: Modeling, mathematical and numerical analysis of electrorheological fluids, Appl. Math. 49 (2004), no. 6, 565–609.
- [132] S. Samko: On a progress in the theory of Lebesgue spaces with variable exponent: maximal and singular operators, Integral Transforms Spec. Funct. 16 (2005), no. 5-6, 461–482.
- [133] J. Schneider: Function spaces with negative and varying smoothness, Preprint, Jenaer Schriften Math/Inf/-02/06, Jena 2006.
- [134] J. Schneider: Function spaces of varying smoothness I, Math. Nachr., to appear.
- [135] R. Schneider and C. Schwab: Wavelet solution of variable order pseudodifferential equations, Calco 47 (2) (210) 65- 101.
- [136] H. Triebel: Theory of Function Spaces III, Monographs in Mathematics 100, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2006.

- [137] J.-S. Xu: Variable Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn., A1 Math. 33(2), 511-522 (2008).
- [138] J.-S. Xu: The relation between variable Bessel potential spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, Integral Transforms Spac. Funct. 19 (2008) 599-605.
- [139] V. Zhikov: On the density of smooth functions in Sobolev-Orlicz spaces, (Russian) Zap. Nauchn. Sem. S.-Peterburg. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (POMI) 310 (2004), Kraev. Zadachi Mat. Fiz. i Smezh. Vopr. Teor. Funkts. 35 [117], 67-81, 226. [Translation in J. Math. Sci. (N. Y.) 132 (2006), no. 3, 285–294.]
- [140] L. Diening P. Hästö and S. Roudenko, Function spaces of variable smoothness and integerability, J. Funct. Anal. 256 (2009), 15-31.
- [141] E. Acerbi and G. Mingione: Regularity results for a class of functionals with nonstandard growth, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 156 (2001), no. 2, 121-140.
- [142] A. Almeida and S. Samko: Pointwise inequalities in variable Sobolev spaces and applications, Z. Anal. Anwend. 26 (2007), no. 2, 179-193.
- [143] A. Almeida and S. Samko: Embeddings of variable HajAlasz{Sobolev spaces into HAolder spaces of variable order, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 353 (2009), no. 2, 489{496.
- [144] A. Beauzamy: Espaces de Sobolev et Besov d'ordre variable d¶e⁻nis sur Lp, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris (Ser. A) 274 (1972), 1935-1938.
- [145] L. Diening, P. Harjulehto, P. HÄastÄo and M. R^ou·zi·cka: Variable Exponent Function Spaces, Book manuscript (2009).
- [146] W. Farkas and H.-G. Leopold: Characterisations of function spaces of generalised smoothness, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 185 (2006), no. 1, 1-62.
- [147] R. Fortini, D. Mugnai and P. Pucci: Maximum principles for anisotropic elliptic inequalities, Non-linear Anal. 70 (2009), no. 8, 2917-2929.
- [148] P. Harjulehto, P. HÄastÄo, ¶U. L^e and M. Nuortio: Overview of di®erential equations with non-standard growth, Preprint (2009).
- [149] W. Hoh: Pseudo di®erential operators with negative de⁻nite symbols of variable order, Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana 16 (2000), no. 2, 219-241.
- [150] H. Kempka: 2-microlocal Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces of variable integrability, Rev. Mat. Complut. 22 (2009), no. 1, 227-251.
- [151] T. Ohno: Compact embeddings in the generalized Sobolev space W1;p(¢)0 (G) and existence of solutions for nonlinear elliptic problems, Nonlinear Anal. 71 (2009), n. 5-6, 1535-1541.
- [152] J. Musielak: Orlicz Spaces and Modular Spaces, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1034, Springer{Verlag, Berlin, 1983.
- [153] B. Ross and S. Samko: Fractional integration operator of variable order in the spaces H, Int. J. Math. Sci. 18 (1995), no. 4, 777-788.
- [154] T. Runst and W. Sickel: Sobolev Spaces of Fractional Order, Nemytskij Operators and Nonlinear Partial Di®erential Equations, De Gruyter Series in Nonlinear Analysis and Applications 3, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, 1996.
- [155] M. Sanch¶on and J.M. Urbano: Entropy solutions for the p(x)-Laplace equation, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 361 (2009), 6387-6405.
- [156] J. Schneider: Some results on function spaces of varying smoothness, Banach Center Publ. 79 (2008), 187-195.
- [157] J. Vyb¶³ral: Sobolev and Jawerth embeddings for spaces with variable smoothness and integrability, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. 34 (2009), no. 2, 529-544.

- [158] J.-S. Xu: An atomic decomposition of variable Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces, Armenian J. Math. 2 (2009), no. 1, 1-12.
- [159] Q.-H. Zhang, X.-P. Liu and Z.-M. Qiu: On the boundary blow-up solutions of p(x)-Laplacian equations with singular coe±cient, Nonlinear Anal. 70 (2009), no. 11, 4053-4070.
- [160] A. Almeida and P. Hästö, Besov spaces with variable smoothness and integerability, J. Funct. Anal. 258 (2010), 1628-1655.
- [161] Adams, D.R.: A note on Choquet integrals with respect to Hausdorff capacity. In: Function Spaces and Applications (Lund, 1986). Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1302, pp. 115–124. Springer, Berlin (1988)
- [162] Adams, D.R.: Choquet integrals in potential theory. Publ. Mat. 42, 3–66 (1998)
- [163] Ailaskari, R., Xiao, J., Zhao, R.H.: On subspaces and subsets of BMOA and UBC. Analysis 15, 101–121 (1995)
- [164] Bownik, M.: Atomic and molecular decompositions of anisotropic Besov spaces. Math. Z. 250, 539–571 (2005)
- [165] Bownik, M.: Anisotropic Triebel–Lizorkin spaces with doubling measures. J. Geom. Anal. 17, 387–424 (2007)
- [166] Cui, L., Yang, Q.: On the generalized Morrey spaces. Siberian Math. J. 46, 133–141 (2005)
- [167] Dafni, G., Xiao, J.: Some new tent spaces and duality theorem for fractional Carleson measures and Qα(Rn). J. Funct. Anal. 208, 377–422 (2004)
- [168] Dafni, G., Xiao, J.: The dyadic structure and atomic decomposition of Q spaces in several real variables. Tohoku Math. J. 57, 119–145 (2005)
- [169] El Baraka, A.: An embedding theorem for Campanato spaces. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 66, 1–17 (2002)
- [170] El Baraka, A.: Function spaces of BMO and Campanato type. In: Proceedings of the 2002 Fez Conference on Partial Differential Equations (electronic). Electron. J. Differ. Equ. Conf., vol. 9, pp. 109–115. Southwest Texas State Univ., San Marcos (2002)
- [171] El Baraka, A.: BMO estimates near the boundary for solutions of elliptic systems. Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 101, 1–21 (2006)
- [172] El Baraka, A.: Littlewood-Paley characterization for Campanato spaces. J. Funct. Spaces Appl. 4, 193–220 (2006)
- [173] Essén, M., Janson, S., Peng, L., Xiao, J.: Q spaces of several real variables. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 49, 575–615 (2000)
- [174] Essén, M., Xiao, J.: Some results on Qp spaces, 0
- [175] Frazier,M., Jawerth, B.: The φ-transform and applications to distribution spaces. In: Function spaces and applications (Lund 1986). Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1302, pp. 223–246. Springer, Berlin (1988)
- [176] Frazier, M., Jawerth, B., Weiss, G.: Littlewood–Paley Theory and the Study of Function Spaces. CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, vol. 79. Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1991)
- [177] Gel_fand, I.M., Shilov, G.E.: Generalized Functions, vol. 2. [Translated from the Russian by Friedman, M.D., Feinstein, A., Peltzer, C.P. (Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers), 1968] Academic Press, New York (1977)

- [178] Janson, S.: On the space Qp and its dyadic counterpart. In: Kiselman, C., Vretblad, A. (eds.) Complex Analysis and Differential Equations, Proceeding, Marcus Wallenberg Symposium in Honor of Matts Essén, Uppsala, 1997; Acta Univ. Upsaliensis, vol. 64, pp. 194–205 (1999)
- [179] Jawerth, B.: Some observations on Besov and Lizorkin-Triebel spaces. Math. Scand. 40, 94–104 (1977)
- [180] Lin, C., Wang, K.: The T1 theorem for Besov spaces (submitted)
- [181] Stein, E.M., Weiss, G.: Introduction to Fourier Analysis on Euclidean Spaces. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1971)
- [182] Wu, Z., Xie, C.: Decomposition theorems for Qp spaces. Ark. Mat. 40, 383–401 (2002)
- [183] Wu, Z., Xie, C.: Q spaces and Morrey spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 201, 282–297 (2003)
- [184] Xiao, J.: Holomorphic Q Classes. Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1767. Springer, Berlin (2001)
- [185] Xiao, J.: Geometric Qp Functions. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel (2006)
- [186] Xiao, J.: Homothetic variant of fractional Sobolev space with application to Navier-Stokes system. Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ. 4, 227–245 (2007)
- [187] Xiao, J.: The Qp Carleson measure problem. Adv. Math. 217, 2075–2088 (2008)
- [188] Yang, D., Yuan, W.: A note on dyadic Hausdorff capacities. Bull. Sci. Math. 132, 500–509 (2008)
- [189] Yang, D., Yuan, W.: A new class of function spaces connecting Triebel–Lizorkin spaces and Q spaces. J. Funct. Anal. 255, 2760–2809 (2008)
- [190] Yang, D., Yuan, W, New Besov-type spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces including *Q* spaces, Math. Z. (2010) 265: 451-480.
- [191] T. Aoki, Locally bounded linear topological space, Proc. Imp. Acad. Tokyo 18 (1942) 588–594.
- [192] J. Duoandikoetxea, Fourier Analysis, Grad. Stud. Math., vol. 29, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001.
- [193] M. Essén, S. Janson, L. Peng, J. Xiao, Q spaces of several real variables, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 49 (2000) 575–615.
- [194] M. Frazier, Y.-S. Han, B. Jawerth, G. Weiss, The T 1 theorem for Triebel–Lizorkin spaces, in: Harmonic Analysis and Partial Differential Equations, El Escorial, 1987, in: Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1384, Springer, Berlin, 1989, pp. 168–181.
- [195] M. Frazier, R. Torres, G. Weiss, The boundedness of Calderón–Zygmund operators on the spaces 'F α,q p, Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana 4 (1988) 41–72.
- [196] L. Grafakos, Modern Fourier Analysis, second ed., Grad. Texts in Math., vol. 250, Springer, New York, 2008.
- [197] L. Grafakos, R.H. Torres, Pseudodifferential operators with homogeneous symbols, Michigan Math. J. 46 (1999) 261–269.
- [198] Y. Meyer, Wavelets and Operators, translated from the 1990 French original by D.H. Salinger, Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math., vol. 37, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [199] Y. Meyer, R.R. Coifman, Wavelets. Calderón–Zygmund and Multilinear Operators, translated from the 1990 and 1991 French originals by David Salinger, Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math., vol. 48, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997.
- [200] Y. Sawano, D. Yang, W. Yuan, New applications of Besov-type and Triebel– Lizorkin type spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 363 (2010) 73–85.

- [201] R.H. Torres, Continuity properties of pseudodifferential operators of type 1, 1, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 15 (1990) 1313–1328.
- [202] R.H. Torres, Boundedness results for operators with singular kernels on distribution spaces, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 90 (442) (1991), viii+172 pp.
- [203] H. Triebel, Interpolation Theory, Function Spaces, Differential Operators, second ed., Johann Ambrosius Barth, Heidelberg, 1995.
- [204] W. Yuan, Y. Sawano and D. Yang, Decomposition of Besov-Hausdorff and Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff spaces and their applications, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 369 (2010) 736-757.
- [205] Amann, H.: On the strong solvability of the Navier–Stokes equations. J. Math. Fluid Mech., 2, 16–98 (2000)
- [206] Mazzucato, A.: Decomposition of Besov–Morrey spaces. Harmonic analysis at Mount Holyoke (South Hadley, MA, 2001), 279–294, Contemp. Math., 320, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003
- [207] Sawano, Y., Tanaka, H.: Decompositions of Besov–Morrey spaces and Triebel– Lizorkin–Morrey spaces. Math. Z., 257(4), 871–905 (2007)
- [208] Sawano, Y.: Besov–Morrey spaces and Triebel–Lizorkin–Morrey spaces on domains in Rn, to appear in Math. Nachr.
- [209] Sawano, Y.: Wavelet characterization of Besov Triebel–Lizorkin–Morrey spaces. Funct. Approx., 38, 7–21 (2008).
- [210] Najafov, A. M.: Some properties of functions from the intersection of Besov–Morrey type spaces with dominant mixed derivatives. Proc. A. Razmadze Math. Inst., 139, 71–82 (2005)
- [211] Najafov, A. M.: Embedding theorems in the Sobolev–Morrey type spaces S^l_{p,a,κ,r}W(G) with dominant mixed derivatives. Siberian Math. J., 47(3), 613–625 (2006)
- [212] Najafov, A. M.: On some properties of the functions from Sobolev–Morrey type spaces. Cent. Eur. J. Math., 3(3), 496–507 (2005)
- [213] Rychkov, V. S.: On a theorem of Bui, Paluszyński, and Taibleson. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math., 227, 280–292 (1999)
- [214] Torchinsky, A.: Real-Variable Methods in Harmonic Analysis, Academic Press, San Diego, 1986
- [215] Bourdaud, G.: Une algèbre maximale d'opérateurs pseudo-differentiel. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 13(9), 1059–1083 (1988)
- [216] Stein, E. M.: Harmonic Analysis: Real-Variable Methods, Orthogonality, and Oscillatory Integrals, Princeton Univ. Press, 1993
- [217] Bui, H. Q.: Some aspects of weighted and non-weighted Hardy spaces. Kôkyûroku Res. Math. Sci., 383, 33–56 (1980)
- [218] Rychkov, V. S.: Littlewood–Paley theory and function spaces with A^{loc} weights. Math. Nachr., 224,145–180 (2001).
- [219] Y. Sawano, Anote on Besov-Morrey spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin-Morrey spaces, Acta Mathematica Sinica, English series. Aug., (2009) Vol. 25, No. 8, pp. 1223-1242.
- [220] D. Drihem, Some embeddings and equivalent norms of the $\mathcal{L}_{p,q}^{\lambda}$ spaces, Funct. Approx. Comment. Math. 41 (2009) 15-40.
- [221] W. Yuan, W. Sickel, D. Yang, Morrey and Campanato Meet Besov, Lizorkin and Triebel, in: Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2005, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2010.

- [222] D. Yang and W. Yuan, Characterization of Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces via maximal functions and local means, Nonlinear Analysis 73 (2010) 3805-3820.
- [223] Andersson, P.: Two-microlocal spaces, local norms and weighted spaces. Paper 2 in PhD Thesis, pp. 35–58 (1997)
- [224] Bony, J.-M.: Second microlocalization and propagation of singularities for semilinear hyperbolic equations. In: Taniguchi Symp. HERT, Katata, pp. 11–49 (1984)
- [225] Cobos, F., Fernandez, D.L.: Hardy-Sobolev spaces and Besov spaces with a function parameter. In: Proc. Lund Conf. 1986. Lect. Notes Math., vol. 1302, pp. 158–170. Springer, Berlin (1986)
- [226] Cruz-Uribe, D., Fiorenza, A., Neugebauer, C.J.: The maximal function on variable Lp spaces. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn., Ser. A 1 Math. 28, 223–238 (2003)
- [227] Diening, L., Harjulehto, P., Hästö, P., R°uži`cka, M.: Lebesgue and Sobolev Spaces with Variable Exponents. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2017. Springer Berlin (2011)
- [228] Drihem, D.: Atomic decomposition of Besov spaces with variable smoothness and integrability. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 389, 15–31 (2012)
- [229] Goldman, M.L.: A description of the traces of some function spaces. Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 150, 99–127 (1979). English transl.: Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 150(4) (1981)
- [230] Goldman, M.L.: A method of coverings for describing general spaces of Besov type. Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 156, 47–81 (1980). English transl.: Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 156(2) (1983)
- [231] Goldman, M.L.: Imbedding theorems for anisotropic Nikol'skij-Besov spaces with moduli of continuity of general type. Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 170, 86–104 (1984). English transl.: Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 170(1) (1987)
- [232] Jaffard, S.: Pointwise smoothness, two-microlocalisation and wavelet coefficients. Publ. Math. 35, 155–168 (1991)
- [233] Jaffard, S.,Meyer, Y.:WaveletMethods for Pointwise Regularity and Local Oscillations of Functions. Memoirs of the AMS, vol. 123 (1996)
- [234] Kalyabin, G.A.: Characterization of spaces of generalized Liouville differentiation. Mat. Sb. Nov. Ser. 104, 42–48 (1977)
- [235] Kalyabin, G.A.: Description of functions in classes of Besov-Lizorkin-Triebel type. Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 156, 82–109 (1980). English transl.: Proc. Steklov Institut Math. 156(2) (1983)
- [236] Kalyabin, G.A.: Characterization of spaces of Besov-Lizorkin and Triebel type by means of generalized differences. Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 181, 95–116 (1988).
 English transl.: Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 181(4) (1989)
- [237] Kalyabin, G.A., Lizorkin, P.I.: Spaces of functions of generalized smoothness. Math. Nachr. 133, 7–32 (1987)
- [238] Kempka, H., Vybíral, J.: A note on the spaces of variable integrability and summability of Almeida and Hästö. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 141 (2013), 3207-3212
- [239] Kováčcik, O., Rákosník, J.: On spaces $L^{p(x)}$ and $W^{1,p(x)}$. Czechoslov. Math. J. 41(4), 592–618 (1991)
- [240] Lévy Véhel, J., Seuret, S.: A time domain characterization of 2-microlocal spaces. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 9(5), 473–495 (2003)
- [241] Lévy Véhel, J., Seuret, S.: The 2-microlocal formalism. In: Fractal Geometry and Applications: A Jubilee of Benoit Mandelbrot, Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, PSPUM, vol. 72, pp. 153–215 (2004). Part 2

- [242] Merucci, C.: Applications of interpolation with a function parameter to Lorentz Sobolev and Besov spaces. In: Proc. Lund Conf., 1983. Lect. Notes Math., vol. 1070, pp. 183–201. Springer, Berlin (1983)
- [243] Meyer, Y.: Wavelets, Vibrations and Scalings. CRM Monograph Series, vol. 9. AMS, Providence (1998)
- [244] Moritoh, S., Yamada, T.: Two-microlocal Besov spaces and wavelets. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 20, 277–283 (2004)
- [245] Moura, S.: Function spaces of generalised smoothness. Diss. Math. 398, 1–87 (2001)
- [246] Nekvinda, A.: Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator on $L^{p(x)}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Math. Inequal. Appl. 7(2), 255–266 (2004)
- [247] Rolewicz, S.: On a certain class of linear metric spaces. Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci., Sér. Sci. Math. Astron. Phys. 5, 471–473 (1957)
- [248] Scharf, B.: Atomare Charakterisierungen vektorwertiger Funktionenräume. Diploma Thesis, Jena (2009)
- [249] Schneider, C.: On dilation operators in Besov spaces. Rev. Mat. Complut. 22(1), 111–128 (2009)
- [250] Schneider, C., Vybíral, J.: On dilation operators in Triebel-Lizorkin spaces. Funct. Approx. Comment. Math. 41, 139–162 (2009). Part 2
- [251] Ullrich, T.: Function spaces with dominating mixed smoothness, characterization by differences. Technical report, Jenaer Schriften zur Math. und Inform., Math/Inf/05/06 (2006)
- [252] Ullrich, T.: Continuous characterizations of Besov-Lizorkin-Triebel spaces and new interpretations as coorbits. J. Funct. Spaces Appl. (2012). doi:10.1115/2012/163213. Article ID 163213, 47 pages
- [253] Ullrich, T., Rauhut, H.: Generalized coorbit space theory and inhomogeneous function spaces of Besov-Lizorkin-Triebel type. J. Funct. Anal. 260(11), 3299–3362 (2011). doi:10.1016/j.jfa.2010.12.006
- [254] Unterberger, A., Bokobza, J.: Les opérateurs pseudodifférentiels d'ordre variable. C.
 R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 261, 2271–2273 (1965)
- [255] Unterberger, A.: Sobolev spaces of variable order and problems of convexity for partial differential operators with constant coefficients. In: Astérisque 2 et 3, pp. 325– 341. Soc. Math. France, Paris (1973)
- [256] Višik, M.I., Eskin, G.I.: Convolution equations of variable order (russ.). Tr. Mosk. Mat. Obsc. 16, 26–49 (1967)
- [257] Xu, H.: Généralisation de la théorie des chirps à divers cadres fonctionnels et application à leur analyse par ondelettes. Ph.D. thesis, Université Paris IX Dauphine (1996)
- [258] D. Drihem, Atomic decomposition of Besov spaces with variable smoothness and integrability, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 389 (2012) 15-31.
- [259] D. Cruz-Uribe, L. Diening and P. H[•]ast[•]o, The maximal operator on weighted variable Lebesgue spaces, Fract. Calc. Appl. Anal. 14 (2011), 361-374.
- [260] D. Cruz-Uribe and A. Fiorenza, Variable Lebesgue Spaces, Foundations and Harmonic Analysis, in: Applied and Numerical Harmonic Analysis, Birkh["]auser/Springer, Heidelberg, 2013.
- [261] D. Drihem, Atomic decomposition of Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces, Sci. China Math. 56 (2013), 1073-1086.
- [262] H.F. Gon, calves, S.D. Moura and J.S. Neves, On trace spaces of 2-microlocal type spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 267 (2014), 3444-3468.

- [263] M. Izuki, E. Nakai and Y. Sawano, Function spaces with variable exponents an introduction, Sci. Math. Jpn. 77 (2014), 187-315.
- [264] H. Kempka, Atomic, molecular and wavelet decomposition of 2-microlocal Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with variable integrability, Funct. Approx. Comment. Math. 43 (2010), part 2, 171-208.
- [265] H. Kempka and J. Vyb'ıral, Spaces of variable smoothness and integrability: characterizations by local means and ball means of differences, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 18 (2012), 852-891.
- [266] L.D. Ky, New Hardy spaces of Musielak-Orlicz type and boundedness of sublinear operators, Integral Equations Operator Theory 78 (2014), 115-150.
- [267] P. Li, J. Xiao and Q. Yang, Global mild solutions to modified Navier-Stokes equations with small initial data in critical Besov-Q spaces, Electron. J. Differential Equations 2014, No. 185, 37 pp.
- [268] P. Li and Q. Yang, Wavelets and the well-posedness of incompressible magnetohydrodynamic equations in Besov type Q-space, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 405 (2013), 661-686.
- [269] P. Li and Z. Zhai, Generalized Navier-Stokes equations with initial data in local Qtype spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 369 (2010), 595-609.
- [270] P. Li and Z. Zhai, Well-posedness and regularity of generalized Navier-Stokes equations in some critical Q-spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 259 (2010), 2457-2519.
- [271] Y. Liang, Y. Sawano, T. Ullrich, D. Yang, and W. Yuan, New characterizations of Besov-Triebel-Lizorkin-Hausdorff spaces including coorbits and wavelets, J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 18 (2012), 1067-1111.
- [272] Y. Liang, D. Yang, W. Yuan, Y. Sawano and T. Ullrich, A new framework for generalized Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces, Dissertationes Math. (Rozprawy Mat.) 489 (2013), 1-114.
- [273] S.D. Moura, J.S. Neves and C. Schneider, On trace spaces of 2-microlocal Besov spaces with variable integrability, Math. Nachr. 286 (2013), 1240-1254.
- [274] J. Musielak, Orlicz Spaces and Modular Spaces, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1034, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1983)
- [275] E. Nakai, Pointwise multipliers for functions of weighted bounded mean oscillation, Studia Math. 105 (1993), 105-119.
- [276] E. Nakai, The Campanato, Morrey and H[°]older spaces on spaces of homogeneous type, Studia Math. 176 (2006), 1-19.
- [277] E. Nakai and Y. Sawano, Hardy spaces with variable exponents and generalized Campanato spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 262 (2012), 3665-3748.
- [278] H. Nakano, Modulared Semi-Ordered Linear Spaces, Maruzen Co., Ltd., Tokyo, 1950.
- [279] H. Nakano, Topology of linear topological spaces, Maruzen Co., Ltd., Tokyo, 1951.
- [280] T. Noi, Trace and extension operators for Besov spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with variable exponents, arXiv: 1410.1185.
- [281] T. Noi, Duality of variable exponent Triebel-Lizorkin and Besov spaces, J. Funct. Spaces Appl. 2012, Art. ID 361807, 19 pp.
- [282] T. Noi and Y. Sawano, Complex interpolation of Besov spaces and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces with variable exponents, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 387 (2012), 676-690.
- [283] T. Ohno, Compact embeddings in the generalized Sobolev space $W1,p(\cdot) 0$ (G) and existence of solutions for nonlinear elliptic problems, Nonlinear Anal. 71 (2009).

- [284] W. Orlicz, " Uber eine gewisse Klasse von R"aumen vom Typus B, Bull. Int. Acad. Pol. Ser. A 8 (1932), 207-220.
- [285] M. Sanch'on and J. M. Urbano, Entropy solutions for the p(x)-Laplace equation, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 361 (2009), 6387-6405.
- [286] E.M. Stein and G. Weiss, Introduction to Fourier analysis on Euclidean spaces, Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 32, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1971.
- [287] H. Triebel, Local Function Spaces, Heat and Navier-Stokes Equations, EMS Tracts in Mathematics 20, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Z[•]urich, 2013.
- [288] H. Triebel, Hybrid Function Spaces, Heat and Navier-Stokes Equations, EMS Tracts in Mathematics 24, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Z[•]urich, 2015.
- [289] D. Yang andW. Yuan, Dual properties of Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces and their applications, Z. Anal. Anwend. 30 (2011), 29-58.
- [290] D. Yang and W. Yuan, Relations among Besov-type spaces, Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces and generalized Carleson measure spaces, Appl. Anal. 92 (2013), 549-561.
- [291] D. Yang, W. Yuan and C. Zhuo, Fourier multipliers on Triebel-Lizorkin-type spaces, J. Funct. Spaces Appl. 2012, Art. ID 431016, 37 pp.
- [292] D. Yang, W. Yuan and C. Zhuo, Complex interpolation on Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkintype spaces, Anal. Appl. 11 (2013), 1350021, 45 pp.
- [293] D. Yang, W. Yuan and C. Zhuo, Musielak-Orlicz Besov-type and Triebel-Lizorkintype spaces, Rev. Mat. Complut. 27 (2014), 93-157.
- [294] D. Yang, W. Yuan and C. Zhuo, Triebel-Lizorkin-type with variable exponent, Submitted.
- [295] W Yuan, D.D. Haroske, L. Skrzypczak and D. Yang, Embedding properties of weighted Besov-type spaces, Anal. Appl. (2014).
- [296] W. Yuan, W. Sickel and D. Yang, On the coincidence of certain approaches to smoothness spaces related to Morrey spaces, Math. Nachr. 286 (2013), 1571-1584.
- [297] C. Zhuo, D. Yang and Y. Liang, Intrinsic square function characterizations of Hardy spaces with variable exponents, Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc. (2) (to appear).
- [298] D. Yang, C. Zhuo and W. Yuan, Besov-type spaces with variable smoothness and integerability, arxiv: 1503-04512 V1 [math. CA] 16 Mar. 2015
- [299] Shawgy Hussein and Mohammed Adam, Decompositions and Characterization of Besov-Hausdorff and Triebel-Lizorkin Spaces with Variable Smoothness and Integerability, Phd. Thesis, Sudan University of Science and Technology (2018).